

FROIESSIONAL TOOLS FOR BOARD LATOOT SPECIALISTS

PCB Design





Copyrights

Software, documentation and related materials: Copyright © 2002 Altium Limited

This software product is copyrighted and all rights are reserved. The distribution and sale of this product are intended for the use of the original purchaser only per the terms of the License Agreement.

This document may not, in whole or part, be copied, photocopied, reproduced, translated, reduced or transferred to any electronic medium or machine-readable form without prior consent in writing from Altium Limited.

U.S. Government use, duplication or disclosure is subject to RESTRICTED RIGHTS under applicable government regulations pertaining to trade secret, commercial computer software developed at private expense, including FAR 227-14 subparagraph (g)(3)(i), Alternative III and DFAR 252.227-7013 subparagraph (c)(1)(ii).

P-CAD is a registered trademark and P-CAD Schematic, P-CAD Relay, P-CAD PCB, P-CAD ProRoute, P-CAD QuickRoute, P-CAD InterRoute, P-CAD InterRoute Gold, P-CAD Library Manager, P-CAD Library Executive, P-CAD Document Toolbox, P-CAD InterPlace, P-CAD Parametric Constraint Solver, P-CAD Signal Integrity, P-CAD Shape-Based Autorouter, P-CAD DesignFlow, P-CAD ViewCenter, Master Designer and Associate Designer are trademarks of Altium Limited. Other brand names are trademarks of their respective companies.

Altium Limited www.altium.com

Table of Contents

P-CAD PCB Features About this Guide About P-CAD PCB (6/400) chapter 2 Installation and Setup System Requirements	
About this Guide About P-CAD PCB (6/400) chapter 2 Installation and Setup System Requirements Recommended System Minimum System	
About P-CAD PCB (6/400) chapter 2 Installation and Setup System Requirements Recommended System Minimum System	
chapter 2 Installation and Setup System Requirements Recommended System Minimum System	
System Requirements Recommended System Minimum System	
Recommended System Minimum System	
Minimum Svstem	0
Installing P-CAD Products	4
chapter 3 PCB Basics	
About the User Interface	6
Menu Bar	6
Toolbars	6
Command Toolbar	7
Placement Toolbar	7
Route Toolbar	8
Custom Toolbar	9
Prompt Line	9
Status Line	9
X and Y Coordinates	
Grid Toggle Buttons	10
Macro Record (Temporary Macro) Button	11
Layer Display Combo Box and Scroll Buttons	12
Line Width Combo Box	12
Radius Combo Box	12
Status Information Area	12
Workspace	13
Using Multiple Windows	13
View Commands	13
Zoom Commands	13
(View) Zoom In/Out	13
(View) Zoom Window	
Other View Options	14

Jump Commands	14
Using Layers	15
Placing Objects	15
Item and Layer Drawing Order	16
Object/Action Interaction	16
Object Selection and Placement	16
Object Selection and Object Properties	16
Placing Objects	16
Moving Objects	17
Rotating and Flipping Objects	17
Orthogonal Modes	17
Unwinding Segments	18
Moving Objects to Another Layer	18
Changing an Arc Centerpoint	18
Using a Snappy Cursor	19
Selecting Objects	19
Status Line Information	19
Single Select	19
Multiple Select	20
Sub Select	20
Block Select	21
Using the Selection Masks	21
	24
	24
Selecting a Net	24
	24
Euling Objects	24
Selection Reletence Form	20 25
Reteting and Elipping Objects	20 25
Rotaling and Flipping Objects	20 26
Cutting Conving and Pasting Objects	20 27
Conving Objects (Ctrl+C)	21 27
Drag-and-Drop (Ctrl+L eff Click)	27
Conving to a File	27
Pasting From a File	27
Pasting a Circuit From a File	20
Pasting Limitations	20
Using the Copy Matrix Command	28
Using the Edit Properties Command	20
Properties	. 28
Properties of Multiple Objects	29
Right Mouse Commands	29
Loading and Saving Files	31
Drag and Drop File Load	31

chapter 4 Tutorial - PCB Design Session

Introduction

Setting up the workspace	33
Setting workspace configuration and display options	33
Setting up layers	35
Title blocks	36
Display Options	38
Setting the line width	39
Setting grids	39
Object placement	40
Placing lines	40
Placing arcs	41
Placing pads	42
Placing vias	43
Placing text	43
Placing fields	44
Placing components	44
Setting up libraries	44
Adding components	45
Selecting objects	47
Selecting single objects	47
Selecting multiple objects	47
Subselecting objects	47
Block selecting objects	48
Selecting highlighted objects	49
Selecting collocated objects	49
Modifying objects	51
Moving objects	51
Rotating objects	51
Resizing objects	
Adding a vertex	
Aligning components	
Copying and pasting objects	53
Pasting from the Clipboard	53
Duplicating objects using Copy Matrix	
Deleting objects	
Changing object properties	54
Unifying values	
Using the Selection Mask	
Replacing components	57
Initial board layout	5/
Creating a board outline	
Kouting connections	
Creating routing settings	
Manual routing	63
Unanging routed connections	65
Unrouting a board	66

Other options	66
Pad and via stacks	66
Copper pours	68
Plowing tracks and cutouts	69
Design verification	70
Netlist verification	70
Design Rule Checking	70
Generating reports	72
Printing and plotting your design	74
Setting up your print jobs	74
Generating manufacturing files	75
Generating Gerber output	75
Viewing Gerber photoplot files	
Generating N/C drill files	

chapter 5 Documentation Tools

Documenting a Design with Document Toolbox	79
Drawing Layers	
PCB Title Sheets	80
Borders and Zones	80
Borders	80
Title Blocks	82
Design Views	82
Revision Blocks	82
Fields and Field Sets	83
Drawing and Revision Notes	83
Defining Drawing or Revision Notes	83
Design Details	84
Graphic Files	85
Layer Stackup Diagrams	85
Drill Tables	86
Associative Dimensions	87
Printer & Plotter Setup	88
Printing	88
Setting Up Print Jobs	89
Assign Drill Symbols	
Setting up Print Colors and Other Options	
Batch Print	

chapter 6 Routing

Routing Features	95
Selecting a Route Tool	96
Routing Setup	97
Opening a File	97
Placing Connections	
Setting your Grids	
Status Line Grid Toggle	

Changing Lavers	
Setting Line Width	
Setting Up Via Style	99
Orthogonal Modes (O key)	
Fixed Routable Objects	101
Point-to-Point Routing	102
General Routing Features	103
Status Line Information	103
T-Routing	103
Routing with Curved Arcs	103
Unwind	105
Backtracking	105
Routing to Free Copper	105
Changing Lavers	105
Trace Cleanun	105
Overlanning Connections	103
Copper Pours and Pouting	100
Manually Routing Connections	100 106
Manual Pouting Stens	100
Torminating a Pouto	100
Are Pouting	107 108
Arc Routing	100
Interactive Douting	100
Interactive Routing	100
Obstacle Hugging	100
Dolacie nuggilig Dod Entry or Exit	
Fau Entry of Exit	
Leon Demoval	
Loop Removal	۱۱۱ ۱۸۹
Miler Rouling	۱۱۱ ۱۸۸
Osing the Route Miller Tool	۱۱۱ ۱۸۵
Onnogonal modes	
Modifying Routes	
Roule Bus.	
Using Fanout Route	
A Fanout Example	
waximize Hugging/winimize Length	
VISIBle Routing Area	
Shortcut Menu Commands	
Options Configure Route Tab	

chapter 7 Auto Routing

	ntroduction to the Shape-Based Router	[.]
--	---------------------------------------	--------------

Routing with Quick Route	127
P-CAD Quick Route Steps	128
Completing the PC Board	130
Verifying the Finished Board	132
Setting Up the Route Autorouter Dialog	132
Commands Available during Routing	140
Toolbar	144
Quick Route Limitations	145
Routing Fine Points	145

chapter 8 Design Verification

Introduction to Design Verification	151
Setting Up DRC Rules	151
Design Tab	151
Layer Tab	152
Rooms Tab	153
Net Class Tab	154
Net Tab	154
Class to Class Tab	155
Working with Design Rule Check	156
Design Rules by Hierarchy	156
Design Rules by Hierarchy	158
Copper Ties and DRC	164
Configuring DRC	164
Online DRC	167
Using DRC Error Annotation	167
Finding DRC Errors	168
Overriding Error Displays	169
Block Selecting Error Indicators	169
Overriding DRC Errors	170
Fixing DRC Errors	170
Deleting DRC Errors	170

chapter 9 CAM

Introduction to CAM	171
Gerber Output	171
Set Up Output Files	172
Aperture Assignments	174
Setting Drill Symbols	176
Gerber Format	177
Compress Output Files	178
Generating Gerber Output	178
Gerber Verification	178
Deleting Gerber Layer Information	180
No Free Pads on the Board	180
Free Pads on the Board	180
Creating a Padmaster Gerber File	181

N/C Drill Output	
Setting Up Output Files	
Assigning Tools	
Set Format Options	
Compress Output Files	
Generate N/C Drill Output	
Creating a Drill Symbol Legend	
Generating Drill Drawing	

chapter 10 Copper Pours

Introduction to Copper Pours	189
Properties	189
Islands	190
Repour	190
Pour/Repour Options	
Connectivity	191
Setting Backoff	192
Thermals	
Circles	192
Routing	192
Autorouting	192
Manual and Interactive Routing	
Auto Plowing	
Overlapping Pours	

chapter 11 Interapplication Functions

Introduction to Interapplication Functions	
DDE Hotlinks	
Enabling DDE Hotlinks	
Setting the Current Highlight Color	
Highlighting Parts and Components	
Highlighting Nets	
Unhighlighting Parts and Components	
Unhighlighting Nets	
ECOs	
Types of ECOs	
Utils Record ECOs	
Utils Import ECOs	
Utils Export ECOs	
Starting Other P-CAD Applications	
Customizing P-CAD PCB	
0	

Chapter 12 File Commands

Introduction to File Commands	
File New	
File Open	
Drag-and-Drop File Load	

Open a File	
Opening a Recently Used File	
Opening an ASCII File	
File Close	
File Save	
Saving an ASCII File	
Net Classes	
File Save As	
Save a File to a Name and Location	
Saving an ASCII File	
File Clear	
File Print	
Print Preview	
Generating Print Jobs	
Setup Print Jobs	
Drill Symbols	
Colors and Other Print Options	
File Print Setup	
File Reports	
Custom Report Option	
File Design Info	
General Tab	
Fields Tab	
Attributes Tab	
Notes Tab	
Revisions Tab	
Statistics Tab	
File Design Technology Parameters	
Creating or Opening a Design Technology Parame	ters File 230
Design Technology Parameters Dialog	
File Import Shape Route	
File Import Gerber	
File Import DXF	
Loading a DXF File	
DXF to P-CAD PCB Layer Map	
DXF Units	
Locate DXF Origin	
View Log File Upon Completion	
Items Supported for Translation	
DXF Import Notes	
File Import PDIF	
Open a File	
File Import IDF	
File Export Shape Route	
File Export Gerber	
Setup Output Files	
Apertures Assignments	
Auto (Automatic Describe/Assign)	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Setting Drill Symbols	261
Gerber Format	
Compress Output Files	
Generate Output Files	
File Export N/C Drill	
Setup Output Files	
Tools Assignments	
N/C Drill Format	
Compress Output Files	269
File Export DXF	270
Component Height Check Box	272
DXF Output Considerations	272
File Export PDIF	273
PDIF File Export	273
File Export IDF	274
File Export RFQ Format	276
File Exit	276

chapter 13 Edit Commands

Using the Edit Commands	279
Edit Undo	
Edit Redo	
Edit Cut	
Cutting Objects from Nets	
Edit Copy	
Edit Copy to File	
Edit Paste	
Paste Behavior	
Paste From Clipboard	
Paste from File	
Paste To Layer	
Paste Special	
Paste Circuit	
Edit Move By RefDes	
Edit Move to Layer	
Moving an Object	
Restrictions	
Edit Properties	
Component Properties	
Component Reference Links	
Connection Properties	
Pad Properties	
Net Tab	
Via Properties	
Line Properties	
Arc Properties	
Polygon Properties	
Test Point Properties	
•	

	Copper Pour Properties	317
	Cutout Properties	323
	Plane Properties	323
	Room Properties	325
	Text Properties	327
	Attribute Properties	328
	Field Properties	330
	Design View Properties	331
	Detail Properties	331
	Diagram Properties	332
	Picture Properties	333
	Table Properties	333
	Dimension Properties	334
Edit	Delete	335
	Delete Objects	335
	Deleting Objects from Nets	336
Edit	Copy Matrix	337
	Duplicating an Object(s)	337
Edit	Explode Component	338
	Exploding a Component	338
Edit	Alter Component	338
	Altering a Component	339
Edit	Alian Components	340
	Align Horizontally or Vertically	340
	Alian to Grid	340
Edit	Select All	341
Fdit	Deselect All	341
Edit	Highlight	341
	DDF Hotlinks	341
Edit	Unhighlight	341
Edit	Unhighlight All	342
Edit	Select Highlighted	342
Edit	Fix	342
Luit	Fdit Fix	342
	Fdit Infix	342
	Edit Unfix All	343
Edit	Rooms	343
Edit	Components	344
Luit	Components List Box	344
	Set All/Clear All	344
	Pronerties	344
	Highlight/I Inhighlight	344
	Highlighting an Attached Net	345
	Jumping to a Component	345
Edit	Nets	345
Luit	Set Ry Attribute	340
	Set Nets By Laver Attribute	320
	Denome Nete	320
		200

Edit Attributes	350
Pad Properties	354
Info Button	
Edit Measure	
Edit Select	
Select Actions	
Select Commands	
Selecting Objects	
When Objects Overlap	
Moving and Copying Objects	
Resizing Objects	
Rotating and Flipping	
Modifying (Edit Properties)	
Shortcut Menu Commands	
Selection Reference Point	
Placing a Selection Reference Point	
Radial Placement	

chapter 14 View Commands

Using the View Commands	
View Redraw	
View Extent	
View Last	
View All	
View Center	
View Zoom In	
View Zoom Out	
View Zoom Window	
Using the Zoom Window	
View Jump Location	
Jumping to a Location	
View Jump Text	
Jumping to Text	
View Command Toolbar	
View Placement Toolbar	
View Route Toolbar	
View Custom Toolbar	
View Prompt Line	
View Status Line	
View Snap to Grid	
•	

chapter 15 Place Commands

Using the Place Commands	
Place Autoplace	
Performing Autoplacement	
Place Component	
Placing a Component	

Rotating or Flipping a Component	375
Attributes	376
Jumper Pads	376
Test Points	376
Place Connection	377
Placing a Connection	377
Merging Nets	378
Jumper Pads	378
Place Pad	378
Placing a Pad	378
Rotating or Flipping a Pad	379
Renumbering Pads	379
Modifying Pad Styles	379
Place Via	380
Place Line	380
Placing a Line	380
Status Line	380
Orthogonal Modes (for Line Segments)	381
Place Arc	382
Placing an Arc	382
Move, Rotate, Flip, Change	382
Place Polygon	383
Placing a Polygon	383
Draft or Outline Display Mode	383
Rotating or Flipping a Polygon	383
Altering the Shape of a Polygon	384
Place Point	384
Placing Points	385
Placing Test Points	386
Setting Point Size Error! Bookmark	not defined.
Showing or Hiding Points	387
Place Copper Pour	387
Placing a Copper Pour	387
Rotate or Flip	389
Place Cutout	389
Placing a Cutout	389
Rotate or Flip	390
Place Keepout	390
Place Plane	390
Placing a Plane	390
Pads and Vias	391
Rotating or Flipping a Plane	392
Place Room	392
Place Text	393
Place Text Dialog	393
Place Text Features	395
Zooming and Panning While Placing Text	396
Text Summary	396

Place Attribute	
Placing an Attribute	
Rotating or Flipping a Field	
Place Field	
Placing a Field	
Rotating or Flipping a Field	
Place Dimension	
Placing a Dimension	
Modifying a Dimension	
Rotating a Dimension	
Rotating a Dimension	

chapter 16 Route Commands

Using the Route Commands	405
Route Autorouter	406
Route View Log	407
Route Manual	408
Manually Routing a Connection	409
Terminating a Route	409
Status Line Information	410
Routing between Layers	411
T-Routing	411
Modifying Traces	411
Orthogonal Modes (O key)	412
Online DRC	413
Overlapping Connections	414
Routing to Free Copper	414
Copper Pours	414
Route Interactive	414
Routing Connections	414
Controlling Trace Placement	415
Pad Entry or Exit	416
T-Routing	417
Terminating a Route	417
Modifying Traces	418
Changing Layers	418
Vias, Layers, and Line Widths	419
Loop Removal	419
Copper Pours	419
Shortcut Menu	419
Keyboard Shortcuts	420
Route Miter	420
Using the Route Miter Tool	420
Editing Existing Miters	421

chapter 17 Options Commands

Using the Options Commands	
Options Selection Mask	

Items	424
Layers	425
Layer Sets	426
Select Mode Frame	426
Selection Mask Parameters	426
Selecting and Modifying	427
Single Selection Tab	428
Options Configure	429
General Tab	429
Online DRC Tab	433
Route Tab	435
Manufacturing Tab	437
Options Grids	439
Mode	440
Visible Grid Style	440
Relative Grid Origin	440
Grid Spacing: Uniform/Non-uniform	440
Grid Toggle Button (or G kev)	441
Options Display	442
Colors	
Miscellaneous	
Options Preferences	
Keyboard Tab	
Mouse Tab.	
Options Lavers	450
Lavers Tab.	
Sets Tab	
Titles Tab	
avers	456
Options Current Line	457
Overriding Default Units	458
Options Current Keepout	458
Options Current Radius	459
Options Design Rules	459
Design Tab	459
Laver Tab	460
Rooms Tab	462
Net Class Tab	462
Net Tab	464
Class to Class Tab	466
Options Net Classes	469
Options Pad Style	472
Simple and Complex Pad Styles	
Adding a Pad Style	473
Modify a Simple Pad Style	474
Modify a Complex Pad Style	474
Purging Pad Styles	480
Renaming a Pad Style	490- 480

Setting a Hole Range	
Merging Pad Styles	
Options Via Style	
Options Text Style	
Adding Text Style	
Changing Text Display	
Text Style Properties	
Purging Text Styles	
Renaming Text Style	
Deleting Text Style	
Text Style Properties Dialog	
Merging Text Styles	

chapter 18 Library Commands

Using the Library Commands	487
Library New	
Library Alias	488
Creating an Alias	488
Library Copy	489
Copying Patterns/Components	490
Library Delete	491
Deleting from a Library	491
Library Rename	492
Renaming a Pattern/Component	492
Library Setup	493
Drag and Drop File Load	493
Setting Up a Library	493
Library Pattern Save As.	
Saving a Pattern	494
Library Archive Library	495

chapter 19 Utils Commands

Using the Utils Commands	
Utils Renumber	
Renumbering Reference Designators	497
Renumbering Pads	499
Renumbering Default Pin Designators	500
Utils Force Update	
Utils Record ECOs	
Types of ECOs	
Utils Import ECOs	
ECO Filename	503
Preview ECOs	504
Pseudo Patterns	504
Utils Export ECOs	
View Pending ECOs	505
Save ECOs Now	505

Utils DRC	. 506
Filename	. 507
View Report	. 507
Design Rules (DRC Setup)	. 507
Annotate Errors	. 516
Severity Levels	. 516
Summarize Ignored Errors	. 517
Summarize Överridden Errors	. 517
Clear All Overrides	. 518
Design Rule Checks	. 518
Area To DRC	. 519
Utils Find Errors	. 519
Utils Load Netlist	. 520
Loading a Netlist	. 521
Loading a Netlist on an Existing Board	. 522
Pseudo Patterns	. 522
Jumper Pads	. 522
Optimize Nets	. 522
Reconnect Copper.	. 523
Check for Copper Sharing	523
Utils Generate Netlist	523
Generate a Netlist	523
Utils Compare Netlist	524
Comparing a Netlist	524
Utils Ontimize Nets	525
Utils Optimize Nets Command	525
Manual Gate Swap	527
Rules for Pin Swapping	529
Rules for Gate Swapping	530
Impact on the Library Executive	530
Utils Reconnect Nets	530
Check for Conner Sharing	531
Jumper Pads	531
Create Nets From Free Copper	531
I Itils Trace Clean-un	532
Utils Shortcut Directory	532
Litils P-CAD Schematic	532
Utils P-CAD Library Executive	532
Utils P-CAD Pattern Editor	532
Litils P-CAD Symbol Editor	532
Utils P-CAD InterPlace/PCS	533
Litils P-CAD Signal Integrity	533
Running a Signal Integrity Analysis	533
	537
Utils Customize	537
Displaying the Custom Toolbar	530
Executing a Custom Tool	520
	. 009

Chapter 20 DocTool Commands

Using the DocTool Commands	541
DocTool Place Table	541
The Basic Place Table Dialog	
Note and Revision Note Table Options	
Drill Table Advanced Options	
DocTool Place Design View	
DocTool Place Detail	545
DocTool Place Diagram	546
DocTool Place Picture	548
DocTool Titles	548
DocTool Notes	
DocTool Update	
DocTool Update All	549
DocTool Mirror On Copy	549

chapter 21 Macro Commands

Using the Macro Commands	551
Macro Setup	551
Setting Up a Macro	551
Macro Record	552
Macro Recording Tool	552
Recording a Macro	553
Recording a Temporary Macro	553
Macro Delete	554
Macro Rename	554
Macro Run	555
Recording Efficient Macros	555
Other Macro Features	556
Running a Macro	556
Status Line Recording Indicators	556
Automatic Delays	557
Editing Macro Files	557
Macro File Syntax	557
Mouse Events	558
Keyboard Events	558
Special Events	561
Edit Events	561
File Syntax	561

chapter 22 Window Commands

Using the Window Commands	563
Window New Window	
Window Cascade	
Window Tile	
Window Arrange Icons	
Selecting a Window	

chapter 23	Help Commands	
-	Help P-CAD PCB Help Topics	
	How to Use Help	565
	Series II Commands	
	About P-CAD PCB	
appendix A	Keyboard Reference	
	Keyboard Shortcuts in P-CAD PCB	
appendix B	P-CAD System Messages	
	Error Messages	
	Warning Messages	
Index		
	Index	

Introduction to P-CAD PCB

Congratulations on your purchase of P-CAD PCB! P-CAD PCB is a highly versatile and flexible productivity-enhancing tool for the professional designer. It meets the design requirements of today's complex boards in a straight-forward easy-to-use manner.

P-CAD PCB is an advanced printed circuit board design system for the Microsoft® Windows operating systems. It includes a powerful combination of design tools to make your job easier and achieve superior results.

P-CAD PCB Features

This section highlights some of the important P-CAD PCB features:

- Up to 999 layers; multiple power and ground planes.
- User-definable board, net, and component attributes.
- Copper pour with clearances following design rules or user settings, plowed tracks, island removal.
- Support for Design Technology Parameters.
- User-definable pad stacks, including blind/buried vias.
- Split power/ground planes.
- Cross-probing with P-CAD Schematic.
- Advanced bi-directional ECO capabilities.
- Component library data integrated for use in both P-CAD Schematic and P-CAD PCB.
- Powerful pattern graphic capabilities with automatic alternate pattern graphic selection based on side of board and component rotation.
- Item rotation to 0.1 degree.
- Curved traces.

- Comprehensive Design Rules Checking with error annotation and on-screen highlighting.
- Tightly integrated with the P-CAD Shape-Based Autorouter.
- Full range of manufacturing and assembly functions.
- Tight integration to the SPECCTRA® autorouter, CAM350®, and Viewlogic® products.
- Integrated web-based request for PCB fabrication quotation feature.
- IDF version 3 import and export options.
- Extensive print and report options.
- Block and subselection allow portions of designs to be copied, moved, rotated and deleted.

About this Guide

This manual provides information about P-CAD PCB, a full-featured printed circuit board design system, and P- CAD PCB (6/400), a reduced-capacity printed circuit board design system.

This manual includes the following sections:

- *Getting Started*: This section tells what you need to get started using P-CAD PCB. It provides installation instructions and walks you through the basic capabilities of P-CAD PCB. Tutorial chapters provide instructions on creating and navigating a simple design.
- Using PCB: These chapters provide information that you need to work with P-CAD PCB. They give you details on some of PCB's advanced features such as manual, interactive, and automatic routing, as well as using Design Technology Parameters.
- *PCB Reference*: This section includes an extensive command reference, covering all of the P-CAD PCB commands

About P-CAD PCB (6/400)

P-CAD PCB (6/400) has the full range of advanced design features available with P-CAD PCB, but with reduced design capacity. It is a Windows-based printed circuit board design system. Differences between the two products have been noted throughout this manual with the symbol you see in the left margin. The following chart provides a summary of those differences:

Maximum number of components	400
Maximum number of layers	Maximum of six copper layers, including a predefined Top and Bottom layer and four user- defined signal or plane layers.
Network Licensing	Unsupported

Installation and Setup

This section lists the required hardware and software settings you need to install the P-CAD Suite.

System Requirements

Make sure that your PC and its software conform to the following P-CAD requirements and recommendations.

Recommended System

- Windows NT 4/2000 Professional
- PC with Pentium III Processor
- 128MB RAM (256MB for high component/net count)
- 400MB Hard Disk Space
- Desktop area 1024x768 pixels
- 32-bit Color Palette
- CD-ROM Drive
- Mouse or compatible pointing device

Minimum System

- Windows 95/98/2000Me
- PC with Pentium 166MHz
- 64MB RAM
- 200MB Hard Disk Space (without ISO libraries)
- Desktop area 800x600 pixels
- 256 Color Palette

- CD-ROM Drive
- Mouse

Installing P-CAD Products

For up-to-date installation information refer to the file Readme.WRI, located on the product CD. This file can also be found in the application program folder (\Program Files\P-CAD 2002) after installation. Note that the setup program on the Product CD can also be used to Repair or Remove an existing P-CAD Installation.

PCB Basics

This chapter introduces many of the basic features you need to know when using P-CAD PCB. It includes general information on such topics as:

- The user interface
- View commands
- Using layers
- Object/action interaction
- Placing objects
- Edit objects
- Properties
- Right mouse commands
- Loading and saving files

What is presented here is a high level look at PCB capabilities. For a detailed description of a particular operation, refer to the appropriate chapters. For instructions on how to perform a particular operation refer to the *Tutorials* chapter.

About the User Interface

The PCB interface follows the standard Windows format, with the addition of PCB-specific controls.

ին՝ P-CAD 2000 PCB - [Demo1_աբcb]	_ 8 ×
🏝 File Edit View Place Route Options Library Utils DocTool Macro Window Help	_ 8 ×
0	·
N	
<u>o</u>	
	-
	-
$\left(\begin{array}{c} \epsilon \end{array} \right) = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array} \right] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array} \end{array}] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array}] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array} \end{array}] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array}] = \left[\end{array}] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array}] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array}] = \left[\end{array}] = \left[\end{array}] = \left[\begin{array}{c} \tau \end{array}] = \left[\end{array}$	
	•
Click <left> to single Select, <cht left=""> for multiple, or drag for block select</cht></left>	
55.880 127.000 Abs 2.540 X M Top X 2.54mm X (None)	

Menu Bar

The menu bar allows you easy access to PCB commands and functions.

File Edit View Place Route Options Library Utils DocTool Macro Window Help

To activate a menu, click the **menu title** or press the **ALT** key in combination with the underlined letter of the menu title (e.g., **ALT+F** to open the File menu). When the menu appears, click a menu item, or press the underlined key, to choose a command.

- A command followed by three dots (e.g., **Open...**) opens a dialog when you choose it.
- The menu bar wraps if you reduce the width of the window. In contrast, other areas of the screen truncate with screen reduction.

Toolbars

Three toolbars provide shortcuts to commonly used commands and PCB functions. Toolbars appear when you choose the appropriate View command. Once a toolbar is visible on your screen, you can use your mouse to drag it to a new position. It can be docked along the edges of your screen, or left floating in the middle of your display. A floating toolbar can be resized.

Tool Tips explain each of the toolbar buttons. To activate a *Tool Tip*, simply place the mouse over the button.

Command Toolbar

The Command Toolbar provides shortcuts to menu commands and other system functions.



These buttons appear on the Command Toolbar.

Click this button	To do this:	Click this button	To do this:
L3	Edit Select	E	Edit Paste
D	File New	2	Edit Undo
1	File Open		Edit Redo
	File Save		Edit Measure
4	File Print		View Zoom Window
¥	K Edit Cut		Online DRC
Edit Copy			Record ECOs

The **Undo**, **Redo** and **Zoom Window** buttons operate in conjunction with other PCB tools. For example, if the **Place Arc** tool is active and you choose to undo an action, you can then resume placing arcs without having to restart the command.

Placement Toolbar

The *Placement Toolbar* provides shortcuts to PCB placement commands.



Click this button	To do this:	Click this button	To do this:	
	Place Component	Ę2	Place Copper Pour	
\mathbf{x}	Place Connection	te []	Place Cutout	
(),	Place Pad	0	Place Keepout	
•••	Place Via	L	Place Plane	
~	Place Line		Place Room	
ヽ	Place Arc		Place Text	
$\overline{\Sigma}$	Place Polygon	See .	Place Attribute	
\boxtimes	Place Point	(F)	Place Field	
		€→	Place Dimension	

These buttons appear on the *Placement Toolbar*:

Click these buttons to select a PCB tool such as the **Place Line** tool or the **Select** tool. Once selected, a tool remains active until you select another tool.

When a tool is active you can perform actions associated with the tool as well as certain one-time actions such as zooming, changing layers, and undoing the last operation.

For example, when you enable the **Place Line** tool, you are limited to placing line segments and cannot perform other actions like placing an arc (**Place Arc**) or selecting another object (**Edit Select**).

Route Toolbar

The *Route Toolbar* provides shortcuts to PCB route commands.



Click this button	lick this button To do this:		To do this:
۲ ۲	Route Manual		Route Fanout
<u>لېم</u>	Route Interactive		Push Traces
Route Miter		994	Maximize Hugging
Route Bus)	Minimize Length
Route MultiTrace			Visible Routing Area

These buttons appear on the Route Toolbar:

Custom Toolbar

You can create a Custom Toolbar for access to other applications from PCB. Programs are added to the Custom Toolbar by choosing the **Utils » Customize** command. You can launch any of the programs by clicking their Custom Toolbar buttons or selecting them from the list of programs that appear in the Utils menu.

Complete instructions on creating and using the *Custom Toolbar* are found in, *Utils Commands,* (page 497).

Prompt Line

The Prompt Line lies below the work area and is the first line of the prompt/status line area, extending the complete width of the PCB display (the second line being the Status Line. Its display can be displayed or hidden using the **View** » **Prompt Line** command). When there is no prompt, the area is empty.

When you choose a command or process, the Prompt Line displays a prompt message that provides useful instructions on what to do when a certain tool is selected.

Status Line

The Status Line area is at the bottom of the screen and its display can be turned on or off by choosing the **View** » **Status Line** command. A check mark next to the Status Line indicates that the Status Line display is turned on.

2300.0	5200.0	Abs 100.0	💌 📶 Тор		10.0mil 💌	(None) 🔹
--------	--------	-----------	---------	--	-----------	----------

The Status Line has the following basic features, from left to right:

X and Y Coordinates

These two values in the lower-left corner of the Status Line show you the position of the cursor as you move it over the workspace. The display lets you enter the exact X and Y coordinates of specific points on the screen.

Keyboard shortcuts listed below are defaults; you can change them by choosing the **Options** » **Preferences** command.

If the Select tool is enabled, these boxes act as a shortcut for the View » Jump Location command:

- 1. Press the J key to get focus on the X coordinate edit box.
- 2. Type an **X** coordinate value.
- 3. Press the **TAB** key to move to the Y coordinate box.
- 4. Type a **Y** coordinate value.
- 5. Press **ENTER**. The cursor moves to the new X, Y coordinate, scrolling the workspace if necessary.

If a **Placement** tool is enabled, these boxes let you specify a specific X, Y location at which to place the object.

For certain multi-point objects such as lines, buses, and polygons, you can use these boxes to place the object at specific locations:

- 1. Choose one of the Placement commands (e.g., Place » Line).
- 2. Press the J key to set focus on the X coordinate edit box.
- 3. Type an **X** coordinate value.
- 4. Move to the **Y** coordinate box.
- 5. Type a Y value.
- 6. Press **ENTER** set the start point of the object.
- 7. Repeat steps 2 through 6 for each point in the object.
- 8. Press **ESC** to complete placement of the object.

The coordinate values express either millimeters or mils, depending on the settings in the *Options Configure* dialog; the decimal point is placed at hundredths for mm, tenths for mils. Negative numbers appear in relative grid mode only when the relative origin point is somewhere other than the lower-left (absolute) origin.

Grid Toggle Buttons

The Grid toggle button and the Grid combo box beside it allow you to easily switch between grid settings and add new grid settings. The toggle switches between absolute grid (**Abs**, with white background) and relative grid (**Rel**, with colored background). Your absolute and relative grid values can be changed from the combo box. The **A** key toggles between absolute and relative grids.

Absolute grid always uses the lower-left corner of the workspace as the origin point (X and Y are both zero). Relative grid allows you to specify any point as an origin point. You can even make the origin point for relative the same as for absolute, thereby making the toggle button a combination of grid sizes rather than absolute vs. relative.

Choose a new grid from the list to add new grids to your design.



To add a new grid, type a new value and press **ENTER**. The new grid becomes the current grid. The **G** key scrolls forward through the list of grid settings. **SHIFT**+**G** scrolls back through the list.

Macro Record (Temporary Macro) Button

The **Macro** toggle button, located on the Status Line, allows you to create temporary macros on the fly to produce shortcut functions for temporary use. These temporary macros are named _DEFAULT in the program. Typically, you would use this temporary macro for a short time within a design process (e.g., repeatedly placing a combination of lines, duplicating the same lengths and angles). The **M** key is equivalent to the **M** button.

Only one temporary macro is available at a time; each time you record a new macro, it overwrites the previous one.

To Record a Macro

- 1. Click the **M** button (or press the **M** key) to begin recording; the button displays a red background when it is recording.
- 2. Perform whatever actions you wish to temporarily record.
- 3. To stop recording, click the **M** button (or press the **M** key) again; the red background disappears when it stops the temporary recording.
- 4. Press the **E** key to execute the temporary macro. The actions you recorded will repeat at the cursor location each time you press **E**.

Although it is not common while recording a temporary macro, you can temporarily halt the recording of the macro (to perform an interim action you don't want to be part of the macro recording). Use the **Macro Record/Stop** command, and click **Pause** in the dialog. When you do this, the background color of the **M** button turns to yellow. To resume recording, use the **Macro Record/Stop** command again and click **Resume**. To finish recording, click the **M** button again.

The **M** key also ends the recording of a named macro (Macro Record/Stop).

To create more permanent macros, use the **Macro Record/Stop** command to name the macro before recording it. Refer to the command documentation in the Command Reference section of this manual for more information.

The default macro also can be renamed to a more permanent name using the **Macro** » **Rename** command.

Layer Display Combo Box and Scroll Buttons

These buttons are a shortcut to the **Options** » **Layers** command and dialog. Use the list box (a list of layers) and scroll buttons to select or change layers.



The list box (enabled with the single down arrow) shows a list of current layers from which you can choose. The scroll buttons (up and down arrows) and **L** and **SHIFT+L** allow you to scroll through the enabled layers in order.

The color swatch shows the line color for the corresponding layer. Clicking this swatch opens the *Options Layers* dialog. Line colors can be viewed or altered by using the **Options » Display** command.

Line Width Combo Box

This combo box presents a list of line widths set using the *Options Current Line* dialog. You can select a line width or type a new value to add a new line width to the list. The new width becomes the current width. **W** and **SHIFT+W** allow you to scroll up and down through the list of line widths.

12.0mil	•
---------	---

Radius Combo Box

The Radius combo box displays the current radius setting used when placing polygonal shapes that have rounded corners. You can select a radius setting from the pull down list or enter a new radius number. Radius settings can also be applied using the **Options** » **Current Radius** command. The new radius becomes the current radius.



Status Information Area

Displays information relevant to the action you are currently performing.

Click <Left> to single Select, <Ctrl><Left> for multiple, or drag for block select.

The information area displays the following types of data:

- Total length of the current line or route you are creating.
- Identifies selected objects either specifically (net name, reference designator and layer) or generally (number of items selected).
- The delta X and delta Y measurements of objects being moved or line segments being stretched.
- Pad numbers when you are numbering them.

Workspace

The workspace is the logical design area in a design. You can alter your workspace size with the **Options** » **Configure** command.

The workspace area and the window are not necessarily the same thing. Since the window is rectangular, if you specify your workspace as square and choose **View** » **Zoom Out** or **View** » **All**, the square workspace area covers the left area of the window, leaving an "out of bounds" area to the right in which no work can be done. The edge of the workspace can be determined by the edge of the displayed grid, or when the cursor readout stops changing. By resizing the window, you can reduce the size of the out of bounds area.

Using Multiple Windows

PCB allows you to open multiple design files at the same time. Additionally, you can have multiple windows open on the same design to view different parts of it simultaneously.

Each design file you open creates a window inside the application window in which you can edit that design. As is standard in Windows, you can change the length and width of each window in relation to the other windows running on your screen. You can also activate or deactivate other screen areas such as the **Placement Toolbar** and status/prompt line areas, which alternately decreases or increases the available space in the application window.

View Commands

You can use the view commands to control how your design appears on the screen. You can zoom in to see and edit fine details of your design. You can zoom out to view the entire design. Scrolling allows you to move across the screen. The jump commands allow you to jump to a specific component or location.

Zoom Commands

You can use the zoom commands to zoom in and out and move around the workspace, making it easier to perform such functions as creating a board outline, and manually placing components.

(View) Zoom In/Out

When you use the zoom in/out functions, the cursor changes to a magnifying glass shape until you click in the workspace. The spot where you click becomes the center of the zoom area. The amount of zoom is determined by the **Zoom Factor** value in the *Options Configure* dialog.

Another way to zoom in and out is to use the plus + key to zoom in and the minus - key to zoom out. When you use the plus key or minus key, you don't need to click in the workspace to zoom; the cursor location becomes the center of the zoom area.

You must re-invoke the **Zoom** command (or **Zoom** key) for every zoom action.

(View) Zoom Window

The zoom window is drawn to enclose a certain area of your workspace, and then fill the screen with the contents of the window.

The three ways to invoke zoom window are the **Z** key, the **Placement Toolbar Zoom** button, and the **View** » **Zoom Window** command on the menu. After you invoke the command, click and drag to define the window size in the workspace. Release the mouse button and the window you designated fills the workspace.

Other View Options

The following view options are also available:

- View » Center:(the C key): centers the design around the current cursor location.
- View » Extent: causes the display to encompass all items in the workspace.
- View » Redraw: clears everything in the workspace to the background color and then repaints the screen.
- View » Last: redraws the previous (last) view, if you have altered the view in any way.
- View » All: redraws the screen with the entire workspace shown.
- **Panning:** You can use the **C** key for panning across the workspace by moving the cursor and pressing **C** repeatedly; each time you press the **C** key the display re-centers around the current cursor location.
- Scroll bars: Use the scroll bars and scroll boxes to view items that exist beyond the border of a window. Drag the scroll box or click the scroll button to pan through a design moving up and down or from side to side.

Jump Commands

Jump commands allow you to jump to a specific component, location, text string or node. For additional information, see *Utils Commands*, (page 497).

Jump to a Component

Use the Edit Components dialog to view the components in your design.

Select one component from the Components list box and click **Jump** to jump to that component. The component appears in the center of your workspace.

View Jump Location

This command allows you to position the cursor to a specified location (X, Y coordinates).

If you are zoomed in, this command pans the workspace to the specified location, attempting to center the location. If the specified location is already visible on the screen, no panning is necessary. The units used for the location value (mil or mm) are determined by the setting in *Options Configure*.

With the select tool enabled, you can use the X, Y Coordinate boxes in the status bar as a shortcut for this command.

View Jump Text

This command accesses the *View Jump Text* dialog. You can use it to search through all text strings and locate a specific combination of letters.

When PCB finds the first instance of the specified text string, it highlights it in the current highlight color. To search for text matches based on case, enable the **Case Sensitive Search** option. To search all layers for the specified text string, enable the **Search Entire Design** option. If this option is disabled, PCB searches the current layer only.

Jump to a Node

You can use the *Edit Nets* dialog to jump to a node attached to a particular net. Select a node from the Nodes list box and click the **Jump to Node** button.

Using Layers

PCB allows you to enable and configure up to 999 layers (including the eleven predefined layers) to accommodate even the most demanding PC board designs.

P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of six copper layers, including a predefined Top and Bottom layer and four user-defined signal or plane layers. P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs can have a total of 999 layers.

You can use the *Options Layers* dialog to add, name, number, and assign layers to a PCB design. This dialog also lets you arrange layers to reflect the actual layer order of your board. You can enable or disable layers (for display and routing), and make one of the enabled layers current. The dialog displays all existing design layers, and you can create additional layers as needed.

The Current drop down list in the *Options Layers* dialog allows you to choose a layer to be the current layer. Clicking on the **color swatch** in the status bar opens the *Options Layers* dialog.



Additionally, you can use the **L** key or the layer box on the Status Line (combo box and scroll arrows) as a shortcut for selecting the current layer. The current layer is identified by name and color on the Status Line. Use **SHIFT+L** to scroll backwards through the enabled layers.

Placing Objects

When you place an object into a design, it is placed on the current layer unless it is an object that is defined on several layers such as a pad, via, or component. These objects are composed of other objects that may be defined on more than one layer.

Item and Layer Drawing Order

Except where overridden, objects on the layers are drawn as follows: plane and non-signal layers are drawn first, followed by signal layers, with the current layer drawn last. Pads defined on the current layer are the last items drawn on the current layer.

Object/Action Interaction

Consistent with other Windows compliant interfaces, the user interface provides you with menu choices, dialogs, options, and feedback based on what is appropriate given the current state of your design and PCB. The interface provides power, flexibility, and logical choices based on the object(s) currently selected and the command or process currently being invoked. For example, the product main menu changes to reflect only those commands that may be accessed when autorouting after the autorouter has been started.

Object Selection and Placement

Current and enabled layer status (Options Layers) affects the selection and placement of objects. Objects are placed individually on the current layer. Objects can be selected on the current layer or on all enabled layers through the **Options » Preferences** option to **Allow Single Select** on **All Enable Layers**.

Block selection of objects depends on the selection masks and filters set in the *Options Selection Mask* dialog and may be further filtered by enabling and disabling layers using the *Options Layers* dialog.

Object Selection and Object Properties

Perhaps the most powerful aspect of the interface is its ability to modify one or more objects by selecting the objects and then performing an action on your selection. Items can be individually selected, selected using a set of selection criteria (**Options** » **Selection Mask**), or by other methods such as by using the **Select** button in the *Edit Nets* dialog.

After an object or collection of objects is selected, you can select all associated net objects, delete, move as a group, highlight the objects, or if the objects are the same type, you can modify or query their properties. (Many of these most frequently used commands can be accessed by clicking the **right mouse button** after you have selected the objects. This provides an unprecedented ability to globally or individually modify and enhance your design based on your own preferred design style.

Placing Objects

You can use **Place** commands to draw new objects or place already created objects, such as components, into your design.

The objects that you can place in your design are those listed on the Place menu, in order: Component, Connection, Pad, Via, Line, Arc, Polygon, Point, Copper Pour, Cutout, Keepout, Plane, Room, Text, Attribute, Field, and Dimension.


When you enable one of these **Place** commands, it remains enabled until you enable a different tool. However different tools act differently. For example, for the Line tool each click places another line segment until you click the **right mouse button**. For the Pad tool, each click places a new pad.

When you place an item, it is always placed at a grid point regardless of your cursor setting. See *Options Grids (page 439)*.

Moving Objects

You can move pads, vias, components, points, text, attributes, and fields while you are placing them. Instead of clicking and releasing on a certain location, you can click and hold the **mouse button**, then move the ghosted outline of the object before releasing to place it. This is the recommended placement method, as you can be more accurate in placement location.

Some of these objects require the interaction of a dialog before the object can be placed (e.g., content of text), but the placement characteristics are the same.

P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of six copper layers, including a predefined Top and Bottom layer and four user-defined signal or plane layers. P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs can have a total of 999 layers.

Rotating and Flipping Objects

You can also rotate and flip many objects (e.g. components, pads) that appear on your design while you are placing them. For example, when the **Place Component** tool is active, when you click and hold the **left mouse button**, you can rotate the component by pressing **R** or flip it by pressing **F** before you finally place it.

You can find details on which objects can be rotated or flipped by looking at the specific place command in the command reference chapter of this manual.

Orthogonal Modes

While placing lines, you can press the **O** key to cycle through the enabled orthogonal modes. The enabled orthogonal modes are determined by the settings in the *Options Configure* dialog. For placing lines, the modes are limited to line segments (no arcs).

The orthogonal modes are divided into mode pairs, as shown in the following paragraphs. The **F** key toggles between the mode pair of the orthogonal mode you are in. The "any angle" straight line mode is always available, no matter what orthogonal modes are enabled.

90/90 Line-Line

Both lines are either horizontal or vertical (displayed perpendicular to each other). For long, the first segment is always longer than the second. For short, the first segment is shorter. You can toggle between the two configurations with the **F** key.



45/90 Line-Line

The first mode makes the first segment displayed at a 45-degree angle and the second segment is either horizontal or vertical. The second mode makes the first segment either horizontal or vertical and the second segment displays at a 45-degree angle. You can toggle between the two modes with the **F** key.



While performing manual routing with Route Manual, there are three orthogonal mode pairs (six modes) to choose from, including arcs.

Unwinding Segments

You can unwind (undo) a segment with the **BACKSPACE** key for lines, polygons, copper pours, cutouts, keepouts, and copper that you place.

When you place a multiple segment object, you can press the **BACKSPACE** key to delete the previous segment. If you have finished placing the object (clicked the right button), then the unwind function does not work. You can undo the placement of a finished object (**Edit** » **Undo**), but you cannot unwind it.

Moving Objects to Another Layer

The **Edit** » **Move to Layer** command allows you to select a number of objects, and move the objects to the current layer. This facility enhances the ability to clear out congested areas for routing. Additionally, if you have accidentally placed objects on the wrong layer, you can move them easily to the correct layer.

You can change the current layer after the items have been selected using any of the layer changing methods described in the Using Layers section.

Changing an Arc Centerpoint

While placing an arc, you can alter the centerpoint before the final placement. After you click, drag, and release, the arc start and end points are defined. A second click defines the center point and, therefore, the radius. If you click and drag, you can alter the centerpoint of the arc before you release.

Selecting the **F** key allows you to toggle between the arc's beginning and end points.

Using a Snappy Cursor

Use the **View** » **Snap to Grid** command to enable a snappy cursor, meaning that the cursor can only move from grid point to grid point, as opposed to a free floating cursor. The benefits of a snappy cursor are mainly a question of personal preference (e.g., you may be accustomed to a snappy cursor from other program applications). Also, a snappy cursor can create a predictable point of reference and placement when moving and rotating objects or measuring distances.

Items are still placed on grid regardless of the cursor setting.

The current setting for **Snap to Grid** (whether it is enabled or disabled) is saved to your PCB.ini file when you exit the program.

Selecting Objects

The **Select** tool lets you select objects, which you have placed in your design. When the **Select** tool is active, data tips appear when the mouse is over an object in the workspace.

The **Select** tool can be accessed by:

- choosing the **Select** command from the Edit menu.
- activating the Select tool from the Placement toolbar.
- pressing the **S** key.

The **Select** tool is layer-specific by default. If an item is on a specific layer, then that layer must be current to allow selection. Component selection is an exception, since components are not specific to a single layer.

Items are still placed on grid regardless of the cursor setting.

When you select an object, the object appears in the selection color set by the **Options** » **Display** command.

Status Line Information

The Status Line information area identifies the item, either specifically (component RefDes or net name) or generally (number of items selected). When possible, the layer name is also displayed.

Component U12 selected on Top layer

Single Select

Once the **Select** tool is enabled, you can click a single object to select it; the object appears in the Selection color. Any other selected objects are deselected.

Single selection can also used in conjunction with a Selection Mask, see Using the Selection Masks (*page 21*) for more details.

Toggling through Objects

If there are overlapping objects, you can enable the **Select** tool and toggle through them using either the **SPACEBAR** or the **left mouse button** to click repeatedly in the same location. Two strokes of the **SPACEBAR** equal one click and release.

Multiple Select

You can add or remove selected items by holding down the **CTRL** key and clicking individual items. When you select multiple objects, the number of objects selected is displayed on the Status Line.

If you release the **CTRL** key and click anywhere other than one of the selected objects, all items are deselected.

In the Mouse tab of the *Options Preferences* dialog you can set the **SHIFT** key as the key to use for multiple selections.

Multiple Selection with Collocated Objects

The behavior of the multiple select feature with collocated objects depends on the setting of the Single Select Mode option in the Single Selection tab of the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.

If the Single Select Mode is set to Cycle-Picking, then as you hold the **CTRL** key and **left-click** each collocated object is selected in turn.

If the Single Select Mode is set to Popup Dialog, then whenever you click on collocated objects the following selection dialog is displayed.

куре	Layer	Net	Information	
🗖 Pattern	Тор		C15, Type = CAP300, Value = .1	
🗹 Line	Тор	VCC	Width = 25.0mil	
🗹 Line	Bottom	VCC	Width = 50.0mil	

The dialog will include a list of all collocated objects, with a check box next to each. Click to enable the checkbox of each object that you wish to select, then when you are ready, click the button at the top left of the dialog with the exclamation character (!) to carry out the selection. Click the **X** button to cancel the selection action.

Sub Select

The sub select feature lets you select a single part of an object. Once selected, you can view and, in some cases, modify properties for the item selected.

For example, you can select a component pad and bring up a *Properties* dialog for that pad. Then you can change the pad style for the selected pad.

In the Mouse tab of the *Options Preferences* dialog you can set the **CTRL** key as the key to use for a sub selection.

Example

To select pad 8 in a 7400 component:



Hold down the **SHIFT** key and **left mouse button**, and click the pad. The pad, and not the entire component, will be selected.

Block Select

Where single selection is performed by clicking directly on an object to select it, Block Selection allows you to select multiple objects (a block of objects) in a single action.

To block select a group of objects, click and hold the left mouse button in an unoccupied area of the workspace, then drag the mouse. As you drag the mouse a dotted box is displayed, indicating the area that the block selection is to apply to. The standard behavior can then be modified by setting up the Selection Mask, where you can restrict the objects that are selected, the layers that selection is permitted on, or change the behavior of the selected area.

Using the Selection Masks

Choose **Options** » **Selection Mask** from the menus to display the *Options Selection Mask* dialog, where you define both the Block Selection mask, and the Single Selection mask.

Block Selection Tab

Options Selection	Mask		×
Block Selection	Single Selection		
- Items			ł
			L
Attribute	1-12-2000	L Top Assy Set All	L
	Component	1 Top Paste Clear All	L
Connection	<u> </u>	Top Mask	L
Cu Pour	CulPour	1 Dop	L
	Cutout	Bot Mask	L
Design View	<u></u>	Bot Paste	Ľ
Design view		Bot Silk	Ľ
		Bot Assy	Ľ
I♥ Diagra <u>m</u>		Board	L
DPC Errore			Ľ
		Layer Sets:	Ľ
	Dely Kenneyd	I ▲pply	Ľ
I inc	Foly Neepout	╢└─────	L
		Select Mode	H
J▼ _au Debure	<u></u> ad	□ □ Inside Block	Ľ
IV Ficture	Diana	I C Dutside Block	Ľ
	Fjane	C Touching Block	Ľ
Polygon	Polygon		Ľ
	<u>H</u> oom		H
I <u>R</u> er Point			L
IV <u>G</u> lue Dot			H
			H
IM Lable		-	H
	Lest Point	4	H
	1 e <u>x</u> t	4	H
IM <u>V</u> ia	<u>V</u> Ia		
S <u>e</u> t All	Clear All		ł
	ОК	Cancel Apply Help	1

Items

Notice that there are both item check boxes and item buttons (the buttons are a sub-function of the item boxes). The check boxes, when enabled, instruct the selection mask to include all items of that type (e.g., all lines of any width) on the specified layers.

Notice in the figure of the *Options Selection Mask* dialog (above) that the grayed items each have an item button that is available. Each button displays its respective selection mask dialog for further selection criteria.

If you want to be more specific in the selection of components (for example, selecting only one type), you need to click the **Component** check box until it turns gray. This makes the component button available. You can then click on the **Component** button to display the *Options Selection Mask* dialog in which you can specify the component type, value, etc.

Layers

The layers that are set (highlighted) are included in the selection criteria along with the enabled items. Thus, the selection mask can include both layers and item combinations.

Layer Sets

Use the Layer Sets list box and **Layer Sets** button to quickly limit the selection to a predefined layer set. Do this by:

- 1. Select a layer set from the Layer Set drop down list box and
- 2. Click the **Apply Layer Set** button.

The layers belonging to that set are highlighted in the **Layers** box and are used as part of the selection criteria.

Refer to Layers (page 425) for information on creating layer sets.

Select Mode Area

Selection is done by clicking in the workspace and dragging the mouse to form a selection rectangle. If you want the selection to take place within the rectangle, click the **Inside Block** radio button in the Select Mode area of the dialog. If you want the selection to take place outside of the rectangle, then click the **Outside Block** radio button. Touching Block will select all items inside and touching the selection block. This is a more inclusive selection option than Inside Block. After you have set the criteria for block selection, you will use the block select function to perform the actual selection. Use the **Edit** » **Select** command to click and drag a selecting rectangle.

Performing a Block Select

To do a block select, once you have set your selection filters, click and drag to create a selection box around a block of objects. Any objects meeting your selection criteria (items, layers, select mode area) appear in the selection color.

Single Selection Tab

This tab of the Options Selection Mask dialog is used to control the behavior when performing a single selection. The Single Selection tab includes the same options for Items and Layers, refer to the previous topic for information on these. Single Selection also includes the following features.

Current Layer Only

When this option is enabled you can only perform a single selection on the current layer.

Single Selection Mode

Cycle-Picking – in this mode collocated objects are 'cycled through' by repeated left-clicking of the mouse (or pressing the SPACEBAR twice).

Popup Dialog – when this option is enabled a pop-up dialog box appears whenever you click to select at a location where there are collocated objects. The dialog lists all objects that are overlapping, AND are selected in the Items list, AND are in a selected layer in the Layers frame. The dialog displays information on the type of object (e.g. Line), the layer on which the object is placed

(e.g. Top), any associated Net (e.g. VCC) and any other useful information about the object (e.g. WIDTH=20mil). Click on an object in the dialog to select that object.

! X			
Туре	Layer	Net	Information
Pattern	Тор		C15, Type = CAP300, Value = .1
Line	Тор	VCC	Width = 25.0mil
Line	Bottom	<u>VCC</u>	Width = 50.0mil
	_ (m)_		
<u> </u>			

The small pop-up dialog can be resized by clicking and dragging on an edge or corner.

Edit Deselect All

You can click on an empty area outside of the selection region or use the **Edit** » **Deselect All** command to deselect all items. The **Select** tool is enabled, but no objects are selected.

Edit Select All

You can select all objects in the active window by using the Edit » Select All command.

Selecting a Net

There are two ways you can select all items in the net to which an item is connected.

The first way is to use the *Edit Nets* dialog. Select a net from the list in the dialog and click the **Select** button.

The second way is to select the item, click the **right mouse button**, and choose **Select Net** from the popup menu.

In both cases, the complete net is highlighted as selected, subject to any criteria set in **Options** » **Selection Mask**.

Select Highlighted

Highlighed objects can be selected by choosing Edit » Select Highlighted from the menus.

Editing Objects

Once objects have been selected, you can perform editing functions discussed in this section.

These functions do not work on fixed components.

P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of 400 components. Therefore, when using P- CAD PCB (6/400), do not exceed this number when pasting components into your design or duplicating components using Copy Matrix.

Selection Reference Point

A selection reference point is used and automatically appears with all select operations such as moving, copying, rotating, flipping and pasting. To specify a location different than the default, select the object(s), click the **right mouse button** to access the pop up menu containing the **Selection Point** option, and select the position of the reference point with respect to the selected item. If you don't specify a different location for the selection reference point, PCB uses a default reference point.

Clipboard cut/copy/paste operations support the user-defined reference point. The default selection point appears in the center during block operations.

Moving Objects

If the selection reference point is off-grid when a move operation begins, then it is automatically snapped to the nearest grid point and all the selected objects move the same relative distance.

Flipping and Rotating Objects

Components are flipped and rotated about the reference point. Additionally, components can be aligned around a selection reference point either horizontally or vertically.

Aligning Components

Components can be aligned vertically or horizontally, around a selection reference point. Place a selection reference point at the point of alignment. Then choose **Edit** » **Align Components** and set the desired alignment options.

Copying and Pasting Objects

The selection reference point is saved to the clipboard or to a block file and automatically restored when pasting objects into your design. When pasting, an object's reference point snaps to grid.

Moving Objects

To move an object, select it, then click on the object and drag the cursor to the new location. Release to place the object. You can also move an object by selecting it and using the arrow keys to reposition the object in the workspace.

When you move an object connected to other objects, the connections remain in place after the move.

If you are moving multiple objects within a selection box, click anywhere in the selection box and drag. All the selected objects in the box follow. Release the **button** to place the objects.

When selecting and moving several components into position, the connections rubberband to maintain the established nets.

Rotating and Flipping Objects

You can rotate and flip many objects once they have been placed in your design. First select the object. Then press the **R** key to rotate the object 90 degrees counterclockwise; press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate it by an amount specified in *Options Configure*. Press **F** to flip the object.

You can find details on which objects can be rotated or flipped by looking at the specific place command in the command reference chapter of this manual.

Resizing an Object

You can resize an object by clicking one of its handles and dragging to stretch the object. Handles are the squares displayed when certain objects are selected singly. They appear only if you select one object, and if the object can be resized.

The resize function varies among the different objects (some objects cannot be resized with this function, e.g., pads and vias).

For example, to resize an arc you click one of the endpoint resize handles and drag the endpoint to increase the sweep angle. To resize a polygon, you can grab one of its vertex handles and move it to change the polygon.



When you move a polygon handle that is on an edge between two vertices, a new vertex is created (allowing you even more reshaping). You can delete a vertex by moving it to an adjacent vertex and releasing.

Lines, Arcs, Polygons, Copper Pours, Keepouts, Planes, Rooms and Cutouts can be resized.

Rounding Corners of Polygonal Shapes

The corners of polygonal shapes (polygons, copper pours, polygon keepouts, cutouts and planes) can be rounded. The rounded corner forms a filleted edge, which is the rounded intersection of two edges. This intersection of the two edges is created with an arc of a specified radius that is tangential to both edges.

A new radius can be added by entering it directly into the Radius combo box on the Status Line or by choosing the **Options** » **Current Radius** command and entering the new values in the *Current Radius* dialog. You can choose the desired radius from those in the Radius combo box drop down list on the Status Line. The radius displayed in the combo box is the current setting.

When a polygonal shape has filleted corners, additional handles appear in the shape as shown below:



To change the radius of a filleted corner, grab the interior handle and drag it until you see the desired radius for the corner. The radius displayed in the Radius combo box on the Status Line only affects the polygonal shape at the time of placement or during modification. You can also access radius settings by double clicking the polygonal shape to display the *Properties* dialog where you can make modifications to the definition or filleted points.

Cutting, Copying, and Pasting Objects

Once an object or objects have been selected, the selection can be cut or copied to the Windows clipboard, and clipboard objects can be pasted back into the design or stored in the file where you can paste the selection in at a later time.

Cutting Objects (Ctrl+X)

You can cut objects from a design and paste them into a new location, into a new design, or even into another application using the cut and paste functions. To cut an object, select it and choose the **Edit** » **Cut** command or press **Ctrl+X**.

The object is moved to the Windows clipboard, from where you can paste it.

When you choose **Edit** » **Cut** to remove objects from nets, you can get a variety of results, depending on what you cut and the makeup of the net you remove it from. The function of smart nets is to maintain certain connections when objects such as copper connections, unrouted connections, and net nodes are removed.

Copying Objects (Ctrl+C)

You can copy objects from a design and store them in the Windows clipboard. To copy an object, select it and choose the **Edit** » **Copy** command or press **Ctrl+C**.

Drag-and-Drop (Ctrl+Left Click)

For copying within the same design, you can also use the shortcut copy drag-and-drop. This works just like moving objects with drag-and-drop, except you are copying the object instead of moving it. You first enable **Edit** » **Select** mode, click on the object to select it, then **Ctrl+left click** and drag to where you want to place the copied object.

Copying to a File

The **Edit** » **Copy to File** command provides a shortcut for copying objects and net information to a file.

When you select the **Edit** » **Copy to File** command a dialog appears where you can pick a filename and save the data you are copying. Later, you can use the **Paste from File** or **Edit** » **Paste Circuit From File** commands to paste the information into a different design or the same design.

Pasting Objects (Ctrl+V)

To paste object(s) from the Windows clipboard, choose the **Edit** » **Paste From Clipboard** command or press **Ctrl+V**. Objects saved to a block file can be pasted using the **Edit** » **Paste From File** command.

Objects and net information copied to the clipboard or a block file can be pasted using the **Paste Circuit** and **Paste Circuit From File** commands, respectively. These two paste commands provide the ability to control how the copied components and nets are incrementally named when pasted and the option to choose which net attributes are retained.

Pasting From a File

The **Edit** » **Paste from File** command provides a shortcut for pasting objects and net information from a file to the design.

Pasting a Circuit From a File

The **Edit** » **Paste Circuit from File** command provides a shortcut for pasting objects and net information into a design. When using the **Paste Circuit from File** command, you retain the ability to control how the pasted objects are named and which net attributes are retained.

Pasting Limitations

You must have enough space in the target workspace location for the items you are pasting. If the space isn't sufficient or you are too close to the edge, the data cannot be pasted.

When cutting or copying objects between designs, the pasted objects automatically appear on the same layer that they were cut or copied from, if they are layer specific, regardless of the current layer. If the target layer does not exist in the target design, the items are not pasted.

Use the Edit » Paste to Layer command to paste all items in the clipboard to a specific layer.

Using the Copy Matrix Command

The **Edit** » **Copy Matrix** command allows you to create a matrix of objects. You can use this command to duplicate one or more selected objects in both the horizontal and vertical directions. For example, you could use this command to select a pad and create two columns of eight pads, or you can select an existing column and create any number of additional columns.

The settings selected in the Copy Matrix dialog are retained throughout your PCB session.

Using the Edit Properties Command

The **Edit** » **Properties** command allows you to select an object and change many of its settings (i.e., properties). For example, when you select an arc and choose the **Edit** » **Properties** command, you can change the arc's start and end angles. See the next section, *Properties*, for additional details.

Properties

You can display and change an object's properties any of the following ways:

- Choose the Edit » Properties command (See the Edit Properties command section).
- Click the right mouse button and select Properties from the pop-up menu that appears.
- Left double-click the selected object.

The *Properties* dialog that appears depends on the object you selected. For example, if you select a pad and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Properties* dialog that appears would show pad properties.

Properties of Multiple Objects

When displaying the properties of multiple objects, the result depends on whether the objects are of the same type.

Objects of the Same Type

If the objects are the same type, but have different styles or other characteristics, then the *Properties* dialog appears, but specific information about the objects will be blank or grayed where the information differs between objects.

You can enter information in the dialog and click **OK**, and then all of the selected objects uniformly take on the characteristics (e.g., dimensions) of what you specified in the dialog. You can use the block selection mask to restrict selection; refer to the **Options** » **Selection Mask** command.

Although you cannot display the properties of objects of different types, you can perform other edit commands

Right Mouse Commands

When you select an object and click the **right mouse button**, a pop-up menu appears providing shortcuts to common commands performed on selected objects. This menu changes depending on the object you select.

The following section summarizes the commands, which appear on the pop-up menu:

Add To Net	This command allows you to add a pad or via to a net. The pad or via must not currently be assigned to a net. Use the complementary Remove From Net to remove a pad or via from a net.
Add Vertex	This command inserts a vertex in the selected line or trace.
Align	A shortcut for Edit » Align Components . Components can be aligned around a selection reference point either horizontally or vertically, and as an option, equally spacing the parts.
Alter	A shortcut for Edit » Alter Components, which allows you to select certain component items and subsequently move, rotate, flip, and (in some cases) delete them.
Copy Matrix	A shortcut to Edit » Copy Matrix . Duplicates selected objects based on parameters you choose.
Сору	A shortcut to Edit » Copy . Allows you to copy the object to the clipboard.
Cut	A shortcut to Edit » Cut . Allows you to cut the object to the clipboard.
Delete	A shortcut to Edit » Delete . This command deletes selected objects.
Edit Nets	A shortcut to Edit » Nets. This command brings up the Edit Nets

	dialog with the nets containing the selected objects pre-highlighted in the net list box.
Explode	A shortcut to Edit » Explode Component . This command allows you to convert a pattern back to its basic primitives, creating a collection of editable graphic objects.
Fix	A shortcut for Edit » Fix » Fix . This command sets the selected object to be fixed in the workspace.
Highlight	A shortcut to Edit » Highlight . This command highlights the selected objects in the current highlight color.
Highlight Attached Nets	This command highlights nets attached to the selected objects in the current highlight color.
	This also highlights the corresponding items (for nets and components) in Schematic if the DDE Hotlinks check box in the <i>Options Configure</i> dialog is checked.
Highlight Included List	This command highlights the components in the selected room's Included Component List.
Net Info	This command brings up a dialog providing information about the selected net.
Properties	A shortcut to Edit » Properties . Depending on the object(s) selected, the appropriate <i>Edit Properties</i> dialog appears.
Remove From Net	This command allows you to remove a pad or via from its net.
Select Net	This command highlights all items in the net to which the selected item is connected.
Selection Point	This command allows you to relocate a selection reference point for the selected object or objects.
Unfix	A shortcut for Edit » Fix » Unfix . This command unfixes the selected object, allowing it to be moved in the workspace.
Unhighlight	A shortcut to Edit » Unhighlight . This command removes the highlighting from selected objects.
Unhighlight Attached Nets	This command removes the highlighting from nets attached to the selected objects.
Unhighlight Included List	This command removes the highlighting from a room's Included Component List.

Loading and Saving Files

In addition to P-CAD PCB binary files, PCB can also load and save the following file formats:

- ASCII
- P-CAD Shape-Based Router format
- DXF mechanical CAD format
- IDF V3 format
- PDIF files
- RFQ WebQuote format (Save only)

Use the **File** » **Open**, **File** » **Save**, and **File** » **Save As** commands to load and save ASCII. All other formats are accessed via the **File** » **Import**, and **File** » **Export** sub-menus. For additional information, refer to the appropriate commands in the reference section of this manual.

Drag and Drop File Load

You can use the drag and drop method for loading files into PCB.

You can use the drag and drop method for opening PCB design files (.pcb), loading netlist files (.net and .alt), and opening library files (.lib) from the File Manager or other Windows file maintenance utilities. Just click the filename in the utility, drag it to the PCB window or reduced icon, and release. The specified file opens.

Tutorial - PCB Design Session

Introduction

Welcome to the P-CAD PCB tutorial. During this tutorial, we will be exploring the design process from setting up the workspace and placing objects through to Gerber file output. This tutorial uses some demonstration files that are supplied with P-CAD.

Setting up the workspace

Before you begin placing components on your board and setting up the design rules, for example, you should specify the physical properties of the board you are designing.

Using the commands in the Options menu, you can set PCB's options to fit your design needs, such as configuration options, layers, display colors and grids. Your settings are saved with your current design and become the new defaults for subsequent design sessions.

Setting workspace configuration and display options

The Options menu commands are used to set up the environment of your workspace. These settings are stored with the current PCB file and become the new defaults for subsequent design sessions.

Setting the workspace size

The workspace is the logical design area in a design. You can alter your workspace size with the Options Configure command.

1. Choose **Options** » **Configure** and click the **General** tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.

	V N		×
<u>G</u> eneral	Dnline DRC	<u>R</u> oute	Manufacturing
- Units	Workspace Size	Pour/Re	pour Option
🖲 mjis	<u>W</u> idth: 10000.0mil	Sma	allest to Largest
C <u>m</u> m	Height: 10000.0mil	Sele	ected <u>O</u> rder
ECO Format	Connection Options		
	🗌 🔲 Optimize <u>P</u> artial Ro	ute 🗖 Op	timize After <u>D</u> elete
⊖ W <u>a</u> s/Is	Optimize Max Node Co	unt: 20	
🔽 Purge Previo	us Backups		acesj. 100
Purge Previo	us <u>B</u> ackups toSave Files	of Backup Files:	3
Purge Previo	us <u>B</u> ackups to5ave Files): 25	of Backup Files:	3
Purge Previo	us Backups <u>N</u> umber of to Save Files.	of Backup Files:	3
Purge Previo Compress Au Autopan (2) Display <u>Botation Increment</u> <u>2</u> oom Factor:	us Backups Number toSave Files 1 1: 25 25 2.00	of Backup Files:	3
Purge Previo Compress Au Compress Au Autopan (& Display Botation Increment Zoom Factor: <u>Fi</u> le Viewer:	us Backups Number toSave Files (25) (45.0deg (200) (notepad)	of Backup Files:	3
Purge Previo Compress Au Compress Au Autopan (2) Display Botation Increment Zoom Factor: Elle Viewer: DDE Hotlinks	Is Beckups toSave Files 25 45.0deg 2.00 Inotepad V Agto Plow Copper	of Backup Files:	press Binary Design

2. Select the **mils** button in the Units frame. Make sure your workspace size is set to 11000 by 8500 mils, to match an 11" x 8.5" sheet of paper (landscape orientation). You may wish to increase the workspace later to allow more space around the sheet during object placement.

Options Configure		
General Online DRC	Boute	e <u>M</u> anufacturing
General Online DRC T-Route by Default Highlight While Routing Pads Only Pads Only Pads, Iraces and Connections Manual Route Bight Mouse to Complete / Slash Slash Key to Complete / Right M Interactive Route Honor Layer Bias Show Routable Area	Egout Key to Suspend use to <u>S</u> uspend ength eximize Hugging nimize Length	e <u>Manufacturing</u> Miter Mode © Line © Arg Orthogonal Modes I⊽ 90/90 Line-Line I⊽ 90/90 Arc-Line I⊽ 90/90 Arc-Line I⊽ Taggent Arc
Stub Length © Grid Points: 0 © Length: 0.0mil		
OK	Cano	cel

3. While we are in this option, click the **Route** tab and select all check boxes in the Orthogonal Modes frame to allow all modes to be available when placing lines and arcs. Click **OK** to continue.

For details on the other options in the *Options Configure* dialog, refer to the *Options Commands* chapter.

Setting up layers

Next, we will set up a new layer for a title block. You can use this method to set up the number of layers you require in a design. When you add (create) a layer, you must specify a layer type and a unique name and layer number. The layer definitions you establish here are saved as part of the design file.

1. Choose **Options** » **Layers.** The *Options Layers* dialog appears.

Y	
Layers	Sets Titles
Current Layer:	Layer Name: Title
Layers Type Number Top Assy NE 10 Top Silk NE 08 Top Matk NE 04 Top Matk NE 04 Top Matk NE 04 Bot Mask NE 05 Bot Paste NE 07 Bot Assy NE 11 Board NE 03 Infe NE 12	Line Color: Signal Signal Signal Signal Signal Signal C Ngn Signal Delete C Agrice C A
	Disagre Au

- 2. Choose a layer Type of Non-Signal, as the title block should reside on a non-signal layer.
- 3. Type a new layer name in the Layer Name text box, e.g. Title.
- 4. Specify a **Layer Number** (up to 988) or allow the program to choose the next available layer number when you click Add.
- 5. Click **Add**. The new layer, Title, is enabled (available for use) by default. It is listed in the Layer list with the layer code *NE* (N=Non-Signal, E=Enabled), the layer number to the right and the Line color set by default. We will look into changing layer display colors later in this section of the tutorial.
- 6. Select **Title** from the Current Layer list. This layer becomes the current layer on which you can place the objects that make up a title block and sheet border.
- 7. Click **Close** to exit the dialog and retain the settings.

The easiest way to change the current layer is to use the layer controls on the status line. You can also switch between layers by pressing **L** (cycle downward) or **SHIFT+L** (cycle upward).

Title blocks

First we will set up a title block and border, as illustrated below, using the Titles tab of the Options Layers dialog. The title block, which comes from a supplied .tbk file, and the border are not selectable and can only be changed or removed through the Titles tab.

When you change layers to start object placement and use a zoom command, the Title layer no longer displays. You can check that placed objects are within the border by making *Title* the current layer and choosing **View** » **Redraw** to see the border and title block again.



- 1. Choose **Options** » Layers again and click on the **Titles** tab.
- 2. Select **Display Border**. Notice that the border dimensions have automatically adjusted to allow 500mil (.5 inch) between the edge of your workspace and the edge of the border.
- 3. Set up the zones that display in the border as reference marks. Type 4 in both **# of Zones** boxes to create four zones in both horizontal and vertical directions and select **Annotate Zone Information**.

Layers	Y Cata	Y
	<u>5</u> 818	Titles
Layers: Top Silk Top Silk Top Paste Top Mask Top Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Assy Board Title	Border Height: 7500.0mil Width: 3000.0mil ✓ Display Border Zones Horizontal ○ Alpha ⓒ Asgending ① Numeric ⓒ Descending # of Zones: 4 ✓ Annotate Zone Information Title Block File Name: (no title block) Select Remove Field Set: [Default] ✓	Titles Relative Origin ★ 500.0mil Y: 500.0mil Y: 500.0mil Alpha Alpha Alpha Ascgnding Ivertical O Alpha Ivertical O Descending # of Zones: Itext Style: Ivert-Right Offset X: O Dmil Y: O Dmil Y: Field Sets
	Close	

- 4. Now we can select a title block that has been supplied with P-CAD with lines and text fields already inserted. Click on **Select** to choose a filename of an existing title block. Choose ADT AB.tbk from the Titles folder in the P-CAD installation directory and click **Open**.
- 5. Within the title block we chose in the step above, there are design information fields that display the values you enter in their appropriate place. Click **Fields** to display the **Fields** tab of the *Design Info* dialog.

Design Info			
<u>G</u> eneral <u>F</u> ields	Attributes Notes	Revisions	Statistics
Field Set: (Default)		• <u>F</u> ield	i Sets
Name	Value	•	
Approved By	+		
Author			
Checked By			
Lompany Name			
Drawing Number			
Drawn Bu			
Engineer			
Revision			
Time			
Title			
Add	Properties Del	ete	
	Close		

- 6. Select a field name you wish to include in the title block, e.g. Title, click on **Properties** and enter the value in the Field Properties dialog, e.g. Tutorial exercise, and click **OK**.
- 7. Repeat the step above for all required fields, e.g. Drawing Number, Revision, Date and Drawn By, and click on **Close** to complete and return to the Options Layers Titles tab.
- 8. Click **Modify** to apply the changes and then **Close**. The title block will display in the workspace with the design information entered.
- 9. You can change the design information at any time by changing the field properties using the procedure above or choosing **File** » **Design Info**. Refresh the screen to see the changes by choosing **View** » **Redraw**.

You may wish to create your own title blocks (filename.tbk) by placing lines, fields, graphics and text. For more information about title blocks, refer to *Options Commands*.

Next we will set up the other workspace options that will be saved with this file.

Display Options

Display options allow you to define the color and display preferences for your workspace. You can use the same color on all layers for an item, the same color for all items on a layer, or distinct colors for items per layer. To set your color preferences:

1. Choose **Options** » **Display**. The Options Display dialog displays. Click on the **Colors** tab.



- 2. There are three ways to set color options:
 - To select a color for everything that appears on a layer, click the corresponding layer button and select a color from the palette that appears. For example, click the Top button to select a color for everything that appears on the Top layer of your design.

- To choose a color for every instance of an object, click an item button. For example, click Via to choose a color for vias. This color is applied to vias on all layers of your design.
- To choose a color for an object on a specific layer, right-click the colored square where the object and layer meet in the color matrix. Then, choose a color from the pop up color palette.
- 3. When you've finished setting up color options, click **OK** to close the dialog.

To learn about setting up colors, or the Miscellaneous tab options, see the *Options Commands* chapter.

Setting the line width

The width of lines placed on the board is determined by the current line width. We will set up a current line width here that will allow you to get started with placing lines in the next section of the tutorial.

1. Choose **Options** » **Current Line**. The Options Current Line dialog displays.

Options Current Line	8
Line Width:	Add
10.0mil	Delete
	OK Cancel

- 2. Set the line width to 8 mils by typing 8 in the Line Width box and click **Add**. The line width is added to the list for future easy access from the status line.
- 3. Alternatively, type a line width in the Line Width list on the status line and press Enter.

Setting grids

A 100mil grid works well for placing through-hole components. This gives you maximum flexibility when selecting a grid for routing. Later in this tutorial we will look at non-uniform relative grids, which are useful when routing multiple tracks between pads and autorouting. Default colors for grids are set as green (10X grid) and white (1X grid) and can be changed by choosing the **Options** » **Display**.

To set the current absolute grid:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Grids** and select a grid spacing of 100mil from the options available.
- 2. If you wish to create a new grid spacing, simply type in the new spacing in the Grid Spacing box and click **Add**. The new setting appears in the list and becomes the current grid setting.



- 3. Make sure the grid is **Visible** and the mode is **Absolute**. This sets the grid origin point to be the lower-left corner of the workspace, i.e. X and Y are both zero. Click **OK**.
- 4. Alternatively, set a grid by using the grid controls on the status line, i.e. click on the **Abs** (Absolute) button to toggle to **Re**l (Relative) and back. Choose a grid spacing from the list to the right of the Abs button, or type a grid spacing in the Grid Select list on the status line and press **Enter**.
- 5. If the grid is not immediately visible on the screen, use + (plus) key on the keypad to zoom in on your design. Press the (minus) key to zoom out.
- 6. Save this file by choosing **File** » **Save**. Type in the filename <code>Titleblock.pcb</code>, choose the directory you want to save it in and click on **Save**. Do not close the file as we will use it during this tutorial as we practice object placement, selection and modification methods.

Object placement

This section of the PCB tutorial shows you how to place simple objects, such as lines, arcs, pads, vias, text and fields. In the following sections, we will try selecting, moving and modifying the objects you have placed. Remember that you remain in the placement mode you have chosen until you select another mode.

Placing lines

Lines are graphical objects used for creating title blocks, board and component outlines. Lines and arcs are non-electrical entities, but they do create copper and will affect design rule checking if you place them on signal layers. You can create a single line or multi-segment lines using the **Place** » **Line** command.

Placing a single line

- 1. Make sure your new PCB file, Titleblock.pcb, is open.
- 2. Set the line width you wish to use by choosing **Options** » **Current Line**, or select or enter a line width in the Line Width list on the status line.

- 3. Select the layer on which to place lines, either by the status line layer feature, or by choosing **Options** » Layers. You can switch between layers by pressing L or SHIFT+L. Choose the Top layer using one of these methods.
- 4. Choose **Place** » **Line** or click the **N** toolbar button.

While you draw a line or segments, the cursor is displayed as a crosshair. When you finish the line segments, the cursor returns to its normal shape.

- 5. Press and hold down the left mouse button where you want to start the line. Drag the mouse to draw the line and release the left button where you want the line to end. Lines will snap to the nearest gridpoint to the cursor. Pressing the **BACKSPACE** (unwind) key at this stage will return the cursor to the start point.
- 6. To permanently place the line, right-click or press **ESC**. The line will change to the color of the layer it is placed on. Then you can begin another line at a new location. You will remain in Line Placement mode until you select another mode.

Placing multi-segment lines

This time we will place multi-segment lines and use the orthogonal modes we set by choosing **Options** » **Configure** and clicking the **Route** tab in the setup section of this tutorial. We will also change layers while placing lines.

To place a multi-segment line, follow these steps:

- 1. Press and hold down the mouse button where you want to start the line. Drag the mouse to draw the line and release where you want the line to end. Repeat this action and draw two or three more line segments.
- 2. Watch the status line as you draw line segments. The dX and dY measurements are given while you drag a segment, and the total line length is given when you complete each segment.
- 3. Orthogonal modes use lines that are horizontal, vertical, and at 45-degree angles. The available orthogonal modes are provided as *mode pairs*. Press the **O** key to cycle through the mode pairs and the **F** key to switch (flip) between the current mode pair while you are placing line segments.
- 4. Between some segments, press the L key (or SHIFT+L) to switch between layers. Lines drawn in different layers will display in its layer color when the line is permanently placed.
- 5. Use the **BACKSPACE** (unwind) key to delete the last segment drawn.
- 6. Right-click or press ESC to finish the series of segments. Choose **Edit** » **Undo** or click the **Undo** toolbar button v to delete the whole series of segments.

Placing arcs

Arcs can be partial or full circles and are graphical objects only. The line width of an arc is set in the same way as for placing lines. You remain in arc placement mode until another mode is selected.

Creating an arc

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Arc** or click the <u>toolbar</u> toolbar button. The cursor changes to a crosshair while you are drawing an arc.
- 2. Move the cursor to a grid point in your workspace. Use the X and Y grid readout in the status line to aid in accurate construction.
- 3. Click and drag up and right at a 45-degree angle to another grid point, then release. The click (down) and release (up) define the start and end point of the arc and so create the diameter of the arc.
- 4. The unfinished arc should look like a (in the figure shown). Click and drag the centerpoint up and left to form a 90-degree corner like b. Release and you will have created a 90-degree arc, like c.
- 5. An arc can be flipped over while you are placing it by pressing the **F** key before you complete it.

Creating a circle

If the start and end point of the arc are in the same place, the arc defines a circle. In this case, the second click and drag moves the center point of the circle away from the defined point on the circumference.

- 1. To create a circle, move the cursor to a grid point in your workspace and click. This will define a point on the circumference of the circle.
- 2. Click where you wish the center of the circle to be placed and a circle will appear.

Placing pads

Pads and vias are placed with a pad/via style (also known as a stack) attached. We will explore pad and via styles in more depth in the section *Using Pad and Via Stacks* later in this tutorial.

To place pads, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Pad Style**. When the Options Pad Style dialog appears, examine the current pad style. There is at least one default style.
- 2. Double-click a pad style in the **Current Style** list. An asterisk (*) marks the current pad style. Then, click **Close**.
- 3. Choose **Place** » **Pad** or click the stoolbar button.
- 4. Click where you want to place the pad in the workspace. P-CAD places the pad near the cursor location and the pad center snaps to the nearest grid point. If you can't see the pad, press the + key to zoom in. Pads display in the color set using **Options** » **Display**.
- 5. To place another pad, press and hold down the mouse button, move the ghosted image of the pad to the position you want, and release the mouse button.
- 6. Place a few more pads, moving them into different positions. You will use these objects later when you practice deleting and modifying objects.

Placing vias

Vias do not belong to a particular layer. The via you place has all of the properties associated with the current via style. To place a buried via, for example, the current style must be set up to have a shape defined only on a buried layer. Vias are almost identical to pads in the way that they are placed, rotated, flipped, and edited.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Pad Style**. When the *Options Via Style* dialog appears, examine the current via style.
- 2. Double-click a pad style in the Current Style list. An asterisk (*) marks the current via style. Then, click **Close**.
- 3. Choose **Place** » **Via** or click the <u></u>toolbar button to place a via in your design.
- 4. To place another via, press and hold down the mouse button, move the ghosted image of the via to the position you want, and release the mouse button.

For more information about pad and via styles, see Using Pad and Via Stacks later in this tutorial.

Placing text

The Place Text command allows you to place text on your design.

- 1. Choose **Place * Text** command or click the **A** toolbar button and click where you wish to place the text string. The *Place Text* dialog appears at the bottom of the screen. You may need to move the dialog up slightly to access the text style options.
- 2. Type in the text you require in the dialog. Click **More**» to change the font, rotation or text justification.

Place Text		
type your text here I		Ā
	Place Cancel	<< L <u>e</u> ss
Location X: 7000.0 Y: 4600.0	Justification Elip Rotation: C C C Text Styles: [Default]	0.0deg Text <u>S</u> tyles

3. Click **Place** and the text displays in the color of the layer it has been placed on.

For information about text styles used with placing text and fields, refer to *Options Text Styles* in the *Options Commands* chapter.

Placing fields

This command places a field containing design information such as date, time, author, etc. The value of a field placed in the design, with the exception of Current Date/Time, Filename and Modified Date, must be specified in the Field Properties dialog, otherwise you place a generic field, e.g. {Author} rather than the author's name. Current date and current time are taken from the computer's clock.

- 1. Choose the **Place** » **Field** command or click the (F) toolbar button.
- 2. The *Field Properties* dialog is accessed from the **File » Design Info** command (**Fields** tab) by selecting a field name and clicking on **Properties**.
- 3. By selecting a placed field and choosing **Properties** from the shortcut menu, you can change the font and justification properties, or add new text styles.

Field Properties Name: Approved By	Location	Y: 5800.0	
Value: [(Approved By) Text Style: new style	Flip Ro	tation: 0.0deg	
Iptions Text Style Current Text Style: new style (Default) (Default) TF)	OK Cancel	Text Style Properties Text Style Name: new style Stroke Font Properties Height	Allow TrueType
* new style	Properties Delete Purge Unused Styles <u>R</u> ename	Thickness: 10.0mi Font: Quality Display: © Stroke Font	Fort: Font: Font Syle: I Naic Size:
Sgt All Glear All Close	Display <u>S</u> troke Display <u>I</u> rueType	C TrueType Font	Cancel

Placing components

Before you can place components, you need to add one or more libraries that contain the components. The components can come from libraries that are provided with the P-CAD program or they can be ones that you create. Components can then be placed, flipped and rotated.

Setting up libraries

Every time you place a component, the program searches the library you specify in the Place Component dialog. You can open additional libraries, as long as the maximum number of open libraries (100) is not exceeded.

1. Choose Library » Setup to open the following dialog.

Library Setup		
Path: D:\PROGRAM FILES\	P-CAD 2001\TUTO	RIAL
Open Libraries:		
TUTOR.LIB	<u>A</u> dd	D <u>e</u> lete
	Move Up	
	Move <u>D</u> own	
	<u>0</u> K	<u>C</u> ancel

- 2. To open a library, click Add. The Library File Listing dialog appears.
- 3. In the dialog, navigate to the directory containing the library that you want to open, i.e. Demo.lib in the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory.
- 4. Select the library file. Then, click **Open** to add the library to Open Libraries list.
- 5. Click **OK**. The libraries that you have specified are now open and therefore accessible for component placement.

Adding components

Once the appropriate libraries are open, it is time to place some components. We will place several different types of components that we will use later in this tutorial.

1. Choose **Place** » **Component** or click the 1 toolbar button and click in the workspace. The *Place Component* dialog appears.

Place Component	
Component Name:	Pattern: CAP300
CAP300	
+12V 741.0044	οκ
74L5244 7400	Canad
CAP300 CONN20E	RefDes
CONN20M	Reibes
GND GNDANALOG	
LCDDRVR44	
RES4SIPISOL	
	Type
RefDes:	
Value:	Query
	Pattern Graphics:
	Primary
	Auto Swap Graphics

- 2. Select the component that has an attached pattern from the Component Name list. A pattern is attached to a component if a pattern name appears in the top-right corner and displays below in the dialog box, e.g. CAP300. We will place some capacitors named CAP300 first.
- 3. In the *Place Component* dialog, type a value in the Ref Des box, e.g. C1, to set the reference designator for this component and click **OK**.
- 4. A ghosted outline of the component will appear on the cursor and can then be moved to where you wish to place it.
- 5. Choose one of these methods to place the component:
 - For quick placement, click the location at which you want to place the part.
 - For accurate placement, do the following:
 - 1. Hold down the left mouse button or press the **SPACEBAR**.
 - Move the ghosted component to the location you want. If appropriate, press F to flip or R to rotate the component by 90 degrees counterclockwise. You can press SHIFT+R to rotate the component by the Rotation Increment set in the General tab of Options » Configure. If you do not set a rotation increment, the rotation increment is set to 45 degrees by default.
 - 3. Place the component by releasing the mouse button or by pressing the **SPACEBAR**.
- 6. When you have placed the component, the reference designator and component type are updated.
- 7. Place a few more components using the different methods outlined in the step above. Choose a variety of components, such as resistors and connectors.

- 8. When you have finished placing components, right-click or press **ESC** and then choose **S** for **Edit** » **Select** to exit from part placement mode.
- 9. We will be using these placed components when we look at selecting and modifying objects, so save the PCB file by choosing **File** » **Save** but do not close.

Selecting objects

This section of the tutorial explores the variety of ways to select single and multiple objects. Place two or three pads in the workspace if you haven't done so in the previous section.

If the **Show DataTips** feature is enabled in the **Miscellaneous** tab of **Options** » **Display**, a Data Tip appears when you move the cursor over an object in your design. Data Tips show context-sensitive information about design objects and can assist you in selecting the appropriate object.

Selecting single objects

To select a single object, follow these steps:

- 1. Press the + (plus) key to zoom in on your workspace. This makes viewing objects easier.
- 2. Press **S** or click the **Select** button on the command toolbar as a shortcut for choosing **Edit** » **Select**.
- 3. Click a pad to select it. The pad will display in the selection color (set in **Options** » **Display**) with a bounding box around it.



4. To deselect the pad, click in a blank space in your workspace to cancel the selection of the pad.

Selecting multiple objects

To select multiple objects, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the first pad.
- 2. Hold down the **CTRL** key and select another pad (**Ctrl+Click**). Notice that both pads are selected and the bounding box includes all selected pads.
- 3. To deselect the pads, click in a blank space in your workspace.

Subselecting objects

You can select objects that make up a component. For example, you can select a pad that belongs to a component. To subselect an object, follow these steps:

- 1. Place a component in the workspace using the **Place** » **Component** command.
- 2. Press **S** or click the **Select** button on the command toolbar as a shortcut for choosing **Edit** » **Select**.
- 3. Hold down the **SHIFT** key and click on a pad that belongs to the component. Notice that only the pad is selected.

4. Now, you can perform actions on the pad. For example, you can right-click the pad and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu to query the pad.

Block selecting objects

To select a group of objects, you can perform a block select. To block select, follow these steps:

- 1. Hold down the mouse button and drag the cursor across your workspace to draw a bounding outline around two or three pads.
- 2. Release the mouse button to select the pads.
- 3. Deselect the pads by clicking in a blank area of the workspace.

Block selecting using Selection Mask

You can define block selection criteria to specify which particular objects are selected when you perform a block select. This time, we will block select the capacitors, CAP300, we placed earlier by using their Type to define the selection criteria.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Selection Mask** and click the **Block Selection** tab if it is not active. The Block Selection dialog appears. The check boxes have three states: checked (included); blank (excluded) or shaded (masked with additional selection criteria).
- 2. Click the **Clear All** button to clear the default selection of all items. All of the item check boxes will become blank and the item buttons become shaded.
- Click the Component check box until a shaded check mark appears. When the Component button becomes available, click Component. The Component Selection Mask dialog appears.
- 4. In the **Type** text box, type: CAP300, or choose it from the list.
- 5. Click **OK** to save the changes and return to the Options Selection Mask dialog.
- 6. In the Layers frame, click **Set All** to select all layers.
- Select Inside Block as the Select Mode and click OK to set your selection criteria and close the dialog.
- 8. Choose **View** » **Extent** to make sure the entire design is displayed in the workspace.
- Draw a bounding outline around the entire design. When you release the mouse button, notice that only the CAP300 components are selected.

Options Selection	Mask		×
Block Selection	Single Selection		
	Ajc	Layers Top Assy	Set All
Component	Component	Top Silk Top Paste Top Mask	<u>C</u> lear All
Cu Pour Cut <u>o</u> ut Design Vie <u>w</u>	Cy Pour Cutgut	Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste	
□ <u>D</u> etail □ Diagra <u>m</u> □ Dimension		Bot Silk Bot Assy Board Title	
□ <u>D</u> RC Errors □ <u>F</u> ield □ <u>K</u> eepout	Poly <u>K</u> eepout	Layer Sets:	
☐ <u>L</u> ine ☐ <u>P</u> ad ☐ P <u>i</u> cture	Line <u>P</u> ad	Select Mode	
☐ P <u>l</u> ane ☐ Polygon ☐ <u>R</u> oom	Plane Polygon <u>B</u> oom	C Outside Block C Touching Block	
☐ <u>R</u> ef Point ☐ <u>G</u> lue Dot ☐ Pick/Pl <u>a</u> ce			
☐ <u>I</u> able ☐ <u>I</u> est Points ☐ Te <u>x</u> t ☐ Via	<u>T</u> est Point Te <u>x</u> t Via		
Set All	Clear All		
[OK	Cancel Apply	Help

10. Remember to clear your filter when you having finished using Block selection by choosing **Options** » **Selection Mask** again and clicking **Set All** and **OK**.

Selecting highlighted objects

You can select objects that have been highlighted with the highlighter feature in P-CAD PCB.

- 1. Highlight a few objects by selecting them first, then right-click and choose **Highlight** from the shortcut menu. The objects will display in the Highlight color set using **Options** » **Display**.
- 2. To select the highlighted objects, choose **Edit** » **Select Highlighted**. Only the objects highlighted in step 1 will be selected.

Selecting collocated objects

When objects overlap so that you cannot select any one of them, you can switch between the collocated objects even if they reside on different layers. The switching style used depends on the

selection made in the Single Select Mode in the **Single Selection** tab of the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.

Selecting single collocated objects

Before using these selection modes, add some objects that are collocated (in the same position).

- 1. Place a line on the current layer, e.g. Top.
- 2. Switch to another layer and place a line in the same position, e.g., Bottom. Repeat this step on at least one other layer, e.g. Bottom Silk.

Cycle Picking

To toggle through collocated objects and select one object:

- Set up the single selection criteria by choosing Options » Selection Mask. Click on the Single Selection tab and select Cycle Picking in the Single Select Mode frame.
- 2. Position the cursor over the collocated objects.
- 3. Click the left mouse button to toggle between objects. Information about the currently selected item displays in the status line, e.g. 'Component RN3 selected on Top Layer'.

Popup dialog

To choose an object to select from a list of collocated objects on different layers:

1. If you choose **Popup Dialog** in Single Select Mode frame of the **Single Selection** tab, click the left mouse button once over the collocated objects to bring up the dialog. The popup dialog



lists information about all overlapping objects that are selected in the Items list and in a selected layer in the Layers frame.

! X			
Туре	Layer	Net	Information
Line	Тор		Width = 10.0mil
Line	Bottom		Width = 10.0mil
Line	Bot Silk		Width = 10.0mil of

- 2. When the dialog first opens, the first object in the list is highlighted. The objects are listed in layer order, from top-most layer to bottom-most layer.
- 3. Click the required object in the list to make it the selected object and close the dialog.
- 4. Click again to bring up the dialog if required.
- 5. To close the dialog without selecting any objects, click on the crossed box or press ESC.

Selecting multiple collocated objects

You can select more than one object that has the same position if you have chosen the Popup Dialog option.

- 1. **Ctrl+Click** over the collocated objects to bring up the popup dialog.
- 2. Click the checkboxes to choose the objects you require.

Туре	Layer	Net	Information
🔽 Line	Тор		Width = 10.0mil
🖳 Line	Bottom		Width = 10.0mil
Line	Bot Silk		Width = 10.0mil

3. Click on the II box to close the dialog and select the nominated objects in the workspace.

You could also combine the selection of collated objects with the selection of other objects that do not overlap, by using **Ctrl+Click** to multiple select.

Modifying objects

In this section of the tutorial, we will practice modifying the graphical properties and attributes of the objects we have already placed. We will cover the following commands:

- move, align, rotate and resize objects
- copy, paste, duplicate and delete objects
- change object properties using the properties dialogs and selection masks.

Moving objects

To move a single object, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a pad in the workspace.
- 2. Press and hold down the mouse button over the selected pad. Then, drag the pad to a new location.
- 3. Release the button to place the pad at the new location. This works the same with all objects (e.g. lines, arcs, polygons, etc.)

If the selection reference point is off-grid when a move operation begins, then it automatically snaps to the nearest grid point and all selected objects move the same relative distance.

Moving a group of objects

To move a group of objects, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a group of objects using one of these methods:
 - Block select by dragging a bounding outline around a group of pads to select them
 - Select a pad, hold down the **CTRL** key, and then click other pads to add them to your selection.
- 2. After you have selected the pads, press and hold down the mouse button anywhere in the bounding outline. Then, move the objects where you want to place them and release the mouse button. Alternatively, pressing **ALT+Click** gives you the ability to move the mouse freely without having to keep the left button depressed.

This process works the same way for all objects.

Rotating objects

You can rotate objects, such as lines, arcs, text and components, after they have been placed.

- 1. Select a component to demonstrate this command.
- 2. Press and hold down the mouse button. While you are holding the button down, press **R**. The object rotates 90 degrees counterclockwise. Release the mouse button to place the component.

- 3. You can also press **SHIFT+R** to rotate the component by the Rotation Increment set in the **General** tab of **Options** » **Configure**. If you do not set a rotation increment, the rotation increment is set to 45 degrees by default.
- 4. Deselect the object by clicking in an empty space.

Customizing rotation increments

P-CAD PCB's 32-bit database provides the precision to rotate objects down to 0.1 degree, without round-off errors. This means, for example, that a component rotated 7.5 degrees 48 times, will be returned to its exact original position.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Configure** to set the rotation increment.
- 2. Type a value in the Rotation Increment box in the **General** tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.
- 3. Select one or more components and press **SHIFT+R** to rotate selected items by the custom Rotation Increment.

Resizing objects

You can resize and reshape lines, arcs, polygons, copper pours, polygonal keepouts, and cutouts. For this exercise, you will resize a line. To do this, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a line in the workspace. Notice that two resize handles appear at each end of the line.
- 2. With the line selected, move your cursor and position it over one of the handles. Press and hold down the mouse button over a handle, then move the cursor to increase or decrease the length of the line.
- 3. Release the mouse button. Notice the size of the line has changed.
- 4. Deselect the object by clicking in an empty area of the workspace.

Adding a vertex

You can add a vertex to a line or line segment. If multiple lines/line segments are selected, the Add Vertex command will not be available. To add a vertex, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the line/line segment you wish to add a vertex to.
- 2. Right-click and select the **Add Vertex** command from the pop up menu. The line/line segment will be broken into two segments and the first segment will be selected.
- 3. You can undo vertices that have been added, using the **Edit** » **Undo** command. To delete a vertex, click-and-drag its handle onto an adjacent vertex and release the mouse button.

Aligning components

You can only align components, however please note that this command cannot be undone. To align the capacitors you have already placed:

1. Select all the CAP300 type components using a Block Selection filter.
2. Right-click, i.e. click the right mouse button, and choose **Selection Point** from the popup menu. Click to locate a point around which we will vertically align the components. The selection point marker displays.



- 3. Choose Edit » Align Components and select Vertical About Selection Point and Space Equally from the dialog. Enter a spacing of 500 mils and click OK.
- 4. The capacitors will be stacked vertically. The selection point marker disappears when you deselect the capacitors. Remember to clear your filter when you have finished using Block Selection.

Copying and pasting objects

Once a section of your board design has been successfully completed, you may find it useful to reuse that information again, either in the current design or in a future design. Objects and net information can be copied to the Clipboard or to a block file and later pasted into a different location using the various copy and paste commands.

More information on all these commands can be found in the Edit Commands chapter.

Copying objects and net information

A copied object is placed on the clipboard. To copy a single object, choose one of these methods:

- Select an object and choose one of the copy commands from the Edit menu
- Right-click on a selected object and choose **Copy** from the shortcut menu.

To select a group of objects, or include net information in the copied information:

- 1. Block select the desired objects.
- 2. Choose the desired **Copy** command. All selected objects are copied to the clipboard.

Drag and drop copying

To quickly copy objects within the same design and not affect the clipboard:

- 1. Select the object(s) you want to copy.
- 2. **Ctrl+Click** on the selected objects and drag the copy to a new location.

Pasting from the Clipboard

There are several paste options to choose.

- 1. Choose **Edit** » **Paste From Clipboard** and click the workspace. The ghosted outline of the copied objects appears.
- 2. Before releasing the mouse button, drag the outline to a precise location within the workspace, then place the objects by releasing the mouse button.

Duplicating objects using Copy Matrix

To duplicate a group of objects, we will use a pad as an example. This command works with all selected objects.

- 1. Select a pad.
- 2. Choose Edit » Copy Matrix. Note that the row and column spacing is in mils; you can change the units using Options » Configure.
- 3. Enter information in the appropriate boxes, as shown in the following figure. Positive and negative numbers for Number of Columns duplicate the object to the right and left, respectively. With Number of Rows, a positive value duplicates up, a negative value down.

Edit Copy Matrix					
Number of Columns:	3		•	•	0
Column Spacing:	200.0	OK	_	·	1
Number of Rows:	3	Cancel	•	°.	°.
Row Spacing:	200.0		•	0	0

4. Click **OK** and the pad duplicates as shown in the illustration above.

Deleting objects

To delete an object, e.g. a pad:

- 1. Select a pad you wish to delete. If a pad belongs to a part or component, you cannot move or delete that pad. However, you can subselect the pad to perform certain actions. For details, see *Subselecting Objects*.
- 2. Choose one of these methods to delete it:
 - Press the **DELETE** key.
 - Right-click and choose **Delete** from the popup menu.
 - Choose Edit » Delete.

Changing object properties

You can change the properties of a selected object. Each object has a *Properties* dialog which is accessed in the same way. Let's practice by changing the properties of a pad.

The easiest way to bring up a Properties dialog is to double-click on an unselected object.

Alternatively, follow these steps:

1. Select a pad in your workspace.

- 2. Open the *Properties* dialog using one of these methods:
 - Right-click and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.
 - Choose Edit » Properties. The Pad Properties dialog appears.

Pad Propertie	3 5			
	<u>P</u> ad			Net
Net Name: Pad Number: Default Pin Designator: Pad Style: Tool Code:	[29 [34 [(Default)		cation [2800.0 ijxed id Styles]	Y: 8300.0
		OK	Cancel	

- 3. In the Pad Number box, type: 1
- 4. In the Default Pin Designator box, type: A1
- 5. From the Pad Style drop-down list select the desired pad style. If the pad style you want does not appear in the list, click the **Pad Styles** button to display the *Options Pad Style* dialog, where you can add or modify a pad style.
- 6. Click **OK** to exit this dialog and check the pin number and designator have changed.

For information about pad and via styles, see *Using Pad and Via Stacks* later in this tutorial. For more information about properties, refer to *Edit Commands* chapter.

Unifying values

Now let's try setting uniform line widths for two lines of unequal widths.

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Line** and place a line with line width of 10mils in the workspace. By default, the line width is 10 mils, unless you have changed this setting using the **Options** » **Current Line** command.
- 2. Select the line. Then, open the *Properties* dialog using one of these methods:
 - Right-click and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.
 - Choose Edit » Properties.
- 3. In the Width box, change the line width to 20 mils. Click **OK** to close the *Line Properties* dialog. The selected line's width changes in the workspace.
- 4. Place another line near the first one, leaving it at the default width.

- 5. Select both lines by drawing a bounding outline around the lines.
- 6. Choose **Edit** » **Properties**. Because each line has a different width, no value appears in the Line Properties dialog. However, you can change the width of both lines, by entering a value in the Width box. For this exercise, type 50 in the Width box.
- 7. Click **OK** and both lines will become 50 mils wide.

Using the Selection Mask

The Block Selection tab in the **Options** » **Selection Mask** command provides you with some powerful and labor-saving features. This selection mask can work in very specific or general ways, depending on the parameters you define for the selection filtering process.

In this section you will learn how to complete the following tasks, which would be typical applications for this selection tool.

- Select all lines of a particular width (thickness) on specific layers and change them to another width.
- Select components of a certain type, change their values and make the values visible in the display.

Changing line width

This method of changing line widths allows you to specify which lines will be changed by their current width, regardless of which layer they have been placed on.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Selection Mask** and click the **Block Selection** tab.
- 2. In the Items frame of the Options Selection Mask dialog, click Clear All.
- 3. Click the **Line** check box until a shaded check mark appears and the Line button becomes available. Click the **Line** button. The *Line Selection Mask* dialog appears.
- 4. In the Width text box, type: 20 mil and click **OK** to return to the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.
- 5. Select all of the layers in the *Options Selection Mask* dialog by clicking **Set All** in the Layers frame. Choose **Inside Block**. Later, when you do a block select, this setting will select all items inside your bounding outline. Click **OK**.
- 6. Draw a bounding outline around the entire design. If necessary, choose **View** » **Extent** to view the entire board.
- 7. While the board is selected, right-click and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.
- 8. In the Width text box, type: 30 mil and click **OK**. All of the selected 20 mil lines in your design will now be 30 mil lines.

Modifying components using the Selection Mask

Now, let's modify all CAP300 components by changing their values from .1 to .05F and making these values visible.

- 1. Block select all the CAP300 capacitors using **Options** » **Selection Mask**.
- 2. Right-click the selected components and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu. The following dialog appears.

Component Properties			
Pattern Pattern Pads Compor	nent Componen	t Pins Attributes	Pattern Graphics
	Visibility	Text Style	
Ref Des: C4	V	T:H91W10	•
⊻alue:	E		▼
Lype: CAP300	• •	T:H91W10	•
Libraries: TUTOR.LIB 💌 Que	ry	Text Styles	
Change Pattern CAP300	I anation		
	× 5700	Finned	-
RefDes	× 7000	Fixed	
	1. 1/000	D LIXED	
	Layer:	Hotation: U.Ude	9
	Glue Dot Loo	ations	
			_
	Pick & Place	Locations:	-
OK	Cancel		

- 3. In the Value text box in the Component Properties dialog, type: .05F
- 4. In the Visibility frame, select the **RefDes**, **Value** and **Type** check boxes to display them in the workspace and click **OK**.
- 5. The formerly invisible value of .1 that was attached to the CAP300 components is now a visible value of .05F.

Replacing components

Next, we'll replace a component with one of a similar type.

- 1. Select a CAP300 component and choose Edit » Properties.
- 2. In the Type combo box, change the type from **CAP300** to **CAP-NON**. The pattern is updated and any connectivity is maintained.

The Component Properties dialog provides a link to the Query function where you can search a library for a desired component to replace the current component. See your *Library Executive User's Guide* for more information on using Query.

3. We have now finished using our Titleblock.pcb file for the moment, so choose File » Close and save the changes.

Initial board layout

This section walks you through the steps you need to layout the board. We will use mostly demonstration files supplied with P-CAD during the rest of this tutorial.

Creating a board outline

To start a design, create a board outline using **Place** » **Line** on the Board layer. For your convenience we have provided an outline to get you started.

- 1. Open the Demo1_o.pcb file provided in the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory by choosing **File » Open**.
- 2. You are now ready to place components or load a netlist generated from a schematic.

Loading a Netlist

To design a PCB, you could place components one at a time and then choose **Place** » **Connections** to add connections. However, most designs today are first created as a schematic, from which a netlist is generated. A *netlist* lists components and their electrical connections. Each set of connections carrying the same signal is a *net*. Connected component pins are defined as *nodes* and each net contains at least two nodes.

Components placed using **Utils » Load Netlist** are located by searching, in order, through the open libraries.

Loading a netlist into PCB has two effects:

- If found in the libraries currently open, components in the netlist are automatically placed in the workspace.
- Electrical connections between nodes are made, forming the *ratsnest* (blue lines).

To load a netlist:

1. Choose Utils » Load Netlist. The Utils Load Netlist dialog displays.

Utils Load Netlist						
[Netlist Filename] D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\Demo1_o.net						
Netlist Format: P-CAD ASCII						
☐ ⊠reference File: Xr <u>e</u> f Filename						
☑	eck for Copper Sharing					
☑ <u>R</u> econnect Copper	ate Pseudo P <u>a</u> tterns					
Enable auto swapping for incoming com components with solder flow direction.	ponents and synchronize all					
Attribute Handling	Net Class and Rules Handling					
 Merge Attributes (Favor Netlist) 	Replace Existing Net Classes					
C Merge Attributes (Favor Design)	O Ignore Netlist Net Classes					
C Replace Existing Attributes						
O Ignore Netlist Attributes						
OK	Cancel					

- 2. Open the netlist titled Demol.net found in the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory by clicking on Netlist Filename.
- 3. Set the Netlist Format to P-CAD ASCII.
- 4. PCB scans the open libraries, retrieves the patterns, and places them in the workspace above your board outline. Then the *ratsnest* of net connections is created as shown below.



5. Now you are ready to move the components into position within the board outline.

Positioning components

Achieving optimal placement is a crucial foundation to designing high-quality printed circuit boards. The ratsnest provides a visual clue to the densities on the board.

- 1. You can turn the display of nets ON or OFF with the **Edit** » **Nets** command. This is useful to focus on a set of connections, such as address lines or your power and ground nets.
- 2. After netlist placement, you can move the components manually onto the board or you can move them by reference designator. When you select and move components into position, the connections 'rubberband' to maintain the established nets. See below for details about moving components by RefDes (reference designator).
- 3. Remember you can zoom during editing, pressing the **R** and **F** keys rotate and flip the components, and pressing **ALT+Click** allows you to move the mouse freely without having to hold down the left button.

Moving components by RefDes

You can move components by reference designator. To learn how to do this, you will practice moving a group of capacitors into position within your board outline.

- 1. Choose **Edit** » **Move by RefDes**. The *Edit Move by RefDes* dialog appears and the RefDes list contains a list of the components in your design.
- 2. Select all of the capacitors in the RefDes list. To do this, hold down the **SHIFT** key and click **C12** and **C23**.

Edit Move By RefDes	×
RefDes:	
C12	Select <u>A</u> ll
C15 C16	<u>C</u> lear All
C17 C18 C21	
C22 C23	
J9 P1 PN1	
Select RefDes By:	
OK Cancel	

3. Click **OK** to close the dialog and return to the workspace.

When the *Edit Move by RefDes* dialog closes, the status line shows the name of the Next RefDes to move. We'll move C12 first.

- 4. Place the component. The status line shows C13 as the Next RefDes to move. Continue placing the parts until you've placed all of the capacitors.
- 5. Once you've moved all of the selected components, the *Edit Move By RefDes* dialog appears. You have these options:
 - To move another component or group of components, select the components from the RefDes list.
 - To close the *Edit Move by RefDes* dialog, click **Cancel** or press **ESC**.

Optimizing nets

As components are moved, the connections may have become less efficient than when they were originally placed. PCB includes a command to re-optimize the connections.

- 1. Choose Utils » Optimize Nets.
- 2. Notice the connections change as each net is evaluated and shortened.

Optimize Nets is also used to swap pins and gates for effective routing. Refer to the *Utils Commands* chapter for more information.

3. Close the PCB file without saving.

Routing connections

For routing, we need to change some current settings. Then we'll step through manual routing and discuss the changes that can be made to existing traces, followed by a brief look at interactive and automatic routing.

Creating routing settings

Set up the routing layers, any non-uniform grids and clearance rules before manually routing a board.

Setting routing layers

Routing is only permitted on enabled signal layers.

1. Open Demo1_u.pcb from the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory.



- 2. Choose Options » Layers.
- 3. Enable all of the layers to be used for routing. The Top and Bottom layers will be used in this example.

Using non-uniform routing grids

We previously set our grid to 100 mils for optimal placement. Non-uniform grids are also supported to route multiple tracks between pads, and for autorouting. A 42 8 8 42 grid (mils) means that grid points are located in a pattern of 42 mils, 8 mils, 8 mils and 42 mils apart, starting at the origin. This spacing is convenient for routing one or two 8 mil traces between 60 mil pads, using 8 mil clearances, as shown below.



We'll add a non-uniform, relative grid for routing.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Grids** and click **Relative Mode**.
- 2. Type **42 8 8 42** in the **Grid Spacing** box with the values separated by spaces. Click **Add**. If you are working in millimeters, unit overrides must be typed for each value, e.g. 42 mil, 8 mil etc.
- 3. Clear the **Prompt for Origin** check box, and enter an origin at X=25.0, Y=0.0. This is needed to align the relative grid with component pads (most pads are 25 mils off of a 100 mil grid with origin at 0, 0).
- 4. Click **OK** to continue.

Setting clearance rules

Now we can set some Clearance rules to be used for design rule checking as we route. To set all clearance rules to 8 mils:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Design Rules** and click the **Layer** tab.
- 2. Click **Set All** to select all entries.
- 3. Set the **Pad to Pad**, **Pad to Line**, **Line to Line**, **Pad to Via**, **Line to Via** and **Via to Via** values to 8. An easy way is to type in 8 in the Pad to Pad box and then **TAB** to the next box.

Options Design	Rules					
<u>D</u> esign	Layer	<u>B</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> la	ass	Net	Class <u>T</u> o Class
Layers Top Bottom	Pad To P 8.0mil 8.0mil	Pad To Line 8.0mil 8.0mil	Line To Line 8.0mil 8.0mil	Pad To Via 8.0mil 8.0mil	Line To Vi 8.0mil 8.0mil	a Via To Via 8.0mil 8.0mil
Pad to Pad:	8.0mil F	Pad to Via:	8.0mil	Se	t All	<u>C</u> lear All
Line to Line:	8.0mil V	'ia to Via:	8.0mil	Edit <u>B</u>	date	Set <u>D</u> efaults
			Close			

4. Click **Update** and then click **Close** to exit the dialog.

Manual routing

Online DRC will annotate and document design rule errors created while routing the board. While routing, look at the status information portion (right side) of the status line for the measurements of your route. Routed arcs are also accurately measured.

Follow these steps to manually route all the connections on your board:

- 1. Zoom in so you can select unrouted connection lines. Rows and columns of grid points may be seen between pads, displaying convenient routing channels.
- 2. Choose **Route** » **Manual** or click the **Route Manual** button **b** on the *Route* toolbar.
- 3. Enable Online DRC for routing using one of these methods:
 - Choose Options » Configure, click the Online DRC tab and select the Enable Online DRC check box.
 - Click the **Online DRC** button on the command toolbar.
- 4. Switch to the **Top** signal layer, using your layer shortcuts.
- 5. Using the keyboard shortcut **G**, toggle to a desired routing grid. This grid should be based upon the chosen connection. During the routing and layer changing process, zoom in (+) and out (-) as needed.
- 6. Click and hold directly over a connection near a starting pad and drag the trace segment that displays as desired. Release at a location where you want the first vertex. Then, click at the location you want for the third vertex.



7. When the mouse is down, press the **O** key to access the desired orthogonal shape and the **F** key to toggle (flip) the vertex. Release the mouse. Notice the second vertex is added for you depending on the orthogonal mode chosen. The orthogonal modes include arcs, 45-degree diagonals, and 90-degree angles.

Press the mouse down again to locate the next segment. To place curved traces, as below, type **O** to reach the arc orthogonal mode, and release the mouse.



Remember you can limit the enabled orthogonal modes by entering the **Route** tab of the **Options** » **Configure** command and disabling the unwanted orthogonal modes.

- 8. Switch to the Bottom layer by pressing the L or SHIFT+L key (or use the status line controls) to route any segments where you need to cross a blockage. When changing layers in routing mode, the current via or the via style specified within the net attributes is automatically placed to connect the layers.
- 9. Create obvious clearance violations by routing too close to pads, vias or signals. The machine beeps and an error indicator is placed by the DRC for each violation.
- 10. Press the **BACKSPACE** key to unwind the offending trace. Notice that the trace and the error indicators generated by the trace are deleted. Each press of the **BACKSPACE** key backs up to the previous point. Leave at least one error in the design.
- 11. To complete the route all the way to the destination pad, click the right mouse button or press **ESC**. When you route directly to the destination pad, a diamond shape appears, indicating routing is complete with a zero length connection.

To terminate routing without completing the connection, press either slash key (\ or /). You can finish routing it at any time. Note the current layer has been reset. The keyboard shortcuts used to complete or suspend routing can be customized in the **Route** tab of the **Options** » **Configure** command.

- 12. Route a few more connections, practicing with orthogonal modes, placing one or two traces between pads, and toggling between layers.
- 13. When you have finished practicing your manual routing, close the demo file using **File** » **Close** without saving it. We will use it again in the next section to demonstrate autorouting.

Autorouting part or all of a PCB

We will complete routing the example PCB using P-CAD's Shape Router. You can automatically route a single connection within a net, all pads on a particular component, or all connections within a defined area by choosing the relevant option from the Tools menu.

- 1. Open Demo1_u.pcb again.
- 2. Select View » Extents to show the extent of all objects placed in the workspace.
- 3. To automatically route a particular net, select **Route** » **AutoRouters**. Choose **P-CAD Shape Route** from the AutoRouter pull down menu and select **Start**.

Route Autorouters				
Autorouter: P-CAD S	hape Route 💌 Start	<u>H</u> estart Close		
<u>P</u> RF File	D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\	Demo\Demo1_u.PRF		
Qutput PCB File D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\RDemo1_u.pcb				
Output Log File	D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001	Demo\RDemo1_u.LOG		
Load	Save	Set <u>B</u> ase		
Preserve Manua	Traces			

- 4. The design will enter the Autorouting interface. Select **Tools** » **AutoRoute Net**. The cursor will change to an arrow. Select any pad on the relevant net or on any connection line and the P-CAD Shape Based AutoRouter will automatically route the entire net.
- 5. Continue to select other nets to route.
- 6. To automatically route the entire board, select **Tools** » **Start AutoRouter** from the Shape Based Auto Router menu.
- 7. When routing is complete, select **File** » **Save and Return** to save the routing and return to the PCB editor.

Changing routed connections

Routed segments can be changed in a variety of ways:

- **Reroute**: Rerouting a segment is done by using the **Route** » **Manual** command. Click over the segment to be changed; it becomes a ghosted connection that can be manually routed as previously described. Click to locate each new vertex; press **O** and **F** to change orthogonal modes; press the **BACKSPACE** key to unwind.
- **Mitering routes:** Route Miter turns corners into arcs or 45-degree angles. After selecting the cornering style in the **Route** tab of **Options** » **Configure** command, each left click over a 90-degree corner gives you the ability to move the corner back into a mitered angle or arc. To get optimum results, choose a finer grid than your normal routing grid before mitering.
- **Move**: Select a routed segment, then click and drag it (or its corner) to a new location. Notice that the adjacent segments are stretched to maintain connectivity.
- Line and Arc Properties: Select a segment, click right button, and choose Properties from the pop-up menu. You can then change the line or arc width.
- **Delete route**: Select a segment, click right button, and choose **Delete** from the pop-up menu or press the **DELETE** key. The route reverts back to a connection.
- **Delete connection**: After you delete copper and it reverts to a connection, you can select and delete the connection itself. This is a drastic edit and should be used with caution.

• **Move to Layer**: Select one or more segments routed on the Top layer. Switch the current layer to **Bottom** and choose the **Edit Move To Layer** (**SHIFT+T**) command. Vias are added and deleted as needed.

Unrouting a board

In this procedure you will select all lines, arcs, and vias on all layers, then delete them. This will, in effect, unroute the entire board.

- 1. If it is not already open, choose File » Open and open Demol_u.pcb.
- 2. Choose **Options** » Selection Mask.
- 3. In the **Items** frame of the Block Selection tab, click **Clear All** to cancel the selection of the items check boxes. Then, click the **Arc, Line**, and **Via** check boxes, to enable these three items.
- 4. In the Layers frame, click **Clear All**. Then, hold down the **SHIFT** key and click **Top** and **Bottom**.
- 5. In the Select Mode frame, choose **Inside Block** and click **OK** to close the dialog.
- 6. Do a block select of the complete board. To do this, draw a bounding outline around the entire board. If necessary, choose **View** » **Extent** for a complete view of the board.
- 7. When all arcs, lines, and vias are selected, press the **DELETE** key. The result should be that all the routed items in your design lines, arcs and vias will return to connections.

Other options

In this section, we will explore some of the options available in P-CAD that are useful when creating a PCB, i.e. pad and via stacks, copper pours and cutouts.

Pad and via stacks

PCB supports both simple and complex pads and vias, as well as blind and buried vias. Surface mount pads and uniform, through-hole pads and vias are considered simple. Since these types are predominant in a design, P-CAD 2000 has powerful features specifically for dealing with them.

At this point, we will look closely at complex pads and vias. PCB lets you define different shapes and sizes on the various layers in a design. This feature, called pad stacks, helps you route complex designs and allocate clearance on certain layers. A similar feature, called via stacks, gives you the ability to set up different styles of vias on a layer-by-layer basis and void vias on certain layers, hence creating blind and buried vias.

In the samples supplied, the pad and via shapes and sizes are the same on all internal signal layers. The *Modify Pad Style* and *Modify Via Style* dialogs can be used to create unique styles for any layer.

- 1. Open Accsampl.pcb found in the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory.
- 2. Zoom in to Area 4 on the sample board where we have created a pad stack, a via stack, a blind via and a buried via.

Pad stacks

- 1. Select the pad labeled **Pad Stack** and choose **Edit** » **Properties**. *The Pad Properties* dialog appears for the select pad.
- 2. Click **Pad Styles**. The *Options Pad Style* dialog appears where the 100x60x38 (width x height x diameter) style is selected as P:EX100Y60D38A.

Options Pad Style				
Current Style: P:EX100Y60D38A				
(Default)	Copy			
P:SX60Y60D38A * P:SX100Y60D38A	Modify (Simple)			
P:RX100Y60D38A P:MX200Y200D124A	Modify (Complex)			
P:EX70Y70D46A P:SX70Y70D46A	Delete			
EF50X350TOP	Purge Unused Styles			
	Rename			
	Modify Hole Range			
	Close			

- 3. Next, click **Modify (Complex)** to open the *Modify Pad Style (Complex)* dialog. This is where pad styles are created and changed. To view the details of this style, click each layer in the Layers list. You'll see different sizes and shapes defined for the top, bottom, and internal signal layers.
- 4. After you exit the dialogs, switch between the signal layers choosing **View** » **Redraw** after each layer change. You'll see the different pad shapes as they are defined on each layer for this style.

Via stacks

Via stacks are created and defined the same way. When manually routing from one layer to another, PCB alerts you if you try to insert a via between layers that the current via style does not support.

- 1. Select the via stack example, right-click, and choose **Properties**. The *Via Properties* dialog displays.
- 2. View the via's characteristics just as you did for the pad.

Now we'll look at the blind and buried vias provided.

- 1. The blind via has been created by choosing **Options** » **Via Style** and clicking the **Modify Hole Range** button. The via feeds from the bottom through internal signal layers, but does not penetrate the top.
- 2. Likewise, you can set up buried vias to connect any combination of internal layers by clicking the **Modify Hole Range** button in this dialog. This via feeds from one internal signal layer to another, but does not penetrate the outer layers.
- 3. You can prevent pads and vias within the boundaries of a plane or copper pour from automatically connecting to the plane or copper pour. To do this, click on **Modify (Complex)** in

the *Options Via Style* dialog and select the **Prohibit Copper Pour Connections** option in the *Modify Via Style* (*Complex*) dialog.

4. Close Accsampl.pcb without saving any changes.

Copper pours

Using the copper pour feature, you can lay down areas of copper with a backoff from tracks and pads within the area defined by the pour outline. You can also define various properties for each copper pour in a design, such as fill characteristics, backoff smoothness, connectivity and more. When you place a copper pour, you first draw the pour outline as a polygon. Then, you flood the pour outline with a copper fill.

To draw a copper pour outline, follow these steps:

- 1. Open up our original file Titleblock.pcb to practice copper pours.
- 2. Choose **Place** » **Copper Pour** or click the
- 3. Click where you want to place the first vertex of the copper pour. Make sure you create the copper pour over some lines and other objects that you have previously drawn on the same layer.
- 4. Drag the cursor to another point and click. Drag the cursor to another point and click at each corner of the polygon you want to draw.
- 5. When you've finished drawing a polygonal shape, right-click, or press **ESC**. You remain in placement mode until you choose another command.
- 6. Select the copper pour you want to fill and use one of the following methods to open the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog:
 - Double-click on the copper pour
 - Choose Edit » Properties
 - Right-click and choose **Properties** from the popup menu.

Copper Pour Prope	erties			
Style	Connectivity	Island Removal	Net	Polygon
Fill Characteristics Pattern: Line Width: 1 Line Spacing: 4 Backoff © Fixed: 2 C Use Design	5.0mil 5.0mil 10.0mil 15.0mil	Backoff Sm Cow Medium High Vertices In O	oothness C P C U C R UU C R	oured npoured epour
🗖 Save Settin	gs As Default	04	Can	cel

- 7. In the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog, click the **Style** tab and select the appropriate options in the Fill Characteristics frame. Whatever you specify here applies only to the selected copper pour(s).
- 8. In the State frame, select **Poured**.
- 9. Click **OK** to close the dialog. P-CAD PCB floods the pours with a copper fill using the pour order set in the Pour/Repour Options frame of *the Options Configure* dialog.
- 10. Zoom in to examine the pour more closely, including the way the copper is backed off from pads and traces.

For more information on copper pours, refer to the Copper Pours chapter.

Plowing tracks and cutouts

On occasion, you may need to route a track through an area where copper has been previously poured.

- 1. Place a track (**Place** » **Line**) through the copper pour we have just created.
- 2. Selecting the pour and pour it again by opening its *Properties* dialog and selecting **Repour**.
- 3. Zoom in to see the newly added track with the defined clearance around it.

Alternatively, you can select **Auto Plow Copper Pour** to plow tracks through the copper pour as you place them.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Configure** and click on the **General** tab in the Options Configure dialog.
- 2. Select Auto Plow Copper Pour and click OK.
- 3. Place a track (Place » Line) through the copper pour and zoom in to check the results.

Creating cutouts

To create an unpoured area within a pour, add a cutout. Cutouts can be used to prevent copper from being poured into intricate areas, thus avoiding unwanted *islands* of copper from forming.

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Cutout** or click the 🕤 toolbar button.
- 2. Click where you want to place the first corner of the cutout within the copper pour you created previously.
- 3. Drag the cursor to another point and click. Drag the cursor to another point and click at each corner of the cutout polygon you want to draw.
- 4. Right-click or press **ESC** to establish the cutout polygon. Since we selected **Auto Plow Copper Pour** in the previous exercise, the area defined by the cutout is not filled. If this option was not selected, you would have to the re-pour the copper pour to create the cutout.
- 5. Close Titleblock.pcb.

Design verification

Completed designs should always be verified prior to generating final artwork and CAM files. PCB provides a variety of tools to help check your design against the original schematic and against your mechanical design rules, such as DRC (Design Rule Check).

To try out a few of the following operations, open the routed board Rdemo1_p.pcb in the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory.

Netlist verification

- 1. Choose the **Utils** » **Compare Netlist** command to verify the integrity of the current design against the original netlist.
- 2. If you mistakenly deleted a component or a net from the design, this command shows you the discrepancy. For practice, compare the loaded design to the netlist Demol.net in the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory. They should be identical.

Design Rule Checking

Comprehensive electrical and physical design rule checks can be performed on the board.

1. Choose **Utils** » **DRC**. The *Utils DRC* dialog displays. The DRC can generate a comprehensive report that is output to a filename you specify by clicking **Filename**.

Utils Design Rule Check ElenameDigdemo.dr Report Options View Report Sugmarize Ignored Erro Summarize Overridden E	c Error Options Chanotate Errors Clear All Override	Design Rules Severity Levels
Design Rule Checks		Area To DRC
Clearance Violations	Net Length	
Text Violations	☑ <u>S</u> ilk Screen Violations	C Region Define Region
✓ Netlist Violations	Copper Pour Violations	- Berian Coordinates
☑ Width Violations	Plane Violations	Lower Left: Upper Right:
Unrouted Nets	Component Violations	X: 0.0mil X: 0.0mil
✓ Unconnected Pins	Drilling Violations	Y: 0.0mil Y: 0.0mil
	OK	Cancel

- 2. The design rules to be checked are specified by enabling specific report options. A complete description of each rule check can be found in the online help. The demonstration board has silk screen violations that you need to find. Select the **Silk Screen Violations** check box.
- 3. Click the **Design Rules** button to set the physical design rule clearances to 12 mils. In the *Design Rule* dialog, click **Set Defaults** from the **Layers** tab and click **Close**.

- 4. Select **View Report** so the output report is presented on-screen and select **Annotate Errors** so that error indicators are placed on your board to help spot and fix problems.
- 5. Select **Summarize Ignored Errors** so that ignored errors are summarized on the report, and then click the **Severity Levels** button to open the *Rules Severity Level* dialog.

Rule	Rule Category	Error	Warning	Ignored	
Clearance	Clearance	Yes			
Short	Clearance	Yes			
Short to Copper Tie	Clearance	Yes			
Uncommitted Pins Shorted	Clearance	Yes			
Point-To-Point Connectivity	Netlist			Yes	
Pseudo Pattern	Netlist	Yes			
Undefined Via Style	Netlist	Yes			
Via Style	Netlist	Yes			
Max Vias	Netlist	Yes			
Unconnected Pin	Unconnected Pins			Yes	
Copper Pour Clearance	Copper Pour	Yes			
Unconnected Copper Pour Island	Copper Pour	Yes			
Unpoured Copper Pour	Copper Pour	Yes			-
Seventy Level		- Cotto del	in the		
C <u>E</u> rror C <u>W</u> arning C <u>I</u> g	nored ¹	<u>5</u> et to dei	auit		

- 6. Select the **Point-To-Point Connectivity** and **Unconnected Pins** rules and choose **Ignored** in the Severity Level frame. Click **OK** to return to the *Utils DRC* dialog.
- 7. Choose **Region** to define a smaller area of the board for rules checking. To define the region you want to DRC, choose one of these methods:
 - Use Define Region:
 - 1. Click **Define Region**. PCB takes you back to the design.
 - 2. Hold down the left mouse button on the first corner of the area you want to define. Drag the cursor until the target zone is completely within the rectangle and release the button. Right-click to finish the region definition.
 - 3. Confirm that you want to update the region coordinates shown in the message box.
 - Set the region coordinates directly, enter the X and Y coordinates for the Lower Left and Upper Right in the appropriate text boxes.
- 8. Click **OK** to begin checking.
- 9. On completion, the DRC output report is opened and can be viewed, edited, or printed from the Notepad utility. Switch back to your design and notice that indicators have been placed at error locations.
- 10. Select any marker, right-click, and choose **Properties** to view the error descriptions in the *Find Errors* dialog.

Find Errors	
Error 1 Unconnected pin: * Pad P11-(unused) at (58.420,111.887) mm	×
Show Only Selected Error Number: Show Only Overrides Override - Don't Display Again	<u>Find</u>
All Categories	

11. You can view any error in the design by selecting one or all categories. Scroll sequentially through all the errors using the up and down arrows next to the Error Number text box.

You can also enter an error number in the text box and click **Find** to go directly to that error message.

12. Click **Jump To** to locate an error in the design.

When working with a real design, you would resolve each error and delete the indicators one by one. We'll skip that step here and just delete them. To delete DRC error markers, either:

- block select all of your DRC Errors items and press DELETE, or
- choose **Utils** » **DRC** with no reports enabled. Rerunning the command clears the old markers.
- 13. Keep the PCB file open as we will use it for generating reports in the next section.

Generating reports

This section of the tutorial shows how to create a variety of useful reports out of a PCB file. These reports can help you verify the integrity of your design and document your work. Reports can be customized and saved with the design to be used in the future. Comma-separated ASCII report files can be output for loading into your word processor, database manager or spreadsheet program for further editing or formatting.

1. With Rdemol p.pcb open, choose File » Reports to open the File Reports dialog.

File Reports Eilename D:\Program Files\F	P-CAD 2001 VP-CAD report
Reports to Generate: Aperture Information (apr) Attributes (atr) Component Locations (cpl) Component Locations (cpl) Citer and Indicators (dei) Glue Dot Locations (glu) Citerary Contents (ct) Differ and Place Locations (cmp)	Report Destination Report Origin Image: Style Format Image: Style Format
	C Separated List
Delete Customize	Set Defaults
<u>Set All</u> <u>Clear All</u> <u>G</u> enera	ate Cl <u>o</u> se

- 2. Choose the reports you want to generate by selecting the appropriate check boxes in the Reports to Generate list. Choose **P-CAD Report** in the Style Format box and in the Report Destination frame, choose **Screen**.
- 3. Click **Generate** to produce the reports. The selected reports will display in separate Notepad windows, e.g. the Bill of Materials report (Rdemo1_p.bom) shown below that was generated from the file Rdemo1 p.pcb.

Ele Edi	no1_u.bom · Notepad					
P-CAD	Bill of Materia	ls		RDemo1_p	.pcb	A
Count	ComponentName	RefDes	PatternName	value	RefDes2	Description
3	74L5244	U6 U7	DIP20		h	Octal BUFFERS a
18	7400 CAP300	09 012 013 014 015 016 017 017 018	DIP14 CAP300	.1	h h	
1 1 1 1 3	CONN20F CONN20M LCDDRVR44 POLCAP POLCAP RES4SIPISOL	C21 J9 U12 C22 C23 RNL RN2 RN3	IDC20F EDGE20/100 PLCCSOCKET44 CAP300RP CAP300RP SIP8	10 100 120	հ հ հ հ	
2	RES4SIPISOL	RN4 RN5	SIP8	300	h	¥ 1

4. You can save or print the reports using the Notepad **File** commands. When you have finished viewing the reports, close each report window and select **Close** in the *File Reports* dialog.

For more information on how to customize reports, refer to the File Commands chapter.

Printing and plotting your design

Using PCB, you can generate high-quality artwork on the wide variety of devices supported by Microsoft Windows as well as Gerber-format photoplotters. First you'll set up the printer, then create a print job for each piece of the design to be generated. Finally, you select any number of print jobs and generate the output.

- 1. We'll demonstrate using Rdemol p.pcb, so make it the current design.
- 2. Choose **File** » **Print Setup** to set up your printer, paper size and source, orientation, number of copies and other printer options. Click on **Landscape** and click **OK**.

Setting up your print jobs

- 1. Choose **File** » **Print**. The Print Jobs list shows any jobs that are already defined for our demo board, e.g. Components.
- 2. Click **Setup Print Jobs**. Here you set up your options including the layers and items to be included, and the scale, offsets, rotation, and drill symbol size for the output.
- 3. Select **Components** in the Print Jobs list. You'll see the characteristics defined for that job on the right of the dialog. To change the job, update the options and click **Modify**.
- Now we'll create a print job that includes all the layers of the board. To create a new print job, type a new job name, e.g. ALL, in the Print Name box, choose your options e.g. set all layers and other options set in the dialog below and click Add.

layers	anu	ouncile	phons se	t in the ulan	Se Delov	v and che	R Auu.				
Multi	ple jo	obs can	be added	or changed	l before	you click	Close to	return to	the File	e Print	dialog

Setup Print Jobs Print Jobs: COMPONENTS ALL ALL ALL MONENTS ALL ALL ALL MONENTS ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL ALL AL	Print Job Selections Print Job Name: Layers: Top Assy Top Sake Top Mask Bor Mask Bor Paste Bor Assy Bor Asy Bor Asy Bor Asy Bor Assy Bor Assy	ALL Pint Adjustments V Scale to Et Page Scale: 100 X offset: 0.0mil Y offset: 0.0mil Y offset: 0.0mil Print Region Vering: Egtents Define Begion: Lower Left Corner: X: \$255.0mil Y: \$2295.0mil Upper Right Corner: \$130.0mil Y: \$405.0mil	Display Options Relate Mirror Draft Thin Stocked Tegt Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Value Carnections Connections Carnections Drill Symbols Print Drill Symbols Stree: Stochard Holes Value Carnections Connections Carn
<u>D</u> elete		Y: J4805.0mil	C Plated Holes C Nomplated Holes C All Holes

Print Jobs: COMPONENTS	Print Job Overrides └── Current Window └── Scale to Eit Page └── Current Display				
	Setup Print Jobs				
	Colors				
	Drill Symbols				
Set All	<u>G</u> enerate Printouts				
<u>C</u> lear All	Print Preview				
Minimum Line Width (pixel:	s): 1 🕂				
Close					

- 5. Next, click **Drill Symbols**. We could individually assign each hole size to one of the drill symbols provided. Instead, click **Automatic Assign** to assign them instantly, then close the dialog.
- 6. Set your output colors by clicking the **Colors** button if you have a color printer.
- 7. Return to the *File Print* dialog. Select print job names to include or exclude the jobs from being printed. Select **ALL**.
- 8. You may preview the output before printing by clicking the **Print Preview** button, checking the output and clicking **Close** to return to the *File Print* dialog.
- 9. Click **Generate Printouts** to send the print jobs to your printer. The following file will be printed showing all layers.



Generating manufacturing files

This final section of the tutorial looks at generating Gerber and N/C drill files.

The process for generating Gerber-format photoplot files is very similar to that for generating print as discussed in the previous section of this tutorial. You determine the contents of the various photoplot files, select one or more of them, and generate the output. With Gerber files, however, you must also take the extra step of mapping apertures to items on your design using PCB's automatic aperture assignment.

Generating Gerber output

1. Make the file Rdemol_p.pcb the current file and choose **File** » **Export** » **Gerber**. The buttons on the right of the *File Gerber Out* dialog are arranged in the order required to step through the process of generating photoplot files.

File Gerber Out	
Output Path: C:\	
Output Files:	
RDEMO1_P.TOP RDEMO1_P.BOT	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files
	Apertures
	Drill Symbols
	Gerber <u>F</u> ormat
	<u>G</u> enerate Output Files
I I	Output File Options:
	Load In Camtastic
<u>S</u> et All	Self-Extracting (.EXE)
<u>C</u> lear All	Compressed (.ZIP)
	Close

- 2. Click **Setup Output Files**. You will notice that there are already some output files generated for you.
- 3. Now we will create a new output job for the Top Silk layer by setting output file options.
- 4. Type TSK in the File Extension edit box. The output files have the same base name as the design file but with a unique extension, e.g. for Top Silk, etc.

Setup Output Files		
	- Output File Selection	15
Output File:	Layers:	File Extension: TOP
RDEMO1_P.TOP	Top Assy Top Silk	⊠ Offset: 0.0mil
	Top Paste	Y Offset: 0.0mil
	Top Mask Top	
	Bottom	Pads EefDes
	Bot Mask Bot Paste	IV Vias L Lype □ Rad A/ia Holes □ Value
	Bot Silk	No Mt Hole Cu Mirror
	Board	Titl <u>e</u> s
		Drill Symbols
		Output Drill Symbols
		Size: 80.0mil
	Set All	C Plated Holes
	Clear All	Al Holes
Add	<u>deschul aver Cat</u>	
Modify	Apply Layer Set	
Delete	Output Path	PCAD\DEM0
Delete		e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
	View log file upon	

- 5. Highlight the **Top Silk** layer in the Layers list box. Click all the check boxes, except **Mirror**. Also click **View log file upon completion** to report errors during Gerber generation.
- 6. Then click **Add** to add RDEMO1_P.TSK to the Output File list.

- 7. Specify the Output Path where the Gerber photoplot files will be stored, e.g. C:\PCAD\Demo.
- 8. Click **Close** to exit the dialog and return to the main *File Gerber Out* dialog. The new Gerber file, RDEMO1 P.TSK, appears in the Output Files list box.
- 9. Next, click **Apertures** to assign a photoplot aperture to each item on the board. To save time, just click **Auto** in the Automatic Describe/Assign frame. PCB automatically assigns an aperture to each item. You can then edit any of the assignments if you wish. Click **Close** to complete aperture definition.

em	Aperture	ltem:	
Drawn Symbols]	D010	Type:	[Drawn Symbols]
Polygons]	D010		
INE 10.0mil	D010		
NE 12.0mil	D011	-	
INE 15.0mil	D012		
INE 20.0mil	DU13		
INE 25.0mil	D014		
NE 50.0mil	D016		
AD EL 100 Amil 60 Amil 32 Amil 0 Adea (0 Amil 0 Amil)	D017	Anerture:	
AD EL 115.0mil 75.0mil 32.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil.0.0mil)	D018	D Code:	10
AD EL 60.0mil 60.0mil 38.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D019	D Code.	10
• • •		 Shape: 	Ellipse
		X Dim:	10.0mil
Assign Unassign Unassign All		Y Dim:	10.0mil
		H Dia:	0.0mil
Automatic Describe/Assign		Type:	Drew
<u>Pad/Via holes</u> Draw aperture size: 10.0mil		Angle:	0.0deg
Clear current apertures		Aligie.	(0.0ardi 0.0arib
Draw Rotated or Offset Pad/Vias		Uliset.	(o.onni.o.onni)
Auto			
Uraw Polygon Pad/ vias		Clos	e

- 10. The *File Gerber Out* dialog provides access to assigning drill symbols. Click **Drill Symbols** to display the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog. From this dialog, you can assign drill symbols either manually or automatically. Click **Automatic Assign** to auto assign the drill symbols. Select **Close** to save your changes.
- 11. Click **Gerber Format** from the *File Gerber Out* dialog to set the format for your output, such as the output units, numeric type and format, in the *Gerber Format* dialog. By default, the output format is set to 274-D so we do not need to change any settings. Select **Close** to return to the *File Gerber Out* dialog.
- 12. To compress Gerber files into a single compressed file when output, select the Compressed(.ZIP) check box in the Compress Output Files frame of the *File Gerber Out* dialog. This option requires an unzipping program. Alternatively, select the Self-Extracting (.EXE) check box to produce a single self-extracting compressed file that contains all your selected Gerber output files. We will not compress our small file this time, so leave the check boxes unselected.
- 13. Finally, choose one or more output files by selecting those files from the **Output Files** list. Click **Generate Output Files** to produce the photoplot files that are saved to the nominated directory.

Before we leave Gerber files, we will have a look at viewing the Gerber files we just generated.

Viewing Gerber photoplot files

Perhaps no other function in PCB provides as positive visual verification as much as the photoplot file viewing facility. By viewing the files just generated on-screen, you can be assured that your aperture selection and options were correctly set.

PCB lets you slide a Gerber file into a layer while the original design is open. As with superimposing two supposedly identical overheads, discrepancies become obvious. You can also read in multiple Gerber files to view a composite of the design.

- 1. Make the PCB file Rdemo1_p.pcb current.
- 2. Choose File » Import » Gerber and load RDEMO1_P.TSK from the Demo folder of the P-CAD installation directory. Also select View log file upon completion to check for errors and click OK.

File Gerber In	
Gerber <u>Fi</u> lename C:\PCAD\DEN	IO\RDEMO1_P.TSK
Layer Name: Gerber1 Layer Number: 13	OK
View log file upon completion	Cancel

- 3. Notice how a new layer named Gerber displays the Gerber file information overlaying the original design in the workspace ready for checking for any discrepancies. An error log also opens in Notepad.
- 4. Further isolate the Top Silk layer and the Gerber layer to show the overlay of these two layers only, by choosing **Options** » **Layers** and enabling only these layers.
- 5. Do not save the Gerber layers within your PCB file as they are usually only used for viewing and verification purposes. Once you have finished checking, close the PCB file without saving.

Generating N/C drill files

The procedure for generating drill files is similar to the procedure for creating prints and photoplot files.

- 1. Choose File » Export » N/C Drill. The File N/C Drill dialog displays.
- 2. Set up output files, layers, assign tools, set the drill file format and produce a compressed (.zip) file or a self-extracting compressed file by selecting the buttons of the *File N/C Drill* dialog.
- 3. Select the output files, click Generate Output Files and a drill file (.ncd) is created.

For more information about generating manufacturing files, see the File Commands chapter.

Documentation Tools

Documenting a Design with Document Toolbox

With Document Toolbox you can accelerate the development of a complete, informative documentation package that details the fabrication and assembly of the printed circuit board. The information provided here is an overview of the documentation capabilities of the Document Toolbox.

In this section you will learn about:

- Zoned borders and custom title blocks.
- Drawing and revision notes.
- Dynamically updated Design Views.
- Detail views of a design.
- Annotated depiction of the layer stack-up diagram.
- Tables of drill data.
- Picture graphics.
- Associative dimensions.

Drawing Layers

Assembly or fabrication drawings of the printed circuit board may be integral components of your PCB documentation package. Document Toolbox includes a variety of objects that accelerate the production of these drawings. It is recommended that you place these objects on a nonsignal layer.

You may want to define an additional nonsignal layer for an assembly or fabrication drawing called a drawing layer. On this layer you can place graphics, including design detail views and layer stack-ups as well ad drawing-specific notes.

PCB Title Sheets

Document Toolbox helps you create a title sheet for your PCB design. Title sheets, and the information contained within, may be specific to a layer. Building a title sheet incorporates design borders, zones and title blocks. When combined, these objects make up the PCB title sheet similar to the one shown in the following figure:



Each of the objects may also be used independently in whatever combination best fits your design needs.

Borders and Zones

With Document Toolbox you can place a zoned border on any layer. A design border and zones are two of the basics needed to create the PCB Title Sheet. The border and zones are set up in the Titles tab of the *Options Layers* dialog.

Borders

A layer with its zoned border is shown in the following figure:



The display and structure of borders and zones can be unique for each layer.

The default settings for borders is that the border relative origin is 500 mils in and up from the workspace origin, and the default border width and height is 1000 mils smaller that the workspace height and width (as specified on the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog). If, for example, the workspace size has a height and width of 10000.0 mil, the default height and width of the title sheet border would be 9000.0 mil, and the bottom left of the border would be 500 mils in and up from the workspace origin.



The following diagram shows these calculations:

The border is added to the layer that is selected in the Layers field of the Titles tab of the *Options Layers* dialog. It is only displayed when this layer is the current layer.

Zones

The perimeter of the design can be divided into alphanumeric zones similar to those found on a road map. Zones can be displayed whether or not you have selected to display the border. These zones are useful for locating or referencing drawing objects.

Zones use the dimensions of the perimeter set in the Borders area. Zone width is set by the size of the label text as shown in the illustration above.

To include zones in a border, complete the information in the Zones frame on the Titles tab of the *Options Layers* dialog.

Title Blocks

Title blocks can be placed on any layer. Title blocks, one of the basic building blocks of a PCB Title Sheet, include design information such as Title, Author, Drawing Number, etc.

Several PCB title block (.tbk) files are included with the P-CAD PCB Editor. These sample files can be used directly in your design, or modified to create new title block files. Custom title blocks can also be created.

The title block assigned to each layer can be unique and is specified for the layer through the Titles tab of the *Options Layers* dialog.

To specify the contents of the title block, you can place fields within the block. These fields can also be unique to each layer by assigning different field sets to the layers. When a title block includes placed fields, design information from the layer's assigned field set is displayed for the field's value. Design information used to complete the fields on the title block resides in the Fields tab of the *File Design Info* dialog.

By saving the placed fields within a title block file, you eliminate time spent repeating field placement in standard locations and automatically display the appropriate field values in their correct locations when the title block is included in a new design or on another layer of the current design.

Design Views

In documenting your design you may want to place various sections of the design on a single page for illustration purposes. By using a Design View, you can place a view of a portion of the design into another location in the design or place this same view inside the workspace multiple times. You can also place a Design View in its original state and mirror the same view alongside the original.

Revision Blocks

A revision block includes details about differences between versions of a design. An example revision block is seen in the following figure:

Revision Notes

A — Initial Release

B - Added Resistor Pack RP3 & Deleted Caps C46 & C50 per ECO # 1056.

In Document Toolbox, a revision block is placed as a Revision Notes Table.

Fields and Field Sets

Field values can be grouped into distinct field sets. Each field set can contain different design information such as title, author, drawing number, notes, etc.

	Field Set 1	Field Set 2	Field Set 3
Author	M.Smith	M.Smith	T.Miller
Title	Fabrication	Fabrication	Assembly
Drawing Number	FB-863-01	FB-863-02	AS-863-01
Approved By	L. Brown		N. Chapman

From the *Options Layers* dialog you can assign a field set to a particular layer of your PCB design. The field's values change based on the field set of the layer on which they are located.

You may want to create an assembly and a fabrication drawing of your PCB design. You can create two nonsignal layers on which to create these drawings and assign each to a unique field set. The drawing number for each drawing can be unique, for example, since it will be specific to its field set as defined in the Fields tab of the *File Design Info* dialog.

Design or revision notes can be placed to informatively explain details of the drawing. These notes are also field set specific.

Drawing and Revision Notes

Notes are used to annotate your PCB drawing. With drawing or design notes, you can clarify details of the design. With revision notes, you can document changes made between drafts or versions of the design.

Drawing and revision notes can be specific to a field set. If you created an assembly and a fabrication drawing of your PCB design, the notes for each drawing can be specific to its field set.

Defining Drawing or Revision Notes

You can annotate your design by placing a drawing note. Drawing notes can be field set specific and can be assigned to a field set in the Notes tab of the *File Design Info* dialog.

You can also include revision notes specifically pertaining to design changes or revisions. Notes pertaining to design changes should be included on the Revisions tab of the *File Design Info* dialog. Notes can later be included in your design by placing a note field or a note table. These notes can be annotated using the industry-standard symbols: box, circle or triangle.



The following figure shows a Notes table with standard note symbols:

	NOTES: UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.
1.	R27, L1, L2 and R18 are mounted vertical. Component should be bended .100 spacing from lead to lead before insert to board.
2.	D1, D3 and D4 are mounted vertical. Components should be bended .100 spacing from lead to lead before insert to board. And Annode side should be inserted into the square pad.
3.) 4.	Mounting holes item. Using black ink for marking Assembly Revision number into white rectangle.

Design Details

A magnified view of a region of your board is called a detail. Document Toolbox allows you to include details directly in your design. A detail is a picture containing objects created in the PCB editor; it is a magnified copy of a selected PCB design region.

Details are intended to be used in drawing. Therefore, they should not be items required in the final film artwork or translated to another product using DXF.

A detail can be placed from a file or directly from the clipboard onto any nonsignal layer. An example of a detail is shown in the following figure:



Details can be cut or copied from one location to the clipboard and pasted into another location. This graphical information can be placed in picture format on the PCB drawing by choosing the **Edit** » **Paste Special** command. If you choose the **DocTool** » **Mirror on Copy** command, the selected objects are copied in the opposite perspective of the display, as if viewing the design from its underside.

Detail, diagram and picture objects are not mirrored when copied to maintain the orientation of annotation text.

Graphic Files

A graphic file can be used to permanently store a graphic object, including a detail of your PCB design. The file can be used repeatedly to place the same image in multiple designs or on multiple layers. It can be retained on your computer for use at a later time. Graphic files are ideal for building an archive containing commonly used images.

Graphic images can be created automatically from a block file (.blk). You can place these block files as details on the PCB drawing by choosing the **DocTool** » **Place Detail** command. When a block file is placed as a detail it loses its design intelligence and becomes a scaleable snapshot of a region. The layer information of the block file is removed and the detail resides only on the layer on which it is placed. You can also uses graphic files in picture format (.emf) to place a detail. These picture files can be placed by choosing the **DocTool** » **Place Picture**, **DocTool** » **Place Detail** or **Edit** » **Paste** from **File** commands.

Detail Colors

A detail exists on a single layer, as a picture of design objects, which may be located on multiple layers. To indicate the detail's layer, all design objects within the detail are drawn in the line color of the active layer.

Updating Details

Details are not automatically updates when change are made to the design. Since the detail is generally imported from a file, the block file or picture file containing the board region must be replaced when the detail needs to be updated. The detail of the modified board region can then be placed from the new block file.

You can resize, move or delete a detail after placement, but you cannot rotate or flip it. The detail is a single discrete unit; individual objects within it may not be sub-selected or modified. If you included a scale factor in the detail's title or subtitle, you can modify the value to reflect the current scaling factor by selecting the detail and choosing the **Edit** » **Properties** command. Your changes for the title, subtitle, text style and scaling can then be applied in the *Detail Properties* dialog, or if placed using the **DocTool** » **Place Picture** command, in the *Picture Properties* dialog.

Layer Stackup Diagrams

A depiction of the stacking of board layers is used to annotate the board layers. The layer stackup diagram is displayed in one of two ways, as shown in the following figure:



The layer stackup diagram is placed by choosing the **DocTool** » **Place Diagram** command. Once placed a diagram may be resized, moved or deleted, but not rotated or flipped. The diagram is a single discrete unit; individual object within it may not be sub-selected.

Diagrams are not automatically updated when changes are made to the design unless you choose specifically to update it. If the board layer arrangement has been modified, the layer stack-up diagram should be updated to reflect the current design information by selecting a single diagram and choosing the **DocTool » Update** command or selecting multiple diagrams and choosing the **DocTool » Update** All command.

The title, subtitle, text style, diagram style scale factor and line width properties of the diagram can be modified. The scale factor, if included in the diagram's title or subtitle, can be modified to reflect the current scaling factor by choosing the **Edit** » **Properties** command after selecting the diagram.

Drill Tables

A drill table maps the drill symbol displayed on the PCB design to its physical characteristics. The information contained within a drill table includes: the hole diameter, the symbol used to identify the drill hole, the number of holes of type in the design, and whether the hole is plated.

Drill Table				
Hale Dia (inch)	Symbol	Quantity	Plated	
0.015	+	341	Yes	
0.037	\diamond	74	Yes	
0.093	X	4	Yes	
0.138	\otimes	3	Yes	

A basic drill table is shown in the following figure:

You can also include user-defined columns in the table, which may include any additional information you require.

The contents of a placed drill table is modified only when you specifically choose to update it. When the drill information of the current design is modified, the drill table should be updated to reflect the design changes. To update a particular drill tale, select the table and choose **DocTool** » **Update**. To update all tables choose **DocTool** » **Update All**.

Updates cannot be undone.

You can also select a drill table, choose **Edit** » **Properties** and make changes in the *Table Properties* dialog for the table's line width, name and text style.

The drill table is updated when its properties are modified.

Associative Dimensions

Dimensions are used to document the distance between objects in your PCB design. Dimensions can be associated with their objects, they can include tolerances and you can modify the various properties of a dimension.

Associative Dimensions are intelligent about the objects they are documenting. When the dimension is placed it becomes associated with dimensioned objects. When one of the objects move, the dimension follows it and marks the new object separation. Associative dimensions are dynamically updated whenever the objects are moved, resized, rotated, flipped or modified. If one of the dimensioned objects is deleted, an associative dimension will also be automatically deleted.

A dimension is placed by choosing the **Place** » **Dimension** command. Use the information on the Prompt Line to guide you through the placement process.

For Baseline and Datum type dimensions, you can unwind the last action performed, using either the BackSpace key or the CTRL-BackSpace keystroke.

Once a dimension has been placed it can be modified. Click once to select a dimension, the choose **Edit** » **Properties** from the menus to display the *Dimension Properties* dialog, where you can edit dimension properties such as Units, Layer, Precision and Tolerance. Note that the precision setting applies to the dimension units, the tolerance always displays with 4 decimal places (unless the Suppress Trailing Zeros option is enabled).

You can make a dimension non-associative if you clear the Associated Dimension check box in the *Dimension Properties* dialog. Once this option is disabled the dimension has no intelligence about its dimensioned objects, and will not move when a dimensioned object is moved.





Printer & Plotter Setup

When you choose **File** » **Print Setup**, the following *Print Setup* dialog appears. This dialog lists any printers and plotters that have been installed on your system.

Print Setup				? X
Printer				
<u>N</u> ame:	Canon BJC-255SP			Properties
Status:	Default printer; Ready			
Type:	Canon BJC-255SP			
Where:	LPT1:			
Comment:				
Paper			Orientation	۱
Size:	A4	•		Portrait
<u>S</u> ource:	Auto Feeder	•	A	C L <u>a</u> ndscape
			OK	Cancel

In the *Print Setup* dialog, select a printer from the Name list. Then, click **Properties** to configure print parameters. Because print parameters are device-specific, the dialog, which appears, will depend upon the printer you select. After you configure your print parameters, click **OK**.

Plotting is similar to printing. For plotting, choose **File** » **Print Setup**. Like printers, plotter properties are device-specific and customized to the plotter driver you are using.

Printing

When printing from P-CAD PCB, you have access to many useful features, such as:

- Multiple and batch print jobs. You can define unique print options for each print job. For example, you can include or exclude specific layers and objects, X and Y offset, and more.
- Color options. You can customize color output, if you are using a color printer.
- Drill symbol assignments. You can include both manual and automatic describe and assign options.
- Printing the current workspace display based on your current zoom settings.
- Specify the number of pixels used to print the minimum line width.


Setting Up Print Jobs

In this section you will create three different print jobs to practice a typical printing scenario. First, you will set up the options for each of the three print jobs, assign drill symbols, set color options, and then do a batch print of all three jobs.

1. Choose **File** » **Print** to open the following dialog.

File Print		
Print Jobs: ACCSAMPL_TOP ACCSAMPL_BOT ACCSAMPL_SLK ACCSAMPL_SLK ACCSAMPL_MSK ACCSAMPL_ALL	Print Job Overrides └── Current <u>W</u> indow └── Scale to <u>F</u> it Page └── C <u>u</u> rrent Display	
	Setup Print <u>J</u> obs	
	C <u>o</u> lors	
	<u>D</u> rill Symbols	
Set All	<u>G</u> enerate Printouts	
<u>C</u> lear All	<u>P</u> rint Preview	
Minimum Line Width (pixels):		
Close		

2. Click Setup Print Jobs. The following Setup Print Jobs dialog appears.

Setup Print Jobs			
Print Jobs: ACCSAMPL TOP ACCSAMPL_BOT ACCSAMPL_SLK ACCSAMPL_MSK ACCSAMPL_ALL	Print Job Selections Print Job Name: Layers: Mid 3 Mid 4 Mid 5 Mid 6 Mid 6 Mid 7 Mid 8 Bottom Bottom Bottom Top Mask Bot Nask Bot Silk Top Sik Bot Silk Top Paste Bot Assy Bot A	ACCSAMPL_TOP Pint Adjustments Scale: [1.00 X offset: [0.0ml Y offset: [0.0ml Pint Region ✓ Design Extents Define Elepton: Lower Left Corner: X SS Oml	Display Options
Add Modify Delete	<u>S</u> et All Clear All Apply Layer Set	Yes Second Vpper Right Comer:	Titles Drill Symbols Print Drill Symbols Size: Qumit Plated Holes Nonsplated Holes All Holes
		Close	

In this dialog you can specify layers, objects, print regions, and other design print criteria for multiple print jobs. For this tutorial, leave the dialog open and continue with *Job One: Board and Top Layers*.

Job One: Board and Top Layers

This first print job example prints all copper on the Top layer. The entire design is printed.

- 1. Press the CTRL key and select the Board and Top layers from the Layers list.
- 2. In the Display Options frame, select the **Pads** and **Vias** check boxes.
- 3. In the Print Region frame, select the **Design Extent** check box.
- 4. Make sure the Board and Top layers are selected in the Layers list. Then, type the following in the Print Job Name text box: TOP
- 5. Click **Add**. The job named TOP appears in the Print Jobs list. Leave the *Print Setup* dialog open, and continue with *Job Two: Board and Top Silk Layers*.

Job Two: Board and Top Silk Layers

- 1. Click Clear All.
- 2. Hold down the **CTRL** key and click **Board** and **Top Silk** in the Layers list. You will define the desired region for printing.
- 3. In the Display Options frame, select the **RefDes**, **Pads**, and **Vias** check boxes.
- 4. Clear the **Design Extents** check box and click **Define Print Region**. The workspace appears.
- 5. Hold down the **left mouse button** and drag it diagonally across the workspace to draw a bounding outline around the desired print region.

6. **Right-click** or press **ESC**. In the Information dialog that appears, click **Yes** to confirm the coordinates of your selected print region.

The Setup Print Jobs dialog appears with the corners of the selected region displayed in the Print Region box.

- 7. In the Print Job Name text box, type: TOPSLK
- 8. Click **Add**. TOPSLK appears in the Print Jobs list. Leave the *Print Setup* dialog open and continue with *Job Three: All Layers*.

Job Three: All Layers

1. Click **Set All** to highlight all the layers in the Layers list. The entire design will be printed with the output scaled to fit exactly to a page.

You can also select all layers using the layer sets feature. Select **All Layers** from the Layer Set list and click **Apply Layer Set**.

- 2. Select the **RefDes**, **Pads**, and **Vias** check boxes.
- 3. Select the **Design Extent** and **Scale Fit to Page** check boxes.
- 4. In the Print Job Name text box, type: ALL
- 5. Click Add. ALL appears in the Print Jobs list.

Now that you have set up your three print jobs, click **Close** to exit the dialog. In the *File Print* dialog, the following print jobs appear in the Print Jobs list: TOP, TOPSLK, and ALL. Leave the *File Print* dialog open and continue with *Assign Drill Symbols*.

Assign Drill Symbols

In the File Print dialog, click Drill Symbols. The following Drill Symbol Assignments dialog appears.

Drill Symbol Assignments			
Hole Diameter 18.0mil 26.0mil 32.0mil 38.0mil 46.0mil 124.0mil	Plated Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	Drill Symbol	Drill Symbols:
<u>A</u> ssign	<u>U</u> nassign utomatic As	U <u>n</u> assign All	Close

P-CAD PCB includes alpha-character drill symbols (upper and lowercase). This feature makes it easier for you to provide manufacturing documentation. It also emulates Master Designer's drill symbol assignment feature, so anyone used to Master Designer will have little trouble documenting drill holes in P-CAD PCB.

The available drill symbols are as follows:

- Uppercase characters A-Z, except T, X, and Y. P-CAD PCB already allows these as graphic shapes.
- Lowercase characters a-z, except x.

These drill symbols appear toward the bottom of the Drill Symbols list in the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog.

The printed, Gerber, and DXF output files display the new drill symbols as described in the following list:

- All drill symbols are printed in the default text style.
- The character size is approximately the same as the drill size you specify.
- The text stroke width is consistent with the appearance of drill symbols.
- The text character is centered on the location of the drill hole.

The DBX applications, and Drilltab.dbx, also recognize the drill symbols and can handle them accordingly.

Automatic Assign

To assign all drill symbols automatically, click the **Automatic Assign** button in the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog. You can click **Unassign All** to clear everything, or **Unassign** to clear the hole diameter that is highlighted.

The list of this dialog displays the hole diameters of the loaded design file and any drill symbol assignments that may exist for those hole diameters, allowing you to view which items are assigned and what those assignments are.

In the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog, click **Automatic Assign** to automatically assign a drill symbol to each hole diameter in the design.

Manual Assign

To make manual drill symbol assignments:

- 1. Select 18.0 mil in the Hole Diameter list.
- 2. Select **Diamond_X** from the Drill Symbols list.
- 3. Click Assign. Diamond_X appears next to 18.0 mil in the list.
- 4. Click **Close**.

The **File** » **Print** and **File** » **Export** » **Gerber** features share common drill symbol assignments; when symbols are assigned in one, they will apply to the other.

Setting up Print Colors and Other Options

You can define colored, grayscale, or monochrome printer settings. You can also set the printed size of different reference points in a design. To set up print colors and other options, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose File » Print. The File Print dialog appears.
- 2. Click the **Colors** button to open the *Printer Options* dialog. This dialog contains two tabs: Colors and Miscellaneous. You can make changes in these tabs without affecting your Options Display settings.

The *Printer Options* dialog is similar to the *Options Display* dialog. However, changes to your printer options do not affect your options display settings.

- 3. Click the **Colors** tab, then choose print colors using one of these methods:
- 4. If you have a color printer, click the appropriate buttons and choose a color from the color palette that appears.
- 5. If you have a black and white printer, click the **Defaults** button. This turns all colors to monochrome. We recommend that you use the default settings to avoid undesirable output when color settings are converted to grayscales.
- 6. Click **OK** to close the Print Options dialog. You return to the File Print dialog.

For more information about the options in the Colors or Miscellaneous tab, see *Options Display* (page 442).

Batch Print

In the *File Print* dialog, you should now see the three print jobs listed. To set up batch printing, follow these steps:

1. Click **Set All** to select all three print jobs.

File Print			
Print Jobs: ACCSAMPL_TOP ACCSAMPL_BOT ACCSAMPL_SLK ACCSAMPL_MSK ACCSAMPL_ALL	Print Job Overrides └── Current Window └── Scale to Eit Page └── Current Display		
	Setup Print <u>J</u> obs		
	Colors		
	Drill Symbols		
Cot All	<u>G</u> enerate Printouts		
<u></u> lear All	Print Preview		
Minimum Line Width (pixels):			
Close			

- 2. Click **Print Preview** to verify that the output is what you want to print.
- 3. Click **Generate Printouts**, to print the jobs with the specifications that you set earlier.
- 4. Click **Close** to exit the dialog.

When you close the *File Print* dialog, the three print jobs that you have created are saved.

Routing

Routing Features

This chapter contains information on how to select a router and set up your design for routing. It also explains how to perform manual, interactive, and miter routing in P-CAD PCB, and details using the advanced features such as Route Bus, Route MultiTrace, Route Fanout, Maximize Hugging, Minimize Length and Visible Routing Area..

The section titled *General Routing Features, (page 103)* details features available with both manual and interactive routing.

Click this button	To access this routing tool:
م	Route » Manual: Runs the Route Manual tool. This tool allows you to manually route and reroute existing connections or net copper items.
چ <u>ە</u>	Route » Interactive: Runs the Route Interactive tool. This tool provides obstacle avoidance, copper hugging, and intelligent route completion.
	Route » Miter: Performs mitering. This tool converts square corners on routed connections into mitered corners, tangent arcs, or T-routes using an angle of your choice.
.	Route » Bus: Runs the Bus Route tool. The Bus Route tool allows you to specify several connections to be guided simultaneously as a bus.
117	Route » MultiTrace: Runs the MultiTrace Route tool. The MultiTrace Route tool allows you to specify several connections to be routed automatically.
	Route » Fanout: Runs the Fanout routing tool. The Fanout Route tool is used for the systematic placement of fanout traces from a PCB component. These traces can then be used by Bus Route as a start or

The table below shows which button accesses each of the routing tools:

	termination point.
913-4	Maximize Hugging: The Maximize Hugging feature sets trace placement to hug obstacles between routes. This feature is used with the InterRoute, Fanout Route, Bus Route, and MultiTrace Route tools.
•	Minimize Length: The Minimize Length feature sets trace placement to seek the straightest line between routes. This feature is used with the b, b, Bus Route, and MultiTrace Route tools.
	Visible Routing Area: The Visible Routing Area feature analyzes the design rules and displays the available routable area on your workspace. This feature is used with the InterRoute and Bus Route tools.

Selecting a Route Tool

When selecting a route tool, consider the board design, design rules, and the desired final trace.

- **Manual Route** is a flexible tool that allows you to place traces precisely. An individual trace can be routed along an arc, at any angle, and into loops. You can also T-route from an existing trace. Traces need not obey clearance rules, although online DRC is available. The flexibility of Manual Route is particularly useful for analog boards.
- Interactive Route is a more intelligent tool that allows you to place traces while obeying the clearance rules of the design. Routes can be completed automatically, hugging obstacles and entering pads as directed.
- **Miter Route** is a specific tool for easily creating 45 degree angles or arcs out of routed corners or T-junctions.
- **Bus Route** is ideal for situations with a one-to-one correlation of pins and no obstructions, as when routing to an edge connector. With Bus Route, you seemingly route a single, wide trace and all selected connections follow.
- **MultiTrace Route** automatically routes selected connections. It is ideal for regions of the design with collinear connections, which may or may not have obstacles; it can speed repetitive tasks without requiring user intervention. The placement of the traces can be steered by setting options such as minimum length, maximum hugging, and orthogonal mode. With MultiTrace, each trace is routed individually and automatically.
- **Fanout Route** allows you to specify a fanout configuration for a collection of connections as they exit from the pads of a PCB component.
- Maximize Hugging allows you to set trace placement to hug obstacles.
- Minimize Length lets you set trace placement to seek the straightest line between routes.
- Visible Routing Area analyzes the design rules and displays the available routing area on the workspace.

MultiTrace, Fanout, and Bus Route tools route only on a single layer. When using Push Traces, Interactive route tool routes on a single layer unless you change layers, causing a via to be placed.

Routing Setup

This section provides information on some basic setup functions you should perform before routing.

Opening a File

To open a design file, choose **File** » **Open**. If you want to backup your work before you make changes, choose **File** » **Save As** and save the file to a different name.

Placing Connections

Before routing, you must have already placed components and placed connections between the component pads (net nodes). To place connections, choose **Place** » **Connection** or click the **toolbar button**.

For more information see Place Connection (page 377).

Setting your Grids

You need to set your grids for easier and more efficient routing. There are many different ways to set up grids depending on what is appropriate for your particular design. For through-hole designs, a typical Absolute grid spacing is 25 mils. For surface mount or mixed boards, the grid spacing selected should be appropriate for the pad spacing.

For example, you may want to set the Absolute grid spacing to 25 mils and the Relative grid spacing to 8.3 mils.

1. Choose **Options** » **Grids** to open the following dialog.

Options Grids			
Grid Spacing: 100.0	Add	Visible Gr	id Style © D <u>o</u> tted
Grids:	<u>D</u> elete	1. TIOPPIC	○ <u>H</u> atched
100.0	Relative Gr X: [0.0mil Y: [0.0mil	id Origin —	Mode Absolute C Relative OK
			Cancel

- 2. In the Visible Grid Style frame, do the following:
 - Select the **Visible** check box.
 - Choose the **Dotted** button.

- 3. In the Mode frame, choose **Absolute**.
- 4. In the Grid Spacing text box, type: 25 **OR** select **25** from the Grids list box.
- 5. Now, choose the **Relative** button in the Mode frame.
- 6. In the Grid Spacing box, type 8.3 **OR** select **8.3** from the Grids list box. The relative grid origin can be set to any (x,y) coordinate relative to the absolute grid origin at the lower left hand corner of the workspace (0,0).
- 7. Click **OK**.

Status Line Grid Toggle

When you switch between **Relative Rel** and **Absolute Abs**, you will activate 8.3 mil and 25 mil grids, respectively. On the Status Line, switch between these two modes by clicking the **Grid** toggle button and see how the visible dotted grids change. The button appears as **Rel** and has a colored background when in **Relative** mode; it appears as **Abs** when in **Absolute** mode. The value of the relative or absolute grid setting appears next to it.

For more information see, Options Commands (page 423).

Changing Layers

You need to be able to change layers easily while you are routing.

The current layer name (e.g., Top) as well as the designated layer line color appear together on the Status Line at the bottom of your screen. The layer color is located between the layer combo box and up and down arrows (a reduced scroll bar) where you can view and change between the enabled layers (making another layer the current layer).

To change to another layer you need only select it from the combo box or the select the layer line color by clicking the **up** and **down arrows**.

Status line layer control

To add, delete, enable, or disable layers (which affects the list of layers in the combo box on the Status Line), choose the **Options** » **Layers** command. It's better not to enable more signal layers than you will immediately need; this is to avoid having to cycle through too many existing layers.

Since you can only route on signal layers, make sure that the signal layers you want to route on are enabled. Then when you want to change layers, you can press the **L** and **SHIFT+L** keys to switch between the signal layers. When you are using a route tool, the **L** key will switch between signal layers.

For more information, see Options Commands (page 423).

Setting Line Width

The line width for placing lines and routing is determined by the default current line width. You have two ways to change line width:

- Choosing **Options** » **Current Line**.
- Select a width from the Line Width list box in the Status Line.

Changing line width affects subsequent line drawings only and has no effect on existing lines. However, it does affect the thickness of any lines or arcs you use with the route tools, unless the net or net class has a WIDTH attribute.

You can change the line thickness of an existing arc or line with **Edit Properties**. Line width settings do not affect the appearance of polygons, keepouts, copper pours, connections, etc.

To set the default line width

1. Choose **Options** » **Current Line** to open the following dialog.

Options Current Line	e
Line Width: 12.0mil	<u>A</u> dd
10.0mil 12.0mil	Delete
	ОК
1	Cancel

- 2. In the Line Width text box, type: 10 mil. Or select 10 mil from the list.
- 3. Click **OK**. Subsequent lines will be 10 mils wide.

For more information see Options Current Line (page 457).

Setting Up Via Style

You can set up your via styles ahead of time before you place vias or before routing. Vias are placed automatically when you change layers in the middle of routing a segment.

The following section contains an example of setting up a simple via. For more information on setting up vias, see *Options Via Style (page 482)*.

The route tools use the current via style unless you have a VIASTYLE attribute defined on the net or net class that you are routing.

1. Choose **Options Via Style** to open the *Options Via Style* dialog. This dialog allows you to add new styles, delete non-default styles, view the default via style, or modify a non-default via style.

Options Via Style	
Current Style: (Default)	
* (Default) V:Ex50v50d32a	Сору
V:Ex62y62d38a V:Ex62y62d38a_blind	⊻iew (Simple)
V:Ex62y62d38a_bury	View (Complex)
	<u>D</u> elete
	Purge Unused Styles
	<u>R</u> ename
	Modify <u>H</u> ole Range
Close	

2. Add a new via style based on (Default). Click **Copy** to open the following *Copy Via Style* dialog.

Copy Via Style			
Via Name:			
Copy Of:	* (Default) V:Ex50y50d32a V:Ex62y62d38a V:Ex62y62d38a_blind V:Ex62y62d38a_bury		
	OK Cancel		

- 3. Type the new name (e.g., vianew) in the Via Name box and click **OK**. You return to the *Options Via Style* dialog.
- 4. Since the via style is simple, you can change the characteristics of vianew by selecting it in the list box and clicking **Modify (Simple).**

Modify Via Sty	ıle (Simple)
Name: V:Ex62	y62d38a
Type Thru Top Bottom	Width: [62.0mil Hole Diameter:]18.0mil Shape: Ellipse V Plated
Plane Conne © Thermal © Direct	Ction Plane Swell OK Use Global Swell OK Local swell: 0.0mil Cancel

5. If the via style is complex, you can change the characteristics of the new via by selecting it in the list box and clicking **Modify (Complex).**

Modify Via Style	(Complex)			
Nodity Via Style Name: V:Ex62y62 Layers: Top Bottom (Signal) (Plane) (NonSig)	Via Definition Layer: Width: Height: Shape: Pichibit Co Add	Top 62.0mil 62.0mil 0.0mil Ellipse pper Pour Co Modify	▼ → pinnections <u>D</u> elete	Hole Diameter: [18.0mil I Plated X Offset: [0.0mil Y Offset: [0.0mil Plane Swell I Use Global Swell Local swell: [0.0mil OK Cancel

6. Click **OK** to close the *Modify* dialog and save any changes you made to the style. Click **Close** to exit *Options Via Style*.

Orthogonal Modes (O key)

You can press the **O** key to switch between the orthogonal modes while placing lines during manual routing. You can enable/disable certain orthogonal modes in the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. The available orthogonal modes are provided as three mode pairs and a Tangent Arc mode. The mode pairs supply a total of six modes (three types, with two variations on each type). The **F** key flips the mode between the angles in the current mode pair.

For more information, see Options Commands (page 423).

Fixed Routable Objects

The Edit menu includes three commands that allow a specific set of objects to be fixed in their design locations, which is especially useful during routing. The three commands are: Fix, Unfix and Unfix All. To fix an object first select it, then choose **Edit** » **Fix** » **Fix** from the menus.

The following objects are all fixable within your design:

- Arcs
- Lines
- Pads (Free)
- Vias (Free)
- Test Points
- Copper Pours
- Components

Once an object is fixed, it cannot be moved, rotated, flipped, cut, resized or deleted. A fixed object is displayed in the Fixed object color (setup in the *Options Display* dialog).

The following commands will be ignored by a fixed component:

- Change Pattern
- Move
- Move by RefDes
- Rotate
- Flip
- Delete
- Cut
- Component Type Replacement
- Explode Component
- Align Component (PCB Only)
- Force Update (PCB Only)

Point-to-Point Routing

To help ensure design integrity, PCB distinguishes between routes that provide a complete electrical connection and those that are physically connected but, depending on the manufacturing technique, may yield a less than satisfactory electrical connection on the finished board. A trace is point-to-point routed if the overlap at the trace endpoint between the trace and net copper to which it connects is at least half of the trace width. This includes lines and arc traces routed to copper polygons, pads, vias, or other traces.

The DRC Unrouted Nets report includes a warning for those objects that are not point-to-point connected. The warning includes the location of the objects not satisfying point-to-point requirements.

The **Utils » Load Netlist**, **Utils » Optimize Nets**, and **Utils » Reconnect Nets** commands generate PCB connections between those objects that are physically connected but not point-to-point routed.

General Routing Features

The following sections summarize the special features of P-CAD PCB that you will find useful while using the manual or interactive routing tools.

Status Line Information

The right side of the Status Line displays the orthogonal mode, measurement and net name information while you are routing.

T-Routing

To invoke T-routing, press the **SHIFT** key while the manual or interactive route tool is enabled. The mouse operations are the same for T-routing as they are for reroute: click (initiate), drag (rubberband), release (commit). Using the **T-Route by Default** option in the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can T-route without pressing the **SHIFT** key.

When selecting a trace, there are two possible ways to initiate the route depending on the T-route mode: If T-routing is disabled, the selection is treated as a reroute. If T-routing is enabled using the **SHIFT** key, the tool starts a T-route whereby the selected trace is broken at the selection point (unless that point is an endpoint) and routing continues with a new trace anchored at the selection point.

A connection line is created from the selection point to the nearest, unconnected node to guide you in completing the route. When routing into a trace, the intersecting line is broken at the selection point. Just because this feature is called T-routing does not imply that it only works for T shaped intersections. Routing is permitted to and from any existing net traces on the board.



Routing with Curved Arcs

Curved traces can be incorporated into a route segment by enabling one of the Orthogonal Modes in the *Options Configure* dialog. The radius of the arc is controlled through the **Options** » **Current Radius** command or by selecting the desired radius from the Radius combo box on the Status Line. The ortho mode is displayed on the Status Line along with the net and measurement information.

The current radius is used to determine the curve of the arc while maintaining tangency between the two line segments and the arc.

You can modify or move a tangent arc by using the Miter tool. With the Miter tool active, grab the arc and drag it until the desired radius is achieved.

The available orthogonal mode pairs are described below:

90/90 Line-Line

Both lines are either horizontal or vertical (displayed perpendicular to each other). For long, the first segment is always longer than the second. For short, the first segment is shorter. You can switch between the two by pressing the **F** key.



45/90 Line-Line:

You can switch between the two modes by pressing the **F** key. The first mode makes the first segment display at a 45 degree angle and the second segment is either horizontal or vertical. The second mode makes the first segment either horizontal or vertical and the second segment is displayed at a 45 degree angle.

If the plow mode is enabled during routing, the 45/90 Line-Line orthogonal mode is the only orthogonal mode available.



90/90 Arc-Line

You can switch between two modes by pressing the **F** key. The first mode makes the first segment display as an arc and the second segment is either horizontal or vertical. The second mode makes the first segment either horizontal or vertical and the second segment is displayed as an arc.



Tangent Arc

A curved arc can be incorporated into a route segment when Tangent Arc is the current orthogonal mode. To change the current radius, choose the **Options** » **Current Radius** command or the Radius combo box on the Status Line, is used to determine the curve of the arc while maintaining tangency between the two line segments and the arc. Once placed, the arc can be moved or modified by using the Miter tool, which allows you to grab and drag an arc handle to a new radius. If the radius is set to **None**, the maximum radius is used.



Drop Via

When the plow mode is turned on during routing, you can place a via by choosing **Layers** in the shortcut menu. In the *Options Layer* dialog, select the layer on which the via should be placed and click **Close**. The next mouse click in the design places the via on the via grid closest to the current point as long as no violation with a fixed object exists. The probe continues from its current location to the center of the dropped via and the trace is laid.

Unwind

If you make a mistake, you can press the **BACKSPACE** key and the previous route action will unwind (disappear). Each press of the **BACKSPACE** key backs up to the previous point. A **right click** ends the temporary route mode, and you can then select another connection to route.

To unwind segments that are connected by vias between layers, the **BACKSPACE** key will treat each via as a segment, automatically deleting it with a keystroke.

Backtracking

Committing a straight line segment on top of another straight line segment, backtracking, acts as an erase operation and the intersection of the two lines is removed.

Vias cannot be erased with backtracking. You need to perform an unwind operation.

Backtracking detects only lines that precisely trace back over previous lines and only during the routing operation. No backtracking is performed for lines already existing in the design.

Routing to Free Copper

Routing to the center of a pad, via, or the endpoint of a line that is not part of any net adds that item to the net being routed. This occurs as each route operation is completed, without choosing the **Utils » Reconnect** command or the **Utils » Reconnect Nets** option in the **Utils » Load Netlist** command.

To add other objects (arcs and polygons) to the net, choose **Utils** » **Load Netlist** with the **Reconnect Copper** option enabled, or use the **Utils** » **Reconnect Nets** command after the routes intersecting free copper have been completed. Polygons and arcs maintain full net information and correctly remove connections after they are added to a net.

Changing Layers

To change to a different layer while routing press the L key, **SHIFT+L** keys, or use the Layer combo box. A via is automatically placed to connect the layers and the line from that point reflects the new color of the layer.

Trace Cleanup

When you choose the **Utils » Trace Clean-up** command, redundant trace segments (collinear and overlapping) and extra vertices are removed before the traces are added to the design. Trace cleanup also occurs between newly routed traces and preexisting traces.

Overlapping Connections

When connection lines overlap over a pad, priority is given to the connection line that has the same net ID as the pad. Priority is also given to SMD pads that are defined on the current layer.

Copper Pours and Routing

If the **Auto Plow Copper Pours** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog is selected, Copper Pours affected by new copper generated by these tools will autoplow when the route completes or suspends.

Manually Routing Connections

The **Manual Route** tool allows you to place traces precisely. An individual trace can be routed along an arc, at any angle, and into loops. Traces need not obey clearance rules, although online DRC is available.

The following section contains information specific to the **Manual Route** tool. See *General Routing Features (page 103)* for information common to both Manual and Interactive Route commands.

Manual Routing Steps

- 1. Zoom in so that the unrouted connections are large enough to select. To zoom in, press the **+** key, the **Z** key, the **Zoom** button on the toolbar, or choose one of the **View** » **Zoom** commands.
- 2. Choose the **Route » Manual** command or click on the **Route Manual** toolbar button.
- 3. Change to the Top (signal) layer to begin routing. Press the **L** key to switch to the Top layer (or use the layer combo box or layer line color arrows on the Status Line).
- 4. Click directly over a connection near a pad where you want the manual routing to begin. Release at a location where you want the first vertex (you can see the color change in the segment you routed). Then click at the location you want for the third vertex. Press the **O** key to switch to the appropriate 45 degree orthogonal mode (in effect creating the second vertex).



Click again at the location for the fifth vertex; the orthogonal mode will create the fourth vertex for you. Wherever you click, the route line follows, each click becoming a point where you can create a routing angle or change direction. The **F** key switches between pairs of the orthogonal mode.

Notice, while routing, that part or all of the net is highlighted in the current highlight color. In the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can select which items are highlighted in the **Highlight While Routing** box. Item highlight options are **Pads Only** or **Pads, Traces and Connection.**

If you want to use the keyboard instead of the mouse, move the cursor over the connection (arrow keys or **SHIFT+arrow keys**), press the **SPACEBAR**, move the cursor to move the route, then press the **SPACEBAR** again to place the routed segment.

Terminating a Route

To terminate a route, you can choose do one of the following:

- Complete the remainder of the trace by **right-clicking** or pressing **ESC**.
- Stop routing without completing the trace by pressing one of the SLASH keys.

The behavior of the **right-click** and the **SLASH** key can be switched using the Route tab in the *Options Configure* dialog.

When you drag the trace over its termination pad, a diamond shape appears. The diamond symbol represents a zero length connection. It disappears when the connection is completed.

If the diamond shape remains after completing the connection, it indicates the pad you are routing to is on a different layer than the end of the route.

Right Mouse Button

To route the remainder of a connection (in a straight line all the way to the next node), **right-click**. You can then **left-click** over another connection segment to begin routing it.

If the current endpoint of the trace being routed is point-to-point with an object belonging to the same net (pad, via, line, or arc) pressing the **right mouse** causes the route to be recognized as completed, ending the route. The routing guide connection (the remaining connection displayed during manual routing) is not replaced with a line trace to the original guide connection destination point when the **right mouse button** is pressed. The guide connection will be updated as appropriate.

The exception to this behavior occurs when routing to a pad that is the endpoint of the current guide connection. **Right-click** or press **ESC** to complete the route to the pad center.

This behavior can be switched with the SLASH key as described in the following section.

Slash Key

The **BACKSLASH** and **FORWARD SLASH** keys stop a route in mid-connection without adding a final copper segment. An unrouted connection remains attached to the last routed segment. Both back and forward slashes stop a route.

When the **Optimize Partial Route** check box is selected in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can press the **SLASH** key during manual routing to terminate the route and cause the guide connection line to connect to the nearest net endpoint, if the net doesn't have an OPTIMIZE=NO attribute.

This behavior can be switched with the right mouse behavior using the controls in the Manual Route frame in the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.

Arc Routing

The arc orthogonal modes can be used in an area where arcs will make routing easier; you can change between different modes while you are routing.

An orthogonal mode is in effect until you change it to a different one. Choose **Options » Configure**, click the **Route** tab, and select the **90/90 Arc-Line** and **Tangent Arc** check boxes in the Orthogonal Modes frame. To switch between orthogonal modes, press the **O** key.

Orthogonal Modes

While routing, you can practice using the orthogonal modes. Use the **Options** » **Configure** command to enable them.

Pressing the **O** key gives you the ability to gain access to the modes enabled in the *Options Configure* dialog.

Three of the orthogonal modes are provided in mode pairs of 90/90 Line-Line, 45/90 Line-Line and 90/90 Arc-Line. Press the **F** key to switch between the pair settings. The fourth orthogonal mode is the Tangent Arc mode, which provides access to available radii used in curved arc routing. When you press the **F** key, Tangent Arc mode is ignored. When the plow mode is enabled during routing the only orthogonal mode available is the 45/90 Line-Line mode.

For more information regarding orthogonal modes, see PCB Basics (page 17).

Interactive Routing

Choose **Route** » **Interactive** to gain access to a powerful P-CAD Interactive route tool. Interactive routing provides design rule intelligence to avoid obstacles, copper hugging, pad entry, and automatic route completion.

The following section contains information specific to the Interactive route tool. See *Manually Routing Connections (page 106)* and *General Routing Features (page 103)* for information common to both Manual and Interactive Route commands for information common to both Route Manual and Route Interactive.

Interactive Routing Steps

To route connections with Interactive route tool, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Route** » **Interactive** or click the **Route Interactive** button on the Route toolbar.
- 2. Pick a connection to route. The end closest to the point where the connection is selected becomes the source point; the other end becomes the destination point. Notice that part or all of the net is highlighted in the current highlight color. In the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can select which items are highlighted in the **Highlight While Routing** box. Item highlight options are **Pads Only** or **Pads, Traces and Connection**.
- 3. The **Interactive Route** tool rubberbands uncommitted copper with the proper net width and design rule clearances from the source point to the position of the cursor. The rubberbanding

copper tracks around obstacles, maintaining the proper design rule clearances for that net, from the point of origin to the cursor position. While you are moving the cursor, a connection rubberbands from the cursor to the second node of the connection, indicating what remains to be routed.

- 4. When you click a coordinate that is not the destination node, the previously uncommitted lines are placed on the board.
- 5. **Right-click** to open the **Interactive Route** shortcut menu and choose **Complete**. The trace will automatically complete.

If there is an obstruction requiring a layer change, you will hear a beep. The trace remains incomplete.

OR

Continue until you click a node that is the other end of the rubberband (this could be a pad, via, line, arc, polygon or copper pour island). The route completes automatically.

6. You are now free to choose another connection to route or cancel the tool.

Obstacle Hugging

Track segments follow the shortest path from start point to end point, hugging obstacles to within the clearance amount set using the *Options Design Rules* dialog.

The routing area takes into account the following design rules, net attributes, and net class attributes: Clearance, PadToPadClearance, PadToLineClearance, LineToLineClearance, ViaToPadClearance, ViaToLineClearance, and ViaToViaClearance.

A clearance indicator displays if you try to route through an obstruction. The clearance indicator appears as a semicircle with a radius showing the clearance amount between the object being routed and the obstruction.

The router always routes on grid, except for off-grid pads where the route is centered on the pad but ends on a grid point.

Pad Entry or Exit

Pad entry or exit is calculated from the pad's center regardless of whether or not the pad is on-grid. The stub length, set from the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, lets you set the minimum number of grid points from the pad's outside edge for the first track you route.

When entering a surface mount pad, always place the trace to the pad parallel to the bias of the pad and aligned with the pad center.

Fanouts

When routing off-grid pad and via fanouts, the interactive routing tool routes a stub in the direction of the cursor of a length (stub length) at least as long as that specified in the Route tab of the

Options Configure dialog. If the cursor position is closer to the pad than the stub length, no stub is created; the route simply starts at the pad center and ends at the cursor position.



Stubs for pads with matching width and height (e.g., round, square) are routable in four (90 degree orthogonal mode) or eight (45 degree orthogonal mode) directions.



Stubs for elongated pads (e.g., rectangle) route along the major axis only. Stubs on off-grid pads go from the pad center and remain off-grid until the cursor position is reached and then snap first to the closest grid line. The remainder of the route (from the stub endpoint to the cursor) ends on a grid point because the cursor is always on-grid. Entering a pad with a route follows the same logic as leaving a pad. Stubs always go to pad center.

Polygonal Pads



Polygonal pad shapes are supported by the Interactive route tool. However, edges that are not 45 or 90 degrees won't hug closely.

Terminating a Route

To terminate a route with the interactive router, you can choose to:

- Route to the termination of the connection.
- Complete the remainder of the trace automatically (**right-click** and choose **Complete** from the shortcut menu).
- Stop routing without completing the trace (press the SLASH keys).

When you drag the trace over its termination pad, a diamond shape appears. Then, you have reached the connection destination. The diamond symbol represents a zero length connection. It disappears when the connection is completed.

If the diamond shape remains after completing the connection, it indicates the pad you are routing to is on a different layer than the end of the route.

Complete

Right-click and choose **Complete** from the shortcut menu to automatically complete the remaining portion of the route. The design rule intelligence of the Interactive Route tool neatly hugs obstacles along the trace path.

Suspend

Routing can be suspended by pressing the **BACKSLASH** or **SLASH** key and the unrouted portion becomes a new connection from the suspension point to the end node.

Loop Removal

The **Interactive Route** tool looks for loops in routed traces. If one is encountered, the loop, along with any resulting floating copper is removed.

Miter Routing

The **Route** » **Miter** command converts corners on routed connections into arcs or T-routes. You can also use the Miter tool to miter T junctions and modify existing mitered T junctions.

The line width must be the same for the connecting segments in order to miter a corner.

Using the Route Miter Tool

To use the **Route Miter** tool, follow these steps:

- 1. Select a corner style by choosing a button in the Miter Mode frame in the **Route** tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.
- 2. To create a curved, mitered corner, click and hold on the corner that you want to miter (see A in the following figure). Drag to create the mitered corner (see B in the following). Don't release the mouse button until you have the proper length of mitering.

You cannot miter non-net traces.





3. To create a 90 degree arc miter, click and hold on a 90 degree corner (A in the following figure), then drag to create the arc (B in the following figure). Release the mouse button when you have the arc miter that you want.





4. For creating a T miter, click and hold on a selection point (A in the following figure), then drag to create the T miter (B in the following figure). Release the mouse button when you have the T miter that you want.





5. To create a corner whose degree is not 45 or 90, enable the Tangent Arc orthogonal mode in the *Options Configure* dialog. In the *Properties* dialog, enable the **Show Fillet Handles** option. Then grab and drag the corner's fillet handle (A) until the desired radius is achieved (B). The illustration on the right shows how the ghosted lines of the tangent corner are displayed as you move the cursor in the workspace.



6. To cancel a ghosted miter, **right-click**.

Orthogonal Modes

While miter routing, you can toggle between the mode pairs by pressing the **O** key. Only 45 degree line miters are supported for T-routes.

Modifying Routes

The following is a list of how to perform certain modifications to already routed segments.

Modify Line	You can select a segment or multiple segments, then click the right button and choose Properties from the popup menu to invoke the <i>Line Properties</i> dialog, where you can change the line width.
Reroute	Manual and Interactive route allow you to route the selected segment as if it were a connection. If you pick the exact junction of a connection and a routed segment, it will tend to choose the connection to route rather than rerouting the copper. Miter route allows you to alter the corners where traces meet.
Edit Select and Move (moving an existing routed, or copper, segment)	Select the copper segment (Edit Select); while it is selected, click and drag the copper to its new location. You can also rotate a copper segment by pressing the R key (90 degrees) while the segment is selected. SHIFT+R will rotate, using the angle set in <i>Options Configure</i> . To undo the move or rotation, press the U key.
Delete copper	Select the routed segment (Edit Select); press the DEL key, and the segment reverts back to a connection (displayed in whatever the connection color is) if a connection is necessary. If the Optimize after Delete option in the <i>Options Configure</i> dialog is enabled, and the net doesn't have an OPTIMIZE=NO attribute, the connection added is added in an optimized manner.
Delete connection	After you delete a routed segment and it reverts to a connection, you can select the connection and delete it completely. <i>Caution</i> <i>this is a drastic move because the connections in the design will no</i> <i>longer match the netlist.</i>
Leave a partial net	If you want to leave an unfinished piece of copper (part connection, part copper), use the SLASH or BACKSLASH key. For manual routing, this behavior can be switched with the right mouse behavior using the Route tab of the <i>Options Configure</i> dialog.

Route Bus

Choose **Route** » **Bus** or click the **Route Bus** toolbar button to enable the **Bus Route** tool. The Bus Route tool allows you to specify several connections to be guided simultaneously as a bus.

The Bus Route tool is design rule intelligent. It allows you to guide the placement of a collection of traces. It is ideal for a board region containing signals that feed in the same direction, such as routing to an edge connector.

With Bus Route you can pre-select a group of nets. The Bus Route tool routes the selected traces as a group, or bus. The bus width is the total spacing of the original selected connections.

The Bus Route tool can be used in conjunction with Fanout Route to route a collection of signals using minimum spacing. This maximizes the routing area available on the board for other traces. The following example shows Bus Route and Fanout working together:



While using Bus Route, Online DRC is automatically activated. This enables you to view possible design rule violations arising from bus width changes when routing at an angle.

Using Bus Route

To route a series of traces using the **Bus Route** tool, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Route** » **Bus** or click the **Route Bus** button in the Route toolbar.
- 2. Use the mouse to select multiple connections. You can make this selection in one of two ways:
 - **Select by window**: Click the workspace, hold the left mouse button down, and drag. When you release the mouse, all connections within the specified region are selected.
 - Select by mouse click: By clicking a connection, you select that connection. You can select more than one connection by holding down the **CTRL** key while clicking.

The connections selected for Bus Route must be aligned either horizontally or vertically on at least one end.

3. Press and hold down the **left mouse button** while the cursor is within the selected region and drag the connections to begin routing. The end closest to the point where the connections are selected becomes the source point; the other end becomes the destination point.

The **Bus Route** tool rubberbands uncommitted copper with the proper net width and design rule clearances from the source point to the position of the cursor.

The **Bus Route** tool routes the collection of traces simultaneously, rubberbanding each bus element individually as the cursor is moved.

You cannot change layers during bus routing.

While bus routing, pressing the **F** key switches between pairs of the orthogonal mode.

- 4. When you click a coordinate that is not the destination node, the previously uncommitted lines are placed on the board.
- 5. Press the **SLASH** key or **right-click** and choose **Suspend** from the shortcut menu. The bus routed traces up to the suspension point are placed on the board. The unrouted portion becomes a series of new connections from the suspension points to the end nodes

OR

continue until you reach the nodes that are on the other end of the rubberband. When the cursor is positioned over a set of pads or trace end points associated with the termination of the selected connection lines, a diamond appears for each bus line that connects to the pad or trace ends. If the route is suspended over the termination points, these routes complete automatically.

MultiTrace Routing

This button enables the **MultiTrace Route** tool. The **MultiTrace Route** tool is designed to automatically route several connections. In contrast to **Bus Route**, MultiTrace routes each connection individually allowing each trace to find its optimum path. MultiTrace has design rule intelligence to effortlessly avoid obstacles.

The **MultiTrace Route** tool increases your productivity by automating repetitive tasks, to give you the ability to complete a region of the design without intervention. It is optimal in regions of the board with parallel connections.

As with the **Interactive Route** tool, the **MultiTrace Route** tool honors routing design rules and net attributes in the appropriate net class hierarchy.

In the following examples, several connections have been automatically routed with MultiTrace. In the first case, the Maximum Hugging feature has been enabled.



The second example shows the same configuration of pads and connections. In this case, the Minimum Length feature has been enabled when the connections were routed with MultiTrace.



There are several options you can select to control trace placement, including Maximize Hugging, Minimize Length, and Orthogonal Mode. See the sections *Maximize Hugging/Minimize Length* (*page 122*) and *Interactive Routing* (*page 108*) for more information on these options.

Other trace control opportunities are discussed in Controlling Trace Placement (page 117).

Using MultiTrace

To use the MultiTrace route feature, follow these steps:

1. Choose **Route** » **MultiTrace** or click the **Route MultiTrace** button in the Route toolbar.

MultiTrace Routing

- 2. Use the mouse to select multiple pads and connections. You can make this selection in one of two ways:
 - **Select by window**: Click the workspace, press and hold the **left mouse button** down, and drag. When you release the mouse, all connections within the specified region are selected. The pads within the region and any connections to those pads are also selected.
 - Select by mouse click: By clicking a connection, you select that connection. By clicking a pad, you automatically select every connection to that pad. You can select more than one connection or pad by holding down the **CTRL** key while clicking.
- 3. Right-click and choose Complete from the shortcut menu. All traces are automatically routed.

If a route of a particular connection cannot be completed, the route is not made. The router continues until all connections have been processed.

There are several options you can select to control trace placement, including Maximum Hugging, Minimum Length, and Orthogonal Mode. See the sections *Maximize Hugging/Minimize Length* (*page* 122) and *Interactive Routing* (*page* 108) for more information on these options.

Other trace control opportunities are discussed in Controlling Trace Placement below.

4. When all connections have been routed, you remain in MultiTrace mode. Continue the process until you have completed MultiTrace routing.

You can press **ESC** while routing to cancel the process. Routes made up to that point are in the database and can be undone.

Controlling Trace Placement

In the MultiTrace router, each connection is individually routed; it is as if, in the InterRoute tool, you had selected the beginning of the connection, and then selected **Complete** from the pop-up menu. No rip-up or rerouting is performed. Traces are placed only on the current layer.

How do you control a trace whose placement is completed automatically? In MultiTrace, you have control of trace placement by defining design rules, setting routing options, and understanding the MultiTrace router rules. See the sections *Maximize Hugging/Minimize Length (page 122)* and *Interactive Routing (page 108)* for more information on design rules and routing options.

This section covers the basics of the MultiTrace router rules and how, by knowing these rules, you can influence trace placement.

Routing Priority

The final trace placement is altered by the order that connections are routed. Traces become obstacles for other traces placed later. Try to select pads and connections in an order, which does not interfere with later traces.

With MultiTrace routing, the connections closest to horizontal and vertical are routed first. Selecting the **Honor Layer Bias** check box in the Route Tab of the *Options Configure* dialog forces traces in the direction of the layer bias. Then the tool routes those connections closest to 45 degrees.

Of the traces that lie at the same angle, the shortest is routed first.

To maximize route completion, sometimes connections must be routed in a different order. To modify the routing order, you can select connections individually that you would like routed first. Then, select a window of connections to complete the remaining connections in the region.

Routing Direction

The final trace placement is affected by the direction that connections are routed, e.g. right to left or left to right. Specifically, the path of the trace around obstacles may vary with routing direction.



If a connection alone is selected or a connection and both terminating pads, the routing direction defaults to either bottom to top or left to right.

If only one pad of a connection is selected, routing begins from that pad and continues to the other end of the connection.

Route Fanout

Choose **Route** » **Fanout** or click the **Route Fanout** button in the Route toolbar to run the Fanout routing tool. The Fanout Route tool is used for the systematic placement of traces from a PCB component. These traces can then be used by Bus Route as a start or termination point. The component pads do not need to be net-connected when Fanout is applied but can be free objects, which are connected to the net at your discretion.

The Fanout Route tool routes from a group of connection end points to a set of on-grid fanout points. Although the Fanout Route tool can route from the end points of traces, it is particularly useful when exiting pads from a placed component. Several fanout modes are available to specify how the traces leave the component pads.

The fanout traces respect the stub length, and the design rules and attributes.

While using Fanout Route, **Online DRC** is automatically activated. This enables you to view possible design rule violations arising in certain surface mount configurations.

Using Fanout Route

To use the Fanout route feature, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Route** » **Fanout** or click the **Route Fanout** button in the Route toolbar.
- 2. Use the mouse to select multiple connections. You can make this selection in one of two ways:
 - **Select by window:** Click the workspace, hold the left mouse button down, and drag. When you release the mouse, all connections within the specified region are selected. The

window selection tool uses the current Options Block Select Mode (Inside Block, Outside Block, Touching Block) to select connections. For example, if the current block select mode is touching, all connections in contact with the specified window are automatically selected.

• Select by mouse click: By clicking a connection, you select that connection. You can select more than one connection by holding down the CTRL key while clicking. (The function of the CTRL and SHIFT keys may be interchanged; these keys are configurable in the Mouse tab of *Options Preferences*).

The connections selected for fanout must be aligned either horizontally or vertically on at least one end. If both ends of the connections are horizontally or vertically aligned, a pop-up box appears asking you to left-click near the connection endpoints from which you would like the fanout to begin. More than one connection must be selected for fanout

3. **Right-click** to open the following shortcut menu.

<u>F</u> anout <u>D</u> eselect All
<u>O</u> ptions <u>L</u> ayers

- 4. Fanout route uses the stub length to calculate its route. Choose **Options** to modify the current settings.
- 5. In the shortcut menu, choose **Fanout**. The *Select Fanout* dialog appears:

Select Fanout	×
Fanout Style	Preview:
OK Cancel	67) <u>1</u>

- 6. Click the desired fanout configuration. The *Select Fanout* dialog includes the following options:
 - **Fanout Style:** Click the button corresponding to the desired fanout style.

- **Space Traces at Minimum Clearance:** If enabled, this check box places the fanout endpoints at their minimum spacing while satisfying the design clearance rules, line width, and grid spacing. If not enabled, the fanout endpoints remain at the original pad spacing.
- When Fanout Style #4 is selected, the Space Traces at Minimum Clearance option is disabled.
- **Preview:** Displays the fanout selection and orientation.
- **Flip/Flop buttons:** Specify the right/left and down/up orientation of the fanout.
- When **Fanout Style #1** is selected, the fanout placement is centered with all trace placement oriented towards the center-most connection. In this case, the **Flop** button (on the right) is disabled.

If the orthogonal mode is 90 degrees, only **Fanout Styles #1** and **2** are available

7. Click **OK**. The Fanout Route tool automatically places the fanouts for the specified connections.

A Fanout Example

In the following example three connections have been selected between vertically aligned pads.

When Fanout is selected from the shortcut menu, a dialog appears asking from which end the fanouts should begin. Click **OK**. Click the connections near the pads on the left to begin the fanout. This confirmation dialog appears only when there is uncertainty about the fanout direction, as in this case when both ends are aligned and on the current layer.

If the connection endpoints are not aligned on the current layer, there is no uncertainty about the fanout direction. The *Select Fanout* dialog appears immediately.

The Select Fanout dialog appears:

Select Fanout	×
Fanout Style	Preview:
OK Cancel	ল্মি 🗐

The Fanout Style # 1 is chosen and the **Flip** button toggled until the fanout display in the Preview box exited the pads to the right. The **Space Traces at Minimum Clearance** box was checked to minimize the spacing between traces at the fanout endpoints.

When **OK** is clicked, a dialog appears asking from which end the fanouts should begin. Click a selected connection near the left end, where the fanouts in this example should begin. This confirmation dialog appears only when there is uncertainty about the fanout direction, as in this case when both ends are aligned and on the current layer.



Again, choose **Fanout** from the shortcut menu. To complete the fanouts from the remaining pads, the *Select Fanout* dialog is modified by clicking the **Flip** button. Otherwise, the same fanout configuration is used.

Click **OK**. Note that the traces are placed in the same fanout configuration, but in the opposite direction.



Maximize Hugging/Minimize Length

The Maximize Hugging/Minimize Length features lets you set trace placement to hug obstacles or to seek the straightest line between routes. These features are available with InterRoute, Fanout, Bus Route, and MultiTrace Route tools. You can toggle between these two settings by clicking their buttons on the toolbar or in the Route Tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.

When you click the **Maximize Hugging** button on the Route toolbar, trace placement is set to maximize the hugging of obstacles.



When you select the **Minimize Length** button from the Route toolbar, trace placement seeks the straightest (minimizing corners) possible vialess route. This feature optimizes the use of 45• traces.



Visible Routing Area

The Visible Routing Area feature analyzes the design rules and displays on the workspace the available routable area. Specifically, it shows the grid points in the area that are legal to route over. The Visible Routing Area feature is available with the InterRoute and Bus Route tools.

By viewing the routable area, you can plan ahead for board design and trace placement. You can see where a trace might go without attempting to place it.

As with the **InterRoute** tool, the routing area takes into account the following design rules, net attributes, and net class attributes: Width, ViaStyle, Clearance, PadToPadClearance, PadToLineClearance, LineToLineClearance, ViaToPadClearance, ViaToLineClearance, and ViaToViaClearance.

If the design rules or net attributes are modified while routing, the Visible Routing Area remains unchanged until a new connection is selected

The Visible Routing Area is displayed as a region centered around the current cursor position. It expands as the cursor moves outside the region. Under Windows NT the routable area is a transparent hatch and under Windows 95 the area is gray.



Shortcut Menu Commands

When you select a routing tool with InterRoute Gold and **right-click**, a shortcut menu appears providing shortcuts to frequently used menu commands. The commands in this menu change depending on the tool you select.

The following section summarizes the commands, which appear on the shortcut menus:

- **Cancel** undoes all routing actions and puts the original connection back. The tool remains active.
- **Complete** routes the remaining portion of the trace automatically.
- **Deselect All** cancels the selection of all selected items.
- **Fanout** opens the *Select Fanout* dialog.
- Layers opens the Options Layers dialog.
- **Options** opens the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.
- Suspend, equivalent to the SLASH key, leaves the unrouted portion as a connection.
- Unwind, equivalent to the BACKSPACE key, removes the last line or via that was committed.
- Via Styles opens the Options Via Style dialog.
Options Configure Route Tab

The Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog allows you to set options for the Manual and Interactive route tools. When the **Route Interactive** tool is active, you can access this dialog by right-clicking and choosing **Options** from the shortcut menu.

Options Configure				
<u>G</u> eneral <u>O</u> nline DRC <u>Bout</u> o	e <u>M</u> anufacturing			
✓ T-Route by Default Highlight While Routing Pads Only Pads, Iraces and Connections Manual Route	Miter Mode C Line Arg Orthogonal Modes 90/30 Line-Line 90/30 Arc-Line 90/30 Arc-Line 90/30 Arc-Line Tangent Arc			
OK. Cancel				

This sections describes Interactive Route options.

• **Honor Layer Bias:** When enabled, the layer bias is honored. If the bias is set to **Auto**, bias is determined based on the following rule: The Top layer is biased in the direction of the longest side of the bound rectangle of the items on the Board layer. All layers then alternate with opposing bias until the Bottom layer is reached.

You can set layer bias to horizontal or vertical for each signal layer with the **Options** » **Layers** command. See *Options Layers (page 450)* for additional information.

- Visible Routing Area: When enabled, the routable area is displayed on the workspace, taking into account the routing parameters such as clearance and trace width. Under Windows NT the area is shown as a transparent hatch; under Windows 95 the area is shaded.
- **Stub Length:** The suggested minimum Length or number of Grid Points to use for line segments that enter or exit pads. For nonuniform grids, one grid space is the sum of the grid values.
- **Trace Length:** When you select Maximize Hugging, trace placement is set to maximize the hugging of obstacles. The **Minimize Length** option generates the straightest (minimizing corners) possible vialess route. This option optimizes the use of 45 degree traces.

Online DRC:

An interactive, online DRC capability notifies you of clearance and net width rule violations, shorts created during manual, interactive, and miter routing, and net references to non-existent via styles by placing DRC error indicators, beeping, and displaying an optional report file. Online DRC does not check tie nets.

An edit operation or **DBX** command that changes lines, arcs, component and non-component pads/vias, polygons or text are checked for rule violations when online DRC is enabled. This includes the following commands

- Select move objects.
- Paste, paste from file and paste circuit.
- Modify objects.
- Move to layer.
- Place line.
- Place arc.
- Place text.
- Place polygon.
- DBX-in commands.

You can enable or disable this feature by selecting the Online DRC toolbar button, or by selecting the **Enable Online DRC** check box in the Online DRC page of the *Options Configure* dialog. A **View** » **Report** option allows you to specify if a report should be presented at the completion of routing for each connection. You can also select from a variety of report options, gain access to the Design Rules and set Severity Levels in the Online DRC page.

The *File Reports* dialog has a report called DRC Error Indicators. This generates a report of all DRC error indicator locations and descriptions in the active design. In addition, you can use the **Utils Find Error** command to find the errors.

CHAPTER 7

Auto Routing

The P-CAD PCB Editor interfaces to a number of autorouters, including:

- Quick Route a built-in grid based autorouter
- Shape-Based Router a powerful and fast shape-based autorouter that is ideally suited to dense and complex designs. The Shape-Based Router is included with the P-CAD 2002 Suite.
- SPECCTRA Autorouter from Cadence Design Systems, Inc.

All of the autorouters are run from the *Route Autorouters* dialog. Select the required autorouter in the Autorouters drop-down list and clicking the Start button to start that autorouter.

Introduction to the Shape-Based Router

The Shape-Based Router runs as a separate application in Windows. The Shape-Based Router requires very little setup or operator intervention, it analyses the board and selects a suitable routing strategy, based on the types of components, the line width and clearance, and the density of the board. The Shape-Based Router includes a number of routing passes, as it runs it adaptively selects the most appropriate routing pass, swapping back and forth between passes to achieve the best result.

For more information on using the Shape-Based Router refer to the on-line help, which can be accessed from the PCB Editor Help menu, or the Shape-Based Router Help menu.

Routing with Quick Route

This section describes how to use P-CAD Quick Route, the embedded autorouter. You select Quick Route from the Autorouter list in the *Route Autorouters* dialog. After selecting Quick Route the dialog will change to display the Quick Route control options. These options are described in detail in the Setting Up the Route Autorouter Dialog topic (*page* 132).

Quick Route routes the active PCB design in a different window. When you start Quick Route an input PCB file is created which contains the PCB with only the placed components, special keepout areas (that Quick Route will not allow traces to cross) and prerouted connections. The design also

includes the netlist information created using a schematic capture program such as P-CAD Schematic, or defined in the PCB Editor.

The netlist information in the PCB file tells Quick Route the connections it must make, while the component and board outline sections of the PCB file define the constraints that Quick Route must work within. When you are laying out your board, remember that the degree of autorouting success depends on the component placement.

Before routing, you can define keepouts and preroutes. Keepouts are areas that you do not want lines to cross. Choose **Options » Current Keepout** to set the style and layer for the keepout. Then place it to define an area for the router to stay away with.

Quick Route lets you preroute critical lines, such as high-speed ECL clock lines. In addition to performing a complete design rule check on all prerouted connections, Quick Route will not place lines that short the preroutes.

P-CAD Quick Route Steps

After you have finished placing components, keepouts and preroutes, P-CAD Quick Route is ready to go to work.

Your PC board appears in the workspace. As connections are completed, they appear on screen, allowing you to monitor P-CAD Quick Route's progress. The Status Line displays the following messages, giving the status of each step in the routing process:

- **Checking setup parameters:** Checks setup information for errors and output files that already exist.
- Reading PCB file: Reads the input PCB file.
- Assigning pads to nets: Assigns pads to nets.
- Assigning lines to nets: Checks preroutes to make sure they belong to the proper nets.
- **Optimizing prerouted lines**: Reviews and arranges preroutes.
- **Processing pads**: Performs a design rule check on all pads.
- **Processing polygons**: Performs a design rule check on prerouted polygon fills.
- **Processing lines**: Performs a design rule check on prerouted lines.
- **Processing keepouts**: Records all keepout areas as defined in PCB.
- **Processing polygons**: (1) Records all polygon fill areas as defined in PCB.
- **Optimizing lines**: Compresses the internal data.
- **Optimizing nets**: Processes all nets to find the optimum (shortest) connections.
- **Processing surface pads:** Places vias automatically beside surface pads to facilitate autorouting to them. Unnecessary vias are later removed by the Via Minimization pass, if enabled.

- **The Routing Passes:** Performs each enabled routing pass, listing on the Prompt Line the name of the pass, the percentage of connections completed and, in parentheses, the ratio of the number of completed connections to the total number of required connections.
- Writing no-route data: Writes information about uncompleted connections to the log file.
- Writing routed PCB file: Writes the routed board information to the output PCB file.
- **Route completed**: Indicates that routing is finished. P-CAD Quick Route displays the percentage of completed connections. In parentheses, the program displays the number of completed connections and the total connections (separated by a /).

The steps in the routing process fall into four categories:

- Loading files
- Design rule checking
- Routing passes
- Writing the log and PCB output files

The following sections describe design rule checking, each of the routing passes and the contents of the log file.

Design Rule Checking

P-CAD Quick Route checks that all prerouted connections on the PC board match the netlist (electrical check) and that they maintain the minimum clearance between items in different nets (clearance check). These two checks comprise the Design Rule Check (DRC). The clearance can range from 1 mil up to a maximum number of mils determined by the grid selected.

P-CAD Quick Route performs its DRC only on layers enabled for routing. You must place prerouted lines on the same layers you intend to use for autorouting, and then enable those layers, causing both the DRC to be performed and the preroutes to be processed.

The DRC handles both off-grid and on-grid items. Line segments that cross at any angle are considered connected. Any connections between pads and/or line segments must be proper. The centerlines of connecting line segments must cross; lines that overlap only slightly cause a warning message to be issued. Similarly, if a pad overlaps a line segment, but does not lie on the line centerline, a warning message is issued.

A check is also performed on uncommitted pins (all component pins that do not appear in the net information and therefore should be unconnected). If an uncommitted pin is connected to anything, an error message is issued. However, this does not apply to free pads or free vias (pads and vias that do not belong to a component). A free pad or via that is prerouted to a node in a net is considered a part of that net. P-CAD Quick Route can then use the free pad or via as an additional target for routing to that node.

P-CAD Quick Route will actually clean up a few situations it encounters in the input PCB. This is not to be interpreted that the program will correct electrical or clearance violations – these must be

corrected manually. However, there are a few situations that the program looks for and will change for the better:

- If two lines are collinear (linked end-to-end in a straight line) and their common endpoint is not on a pad, polygon fill or other line, the lines are combined into a single line.
- If a line ends within a pad but not at the pad centerpoint, a small line is added to make that connection.
- If a pad centerpoint lies exactly on a line centerline, the line is divided into two lines at the pad.

The DRC is useful on finished boards as well as partially routed boards. If P-CAD Quick Route does not achieve 100% completion, return the routed file to PCB to manually complete the remaining connections.

Routing Passes

After performing the DRC, P-CAD Quick Route sorts the net information. This involves analyzing each net and finding the optimum (shortest) connections for each node in a net.

The Horizontal, Vertical, L, C, Z and Maze routing passes use these optimum connections.

The Wide Lines, Any Node (2 vias) and Any Node (Maze) passes consider all of the possibilities. All prerouted connections are accounted for and P-CAD Quick Route attempts to complete the remaining net connections.

By default, all routing passes are enabled. For more information see Passes (page 136).

Completing the PC Board

After you complete the routing passes and generate the output files, you can find uncompleted connections. If P-CAD Quick Route's completion rate is approximately 90 percent or more, you have the following options:

- Modify the component placement on the board and try routing it again.
- Manually route the remaining connections.

The Iterative Approach

If your completion rate is significantly less than 90 percent, you have the following options:

- Manually route the remainder of the board.
- Move components for better placement.
- Enable or disable the Power and Ground planes in the Nets section of P-CAD PCB.
- Immediately return to P-CAD Quick Route and try different passes, more layers, or finer grids.

Advanced planning can help with later changes. For example, if you place your components on a 50 mil grid, you can autoroute on a 25, 16.7 or 12.5 mil grid. However, if you use a 20 mil routing grid on the same placement, the pads on 50 mil centers will be off-grid, lowering the possible completion rate.

When you view the rat's nest of unrouted connections in PCB, look for areas with obvious congestion. Often, you can relieve congestion by moving components. If you find bottlenecks, move the components on the board and then feed the board back into P-CAD Quick Route. Typically, this approach can be simpler that an attempt to route around the high-density areas in P-CAD PCB.

With Quick Route, you can typically cycle through the following procedure several times, before completing the board manually in P-CAD PCB:

- 1. In P-CAD Quick Route, route the board.
- 2. In PCB, move the components to minimize the density of unrouted connections.
- 3. In P-CAD Quick Route, route the board again.
- 4. If necessary, repeat steps 2 and 3.

Iterative Approach Guidelines

A frequently asked question is: When should you attempt this iterative approach vs. when is it time to manually complete the board? While there is no absolute answer, the following conditions typically favor the iterative approach:

- The components can be moved: If design constraints do not require fixed component locations, try moving the components in PCB and run the board through P-CAD Quick Route again. A 100 mil grid is best, especially for through-hole designs.
- *The PCB design contains few, if any, preroutes*: This simplifies the process of moving components on the PC board.
- The routing grid can be changed: If you have selected a grid for placement such as 50 mil, you can be able to switch routing grids from say 25 mil to 16.7 mil without adding a lot of off-grid components. The finer routing grid can produce better results but must be within the fabrication capabilities of your board manufacturer.
- *More signal layers can be added*: This is a fast way to increase completion percentage, if you can afford the expense of multilayer board fabrication.
- *Add Power and Ground layers*: The Power and Ground layers can be added.
- The routing process is relatively short, for the potential gain in completion: If routing takes an hour and only leaves a few connections unfinished, it might be faster to complete them in PCB. On the other hand, if routing takes a few minutes and leaves 20 or more connections unrouted, it is worth a few iterations to reduce the number of no-routes.
- *The completion improves with each iteration*: After a while, the iterative process yields diminishing rates of return. You can even find that an iteration actually increases the number of no-routes. If this happens, it is time to back up one step and complete the design in PCB.

Verifying the Finished Board

Once the board is finished, verify your work by requesting a DRC report, or by feeding the PCB file back into P-CAD Quick Route. Quick Route performs a design rule check on the entire board. Be sure to take the following steps:

- Choose P-CAD Quick Route with the finished PCB file as the active PCB design file.
- Set the DRC Clearances to match the capabilities of your PC board fabrication bureau. The program displays any clearance violations on the screen and saves the DRC results in the log file.
- Check the log file for any nets that are still not completely routed. These incomplete nets can result from removing lines in PCB while finishing the board.

Setting Up the Route Autorouter Dialog

Choose **Route** » **Autorouters** to open the *Route Autorouters* dialog. As shown in the following figure, Quick Route is selected by default in the Autorouter list.

Route Autorouters		
Autorouter: Quick R	oute 🔽 Start	Restart Close
Strategy		
<u>S</u> trategy File	C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\L	Intitled1.STR
Output PCB File	C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\F	RUntitled1.PCB
Output Log File	C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\F	RUntitled1.LOG
Load	S <u>a</u> ve	Set <u>B</u> ase
	Bouting Grid:	25
	riodding <u>o</u> nd.	
Ne <u>t</u> Attrs	Line <u>W</u> idth:	12.0mil
Passes		
	19 (I)	Error Messages
Via Style	(Default)	Output to Screen
		Output to Log File
		Output to Both

Use the options in the *Route Autorouters* dialog to select the autorouter that you want to use to route your designs. You also use these options to set autorouter options for the selected autorouter, as well as to start and restart the autorouting process.

The following sections describe the Quick Route options that are available in the *Route Autorouters* dialog.

Strategy File

You can save your routing options in a strategy file, which can be opened later for reuse. To open a strategy file, open the *Route Autorouters* dialog and click **Strategy File**. When the *Select Strategy File* dialog appears, select the name and location of a strategy file that you want to open.

A strategy file is a collection of settings that you set up in the *Route Autorouters* dialog. It includes all data needed by Quick Route to route the board. The strategy filename initially appears as the same name as the current design file, but with an .str file name extension. This is the default filename. You can, however, save route strategies to a file with any name.

All Quick Route router configuration settings are saved in the strategy file under the section [STRATEGY2]. The section [AUTOROUTER] contains keywords specific to all autorouters. One such keyword is Autorouter= which indicates the currently selected autorouter. The section [STRATEGY2] contains all the settings specific to Quick Route.

Output Log File

P-CAD Quick Route produces a comprehensive statistical autorouting report that is written to the file you specify using this button. Click **Output Log File** in the *Route Autorouters* dialog to open the *Select Output Log File* dialog, in which you can specify the name and location of your report file.

Valuable information about your PCB design, routing strategy and route preference data is included in this report file.

Click **Output PCB File** to save the routed design to a file. When you click this button, a dialog appears in which you can specify the name and location of your output design file. A name for the output file is provided by default. The letter **R** (for routed) precedes the current design filename. The last character is dropped if the new name exceeds eight characters. The file name extension is .pcb by default. You can override the default name by typing a new name over the default name.

Before routing starts, the input PCB is analyzed. General information as well as your routing strategy and router-selected options are written to the log file. After each pass, per-pass and total routing statistics are written to the file. When routing is completed, summary information is written to the file.

Load Button

Click **Load** to open a previously saved strategy file. Choose the strategy filename, then click **Load**. The design and routing data is updated with the values from the strategy file. You will see these changes in the *Route Autorouters* dialog.

Save Button

Anytime after you have selected a strategy filename, you can capture the current strategy by clicking **Save**. The strategy file is also saved automatically when you start the route. Binary files can be saved in a compressed format if you select the **Compress Binary Designs** check box in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.

Set Base Button

Click **Set Base** to return the strategy and output files to their default filenames. This is a simple way to go back and start over again when assigning filenames. The default names are derived from the design filename, including the full path.

Layers

As a shortcut for choosing **Options** » **Layers**, click **Layers** in the *Route Autorouters* dialog. The following *Options Layers* dialog appears:

Options Layers	
Options Layers Layers Current Layer: Top ▼ Top Assy NE 10 Top Silk NE 06 Top Paste NE 08 Top SEH 01 Bot Mask NE 05 Bot Paste NE 09 Bot Silk NE 07 Bot Assy NE 11 Board NE 03 DRILL NE 13 INFO NE 13	Sets Layer Name: Top Layer Number: 1 Line Color:
	Close

You can add, delete, enable, disable and modify the routing bias of a layer. Changes made for autorouting apply to PCB.

Quick Route supports up to four (4) plane layers. The nets connected to the planes are defined in PCB when the netlist is first loaded. These can also be defined manually when a plane layer is created.

PCB provides Top, Bottom, Board, and several non-signal layers automatically. Additional signal layers (e.g., MID1-MID8) and power and ground plane layers are automatically defined when a PC board is loaded.

When you create a layer, you must give it a unique name, specify a layer number (one that is not already defined), a routing bias (signal layers only) and a layer type. When you create a plane layer, you must also give it a net name.

Net Attrs

As a shortcut for choosing Edit Nets, you can click **Net Attrs** in the *Route Autorouters* dialog. The *Edit Nets* dialog appears as follows.

Edit Nets			
	Nets:	Nodes:	Pad Styles:
<u>R</u> ename	▼D0	P1-12 P:EX60Y	60D 38A [1] 🔺
Info	In D1	U6-4 P:EX60YI	50D38A [1] 50D38A [1]
		U8-4 P:EX60YI	50D 38A [1]
Edit Attributes	✓D4		
Edit Net Laver Attributes	✓D5		
) liou Attributes	▼D7		
View Attributes	☑ DA0		T
Sho <u>w</u> Conns		•	▶
Show Conns Only On Drag	URL I		
Hide Conns	Set <u>A</u> ll Nets	Set All No	des
	Clear All <u>N</u> ets	<u>C</u> lear All No	odes
<u>H</u> ighlight	Set Nets By Attribute	Jump to N	ode
<u>U</u> nhighlight	Set Net By Layer Attribute	Pad Properties	
<u>S</u> elect	Set Nets By Node Count	Remo <u>v</u> e No	odes
	Min: Max		
	Close		

Use the controls in this dialog to display or hide connections, edit or view net and net layer attributes, change net names, get net information or select net(s) by attributes, attributes on specific layers or node count. It also allows you to view and highlight nets within the design, view nodes attached to a particular net and jump to a node. In addition, you can select one or more nodes and modify their pad or via styles.

Setting net attributes is important for routing, because it lets you override the global values on a net-by- net basis (for example, the line width and via style). For more information on the options in this dialog, see *Edit Nets (page 345)*.

Quick Route supports the following net attributes. These attributes override the default settings for each net to which they are attached.

AUTOROUTEWIDE	= <true false=""></true>
VIASTYLE	= <via name="" style=""> (for wide nets)</via>
WIDTH	= <routing current="" in="" track="" units="" width=""></routing>
NOAUTOROUT	= <true false=""></true>
MAXVIA	= <number of="" vias=""> (for maze route only)</number>

Passes

Click **Passes** in the *Route Autorouters* dialog to enable different types of routing passes. When you click this button, the following *Pass Selection* dialog appears:

Pass Selection				
Pass Selection Pass Selection ✓ Wide Line Routing ✓ Horizontal ✓ Yertical ✓ 'L' Routes (1 via) ✓ 'Z' Routes (2 vias) ✓ 'D' Routes (2 vias) ✓ Any Node (2 vias) ✓ Maze Routes ✓ Any Node (maze) F Route Cleanup ✓ Vja Minimization	OK Cancel			

All passes except Route Cleanup and Via Minimization default to **ON**. A description of each pass follows:

Wide Line Routing

This pass routes all specified Wide Line nets before executing other passes. Specify wide line nets by adding the AUTOROUTEWIDE attribute to them. The Wide Lines Routing pass makes horizontal or vertical connections only and uses any enabled layer. If you require a wide line that is not horizontal or vertical, preroute the line in PCB using the desired width. Quick Route maintains this width.

All routing of wide lines is based on the same grid selected for routing single lines. To guarantee the correct clearance, it is necessary for the wide lines to occupy more than one grid point.

To route the wide line nets, do the following:

- 1. Run the board through Quick Route with only the **Wide Lines Routing** pass enabled. Clear the check boxes for all other passes.
- 2. If Quick Route cannot complete the Wide Line nets, finish routing these nets manually using PCB.
- 3. Run the board though Quick Route again; this time select all routing passes. Clear the **Route Cleanup** and **Via Minimization** check boxes, post-routing passes until all nets on the board are completely routed.

Horizontal

This pass completes simple connections on any layer selected with a horizontal bias, with no vias and minimal deviations from a straight, horizontal line.

Vertical

This pass completes simple connections on any layer selected with a vertical bias, with no vias and minimal deviations from a straight, horizontal line.

L Routes (1 via)

This pass is formed by the intersection of two lines and one via, forming an **L**. The lines have minimal deviations from their center lines and can be placed on any two enabled layers with opposite bias (horizontal and vertical). The **L** can have any orientation.

Lines are placed no more than 100 mils outside the rectangle defined by the two endpoints in the connection. Although the pass is enabled by default, it is automatically disabled if at least two layers are not set to route in opposite directions (i.e., horizontal and vertical).

Z Routes (2 vias)

This pass is formed with three lines and two vias, forming an orthogonal **Z**. The **Z** can have any orientation. Lines are placed no more than 100 mils outside the rectangle defined by the two endpoints in the connection. Although the pass is enabled by default, it is automatically disabled if at least two layers are not set to route in opposite directions (i.e., horizontal and vertical).

C Routes (2 vias)

This pass is formed with three lines and two vias, forming a **C**. The **C** can have any orientation. The **C** route is more flexible than the **L** or **Z** routes; it allows lines to be placed more than 100 mils outside the rectangle defined by the two endpoints in the connection. Any enabled layers can be used to complete the **C** route. Although the pass is enabled by default, it is automatically disabled if at least two layers are not set to route in opposite directions (i.e., horizontal and vertical).

Any Node (2 vias)

The previous passes attempted to route only the optimized connections (the set of connections for a net that would minimize the total line length). To attain the highest possible number of completed connections, the Any Node pass analyzes each net and attempts to make a connection between any nodes in the net.

Maze Routes

This pass attempts optimum connections only (rather than any node in a net). This pass is not restricted by line orientation. It allows the line orientation to differ from the standard orientation of lines on the board layer, to make turns, and to double back.

The Maze pass inserts vias, as required to complete a connection. Specify the maximum number of vias that are allowed for each connection using the MAXVIAS net attribute. The default is 10.

The lines generated by the Maze pass can block channels that you can need to hand-route remaining lines. If so, you might consider an iterative approach; run the board through Quick Route with maze routing disabled, hand-route the desired lines in PCB, and then re-route with Maze routing enabled.

Any Node (Maze)

This pass uses the same routing strategy as the Maze pass. The Maze pass attempts to route only the optimized connections. The Any Nodes (maze) pass attempts to obtain the highest possible number of completed connections by analyzing each net and attempted to make a connection between any nodes in the net.

Route Cleanup

This pass is included to improve a board's aesthetics and manufacturability. The autorouter intentionally hugs lines during routing for efficiency and higher completion rates. The Route Cleanup pass re-routes some of the lines to eliminate extra jogs where possible. This pass uses the concept of copper sharing to combine lines in the same net. The reduction in line segments has the added benefit of reducing the size of your design file.

Via Minimization and Route Cleanup passes should be run together as a separate operation from other routing passes.

Via Minimization

This pass attempts to reduce the number of free vias. During this pass, Quick Route checks all the lines connected to each free via. If the lines can be swapped to another enabled layer without violating the design rules, they are swapped and the via is removed.

This pass doesn't affect pads. If you want to ensure that all prerouted vias remain intact, disable this pass or use a through-hole pad instead of a via for connecting prerouted lines on opposite signal layers.

Via Style

A via style defines a stack of shapes for each layer or layer type that make up the via. This option indicates the via style to be used for vias added by the autorouter. You can add, delete, or edit via styles by using the series of available dialogs. This command also sets the current via style for Place Via in P- CAD PCB. You can gain access to this command by choosing **Options Via Style**.

Options Via Style	
Current Style: (Default)	
* (Default)	Сору
	⊻iew (Simple)
	View (Complex)
	Delete
	Purge Unused Styles
	<u>B</u> ename
	Modify <u>H</u> ole Range
Close	

With this command you define the global defaults for nets as they relate to a via style. For wide routes, you can override these defaults on a net-by-net basis by adding the VIASTYLE attribute by choosing Edit Nets.

You set the default routing via by setting the desired via to be current. The current via is marked with an asterisk (*). To make a via current, select the via style from the list and click **Close**.

Do not inadvertently mistake the default routing via for the default via style. The default via style, which is seen as (Default) in the *Options Via Style* dialog, is a single style provided as part of PCB. It cannot be changed or deleted. The default routing via is the via style that the autorouter uses to route all nets, except ones with the VIASTYLE attribute set to override this default. The default routing via can be the default via style, or it can be any other style you choose. See *Quick Route Limitations (page 145)* for information on via use.

You can create a new via style or modify an existing one directly from this dialog. In addition, you can view the default via style and delete an existing via style.

Routing Grid and Line Width

The Routing Grid list contains a list of grids allowed by Quick Route.

Routing <u>G</u> rid:	25mil	Ŧ
	25mil	
	20mil	
	16.7mil 16.6mil 16.7mil	
	12.5mil	
	10mil	

The Line Width scroll box lets you select a legal line width whose minimum value is 0.1 mil and maximum value is a function of the Routing Grid selection. The routing line width can't exceed half the grid value.

Line <u>W</u> idth:	12.0mil	÷
---------------------	---------	---

For example, if a 25 mil grid is selected, the Line Width option varies from 0.1 mil (.01mm) to 12 mil (.30mm) in 0.1 mil (0.01mm) increments. If you type too large a value, the scroll box automatically self- adjusts to its maximum value when you move to another field. Use the up and down arrows to scroll through valid values.

Error Messages

Use the Error Messages box to set where you would like error messages to appear. You can direct the messages to appear on the screen only, only in the Output Log File, or both (the default setting). If you choose **Output to Log File**, routing continues uninterrupted, because you do not have to respond to error messages.

Start Button

Click **Start** in the *Route Autorouters* dialog to start the routing process. Several changes occur to the screen:

- The menu bar changes to offer route-specific commands.
- The Route toolbar appears replacing the existing toolbar.
- The Status Line displays each step of the routing process.

The autorouter is then initialized, the board is prepared for routing, data is transferred to the router and the router analyzes your design. During this process, the Status Line keeps you informed of all activities. Routing begins, pass-by-pass, and the Status Line displays each completed line as it is routed.

Because you are in Windows, you can gain access to other Windows-based programs during the routing process. However, autorouting is a resource-intensive process, which can affect the performance of the router and other programs as the demand for resources increases.

P-CAD Quick Route routes the board using the current design and route strategy information. Your board must be saved prior to routing to ensure a known base.

If you choose the command after editing a strategy file that contains an existing output filename, the program prompts you to overwrite the output file or cancel. This way, you can avoid overwriting any files that you want to keep.

Commands Available during Routing

During the routing process, you can gain access to a number of commands in the following P-CAD PCB menus. These include:

View Commands

During the routing process, you can choose one of the following commands without interrupting the routing process:

View Redraw

Choose **View** » **Redraw** to clear everything in the workspace to the background color and then redraws the screen. To interrupt a redraw in progress, **right-click** or press **ESC**.

View Extent

Choose **View** » **Extent** to view the extent of all objects placed in the workspace. PCB computes and draws the workspace such that all placed objects on enabled layers are visible. Disabled layers are ignored.

View Last

Choose **View** » **Last** to redraw the previous view. This command is shaded and if you have not altered the view in any way. To make the command available, choose a **View** command and changes the view area.

If you choose **View** » **Last** multiple times, you switch between the last two views. Scrolling, centering, and redrawing do not affect the previous view.

View All

Choose **View** » **All** to redraw the entire workspace. View All is the view that appears by default, when you start P-CAD PCB. The workspace size is determined by the settings in the Workspace Size frame of the *Options Configure* dialog. To change the workspace size, choose **Options** » **Configure** when the router is not running. The scroll bars do not appear at this zoom level.

View Center

Choose **View** » **Center** to redraw the screen using the cursor as the relative center point. When you choose this command, the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass to signify that you are in zoom mode. If you click the workspace, the point your click becomes the center of the screen. To cancel the zoom after the magnifying glass cursor appears, **right-click** or press **ESC**.

View Zoom In

Choose **View** » **Zoom In** to zoom in by the current zoom factor set in the *Options Configure* dialog. When you choose this command, the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass to signify that you are in zoom mode. You click the workspace to zoom in on the workspace. The point you click becomes the center of the zoomed-in area. You must reinvoke the command for every zoom action. To cancel the zoom action, **right-click** or press **ESC** when the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass.

View Zoom Out

Choose **View** » **Zoom Out** to zoom out by the current zoom factor set in the *Options Configure* dialog. When you choose this command, you are prompted to click for the center point of the zoomed area. The cursor position becomes the center of the zoomed-out area. You must re-invoke the command for every zoom action. To cancel the zoom after the zoom cursor appears, **right-click** or press **ESC**.

View Zoom Window

Choose **View** » **Zoom Window** to zoom to an area of the workspace that is specified by a zoom window. When you choose this command, the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass to indicate that the zoom window tool is active. To learn how to use this tool, see *View Zoom Window* (*page 363*).

View Toolbar

Choose any **View** » **Toolbar** command to show or hide the toolbar of your choice. Toolbars contain buttons that act as shortcuts for frequently used menu commands.

Disabling the command increases the space within the applicable window. The setting of the toolbar visibility is saved to your PCB.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

View Status Line

Choose **View** » **Status Line** to either show or hide the Status Line. The Status Line provides route status information. A check mark next to the command indicates that the Status Line is visible. Disabling the command increases the space within the applicable window.

The state of the Status Line is saved to your Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

Route Commands

During the routing process, you can choose one of the following commands without interrupting the routing process:

Route Info

Choose **Route** » **Info** to open the *Information* dialog that shows up-to-the-minute statistics on your computer system, including available memory, disk size and disk space free.

The top line for each pass provides information for the pass: the pass name and number, the number of connections, fanouts or nets scheduled and completed, the percentage completed, routing time and vias added or removed. Note that the numbers of items scheduled and completed differ from pass to pass.

The second line for each pass contains overall routing statistics through completion of the pass. This includes the total connections routed, a total percentage of connections completed, overall routing time and the total number of vias. Routing is suspended when this information box appears.

Route Pause

Choose **Route Pause** to pause the routing process at the point where the command is invoked. While paused, you can change your view, obtain routing information or online help, or cancel the route. This command allows you to temporarily free computer resources to perform other CPUintensive tasks without terminating the routing process.

Route Resume

Choose **Route Resume** to resume a route that has been paused. Routing starts at the point at which it was paused.

Route View Log

Choose **Route** » **View Log** to view the log file deriving from your routing session with P-CAD Quick Route. P-CAD PRO Route generates a comprehensive report file at the end of the routing session, detailing the results of the session. The report is presented in Notepad. Viewing the log file does not interrupt routing.

Valuable information about your PCB design, routing strategy and route preference data is provided.

Before routing starts, the input PCB is analyzed. General information as well as your routing strategy and router-selected options are written to the log file. After each pass, per-pass and total routing statistics are written to the file. When routing is completed, summary information is written to the file.

The report file contains the following information:

- **General**: The report provides a list of the input PCB, output PCB and strategy filenames, your selected units, the available memory and the route start time. The report also lists the routing grid.
- **Layer Settings:** Provides a listing of the selected layers, indicating their directional bias (horizontal, vertical). Net names are provided for plane layers.
- **Net Classes:** Provides a listing of each net class and their defined width, via pad stack and the maximum number of vias. The autorouter routes all nets belonging to the same net class together in a pass.
- **Pass Settings:** Lists the scheduled passes and identifies the net classes to be routed during each. Some scheduled passes cannot be run, as explained in the next section.
- **Pass Performance:** For each routing pass completed, the report file lists a count and percentage of the lines scheduled and completed during the pass, and for the entire run so far. Also reported are vias that were added or deleted during the pass as well as for the entire routing session.
- **Final Board Statistics:** Final board statistics lists the total number of pads on the board, the number of equivalent 16-pin ICs (EICs), the dimensions and area of the design, the density (in square units per EIC; the lower this number is, the denser the board), the vias added during the routing process, the total number of routed lines (and percentage of routed lines to total lines), the total number of unrouted lines (and percentage of unrouted lines) and the total execution time for the routing session.

If you abort the routing process, the report file reflects the final board statistics only up to the point of termination. A warning message appears in the report file, indicating the type of termination request made (stop and save or stop and don't save).

Route Cancel

Choose **Route Cancel** to terminate a route before it is completed. When you choose this command, the following dialog appears:

Route Cancel			
- Cancel Options-	1		
C istop routing and save			
 Stop routing and do not save 			
OK Connel 1			
UN Cancel			

The Route Cancel dialog contains the following options:

- **Stop routing and save:** Stops routing and saves an output PCB file with the name provided in the *Route Autorouters* dialog.
- **Stop routing and do not save:** Stops routing and does not save an output PCB file. The input design file is restored to its original state.

Options Commands

During the routing process, you can choose one of the following commands without interrupting the routing process:

Options Display

Choose **Options** » **Display** to define color preferences, cursor style, and other display-related options. The *Options Display* dialog has two tabs: Colors and Miscellaneous.

With the Colors tab, you set layer, item, and display colors for your workspace. With the Miscellaneous tab, you set various other options. Your settings are saved in the Pcb.ini file and remain in effect until you change them.

For more information on the options in this dialog, see Options Display (page 442).

Help Commands

The commands in the Help menu give you the ability to gain access to the PCB Help file and the Help file for supported routers.

Toolbar



The following buttons appear from left to right:

Route Info

- Route View Log
- Route Cancel
- View Zoom Window

Quick Route Limitations

Quick Route has the following limitations. If you fail to use it within these limits, you receive an error message when starting the routing process.

- Only simple pad and via styles are allowed. Quick route does not support the No Connect pad/via style.
- Only a single via style is allowed across all non-wide net classes. The current routing via as specified in the *Route Autorouters* dialog must be geometrically identical to any VIASTYLE attribute that exists for a net that is not routed with the wide pass.
- For nets routed with the wide pass, each of the net attributes VIASTYLE, WIDTH, and AUTOROUTEWIDE must be specified. There can be a different via style or line width for each wide net.
- The routing via can be no larger in diameter than twice the current routing grid. In the case of non-uniform routing grids, the smallest of the individual grid values is the limit.
- The allowed routing grids are 10 mil, 12.5 mil, 16.7-16.6-16.7 mil, 20 mil, and 25 mil. Metric grids are not supported, even in mm mode.
- The routing line width cannot exceed one half of the grid value. In the case of non-uniform grids, the smallest of the individual grid values is the limit.
- Global ripup and the RIPUP attribute are not supported.
- The MAXVIAS attribute is supported for maze routing only.
- There is no via grid multiple. Vias are placed on the routing grid.
- Blind and buried vias are not supported.
- Quick Route supports pads rotated in 90 degree increments only. If pads are rotated other than 90 degrees, shorts can be created.

Routing Fine Points

There are several fine points to routing a board that will help you obtain a consistently high percentage of connections:

- Prerouted connections
- Keepouts
- Off-grid items
- Plane connections

- Surface pads
- Grid selection
- Pad selection

This chapter describes these fine points.

Prerouted Connections

P-CAD Quick Route allows you to preroute any critical connection, such as high-speed clock lines, using PCB. Quick Route checks all prerouted connections for electrical and clearance violations, and eliminates prerouted nets from its netlist so that they are not routed a second time. The preroute processing, however, is limited to layers enabled for routing.

If a free pad or via is prerouted to a node in a net, the free pad or via is added to that net. This is useful for connecting surface-mount components and edge connectors to the Power and Ground planes, as described in *Plane Connections (page 147)*.

If a prerouted connection consists of several line segments, always try to place the segments endto-end. Also, if an area needs to be filled with copper, use polygon fills instead of placing a number of criss-crossing line segments. These practices reduce the amount of memory required to process the preroutes and speed the processing of preroutes.

Keepouts

With PCB you can specify areas of the board where P-CAD Quick Route will not place lines. By placing a line segment or polygon fill on a Keepout, you are directing P-CAD Quick Route to avoid routing over these locations on all enabled layers of the PC board. A line segment, as opposed to a polygon fill, is really a "don't cross", so lines can both restrict routing from a section or confine routing within a border.

You can create a keepout on a particular layer by placing lines or a polygon fill on that specific layer. Quick Route will not place lines that cross a line or polygon fill.

For example, in a typical board design, edge connectors are often placed so that they partially extend beyond the board outline, and are trimmed later during the manufacturing process to create a clean edge. The board outline (placed on the Board layer in PCB) acts as a barrier for Quick Route. All lines will be routed inside of the board outline. However, since part of your edge connector extends beyond the board outline, it is possible that Quick Route might connect edge connector pads using lines outside of the board outline.

To avert this, create a keepout area over that portion of the edge connector, which extends beyond the board outline. The easiest way to do this is to place an all-layer polygon fill. Be sure the filled area extends at least 50 mils beyond the outside of the edge connector.

Off-Grid Items

If a pad is not centered on the selected grid, the program routes to the nearest grid point and then adds a small line segment between the grid point and the center of the pad. Off-grid pads and line segments tend to block subsequent routes more than do on-grid items, and they also lower the completion percentage. In PCB, try to place your components on the selected routing grid or some multiple thereof.

Plane Connections

Quick Route derives its Power and Ground plane information from the net connection section of the PCB file. You can specify the nets to be connected to the Power and Ground planes when loading a netlist in PCB.

If needed, you can specify a single plane net, such as for a board that has only a Ground plane (the power connections are routed).

If you specify plane nets using Nets Load in PCB, every pad on the input PCB that appears in these nets is processed as follows:

- If the pad is not already connected to a plane, it is connected to the correct plane either directly or with a thermal relief, as determined by dialog selection in the Nets Load section of PCB, and no error message is issued.
- If the pad is connected in the original input file to the wrong plane, either with a thermal relief or a direct connection, it is connected to the correct plane either directly or with a thermal relief and an error message is issued.
- If the pad is already connected to the correct plane, P-CAD Quick Route does not modify the connection.

After processing each pad in the plane nets, P-CAD Quick Route checks all the other pads on the PCB. If any of these pads are connected to a plane, the program removes the connection and displays a message to notify you of the removal.

A free pad or via that is prerouted to a node in a net becomes a new node in that net. Preroutes are taken into account during the processing of plane nets. A free pad or via that is prerouted to a node in one of the plane nets is processed like any other node in that net.

Split Planes

P-CAD Quick Route does not support the split plane feature. It routes a net that is assigned to a split plane, unless you assign the NONAUTOROUTE attribute to the net.

If the net contains SMD pads, you must add via fanouts to connect the pads to the split plane.

Connecting Surface Pads to a Plane

In PCB, you can place two types of pads:

- Through-hole pads (which belong to all PC board layers). The through-hole pads are used for component packages with leads that pass through all board layers.
- Surface pads (which belong to either the Top or Bottom layer). The surface pads are used for surface-mount components and edge connectors.

You can connect through-hole pads directly to the Power or Ground plane. Surface pads, however, require that you connect the pad to a plane by means of a free via or free pad.

Quick Route automatically places a via beside surface pads on the board, including SMDs and edge connectors, providing that:

• The surface pads are part of a net.

• The surface pads are not already connected to a through hole pad.

Vias connected to power or ground pins in the surface mount device are automatically connected to the appropriate power or ground plane. You can prevent connectivity by setting the plane layer Shape to **No Connect** or by selecting the **Prohibit Copper Pour Connections** check box in the *Modify Via Style (Complex)* dialog. If you have interrupted a via's connectivity, PCB displays a blue connection line to indicate that you should route the connection.

The Via Minimization post-routing pass removes a via if the program can swap the via's connecting lines to another layer without violating the design rules. The Via Minimization pass, however, does not affect vias connected to the Power and Ground planes. A via prerouted to a surface pad (for the purpose of connecting the surface pad to a plane) will not be removed.

Direct Connections and Thermal Reliefs

A component lead is connected to a plane by not clearing copper from the area on the plane where the hole will be drilled. This provides good conduction between the lead and the entire plane, both electrically and thermally. The first is desirable, the second is not necessarily so.

When the board is soldered, any leads connected to a large area of copper will not rise in temperature as quickly as other leads. This can either cause poor solder joints or require more heat, neither of which is desirable.

The solution is to connect the lead electrically, but not thermally, to the plane of copper, using a special symbol called a thermal relief. A thermal relief is a small island of copper around the lead, isolated from the plane by an annular gap. The plane is then connected to the island by two or four narrow bridges of copper (termed spokes). These spokes provide the electrical connection and the gap provides the thermal isolation.

When the planes are interior to the PCB, thermal reliefs are generally used. If you are designing a double-sided PCB and you want a bare copper Ground plane for the Bottom layer (as is often the case for RF designs), use direct connections to the Ground plane.

Surface Pads

While P-CAD Quick Route permits you to set the orientation of routes on any layer, a typical double-sided board will be routed with horizontal lines on the Top layer and vertical lines on the Bottom layer. This convention makes it difficult to route a set of surface pads that are arranged horizontally on the Top layer or vertically on the Bottom layer.

For example, consider an edge connector on the Top layer with surface pads arranged parallel to the bottom of the board. P-CAD Quick Route will have difficulty completing connections to the middle pads in the edge connector (all pads other than the first and last) since it cannot easily access these pads with horizontal lines.

To ensure high rates of completions in these cases, P-CAD Quick Route automatically places a via beside surface pads on the board, including SMDs and edge connectors, providing that:

- The surface pads are part of a net
- The surface pads are not already connected to a through hole pad

The via or pad then becomes a potential target for routes to the surface pad.

Selecting the Right Grid

Five different grids are available for use in P-CAD Quick Route. Selecting a finer grid permits one, two, three, even five lines to be autorouted between adjacent pads. This can result in higher completion rates on fewer board layers.

With this flexibility comes the added responsibility for carefully planning the pad sizes, line widths and component placement grid so that you can get the most out of P-CAD Quick Route.

The first step is to determine your board manufacturer's capabilities and to verify the yields available with various line densities. This will help you determine the best design rules to enforce both on your placement and prerouting, and on the autorouted lines in P-CAD Quick Route.

Planning in advance is absolutely required. If you place your components on a 50 mil grid, you can autoroute on a 25, 16.7 or 12.5-grid. Placing components on a 20 mil grid suggests the use of the 20 or 10 mil grids in P-CAD Quick Route. The least common denominator supporting all routing grids is a 100 mil grid for component placement. Changing grids in P-CAD Quick Route could result in many off-grid components and pads, thus lowering completion rates.

Selecting the Right Pads

In addition to selecting an optimum grid for placement of your components, pad sizes also effect the ability of the autorouter to place one or more lines between adjacent pads. The following table provides the maximum pad sizes for each routing grid, which give the desired effect.

Grid Size	Grid Size Recommended DIP Pad Diameter		SMT Pad Diameter	
25	62	40		
20	50	40		
16.7	40	40		
12.5	54	32	30	
10	66,46	24	26	

Design Verification

Introduction to Design Verification

This chapter discusses procedures used to verify your design. Included is a description of the attributes checked by DRC for each category of rules. There is also an explanation of the hierarchy used to obtain a value for an attribute's DRC check, from lowest to highest. In addition, the effect of a copper tie on DRC is detailed.

Setting Up DRC Rules

The rules for a board's clearances, widths, lengths and placements are set in the *Options Design Rules* dialog, which is opened by selecting **Design Rules** from the **Options** menu.

Design rules can be defined on each of six levels: Design, Layer, Rooms, Net Class, Net and Classto-Class. Each of these levels, found on individual tabs in the dialog, is briefly described in the following sections. More information on the *Options Design Rules* dialog can be found in *Options Design Rules* (page 459).

Design Tab

The **Design** tab of the *Options Design Rules* dialog displays the clearance values that are applied at the "design" level of the rules hierarchy, as shown in the following figure:

Options Design Rules						
	<u>D</u> esign	Layer	<u>R</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> lass	<u>N</u> et	Class <u>T</u> o Class
[Name		Value		1 I
	SilkscreenCl	earance	5.0mil			
	HoleToHole	Clearance	13.0mil			
l]
	_	Add	Delete Pro	perties Lat	unch	
				ose		

To add design rules, click the **Add** button to open the *Place Attribute* dialog. The **Properties** button opens the *Attribute Properties* dialog where the value of an attribute can be modified. For more information on the *Place Attribute* and *Attribute Properties* dialogs, see *Edit Properties* (page 292).

Layer Tab

As shown in the following figure, the **Layer** tab contains a list of enabled layers and the clearance values of the currently loaded design file.

Options Design Rules						
<u>D</u> esign	Layer	<u>R</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> la	155	Net	Class <u>T</u> o Class
Layers	Pad To P	Pad To Line	Line To Line	Pad To Via	Line To Via	Via To Via 🔺
Top	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil
Ground	10.0mil	10.0mil	8.0mil	10.0mil	10.0mil	10.0mil
I INT1	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil
INT2	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil	7.0mil 👻
Pad to Pad:	7.0mil F	ad to Via:	7.0mil	Set	All	<u>C</u> lear All
Pad to Line:	7.0mil L	ine to Via:	7.0mil	Edit <u>B</u>	ules	
Line to Line:	7.0mil V	ia to Via:	7.0mil			
				<u>U</u> po	late	Set <u>D</u> efaults
			Close			
			0030			

In the Layer tab, click **Set All** to select all layer names with items in the Layers list. Click **Clear All** to cancel the selection of all layers in the list. You can select or cancel the selection of a layer by clicking a layer in the list.

Clearance values for the selected layer appear in the Pad to Pad, Pad to Line, Line to Line, Pad to Via, Line to Via, and Via to Via boxes. If you have a variety of settings and you click on two layers that contain conflicting values, the box will be blank.

To modify a clearance value for the selected layers, type a value in one of the text boxes and click **Update**. Nets with clearance attributes defined will override the layer clearance values for DRC. The report produced by the DRC includes clearances specified for specific nets. Additionally, clearance violation tests report shorts except where two or more nets are tied with a copper tie and the TieNet values of the nets and copper tie are the same.

Click **Edit Rules** to open the *Attribute* dialog where you can add, delete and view an attribute's properties. To define a value for an attribute, click **Add**. The *Attribute* dialog appears. You can assign a value to any number of attributes in various categories. For information on the *Attribute* dialog, see *Place Attribute* (page 396).

Click Set Defaults to return all layer/item settings to 12 mil clearances.

Click **OK** when you have finished setting up the design rules (and return to the main *DRC* dialog). From the main dialog, click **OK** to begin the design rule checking process.

Rooms Tab

The **Rooms** tab displays the rooms in the design as shown in the following figure:

Options Design Rules					
 Design	Layer	Booms	Net <u>C</u> lass	<u>N</u> et	Class <u>T</u> o Class
<u>B</u> ooms: Filter	R, C	ules: Clearance=50mil	Placer	nent Side p ttom p <u>O</u> r Bottom	
		CI	ose		

The rules associated with a selected room are displayed in the Rules list box. The Placement Side frame shows the side of the layer where the room has been placed. Room rules can be modified by clicking the **Edit Rules** button or **double-clicking** the rule in the Rules list box.

Net Class Tab

The **Net Class** tab of the *Options Design Rules* dialog displays the defined Net Classes and their associated Rules, as shown in the following figure:

Options Design	Rules				
Design	Layer	Rooms	Net Class	Net	Class To Class
Net Classes:			– Net Class Bule		
NETCLASS1 NETCLASS2		N N	Clearance=.5	s	<u>E</u> dit
Select Net Class Net Class Layer R	iss by <u>Rules</u> ules	Has Rules N = NetCl L = Layer ⊻iew Rules	Net Class Layer	r Rules	Egit
Close					

The Net Class tab lists all net classes and the rules associated with each Net Class and Net Class Layer. In the Net Class tab you can access the Net Class and Net Class Layer Rules, select net classes by net class and layer rules, Edit the net classes and view rules.

For more information on the Net Class tab options, see Net Class Tab (page 462).

Net Tab

The Net tab of the Options Design Rules dialog provides access to the net and net layer rules.

When you click the **Net** tab, the dialog appears as follows:

Options Design Rules				
Design Layer	Rooms	Net Class	Net	Class To Class
Dotsgri Layer Nets: 00 D1 D2 D3 D4 D5 D6 D7 DA0 DA1 DA2 Select Net by Select Net by	L Has Rules	Net Rules		<u>Edt</u>
Net <u>R</u> ules	N = Net L = Layer ⊻iew Rules	<u>.</u>		Edit
	C	lose		

The options in the Net tab allow you to specify clearance rules for a specific net in the design. The dialog lists all nets and shows the net and net layer rules associated with the selected net. In addition, you can select nets by net rules or layer rules, view rules and edit the nets.

For more information on using the Net tab of the *Options Design Rules* dialog, see *Net Tab (page 464)*.

Class to Class Tab

When you click the **Class to Class** tab, the dialog appears as shown in the following figure:

Options Design Rules					
Design	Layer	Rooms	Net Class	Net	Class To Class
Class To Class Class To Class Select Class t Days to Cla Layer F Ed	o Class by oss Rules ules	Has Rules C = C I To CI L = Layer View Rules	- Class To Class	Rules Layer Rules	Edit
Close					

Use the options in the Class-to-Class tab to specify clearance rules for a specific class-to-class in the design. The dialog lists all defined class-to-classes and shows the rules and layer rules associated with them. In addition, you can select class-to-classes by class-to-class rules or layer rules, view rules and edit the class-to-classes.

For more information on using the Class-to-Class tab of the Options Design Rules dialog, see Class to Class Tab (page 466).

Working with Design Rule Check

In working with the rules you want to apply to your circuit board, you need to know not only which rules are included in the Design Rule Check, but also the valid hierarchical levels for those rules and the rule category to which they apply.

Design Rules by Hierarchy

The first table shows the rules included in the Design Rule Check to which values can be assigned in each test category. It also includes the order of precedence (hierarchy), from high to low, by which the Rule Check looks for the presence of the rule's value. For instance, if the Clearance rule has a value only at the Layer level, the Design Rule Check would have searched and found no assigned Clearance value in the Class-To-Class, Net, and Net Class rules and would then use the value set at the Layer level.

Test Category	Rules	Hierarchy
Netlist Compare	None	None
Clearance Violations	Clearance	Class-To-Class Layer
	LineToLineClearance	Class-To-Class
	PadToLineClearance	Net Layer
	PadToPadClearance	Net
	ViaToLineClearance	Net Class Layer
	ViaToPadClearance	Net Class
	ViaToViaClearance	Layer (except Clearance)
	BoardEdgeClearance	Layer
		Design
Width Violations	Width	Net Layer
		Net
		Net Class Layer
		Net Class
		Layer
		Design

Test Category	Rules	Hierarchy
Netlist Violations	MaxVias	Net
	ViaStyle	Net Class
		Layer
		Design
Unrouted Nets	None	None
Unconnected Pins	None	None
Net Length	MinNetLength	Net
-	MaxNetLength	Net Class
		Design
Silk Screen Violations	SilkscreenClearance	Design
Copper Pour Violations	Clearance	Class-to-Class Layer
	LineToLineClearance	Class-To-Class
	PadToLineClearance	Net Layer
	ViaToLineClearance	Net
	BoardEdgeClearance	Net Class Layer
		Net Class
		Layer
		Design
Plane Violations	Clearance	Class-to-Class Layer
	LineToLineClearance	Class-To-Class
	PadToLineClearance	Net Layer
	ViaToLineClearance	Net
		Net Class Layer
		Net Class
		Layer
		Design
Component Violations	PlacementSide	Component
		Room
		Design
	MaxComponentHeight	Room
		Layer
		Design
Drilling Violations	HoleToHoleClearance	Design

Test Category	Rules	Hierarchy
Test Point Violations	TestPointAccuracy	Design
	TestPointCenter	Design
	TestPointGrid	Design
	TestPointPermitted	Design
		Net Class
		Net
	TestPointRequired	Design
	TestPointSide	Design
		Net Class
		Net
	TestPointSpacing	Design
		Net Class
		Net

Design Rules by Hierarchy

The next table illustrates how the test categories apply to the hierarchical levels, and lists the applicable rules. This table begins with the most specific hierarchical level and graduates up to the most general level.

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
None	Netlist Compare	None.
	Unrouted Nets	
	Unconnected Pins	
Component	Component Violations	PlacementSide only.
Room	Component Violations	PlacementSide
		MaxComponentHeight

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
Class-to-Class Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Copper Pour Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToLineClearance
		PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Class-to-Class	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Copper Pour Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToLineClearance
		PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Net Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Width Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		Width
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
Net	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Netlist Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Net Length	PadToLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToPadClearance
	Plane Violations	ViaToLineClearance
	Test Point Violations	ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		MaxVias
		ViaStyle
		MinNetLength
		MaxNetLength
		TesPointRequired
		TestPointGrid
		TestPointSpacing
		TestPointPermitted
		TestPointAccuracy
		TestPointSide
		TestPointCenter
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Net Class Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Width Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		Width
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
-----------	------------------------	--
Net Class	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Netlist Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Net Length	PadToLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToPadClearance
	Plane Violations	ViaToLineClearance
	Test Point Violations	ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		MaxVias
		ViaStyle
		MinNetLength
		MaxNetLength
		TesPointRequired
		TestPointGrid
		TestPointSpacing
		TestPointPermitted
		TestPointAccuracy
		TestPointSide
		TestPointCenter
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.

Hierarchy	Test Category Rules	
Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Netlist Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Net Length	PadToLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToPadClearance
	Plane Violations	ViaToLineClearance
	Component Violations	ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		MaxVias
		ViaStyle
		MinNetLength
		MaxNetLength
		TesPointRequired
		TestPointGrid
		TestPointSpacing
		TestPointPermitted
		TestPointAccuracy
		TestPointSide
		TestPointCenter
		MaxComponentHeight
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout

Additional Design Rules

The third table, shown on the following page, lists additional checks performed by DRC, which are not user, specified. You do not have to add attributes or specify values for attributes in order for DRC to check these constraints. For instance, DRC checks components for inclusion in a Room. You cannot set a value for this check since there is no attribute associated with it, but it is part of the verification that DRC performs.

Test Category	DRC Checks
Clearance	Short
	Short to Copper Tie
	Uncommitted Pins Shorted

Test Category	DRC Checks	
Component	Component Side	
	Component Height	
	Room Inclusion	
	Empty Room	
Copper Pour	Copper Pour Clearance	
	Unconnected Copper Pour Island	
	Unpoured Copper Pour	
	Copper Pour No Net	
Drilling	Drilling Clearance	
	Hole Range Same Layer	
	Hole Range Conflict	
Net Length	Net Length	
Netlist	Point-to-Point Connectivity	
	Pseudo Pattern	
	Undefined Via Style	
	Tie Net Connectivity to Copper Tie	
	Net Connectivity to Uncommitted Pins	
Plane	Plane Clearance	
	Fragmented Plane	
	Plane Partial Connections	
	Plane Shorts	
	Plane Unconnected	
	Plane No Net	
	Plane Overlap	
Silk Screen Clearance	Silk Screen	
Test Point	Test point not on net copper.	
	Test point not positioned on grid.	
	Test point violates spacing rule.	
	Test point not permitted on object.	
	Test point not centered on SMT.	
	Test point not centered on thru hole.	
	Test point pad and via accuracy.	
	Test point required by net.	
	Test point on wrong side.	

Test Category	DRC Checks
Text	Text Clearance
Unconnected Pin	Unconnected Pin
Unrouted Net	Unrouted net
	Hole Range No connect
	Hole Range Violation

Copper Ties and DRC

When Design Rules Checking encounters a copper tie the standards listed below are applied and errors or warnings are issued where appropriate:

- DRC does not report a short when two or more nets are connected by a copper tie. However, if two nets are already in a shorted condition, an error is reported even if a copper tie is laid on top of the shorted area.
- An error is issued when a copper tie is placed without physically touching at least two nets.
- A net with a TieNet value, which is not connected to a copper tie with the same TieNet value, is an error.
- An error occurs when a copper tie has a clearance violation or shorts with another net that does not have the same TieNet value.

Configuring DRC

This section describes how to set up the report file destination and specify report options.

1. Choose Utils » DRC. The Utils Design Rule Check dialog appears as shown in the figure:

Utils Design Rule Check	
Eilename C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\RU	ntitled1.drc
Report Options Error Option Image: View Report Image: Annot Image: Summarize Ignored Errors Image: Clear Annot Image: Summarize Overridden Errors Image: Clear Annot	ns Design Rules ate Errors All Overriges Severity Levels
Design Rule Checks	Area To DRC
☐ Netlist Compare	Entire Workspace
Clearance Violations 🔽 Silk Screen Viol	ations C Reom
Text Violations Copper Pour Vio	lations C Region Define Region
Image: Netlist Violations Image: Plane ⊻iolations	- Bertin Conditates
Vidth Violations	ations Lower Left: Upper Right:
✓ Unrouted Nets ✓ Drilling Violation:	s 🔀 0.0mil 🔆 0.0mil
☑ Unconnected Pins	tions X: 0.0mil X: 0.0mil
OK	Cancel

The name of the destination report appears next to the **Filename** button. By default, the report has the same name as the design file with the .drc file name extension.

- 2. In the Report Options frame, select the following options:
 - View » Reports: Select this check box to view the DRC report file when design rule checking is complete.
 - **Summarize Ignored Errors:** Select this check box to include the number of ignored errors in the report. Ignored errors are not included in the output of the report unless this option is selected.
 - **Summarize Overridden Errors:** Select this check box if you have overridden the display of errors in the design, but want them to be summed in the report.
- 3. In the Error Options frame, select the following options:
 - Annotate Errors: Select this check box to create DRC error indicators, which will be displayed on your design. These indicators can then be selected for viewing of error information. The error information is determined by the other error/violation options that you enable in design rule checking.
 - Clear All Overrides: Select this check box to clear all overridden errors.
- 4. Click **Design Rules** to open the *Options Design Rules* dialog. Use this dialog to add, delete and modify rules. For more information, see *Options Design Rules (page 459)*.
- 5. In the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog, click **Severity Levels**, The *Rules Severity Level* dialog appears as shown in the following figure:

s Severity Level					
					_
Rule	Rule Category	Error	Warning	Ignored	-
Clearance	Clearance	Yes			
Short	Clearance	Yes			
Short to Copper Tie	Clearance	Yes			
Uncommitted Pins Shorted	Clearance	Yes			
Point-To-Point Connectivity	Netlist			Yes	
Pseudo Pattern	Netlist	Yes			
Undefined Via Style	Netlist	Yes			
Via Style	Netlist	Yes			
Max Vias	Netlist	Yes			
Unconnected Pin	Unconnected Pins			Yes	
Copper Pour Clearance	Copper Pour	Yes			
Unconnected Copper Pour Island	Copper Pour	Yes			
Unpoured Copper Pour	Copper Pour	Yes			-
·					
Severity Level	nored 🗖	<u>S</u> et to defa	ult		
	OK Cano	el			

Use this dialog to change the severity of the design rules. In the *Rules Severity Level* dialog, select a rule from the Rule list and choose one of the buttons in the Severity Level frame: **Error**,

Warning or Ignored. To restore the default settings, select the Set Default check box. Then, click OK to close the dialog.

If you choose **Ignored** in the Summarize Errors frame, the error is not listed in the report, but will be summarized in the report if you select the **Summarize Ignored Errors** check box in the Report Options frame on the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog.

- 6. In the Design Rule Checks frame, select the following options:
 - **Netlist Compare:** Select this check box to compare a Tango, P-CAD ASCII, or PCAD ALT format netlist file with the current nets in the design.
 - **Clearance Violations:** Select this check box to enable air-gap and board edge clearance checking and report shorts. If the Clearance Violations option is disabled, no clearance errors will be reported.

The clearance violation check considers items physically connected if they overlap or have a clearance of 0 mil. Arcs, polygons, pads, lines, copper pours and vias can be physically connected to one another, however, lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout. In addition, the bounding rectangle of text placed in the design is checked to assure that it does not short to other copper on the signal layers.

- **Text Violations:** Select this check box to report all clearance violations between text and other items on signal layers.
- **Netlist Violations:** Select this check box to enable electrical checking against the netlist within the design. The report includes a warning for those objects that are not point to point routed. If there are no nets in the design, this option is ignored.
- Width Violations: Select this check box to verify that the line and arc widths are within the designated widths.
- **Unrouted Nets:** Select this check box to enable reporting of any nets that are currently unrouted (unrouted connections still exist in the design). The warning includes the location of the objects.
- **Unconnected Pins:** Select this check box to enable the reporting of all pins that are not connected to other pins. This includes all of the single-node routes as well as pins that are not connected or assigned to a net.
- **Net Length:** Select this check box to enable the reporting of net lengths, which exceed the minimum, and/or maximum lengths set for lines and arcs within the net.
- **Silkscreen Violations:** Select this check box to enable checking on pad/via to silkscreen violations. Silkscreen on pads on top layer can interfere with soldering process; on vias it can cause paint dripping or collecting in unwanted areas.
- **Copper Pour Violations:** Select this check box to enable reporting of unflooded copper pour entities, copper pours that are not part of a net, copper pour island clearance violations, unconnected islands, fill areas and thermal connections that have clearance violations.

- **Plane Violations:** Select this check box to enable reporting of overlapping planes, invalid pad and via copper connections, connected pad and vias that are not electrically connected to the plane, isolated areas of copper in a plane.
- **Component Violations:** Select this check box to enable reporting of violations, which occur when the desired space between components is less than the specified value.
- **Drilling Violations:** Select this check box to enable connectivity checking of pads/vias through their attached layers, utilizing the layer ordering and hole range for determining where the pad/vias begin and end.
- In addition, Drilling Violations checks for layer separation, interference between holes, collocated holes, and vias existing solely on a signal layer.
- **Test Point Violations:** Select this check box to check for nets that do not have a required test point. This option also checks for test points that do not fall on the correct object, or on the specified test point grid or pad center. In addition, it checks for test points that fall inside of the minimum spacing or on a different side of the board than the net requires.
- 7. Click **OK** to start the design rule check. If you selected the **View Reports** check box, the DRC report file appears when design rule checking is complete.

Online DRC

Online DRC is available to interactively display rule violations as the board is being built. Online DRC checks for clearance and net width violations, shorts of traces (both lines and arcs) and vias, and net references to non- existent via styles that are added to a design during manual routing. Depending on the options chosen in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, online DRC performs a check of the traces and vias against all items, excluding copper pours, on signal layers to determine if a DRC violation occurred. A violation occurring on a non-signal layer (such as a via intersecting a silk layer item) is not detected with Online DRC.

Online DRC is activated by clicking the **Online DRC** button on the toolbar or selecting the **Enable Online DRC** check box in the Online DRC page of the *Options Configure* dialog. For complete information on the options available to Online DRC, see *Options Design Rules (page 459)*.

Using DRC Error Annotation

This section describes the steps for displaying and viewing DRC annotated errors. You will also learn how to override the display of error indicators individually and globally. The commands you will learn to use include the following:

- Utils Find Errors: This command opens the *Find Errors* dialog, which provides quick access to all annotated errors. For details, see *Finding DRC Errors* (page 168).
- **Options Display:** This command opens the *Options Display* dialog. If you select the **Display Overridden Errors** check box in the Miscellaneous tab, overridden error indicators will appear in the design. For details, see *Overriding Error Displays* (page 169).

- **Options** » **Selection Mask:** This command opens the *Options Selection Mask* dialog, in which you can set whether to include DRC annotated error indicators in block selection. For details, see
- Block Selecting Error Indicators (page 169).
- Edit Override/Unoverride: This command lets you set the shape used when individual error indicators are seen in the design. For details, see *Overriding DRC Errors (page 170)*.
- Edit » Properties: This command gives you access to error information for a selected error indicator by providing another path to the *Find DRC Errors* dialog. For details, see *Fixing DRC Errors* (page 170).
- **Edit Delete:** This command gives you the ability to delete DRC error indicators from your design as they are resolved. For details, see *Deleting DRC Errors (page 170)*.

The DRC error annotations that are generated with the **Utilities DRC** command are displayed as graphic indicators in your design. Newly added indicators are always visible.

Finding DRC Errors

The recommended method for using DRC error annotation to find design errors is as follows.

1. Choose Utils Find Errors to view the errors in the Find DRC Errors dialog.

Find Errors		
Design contains no DRC e	rror points	×
1		Þ
🔲 Show Only Selected	Error Number:	Find
E Show Only Overrides	🔲 Override - Don't Display Again	Jump To
All Categories 💌		Close

2. Show the error you want to correct and go directly to it in the design by clicking Jump To.

If you do not want to see a particular error while scrolling through the list of errors, enable the **Override - Don't display this error again** option. To scroll through only the overridden errors, enable the **Show Only Overrides** option.

To view another error you can use any of these methods:

- If you know the number of the error, you can enter it in the **Error Number** box and click **Find**. The error finder goes directly to that error and displays it in the Description area.
- You can scroll through the errors using the up and down arrows next to the **Error Number** box until you find the error you want to view.
- If you have block selected an area in the design, and want to view only the errors in that area, select the **Show Only Selected** check box.

Click **Jump To** and the error finder positions the cursor in the center of the error indicator in your design.

Overriding Error Displays

To globally control the display of DRC error indicators, choose **Options** » **Display**. When the *Options Display* dialog appears, click the **Miscellaneous** tab. Then, select the **Display Overridden Errors** check box in the Miscellaneous frame.

Options Display			×
<u>C</u> olors <u>M</u> iscellaneou	IS		
DRC Errors	Glue Dots	Pick and Place -	Cursor Style
• Hide • No Change	○ Hide ○ No Change	• <u>H</u> ide • <u>N</u> o Change	C Large Cross
- Miscellaneous			Free Pads
🔲 <u>D</u> raft Mode	💿 <u>P</u> in Des		
🔲 Thin St <u>r</u> oked	C <u>N</u> umber		
🔽 Display Pad H			
🔽 Display <u>P</u> in Designators 🛛 🔽 <u>U</u> se Fixed Color			
✓ Display Plane Indicator ✓ Scroll Bars			
🔽 Display Pad Net Names 🔽 Show Data Tips			
🔲 Display Overr	idden Errors		
Defaults			
		OK Ca	ncel

When the **Display Overridden Errors** check box is selected, any DRC error whose display has been overridden appears in the design as an inverted triangle.

If you do not want to see a particular error while scrolling through the list of errors, enable the **Override - Don't display this error again** option. To scroll through only the overridden errors, enable the **Show Only Overrides** option.

Block Selecting Error Indicators

To include DRC error indicators in a block selection, enable the **DRC Error** item in the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.

Overriding DRC Errors

To override the display of a DRC error indicator, select an error. Then, **right-click** the error and choose **Override** from the shortcut menu. When overriding an error indicator, you can hide it from view or change its shape.

The Utils » DRC command ignores an error condition if the error was previously overridden.

To show overridden errors, select the **Display Overridden Errors** check box in the Miscellaneous tab of the *Options Display* dialog. When selected, an overridden error indicator appears as an inverted triangle.

To remove an override from an error indicator, select the error. Then, **right-click** and choose **Unoverride** from the shortcut menu.

Fixing DRC Errors

The recommended method for using DRC error annotation to fix design errors is as follows:

- 1. Choose Utils Find Errors to open the Find DRC Errors dialog.
- 2. Display the error to correct. Then, click Jump To to go directly to the design.
- 3. Continue resolving the errors in the design in this same manner until all errors are fixed.

Deleting DRC Errors

You can delete the DRC error indicators from your design as they are resolved. To delete an error indicator, choose one of these methods.

- To delete an error, select the error and press the **DELETE** key or choose **Edit Delete**.
- To delete resolved error indicators only, choose **Utils** » **DRC**. This deletes all resolved error indicators, leaving only unresolved errors. Each time you choose **Utils** » **DRC**, all existing DRC error indicators are removed automatically.

You can also hide an error indicator by selecting an error and choosing **Edit Override**. To do this, clear the **Display Overridden Errors** check box in the Miscellaneous tab of the *Options Display* dialog.

CHAPTER 9

CAM

Introduction to CAM

This chapter explains how to perform CAM functions for both Gerber and N/C Drill file output. We have provided you with a special design, Tutor3.pcb, for you to use in this chapter. Load this design using the **File » Open** command.

Gerber Output

In this section, you will set up Gerber output files, assign and describe apertures both automatically and manually, set up the Gerber format, and then finally generate the output.

Choose File » Export » Gerber to open the File Gerber Out dialog shown in the following figure:

File Gerber Out				
Output Path: C:\Progra	m Files\P-CAD 2001\			
Output Files:				
	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files			
	Apertures			
	Drill Symbols			
	Gerber <u>F</u> ormat			
	<u>G</u> enerate Output Files			
	Compress Output Files:			
<u>S</u> et All	Self-Extracting (.EXE)			
<u>C</u> lear All	Compressed (.ZIP)			
	Close			

From this dialog you can gain access to a number of dialogs and features, as shown in the following illustration.



Use the *File Gerber Out* dialog to generate the Gerber output, and where you set or clear files for output, produce compressed output or executable files in addition to accessing other important dialogs.

The Generate Output Files, Set All, and Clear All buttons are shaded and not available until you define the output files.

Set Up Output Files

To set up output files, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose File » Export » Gerber to open the File Gerber Out dialog.
- 2. Click Setup Output Files. The following Setup Output Files dialog appears.

Setup Output Files		
	- Output File Selection	าร
Output File:	Layers:	File Extension:
	Top Assy Top Silk	⊻ Offset: 0.0mil
	Top Paste	Y Offset: 0.0mil
	Top Mask Top Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Assy Board	☐ Eads ☐ BefDes ☐ <u>Vi</u> as ☐ Type ☐ Pad/Via <u>H</u> oles ☐ Value ☐ <u>N</u> o Mt Hole Cu ☐ Mirror ☐ Titles
		Drill Symbols
		Cutput Drill Symbols
		Size: 80.0mil
	<u>S</u> et All	C Plated Holes
	Clear All	© Al Holes
Add	Applu Lauer Set	
<u>M</u> odify		
Delete	Output Path	\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\
	└ Vie <u>w</u> log file upon	completion Close

- 3. Your output files have the same base name as the design file, but each with a unique extension. Typical extensions used to differentiate files would be layer-specific, such as .top for Top layer, .bot for Bottom layer, .tsk for Top Silk, etc.
- 4. In the File Extension box, type: TEXT
- 5. In the Layers list, select **Top**.
- 6. Select the **Pads** and **Vias** check boxes. Then, click **Add** to add Tutor3.top to the Output File list.
- 7. In the File Extension text box, type: BOT
- 8. Select the **Bottom** layer in the Layers list.
- 9. Use the same options and output path as you did for TOP. Click Add to add Tutor3.bot to the Output File list.
- 10. In the File Extension text box, type: TSK
- 11. Select the **Top Silk** layer in the Layers list.
- 12. Select the **Ref Des**, **Type**, and **Value** check boxes, and clear all other check boxes.
- 13. Click Add to add Tutor3.tsk to the Output File list.
- 14. Specify the **Output Path** as C: \PCAD\TUTORIAL. If you enter an invalid path, you'll get an error message when you try to close the dialog.

Setup Output Files				
Output File: ACCSAMPL DDP ACCSAMPL BDT ACCSAMPL SLK ACCSAMPL MSK ACCSAMPL ALL	Output File Selections Layers: Mid 6 Mid 7 Mid 8 Botrom Board Top Mask Bot Mask Top Silk Bot Silk Top Silk Bot Paste Bot Paste Bot Assy Title	File Extension: × Offset: Y Offset: V dfset: V dfset: V dfset: Pads V ds Pads No Mt Hole Output D Grav.	TOP 0.0mil 0.0mil Co	
Add Modify Delete	Set All Clear All Apply Layer Set Output Path C:V	C Plated H C Non-plat C Al Holes	oles ed Holes L Close	

The pathname (Output Path) is a global option – all output files are placed in the same directory.

15. Click **Close** to exit the dialog and return to the *File Gerber Out* dialog. The Gerber files Tutor3.top, Tutor3.bot, Tutor3.tsk appear in the Output Files list.

Aperture Assignments

In the *File Gerber Out* dialog, click **Apertures**. The *Aperture Assignments* dialog appears. Use the options in this dialog to create and assign apertures automatically or manually.

Aperture Assignments		
Item [[Polygons] [Polygons] LINE 12.0mil PAD EL 60.0mil 60.0mil 38.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) PAD EL 75.0mil 75.0mil 38.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	Aperture	Item: Type: [Drawn Symbols]
Assign Unassign Unassign All Automatic Describe/Assign Draw aperture size: 10.0mil Pad/Via holes Draw aperture size: 10.0mil If Glear current apertures Image: Constraint of the pad/Vias Auto If Draw Rotated or Offset Pad/Vias Auto If Draw Polygon Pad/Vias Auto	<u> </u>	Aperture: D Code: Shape: X Dim: Y Dim: H Dia: Type: Angle: Offset: Close

Automatic Create and Assign

To automatically create and assign apertures, select the **Clear current apertures** check box. If you don't want to clear your current apertures and assignments, clear the **Clear current apertures** check box. Then, click **Auto**. The program creates and assigns any additional apertures that are required.

The list in this dialog displays the items of the loaded design file and any aperture assignments that may exist for those items, allowing you to view which items are assigned and what those assignments are.

- 1. Select the **Clear current apertures** check box.
- 2. Click **Auto** to automatically describe and assign all apertures for all items. The dialog displays the assignments, as shown in the following figure.

Aperture Assignments		
Item [Orawn Symbols] [Polygons] LINE 10.0ml LINE 12.0ml	Aperture D010 D010 D010 D010 D010 D011	ltem: Type: [Drawn Symbols]
LUNE 15.0mi LUNE 25.0mi LUNE 25.0mi LUNE 30.0mi LUNE 50.0mi LUNE 50.0mi LUNE 50.0mi PAD EL 100.0mil 60.0mil 32.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) PAD EL 100.0mil 60.0mil 60.0mil 0.0mil 0.0mil) PAD EL 100.0mil 60.0mil 60.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) PAD EL 100.0mil 60.0mil 60.0mil 0.0mil 0.0mil 0.0mil Assign	D012 D013 D014 D015 D016 D017 D017	Aperture: D Code: 10 Shape: Ellipse X Dim: 10.0mil Y Dim: 10.0mil
Automatic Describe/Assign Pad/Via holes Draw aperture size: 10.0mi Clear current apertures Draw Rotated or Offset Pad/Vias Draw Polygon Pad/Vias Auto		H Dia: 0.0mil Type: Draw Angle: 0.0deg Offset: (0.0mil.0.0mil) Close

Assigning Apertures Manually

To describe and assign an aperture manually (or to change an existing assignment), double-click an item line, or select an item line and click **Assign**. The *Describe/Assign Apertures* dialog appears.

You will unassign certain apertures that were assigned automatically in the previous lesson, and then manually assign them.

1. In the *Aperture Assignments* dialog, select **PAD EL 50 mil 50 mil 50.0 mil**, then click **Assign** to open the following dialog.

Describe/Assign Apertures	
Assign Aperture to: [Drawn Symbols] Apertures:	ltem: Turaci (Draws Sumbola)
D010 EL X10 Cmi Y10 Cmi H0 Cmi D Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) E D011 EL X12 Cmi Y10 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) E D012 EL X15 Cmi Y15 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D013 EL X20 Cmi Y20 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D014 EL X25 Cmi Y15 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D015 EL X30 Cmi Y30 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D014 EL X25 Cmi Y25 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D015 EL X30 Cmi Y30 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D015 EL X50 Cmi Y50 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D D017 EL X100 Cmi Y50 Cmi H0 Cmi U Odeg (0 Cmi U Omi) D	i yye. [Diawi yindoisj
D018 EL X115.0mil Y75.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D019 EL X60.0mil Y60.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil.0.0mil) F	Aperture:
D020 EL X62.0mil Y62.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) F	D Code: 10
DQ22 EL X75.0mil Y75.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil.0.0mil) F	Shape: Ellipse
	× Dim: 10.0mil Y Dim: 10.0mil
	H Dia: 0.0mil Angle: 0.0deg
Add Modify Delete	X-Off: 0.0mil Y-Off: 0.0mil
	Type: Draw
	Aperture Comment:
Close	Ellipse X10.0mil Y10.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0

2. Whatever item name you highlighted on the previous dialog appears in the Assign Aperture to field at the top of this dialog. The aperture names appear in the Apertures list.

Modifying an Assignment

The item characteristics are listed to the right of the list, and the aperture characteristics are listed there as well (if an aperture is assigned). You can change the characteristics by using the text boxes and the Shape and Type combo boxes. You can also enter a comment for future reference.

- 1. The aperture D015 is already selected because it had been automatically created and assigned in the previous dialog. To select a different aperture to assign, select the item in the Apertures list.
- 2. Modify any of the options that appear on the right side of the dialog. For example, change the Type to Flash/Draw.
- 3. When you have entered the characteristics, click Modify.

The changes you made are reflected in the selected aperture.

4. Click **Close** to return to the *Aperture Assignments* dialog, where the assignments you've made are now listed. From *Aperture Assignments* you can click **Close** to return to the main *File Gerber Out* dialog.

Setting Drill Symbols

From the *File Gerber Out* dialog, click **Drill Symbols** to open the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog. From this dialog, you can assign drill symbols manually or automatically.

Drill Symbol Assi	gnments		
Hole Diameter 18.0mil 34.0mil 38.0mil	Plated Yes Yes Yes	Drill Symbol	Drill Symbols:
<u>A</u> ssign Ar	<u>U</u> nassign Jomatic As:	U <u>n</u> assign All	Close

Automatic Assign

To automatically assign drill symbols, you can either let the program automatically make all assignments, or you can clear (unassign) all existing assignments and then automatically assign all of them. You can click **Unassign All** to clear everything or **Unassign** to clear the hole diameter that is highlighted.

The list of this dialog displays the hole diameters of the loaded design file and any drill symbol assignments that may exist for those hole diameters, allowing you to view which items are assigned and what those assignments are.

1. Click **Automatic Assign** to automatically assign a drill symbol to each hole diameter in the design.

Manual Assign

To manually assign drill symbols:

- 1. Select **18.0 mil** under Hole Diameter in the list.
- 2. Select **Diamond_X** from the Drill Symbols list.
- 3. Click Assign. Diamond X will appear next to 18.0 mil in the list.
- 4. Click **Close**.

The **File** » **Print** and **File** » **Export** » **Gerber** features share common drill symbol assignments; when symbols are assigned in one, they will apply to the other.

Gerber Format

In this section you'll be setting output units, the numeric format, and other format options for Gerber output.

From the File Gerber Out dialog, click the Gerber Format button to open the Gerber Format dialog.

Gerber Format		
Output Units	- Numeric Format-	
Inches	● <u>4</u> .4	
C <u>M</u> illimeters	C <u>5</u> .3	
☐ <u>G</u> 54 w/apertures ☐ Include <u>a</u> perture definitions (as RS-274-X mass parameters)		
C	Close	

You will be using the default Gerber output format, RS-274-D. To output this format, clear the **Include Aperture Definitions** check box.

Choose Inches in the Output Units frame. This option is selected by default.

1. Choose **4.4** in the Numeric Format frame. This option is selected by default.

The format 4.4 means that there are four digits to the left of the decimal point and four digits to the right. The format 5.3 means that there are five digits to the left of the decimal point and three digits to the right.

2. Leave the G54 w/ apertures option disabled. It determines whether or not to send a G54 tool select code with each command to change apertures.

3. Clear the **Include aperture definitions** check box.

This option determines whether or not definitions, assignments, and macros are to be included in the body of the file. These options use RS-274-X format.

4. Click **Close** to exit the dialog (returning to the *File Gerber Out* dialog) and the format you specified will be applied when the output is generated.

Compress Output Files

You may elect to produce files in a compressed format by enabling the Compressed (.zip) or Self-Extracting (.exe) option.

Both . zip and .exe files will compress the selected output files into one smaller file. The .zip option produces a smaller file than the .exe option but requires an unzip.exe program to decompress the file when you need to access it. The compression done in the self-extracting .exe option outputs a larger file than is output by the .zip option because its uncompress function is included in the compress program.

Generating Gerber Output

You have set up the output files, done aperture assignments, and set Gerber format. Now you can generate the output files.

- 1. Select the files you want to generate. If you want to generate all of the files you have set up, click **Set All**.
- 2. Click the **Generate Output Files** button in the *File Gerber Out* dialog.

Gerber Verification

In this section you will use the **File** » **Import** » **Gerber** command to verify the accuracy of a Gerber file. With this command, you can open a series of Gerber files. You can load a Gerber file into the editor to check its accuracy. Each file is loaded onto a separate layer.

You can load a Gerber file either into an empty workspace or superimpose it onto an existing design. If you are going to superimpose a Gerber file onto an existing design, be sure to save your design first. If you forget, see the Deleting Gerber Layers section. Loading a Gerber file can be useful for checking pad size, line width, etc. Superimposing a file onto a design is a good way to verify the Gerber file against the design.

You can load multiple Gerber files onto your design file, each inhabiting its own layer. Therefore, the layer names must be unique. So, the first file loaded would be on the layer Gerber, the next file loaded would receive the default name Gerber1, then Gerber2, etc

1. Choose **File** » **Clear** to clear all items from the current workspace. You can only load the Gerber file into an empty workspace if you had opened the design file in the same window (so that the aperture definitions are still in memory).

Aperture definitions are saved and loaded in the design file. Loading a new design file can completely change the current aperture settings. The **File » Clear** command does not clear current aperture definitions. Choose **File » Clear** to clear the workspace without clearing current definitions before loading a newly created Gerber file. As soon as the Gerber file is loaded, choose **File » Save As** to save the Gerber file using a different design file name. This allows you to keep any image of the Gerber and apertures for later use.

- 2. Choose File » Import » Gerber to open the File Gerber In dialog.
- 3. Click Gerber Filename to open the following File Gerber In dialog.

File Gerber I	n	? ×
Look jn:	🔁 P-CAD 2001	
Dbx Demo Lib Macro Shortcut	🗀 Tutorial 🛄 Utils 🔊 RUntitled1.BAK 📓 RUntitled1 🎓 RUntitled1	
File <u>n</u> ame: Files of <u>t</u> ype:	Gerber Files (filename.*)	 Cancel

4. Navigate to your Gerber file and select it (e.g., Tutor3.top). Then, click **Open** to return to the *File Gerber In* dialog.

File Gerber In	
Gerber Filename C:\Program Files\\RUr	titled1.PCB
Layer Name: Gerber	
Layer Number: 12 💌	OK
View log file upon completion	Cancel

- 5. In the *File Gerber In* dialog, type a layer name in the Layer Name box. Then select a layer number from the Layer Number list.
- 6. Select or clear the **View log File upon completion** check box. The layer name Gerber is provided as a default, but may be changed.
- 7. Click **OK** to load the Gerber file. A progress indicator appears, as shown in the following figure.



Important: The D Code apertures that are called out by the loaded Gerber file must be present and be defined as they were in the original Gerber file. If a D Code is no longer present, then the program flags the error. If the D Code is present but its definition has changed, no error is flagged, but you may get unexpected results. This could occur if you loaded an old Tango Series II Gerber file without recreating the aperture definitions properly. Our advice is not to redefine D Codes at all between the creation of the Gerber file and reloading it for design file/Gerber file comparison.

Deleting Gerber Layer Information

After a Gerber layer is loaded into PCB, you may inadvertently save it with the PCB design file. Generally, this information is used only for viewing, to verify that the Gerber files were generated correctly. If you inadvertently save those layers, the Gerber information and layers need to be deleted, leaving the rest of the file untouched.

Layers can only be deleted one at a time, so the following procedure needs to be performed for each Gerber layer that was saved with the file. Depending on the items that are on the board, this can be done in one of two ways. The first procedure should be used if the board does not contain free pads. The second procedure should be used if the board does contain free pads.

No Free Pads on the Board

With no free pads on the board, the Gerber layer can be deleted as follows.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Selection Mask**. The *Options Selection Mask* dialog appears.
- 2. Click **Clear All** in the Layers frame. Select the Gerber layer you want to delete. In the Items box, clear the component and via check boxes.
- 3. Block select the entire board by choosing the **Edit Select** command. Everything on the Gerber layer should selected.
- 4. Press the **DELETE** key.
- 5. Choose **Options** » **Layers**. The Gerber layer can now be deleted. Select the Gerber layer and then click **Delete**.

Free Pads on the Board

With free pads on the board, additional steps are needed to clear the Gerber layer. You must enable one Gerber layer at a time, otherwise the pads and vias are deleted from all layers, not just the Gerber layers.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Layers**. Disable all layers except the Gerber layer you want to delete. Your display should now show only the information found on the Gerber layer.
- 2. Choose Options » Selection Mask.
- 3. Clear all layers in the Layers box, then select the Gerber layer you want to delete. In the Items box, clear the component and via check boxes.
- 4. Block the entire board using the select command. Everything on the Gerber layer should be selected.
- 5. Press the **DELETE** key.
- 6. Choose **Options** » **Layers**. The Gerber layer can now be deleted. Click on the Gerber layer and then click **Delete**. Now enable all other layers by clicking **Enable All**.

Creating a Padmaster Gerber File

Occasionally, a padmaster Gerber file containing all through hole pads and vias is requested by the service bureau that is generating the artwork for a board. To create a padmaster Gerber file:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Layers** to create an unused signal layer.
- 2. Choose **File** » **Export** » **Gerber** in **Setup Output File** to create the padmaster Gerber file using the unused signal layer you just created and enabling only thru pads and vias.
- 3. Generate the Gerber file.

N/C Drill Output

This section takes you through the steps for generating N/C Drill files.

The features for N/C Drill are similar to that of Gerber output. If you have followed the Gerber output tutorial in the previous section, then you already understand much about how PCB handles N/C Drill output. Therefore this N/C Drill output tutorial is much less complex, taking you through the minimum number of steps to acquaint you with certain features and options that are different from the Gerber output.

In this section you will set up one output file, perform automatic tool assignment, set some N/C Drill format options, and then generate the output file. Choose the **File** » **Open** command to open Tutor3.pcb.

Choose File » Export » N/C Drill to open the File N/C Drill dialog shown in the following figure:

File N/C Drill		
Output Path: C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001		
Output Files:		
	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files	
	<u>I</u> ools	
	N/C Drill <u>F</u> ormat	
	<u>G</u> enerate Output Files	
	Compress Output Files:	
<u>S</u> et All	Self-Extracting (.EXE)	
<u>C</u> lear All	Compressed (.ZIP)	
	Close	

The *File N/C Drill* dialog gives you the ability to output individual or batch files in these formats: compressed, non- compressed or self-extracting executable. But before you generate output, you are going to establish N/C Drill settings in some of the multiple dialogs available from the *File N/C Drill* dialog, as shown in the following figure.



(manual describe/assign tools)

When you have established all of the options for output files, tool assignments, and other drill settings, the resulting output files will be listed in the Output Files list.

Setting Up Output Files

In this section, you will setup an output file. Click Setup Output Files to open the following dialog.

Setup Output Files	
Output File:	Output File Selections Layers: Top Bottom
Add <u>A</u> dd <u>M</u> odify <u>D</u> elete	Set All Clear All Apply Layer Set Output path C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001 View log file upon completion Close

The filename for the output file you set up here is determined by the file name extension you assign to the file (e.g., Filename.ncd). Most of the time only one file is used for N/C Drill, so that you have the design filename as the root name, and the extension as .ncd. If you had two files, you could use extensions such as .ncl and .nc2 (e.g., for designs with blind and buried vias). This is to differentiate it from the regular design file and Gerber files in the same directory (.pcb, .top, .bot, etc.)

- 1. Click **Set All** to select all the layers in the Layers list.
- 2. In the File extension box, type: NCD
- 3. Leave X offset and Y offset boxes blank.

If you are using blind and buried vias, you need two or more .ncd files. Select only the layers spanned by your blind or buried vias for each .ncd file

- 4. Click **Add** to add **NCD** to the list of Output Files.
- 5. In the Output path box, type the following: C:\PCAD\TUTORIAL
- 6. Click **Close** to return to the *File N/C Drill* dialog.
- 7. You now have set up an N/C Drill file for output: Tutor3.ncd. Next, you will assign tools.

Assigning Tools

In this section, you will make tool assignments. Click **Tools** in the *File N/C Drill* dialog to open the following *Tool Assignments* dialog.

Tool Assignme	nts			
Hole	Plated	Tool		
Hole 38.0mil	Yes		Hole Plated: Diameter: Tool Tool code: Diameter:	Yes 38.0mil
Automatic Des	Unassign cribe/Assign ent tools	Auto		Close

All the existing hole diameters in the Tutor3.pcb design file are listed in the Hole column.

Assigning Tools Automatically

This section describes how you would assign tools automatically.

- 1. Click **Auto**. All of the tool assignments will appear in the Tool column, each tool listed next to each hole.
- 2. Select Hole 18.0 mil and click Unassign.

Assigning Tools Manually

Now you will manually assign a tool (the same one you just unassigned in the previous section).

With the same hole/tool assignment highlighted, click **Assign** to open the following dialog, where you can manually describe and assign tools.

Describe/Assign Tools		
Assign Tool to Tools: T01 18.0mil T02 34.0mil T03 38.0mil	: Hole 18.0mil (Plated) Hole Plated: Yes Diameter: 18.0mil Tool Tool code: 1 Diameter: 18.0mil	
Add		
<u>M</u> odify		
<u>D</u> elete	Close	

The hole/tool you highlighted on the previous dialog is displayed at the top of this dialog in the Assign Tool to field. The hole and its diameter are displayed in the Hole and Diameter fields.

- 1. Select the **T01 18.0 mil** tool code in the Tools list.
- 2. Click **Close** to complete the assignment and return to the *Tool Assignments* dialog.

The *Tool Assignments* dialog should now display all of the tool assignments, performed both automatically and manually.

3. Now, click **Close** to exit the dialog and return to the *File N/C Drill* dialog.

Set Format Options

You will now set format options for File N/C Drill.

1. In the *File N/C Drill* dialog, click **N/C Drill Format** to open the following dialog.



- 2. In the Output Units frame, choose **Inches**. The units are now in inches and the format is automatically set to 2.4, which is two digits to the left of the decimal point and four digits to the right. If you select Millimeters, the format is automatically set to 4.2, which is four digits to the left of the decimal point and two digits to the right.
- 3. In the Output Code Type frame, choose **ASCII None**.
- 4. In the Zero Suppression frame, choose **None**.
- 5. Click Close to save format options settings and return to the File N/C Drill dialog.

Compress Output Files

In the *N/C Drill* dialog, you have the ability to produce files in a compressed format by selecting the **Compressed(.ZIP)** or **Self-Extracting (.EXE)** check box in the Compress Output Files frame.

Both (.zip) and (.exe) files will compress the selected output files into one smaller file. The (.zip) option produces a smaller file than the (.exe) option but requires an unzip.exe program to decompress the file when you need to access it. The compression done in the self-extracting (.exe) option outputs a larger file than is output by the (.zip) option because its uncompress function is included in the compress program.

Generate N/C Drill Output

Now you will generate your N/C Drill output files.

1. Choose File » Export » N/C Drill. The following File N/C Drill dialog appears.

File N/C Drill		
Output Path: D:\PROGRAM FILES\P-CAD 2001		
Output Files:		
RULES.TOP RULES.BOT	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files	
	<u>I</u> ools	
	N/C Drill <u>F</u> ormat	
	<u>G</u> enerate Output Files	
Set All	Compress Output Files: Self-Extracting (.EXE) Compressed (.ZIP)	

2. Click Set All to select all files in the Output Files list.

3. Click Generate Output Files.

The output file is written to Tutor3.ncd. You can open this file with any text editor, such as WordPad or Notepad.

Creating a Drill Symbol Legend

Many service bureaus wish to have a print out of the drill symbols for a board. We allow you to assign your own symbols for each hole on the board, however, a time may arise when you wish to attach a legend to the drill file itself explaining what the different symbols represent. This can be done in the following manner.

- 1. Choose File » Reports.
- 2. Generate a Statistics report. This report summarizes important design facts, such as physical dimensions and object quantities.
- 3. To create a drill symbol table, select an area for the legend.
- 4. Choose **Options** » **Layers** to create a non-signal layer called DRILL.
- 5. On the DRILL Layer, place the first pad listed on your Statistics report.

Begin with the smallest hole size and then gradually increase in size, placing one pad after another in a column. Be sure to place pads, which are representative of every unique drill hole size on your board.

- 6. Next to each pad, directly to the right, choose the **Place** » **Text** command to place a label indicating the drill size associated with that pad.
- 7. To complete the legend, choose **Place** » **Line** and draw a rectangle around the pads and text just placed.

Generating Drill Drawing

When all the pads are placed and labeled you are ready to generate the Drill Drawing using the **File** » **Print** or **File** » **Export** » **Gerber** command.

To generate the drill file, do the following:

- 1. Click **Setup Print Files** in the *File Print* dialog or click **Setup Output Files** in the *File Gerber Out* dialog.
- 2. In the Setup Print Files or Setup Output Files dialog, select all plane and signal layers. Then, select the new DRILL layer and close the dialog.
- 3. Generate the Gerber Output File or Printout.
- 4. If your design includes blind and buried vias, generate additional drill drawings having only those layers enabled that span the blind and buried vias in the design.

Create a different drill drawing for each set of vias spanning different layers.

When you generate your drill drawing, each pad with a unique hole size is represented by a unique drill symbol. The text indicating the hole size it represents appears to right of each symbol. Accordingly, each of the pads in your drill symbol table are replaced with its appropriate drill symbol, creating an annotated legend.

CHAPTER 10

Copper Pours

Introduction to Copper Pours

A copper pour is a polygonal shape that you can place on any layer of a PCB design. To place a copper pour in a design, you use the following two-step process:

- First, place the pour outline. For instructions, see Drawing a Pour Outline (page 387).
- Next, flood the pour outline with a copper fill. For instructions, see *Filling a Copper Pour (page 388)*.

In a PCB design, you can choose various fill patterns, including a hatched, lined, or solid pattern. Typically, the flooded area will backoff from almost any object on the same layer, unless the object and filled area are associated with the same net. Two pours not associated with any net are common; they do not backoff from each other. When one pour is associated with a net and the other pour is not, they are considered different. Therefore, the order in which you select the copper pours is very important.

When a copper pour is placed on a non-signal layer, it is a graphical object only. Typically, you will place copper pours on signal layers, as opposed to non-signal or plane layers. A pour on a non-signal layer, such as the Top Paste layer, adds the copper pour image to the layer's output, but the layer is not considered for DRC and connectivity.

Because a copper pour has a polygonal shape, you can create rounded-corners for the copper pour. To learn how to create rounded-corners for a polygonal shape, see *Polygon Properties (page 315)*, or *Place Polygon (page 383)*.

Properties

You can modify various properties associated with a copper pour using the *Copper Pours Properties* dialog. For information on these properties, see *Copper Pour Properties* (page 317) and *Edit Commands* (page 279).

Islands

Isolated islands of copper pour are areas of copper separated from the rest of a pour. They result when objects are avoided and when the backoff criteria is set too small. These islands can be minimized by increasing the line width (which inhibits the ability to penetrate small areas), increasing the backoff criteria, or avoiding these areas when defining the copper pour.

For large designs, where manual island detection is slow, break pours into smaller pours to speed up editing.

Otherwise, you can use the *Copper Pours Properties* dialog to automatically remove islands. You can also manually delete islands. To do this, hold down the **SHIFT** key, select the object and choose **Edit Delete**.

Repour

Moving a filled pour automatically causes a repour. However, if you need to manually repour a copper pour, you can use the repour options in the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog. To manually repour a copper pour, do the following:

- 1. Select the copper pour.
- 2. **Right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu. The *Copper Pour Properties* dialog appears.
- 3. In the State frame, choose **Repour**.
- 4. Click **OK**.

Pour/Repour Options

When you choose to pour or repour a group of copper pour outlines, you can control the order in which P-CAD PCB pours or repours the copper fill. This is useful when you have a number of unpoured copper pour outlines in a design, or when you want to repour a group of copper pours and control the order. This can be used to ensure that smaller copper pours that lie within larger copper pours are repoured correctly.

To set your pour/repour options, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Configure**. The *Options Configure* dialog appears.
- 2. Click the **General** tab, shown in the following figure.

Options Configure			
General	Online DRC	<u>R</u> oute	Manufacturing
Units	Workspace Size-	Pour/Repour Option	
⊙ mjis	<u>₩</u> idth: 20000.0n	mil Smallest to Largest	
0 <u>m</u> m	<u>H</u> eight: 10000.0n	nil O Selec	oted <u>O</u> rder
ECO Format	Connection Options		
● <u>E</u> CO	Optimize Partial Route Optimize After Delete		
C W <u>a</u> s/Is	Optimize Max Node Count: 20		
□ Enable AutoSave AutoSave Time Interval (minutes): 30 □ Purge Previous Backups			
Autopan (<u>%</u> Display): 25			
Rotation Increment: 45.0deg			
<u>Z</u> oom Factor:	2.00		
<u>F</u> ile Viewer:	ile Viewer: notepad		
🗖 DDE Hotlinks 🛛 🔽 Auto Plow Copper Pours 🗖 Compress Binary Designs			
OK Cancel			

- 3. In the Pour/Repour Option frame, choose one of the following buttons:
 - **Smallest to Largest:** Choose this button to have P-CAD PCB pour the copper fill according to pour size, from smallest to largest. For best results, choose this button when you want use the block selection method to select a group of copper pours.
 - Select Order: Choose this button to have P-CAD PCB pour the copper fill according to the order that you selected the copper pour. For best results, choose this button when you want to select a group of copper pours using the CTRL+click selection method.

If you do not choose a button in the Pour/Repour Option frame, the **Smallest to Largest** button is selected by default.

4. Click **OK** to close the *Options Configure* dialog.

Connectivity

Individual islands of a pour are connectivity aware. This means that connection routing with a pour will work by removing connections between nodes that are connected to the pour, optimization of the net will take copper pour islands into account.

Setting Backoff

To specify the distance that you want between the copper pour and any objects that may be inside the copper pour polygon, open the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog. In the Backoff frame, choose the **Fixed** button and type a value in the text box. This option also creates a backoff from any objects that are outside the copper pour polygon if they are too close to it. The copper pour backs off from any copper item that is not in the net associated with the pour. The backoff options takes the object's thickness into account.

To set backoff values for a specific net, choose **Options** » **Design Rules**. Backoff clearances are fixed at the greatest of the Line to Line or Line to Pad clearance amount in *Options Design Rules* dialog.

Thermals

When enabled, copper pour thermal spokes are used to connect copper pour pads and vias of the same net to copper pour islands.

The connectivity of pads and vias to the copper pour can be controlled using the *Modify Pad/Via Styles (Complex)* dialogs. The **Prohibit Copper Pour Connections** option in these dialogs, when enabled, prevents connections to the copper pours for selected nodes on specified signal layers.

For more information on using the *Modify Pad/Via Styles* (*Complex*) dialogs, see *Options Commands* (page 423).

Circles

When you create a full circle using a single arc, copper pours do not penetrate the arc. However, if you want to create a circular area and flood it with a backoff inside and out, use multiple arcs to create the circle.

Routing

Autorouting

None of the autorouters supplied with P-CAD PCB recognize copper pours. It unpours them and routes the connections. This can cause changes to the design once the pours are repoured, such as the addition of new islands, which can render the pour ineffective. Thus, it is recommended that pours should be placed last in a design.

Manual and Interactive Routing

You can manually route connections to copper pour islands using the **Route Manual** or **Route Interactive** tool. Routed lines and vias that belong to another net cause the pour to auto plow around the new copper.

Auto Plowing

Copper Pours affected by new copper generated by the **Route Manual** or **Route Interactive** tool will auto plow when the route Completes or Suspends.

Any new copper (e.g., lines, pads, vias) placed or routed so as to overlap islands of a filled copper pour cause those islands to regenerate so that the backoff rules are not violated.

In the *Options Configure* dialog, you can enable or disable the **Auto Plow Copper Pours** option. Plowing can create more islands if you splinter existing islands, yet Automatic Islands Removal is still performed using the settings you established for that copper pour.

Overlapping Pours

Overlapping pours of different net associations present unique problems. The order of pouring determines which pour occupies the area. The order of selection in a single pour request, determines the relative dominance.

For the following examples, assume that the copper pours have been placed, but not associated to a net or poured.

- **Pour A and B overlap:** This example applies to multiple pours with overlapping areas. You have two copper pours, which are overlapping each other. Select the first pour, associate it to a net, and pour it. Now select the second placed pour, associate it to a different net, and pour it. The second pour backs off from the islands of the first pour.
- **Pour A is inside Pour B:** You have two copper pours, one inside the other. Always work from the inside out. Select and pour the inside pour first and then select and pour the outside pour.
- **Pour A is inside Pour B inside Pour C:** You have three copper pours, one inside the other. Always work from the inside out. Select and pour the inside pour first, pour the second, and finally, pour the third.

For information on controlling the repour order, see Pour/Repour Options (page 190).

Interapplication Functions

Introduction to Interapplication Functions

Several sophisticated features are available in PCB, which allow you to more fully integrate various aspects of the design process. These features include:

- Hotlinks
- ECOs
- Interapplication launches
- Custom application access

DDE Hotlinks

With the DDE hotlinks feature, you can cross probe between an P-CAD Schematic and PCB design, to examine the relationships between the designs. To turn this feature on refer to *Enabling DDE Hotlinks* (page 196).

This feature enables the exchange of hotlink data, which consists of highlighting and unhighlighting commands for parts, components, and nets. For example, when you apply the current highlight color to a net in P-CAD PCB, the current highlight color is also applied to the corresponding net in P-CAD Schematic.

You can also change the highlight color of an object in P-CAD PCB, and the corresponding object in P-CAD Schematic is automatically updated with the highlight color. To set the current highlight color, see *Setting the Current Highlight Color (page 196)*.

When the DDE Hotlinks feature is turned on in both programs, you can cross probe between the following programs at one time:

- P-CAD PCB/Relay and P-CAD Schematic
- P-CAD PCB/Relay and P-CAD Schematic Viewer

- P-CAD PCB Viewer and P-CAD Schematic Viewer
- P-CAD Schematic and P-CAD PCB Viewer.

Once the feature is turned on, you can use several commands to invoke this feature. For details, see *Unhighlighting Parts and Components (page 197)* and *Highlighting Nets (page 196)*.

Enabling DDE Hotlinks

To turn the DDE hotlinks feature on, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Configure**. The Options Configure dialog box appears.
- 2. Select the **DDE hotlinks** check box.
- 3. Click **OK** to close the *Options Configure* dialog box.

This feature hotlinks data between two P-CAD programs. To operate properly, you must turn on the DDE hotlinks feature in both programs.

Setting the Current Highlight Color

To set the current highlight color for P-CAD PCB, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Display**. The Options Display dialog appears.
- 2. Click the **Colors** tab.
- 3. In the Display Colors frame, click the **Highlight** button. A color palette appears.
- 4. Select a color from the palette and click the **Close** button.
- 5. Click **OK** to close the *Options Display* dialog.

To change the current highlight color, repeat this procedure. However, notice that the color change does not affect existing highlighted objects, unless a highlighted object is selected.

Highlighting Parts and Components

To apply the current highlight color to an object in your PCB design, choose one of these methods:

- Select an object. Then, choose **Edit Highlight** or right-click and choose **Highlight** from the shortcut menu.
- Choose **Edit** » **Components**. When the *Edit Components* dialog appears, select a component from the list and click **Highlight**.

When you apply the current highlight color to an object, it remains highlighted until you unhighlight that object. For instructions, see *Unhighlighting Parts and Components (page 197)*.

Highlighting Nets

To apply the current highlight color to components and nets attached to a particular part in your PCB design, choose one of these methods:
- Choose **Edit** » **Components**. When the *Edit Components* dialog appears, select one or more components from the list and click **Highlight Attached Nets**. The highlight color is applied to all items in the net, including lines, polygons, arcs, copper pours, pads and vias.
- Choose **Edit Nets**. When the *Edit Nets* dialog appears, select one or more nets from the Nets list and click **Highlight**.

To remove the highlight color from a net, see Unhighlighting Nets (page 197).

Unhighlighting Parts and Components

To remove the highlight color from a part or component, choose one of the following methods:

- Choose Edit Unhighlight All to remove the highlight color from all objects.
- Select an object. Then, choose Edit Unhighlight or right-click and choose Unhighlight.
- Choose Edit » Components. When the *Edit Components* dialog appears, select one or more component from the list and click Unhighlight.

Unhighlighting Nets

To remove the highlight color from a net choose one of the following methods:

- To remove the highlight color from the components and nets attached to a part, choose **Edit** » **Components**. When the *Edit Components* dialog appears, select one or more components from the list and click **Unhiglight Attached Nets**.
- To remove the highlight color from a net, choose **Edit Nets**. When the *Edit Nets* dialog appears, select one or more nets from the Nets list and click **Unhiglight**.

ECOs

With P-CAD PCB, you have the ability to record Engineering Change Orders (ECOs) that can be used with P-CAD Schematic. You can also import ECOs generated by P-CAD Schematic into P-CAD PCB. In addition, pending ECOs can be viewed while still in memory.

Types of ECOs

The following types of ECOs can be recorded:

- RefDes change (Was-Is).
- Net name changes.
- Additions, deletions, and modifications of components.
- Component swaps (Replace).
- Additions and deletions of nets, net classes and class to classes.
- Net class name changes.

- Net additions to and deletions from net classes.
- Additions and deletions of net nodes.
- Additions, deletions, and modifications of attributes (i.e., in nets, net classes, class to classes, etc.)

The format of the ECO file is determined by the setting in the *Options Configure* dialog. Full Report ECO files have an .eco file name extension, and Was/Is ECO files have a .was file name extension.

Utils Record ECOs

Choose **Utils** » **Record ECOs** to record ECOs. When you choose this command, the following dialog appears:

Utils Record ECOs	
C On C On C Off	OK Cancel

You can choose the buttons in the ECO Recorder frame to start or stop the ECO recorder. You can also start the ECO recorder by clicking the toolbar button. In either case, when the ECO recorder is started, the toolbar button is indented.

If there are pending ECOs, you are prompted when a design is saved on whether to append the pending ECOs to the current ECO file.

Utils Import ECOs

Choose **Utils Import ECOs** to import an ECO file and apply the ECO changes to the current design file. The ECO file is created in P-CAD Schematic to capture schematic changes that impact your design. When you choose this command the following dialog appears:

Utils Import ECOs		
ECO Filename	(no ECO file selected)	
<u>P</u> review ECOs	ОК	Cancel
Create Pseudo Pat	terns	

Selecting an ECO Filename

1. In the Utils Import ECOs dialog, click ECO Filename to open the following dialog:

ECO Filenam	e		? ×
Look in: 🧲	P-CAD 2000	• 🖬 📩 🖛	
Dbx Demo Lib Macro Shortcut	🦳 Tutorial 🦳 Utils		
File name:		Open	
Files of type:	ECO Files (*.ECO)	▼ Cance	

- 2. Type, or select from the list, the name of the file you want to open in the Filename box.
 - .eco files are assumed to be full ECO format
 - .was files are assumed to be Was/Is format.
- 3. Click **Open** to return to the *Utils Import ECOs* dialog.
- 4. To load components with placeholder pattern, select the **Create Pseudo Patterns** check box. For more information see *Pseudo Patterns (page 199)*.
- 5. Click **OK** to import the ECOs.

Previewing ECOs

After you select an ECO filename in the *Utils Import ECOs* dialog, click **PreView ECOs** to view existing ECOs before you import them. ECOs appear in the Notepad.

🖉 eco_prev.tmp - Notepad	
<u>File E</u> dit F <u>o</u> rmat <u>H</u> elp	
; P-CAD 2001 PCB Version 16.00.52 NetNodeDelete "+5VB" "Q1-1D" NetNodeDelete "PWRDN" "Q1-2G" NetNodeDelete "+5V" "Q1-3S" CompDelete "Q1"	[D:\Program 📕
•	

Pseudo Patterns

You can select the **Create Pseudo Patterns** check box in the *Utils Import ECOs* dialog to load P-CAD Schematic components that don't have attached patterns.

If a component does not have a pattern and matches a component in the open libraries, P-CAD PCB automatically creates a placeholder pattern.

For each pseudo pattern created, a message appears to let you know which components are affected.

Utils Export ECOs

With the **Utils Export ECOs** command you can save ECOs to the ECO file at any time, without saving the design file. If there are pending ECOs, the following dialog appears when you choose **Utils Export ECOs**:

Utils Export ECOs	
Yiew Pending ECOs	
Save ECOs Now	Cancel
Save ECOs Now	Cancel

View Pending ECOs

When you click the **View Pending ECOs** button in the *Utils Export ECOs* dialog, you can view pending (outgoing) ECOs, which are still stored in memory. The pending ECO data are written to a temporary ASCII file and displayed in the Notepad. The format displayed is either full ECO or Was/Is, depending on the setting in the *Options Configure* dialog.

Save ECOs Now

1. To save pending ECOs, click the **Save ECOs Now** button. A warning message appears:

Warning	5245 🛛 🔀
	Normally, you should let the File Save command save pending ECOs for you automatically. Saving your ECOs now can result in a mismatch between your design file and your ECOs. Do you wish to save ECOs anyway?

It is important to remember that if you save ECOs without saving the design, your file and the ECOs may be out of sync. That is, the ECOs might not reflect the current state of the design.

2. To continue, click **Yes**. The warning message closes and the *Save ECOs* dialog appears:

Save ECOs
ECO Filename D:\Program Files\\Modfax0.ECO
Comment:
Net changes introduced by removal of C12
Append ECOs to File Discard ECOs

3. The ECO filename appears at the top of the dialog. It is the last used ECO file. To change it, click the **ECO Filename** button and the following dialog appears.

ECO Filenan	ne			? ×
Save jn:	🔁 Demo	-	1	8-8- 8-8- 8-8-
Digdemo.	eco			
	Γ			
File <u>n</u> ame:				<u>S</u> ave
Save as type	ECO Files (*.ECO)		<u> </u>	Cancel

- 4. Type, or select from the list, the name of the file you want to open in the Filename box. Click **OK** to return to the *Save ECOs* dialog.
- 5. Full ECO files must have an .eco extension, and Was/Is files must have a .was extension.
- 6. In the Comments box, type any comments that can help document the ECOs.
- 7. To append ECOs to the ECO file, click **Append ECOs to File**.
- 8. To discard ECOs, click **Discard ECOs**. Once ECOs are discarded, they cannot be recovered.

Starting Other P-CAD Applications

With P-CAD PCB, you have the ability to gain direct access to other P-CAD design tools, including:

- P-CAD Schematic Editor
- P-CAD Library Executive

- P-CAD Symbol Editor
- P-CAD Pattern Editor
- P-CAD InterPlace/Parametric Constraint Solver
- P-CAD Signal Integrity
- P-CAD AutoRFQ

If the P-CAD tool that you select is installed on your computer it will automatically start, and become the active program. For PCB-related tools, such as InterPlace/PCS and Signal Integrity, the current PCB is passed to the chosen tool, ready for analysis.

Customizing P-CAD PCB

With P-CAD PCB, you can create shortcuts that give you the ability to gain access to other programs and documents that you frequently use. To do this, you use the *Utils Customize* dialog and create a custom menu command and toolbar button for the program or document.

For complete instructions, see Utils Customize (page 537).

CHAPTER 12

File Commands

Introduction to File Commands

File commands allow you to open, close, save, and print designs, output reports and perform CAM output in PCB.

Most of the File commands cannot be undone: once an action is taken, it cannot be reversed using the Undo command.

File New

Choose **File** » **New** to open a new, untitled design window. When the new window appears, all styles and design parameters return to their default settings.

File Open

Choose File » Open to open files. When you open a file, P-CAD PCB displays the file in a new window.

If you attempt to reopen a file that is already open, P-CAD PCB loads another instance of the file in a new window. This is the same as the **Window** » **New Window** command. For details, see *Window New Window* (page 563).

When you choose File » Open, the Open dialog appears.

Open		? ×
Look in: 🔁	Demo	• 🗈 🖻 📰
Accsampl.pcb	P Demo3.pcb	P Rdemo1_p.pcb
Demo_2.PCB	E Demo4.pcb	Penumber.pcb
Demo1_o.pcb	🚵 Demo5.pcb	http://www.ec.a.
Demo1_p.pcb	🚵 Digdemo.pcb	Stubext.pcb
Demo1_u.pcb	Htrdemo.pcb	Muntitled1.PCB
Demo2.pcb	Modfax0.pcb 🎦	
·		
File <u>n</u> ame:		<u>O</u> pen
Files of type: PCE	File (*.pcb)	▼ Cancel

The Look In list displays the current folder and a list of files in that folder appears directly underneath. The Filename boxes let you select or enter a design file name, with the file name extension specified in the Files of type list. Notice that the file name extension is .pcb by default. This is the default file name extension for P-CAD binary and Tango PCB ASCII files.

Drag-and-Drop File Load

You can use a simple drag-and-drop operation to open PCB design files (.pcb).

Open a File

To open a file, do the following:

- 1. Choose File » Open. The Open dialog appears.
- 2. Type, or select from the list, the name of the file you want to open in the Filename box.

If the file you want is not in the current folder, then either type the folder name in front of the document name, or select the correct folder.

Global and local attributes in PCB design files are merged when the files are loaded from versions 3.05 and earlier.

3. Click **Open**.

Opening a Recently Used File

To open one of the last four files, click the **File** menu and choose the name of the file you want to open. The most recently opened file will be the one at the top of the list.

Opening an ASCII File

A file filter in the List Files of Type list reads PCB ASCII files. The new file filter is ASCII Files (*.pcb).

Errors and warnings generated while loading an ASCII file are written to a file named Designname.log, which is automatically displayed using in the Notepad.

If any of the design limits are exceeded, your design cannot be opened using P-CAD PCB (6/400).

File Close

Choose File » Close to close all windows for the active design.

If the file you want to close has any unsaved changes, a message dialog prompts you to save the changes. If you close the last design, it is automatically replaced with a new, untitled design.

File Save

Choose **File** » **Save** to save any changes to the design in the active window and create a backup file with the .bak file name extension.

When you choose **File** » **Save**, the active file remains open so you can continue working on it, and a backup file is copied. The current file name and location are unchanged by this command. To save the current file to a different name or location, choose **File** » **Save As**.

When you enable the recording of Engineering Change Orders (ECOs), they are created in PCB to capture design changes. Pending ECOs are appended to an ECO file or discarded when you save a design file. If there are pending ECOs, the following dialog appears:

Save ECOs		
ECO Filename Comment:	. D:\Program Files\\Digdemo2.ECO	
Append B	COs to File Discard ECOs	

1. The ECO filename appears at the top of the dialog by default. To change it, click **ECO Filename**. The following dialog appears.

ECO Filenam	e				? X
Save jn:	🔁 Demo	•	£	<u> </u>	
Digdemo.e	co				
File <u>n</u> ame:				<u>S</u> a	ve
Save as type:	ECO Files (*.ECO)		•	Can	cel

- 2. Type, or select from the list, the name of the ECO file you want to use in the Filename box. Click **Save** to return to the *Save ECOs* dialog.
- 3. In the Comments box, type any comments that can help document the ECOs.
- 4. To append ECOs to the ECO file, click **Append ECOs to File**.
- 5. To discard ECOs, click Discard ECOs. Discarded ECOs cannot be recovered.

For more information on ECOs, see Utils Record ECOs (page 502), Utils Import ECOs (page 503), and Utils Export ECOs (page 505).

Saving an ASCII File

If the current design was opened in PCB from an ASCII file, a PCB ASCII file is generated instead of a PCB binary file.

ASCII File Save uses a temporary file for file generation. The file is named file.pc\$, where file is the name you specify in the *File Save As* dialog or the current design name if you are using the *File Save* dialog. If you cancel the save process or it is interrupted by an error condition, the temporary file will contain the ASCII contents written up to the point where the process was terminated. A description of the PCB ASCII format can be found in the file ASCII.doc.

Net Classes

Net classes are saved to binary and ASCII design files.

If any of the design limits are exceeded, your design cannot be opened using P-CAD PCB (6/400).

File Save As

Choose **File** » **Save As** to save a copy of the active design file to the drive or directory you specify. You can either name a new file or save an existing file under a new name (the original file remaining the same, if there is an original). If you save to an existing file, this command creates a backup file (.bak). You can also use this command to save files in ASCII format.

When you choose **File** » **Save As**, the *Save As* dialog appears. Use this dialog to enter a name for the file and to choose the drive and directory in which to save the file. The Save in box displays the current folder. The area just below shows all files in the current folder with the file name extension specified in the Save File as type list. Notice that your default file name extension is .pcb. Select a file or type a new filename in the File Name list.

Save a File to a Name and Location

To save a file to a different name and location:

- 1. Choose File » Save As to open the Save As dialog.
- 2. Type the filename you want to use in the Filename box.

If the current folder is not appropriate, then either type the folder name in front of the document name, or select the folder.

- 3. Make sure the file name extension is correct by selecting the Save file as type check list.
- 4. Click Save to save the file as you have specified.

If there are pending ECOs, you are prompted to save them. See *File Save (page 205)* for detailed instructions.

Saving an ASCII File

If **ASCII** is selected in the Save as type list of the *File Save As* dialog, an ASCII file is generated instead of a PCB binary file. The output file is a complete design file, and it contains all design data represented in a PCB binary file. A description of the PCB ASCII format can be found in the file ASCII.doc.

ASCII File » **Save As** uses a temporary file for file generation. The file is named file.pc\$, where file is the name you specify in the *File Save As* dialog or the current design name if you are using the *File Save* dialog. If you cancel the save process or it is interrupted by an error condition, the temporary file will contain the ASCII contents written up to the point where the process was terminated.

If any of the design limits are exceeded, your design cannot be opened using P-CAD PCB (6/400).

File Clear

Choose **File** » **Clear** to clear the workspace and reset the title bar. When you choose this command, a message prompts you to save changes to the current file before it is cleared from the workspace.

The **File** » **Clear** command does not clear the style or layer definitions setup by **Options** » **Pad Style**, **Options Layers**, etc. for the file that was open at the time the workspace is cleared. This allows you to use template information from that file. The command also does not clear the Aperture list defined by the **File** » **Export** » **Gerber** command, allowing you to load a photoplot file without redefining all of the apertures.

File Print

This command prints a copy of the current PCB file, using the printing specifications you have set. When you choose **File** » **Print**, the following dialog appears.

File Print		
Print Jobs:	Print Job Overrides Current Window Scale to Et Page Current Display	
	Setup Print <u>J</u> obs	
	Colors	
	Drill Symbols	
Set All	<u>G</u> enerate Printouts	
<u>C</u> lear All	<u>P</u> rint Preview	
Minimum Line Width (pixels	s): 1 🕂	
Close		

This dialog is used to generate individual or batch print jobs according to a variety of specifications. If you already have print jobs set up, you can generate them from this dialog. Additional dialogs for further specifications are accessible from this dialog:



Print Preview

To view a print job before you print it, click **Print Preview** in the *File Print* dialog.

When you click **Print Preview**, the specified print output appears on your screen. The Print Preview window offers the following options for viewing the print job output:

- **Print:** Sends the current print jobs to the printer.
- Next Page: Displays the next page of the print output in the Print Preview window.
- **Prev Page:** Displays the previous page of the print output in the Print Preview window.

- Two Page/One Page: Allows you to view two pages at a time or only one page.
- **Zoom In:** Zooms in on the center area of the current page. Use the scroll bars to move to the desired viewing region.
- **Zoom Out:** Zooms out on the current page.
- **Close:** Closes the Print Preview window.

Generating Print Jobs

After you have set up the print jobs, drill symbols, and colors, return to the *File Print* dialog to generate the print jobs. You can do a batch print by highlighting multiple print jobs in the list. You can individually highlight or de-highlight print jobs by clicking them in the list.

When you click Generate Printouts, the highlighted print job(s) are processed and printed.

Click **Close** to exit the dialog and save the settings for the *File Print* dialog and related dialogs.

You can use this command to setup and generate custom print jobs.

Using the Current Window

When setting up a print job, you may specify a region of your workspace to print. Select the **Use Current Window** check box in the Print Job Overrides frame to override the regional settings specified for the print jobs. The layers and items printed are defined by the highlighted print job; the region is defined by the viewable area on your workspace.

To print a print job with the region defined as the current window, follow these steps:

- 1. Use the View commands to select the desired window in P-CAD PCB.
- 2. Choose File » Print. The File Print dialog appears.
- 3. In the Override Settings frame, select the **Use Current Window** check box.
- 4. Select the desired print job and click **Generate Printouts**. P-CAD PCB prints out the print job with the region defined by the current window. The printout may be on one page, or on many pages, depending on the size of the window and the printer settings.

Scaling to Fit Page

When printing, you can override the scale settings for all print jobs so that their output fits exactly on a page.

To print scaled print jobs, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose File » Print. The File Print dialog appears.
- 2. In the Override Settings frame, select the Scale to Fit Page check box.
- 3. Select the desired print job(s) in the Print Jobs list. To define a new print job, click **Setup Print Jobs** and follow the instructions in *Setup Print Jobs (page 210)*.
- 4. Click **Generate Printouts**. P-CAD PCB prints out the contents of the selected print job. The print output is scaled to fit exactly on a page.

5. The **File** » **Print Scale to Fit Page** overrides the scale settings for all print jobs. To scale an individual print job to fit a single page, select the **Scale to Fit Page** check box in the *Setup Print Jobs* dialog.

Setup Print Jobs

Click **Setup Print Jobs** in the *File Print* dialog to open the *Setup Print Jobs* dialog shown in the following figure.

Setup Print Jobs			
Print Jobs: DFILL TASSY1	Print Job Selections Print Job Name: Layers: Top Assy Top Silk Top Paste Top Mask Top Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Assy Board DRILL INFO Set All	DRILL Print Adjustments □ Scale to Eit Page Scale: 0.80 X offset: 0.0mil Y offset: 0.0mil Print Region Image: Compare the second seco	Display Options V Rotate Mirror Draft Thin Stroked Text RgfDes Value Value Value Value Value RgfDes Pad-Via Holes Pick and Place Glue Dot Lest Point Keepout Cgnnections No Mt Hole Cu Titles Drill Symbols
<u>M</u> odify <u>D</u> elete	Apply Layer Set	X: 14706.0mil Y: 8805.0mil	Print Drill Symbols Size: 80.0mit Plated Holes Non-plated Holes All Holes
		Close	

In this dialog you can set up multiple print jobs, with each job including specific layers, a printing region, design items, and other print options. You can also modify existing print jobs to include or exclude layers, items, etc.

Print Jobs

Any print jobs that have been set up for the active design appear in the Print Jobs list. Each job can have its own particular layers, and other options specified.

After you set up your print jobs, you can select a job and the layers and options associated with that job appear in the Print Job Selections frame. When you close the dialog, any jobs appearing in the Print Jobs list also appear in the *File Print* dialog.

Below the Print Jobs list are three buttons: Add, Modify, and Delete.

• To add a print job, type a job name in the Print Job Name box, define any print job selections, and click **Add**.

- To modify a print job, select a job from the Print Jobs list, edit the print job selections, and click **Modify**.
- To delete a print job, select a job from the Print Jobs list and click **Delete**.

The collection of print jobs defined in the dialog are saved to the design file, so you can print them at any time.

Print Job Selections

The following controls appear in the Print Jobs Selections frame:

- **Print Job Name:** Shows the name of the job selected in the Print Jobs list. To add a print job, type a job name in this box, define any print job selections, and click **Add**.
- **Layers:** Shows any layers associated with the job selected in the Print Jobs list. Pads and vias must be enabled separately. For example, to include all items on the top layer in the print output, select **Top** in the Layers list. When creating output for a specific hole range, you need to select all the layers on which a pad and via's hole has been defined.
- Set All: Click this button to select all of the layers in the Layers list.
- **Clear All:** Click this button to cancel the selection of all layers in the Layers list.
- **Apply Layer Set:** Click this button to apply a layer set to a print job.
- **Layer Sets:** Below the Apply Layer Set button is a drop-down list. You select a layer set from this list. To do this, follow these steps:
- 1. Select a layer set from the drop-down list.
- 2. Click Apply Layer Set. The layers in that set are selected in the Layers box.

To create a layer set, choose **Options** » **Layers**. For instructions, see *Adding or Modifying a Layer Set* (page 455).

Print Adjustments frame

The Print Adjustments frame contains the following controls:

- Scale to Fit Page: Select this check box to scale the print job to fit on a single page. When selected the Scale, X offset, and Y offset boxes are shaded. Clear this check box to define the Scale, X offset, and Y offset.
- **Scale:** Enter a value in this box to increase or decrease the size of the print job by a specific factor. The value you enter affects the X axis and Y axis equally. For example, 0.100 reduces the output by a factor of 10, while 10.00 enlarges the output by a factor of 10.
- X and Y Offset: Enter a value in each box to offset your printout horizontally or vertically by the value you specify. Minus values go left and/or down; plus values go right and/or up. Default units are the values settings in *Options Configure*. You can override the default units by entering the units with the value (e.g., mil, mm, in).

Print Region frame

The Print Region frame contains the following controls:

- **Design Extents:** Select this check box to print the entire design for the current print job. When selected, the other controls in this frame are shaded. Clear this check box to define a region.
- **Define Region:** Click this button to define a specific area of your design to print. This button is active only when the Design Extents check box is clear.
- Lower Left Corner and Upper Right Corner: These boxes contain the X and Y coordinates of the selected print region. The Lower Left Corner and Upper Right Corner boxes are disabled when the Entire Design check box is selected.

To define a print region:

- 1. Clear the **Design Extents** check box in the *Setup Print Jobs* dialog. Then, click the **Define Region** button. The dialogs close, uncovering the workspace.
- 2. Hold down the left mouse button to define the first corner of the print region rectangle.
- 3. Drag the cursor to define the rectangle. The coordinates of the rectangle are displayed in the Status Line. The View commands are available to help you navigate the design and define the region precisely.
- 4. Release the mouse button to fix the rectangle's size and location. You may return to step 2 if you wish to edit the rectangle.
- 5. **Right-click** or press **ESC** key to commit the rectangle.
- 6. You are prompted to confirm the updated coordinates. Click **Yes**. The *Setup Print Jobs* dialog appears.

The coordinates of the selected print region can be viewed or modified in the Print Region box in the *Setup Print Jobs* dialog.

Display Options frame

The Display Options frame contains the following check boxes. Select a check box to enable the display of an item. Clear the check box to disable the display of an item:

- **Rotate:** Select this check box to rotate the printed image clockwise by 90 degrees. If the Mirror check box is selected with this option, the image mirrors before it rotates.
- **Mirror:** Select this check box to print a mirror image of the design's typical view. Generally, each layer is displayed as seen from the Top layer. Selecting the mirror option would print the board as it appears from the Bottom layer (as if you flipped the board over horizontally and looked at it with the Bottom layer facing up).
- **Draft:** Select this check box to allow an outline rough draft to be printed (normally speeding up the print job). This would be a printout of only the outlines for pads, vias, polygons, copper pours, etc.
- Thin Line Stroked Text: Select this check box to display text objects in a thin line form.

- RefDes, Type, Value, Pads, Vias, Pad/Via Holes, Pick and Place, Glue Dot, Test Point, Keepout, Cutouts, Connections, and Titles: Select a check box to include an item in the printout. Clear a check box to exclude an item from the printout.
- **No Mt Hole Cut:** Select this check box to exclude mounting hole copper from the printout. Clear this check box to include mounting hold copper in the printout.

Drill Symbols frame

The Drill Symbols frame contains the following controls:

- **Drill Symbols:** Select this check box to print drill symbols. When selected, the other controls in this frame become available.
- **Size:** Enter a value in this box to adjust the size of the drill symbol (usually for size reduction), which represents the drill hole location. For example, you would reduce the drill symbol size so that the drill symbols will not overlap in the printout if they are located close to one another.
- Plated Holes, Non-plated Holes or All Holes: Choose one of these buttons to select the type of holes to print.

After you have set up your print job, click **Close** to return to the *File Print* dialog.

Drill Symbols

To define drill symbols in your printer output, click the **Drill Symbols** button in the *File Print* dialog. The *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog appears.

To generate a drill symbol drawing, you must enable all signal and power/ground layers on which the pad is defined. Enabling **Drill Symbols** excludes all copper from this print job and sends just the assigned symbol in its place.

Drill Symbol Assi	gnments		
Hole Diameter 18.0mil 26.0mil 32.0mil 38.0mil 46.0mil 124.0mil	Plated Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	Drill Symbol	Drill Symbols:
<u>A</u> ssign Au	<u>U</u> nassign Itomatic As	U <u>n</u> assign All	Close

The purpose of this dialog is to list all of the currently used hole diameters in the design, along with their plating characteristics and corresponding drill symbols. Holes of equal size with different plating characteristics appear as separate entries in the list. An asterisk next to a drill symbol indicates that it is already assigned to a hole diameter.

To attach a drill symbol to a hole diameter, highlight both of them and then click **Assign**. You can clear the assignment in the same way by clicking **Unassign**.

If you click **Automatic Assign**, the drill symbol and hole diameter lists will automatically match up from top to bottom, the first hole diameter assigned to the first drill symbol, the second symbol to the second diameter, etc. **Unassign All** clears all of the drill symbol assignments.

Click **Close** to save all of the assignments and return to the *File Print* dialog.

Colors and Other Print Options

You can define colored, grayscale, or monochrome printer settings. You can also set the size of various points that appear in a design. To set up print colors and other options, follow these steps from the *File Print* dialog:

- Print Options × Colors Miscellaneous Layer/Item Colors **Display Colors** Via Pad Line Poly Text Background Тор Connects Bottom Board Top Mask Bot Mask Keepout Top Silk Г Bot Silk Г Top Paste Bot Paste Defaults ΟK Cancel
- 1. Click the **Colors** button. This opens the *Printer Options* dialog shown in the following figure.

The *Printer Options* dialog is similar to the *Options Display* dialog. However, changes to your printer options do not affect your options display settings. For more information about the Colors or Miscellaneous tab, see *Options Display* (page 442).

- 2. Click the **Colors** tab, then choose print colors using one of these methods:
 - If you have a color printer, click the appropriate buttons and choose a color from the color palette that appears.
 - If you have a black and white printer, click the **Defaults** button. This turns all colors to monochrome. We recommend that you use the default settings to avoid undesirable output when color settings are converted to grayscales.
- 3. Click **OK** to close the *Print Options* dialog. You return to the *File Print* dialog.

File Print Setup

Displays a list of installed printers and allows you to set the current printer. You can also change device-specific parameters. When you choose **File** » **Print Setup**, the following dialog appears.

Pr	int Setup			? ×
[Printer			
	<u>N</u> ame:	\\NTSERVER\Engineering LaserJet		<u>P</u> roperties
	Status:	Ready		
	Туре:	HP LaserJet III		
	Where:	Engineering LaserJet		
	Comment:	Engineering LaserJet		
	Paper		- Orientation	n
	Size:	Letter	A	Portrait
	<u>S</u> ource:	Automatically Select		C L <u>a</u> ndscape
	Net <u>w</u> ork		OK	Cancel

Select a printer from the Name list and click **Properties** to configure print parameters. Because print parameters are device-specific, the dialog, which appears, is different depending upon the printer you selected.

To select a printer, select the printer from the Printers list. Then, click **OK** to close the dialog.

File Reports

Choose File » Reports to generate reports with specific output options.

You can customize the standard reports and save the new report to a file that can be reused. The format you select in the Style Format frame determines the options available for each of these styles:

- Separated-List
- P-CAD Report

With the P-CAD Report style, in addition to setting Lines per Page and Report Destination, you may select the page format and define the Header and Footer. The **Customize** feature gives you the ability to choose which fields are displayed in the report, their sort order and other format options. These options are saved when you quit the program.

The *File Reports* dialog appears as follows:

File Reports	
Eilename	
Reports to Generate: Aperture Information (apr) Attributes (atr) Bill of Materials (bom) Component Locations (cpl) DRC Error Indicators (dei) Glue Dot Locations (glu) Library Contents (lct) Pick and Place Locations (pnp) Rooms (rom)	Report Destination Report Origin Screen Y File Y Printer Y Style Format List Separator
♥Statistics (sta) ♥Test Point (tst)	
	Carbonal I
Delete Lustomize	Sei Derauits
<u>S</u> et All <u>C</u> lear All	
<u>G</u> ener	ate Cl <u>o</u> se

Filename

The **Filename** button gives you the ability to gain access to files other than the current design through a standard open file dialog. The **Filename** is the same as that of the current design by default, it is also saved to the location where saved reports are stored.

Reports to Generate

You may select the reports you wish to generate from the list of report types in the Reports to Generate list. The Reports to Generate box lists all the predefined reports along with any customized reports stored with the design. Each report has a unique file name extension, which is displayed alongside the report. These file name extensions cannot be changed.

The available reports are as follows:

- **Aperture Information:** Lists aperture information such as units used, definitions (D code, type, etc.), and aperture assignments.
- Attributes: Contains component and net attributes.
- **Bill of Materials:** Lists the component attributes you have selected for inclusion in the report. Any attribute present in the design can be chosen to appear in the report.

If you have special components that have hidden reference designators (RefDes) and you want to exclude them from the Bill of Materials, you can explode the component (**Edit Explode Component**) and delete the RefDes, or just delete the component from the report.

- **Component Locations:** Lists, for each component, the reference designator and location (the X and Y coordinates). Fixed components are also identified. If you have special components in the design, see the note with the BOM report option above.
- **DRC Error Indicators:** Generates a list of all the DRC error indicators, locations and text on the board. This allows you to generate a hardcopy for all the DRC error indicators generated by Online DRC.
- **Glue Dot Locations:** Lists the layer and position of all glue dots in the current design.
- **Library Contents:** Lists all of the components that are contained in all of the currently open libraries. See *Library Setup (page 493)* for information on opening libraries.
- **Pick and Place Locations:** Lists the layer and position of all pick and place points in the current design.
- **Rooms:** Lists the properties of the rooms such as Name, Placement Side, Rules and Included Components along with their value. Another section lists the components in the design and the room in which each component resides.
- **Statistics:** Contains a variety of information about the current design, such as primitives count, board dimension, line widths used, layer types used, etc.
- **Test Point:** Shows the X,Y coordinates of the test points in the current design, the net name to which points are attached, the side of the board the point is tested from, and whether or not the point is a fixed object.

Report Destination Frame

In the Report Destination frame, choose one of the following options:

- Choose **Screen** to save the report file and automatically display it in the Notepad.
- Choose **File** to send the report output to a file.
- Choose **Printer** to send the report output to the printer. This option does not create a report file.

Report Origin Frame

The X and Y coordinates of the default report origin are 0,0, which represents the lower left corner of the design. If you want to offset the report origin, enter the desired X and Y coordinates in the appropriate boxes. Coordinates printed in the report output indicate their position relative to the designated coordinates.

Report origins are printed in the first line of the output report in the standard P-CAD Report format.

Style Format Frame

Choose one of the following buttons in the Style Format frame.

- **Separated List:** Choose this option to place all data in character-separated format. You can import this format into other spreadsheet and database programs.
- **P-CAD Report:** Choose this option to produce a report format with columns and spaces, etc.

If you choose **Separated List**, type the character you want to use as the separator or choose one from the List Separator list. The character that appears in this list by default is the list separator defined in your Regional Settings for Microsoft Windows.

File Reports Buttons

The buttons below the Reports to Generate list control report settings, provide access to the *Customize Report* dialog, and give you the ability to generate reports.

The buttons perform the following functions:

- **Delete:** Removes a customized report from the design. You cannot delete the predefined reports described in *Reports to Generate (page 216)*.
- **Customize:** Opens the *Customize Report* dialog where you can set many options to adapt a report and save it for future use. See *Custom Report Option* (page 218) for more information.
- Set Defaults: Returns all settings to the PCB reports default values.
- Set All: Selects all the reports in the list.
- Clear All: Cancels the selection of any selected reports in the list.
- Generate: Creates the selected reports using the options.

Custom Report Option

When you click **Customize** in the *File Reports* dialog, the following *Customize Report* dialog appears with the **Format** tab selected:

Customize Report - Bill of Materials					
Format	Selection	ı Ì	Sort		
Report Type: Bill of Mate Report Style: ACCEL Re Header: <u>F</u> ooter	rials port				
Page Format Use Header Use Footer Attrib Design Info Date/Page Pagination	Lines per Page: ute Column Width: File E <u>x</u> tension:	62 15 bom			
<u>A</u> dd	OK		Cancel		

Format Tab

The **Format** tab contains the following options:

- **Header:** Type a heading for the report. This option is only available with the P-CAD Report format.
- **Footer:** Type a footer for the report. This option is only available with the P-CAD Report format.
- **Page Format:** The check boxes in the Page Format frame apply to reports whose Style Format is the P-CAD Report. Select the desired check boxes from the following:
- Use Header: Select this check box to include the information you specified in the Header box.
- Use Footer: Select this check box to include the footer information entered in the Footer box.
- **Design Info:** Select this check box to include the information you entered in the *File Design Info* dialog.
- **Date/Page:** Select this check box to include the current date and the page number.
- **Pagination:** Select this check box to create your own pagination (lines per page).
- Lines per Page: Enter the number of lines you want printed on each page.
- Attribute Column Width: Defines the number of characters, up to 2000, used to display an attribute.
- **File Extension:** The File Extension box displays the default file name extension for the selected report. You can also enter a new file name extension if desired.

Selection Tab

The **Selection** tab in the *Customize Report* dialog lists the report fields and gives you the ability to choose which fields appear in the report. With this tab, you can also define selection criteria, as shown in the following figure:

Format Selection Sort				
1	Field	Show X	Criteria (And)	Or 🔺
3	Components	X		
•				
	Move Up	Ade	d Row	Add Column

The columns in the **Selection** spreadsheet are as follows:

- **Field:** The list of fields specific to the selected report.
- **Show:** Select the **Show** check box to display the corresponding fields in the report. Cleared check boxes do not appear in the report output.
- **Criteria** (And): Contains the selection criteria used to filter the report data.
- **Or:** Additional selection criteria can be entered here, if necessary.

Operators available for use in the Criteria (And) and Or columns are shown in the table below:

Operator	Function
=	Exactly equal to.
	If used with a wildcard operator, * or ?, this operator becomes literal. It searches for a set of characters with, for example, a question mark at the end.
<	Less than.
>	Greater than.
<=	Less than or equal to.
>=	Greater than or equal to.

Operator	Function
<>	Not equal to.
IsLike	If used with a wildcard operator, IsLike means is similar to. For example, IsLike 5* could be 50, 510, 5, etc.
	If not used with a wildcard operator, IsLike is equivalent to =.
IsNotLike	If used with a wildcard operator, IsNotLike means is not similar to. For example, IsNotLike 5* could be 14 or 20 or 42, but not 50, 510 or 5.
	If not used with a wildcard operator, IsNotLike is equivalent to <>.
Exist	The attribute exists.
NotExist	The attribute does not exist.
AnyValue	The attribute exists and it has some value.
NoValue	The attributes exists, but it is assigned no value.

The columns in the spreadsheet can be resized by moving the column separation lines right or left. You can append another **Or** column with the **Add Column** button. To reposition fields in the list, click **Up** or **Down**, which determines the order in which they are output to the report.

The system generates the value in the Count field when the report is produced. Selection criteria cannot be applied to the Count field.

If you have installed P-CAD Library Executive, the File Reports Selection utility allows you to add attributes from a non-P-CAD source, if desired, using the **Import Files** button. See your *P-CAD Library Executive User's Guide* for details on this feature.

Sort Tab

The **Sort** tab provides you with the ability to select the field(s) used to sort the report output and choose a sort order. The Sort tab appears as follows:

Customize Report - Roo	ms	
Format	Selection	Sort
Report Section: Room Pr Available Fields: Side Components	operties operties Insert -> Append -> <- Remove Sorting Order <- Ascending Descending 	Selected Fields:
Add	ОК	Cancel

The **Sort** tab contains the following options:

- Available Fields: The list of fields in the selected report.
- Selected Fields: The fields used to sort the data, the order in which the sort is applied and the field's sorting order (A) for Ascending or (D) for Descending, are displayed in the Selected Fields list.

The Insert button takes a selected field from the Available Fields list and inserts it above the selected field in the Selected Fields list. The **Append** button moves the field to the bottom of the Selected Fields list. To move fields from the Selected Fields list back to the Available Fields list, select the field and click the **Remove** button.

• **Sorting Order:** The Sorting Order is set by clicking the desired option button to sort in Ascending or Descending order before moving a field to the Selected Fields list.

Adding a Custom Report

Once you have selected your report options, click **Add** to open the following *Report Configuration* dialog:

Report Configuration				
Enter Report Name:				
OK	Cancel			

Type a name for the report in the Enter Report Name box and click **OK**. You are returned to the *File Reports* dialog where the new report is listed in the Reports to Generate list. You can select the reports and generate output by clicking **Generate**.

If you select and generate both the custom report and the one on which it was based, both results are output in a single file or report. To get individual outputs, generate each report separately

File Design Info

Choose **File** » **Design Info** to enter design information, review design statistics, and to query or modify design attributes and fields. You can also group fields into distinct field sets and incorporate design and revision notes into your design. When you choose this command, the *Design Info* dialog appears with the General tab selected:

Design Info					
General	Fields	Attributes	Notes	Revisions	Statistics
Filename:	Demo1_u.pcb				
Location:	C:\PCAD2001	A\Tutorial\			
Size:	131068				
Created:	Thursday, Ma	rch 09, 2000 11:03:5	0		
Modified:	Sunday, Augu	st 01, 1999 15:00:50			
Accessed:	Thursday, Ma	rch 09, 2000 15:17:2	9		
	E Bead Only	H idden	Archive.	F System	
		Clo	ISE		

The fields placed in your design using the **Place** » **Field** command use the information entered in this dialog.

For example, suppose you placed a Title field in your design. If you changed the value of the Title field on the Fields page of this dialog to design02, then the Title field in your design would be updated to display design02. If you had numerous Titles placed in your design, they would all be changed to reflect what you enter here. See *Place Field (page 398)* for information on placing fields.

The information that you specify with this command is saved with and restored from the design file.

The following sections describe the tabs in the File Design Info dialog.

General Tab

The **General** tab in the *File Design Info* dialog contains information about the design file, including its location, size, and creation date.

Many of these fields appear in the *Place Field* dialog and may be placed in the design. Their values are automatically assigned based on the file information displayed on the General tab. These system generated fields include: Design Name, Location of Design, Size, and Last Modified Date.

Fields Tab

The **Fields** tab in the *File Design Info* dialog includes all the predefined and user-defined fields contained within the design. All fields listed in this dialog may be placed by choosing **Place** » **Field**.

Design Info				
General Fields	Attributes	Notes	Revisions	Statistics
Field Set: (Default)		•	Field Sets	
Name		Value	э	
Approved By				
Author				
Checked By				
Company Name				
Date				
Drawing Number				
Drawn By				
Engineer				
Revision				
Time				
Title				
	1			
<u>Add</u>		te Prope	erties	
	Clo	ose		

When a field value is modified in this dialog, all fields of that type in the design are automatically updated to reflect the new value.

Predefined field types include: Approved By, Author, Checked By, Company Name, Current Date, Current Time, Date, Drawing #, Drawn By, Engineer, Filename, GUID, Layer Name, Modified Date, Revision, Time and Title.

You can also create custom, user-defined fields to contain design data of your choice and group fields into Field Sets. The Fields tab contains the following options:

- **Name:** This list displays the non-system generated, predefined fields and their values. If there are any user-defined fields, their names and values are displayed here also.
- **Value:** The Value assigned to the field. For instance, the Value of the field Author may be John Doe. If the Value of a field is blank and you place that field in your design, the Name of the field, instead of its value, is displayed at the field location.

To add a new field and its value:

- 1. Click Add.
- 2. Click Properties to modify only the Value of an existing field. When adding a new field, the Field Properties dialog appears, as shown in the following figure:

Field Properties	
Name:	Location Y: 0.0
Value:	Flip Rotation: 0.0deg
Text Style: (Default)	Text Styles
ОК	Cancel Cancel

3. To modify the Location, Text Style or Justification of a field that has been placed in the current design, select the field in the design. **Right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.

The Field Properties dialog contains the following options:

- Name: Enter the name of a new field. The name of an existing field is displayed here.
- Value: The Value assigned to the field.
- **Text Style:** The Text Style in which the Value of the field is displayed.
- Location: The current X and Y coordinates of the field's location in the design.
- **Justification:** Displays the current chosen justification of the field's value within its boundaries.
- **Flip:** A check indicates that the field has been flipped.
- **Rotation:** When the field has been rotated the rotation degree is displayed here.
- 4. To remove a user-defined field, select the field in the Field Set list and click **Delete**.

To add or delete field sets:

1. Click **Field Sets** in the Fields, Notes or Revisions tabs to open the *Field Sets* dialog as shown in the following figure:

Field Sets	×
Field Sets:	
(Default)	Add
Fabrication	Dialata
	Delete
Field Set Name:	
Default)	
(Derault)	Liose

- 2. Add a new field set by typing a name in the Field Set Name box and clicking Add.
- 3. Delete a field set by selecting the field set name in the Field Set list and clicking Delete. When a field set is removed, all layers referencing the removed field set are reassigned to the default field set. The default field set cannot be deleted. The field values contained within the removed field set are deleted.

Attributes Tab

The **Attributes** tab in the *File Design Info* dialog gives you the ability to view and modify design-level attributes:

Design Info	1				
General	Fields	Attributes	Notes	Revisions	Statistics
Cilles are a	Name	11.0mil	Value		
HeleTeH	nuearance oloCloaranco	13.0mil			
	oleciearance	13.011			
	Add	Delete	Properties	Launch	
		Clo	ose		

These are attributes that are attached to a particular design, rather than a component or net.

You can view, add, modify, or delete a collection of design attributes. The dialog contains a twocolumn table showing the collection of design attributes. Within a collection, each attribute's name and value appear in the column.

- Adding an Attribute: To add an attribute, click the Add button to open the *Place Attribute* dialog. Enter and name and value for the attribute and set the attribute properties. Click **OK**, and the attribute is added to the table.
- Viewing or Changing Attribute Properties: To view or change an attribute's properties, select an attribute from the table and click **Properties** (or double-click the attribute) to open the *Attribute Properties* dialog.
- To Delete an Attribute: Select an attribute in the table and click Delete, or press DELETE.
- Launching a Reference Link: When the special attribute Reference, whose value is a reference link, is added to the component, you can select the Reference attribute and click Launch to start a program that displays a document, or to launch the Internet Explorer and go to a specific web site.

For details about this function and a complete listing of attributes, see Place Attribute (page 396).

Notes Tab

In the **Notes** tab you can specify design or drawing notes, which can later be included in your design by placing a Note field or a Notes table. These notes can be annotated using the industry-standard symbols: box, circle, triangle or none. The Notes tab appears as shown in the following figure:

Design I	Info									
Gene	eral	Fields	<u> </u>	Attributes) No	otes	Re	visions	Statist	tics
Field Se	et: T	op Assembly	J		- -	<u>F</u> ield Se	ts			
	Numbe	r of Notes:	4							
#	Note T	ext:						Annotatio	on:	A
1	R27, L be ber board.	1, L2 and R ded .100 sp	18 are m bacing fro	ounted vertica om lead to lead	I. Compo before in	inent sho sert to	uld 🔺	Box	•	
2	D1, D3 bender And Ar	3 and D4 are 1.100 spaci nnode side s	e mounte ing from l should be	d vertical. Cor ead to lead be e inserted into t	nponents fore inser he squar	should b t to boarc e pad.	e 🔺 I. 👻	Box	•	
3	Mounting holes item.									
4	Using I white r	plack ink for ectangle.	marking	Assembly Rev	vision nun	nber into	4	Box	•	
	<u> </u>	dd	<u>D</u> elete	e <u>I</u> mp	oort	<u>E</u> xpo	ort			<u>_</u>
				C	ose					

The options available on the Notes tab are:

- **Field Set:** To modify a particular field set's contents, select the field set name from the **Field Set** list. The notes for that field set can be modified directly by editing the entries in the dialog. Field sets can be added or deleted by clicking the **Field Sets** button.
- Number of Notes: The total number of notes.
- Note Text: Enter or modify notes text in the Notes box.
- Annotation: Select the Annotation type for the note number: box, circle, triangle or none.



- Add: Click Add to begin entering notes or to add a note to the end of the list.
- Delete: To remove a note, place the cursor in the note text and click Delete.
- **Import/Export:** To import a note from an ASCII text file, click **Import**. To export a note to an ASCII text file, click **Export**.

Revisions Tab

The **Revisions** tab is identical to the Notes tab, except that the **Annotation** options and the ability to Import/Export from an ASCII file are not present. Revision notes are used specifically to document changes between drafts of a design. See *Notes Tab (page 227)* for information on the options available on the Revisions tab.

Statistics Tab

The **Statistics** tab in the *File Design Info* dialog displays the design statistics, as shown in the following figure:

Design Info					
<u>G</u> eneral	<u>F</u> ields	Attributes	Notes	Revisions	Statistics
Board Dimen Board Layer: All Layers: Line widths us 10.0mil 12.0mil 20.0mil 25.0mil	sions 5135.0mil x 25 5137.5mil x 320 ed: Signa Nonsi Plane	10.0mil)5.0mil s In Use : 2 gnal: 9 : 0	Compon Pads: Vias: Plated H Non-plat Nets:	ents: 22 219 42 oles: 241 ed Holes: 0 80	
Close					

This information in this dialog is read-only and details various statistics for the active file (a.k.a., current file).

File Design Technology Parameters

A **File** » **Design Technology Parameters** file (*.dtp) stores design data, such as pad styles, via styles, net classes, layer sets, and design rules. You can use this file as a template for other P-CAD designs.

A .dtp file is organized in a hierarchy. The file is divided into technology groups. These groups can contain different, but related, types of design data and can be placed into a design. A technology group consists of one or more pre-defined sections; these sections contain sets of items of the same type. Each item possesses properties, which correspond to specific design data.

A design technology parameters file is like a storage box. You can reorganize it, add or remove items, alter some of its contents, and use what is stored inside. For a project or series of projects, you may have several items that you will have to use repeatedly for creating PCB designs. The design technology parameters file is a perfect storage box for the following design items: class-toclass rules, global rules, layer sets, net class definitions, net class and net class layer rules, net and net layer rules, pad styles, and via styles.

First you must build your storage box, and organize it so that you can find items when you need them. The starting point is the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog described below. From there you can build, browse, and modify the contents of the DTP file.

Creating or Opening a Design Technology Parameters File

- 1. Choose File » Design Technology Parameters from the menus.
- 2. If you have never used a DTP file before the *Open* dialog will appear, where you can browse and locate an existing DTP file. If you wish to create a new DTP file type in a Filename then click **Open**.
- 3. If you have previously used a DTP file this file will automatically be reopened. To select a different DTP file, or to create a new file, click the **Technology Filename** button. When the *Open* dialog appears browse to locate an existing file, or type in a Filename if you wish to create a new one.
- 4. When the correct DTP file is open you ready to work on the design technology parameters in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog.
- 5. When you create a new DTF file it will be empty. The first thing you need to do is to create a new Group. To do this click on the icon for the DTP filename at the top of the hierarchy, then click the **New Group** button (this button is only available when you click on the DTP filename icon). The Group is where the various sections of the DTP file are stored, each section corresponds to a different technology parameter. The supported sections include:
 - Apertures
 - Class to Class Rules
 - Design Rules
 - Global Rules
 - Layers
 - Layer Sets
 - Net Class Definitions
 - Net Class Rules
 - Net Rules
 - Pad Styles
 - Via Styles

Design Technology Parameters Dialog

When you choose **File** » **Design Technology Parameters**, the following *Design Technology Parameters* dialog appears:

Design Technology Parameters					
Modfax0.dtp Modfax0	Update From Design Copy To Design Properties New Section Rename Delete Statistics Attribute Handling On Copy Merge Attributes Replace Design Attributes				
Close					

Notice that information is arranged in a tree structure, similar to the arrangement of folders and files.

From this dialog you can set up the design technology parameter, copy design technology parameter data to or from a design, view or modify data properties, and browse or modify the file's hierarchy. The options in this dialog are described in the following sections.

Technology Filename Button

In the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog, click **Technology Filename** to open the *Open* dialog. With this dialog, you can choose the folder and file name of the file you want to open or create.

- To open a design technology parameters file, select the folder and file name of the file you wish to open. Click **Open**.
- To create a design technology parameters file, select the folder in which you want to create the file. Type the filename in the Filename box. Click **Open**. You are asked to confirm your new design technology parameters file creation.

Read-only Files

If a .dtp file is read-only, the Read-only check box just below the Technology Filename button is selected and the term "read-only" appears next to the filename. You can make a .dtp file read-only by selecting this check box.

If a .dtp file is read-only, you cannot update it with data from a design, modify an item's properties, rename an item, or delete an item.

The Design Technology Parameters Tree

The contents of the open parameters file appear as a tree structure, or hierarchy, in the *File Design Technology Parameters* dialog. You can browse the tree to view its contents. Also, you can highlight groups, sections, or items in the tree to select them for copying to a design, editing properties, and completing other functions described in this section.



The tree structure allows you to view your entire file at various levels of detail by expanding or collapsing the branches of the tree.

Groupings containing collapsed levels are shown with a + sign. To expand the grouping, click the +. Expanded groupings are shown with a – sign. To collapse the grouping, click the – sign.

When you open a new design technology file, only the filename appears in the tree.

Update From Design Button

Click **Update From Design** to add information from your current design to the design technology parameters file.

To add design data to your design technology parameters file, select a group, section, or item. If you select a group or section, all items contained below it in the hierarchy are selected. Click **Update From Design**.

- If you select a group, the *Select Section Type* dialog appears. Select the sections you want to update. See *New Section Button* (page 240) for more details.
- If a selected item exists in the parameters file, you are asked to confirm its replacement by clicking the appropriate button: **Yes To All**, **Yes**, **No** or **Cancel**.
- If the selected item does not exist in the parameters file, it is added automatically.

Copy To Design Button

Click **Copy to Design** to modify your current design using data contained within your design technology parameters file.
To modify your design using data in the design technology parameters file, select a group, section, or item. If you select a group or section, all items contained below it in the hierarchy are selected. Click **Copy to Design**.

- If a selected item exists in the design, you are asked to confirm its replacement by clicking the appropriate button: **Yes To All**, **Yes**, **No** or **Cancel**.
- With three exceptions, if the selected item does not exist in the design, it is added automatically. Net rule, net class definition, and global layer rule items are not created if they do not exist in a design.

When you click **Copy to Design**, the design changes that occur depend on the type of item selected. For class-to-class rule, net class rule, and net rule items, you can choose to replace or merge the rules in the design with those of your design technology parameters file. Make this selection by choosing the **Merge Attributes** or **Replace Design Attributes** option button in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog before clicking **Copy to Design**.

The following sections describe options for each item type, and the design data changes that occur when that item is added to a design.

Class-To-Class Rule Item

If both net classes exist in the design, you have a choice of three options: to create, to merge, or to replace class-to-class rules. A class-to-class rule is created if it does not already exist. To choose between the merge or replace options, enable the corresponding option button in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog before clicking **Copy to Design**.

- **Replace Design Attributes:** Replaces a design's class-to-class rules with the rules from the Class-To-Class Rule Item.
- **Merge Attributes:** Merges the rules of the Class-To-Class Rule Item with the design's class-toclass rules, favoring the Class-To-Class Rule Item rules over the design.

If both net classes do not exist in the design, a class-to-class rule is not created.

Global Layer Rule Item

If a global layer rule item of the same name exists in the design, it's layer rules are replaced with the layer rules defined by this Item.

If a global layer rule item of the same name does not exist in the design, it is not created.

Layer Set Item

If a layer set of the same name exists in the design, then it's layers are replaced with the layer members defined by this Item.

If a layer set of the same name does not exist in the design, then a layer set with the layer names defined by this item is created in the design.

Net Class Definition Item

If a net class of the same name exists in the design, it's net members are replaced with the net members defined by this Item. The net class and net class layer rules are not changed.

If a net class of the same name does not exist in the design, it is not created.

Net Class Rule Item

If the net class already exists in the design, you have a choice of two options: to merge or to replace the net class and net class layer rules. To choose between the merge or replace options, enable the corresponding option button in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog before clicking **Copy to Design**.

- **Replace Design Attributes:** Replaces a design's net class rules with the rules from the Net Class Rule Item.
- **Merge Attributes:** Merges the rules of the Net Class Rule Item with the design's net class rules, favoring the Net Class Rule Item rules over the design.

The net class, with the Net Class Rule Item rules, is created if it does not already exist in the design.

Net Rule Item

If the net already exists in the design, you have a choice of two options: to merge or to replace the net and net layer rules. To choose between the merge or replace options, enable the corresponding option button in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog before clicking **Copy to Design**.

- Replace Design Attributes: Replaces a design's net rules with the rules from the Net Rule Item.
- **Merge Attributes:** Merges the rules of the Net Rule Item with the design's net rules, favoring the **Net Rule Item** rules over the design.

If the net does not already exist in the design, the net, with its Net Rule Item rules, is not created

Pad Style Item

Design technology parameters file pad style(s) are added to the design. A pad style of the same name is replaced.

Replacing pad styles can change physical connections in your design file. Choose **Utils** » **DRC** to locate unconnected pins and shorts after copying a pad style to your design.

Via Style Item

Design technology parameters file via style(s) are added to the design. A via style of the same name is replaced.

Replacing via styles can change physical connections in your design file. Choose **Utils** » **DRC** to locate unconnected pins and shorts after copying a via style to your design

Properties Button

Click the **Properties** button to view and modify an item's properties. When you highlight an item in the design technology parameters file tree and click **Properties**, an item-specific dialog appears.

When you modify properties of items in your parameters file using Properties, the changes are made immediately to the file. If you want to create a new design technology file based on an

existing file, first make a copy of your original design technology file, saving the copy under the new name. Then, modify the design technology file copy.

If the design technology parameters file is read-only, any changes you make to an item are discarded.

The properties available to view or modify for each item are discussed in the following sections.

Class-to-Class, Net Class, NetClass Layer and Net Rules Properties

To open the *DTP Item Properties* dialog, select a class-to-class, net class, net class layer or net rule item. Then, click **Properties**. The *DTP Item Properties* dialog appears, as shown in the following example for a NetClass:

DTP Item Properties : NetClass	
NetClass : DAA_CIRCUIT	
NetClass Rules	
Clearance=40 PadToLineClearance=20 PadToPadClearance=24	
	<u>E</u> dit
NetClass Layer Rules	
BOTTOM BoardEdgeClearance=.25	
	Edit
T P	
Close	

The dialog contains two lists, depending on the selected item; one for the Item Rules and another for the Item Layer Rules. Within the lists, each attribute's name and value appear in the column.

To add, modify or delete an Item Rule, click **Edit** to open the *Attributes* dialog shown in the following figure:

Attributes		
Attributes		
Name	Value	
Clearance 40		
PadToLineClearance 20		
PadToPadClearance 24		
Add Delete Properti	es Launch	
C:	ancel	

The *Attributes* dialog contains a two-column table showing the collection of attributes. Within the collection, each attribute's name and value appear in the column.

- Adding an Attribute: To add an attribute, click the Add button to open the *Place Attribute* dialog (shown below). Select an attribute category and name, or if the attribute is user-defined enter an attribute name. Give the attribute a value and click **OK** to add it to the table.
- Editing Attribute Properties: To edit an attribute's properties, select an attribute from the table and click the **Properties** button (or double-click the attribute) to open the *Place Attribute* dialog.
- Deleting an Attribute: Select an attribute in the table and click Delete.
- Launching a Reference Link: When the special attribute Reference, whose value is a reference link, is added to the item, you can select the Reference attribute and click Launch to start a program or to launch Internet Explorer and go directly to a web site.

The Attribute dialog appears as shown in the following figure:

Attributes		
Attributes		
Name	Value	
Clearance	40	
PadToLineClearance	20	
PadToPadClearance	24	
Add	Delete Properties Launch	
	OK Cancel	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

For complete information on the Attribute dialog, see Attribute Properties (page 328).

To add, modify or delete an item layer rule, click **Edit** to open the *Edit Item Layer Rules* dialog, as shown in the figure below:

Edit Net Class La	yer Rules		×
Layers: Bottom Top	Has Rules *	Rules: BoardEdgeClearance=,25	
<u>S</u> elect	by Rule	Edit Layer Rules	

The *Edit Item Layer Attributes* dialog lists the Layers and indicates whether the layer Has Attributes with an asterisk. You can select layers having a specific attribute by clicking the Select by Attribute button to display the *Set By Attribute* dialog. See *Set By Attribute (page 349)*. You can also modify layer attributes by clicking the **Edit Layer Attributes** button. See *Edit Attributes (page 350)*.

Global Layer Rules Properties

A Global Rules section can contain layer rule items. To open the *Layer Clearance* dialog, select a layer rule item and click **Properties**. The following dialog appears:

Layer Clearance	×
Layer Name: Top	
Layer Clearances	
Pad To Pad: 12.0mi	Pad To Via: 12.0mil
Pad To Line: 8.0mil	Line To Via: 8.0mil
Line To Line: 8.0mil	Via To Via: 12.0mil
<u>S</u> et All	
OK	Cancel

The clearance values of the layer rule you selected appear in the Pad to Pad, Pad to Line, Line to Line, Pad to Via, Line to Via, and Via to Via boxes.

Layer Set Properties

When a layer set item is selected, and you click the **Properties** button, the *Layer Sets Definition* dialog appears:

Layer Sets Definition	on	X
Layer Set Name: As	sembly	
Layer Name:		
	Add	Rename
Layer Set		
Board Top Top Assy		
<u>D</u> elete		
0K		Cancel

Layers sets let you group layers to control the selection, display, printing, Gerber output, N/C Drill output, and DXF output. For details, see *Options Commands (page 423)*.

1. Type a layer name in the Layer Name box.

- 2. Click Add.
- 3. Repeat the process until you have added all layers to the layer set.

Net Class Definition Properties

When a net class definition item is highlighted and the **Properties** button is selected, the *Net Class Definition* dialog appears:

Net Class Definitio	in 🔀	1
Net Class Name: H	15308	
Net Name:	Add Rename	
Nets in this Class: A12 A13 A14 A15 Delete		
OK	Cancel	

This dialog allows you create net classes and add nets to the class. For details, see *Options Commands* (page 423).

To add a net class definition, follow these steps:

- 1. Type a layer name in the Net Name box.
- 2. Click Add.
- 3. Repeat the process until you have added all nets to the class.

Pad Style Properties

When a pad style item is highlighted and the **Properties** button is selected, the *Modify Pad Style* (*Complex*) dialog appears:

	Modify Pad Style	(Complex)	
Name: Pad Definition Layers: Pad Definition I agers: I agers: I agers: I agers:	Modify Pad Style Name: P:EX100Y Layers: Top Bottom (Signal) (Plane) (NonSig) Mid 2	(Complex) S0D 38A Pad Definition Layer: Top ▼ Width: 100.0mil Height: 60.0mil Spoke Width: 0.0mil Shape: Ellipse ▼ Prohibit Copper Pour Connections Add Modify Delete	Hole Diameter: 32.0mil V Plated X Offset: 0.0mil Y Offset: 0.0mil V Jfset: 0.0mil V Jse Global Swell Local swels: 0.0mil

From here you can modify the shape, dimensions, hole diameter and other properties of the selected pad style. For details, see *Options Pad Style (page 472)*.

Via Style Properties

Via styles are almost identical to pad styles in the way that you add, edit, modify, view, delete and rename them.

When a via style item is highlighted and the **Properties** button is selected, the *Modify Via Style* (*Complex*) dialog appears. For details, see *Options Via Style* (*page 482*).

New Group Button

When you highlight the filename in the tree, the **New Group** button allows you to create a new group in your design technology parameters file. When you click **New Group**, the following dialog appears:

New Group Name	
New Name:	ОК
	Cancel

Type a name for the group in the New Name box. Then, click **OK**.

New Section Button

When you highlight a group name in the File Design Technology Parameters tree, the **New Section** button gives you the ability to create a new section within the selected group.

To create a section, do the following:

1. Click **New Section** in the *DTP* dialog. The *New Section Type* dialog appears:

New Section Type	×
Section Type Apertures Design Rules Class To Class Rules Global Rules Layer Sets	Layers Net Class <u>B</u> ules N <u>e</u> t Rules N <u>e</u> t Rules Pad Styles Via Styles
	Cancel

- 2. In the Section Type frame, select the section type check boxes that you want to add to the group. Once you've added a section, it is shaded out in the dialog. Available sections are listed below:
 - Class-to-Class Rules
 - Global Rules
 - Layer Sets
 - Net Class Definitions
 - Net Class Rules
 - Net Rules
 - Pad Styles
 - Via Styles
- 3. Click OK.

The selected section or sections are automatically named and added to the group.

New Item Button

When you select a section name in the File Design Technology Parameters tree, the **New Item** button allows you to create a new item in your design technology parameters file. When you click **New Item**, an item-specific dialog appears similar to the *Enter Net Class Name* dialog shown in the following figure:

Enter Net Class Name	
New Name:	ОК
1	Cancel

Type the desired item name in the New Name box. Click **OK**. This item name should either match an item name found in your design, or be the name of a new item you are creating.

Rename Button

Click the **Rename** button in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog to rename a group or item. Sections cannot be renamed.

To rename a group or item, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the group or item.
- 2. Click **Rename** and a dialog appears similar to the *Rename Net Class* dialog shown in the following figure:

Rename Net Class	
New Name:	ОК
HS308	Cancel

3. Type a name in the New Name box and click **OK**.

Delete Button

Use the **Delete** button in the *DTP* dialog to delete objects from the tree.

IMPORTANT: When a group or section is deleted, all items contained within it will be removed. Your delete selection cannot be undone.

To delete a group, section, or item:

- 1. Select a group, section, or item from the tree.
- 2. Click Delete.
- 3. When prompted to confirm your selection, click **OK**.

Statistics Button

Use the **Statistics** button in the *DTP* dialog to view statistics about the design technology parameters file. When you click this button, the following *Statistics* dialog appears.



It contains the following information:

- The type of item.
- The user name of the person creating the .dtp file.
- The date the file was created.
- The user name of the person who last modified the file.
- The date of the last modification.

Attribute Handling on Copy

For Net Rule, Class-to Class Rule, and Net Class Rule Items you can choose to replace or merge attributes when copying these rule items to a design. The Attribute Handling on Copy group box in the *Design Technology Parameters* dialog contains the following options:

- **Replace Design Attributes:** Replaces a design's rules with the rules from the design technology parameter file item.
- **Merge Attributes:** Merges the rules of the design technology parameter file item with the design's rules, favoring the rules of the design technology parameter file item over the design.

File Import Shape Route

The P-CAD Shape-Based Router runs as a separate program in Windows. As well as running the Shape-Based Router directly from the *Route Autorouters* dialog, you can launch it separately, load a Shape Route file that has been exported from P-CAD PCB, route it, save the routing results, then Import the routes back into the P-CAD PCB Editor by selecting the **File » Import » Shape Route** command.



File Import Gerber

Choose **File** » **Import** » **Gerber** to load a series of Gerber files. You can load a Gerber file into the editor to check its accuracy. Each file is loaded onto a separate layer.

You can load a Gerber file either into an empty workspace (choose **File » Clear** to clear the workspace) or superimpose it onto an existing design. Loading a file alone is usually for checking pad size, line width, or other possible errors. Superimposing a file onto a design is a good way to verify the Gerber file against the design.

To avoid the risk of cluttering a working design with unwanted Gerber geometry, save the design in its current state (choose **File » Save** or **File » Save As**) before importing data from Gerber files.

You can examine the Gerber file through the workspace display in addition to analyzing the error file displayed in Notepad.

When you choose File » Import » Gerber, the following dialog appears.

File Gerber In	
Gerber <u>Filename</u> (no file specified)	
Layer Name: Gerber Layer Number: 12 💌	ОК
View log file upon completion	Cancel

Click Gerber Filename to open the File Gerber In dialog, shown in the following figure.

File Gerber In	? ×
Look in: 🔄 Demo	- 🖶 📸 🎟 -
Accsam4pl.apr Accsam4pl.glu Accsam4pl.glu Accsam4pl.glu Accsam4pl.glu Accsam4pl.pcb Accsam4pl.pcb Accsam4pl.pcp Accsam4pl.opn Accsam4pl.opn Accsam4pl.opn Accsam4pl.npn Accsam4pl.glu Accsam4pl.sta	
File name: Files of type: Gerber Files (filename.*)	Open Cancel

Select your Gerber file and click **Open** to return to the *File Gerber In* dialog. Then, specify the **Layer Name** and **Layer Number** and select or clear the View log file upon completion check box. The layer name Gerber is provided by default, but you can change this name.

You can load multiple Gerber files onto your design file, each inhabiting its own layer. When you load a Gerber file, it automatically creates a non-signal layer named Gerber, using the next free layer in sequence. For example, if you have eleven layers, the twelfth is used.

Therefore, the layer names must be unique. So, the first file loaded would be on the layer Gerber, the next file loaded would receive the default name Gerber1, then Gerber2, etc. Normally you would load multiple files to verify that the layers are aligned and registered properly.

IMPORTANT: The D Code apertures that are called out by the loaded Gerber file must be present and be defined as they were in the original Gerber file. If a D Code is no longer present, then the program will flag the error. If the D Code is present but its definition has changed, no error will be flagged, and you may get unexpected results. For example, this could occur if you loaded an old Tango Series II Gerber file without first recreating the aperture definitions properly. Our advice is that you should not redefine D Codes at all between the creation of the Gerber file and reloading it for design file/Gerber file comparison. Aperture definitions are saved and loaded in the design file. Loading a new design file can completely change the current aperture settings. The **File** » **Clear** command does not clear current aperture definitions, so you can choose **File** » **Clear** to clear the workspace before loading a newly created Gerber file.

IMPORTANT: Do not save Gerber layers with your .pcb file. See *Deleting Gerber Layer Information (page 180)* for instructions on how to delete Gerber layers that were accidentally saved along with your design.

Click **OK** to load the photoplot file.

If the layer limit is exceeded, your design cannot be loaded using P-CAD PCB (6/400). P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of six copper layers, including a predefined Top and Bottom layer and four user-defined signal or plane layers. P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs can have a total of up to 1,000 layers.

File Import DXF

DXF (Drawing Interchange Format) files generated using AutoCAD® Version 9.0 through 14 or other conforming CAD programs can be loaded into PCB. Using this command, you can create dimensions, board outlines, manufacturing instructions, artwork, logos, etc., and then import the resulting DXF file into PCB.

Loading a DXF File

To load a DXF file into PCB, choose the **File** » **Import** » **DXF** command. A standard *Open File* dialog appears where you can navigate to the file you want to load. When you click **OK**, the *File DXF In* dialog appears as shown in the following figure:

File DXF In				
DXF File Name: C:\Accel\tutorial\Tutor.dxf				
DXF to ACCEL PCB Layer Map	ACCEL Layer			
MultiLayer <none> Sheet1 <none></none></none>	Board			
	Map Selected Layers			
	Create New Layer			
	Default Map			
Auto Map Layers				
	<u>U</u> nassign Layers			
	Remove Unneeded Mappings			
Set All Clear All				
Locate DXF Origin	DXF Units-			
Absolute Workspace Origin	🖲 Inch 🛛 OK			
C Relative <u>G</u> rid Origin	<u>С</u> т			
O Auto Adjust to <u>W</u> orkspace	C <u>M</u> m Cancel			
View Log File Upon Completion				

The *File DXF In* dialog contains the following options, which determine how the file is treated when loaded:

DXF to P-CAD PCB Layer Map

The DXF to P-CAD PCB Layer Map list displays the layers in the imported file and the PCB layer to which each is mapped. The P-CAD Layer box and the buttons located directly below it are used to specify layer mapping for selected layers.

If a DXF file contains layers whose names use AutoCAD reserved keywords (i.e., vport, view), a syntax error occurs and causes the file load to abort. Rename the layer to work around this limitation.

The buttons perform the following functions:

- **Map Selected Layers:** Each selected DXF layer is mapped to the layer chosen in the P-CAD Layer drop-down list by clicking the **Map Selected Layers** button after one or more layers has been selected.
- **Create New Layer:** Opens the *Options Layer* dialog where you can add a new layer if the desired layer does not appear in the drop-down list. To automatically create layers use the **Default Map** and **Auto Map Layers** options.

- **Default Map:** Maps the selected layers to the default layer of DXF_1. If this layer already exists the default mapping is to DXF_2, etc.
- Auto Map Layers: Maps the selected DXF layer to a corresponding PCB layer of the same name. If the DXF layer has the same name as an existing signal layer in the design, you will have to map it to a non-signal layer. If the DXF layer name exceeds the number of characters allowed in a PCB layer, the PCB layer name is truncated.
- **Unassign Layers:** Removes whatever mapping is present for the selected layers and sets the mapping to <None>.
- **Remove Unneeded Mappings:** Clears layer mappings that don't exist in the current DXF file. DXF layer mapping information is stored in the PCB.ini file.
- Set All: Selects all the layers in the list.
- Clear All: Cancels the selection of all the layers in the list.

When you click the **OK** button, PCB verifies that no more than 999 layers exist. If a DXF layer is mapped to a PCB layer that does not exist, the PCB layer is created. PCB also verifies that there are no mappings to signal or plane layers.

DXF Units

The DXF Units frame of the *File DXF In* dialog provides the ability to choose which units will be used to apply proper scaling when loading the DXF file. Click the appropriate option button to set the unit for **Inch**, **Cm** or **Mm**.

Locate DXF Origin

The P-CAD PCB workspace uses positive X and Y coordinates. Since DXF items can be placed at negative X and Y coordinates, you may have to direct P-CAD PCB to adjust the position of your imported DXF geometry. On the *File DXF In* dialog, select a method of translation to positive coordinates using the **Locate DXF Origin** buttons.

- Absolute Workspace Origin: If your DXF geometry is positioned only at positive coordinates, click the Absolute Workspace Origin button. No coordinate translation is made.
- **Relative Grid Origin:** Loads the DXF geometry so its origin is placed at the Relative Grid Origin of your workspace. The Relative Grid Origin is specified with the **Options** » **Grids** command.
- **Auto Adjust to Workspace:** Automatically adjusts the placement of your DXF geometry into positive coordinates.

When you import data into P-CAD PCB from a DXF file, and you enable the Auto Adjust to Workspace option, the P-CAD PCB automatically translates the position of the lower left extent of the DXF file data into the positive P-CAD PCB workspace. The DXF data's lower left extent is the coordinate defined by the EXTMIN variable in the header section of the DXF file. If the EXTMIN variable is absent from the DXF file, then P-CAD PCB automatically calculates a suitable solution based on the extents of the geometry in the DXF file. It is suggested that you set the current grid to a uniform value consistent with the grid of your DXF design. This grid spacing optimizes the on-grid placement of components. Set your current grid with the **Options** » **Grids** command before importing your DXF file.

If DXF geometry items still fall outside the P-CAD workspace, a warning is written to the log file and the items are not imported. Your DXF geometry can fall outside the workspace if the translated items are still positioned at negative coordinates or if the geometry is larger than the workspace size. If the geometry is larger than the workspace size, choose **Options** » **Configure** to increase your workspace size and import the DXF file again.

View Log File Upon Completion

To view the log file when the import is complete, select the **View Log File Upon Completion** check box in the *File DXF In* dialog.

Items Supported for Translation

The following items and features are supported for translation:

Header Variables

The AutoCAD[®] state variables are grouped together at the top of the file in the HEADER section. Supported variables are listed and described below, with default values in parentheses.

Variable	Description
\$ACADVER	The AutoCAD [®] drawing database version number (must be 9.0 or higher.)
\$ANGBASE	The angle zero direction. The DXF coordinate system is rotated by this angle. (0)
\$ANGDIR	The angular orientation: $1 = clockwise; 0 = counterclockwise. (0)$
\$MIRR TEXT	Mirror text if non zero. (0)
\$TEXTSIZE	Default text height.

Tables

The **DXF In** command supports the LTYPE, LAYER and STYLE tables.

Blocks

The only entries in the BLOCKS section that are supported are the dimension blocks. All dimensions that are translated come from this section.

Entities

The majority of a DXF file is made up of entities. These include lines, arcs, text, block insertions and others. Only two-dimensional entities are supported; z-axis values are ignored. All block insertion entities are ignored. Information embedded in the entities for color and layer are also ignored.

Element	Description		
LINE	DXF LINE entities have infinitesimal width. They are translated into P-CAD lines of one mil.		
ARC	DXF ARCs are translated into P-CAD arcs of one mil.		
CIRCLE	DXF CIRCLEs are translated into P-CAD arcs with a sweep angle of 360 degrees and a one mil width.		
POLYLINE	DXF POLYLINEs are a sequence of possibly tapered, straight and curved lines that are connected end-to-end. These may be open or closed. P-CAD does not support tapering and only supports normal 2-D (unflagged) DXF vertices. POLYLINEs are translated into P-CAD arcs and lines with a thickness equal to the initial POLYLINE thickness.		
LWPOLYLINE	DXF POLYLINEs are translated into P-CAD arcs and lines with a thickness equal to the initial LWPOLYLINE segment thickness.		
MTEXT	MTEXT is the same as TEXT except that MTEXT can handle multiple lines.		
VERTEX	Vertices define DXF POLYLINEs. When translated, they become the defining vertices of the translated P-CAD item. Only normal 2- D DXF vertices are supported (no spline-fit, curve-fit, 3-D mesh, or other special flags).		
SOLID	DXF solids are filled three or four sided polygons. They are translated into P-CAD polygons. Four sided solids that form a complex polygon will be ignored.		
TRACE	DXF traces are lines with thickness that can be filled or unfilled. They are treated the same as DXF solids and are translated into polygons.		
TEXT	DXF text is translated using an appropriate text style in P-CAD. True Type fonts are mapped to the same font and text height. Text that cannot be mapped to an identical font is translated into the P- CAD default font. Due to the difference in fonts, translated text strings may be of different total width than the DXF version. The bar over barred text may not align exactly with the text.		

The following is a specific (but not comprehensive) list of entries that are not supported:

- All BLOCKS, except the dimension blocks.
- SHAPE, ATTDEF, and ATTRIB entities.
- 3DLINE, 3DFACE and 3DSOLID entities.

- Curve- or spline-fit vertices or meshes for POLYLINE and VERTEX entities. Tapering POLYLINEs are also not supported.
- Three-dimensional entities and coordinates; thickness for all entities will be ignored, and only the first two values of a coordinate-triplet will be used.
- Dashed and dotted lines are converted to the P-CAD thin width.
- Color values for individual entities. Color values for entities will depend on the P-CAD primitive and layer to which the entity is translated.

DXF Import Notes

The following is a list of notes that are important or useful when using the **File » Import » DXF** command:

- The **EXPLODE** command in AutoCAD[®] can be used to transform blocks into individual entities.
- An important item to be translated from a DXF file is the dimension. AutoCAD[®] creates a new dimension block every time a dimension is moved, edited, or altered in any way. The user should use the **PURGE** command to eliminate any unreferenced copies of the dimension blocks created by AutoCAD[®]. The user should then output the design to DXF format immediately after the **PURGE** command, before editing or modifying dimensions.
- Text fonts and styles are more accurately translated from AutoCAD[®] when the style has been defined prior to entering text.

File Import PDIF

Choose File » Import » PDIF to open Pcad.pdf format design files.

Open a File

To open a PDIF file, do the following:

1. Choose File » Import » PDIF to open the following dialog.

PDIF File Na	ime				? ×
Look jn:	🔁 Demo	•	£	e ik	
Demo1_u	.pdf				
Demo2_c	pdf				
Pindemoi.	Jar				
File <u>n</u> ame:					<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	PDIF Files (*.pdf)		•		Cancel

2. Type, or select from the list, the name of the file you want to open in the Filename box.

- 3. If the file you want is not in the current folder, then type the folder name in front of the document name, or select the correct folder.
- 4. Click **Open**.

If any of the design limits are exceeded, your design cannot be loaded using P-CAD PCB (6/400).

File Import IDF

The Intermediate Data Format (IDF) format is used to exchange design data between electrical and mechanical CAD/CAE systems.

The IDF Import feature allows the mechanical designer to define the board outline in a mechanical CAD program, as well as pre-position placement-critical components and mounting holes, and then transfer this information to the PCB designer, who imports it by selecting **File * Import * IDF**. The IDF Import command can load version 2 and version 3 IDF files.

File Import IDF	×
(IDF Eilename) D:\Program F	iles\P-CAD 2001\Demo\design.brd
Board File Import Options Board Outline Drilled Mounting Holes Placement Placement Group Area Placement Outline	Offsets:
Board Outline Line Width: Layer For Placement Rooms:	X: 0.0mil Y: 0.0mil 10.0mil Top Assy Cancel

When you select **File » Import » IDF** the *File Import IDF* dialog appears. Enable those options that you wish to import from the IDF file.

Board Outline

Select this option to import board outline details contained in the .brd file. The board outline section of the IDF file is translated into lines and arcs within the PCB design. Board cutout

information will be imported as line segments only (arcs are converted to line segments). Existing lines and arcs found on the Board layer are removed during import.

Drilled Mounting Holes

A free pad is placed for each Drilled Mounting Hole in the IDF file. The pad styles defined in the PCB are first searched for a pad which has the correct hole size, and has its shape set to mounting hole. If a suitable pad is not found a new pad style is created for each unique mounting hole in the IDF file.

Placement

When this option is enabled existing PCB components are updated (location, orientation and side of board), and new components are imported. Note that components are only imported if a matching pattern can be found in the current libraries. Components are identified by their RefDes.

If an existing component is Fixed on the PCB then it is owned by the PCB (ownership is assumed to be ECAD), and is not updated during IDF import. If a component in the IDF file is has its ownership set to MCAD it is set to Fixed in the PCB. In the case of an ownership conflict, the PCB ownership takes precedence.

Placement Group Area and Placement Outline

The Placement Group Area represents the name, position and dimensions of a room. When this option is selected, the importer tries to match any of these objects found in the IDF file to existing rooms on the PCB, if an exact match to an existing room is found the IDF definition is not imported, if there is no existing room then a new room is created.

The Placement Outline defines the maximum allowed height of the room, whose name, position and dimensions are defined by the Placement Group Area.

Routing Keepout

When this option is selected any routing keepout information contained in the IDF file is imported as polygon keepouts in the PCB design.

File Export Shape Route

The P-CAD Shape-Based Router runs as a separate program in Windows. As well as running the Shape-Based Router directly from the *Route Autorouters* dialog, you can launch it separately and load a Shape Route file. To create a Shape Route file select **File » Export » Shape Route** from the menus. The *File PRF Out* dialog appears, where you can select the location and name of the PRF file and create the PRF file.

File Export Gerber

Choose **File** » **Export** » **Gerber** to output Gerber files with a variety of options and specifications. You can cancel this command before the dialog appears (while the program is searching the database for items) by clicking **Cancel** or pressing **ESC**.

Choose File » Export » Gerber to open the following dialog.

File Gerber Out	
Output Path: C:\	
Output Files:	
ACCSAMPL.TOP ACCSAMPL.BOT	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files
ACCSAMPL.SLK ACCSAMPL.MSK ACCSAMPL.ALL	Apertures
	Drill Symbols
	Gerber <u>F</u> ormat
	<u>G</u> enerate Output Files
•	Compress Output Files:
<u>S</u> et All	Self-Extracting (.EXE)
<u>C</u> lear All	Compressed (.ZIP)
(Close

There are several dialogs that you can gain access to by clicking a button in the *File Gerber Out* dialog, as shown in the following chart.



Setup Output Files

Click **Setup Output Files** to open a dialog where you can set up multiple output files with specific output options.

Setup Output Files		
	- Output File Selection	18
Output File:	Layers:	File Extension:
	Top Assy Top Silk	⊻ Offset: 0.000mm
	Top Paste Top Mask	Y Offset: 0.000mm
	Top Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Assy Board	Pads RefDes Vias Iype Pad/Via Holes Value Mo Mt Hole Cu Mirror Thiles Thiles
		Drill Symbols
		Size: 2.032mm
	<u>S</u> et All	C Plated Holes C Non-plated Holes
	<u>C</u> lear All	All Holes
<u>A</u> dd Modify	Apply <u>Layer</u> Set	
<u>D</u> elete	Output Path	Accel
	Vie <u>w</u> log file upon	completion Close

Output File List Box

The Output File list contains the filenames of the output files you set up. Each set of options you specify (described in the following paragraphs) comprises a separate output file, differentiated by its filename extension. After you have set options and the extension for a particular file, you can click **Add** to add it to the list. After you have a file list, you can choose to change a file (click **Modify**), or delete it from the list (click **Delete**).

Your output files will have the same base name as the design file, but each with a unique extension. Typical file name extensions used to differentiate files would be layer-specific, such as .top, .bot, and .tsk (i.e., Top, Bottom, and Top Silk layer).

Output File Selections Area

The Output File Selections frame allows you to set options for each output job such as: layer, file name extension, X and Y offset, drill symbol size, and items included (Pads, Type, etc.), and the output path of the particular file.

- File Extension should be a meaningful name for the output (e.g., .top). Avoid potentially conflicting file name extensions such as .exe and .pcb. When you click **Add**, the base filename with the file name extension you specify will be added to the file list.
- X Offset and Y Offset allow you to set the origin of the plot in a different position than the home position of the plotter. For X offset, enter a negative number to offset the plot towards the left, positive to the right. For Y offset, enter a negative number to offset downward, positive to offset upward.
- RefDes, Type, and Value check boxes are typically selected for silkscreen generation, with the silkscreen layers.
- Mirror is typically used to produce a mirror-image output for bottom layers (e.g., Bottom, Bottom Silk, Paste Mask, Solder Mask, Assembly, etc.). Some fabrication shops prefer to mirror the output themselves, so check with them before using Mirror.

• Pads, Vias and Pad/Via Holes should be selected if you want them included in the Gerber output.

When producing an output file for a specific hole range, you need to select all the layers on which a pad and via's hole has been defined.

- No Mt Hole Cu must be selected if you want to exclude the mounting hole copper from the output.
- Titles provides the option to include or exclude Title Sheets that exist on the selected layers in Gerber output. Select this box to include titles.
- Drill Symbols frame size value determines the sizes of the drill symbols output in the particular file.
- Select or clear the check boxes to include or exclude items and attributes from the output.
- Output Path allows you to output the files to a particular location. The default setting for the output is the directory of the current design. You may type a new output destination directly into the box, or click the **Output Path** button to open the *Windows Search* dialog where you can navigate to the desired directory.
- View error file upon completion opens WordPad where you can view the log file.
- The Layers box lists all current layers of the design. You can highlight any number of them for output to a particular file.
- The Layer Sets box is used to designate specific, predefined layer sets to output. Select a layer set from the list and click **Apply Layer Set**.

To generate a drill symbol drawing, you must enable all layers that match the pad stack (plane and signal). Also, you must enable pads, vias, and drill symbols.

After you have set up your output files list in the dialog, click **Close** and return to the *Gerber File Out* dialog, which will list the files that you set up for output.

Apertures Assignments

To assign/describe apertures automatically or manually, click the **Apertures** button in the *File Gerber Out* dialog to open the following *Aperture Assignments* dialog.

Aperture Assignments			
Item	Aperture	Item:	
PAD EL 100.0mil 60.0mil 32.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D017 🔺	Type:	[Drawn Symbols]
PAD EL 115.0mil 75.0mil 32.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D018		
PAD EL 60.0mil 60.0mil 38.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) RAD EL 60.0mil 60.0mil 29.0mil 12.5deg (0.0mil 0.0mil)	D019		
PAD EL 60.0mil 60.0mil 38.0mil 90.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D019		
PAD EL 62.0mil 62.0mil 32.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D020		
PAD EL 70.0mil 70.0mil 46.0mil 90.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D021		
PAD EL 75.0mil 75.0mil 38.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	D022		
PAD EL 75.0mil 75.0mil 38.0mil 12.5deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) PAD EL 75.0mil 75.0mil 39.0mil 90.0deg (0.0mil 0.0mil)	D022	Aperture:	
PAD EL 85 Omil 85 Omil 46 Omil 90 Odeg (0.0mil 0.0mil)	D022	Apendie.	10
	•	D Lode:	10
		Shape:	Ellipse
		X Dim:	TU.Umil
Assign Unassign Unassign All		Y Dim:	10.0mil
		H Dia:	0.0mil
		Type:	Draw
<u>Ead/via noies</u> Draw aperture size: [10.0mi		Angle:	0.0deg
Clear current apertures		Offset	(0.0mil.0.0mil)
☑ Draw Rotated or Offset Pad/Vias			(,
✓ Draw Polygon Pad/Vias		Close	
		CI036	

The list of this dialog displays the items of the loaded design file and any aperture assignments that may exist for those items. You can click a line and the item's characteristics will be listed to the right of the list. If an aperture is assigned to the item, the aperture characteristics are listed there as well.

To manually describe and assign an aperture (or change an existing assignment), double-click a line, or select a line and click **Assign**, to open the *Describe/Assign Apertures* dialog.

Click **Unassign** to delete the aperture assignment for the item that is selected in the Assignment list.

Click **Unassign All** to clear all aperture assignments. This allows you to describe and assign apertures using the Auto Assign feature.

Auto (Automatic Describe/Assign)

To automatically assign apertures, set the appropriate options and click **Auto**. PCB automatically assigns all apertures that have not been assigned manually.

- You can select the **Pad/Via holes** check box to have PCB create apertures with holes, but this is generally not recommended for two reasons:
- Drilling holes through the board could break drill bits if the flashed pad/via holes don't line up through the board exactly.
- Non-hole apertures are usually less numerous; a 50 x 50 round with no hole can be used for a 50 x 50 on the Top layer and also for a 40 x 40 via with a 5 mil swell solder mask.
- **Clear current apertures.** This check box is selected by default. If the check box is cleared, the current apertures remain. Typically, you want to select this check box to clear apertures when you auto-assign.
- **Draw Rotated or Offset Pads/Vias.** Select this check box to assign the draw aperture to pads and vias with non-orthogonal rotations, or offset holes (non-orthogonal being rotations other than 0 or multiples of 90-degrees).

- **Draw Polygon Pad/Via.** Select this check box to have the program draw polygon pads. When the check box is cleared, polygon pads are assigned flash apertures.
- **Draw Aperture Size.** Enter a value in this box to define the default draw aperture size for any unassigned apertures, such as drawn drill symbols and polygons.

After you have taken these steps, click **Auto** to automatically describe and assign all unassigned apertures to the appropriate items.

Assign (Manual)

To manually describe/assign apertures, click **Assign** to open the *Describe/Assign Apertures* dialog. You can also double-click an item line in the previous dialog to open the dialog, shown in the following figure:

Describe/Assign Apertures	
Assign Aperture to: [Drawn Symbols]	Item:
Apercures: D010 EL X10.0mil Y10.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil.0.0mil) C	Type: [Drawn Symbols]
D011 EL X12.0mil Y12.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D D012 EL X15.0mil Y15.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D	
D013 EL X20.0mil Y20.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D D014 EL X25.0mil Y25.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D	
D015 EL X30.0mil Y30.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D D016 EL X50.0mil Y50.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D	
D017 EL X100.0mil Y60.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) D018 EL X115.0mil Y75.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil)	Anathura
D019 EL X60.0mil Y60.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil,0.0mil) F D020 EL X62.0mil Y62.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil.0.0mil) F	D Code: 10
D021 EL X70.0mil Y70.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil.0.0mil) F D022 FL X75.0mil Y75.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0.0mil 0.0mil) F	Shape: Ellipse
T F	X Dim: 10.0mil Y Dim: 10.0mil
	H Dia: 0.0mil Angle: 0.0deg
<u>A</u> dd <u>M</u> odify <u>D</u> elete	X-Off: 0.0mil Y-Off: 0.0mil
	Aperture Comment:
Close	Ellipse X10.0mil Y10.0mil H0.0mil 0.0deg (0

The item name you highlighted on the previous dialog appears in the Assign Aperture to field at the top of this dialog. If the item was already assigned an aperture, that aperture name appears highlighted in the Apertures list. The item characteristics are listed to the right of the list, and the aperture characteristics are listed there as well (if an aperture is assigned).

In the D Code box, enter a value in the range of 10 through 999 for the draft code used to select the aperture. The program automatically prefixes the value with the letter **D**.

The **Shape** combo box displays the aperture shape. The following shapes are supported:



• **Ellipse** is a rounded shape with separately specifiable X and Y dimensions; an ellipse with equal X and Y dimensions is a circle (frequently called a round).

Embedded apertures for flashed elliptical pads are defined as ovals.

- **Oval** is a short line segment with round end caps (half-circles), the radius of which is 1/2 the length of the shortest side; if the X and Y dimensions are equal, this too is circular or round.
- **Polygonal** is a free-form polygonal shape defined using the *Polygonal Pad Shapes* dialog. For details about this dialog, see *Options Pad Style* (page 472).
- **Rounded Rectangle** contains 1/4 circles on the corners of a rectangle. The 1/4 circle radius is 1/4 the length of the shortest side.
- **Rectangle** shapes are X=width and Y=height.

If you want a circle pad, you use the ellipse shape with identical height and width (the example shown is an oblong ellipse). If you want a square pad, use a rectangle with identical height and width

• Thermal apertures are typically used for connection to planes, where heat is a factor. These apertures are constructed from two or four arc segments separated from each other by spokes. The other dimension is the diameter of the outer edge of the arc-segments, the inner dimension measures the inside edge, and the gap measures the spoke width, or amount of copper connection on a reverse-screened plane layer. Thermals are always circular, and the size is a function of the pad/via hole size.

Thermal Spoke Apertures



Thermal Diameters and Spoke Width



Chapter 12: File Commands

• A **Target** is used for layer registration.



Target

• Mounting Hole is a circle shape with a cross in it used to represent a mounting hole.



Mounting Hole

- **Drill Symbol** could be any of the drill symbol shapes assigned in the *Drill Symbols* dialog.
- X Dim and Y Dim are the X (horizontal) and Y (vertical) dimensions for the aperture. These values may be entered with your choice of units.
- The H Dia is the hole diameter for the aperture. This value may be entered with your choice of units. The hole diameter cannot exceed the minimum aperture dimension.
- Angle is the amount in degrees that an aperture is rotated.
- X Off and Y Off are horizontal and vertical offset amounts of the hole in an aperture.



The Type combo box lists the aperture types (type indicates whether the aperture can be flashed, drawn or both). The type is specified using either Flash, Draw, or Flash/Draw. Flash and Draw are typically specified for use with mechanical or vector photoplotters, because different holders must be used for the two types of apertures. Flash/Draw is used with laser photoplotters, which do not have this limitation.

The Comment box allows you to enter a comment of up to 32 characters. This is especially helpful for further describing thermal reliefs and drill symbols.

Available Procedures

There are basically four procedures available in this dialog:

• To create a new aperture, enter information in the D Code, Shape, and other fields. Then, click **Add**. The Shape and Type combo boxes allow you to select the shape and type of the aperture.

For polygonal pad shapes, X Dim and Y Dim options are unavailable and the *Polygonal Pad Shapes* dialog appears when you click the **Add** or **Modify** button. See *Defining Polygonal Pad Shapes* (page 477) for more information.

• To modify an existing aperture, change the aperture descriptions as appropriate. However, keeping the same name (D Code). When finished, click **Modify**. The assignment remains the same (item to aperture), but the characteristics of the aperture have been changed.

For polygonal pad shapes, X Dim and Y Dim options are unavailable and the *Polygonal Pad Shapes* dialog appears when you click **Modify**.

You can use the *Polygonal Pad Shapes* dialog to browse through the list of polygon apertures to see what they look like.

- To create a new aperture based on existing one, change the name (D Code) of the aperture and change the aperture descriptions as appropriate. Then, click **Add**.
- To delete an aperture assignment/description, click **Delete**.

Click **Close** to save your changes. You return to the *Aperture Assignments* dialog, which lists your assignments. The currently selected aperture is used as the assignment for the item shown in the dialog.

Setting Drill Symbols

From the *File Gerber Out* dialog, click **Drill Symbols** to open the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog. From this dialog you can assign drill symbols either manually or automatically.

Drill Symbol Assi	gnments		
Hole Diameter 18.0mi 26.0mi 32.0mi 33.0mi 46.0mi 124.0mil	Plated Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	Drill Symbol	Drill Symbols:
<u>A</u> ssign Au	Unassign Itomatic As:	U <u>n</u> assign All	Close

Automatic Assign

To automatically assign drill symbols, click **Automatic Assign** in the *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog. PCB automatically clears (unassigns) all existing assignments and then automatically assigns all of them.

The list of this dialog displays the hole diameters of the loaded design file, plating information, and any drill symbols that may exist for those hole diameters, allowing you to view which items are assigned and what those assignments are.

- 1. Click Unassign All to clear all existing drill symbol assignments.
- 2. Click **Automatic Assign** to automatically assign a drill symbol to each hole diameter in the design.

Manual Assign

To manually assign drill symbols:

- 1. Click Unassign All to clear any drill symbol assignments.
- 2. Click a hole diameter in the list to highlight it.
- 3. Click the drill symbol you want to assign to the hole diameter. The drill symbols are listed in the Drill Symbols combo box/list on the right of the dialog. The Assign and Unassign buttons become available.
- 4. Click Assign. The drill symbol will appear next to the hole diameter it is assigned to in the list.

You can manually unassign drill symbols in the same manner.

Gerber Format

To gain access to the Gerber options, click **Gerber Format** in the *File Gerber Out* dialog. The following *Gerber Format* dialog appears:

Gerber Format		
Output Units Numeric Format		
Inches	⊙ <u>4</u> .4	
C <u>M</u> illimeters	O <u>5</u> .3	
☐ <u>G</u> 54 w/apertures ☐ Include <u>ap</u> erture definitions (as RS-274-X mass parameters)		
Close		

Select Inches or Millimeters from the Output Units frame.

Select one of the following options in the Numeric Format frame, on the basis of the required resolution.

- The format 4.4 means that there are four digits to the left of the decimal point and four digits to the right.
- The format 5.3 means that there are five digits to the left of the decimal point and three digits to the right.
- The default Gerber output format is RS-274-D. To output this format, clear the **Include Aperture Definitions** check box.

The G54 With Apertures determines whether or not to send a G54 tool-select code with each command to change apertures.

The Include Aperture Definitions check box determines whether definitions and assignments macros are to be included in the output. These embedded apertures use RS-274-X Gerber format.

Click **Close** to exit the dialog, and the format you specified will be applied when the output is generated.

Compress Output Files

You may elect to produce files in a compressed format by selecting the **Compressed (.ZIP)** or **Self-Extracting (.EXE)** check boxes in the *File Gerber Out* dialog.

Both (.zip) and (.exe) files will compress the selected output files into one smaller file. The (.zip) option produces a smaller file than the (.exe) option but requires an Unzip.exe program to decompress the file when you need to access it. The compression done in the self-extracting (.exe) option outputs a larger file than is output by the (.zip) option because its uncompress function is included in the compress program.

If the process is canceled prior to execution, the output files are not compressed. If a compressed image exists, you must confirm that the file is to be overwritten. Compressed Gerber output files are identified by the .exe or .zip file name extensions added to the base name of the design file. For example, MyboardGbr.zip.

Generate Output Files

After you have set up the output files, aperture assignments, drill symbols, Gerber format, and optionally selected a compression format, you can generate the output files by selecting them from the Output Files list and clicking **Generate Output Files** in the *File Gerber Out* dialog.

File Gerber Out	
Output Path: C:V	
Output Files:	
ACCSAMPL.TOP ACCSAMPL.BOT ACCSAMPL.SLK	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files
ACCSAMPL.MSK ACCSAMPL.ALL	Apertures
	Drill Symbols
	Gerber <u>F</u> ormat
	<u>G</u> enerate Output Files
	Compress Output Files:
<u>S</u> et All	Self-Extracting (.EXE)
<u>C</u> lear All	Compressed (.ZIP)
	Close

A progress indicatory displays the name of the file being converted. When finished, the log file is displayed if the View error file upon completion box was selected in the *Setup Output Files* dialog.

Text objects in TrueType font mode causes the Gerber output process to fail. An error is written to the Gerber log file. Change the display type of all text styles in the design to stroke font mode and generate the Gerber file again

File Export N/C Drill

Choose **File** » **Export** » **N/C Drill** to output an N/C Drill file for your design in Excellon format. You can cancel this command before the dialog appears (while the program is searching the database). Choose **File** » **Export** » **N/C Drill** to open the following dialog.

File N/C Drill		
Output Path: C:V		
Output Files:		
	Setup <u>O</u> utput Files	
	<u>I</u> ools	
	N/C Drill <u>F</u> ormat	
	Generate Output Files	
	Compress Output Files:	
<u>S</u> et All	Self-Extracting (.EXE)	
<u>C</u> lear All	Compressed (.ZIP)	
Close		

The *File N/C Drill* dialog allows you to output individual or multiple files in compressed, noncompressed or self-extracting executable formats. Before you generate output, you may need to establish N/C Drill settings in some of the multiple dialogs available from the *File N/C Drill* dialog, as shown in the following figure.



⁽manual describe/assign tools)

When you have established all of the options for output files, tool assignments, and other drill settings, the resulting output files will be listed in the Output Files list. You can individually select the filenames to enable or disable a file for output. **Set All** selects all of the files for output (you can then deselect individually). **Clear All** cancels the selection of all files (you can then select files

individually). Then, click **Generate Output Files** to generate drill files according to what you have specified.

Setup Output Files

When you click **Setup Output Files** in the *File N/C Drill* dialog, the following dialog appears.

Setup Output Files			
Output File:	Output File Selection	15	
	Layers: Top Mid 1 Mid 2 Mid 3 Mid 3 Mid 4 Mid 5 Mid 6 Mid 6 Mid 7 Mid 8 Bottom	Eile extension: ☆ offset: Y offset: C Plated Hole C Non-plated © All <u>H</u> oles	0.0mil 0.0mil es Holes
Add Modify Delete	<u>S</u> et All <u>C</u> lear All Apply Layer Set Output path C:√ View jog file upon	completion	Close

The filenames for the output files you set up here are determined by the individual file name extensions you give them (e.g., filename.nc1, filename.nc2). Most of the time only one file is used for N/C Drill, so that you have the design filename as the root name, and the extension as .ncd. This is to differentiate it from the regular design file and Gerber files in the same folder (.pcb, .top, .bot, etc.)

The Layers list fills with defined signal layers; no non-signal layers appear.

When producing an output file for a specific hole range, you need to select all the layers on which a pad and via's hole has been defined. In this way it is possible to generate files for blind and buried vias. If your board contains only through-hole pads/vias (not blind or buried vias), then only one file is necessary, and it should contain all of the signal and plane layers.

The Layer Sets box is used to designate specific, predefined layer sets to output. To select a layer set, select a layer set from the list and click **Apply Layer Set**.

You can perform four basic procedures for output files from within this dialog:

- Create an output file. Specify an extension (e.g., nc1) and the X,Y offset settings. Choose the hole style to be output. Select layers to be included or use the **Set All** or **Clear All** button to select all or cancel the selection of all layers, respectively. For example, if you set all layers, you can then cancel the selection of one or two layers that you want to exclude. Click **Add**.
- Modify an existing output file. Select a filename from the list. Keep the same file name extension, but change the settings accordingly, including X, Y offset, and layers and hole styles to be included. Click **Modify**.

- Create a new output file from an existing one. Select (highlight) a filename from the list. Change the extension of the file, and either change settings and included layers, or leave them alone, as appropriate. Select the desired hole style to be output. Click **Add**.
- Delete an output file from the list. Select (highlight) a filename from the list. Click **Delete**.

Specify the destination of your output files by specifying the path in the Output Path box.

You can also select or clear the View error file upon completion check box.

Click **Close** to save your output files settings and return to the *File N/C Drill* dialog.

Tools Assignments

To assign N/C Drill tools, click **Tools** in the *File N/C Drill* dialog. The following *Tool Assignments* dialog appears.

Tool Assignmer	its			
Hole Hole 26.0mil Hole 26.0mil Hole 32.0mil Hole 38.0mil Hole 46.0mil Hole 124.0mil	Plated Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	Tool 101 18.0mil 102 26.0mil 103 32.0mil 104 38.0mil 105 46.0mil 105 46.0mil 106 124.0mil	Hole Plated: Yes Diameter: 18.0mil Tool Tool code: 1 Diameter: 18.0mil	
Assign Unassign Unassign All Automatic Describe/Assign				

In this dialog you can unassign tools, and then either automatically or manually describe/assign what remains.

To manually describe/assign tools, click a line to select it, then click **Assign** to open the *Describe/Assign Tools* dialog. Or you can double-click on a hole/tool line to open the dialog.

To individually unassign a tool, select a tool assignment in the list to highlight it, then click **Unassign**. To unassign all tools, click **Unassign All**.

Click **Auto** to automatically describe/assign all remaining unassigned tools. The **Auto** button always assigns unique drill tools to holes that have equivalent size, but differing plating. Select the **Clear current tools** check box and the tools will automatically clear when you click **Auto**.

Click **Close** when your descriptions and assignments are set.

Assign (Manual)

Click Assign to open the following dialog, where you can manually describe/assign tools.

Describe/Assign Tools		
Describe/Assign Tool to: Assign Tool to: Tools: T01 18.0mil T02 26.0mil T03 32.0mil T04 38.0mil T05 46.0mil T06 124.0mil	Hole 18.0mil (Plated) Hole Plated: Yes Diameter: 18.0mil Tool Tool Tool 18.0mil	
<u>A</u> dd <u>M</u> odify <u>D</u> elete	Close	

The hole name of the hole or tool you highlighted on the previous dialog appears at the top of this dialog in the **Assign Tool to** field.

All tools appear in the list; if the hole already has a tool assigned to it, then that tool is selected in the Tools list, and the tool's Tool code and Tool Diameter and Hole Plated and Hole Diameter values appear in the appropriate frames. If the hole has no tool assigned (no tool is highlighted) then the Tool frame boxes are blank. The non-editable Hole frame always displays the Hole Diameter, Yes if the hole is Plated or No if non-plated.

In the Tool Code box, you can enter a value in the range of 1 through 80 for the tool code used to select the drill bit. The program automatically prefixes the value with the letter T and fills in the leading zero for codes T01 through T09.

In the Diameter box, you can enter a value to determine the diameter of the drill bit.

There are four procedures available in this dialog:

- **Create a new tool assignment** by describing/assigning the tool (filling in the T Code and Diameter) and clicking **Add** to assign it to the hole.
- **Modify an existing tool assignment** by changing the Diameter, but keeping the same T Code, then clicking **Modify**. The assignment remains the same (tool to hole), but the diameter of the tool has been changed.
- Use an existing tool to create a new one by changing the name (T Code) of the tool, and then using the same diameter and hole assignment. You would then click Add, in effect creating a new tool assignment.
- **Delete a tool assignment/description** by clicking **Delete**. The tool assignment must be highlighted to delete it.

Click **Close** to save changes. You then return to the *Tool Assignments* dialog, which lists your assignments.

N/C Drill Format

To establish N/C Drill format settings, click **N/C Drill Format** in the *File N/C Drill* dialog. The following *N/C Drill Format* dialog appears.

N/C Drill Format
Output Units
Inches
C <u>M</u> illimeters
Output Code Type
C El <u>A</u> Odd
ASCII <u>E</u> ven
C ASCII None
Zero Suppression
Leading
C <u>T</u> railing
C <u>N</u> one
Close

In the Output Units frame, if you select Inches, the units are in inches and the format is automatically set to 2.4 (two digits to the left of the decimal point and four digits to the right). If you select Millimeters, the format is automatically set to 4.2 (four digits to the left of the decimal point and three digits to the right).

Select the appropriate buttons in the Output Code Type and Zero Suppression frames. Check with the fabrication house for the appropriate settings. These options are saved in your Pcb.ini file.

Compress Output Files

As with File Gerber Out, you may elect to produce files in a compressed format by selecting the **Compressed (.ZIP)** or **Self-Extracting (.EXE)** check box in the *File N/C Drill* dialog.

Both (.zip) and (.exe) files will compress the selected output files into one smaller file. The (.zip) option produces a smaller file than the (.exe) option but requires an Unzip.exe program to decompress the file when you need to access it. The compression done with the self-extracting (.exe) option outputs a larger file than the (.zip) option because its uncompress function is included in the compress program.

After you have established settings in *N/C Drill Format*, click **Close** to save settings and return to the *File N/C Drill* dialog.

File Export DXF

The **File** » **Export** » **DXF** command is used to create DXF files of your PCB designs. These files can then be transferred to AutoCAD and other mechanical CAD packages. The output is compatible with AutoCAD[®] Version 9.0, and above.

File DXF Out		
DXF <u>Filename</u> Layers: Top Silk Top Paste Top Mask Top Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Silk	Untitled.DXF Drill Symbols Drill Symbols Drill Symbols Sjze: 80.0mil Dill Symbols D	DXF Units © Inch © <u>C</u> m © <u>M</u> m
Board Set All Clear All Apply Layer Set	Selected Objects Draft Component Height No Mt Hole Cu Include Title Sheet Include Irue Type Fonts	OK Cancel

When you choose File » Export » DXF, the following File DXF Out dialog appears:

To use this dialog, do the following:

1. Click **DXF Filename**. The following *File DXF Out* dialog appears, so you can select a file or enter a file name.

File DXF Ou	t				? ×
Save jn:	🔄 Demo	•	E	d i	8-8- 5-5- 8-6-
Htrdemo.	dxf				
MODFAX	10. dxf				
<u> </u>					
File <u>n</u> ame:					<u>S</u> ave
Save as tupe	DXE Files (* dyf)		-		Connect
11.0 do 300	- [0111 1 100 (.Uni)			_	Cancel

- 2. Type the name of the DXF file to you want to save in the Filename box.
- 3. Click **Save**. You return to the *File DXF Out* dialog.
- 4. Select the PCB layers you wish to output using the Layers list. Each PCB layer is output to a separate DXF layer. The **Set All** and **Clear All** buttons let you select and clear all the board layers at one time.

You can use the Layer Sets box to designate specific, predefined layer sets to output by selecting a layer set from the list and clicking **Apply Layer Set**.

- 5. If you select **Output Drill Symbols**, you need to specify a size for the resulting drill symbols. The default value is 80 mils (or the equivalent if you're in metric mode). To use a different value, type it in the Size box. If you specify zero, the Drill Drawing layer is output without drill symbols.
- 6. Select your desired hole output options: Plated Holes, Non-plated Holes or All Holes.

To make or examine drill symbol assignment, click **Setup**. The *Drill Symbol Assignments* dialog appears. For details, see *File Export Gerber (page 253)*.

- 7. Choose the desired output unit, **Inch**, **Cm** or **Mm**, by clicking the appropriate option button in the DXF Units area.
- 8. If you want to output only certain objects, select those objects in the design and select the **Selected Objects** check box.
- 9. Select the **Draft** check box to output in draft mode.

DXF polylines are normally used for all lines, arcs, and pad and via shapes. A room consists of a polyline and two vertices. Solids are normally used for polygons. Polylines are filled lines with thickness. Select the **Draft** check box to output DXF arcs, lines, and circles instead of polylines, and polygon outlines instead of DXF solids. Draft mode produces smaller files that process faster, but the drawings are not technically accurate since the lines have no width and areas are not filled.

- 10. Check the **Component Height** box to output the component height. For more information, see *Component Height Check Box (page 272)*.
- 11. Suppress the output of mounting hole copper with a check next to the No Mt Hole Cu box.

- 12. Check the Include Title Sheet box to output title sheets.
- 13. Check the **Include True Type Fonts** box to output true type text. Clearing this box allows you to export a DXF file that is compatible with Revision 9 DXF. True Type Fonts are compatible only with Revision 14 DXF when the Include True Type Fonts option is enabled, PCB outputs text as MTEXT; otherwise it is output as TEXT.
- 14. Click **OK** to generate the DXF output file. While the file is generating, the Status Line indicates progress by displaying the current layer being output. While the file is being generated, you can press **ESC** or **right-click** to cancel the operation.

Component Height Check Box

When you select the Component Height check box, PCB automatically detects valid ComponentHeight attributes assigned to components, and writes corresponding component height geometry to the DXF.

PCB uses the geometric primitives in a component's pattern to produce component geometry in a DXF (circles, lines, arcs, and polygons). Pads, vias, text, and signal layer items are ignored. Component height geometry is created in the DXF on layers that are consistent with the source geometry.

In the DXF, the height of an individual component extends upward or downward from the design, depending on whether the component resides on the top or bottom layer.

When the DXF is read into a 3-D CAD system (such as AutoCAD), the specified heights are represented as geometric elements of the proper PCB components when viewed in 3-D mode.

DXF Output Considerations

- Layers. Items are output to individual layers, which keep their PCB names. DXF substitutes the underscore for unsupported characters such as spaces to maintain compatibility with AutoCAD naming conventions. If AutoCAD reserved keywords are used in the PCB layer name, and you import this file back to PCB, a syntax error occurs causing the file load to abort.
- **Blocks**. DXF blocks are used to combine individual entities into a common unit, to be treated as a whole by the CAD package, analogous to a part or component. Blocks are used, where possible, to make CAD processing easier, and to reduce the size of the DXF file. For example, a component block has the name of the reference designator; exploding a component block produces text (for attributes) and a pattern block. This in turn can be exploded to produce some single items and padstyle blocks. These can be exploded to produce padshape blocks; which can be exploded to produce solids and polylines.
- **Polygons.** PCB polygons are also represented as blocks containing a collection of three- or four-sided solids. In this way they can be processed as a unit.
- **Copper Pours**. PCB copper pours are represented as blocks containing a collection of lines that outline and fill the copper pour. In this way they can be treated as a unit.
- Lines. When not in Draft mode, lines consist of a straight polyline and two round endcaps. Note that due to limitations in how blocks are scaled in DXF, lines are not blocks; the endcaps

and polylines are separate from one another. In Draft mode, lines become DXF LINEs with no endcaps.

- Arcs. When not in Draft mode, arcs consist of a curved polyline and two round endcaps. Note that due to limitations in how blocks are scaled in DXF, arcs are not blocks; the endcaps and polylines are separate from one another. In Draft mode, arcs become DXF ARCs with no endcaps.
- **Text**. True Type font text styles are created and included in the DXF file. P-CAD stroke font text strings are converted into DXF text strings of the same height, rotation, mirroring, and justification; the AutoCAD® STANDARD font is used. Note that due to the difference in fonts, translated text strings may be of different total width than in PCB.
- Pads and Vias. These are blocks of pad shapes, which are in turn blocks of SOLIDs and POLYLINEs. For example, a rounded rectangle is a block consisting of two SOLIDs forming a thick "plus" and four circular POLYLINEs in the corners. A pad is a block containing a stack of what could be different shapes on different layers. When not in Draft mode, these shapes are filled; in Draft mode, only the outlines are represented with lines, arcs, and circles. Pads and vias are not output with holes.
- Selected Objects. When specific objects have been selected for inclusion in the DXF file, they are exported regardless of the layer on which they reside. A single layer object can be exported even if its layer is not selected. A selected multi-layer object includes all of its pieces, even when some of the pieces reside on unselected layers. Selecting objects overrides layer selection.
- **Title Sheets**. Title sheets can be included in the DXF output file by enabling the Include Title Sheet option. Block output of title sheets are named TITLE_SHEET_xx, where xx is the layer number on which the title sheet resides. The title blocks consist of lines, text and other objects that form the title sheet and title block.

File Export PDIF

Choose File » Export » PDIF to create PDIF files of your PCB designs.

PDIF File Export

To export a PDIF file, do the following:

- 1. Choose File » Export » PDIF. The PDIF File Name dialog appears:
- 2. Type the filename you want to use in the Filename box.

If the current folder is not appropriate, then either type the folder name in front of the document name, or select the correct folder.

- 3. Make sure the correct file name extension is selected in the Save File as Type list.
- 4. Click **Save** to save the file as you have specified.

File Export IDF

The Intermediate Data Format (IDF) format is used to exchange design data between electrical and mechanical CAD/CAE systems.

The IDF Export feature allows you to transfer design data from the P-CAD PCB Editor to a mechanical designer, who can then perform solid model form-fit analysis of the assembled PCB in the product enclosure. You can export to an IDF file by selecting the **File *Export *IDF** command. The IDF file is created in the IDF version 3 format.

File Export IDF	×			
(IDF Filename) D:\Program Fil	les\P-CAD 2001\Demo\design.brd			
Board File Export Options				
☑ Board Outline	Drilled Holes			
Drilled Holes	All Holes			
✓ Placement	C Mounting Holes Only			
Placement <u>G</u> roup Area	C Minimum <u>H</u> ole Diameter			
✓ Placement <u>O</u> utline	Djameter: 0.0mil			
Routing <u>K</u> eepout				
Routing Outline				
Components				
C Components <u>W</u> ith IDF_C	OMP Attribute			
Board <u>I</u> hickness: 64.0mil				
<u> </u>	Cancel			

When you select **File** » **Export** » **IDF** the *File Export IDF* dialog appears. Enable those options that you wish to include in the IDF file.

When you click OK to complete the export process 2 files created, a BRD file, which details all the board information that you chose to export, and a PRO file, which is a library file detailing the components.

Board Outline

Select this option to export board outline details contained in the PCB design. The board outline is the largest closed shape on the board layer, made up of lines and arcs. All other lines and arcs that do not constitute this polygon are exported. If there is no closed shape on the board layer a

bounding rectangle of all the primitives is used. Design cutout information is exported as line and arc segments.

Drilled Holes

Export the location and diameter of drill holes, according to the option selected in the Drilled Holes frame. For each hole exported, the entry in the IDF file contains information for diameter, position, plating style, hole type and owner (MCAD, ECAD or UNOWNED). Component pads and routing vias are set to ECAD, free pads are set to UNOWNED.

- All Holes: component thru hole pads, free thru hole pads, and vias are exported.
- Mounting Holes: free thru hole pads with their pad shape set to mounting hole are exported.
- **Minimum Hole Diameter:** component thru hole pads, free thru hole pads, and vias with a hole diameter greater than the amount specified are included in the IDF file.

Placement

When this option is selected, component information contained in the PCB design is exported. Information related to component RefDes, position, side, rotation and whether it is fixed or not, is exported into the Placement area of the .brd file. For each component that is exported, a library component is also created in the IDF Library File (.pro). Within this file, each component is defined by its outline information and also its height, which is taken from the ComponentHeight attribute.

The set of components that are exported is determined by the option selected in the Components frame.

- All Components: all components are included in the IDF export. Components boundaries are defined either by the outline defined on the layer specified by the PackageOutlineLayer attribute, or if this can not be detected, by the outline on the silkscreen layer.
- **Components with IDF_COMP Attribute:** only those components that include a user-defined attribute IDF_COMP are exported.

TO determine the component shape, each component is checked to see if it has a PackageOutlineLayer attribute, if it does the shape defined on this layer is used. If a component does not include a PackageOutlineLayer attribute then the design-level attributes are checked for a PackageOutlineLayer attribute, if found the shape on this layer is used. If no PackageOutlineLayer attribute can be found the component silkscreen boundary is used.

Placement Group Area and Placement Outline

The Placement Group Area represents the name, position and dimensions of a room. When this option is selected, one Placement Group Area is created for each of the existing rooms in the PCB design, in terms of name, specified position and dimensions.

The Placement Outline defines the maximum allowed height of the room, whose name, position and dimensions are defined by the Placement Group Area.

Routing Keepout

When this option is selected, any polygon keepouts in the PCB design are exported as routing keepouts in the IDF file.

Routing Outline

The IDF routing keepout is only created if there is a BoardEdgeClearance attribute defined for the PCB. This keepout is calculated from the board outline, contracted by the amount defined in the BoardEdgeClearance attribute.

File Export RFQ Format

The WebQuote, or AutoRFQ feature allows you to request a quotation to fabricate or assemble your board from within the P-CAD PCB Editor. This feature extracts relevant PCB data, passes it to the Request For Quotation application (AutoRFQ), which then interfaces to the WebQuote web site (http://www.webquote.com) to configure and request for a quotation on the PCB.

The WebQuote site is a portal to PCB fabricators all over the world. From this site you can select which manufacturers you wish to participate in the quoting process, and also choose if you wish to use an open bidding process, where each fabricator is notified of the other fabricators' quotes (allowing them to requote), or a closed bidding process, where they are not notified.

The Request For Quotation feature can either be run by selecting the **Utils » P-CAD AutoRFQ** command, which creates the RFQ file and then loads it into the AutoRFQ program, or by selecting the **File » Export » RFQ Format** command to create the RFQ file. This file can then be opened manually in the AutoRFQ program.

Once the RFQ file is loaded in the AutoRFQ program it is displayed as an *RFQ for PCB Fabrication* window. This file details the necessary design specifications that have been extracted from your PCB.

From the AutoRFQ application you can then set up a new request for quotation by clicking the **New RFQ** button that appears at the top of the *RFQ for PCB Fabrication* window. The first time you attempt to do this you will be prompted to create an account, once this is done the job can be configured, ready for a quotation.

When you click the **New RFQ** button the data in the RFQ file is passed to the PCB MarketPlace web site, and another window appears. Work your way down this window, clicking the Modify or Enter buttons and completing the information required on each page that appears. Once your RFQ has been successfully submitted you will receive a confirmation email, then when the quotes from the manufacturers are received you will be emailed these as well.

File Exit

Choose File » Exit to quit the P-CAD PCB program.

If any open designs have been modified since the last save, you are prompted whether you want to save the changes to each design.

The program writes information to the Pcb.ini file when you choose **Exit**. This information, which will apply to subsequent PCB sessions, consists of parameters and settings such as workspace size, units and values set in *Options Configure*, report file settings from **File** » **Reports** and **Utils** » **DRC**, etc.

Edit Commands

Using the Edit Commands

Use the commands in the Edit menu to modify objects that have been placed in a design. Shortcuts to a number of the **Edit** commands appear on the command toolbar as shown in the table directly below the command toolbar.

|--|--|

Click this button	To do this:	Click this button	To do this:
R	Edit Select	S	Edit Undo
Ж	Edit Cut	2	Edit Redo
	Edit Copy	मित्रासी	Edit Measure
	Edit Paste		

Most of the actions associated with the **Edit** commands can be undone by choosing **Edit** » **Undo**. Other actions can be unwound by pressing the **BACKSPACE** key when the action is finished. For details, see *Edit Undo* (page 280).

Many **Edit** commands are available only when an object is selected. To learn how to select objects, see *Edit Select (page 356)*.

Two of the Edit commands, Edit » Paste and Edit » Fix, contain additional options:

The **Edit** » **Paste** commands give you the ability to paste information from the Clipboard or file, include circuitry information, and control the way the objects are renamed when pasted. See *Edit Paste* (*page 284*) for more information.

The **Edit** » **Fix** commands give you the ability to Fix or Unfix one or more selected objects. All fixed objects can be unfixed using the **Unfix All** command. See *Edit Fix (page 342)* for more information.

Edit Undo

Choose **Edit** » **Undo** to undo the last completed action in the active design. As a shortcut for choosing this command, click the **Undo** button on the toolbar, press the **U** key, or press **CTRL+Z**.

With this command, you can undo up to 10 of your last actions by default. To increase or decrease this number, you modify your Pcb.ini file. In this file, the keyword "UndoLimit" controls the number of stored activities for both **Edit Undo** and **Edit Redo**.

IMPORTANT: Although you can set the undo limit to any number, keep in mind that each stored, undoable action requires memory. Setting a large UndoLimit may use up your computer's available memory, which can slow down your system's performance and cause unpredictable results.

You can undo **Place** commands, **Edit** » **Delete**, **Edit** » **Copy Matrix**, and component modifications such as move, rotate, and flip (actions performed in select mode). If an action cannot be undone or there is no action to undo, the **Edit** » **Undo** command is shaded in the menu.

You can only undo a finished **Place** command. For example, if you are placing an object that requires more than one click in the workspace (such as drawing lines, polygons, arcs), you must finish the segment or arc before you can undo it. To unwind line segments (delete the previous segment) before you finish the series of segments, press the **BACKSPACE** key.

The list of undoable actions is deleted when you save the design. The Undo list is also cleared when you use any of the commands in the following list:

- File Close
- File Save
- File Save As
- Delete Textstyle
- Utils Renumber
- File DBX In
- File DTP (Close or ESC)
- File Design Info (Close or ESC)
- Utils Force Update
- Utils Record ECOs

- Import ECOs
- Delete Layer
- Delete Padstyle
- Delete Viastyle
- Place Autoplacement (can lead to file save)
- Route Autorouters (can lead to file save)
- Utils DRC
- Utils Reconnect Nets
- Utils Load Netlist
- Utils Trace CleanUp
- Utils Optimize Nets
- Edit Nets PadStyle Swap
- Modify TextStyle in use
- Connection tool (merging one or two plane nets with a connection line)
- Edit Nets (rename a net)
- Modify PadStyle in use
- Modify ViaStyle in use

Edit Redo

Choose **Edit** » **Redo** to re-apply an action that has been undone. As a shortcut for choosing this command, click the **Redo** button on the toolbar, press **SHIFT**+**U**, or press **CTRL**+**Y**.

Each modification made to a design results in a copy of the design being placed in the Undo list, as described in *Edit Undo (page 280)*.

If you have stepped backwards in the list using the **Edit** » **Undo** command, and find that you want to move forward to a later version of the modification, choose **Edit** » **Redo**.

With this command, you can redo multiple actions. The keyword "UndoLimit" in the Pcb.ini file controls both the **Edit » Undo** and **Edit » Redo** commands.

Edit Cut

Choose **Edit** » **Cut** to remove objects from your design and move them to the Clipboard. When objects are moved to the Clipboard, you can paste them into another design, to another location within the current design, or into another program.

To cut objects from a design and move them to the Clipboard, choose **Edit** » **Select** or press **S** to enable the select tool. Then, select at least one object. If you do not enable the select tool, the **Edit** » **Cut** menu command is shaded and the **CTRL**+**X** shortcut key is inoperative.

Once you move items to the Clipboard, you can save them to a clipboard file (.clp). To do this, open the Clipboard Viewer and choose **File** » **Save** to create a clipboard file. To paste data from the clipboard file, you load the clipboard file into the Clipboard, then paste from the Clipboard into your design file.

You can cut multiple objects by using multiple select and block select operations. See *Edit Select* (*page 356*) for information.

Cutting Objects from Nets

When you choose **Edit** » **Cut** to remove objects from nets, you can get a variety of results, depending on what you cut and the makeup of the net you remove it from. The function of smart nets is to maintain certain connections when objects such as copper connections, unrouted connections, and net nodes are removed. In general, the following can occur:

- If you remove free copper (no connections), then the copper disappears and no connection compensation occurs.
- If you remove a node (such as node a in the following connections figure), then the remaining nodes are still part of the net, and there will be compensation to maintain connections between the remaining nodes.
- If you remove a component, you are removing nodes from all nets to which the component's pads were connected. The connectivity feature of PCB reconnects the remaining nodes in each net in the most efficient way.
- If two nets become merged, and one net is a plane net, then the plane layer net takes precedence and the merged net is a plane net.
- If you remove a connection from the middle of a net, the net is split. One portion retains the net name and the other is given a new net name. For example, in the following figure, the net has three connections: ab, bc, and cd. If you remove connection bc, you cut the net into two nets: ab and cd.



• If you remove a connection that isolates a pad from the rest of the net, you end up with a disconnected node. For example, in the previous figure, if you remove connection cd, the node d becomes isolated from the net.

• If you remove a copper segment that is part of a net, that segment is not removed, but instead becomes a connection (in effect unrouting the net. In this case, the net remains intact, although changed).

Edit Copy

Choose **Edit** » **Copy** to copy objects to the Clipboard. From there you can paste them to another design, to another location within the same design, or to another program.

To copy objects in a design and move them to the Clipboard, choose **Edit** » **Select** or press **S** to enable the select tool. Then, select at least one object. If you do not enable the select tool, the **Edit** » **Cut** menu command is shaded and the **CTRL**+**X** shortcut key is inoperative.

Instead of choosing Edit » Copy and Edit » Paste, you can press CTRL+Left Mouse button (a dragand-drop operation) to copy and paste objects within the same design. The CTRL+Left mouse action does not copy items to the Clipboard.

Once items are in the Clipboard, you can either immediately paste them to another design location, or save them to a clipboard file (.clp). Choose **File** » **Save** in the Clipboard program to create a clipboard file. After you load a clipboard file into the Clipboard, you can paste a clipboard file into your design file.

See Edit Paste (page 284) for the rules and parameters of pasting objects.

Edit Copy to File

Choose **Edit** » **Copy to File** to copy selected objects to a block file (.blk) or P-CAD picture file (.emf). You can paste the objects in a block file into a design at a later time by choosing **Edit** » **Paste From File** or **Edit** » **Paste Circuit From File**.

A block file is design intelligent in that it includes layer information, design rules, etc. When pasted back into a design using the **Edit** » **Paste From File** command, objects from the block file become an integrated part of the design. When a bock file is placed into PCB using the **DocTool** » **Place Detail** command, it loses its design intelligence but becomes an accurately scaled representation of the selected design objects.

The P-CAD picture file includes no design intelligence. A picture is a snapshot of selected objects, which can be pasted into a PCB design as a dumb object with one of the following commands: Edit » Paste From File, DocTool » Place Picture or DocTool » Place Detail. When a P-CAD picture is created the Mirror on Copy setting is honored.

To choose this command, you must be in select mode (choose **Edit** » **Select** or press **S**) and you must select at least one item; otherwise the command is shaded and not available. You can copy multiple objects by using multiple select and block select operations. for more information, see *Edit Select* (*page 356*).

When you choose Edit » Copy to File, the following dialog appears:

Edit Copy To	File		? ×
Save jn:	🔁 Demo	•	<u>r 📰</u>
File <u>n</u> ame:	Demo2.BLK		<u>S</u> ave
Save as type:	Block Files (*.blk)	•	Cancel

The Save in list displays the current folder; the list below the box displays any files in that folder with the file name extension specified in the Save as Type list. The Filename box lets you enter or select a file name and the Save as type box allows you to select one of the following types of files: Block File (.blk) or P-CAD Picture File (.emf). Specify a location and name of the block file to which you wish to copy the selection.

You may choose to save storage space by selecting the **Compress Binary Designs** check box in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.

Edit Paste

Choose **Edit** » **Paste** to paste objects/items into your design file from the Clipboard or a block file. You must be in select mode to choose this command.

When you choose **Edit** » **Paste**, a submenu appears, from which you can choose a paste method. The methods range from the simple options such as **Paste From Clipboard**, **Paste From File** and **Paste To Layer**, in which objects are pasted without net information, to the more intelligent **Paste Circuit** and **Paste Circuit From File** commands which give you the ability to control changes to component and net names and retain net information.

If any of the design limits are exceeded, the object/item cannot be pasted in your design using P-CAD PCB (6/400).

Paste Behavior

After items have been copied and you click in the workspace, the ghosted outline of the copied item(s) appears until you release the mouse button to commit them to the desired location. Before releasing the left mouse button, you can drag the items to a more precise location in the workspace.

There must be sufficient space to accommodate the objects being pasted. Error messages inform you if the target space is not large enough or if you are attempting to paste too close to or outside of the edge of the workspace.

To cancel a paste operation, **right-click**, press **ESC**, or choose another tool.

If an item is layer-specific, then it will be pasted onto the same layer that it was cut/copied from, regardless of the current layer setting. If the target layer doesn't exist, then the item(s) will not be pasted. To paste to a different layer, choose **Edit** » **Paste to Layer**.

Components of the same type can be placed only if they have the same pin mapping (i.e.), pin number to pin designator to pad number. If you place the same component from different libraries, the first instance of the component type establishes the standard pin mapping for that type of component. Any components of that type placed subsequently have to conform to the pin logic of the first or they will be unplaceable.

If you have cut or copied a room, and subsequently paste it to a new design where there is a room with the same name, the pasted room is given a new default name (i.e., Room1, Room2, etc.).

If while pasting a component, components of the same name but from a different library already exist in the destination design, the component may not be able to be pasted due to the probable conflict in pin assignments. This conflict could also occur when components from a Tango Series II board are mixed with components of the same name in a P-CAD library. In effect, the first instance of the component name establishes the standard.

When you paste vias, pads, and text (usually in a component) from a different design that contains styles that have the same names but different data than those in the current design, the incoming style name has a bracketed number appended to it to indicate the style name conflict. The following figure shows a duplicated text style.

	Options Text Sty	le	
Duplicate Text Style	Current Text Style: *(Default) T:HS1W10 T:H121W10 BIG200 T:H243W10 T:H243W10 T:H50X15 [DefaultTTF] newtext newtext(1)	(Default)	<u>A</u> dd <u>P</u> roperties <u>D</u> elete Purge ∐nused Styles <u>B</u> ename Display <u>S</u> troke
	S <u>e</u> t All	<u>C</u> lear All Close	Display <u>T</u> rueType

The new, bracketed style names will be added to the list of available styles in the current design. For object style information, see the following sections:

- Edit Properties (page 292).
- Options Pad Style (page 472).
- Options Text Style (page 482).

When you choose **Edit** » **Paste Circuit** and **Edit** » **Paste Circuit From File** you acquire additional functionality and control. If you are pasting components you have the option to specify how their

names should be changed. When pasting nets you can specify not only how the net names are to be changed, but you can also choose to retain the current name by choosing **Edit** » **Paste Circuit**. With these commands, data can be pasted into your design multiple times without having to invoke the command each time you want to paste.

Paste From Clipboard

Choose **Edit** » **Paste from Clipboard** to paste objects from the Clipboard to your design. You must be in select mode to choose this command. The **Paste From Clipboard** command is shaded and unavailable when no data has been copied to the Clipboard.

When you choose **Edit** » **Paste From Clipboard**, PCB places the copied information in the new location in the design, renames the design objects to the next sequentially available name and retains the component attributes and their values.

Paste from File

Choose **Edit** » **Paste from File** to paste items from a block file or a P-CAD Picture file into the current design. These files must have been created using **Edit** » **Copy to File**. When selected, the following dialog appears:

Edit Paste Fr	om File				? ×
Look jn:	🔁 Demo	-	£	d	0-0- 5-5- 0-5-
🛋 cut_net.bl	k				
File <u>n</u> ame:			_		<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	Block Files (*.blk)		-		Cancel
	,		_	_	- Collinson

The Look In list shows the current folder. Directly underneath, a list of files in that folder appear. The Files of type list shows the active file format. The Filename text box lets you select or enter a design file name.

Select the block file containing the item(s) you wish to paste. Once the file is selected, this command works like the **Edit** » **Paste** command.

Paste To Layer

This command gives you the ability to paste items to a different layer from what they were cut or copied from, within the same design or to a different design. This feature includes single, multiple, or block selection cuts and copies.

- The **Edit** » **Paste To Layer** command accepts only Clipboard data in PCB format. Clipboard data from other programs cannot be pasted into the PCB workspace.
- If you block select items that reside on different layers, e.g., one line on the Top layer and one on the Bottom, they will both be pasted onto the current layer.

- Multi-layer items, such as pads, will remain as multi-layer.
- When items are ghosted for pasting, you can press the L key to switch between layers before you do the final paste.
- You can paste to layer from a clipboard file (.clp) after you load the clipboard file onto the Clipboard. This data cannot be loaded or pasted to or from any other Windows utility; it is PCB-specific.

Paste Special

This command allows you to paste from the clipboard into the design as a P-CAD picture object. A P_CAD picture may be cut or copied to the clipboard using the **Edit** » **Cut** and **Edit** » **Copy** commands.

When you choose the Edit » Paste Special command, the Paste Special dialog opens:

Paste Special	×
Paste Type:	
P-CAD Picture For	mat
, 	
OK	Cancel

The P-CAD Picture Format is selected. When you click **OK** you are returned to the workspace where you should click and drag the ghosted object to its desired location, placing it by releasing the mouse button.

A P-CAD picture cannot contain a picture, detail, design view or diagram. If a picture, detail, design view or diagram has been copied to the clipboard, the clipboard contents cannot be placed using the picture format of the **Edit » Paste Special** command. Clipboard contents can, however, be pasted as a block file using the **Edit » Paste from Clipboard** command.

Paste Circuit

The **Edit** » **Paste Circuit** command provides a way to control the naming of components and nets being pasted into a design and stipulate net attribute bias. Circuit information pasted with the **Paste Circuit** command includes:

- Components
- Pads and Vias
- Lines, arcs, polygons (including copper tie polygons) and copper pours
- Points
- Cutouts and keepouts

- Split Planes
- Rooms
- Text, attributes and fields
- Dimensions
- Global net information such as whether a net is attached to a plane, split plane or a component's power pin
- Net names and IDs

When you choose Edit » Paste Circuit, the following dialog appears:

Edit Paste Circuit		×
Reference Designators	Nets	
Create new refdes using	Create new net name using Net Names:	
qualifier.	qualifer.	
Qualifier:	Qualifier:	
	EN3	
O Add before name	O Add before name EN4	
C Add before numeric suffix	Add before numeric suffix	
 Add to end of name 	C Add to end of name	
Example	Example M2	
Before: R100	Before: Clk100	
After: R100A	After: Clk_A100 M4	
Net Attributes	Maintain Original Net Names MD0E	
Merge Eavor Circuit	Power Nets	
C Marrie Davier	Non-system Nets MD1E	–
C Merge Favor Design		
 Replace Design 		
C Ignore Circuit	OK Cancel	

Reference Designators

In the Reference Designators frame you can choose how the components are named when pasted. You can choose to have PCB to incrementally change the components names, or you can control the way components are renamed by adding a qualifier in a specific position in the new name. A qualifier is a set of characters that you can add to a reference designator to modify the RefDes.

To rename the components using a qualifier, do the following:

- 1. Select the **Create new refdes using qualifier** check box.
- 2. Type up to four characters that you want to add to the name in the Qualifier box.
- 3. Choose the desired position within the RefDes name for the qualifier. Each choice in the following list places the qualifier in a different location:
 - Add before name
 - Add before numeric suffix
 - Add to end of name

A sample appears in the Example frame so that you can see how the qualifier will appear after the change is made.

If you do not want to designate the way the RefDes names are modified on paste, select the **Create new refdes using qualifier** check box.

Each time a component is pasted, the RefDes is sequentially incremented alphanumerically to the next available RefDes for that component. If you have added a qualifier, the qualifier is incremented in the same manner. Then, if the component name still conflicts with an existing component name, it will be incremented until it is unique.

Net Attributes

When pasting data containing net information, either from the same design or another design, you can choose how the net attributes are handled by enabling the desired action from one of the following choices:

- **Merge Favor Circuit:** With this option, incoming net attributes take precedence over existing net attributes. When the net attributes in the incoming circuit information match those already in the design, but the values are different, the design attributes are modified to match those of the incoming circuit. All other incoming net attributes are merged with those in the design.
- **Merge Favor Design:** Existing net attributes are retained when you merge net attributes favoring the design. When the design and incoming circuit have matching net attributes with different values, the design attribute values are retained. Other incoming net attributes are merged with those in the design.
- **Replace Design:** This option removes all existing net attributes and replaces them with those of the incoming circuit.
- **Ignore Circuit:** Net attributes attached to the incoming circuit are ignored and existing net attributes left unchanged.

Nets

In the Nets frame you can choose which nets are renamed and how they are named when pasted. This process is similar to the way the components are renamed in the Reference Designators frame.

To rename the nets, do the following:

- 1. Select the **Create new net name using qualifier** check box.
- 2. Type the characters (no more than four) that you want to add to the name in the Qualifier box.
- 3. Choose the desired position for the qualifier within the net name. Each choice in the following list places the qualifier in a different location:
 - Add before name
 - Add before numeric suffix
 - Add to end of name.

A sample displays in the Example area, so that you can see how the addition will appear when the change is made.

If you do not want to designate the way the net names are modified on paste, clear the **Create new net name using qualifier** check box.

Each time a net is pasted, the net name is sequentially incremented alphanumerically to the next available net name. If you have added a qualifier, the qualifier is incremented in the same manner. Then, if the net name still conflicts with an existing net name, it will be incremented until it is unique.

Choose which nets to rename using the qualifier and which nets will retain their current names. You can designate individual nets to retain the current name by clicking the specific nets in the Net Names list. You can also choose to retain all power net names and/or non-system net names by enabling the appropriate option in the Maintain Original Net Names frame.

Nets connected to power pins, planes and split-planes are considered power nets.

Edit Move By RefDes

Choose **Edit** » **Move By RefDes** to move components by reference designator. This opens the following *Edit Move By RefDes* dialog.

Edit Move By RefDes	×
RefDes:	
C12 ▲ C13 C14 C15 C16 C17 C18 C21 C22 C23 J8 J9 FN1	Select <u>A</u> ll
Select RefDes By:	
OK Cancel	

Use this dialog to select the reference designators of the components you'd like to move. The following describes this dialog in more detail:

• **RefDes:** This list shows all of the components in your design, except for fixed components. To unfix a component, choose **Edit** » **Properties**, click the **Pattern** tab, and clear the **Fixed** check box.

You can select one or more components from the RefDes list. To select multiple components, hold down the **CTRL** or **SHIFT** key and click the components of your choice.

If you select components in your design before you open this dialog, those components are selected in the RefDes list when the dialog appears.

When you double-click a component in this list, the dialog closes. At this time, you can place the component into a new position by clicking a point on your design workspace.

- **Select RefDes By:** Type search criteria in this text box to search the RefDes list for a match. You can enter wildcard characters in this field.
- **Select All:** Click this button to select all of the items in the RefDes list.
- Clear All: Click this button to cancel the selection of all items in the RefDes list.

After selecting components from the dialog, click **OK** to return to your workspace. The Status Line shows the **Next RefDes** to move. To skip to the next RefDes, press **N**. To move to the previous RefDes, press **B**.

Edit Move to Layer

Choose **Edit** » **Move to Layer** to move selected objects to the active layer. This facility enhances the ability to clear out congested areas for routing. In addition, if you have inadvertently placed objects on the wrong layer, you can move them easily to the correct layer.

Moving an Object

To move one or more objects to a different layer, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the object or objects. For details on selecting objects, see *Edit Select (page 356)*.
- 2. Switch to the layer to which you want to move the objects using the Layers list below the Status Line.
- 3. Choose Edit » Move to Layer or press SHIFT+T.

All of the selected single-layer objects move to the current layer. You return to select mode and the objects remain selected.

Restrictions

- If an object has net information, it can move between signal layers only.
- Multi-layer objects will not be moved (components, glue dot points, all layer keepouts, pads, pick and place points, reference points, or vias). Objects that can be moved are single layer objects (arcs, copper pours, cutouts, single layer keepouts, lines, polygons, attributes, fields, and text).
- If you select multi-layer and single-layer objects simultaneously, the tool will ignore the multi-layer objects and only move the single-layer objects.
- Single-layer objects on different layers will all be moved to the current layer.

- If the single-layer objects are of mixed net and non-net types and you are moving them to a non- signal layer, a warning message will appear telling you that only the non-net objects will be moved. You can cancel this command at this time.
- The **Edit** » **Move To Layer** command performs auto-insertion of vias with a slight difference compared with the **Route** » **Manual** command. A via will not be inserted if a line segment is already connected to a pad or via. If the existing pad or via is incorrect for maintaining physical connectivity, the line segment will not be moved.
- When moving copper traces between layers, vias are not added for free copper, only for net copper. The net attribute VIASTYLE will be honored as it is in Route Manual.
- When multiple objects are moved and the physical connectivity cannot be maintained for some of the objects (e.g., if a via cannot be added), a warning message appears prompting you to continue or cancel the command. If you press **Cancel**, the objects moved before the cancel will not be moved back. If you press **Continue**, the object with the error will not be moved and the tool will skip to the next object.
- Test points can be moved to non-signal layers only. If you attempt to move a test point to a signal layer, a message appears to notify you that the object cannot be moved.
- If a copper pour is currently poured, it will be unpoured before the move and automatically repoured after a move. If the pour is not correct, use the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog to repour the pour. To open this dialog, select the copper pour, **right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu. If the pour is not poured, it will remain unpoured after the move. A pour's net connectivity will be maintained.

Edit Properties

To use this command, you select one or more objects in your design and then choose **Edit** » **Properties**. When you do, a *Properties* dialog appears for the selected object(s). Typically, you must you must enable the select tool (choose **Edit** » **Select**) before you can choose **Edit** » **Properties**, except when selecting components and nets.

With the *Properties* dialog, you query and modify the selected object's properties. If multiple objects are selected, they must all be of the same type (e.g., arcs), otherwise the **Edit** » **Properties** command is shaded and not available. If the objects are of the same type, the changes you make apply to all selected objects.

As a shortcut for choosing **Edit** » **Properties**, there are other two methods for opening the *Properties* dialog box.

- **Right-click method**: Select an object. Then, right-click the object and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu. The available commands in this menu depend upon the object you select.
- **Double-click method**: Double-click an object to open that object's *Properties* dialog. Before you can use this method, select the **Double Click Displays Properties** check box in the *Options Preferences* dialog. For details, see *Options Preferences* (page 448).

Component Properties

When you select one or more components and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Component Properties* dialog appears. As shown in the following figure, the Pattern tab is selected.

Component Properties							
Pattern Pads	Component	Component	Pins	A <u>t</u> tributes	Pattern <u>G</u> raphics		
		Visibility	Text Style	e			
<u>R</u> ef Des: U6			T:H91W	/10	•		
Value:		$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$					
<u>Type:</u> 74LS244	•		T:H91W	/10	•		
Libraries: MODFAX0.LIB	Query		Text	<u>S</u> tyles			
Change <u>Pattern</u> DIP20							
RefDee		-Location-					
		X: 2825.0)	Flipped			
0 0		Y: 4200.0)	<u>F</u> ixed			
		Layer:	R	otation: 270.0	deg		
ŏ ŏ							
• •		Glue Dot Loc	ations				
<u> </u>							
č č		Pick & Place	Locations	:			
õ õ							
	ОК	Cancel					

Use the *Component Properties* dialog to examine and modify component properties. As shown in the previous figure, the selected component appears in the browse window in this dialog.

The *Component Properties* dialog contains these provide tabs, which provide access to additional information:

- Pattern
- Pattern Pads
- Component
- Component Pins
- Attributes
- Pattern Graphics

Pattern Tab

The **Pattern** tab contains the following options:

- The RefDes box shows the reference designator name. To change the reference designator, type a new value in the RefDes box. If you selected more than one component, this value cannot be changed.
- The Value box shows the component's value. To change the value, type a new value in the Value box.
- The Type box shows the component type. You may swap the component by selecting a different component from the Type list that appears when you click the **down arrow** button.

The RefDes, Value and Type text boxes support two wildcard characters: ? to match any single characters and the * to match a sequence of zero or more characters. For example, typing U? in the RefDes text box matches all components with a two character RefDes string beginning with U.

Swapping the component type follows the rules used by the **Utils** » **Force Update** command, when merging library component attributes with design component attributes:

- If an attribute exists in the library component and not in the design component, the library attributes and their values are moved into the design component.
- If the same attribute exists in both the design component and the library component with different values, the value of the library component attribute will replace the value of the design component attribute.
- An existing design component attribute, which has no matching library component attribute, is retained, unchanged, in the design component.

When the Value attribute is present in both the design component and the library component, and has a different value in both places, you must choose which value to keep in the design when prompted.

- The Libraries box lets you select a library when you want to change the type of component.
- The Visibility check boxes apply to the attribute directly to their left. The Visibility option indicates whether the selected component(s) has visible, invisible, or undetermined RefDes, Value, and Type attributes.

If a box is selected, the attribute is visible. If the box isn't selected, the attribute is invisible. If the box is shaded, then the attribute either does not exist (e.g., there is no Value attribute for the selected component), or there is a conflict between multiple components selected (e.g., the attribute on one component is visible, but is invisible on another).

• The Text Style frame lets you select the text styles for the component's RefDes, Value, and Type. To use another text style, select a style from the appropriate list.

To add a new text style, or modify an existing text style, click **Text Styles**. See *Text Styles Button* (page 328).

• **Change Pattern:** Click this button to create a new component from the current component and a pattern selected from the current library. This button is shaded for fixed components.

For more information, see Change Pattern Button (page 296).

- The **Pattern** field displays the pattern name. An image of the pattern appears just below this field.
- The Location frame shows the X and Y coordinates of the component's reference point.
- **Flip:** When this check box is selected, the pattern has been flipped. When the check box is clear, the pattern has not been flipped.
- The Fixed box indicates whether or not the component has been fixed into position. In your design, fixed components display in the color assigned to fixed components. You set this color in the Colors tab of the *Options Display* dialog.

All commands that change the location of a fixed component ignore that component. This includes the following commands:

- Change Pattern
- Move
- Edit Move By Refdes
- Rotate
- Flip
- Edit Delete
- Edit Cut
- Component Type replacement
- Edit Explode Component
- Edit Align Component
- Utils Force Update
- The Rotation field shows the rotation amount, if the pattern has been rotated.
- The Glue Dot Locations list shows a list of all glue dot locations. **Glue Dots** hold components in place until they are soldered during manufacturing.

You can change the size of the glue dots in the Miscellaneous tab of the *Options Display* dialog. For instructions, see *Glue Dots (page 445)*.

• The Pick and Place Locations list shows a listing of all pick and place locations. Pick and Place points provide reference points in directing the pick and place mechanism (or auto insert) in manufacturing (picking up the component and placing it on the board).

You can change the size of the pick and place points in the Miscellaneous tab of the *Options Display* dialog. For instructions, see *Pick and Place* (page 445).

Replacing a Component

To replace the component(s) associated with this pattern with another component from any open library:

- 1. To select a component from another open library, select a new library from the Libraries list.
- 2. Select a new component from the Type list.
- 3. Click **OK** to replace the component or components with the new component.

The new component is placed at the same Reference Point and same Rotation as the component you are replacing.

The net connectivity is maintained after the swap. If connectivity can't be maintained, a warning message appears and the component is swapped.

Using the **Properties** function to swap a component can result in changes to the netlist if the pin designators on the replacement component are not the same as those on the original component.

If a warning message indicates that netlist changes have occurred, not only may some netlist nodes and their corresponding from-to connections be missing, but the net names may be removed if they result in a single node net. Additionally, any intelligent copper connected to the pads that are no longer netlist nodes are stripped of their netlist information. Choose **Edit** » **Undo** if you want to undo the component swap.

Text Styles Button

Click **Text Styles** in the *Properties* dialog to open the *Options Text Style* dialog. From this dialog you can add, delete, rename, or edit text styles. For more information, see *Options Text Style* (page 482).

Change Pattern Button

You can click **Change Pattern** in the *Properties* dialog to create a new component from the current component and a pattern selected from the current library.

1. In the *Properties* dialog, click **Change Pattern**. The following *Library Browse* dialog appears.



Since this dialog shows a list of matching patterns from the current library, the Pattern list contains only patterns that have the exact same number of pads as the currently attached pattern.

- 2. Select a pattern name from the Pattern list.
- 3. Click **OK**. The Component Name dialog appears.

Component Name	
A new component has been created from the component and the selected pattern. Please new type name for the component being add current library.	e current e enter a led to the
	<u>0</u> K
	<u>C</u> ancel

4. Type a name for the component or select one from the list. Then, click **OK** to save it to the current library. You can overwrite an existing component if that component is not used in your design.

The **Change Pattern** button is shaded if more than one component is selected and the components are of differing types. It is also unavailable for fixed components.

Pattern Pad Tab

When you click the **Pattern Pad** tab, the Component Properties dialog appears as follows:

Component Proper	ties				
Pattern	Pattern Pa <u>d</u> s	<u>C</u> omponent	Component Pins	Attributes	Pattern <u>G</u> raphics
Pads: 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 9 10 11 12 13 14 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5 -5	Pattern Gr. Location X: 2825 Flip F Net Name: Default Pir Tool Code Pad Style:	aphic: Primary .0 Y: 420 totation: 270.0deg EN1 i.Designator: P:SX60Y60D3	0.0 9 34 (1) v Pad <u>S</u> t	yles	
Se <u>t</u> All Clear All		<u></u>	עוקנ		
		ОК	Cancel		

Use this tab to change the pad style of specific pads within the component and edit the pad style itself. This tab contains the following options:

- The **Pads list** lists the pin numbers of the pads in the selected component. The information fields to the right display information about the highlighted pad.
- Set All: Click this button to select all of the pads in the Pads list.
- **Clear All:** Click this button to cancel the selection of all pads in the Pads list.
- The Location fields show the X and Y coordinates of the selected pad. This field is read-only.
- The Flip check box indicates whether or not the pad has been flipped. This field is read-only.
- The Rotation field shows the rotation amount if the pad has been rotated. This field is readonly.
- The Net Name field shows the name of net to which the pad is attached. This field is read-only.
- The Default Pin Designator field shows the Pandas assigned to the pad. This field is read-only.
- The Tool Code field shows the code used to select the drill bit for the corresponding hole diameter. This field is read-only.
- **Pad Style:** Use this list to perform single or multiple pad editing. The pad numbers are highlighted in the Pads list and you can either change to another pad style for those pads, or you can click **Pad Styles** to open the *Options Pad Style* dialog, so you can modify an existing pad style, rename it, or create a new one based on an existing style.

• **Apply:** Click this button to apply any changes to the selected pad or pads.

Component Tab

When you click the **Component** tab, the *Component Properties* dialog appears as follows.

Component Prope	rties				
	Pattern Pa <u>d</u> s	Component	Component Pins	Attributes	Pattern <u>G</u> raphics
Library:					
Туре:	74LS244				
Pattern Name:	DIP20	_ Gat	e Numbering		
Number of Gates:	2	0.	Alphabetic		
Gate Number:	A	–	Numeric		
Normal Name:	, TPOPTEK_7	NCon	nponent Type		
IEEE Name:	TPOPTEK_7	<u>ା</u> ା	Heterogeneous		
De Morgan Name:		ø	Homogeneous		
<u>R</u> eference					
		пк	Cancel		

This tab shows information for the component or components selected on a gate-by-gate basis. This information is view-only and can't be modified from this dialog. To show information for a different gate, select the gate from the Gate Number list.

The **Reference** button, when activated by the presence of the Reference attribute, quickly opens the program or Internet Explorer where the document or web site containing the reference information is located.

See the P-CAD Library Executive User's Guide for information about this dialog's fields.

Component Pins Tab

When you click the **Component Pins** tab, the *Component Properties* dialog appears as follows:

Component Properties							
	Pattern Pa <u>d</u> s <u>C</u> omponent	Component Pins Attributes	Pattern <u>G</u> raphics				
Pad # Pin Desig	gnator Gate # Pin # Pin Name	Gate Eq. Pin Eq. Elec Typ	e				
1 1 2 2 3 3 4 4 5 5 6 6 7 7 8 8 9 9 10 10 11 11 12 12 13 13 14 14	1 1 ~G 1 2 A1 2 9 Y4 1 3 A2 2 8 Y3 1 4 A3 2 7 Y2 1 5 A4 2 6 Y1 PWR 0 GND 2 2 A1 1 9 Y4 2 3 A2 1 8 Y3	1 0 Input 1 0 Input 1 0 Jostate 0 0 Power 1 0 Jostate 1 0 Jostate	•				
	ОК	Cancel					

With this tab, you view at pin information for the component pins within the symbol or component. In this tab, the following information appears:

- **Pad #:** The number of the corresponding pad on the attached pattern.
- **Pin Des:** The pin designator of each pin in the component.
- **Gate #:** This column indicates part number defines the part that the pin is associated with. In multi- part components, the parts are uniquely numbered from 1 through n.
- **Pin #:** This column shows the number of the corresponding pin on the attached symbol.
- **Pin Name:** This column indicates the pin name associated with that pin designator.
- **GateEq:** This column defines which gates are equivalent. All gates with the same GateEq number are equivalent. P-CAD Schematic uses this information when automatically incrementing reference designators (e.g., Place Part, Utils Renumber. P-CAD PCB uses this information to determine which gates can be swapped during manual or automatic gate swapping).
- **PinEq:** This column indicates which pins within a gate are logically equivalent and may be swapped using the **Utils** » **Optimize Nets** pin swap commands. The pin equivalence values must be non-zero and identical for a swap to occur between two pins. Non-swappable pins are indicated with a zero value.
- **Elec Type:** This column indicates the electrical type of the pin.

Attributes Tab

Use this tab to view and modify component attributes for the selected component. When you click the **Attributes** tab, the dialog appears as follows.

Com	ponent P	roperties				
	<u>P</u> attern	Pattern Pa <u>d</u> s	Component	Component Pins	Attributes	Pattern <u>G</u> raphics
		Name		Value		
	RefDes2		h Devel DUEEE D		with 2 Chata Outant	
	Descriptio	n	Uctal BUFFER:	5 and LINE DRIVERS	with 3-State Output	
l						J
		Pattern Graphic: Prim	ary			
		Add	Delete F	Properties Lau	inch	
			OK	Cancel		

You can view, add, modify, or delete a collection of component attributes. The dialog contains a two- column table showing the collection of component attributes. Within the collection, each attribute's name and value appear in the column.

- Adding an Attribute: To add an attribute, click the Add button to open the *Place Attribute* dialog. You can select a pre-defined attribute from a specific category or define your own attribute by selecting the {user-defined} attribute. Type the name and value for the attribute and set the attribute properties. Click **OK**, and the attribute is added to the table.
- Viewing or Changing Attribute Properties: To view or change an attribute's properties, select an attribute from the table and click **Properties** (or double-click the attribute) to open the *Attribute Property* dialog.
- To Delete an Attribute: Select an attribute in the table and click Delete, or press the DEL key.
- Launching a Reference Link: When the special attribute Reference, whose value is a reference link, is added to the component, you can select the Reference attribute and click Launch to start a program to view a document or a web site.

Attribute Property Dialog

The Attribute Property dialog appears as follows:

Attribute Properties		×
Attribute Fropences Attribute Category: All Attributes Component Net Clearance Physical Electrical Placement Manufacturing Router SPECCTRA Route SPECCTRA Placement	Name: [user-defined] ComponentHeight Description Link NoSwap PackageOutlineLayer Part Number RefDes Reference SwapEquivalence Type Value	Name: Value Value:
	OK	Cancel

The following information appears in the dialog:

- **Category list:** Displays a list of the attribute categories: All, Component, Net, Clearance, Physical, Electrical, Placement, Manufacturing, Router, and SPECCTRA. Selecting a category brings up a list of predefined attributes for that category.
- **Name list:** Displays all predefined attributes for the specified category. The first entry in the list is User-defined.

The currently-selected attribute also appears in the Name text box, unless User-defined is selected. In that case, the Name text box is blank so that you can enter a user-defined attribute name.

• Name Text Box: For user-defined attributes, enter a name for the attribute.

If the dialog is accessed to display an attribute's properties, then the Category list, Name list, and Name text box are filled in, but shaded. If the attribute doesn't have a name, these options are enabled.

- Value: Use this text box to enter a value for the attribute.
- Visible: This check box indicates whether or not the attribute is visible.
- Location: This area shows the X and Y coordinates of the component's reference point.
- **Text Style:** This area lets you select the attribute text style. Text styles appear in the Text Style list. To change the selected Text Style, click on the text style you want from the list. To modify the text style, click the **Text Style** button.
- **Rotation:** Shows the rotation amount if the pattern has been rotated.
- Flipped: A check mark in this box indicates that the pattern has been flipped.

• **Justification:** Under Justification are nine buttons, which allow you to change text justification by setting the reference point of the text string. For example, if you enable the middle button, the text reference point (the lower-left corner) moves to the center of the text area).

Pattern Graphics Tab

P-CAD PCB supports alternate pattern graphics. The alternate pattern graphics feature allows you to define different pattern graphics (as part of the same component), which are used on the board in different circumstances. For example, it is common practice to use a different pattern for a top side SMD component to when the same component is mounted on the bottom side of the board.

Different pattern graphics can be pre-assigned to the side of the board, as well as the rotation. If you enable the Auto Swap Graphics option during component placement then as you rotate or flip the component the pattern is automatically updated, according to the assignments defined for the component in the P-CAD Library Executive.

Properties							
Pattern Pattern	Pa <u>d</u> s	<u>C</u> omponent	Component Pins	A <u>t</u> tributes	Pattern <u>G</u> raphics		
Pattern Graphics:	Oriental	ions					
Primary Secondary		uto Swap Pattern Gr	aphics				
	Prima	ry Pattern Graphic:	Primary				
	_	Тор		Bottom			
	0	Primary		Primary			
	90	Secondary		Secondary			
	180	Primary		Primary			
	270	Secondary		Secondary			
Current Pattern Graphics: Secondary							
s	older Flo	ow Direction:	Top to Botto	m			
			1				
		ОК	Cancel				

- **Pattern Graphic Orientations:** Note that the Auto Swap Pattern Graphic option is on, but is grayed out. This indicates that the component was originally placed with the Auto Swap Pattern Graphic option enabled. If this component was now rotated the pattern graphic would automatically change to the pattern specified in the layer and orientation table in the center of the dialog. The table shows the 8 pattern assignments defined for the component, in this case there are only 2 pattern graphics assigned, one called Primary, the other called Secondary. These side of board and orientation assignments are set up in the P-CAD Library Executive or the P-CAD Pattern Editor.
- Current Pattern Graphics: This component is currently using the Secondary pattern graphic.

• Solder Flow Direction: The Solder Flow Direction is set up in the Manufacturing tab of the Options Configure dialog. This feature selects the pattern graphic based on the pre-defined assignments shown in the table below. The default solder flow direction is Top to Bottom. Note that the pattern graphic assigned to each rotation changes with the different solder flow direction option.

If for some reason you change the solder flow direction after components have already been placed on the board, you should enable the **Synchronize Components** option in the Solder Flow Direction frame – each component on board is checked, and if required its pattern graphic is changed for the correct alternative.

Solder Flow Direction	Top (Non-Flipped)				Bottom (Flipped)			
	0°	90°	180°	270°	0°	90°	180°	270°
Top to Bottom	Pat 1	Pat 2	Pat 3	Pat 4	Pat 5	Pat 6	Pat 7	Pat 8
Left to Right	Pat 4	Pat 1	Pat 2	Pat 3	Pat 8	Pat 5	Pat 6	Pat 7
Right to Left	Pat 2	Pat 3	Pat 4	Pat 1	Pat 6	Pat 7	Pat 8	Pat 5
Bottom to Top	Pat 3	Pat 4	Pat 1	Pat 2	Pat 7	Pat 8	Pat 5	Pat 6

Component Reference Links

With the *Attribute Properties* or *Place Attribute* dialog, you can add a reference attribute to a component. A reference attribute is a link between a web site or document and a P-CAD component.

When you place a component with a reference attribute in a design, you can gain access to the web site or document associated with the reference. To do this, **right-click** the component and choose **Properties**. For details, see *Accessing a Reference Link (page 305)*.

Adding a Reference Link

To add the Reference attribute to a component, choose **Place** » **Attribute**. The following *Place Attribute* dialog appears:
Place Attribute			×
Attribute Category:	Name:	Name:	
All Attributes Component Net Clearance Physical Electrical Placement Manufacturing Router SPECCTRA Route SPECCTRA Placement	(user-defined) ComponentHeight Description Link NoSwap PackageOutlineLayer Part Number RefDes RefDes Reference SwapEquivalence Type	Reference Value: www.acceltech.com Visible Location X: Y:	
	Value	Text Style: Default Text Styles Rotation: Justification Flipped C C C C C C C C C	
	ОК	Cancel	

In the *Place Attribute* dialog, choose **Component** from the Attribute Category list and select **Reference** from the Name list. In the Value box, type the path and file name of a document (e.g., C:\\PCAD\Text.doc) or the address of a web page (e.g., www.pcad.com). Then, click **OK**.

Next, save the Reference attribute to a component in a library. For more information on placing attributes and creating components, see *Place Attribute (page 396)*.

Accessing a Reference Link

Once you've added the reference attribute to a component, you can **right-click** the component and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu. Then, you can choose one of the following methods to gain access to the reference link:

- Click the **Component** tab, and click **Reference**.
- Click the **Attributes** tab, and click **Launch**.

For more information on the options in each tab, see *Component Tab* (page 299) and *Attributes Tab* (page 301).

Connection Properties

When you select a connection and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Connection Properties* dialog appears. As shown in the following figure, the Net tab selected by default.

Connection Properties		
Net	Connection	
Net Name: Net Attrs NET00000 Nodes: Layers: J8-11 J8-17 Bottom U6-1 U6-2 U6-19 U7-2 U8-2 U8-2	Connection Lengths Manhattan: 300.0mil Selected: 300.0mil Total: 300.0mil Copper Lengths Selected: 0.0mil Total: 6161.7mil Counts Arc: 0 Line: 31 Pad: 7 Polygon: 0 Pou: 0 Via: 1	
	Cancel	

For information on the options in this tab, see Net Tab (page 464).

Connections Tab

When you click the **Connections** tab in the *Connection Properties* dialog, the dialog appears as follows:

Connection Prop	erties					
	Net				Connec	tion
Net Name: NETO	0000					
X: 1900.0	Y:	2600.0	Node:	U6-19	Туре:	Pattern Pad
End Point						
X: 2200.0	Y:	2600.0	Node:	U7-2	Туре:	Pattern Pad
		OK		Cance	1	

The options in the Connection tab show you the start and end points for the selected connection and the Net Name to which the net belongs, as described below:

• **Net Name**: The net name of the connection.

For the connection Start and End points, you see:

- X and Y coordinates: The X and Y location of the start and end point.
- Node: The node name to which this connection is connected.
- **Type**: The type of start or end point shows what the connection is connected to (e.g., pad).

Pad Properties

When you select a pad and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Pad Properties* dialog appears. As shown in the following figure, the Pad tab is selected by default.

Pad Propertie	:5		
	Pad		Net
Net Name: Pad Number: Default Pin Designator: Pad Style: Tool Code:	0 (Default)	Location X: 4400.0 Eixed Pad Styles	Y: 5100.0 Orientation Filp Rotation: 0.0deg
	(OK	Cancel	

The Pad tab contains the following options. The fields in this tab are read-only:

- Net Name: The name of the net associated with the selected pad.
- **Tool Code:** The tool code used to select the drill bit for the corresponding hole diameter. See *File Export N/C* Drill (*page 264*) for additional information.
- Flip: The Flip box indicates whether or not the pad has been flipped.
- **Rotation:** The Rotation field shows the degree of rotation.

Changing Pad Properties

You can change pad properties as follows:

If the pad is part of a pattern, you can change only the pad style; you cannot change the pad number and location.

- Pad Number: Changing the pad number is useful when you only want to change one or two pads. If you want to renumber a series of pads, choose **Utils** » **Renumber**. For details, see *Utils Renumber* (page 497).
- Default Pin Designator: You can assign a pin designator for each pad which, when saved, becomes the pad's default designator in the library. If you have selected multiple pads, which have different default pin designators, the Default Pin Designator text box displays "Hetero_Selection".
- Location: Type new X and Y coordinates for the pad.

- **Fixed**: Select the Fixed check box to secure a free pad in its design location. When fixed, a free pad cannot be moved, flipped, rotated, cut or deleted. The Fixed box does not appear in the *Properties* dialog when the selected pad is part of a pattern.
- **Pad Style**: You can change the style of the selected pad by selecting one of the existing pad styles in the Pad Style list.

Pad Styles Button

In the *Pad* tab, click **Pad Styles** to open the *Properties* dialog for pad styles. From this dialog you can add a new style based on an existing style, modify a non-default pad style, or delete a non-default pad style.

For detailed instructions on all the features, see Options Pad Style (page 472).

Net Tab

When you click the **Net** tab, the *Pad Properties* dialog appears as follows:

			Pad Properties
Net		Pad	
Lengths 0.0mil 0.0mil 0.0mil gths 0.0mil 2780.3mil 0 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Connectio Manhattan Selected: Total: Copper Le Selected: Total: Counts Arc: Line: Pad: Polygon: Pour: Via:	Layers:	Net Name: M3 Nodes: J8-5 U9-9
	Cancel	OK	
0.0mil 2780.3mil 0 11 2 0 0 0	Copper Le Selected: Total: Counts Arc: Line: Pad: Polygon: Pour: Via: Cancel	Top OK	J8-5 U9-9

Net Tab

A number of objects have net information appearing on a Net tab with the object's *Properties* dialog. This section describes the information you will find on the Net tab whenever that tab appears in a dialog.

Net Name

The Net Names text box contains the name of the net associated with this pad.

Nodes List Box

The Nodes list contains the names of all nodes in the net associated with this pad.

Layers List Box

The Layers list contains the names of all layers associated with this net.

Connection Lengths

This area shows the Manhattan length, the Selected length, and the Total length of all connections in the net. The Manhattan length is an approximation of the final routed length of a diagonal connection.



It only measures the X and Y distances, not depth (such as via length to another layer). Arc length is included (accurately) in the calculation of connection lengths.

Copper Lengths

This area shows the Selected length and the Total length of all copper in the net.

It only measures the X and Y distances, not depth (such as via length to another layer). Arc length is included (accurately) in the calculation of copper lengths.

Counts

The Counts frame counts the following objects in the selected net:

- Arcs
- Lines
- Pads
- Polygons
- Pours
- Vias

Net Attrs Button

When you click **Net Attrs** in the Net tab, the following dialog appears.

Attr	ibutes			
\square		Attribu	tes	
	Name		Valu	e
	Clearance	40		
	PadToLineClearance	20		
	PadToPadClearance	24		
	[Dalata	Properties	Launah
	Auu	Delete	Flopentes	Launon
		OK	Cancel	

This dialog shows a collection of net attributes for the selected net. You can add, change, edit and delete attributes for the net and launch a reference to a document or web site.

For details about this function and a complete listing of attributes, see Edit Nets (page 345).

Via Properties

When you select a via and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Via Properties* dialog appears. As shown in the following figure, the Via tab is selected by default.

Via Properties	
Via	Net
Net Name:	Location X: 2300.0 Y: 5200.0
) (a Studay	☐ Eixed Orientation
(Default)	⊻ <u>Via Styles</u> Rotation: 0.0deg
Tool Code:	
	OK Cancel

Use this dialog to view or change the style of the selected via and to change its location. A Net tab provides net information when the via is part of a net.

The following fields are available for viewing only:

- **Net Name:** The name of the net associated with the selected pad.
- **Tool Code:** The tool code used to select the drill bit for the corresponding hole diameter. See *File Export N/C* Drill (*page 264*) for additional information.
- Flip: The Flip box indicates whether or not the via has been flipped.
- **Rotation:** This field shows the rotation of the via.

Changing Via Properties

You can only change these properties if the via is not part of a net and is not connected to other objects.

- **To change the via Location:** The X and Y coordinates of the selected via appear in the Location box. You can move the via by entering new coordinates.
- **Fixed:** Select the **Fixed** check box to secure the free via in its design location. When fixed, a via cannot be moved, flipped, rotated, cut or deleted.
- To change the Via Style: Select the desired via style from the Via Style list.

Via Styles Button

In the Via tab, click **Via Styles** to open the *Properties* dialog for via styles. From this dialog you can add a new style based on an existing style, modify a non-default via style, or delete a non-default via style.

For more information, see Options Via Style (page 482).

Net Tab

When you click the **Net** tab, the *Via Properties* dialog appears as follows:

Via Properties			
Via	Y	()	let
Net Name: MX3 Nodes: U9-8 U12-18 U12-31	Net Attrs	Connection I Manhattan: Selected: Total: Couper Leng Selected: Total: Counts Arc: Line: Pad: Polygon: Pour: Via:	Lengths 0.0mil 0.0mil 0.0mil ths 0.0mil 1874.3mil 0 10 3 0 0 2
	ОК	Cancel	

For detailed information about this tab, see Net Tab (page 309).

Line Properties

When you select a line and choose Edit » Properties, the Line Properties dialog appears.

Line Properties	
<u>₩</u> idth: 10.0mil	☐ <u>F</u> ixed
End Points	
<u>×</u> : 2700.0	<u>Y</u> : 5200.0
X: 3500.0	Y: 5200.0
Length: 800.0mil	
ОК	Cancel

The *Line Properties* dialog shows you the Length of the selected line.

Changing Line Properties

To change the line's Width: Type a new width over the value in the Width box.

To change the line's End Points: Type new X and Y coordinates over the values in the X and Y boxes.

To fix a free line in its location: Select the **Fixed** check box. A fixed line cannot be moved, flipped, cut, rotated, deleted or resized.

Arc Properties

When you select an arc and choose Edit » Properties, the following Arc Properties dialog appears.

Arc Propertie	es			
<u>R</u> adius:	200.0	Center Point		
<u>W</u> idth:	, 10.0mil	X: 2100.0	<u>Y</u> :	4700.0
Start Angle:	180.0dea	Start Point		
	Toolog -	X: 1900.0	Y:	4700.0
End Angle:	0.0deg +	Tangent Slope Angle:		270.0deg
<u> </u>		End Point		
		X: 2300.0	Y:	4700.0
		Tangent Slope Angle:		90.0deg
	OK	Cancel		

The Arc Properties dialog shows you the start and end points for the selected arc.

For the free arc Center Point, Start Point, and End Point, you see:

- X and Y coordinates: The X and Y location of the Start and End point.
- Tangent Slope Angle: The tangent slope angle of the arc.

Changing Arc Properties

You can change the following properties if the arc is not part of a net and if it is not connected to other objects.

- To change the arc's start angle: Click the scroll buttons (**up** and **down arrows**) in the Start Angle box to scroll through arc start angles or type a new value.
- To change X and Y coordinates of the Center Point: Type over the existing X and Y values in the Center Point frame.
- To change the arc's Sweep Angle: Click the scroll buttons (**up** and **down arrows**) to scroll through arc sweep angles.
- To change the arc's Radius: Type a new radius over the existing value in the Radius box.
- To change the arc's line width: Type a new Value over the existing one in the Width box.
- To fix a free arc in its location: Select the **Fixed** check box. A fixed arc cannot be moved, flipped, cut, rotated, deleted or resized.

Polygon Properties

When you select a polygon and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the following *Polygon Properties* dialog appears with the Polygon tab selected:

oygon i ropenes	Y		
Polygon	Tie		
Definition Points: 3	Filleted Points: 5		
1600.0, 5100.0 (r=100.0)	1600.0, 5100.0	-	
1600.0, 5200.0 (r=100.0) 1500.0, 5200.0 (r=100.0)	1586.6, 5150.0		
1300.0, 3200.0 (1-100.0)	1500.0, 5200.0		
	1500.0, 5200.0		
		_	
Area: 2499.98mil	Lhord Height: 5.0mil		
Show Fillet Handles			

The Polygon tab of the Polygon Properties dialog contains the following options:

- Area: The area of the polygon.
- **Definition Points:** The X and Y location of each vertex in the polygon along with the total number of definition points it contains. If the corners of the polygon are filleted, the radius of the fillet is also displayed.
- **Filleted Points:** The X and Y location of each filleted point in the polygon, along with the total number of filleted points it contains.
- **Chord Height:** The chord height is the maximum distance between the actual arc and its representation as line segments. Curved edges are drawn using a series of line segments. The more line segments used to draw the arc, the closer the arc approaches a perfect curve, producing a small chord height. The default value is 5 mil and is stored in the .ini file.
- **Show Fillet Handles:** Turns on or off the display of the fillet handles in the polygon. The fillet handles are used to move or adjust filleted corners.

The Tie tab of the Polygon Properties dialog contains the following options:

• **Copper Tie:** Select the **Copper Tie** check box to make the polygon a copper tie. When a polygon and two or more nets are given the same TieNet value, and positioned so that the nets are touching the polygon, the polygon becomes a copper tie. The nets cannot be touching

each other (i.e., shorted) except through the Copper Tie. This gives you the ability to tie nets together while treating each net separately for routing purposes.

- **TieNet:** Set the **TieNet** value of the polygon with an entry in this field. You may enter a TieNet value or select an existing value from the drop-down list. The TieNet value can be any combination of alpha and/or numeric characters (i.e., 123, Ab1, 5, A1, etc.). Selecting a TieNet value from existing values in the drop-down list moves all nets with the same TieNet value from the Existing Nets list to the Tied To list.
- **Tied To:** The nets listed in this area are those that have the same TieNet value selected for the copper tie polygon.
- **Existing Nets:** All nets in the design are listed here. You can move a net from the Existing Nets list to the Tied To list by selecting the net then clicking the **left arrow** button. Conversely, move a net from the Tied To list to the Existing Nets list by selecting it and clicking the **right arrow** button.

When a net is moved into the Tied To nets list, the TieNet attribute value for that net is set to the current TieNet value of the copper tie. When a net is moved back to the Existing Nets list, its TieNet attribute reverts back to the value it had prior to being moved to the Tied To list. Any changes made in this dialog are applied when you close the dialog by clicking **OK**.

Copper Ties must be hidden from the routers to prevent being seen as shorts. You must place a polygon keepout around each copper tie before routing the design.

Test Point Properties

To open the *Properties* dialog for test points, select a test point and choose **Edit** » **Properties**. Or, select a test point, then **right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu. As shown in the following figure, you can view and modify test point properties with this dialog:

Test Point Properties 🛛 🗙
Side of Board
© Iop □ Eixed
C Bottom
Net: Location X: [9000.0 Y: [6500.0
OK Cancel

The Test Point Properties dialog contains the following options:

• **Side of Board frame:** There are two options buttons in the Side of Board frame: Top and Bottom. The button you choose indicates whether the point is tested from the Top or Bottom of the board. Since test points are not layer-specific, you can physically place a point on the bottom non-signal layer and choose **Top** to test the point from the top of the board.

- **Fixed:** Select the **Fixed** check box to make the point a fixed object. In your design, fixed points appear in the color assigned to fixed objects in the *Options Display* dialog. Clear the **Fixed** check box to indicate that the point is a moveable object. If a point is moveable (or unfixed), it appears in the appropriate layer color. If this check box is shaded, the test point is part of a pattern.
- **Snap to Center:** Select the **Snap to Center** check box when you want the test point centered on a pad or via. If you choose this option and the test point is on a pad or via, the point snaps to the center of the pad or via.
- Net: The Net text box shows the name of the net on which the point is located.
- **Location frame:** The text boxes in the Location frame show the X,Y coordinates of the test point. Both the Net and Location information is read-only. To modify these properties, you must move the test point from within your design.

To learn more about test points see Test Points (page 376) and Placing Test Points (page 386).

Copper Pour Properties

When you select one or more copper pours and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog appears. As shown in the following figure, the Style tab is active when you choose this command.

Copper Pour Properties						
Style	Connectivity	Island Removal	Net	Polygon		
Fill Characteristics Pattern: Line Width: (0 Line Spacing: (1) Backoff © Eixed: (0) © Use Design	S D. 635mm D. 635mm D. 635mm D. 305mm R ules	Backoff Sm © Low C Medium C High Vertices In D	uothness C Bo C U C Bo C Bo	pured npoured apour		
Save Settin	igs As Default	01	Cano	cel		

Use the options in this dialog to set up or modify the properties associated with a copper pour. When a design contains more than one copper pour, you can modify all of the copper pours in the design at the same time.

Typically, you will use this dialog to change the state of the copper pours in your design from Unpoured to Poured or from Poured to Repour. For example, assume you place three copper pour outlines in a design (for instructions, see *Placing a Copper Pour (page 387)*. To flood all three pours with a copper fill, do the following:

- 1. Hold down the **CTRL** key and select each pour.
- 2. **Right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.
- 3. When the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog appears, choose **Poured** in the State frame.
- 4. Click **OK**. P-CAD PCB floods all of the copper pours with the copper fill according to the pour order set in the Pour/Repour Option frame of the *Options Display* dialog. For details, see *Pour/Repour Option (page 430)*.

IMPORTANT: You can inadvertently split the copper pour in half (more than two pieces) by modifying lines or polygons that were inside the pour region to where they are longer than the copper pour polygon. In that case, the electrical connection would be severed and a connection line will be created between the two islands if the pour is associated with a net

The Copper Pour Properties dialog contains the following tabs:

- Style tab
- Connectivity tab
- Island Removal tab
- Net tab
- Polygon tab

Style Tab

Use the options in this tab to select a fill pattern, set line characteristics, and choose backoff options.

Click this button	To choose this fill pattern
	Solid copper fill will actually be banded (striped) with lines.
	Horizontal fills the pour with horizontal lines (no hatching).
	Vertical fills the pour with vertical lines (no hatching).
\bigotimes	45-degree Cross is cross-hatched diagonally, at a 45-degree angle (like X).
	90-degree Cross is cross-hatched horizontally and vertically, at a 90-degree angle (like +).

• Line Width: Type a value in this box to determine the width of the lines used in filling and hatching.

- Line Spacing: Type a value in this box to determine the separation between fill or hatch lines. If you selected Solid for the Fill Pattern, then the Spacing box is shaded and not available.
- **Backoff:** Choose one of the following buttons in this frame.
- **Fixed:** Choose this button and type a value in the text box to specify a value for the distance you want between the copper pour and any objects that may be inside of the copper pour polygon. This option also backs off from any objects that are outside the copper pour polygon if they are too close to it. The copper pour backoffs from any copper item that is not in the net associated with the pour. The backoff options takes the object's width into account.
- Use Design Rules: Click this button to set backoff values for a specific net. Backoff clearances are fixed at the greatest of the Line to Line or Line to Pad clearance amount set for the current layer in *Options Design Rules* dialog.
- **Backoff Smoothness:** The irregularities and roughness around the copper pours can be smoothed using the options in the Backoff Smoothness frame. Choose one of the following buttons to set the smoothness of backoff polygons. There are three degrees of smoothness:
 - Low specifies eight- to 10-sided polygons.
 - Medium specifies 12- to 14-sided polygons.
 - High specifies 16- to 18-sided polygons.
- **State:** Choose one of the following option buttons to set the state of the copper pour.
- **Poured:** Choose this button to flood the selected copper pours with a copper fill.
- **Unpoured:** Choose this button to leave the selected copper pours unfilled.
- **Repour:** Choose this button to repour an already filled pour to recalculate its islands. Typically, you will use this option when you load a netlist or move a copper pour. For details, see *Repour* (page 190).

Changing the values of **Line Width**, **Pour Backoff**, or **Backoff Smoothness** causes the copper pour to regenerate if **Poured** is enabled. Changes to any other value merely redraws the pour with the new settings.

• Save Settings As Default: Select this check box to save the selected settings for Fill Characteristics, Thermals, Backoff Smoothness and Automatic Island Removal are retained and applied to the next copper pour created.

Connectivity Tab

When you click the **Connectivity** tab, the Copper Pour Properties dialog appears as follows:

Copper Pour Properties					
Style	Connectivity	Island Removal	Net	Polygon	
Net	×	Thermals © 45° © 90° © Direct Con Spoke Width:	nect [15.0mil		
🗖 Save Setting:	s As Default	0	Cano	el	

The Connectivity tab contains the following options:

- Net: Select the net to which you want to connect the copper pour from this list. The copper pour will backoff from all copper items not in this net. If no net is specified, the copper pour backs off from all copper objects inside the pour region except other "no-net" copper pours.
- **Thermals:** Choose one of the following option buttons in this frame to determine whether to use thermals, and if so, what type.
- **45 and 90** specify 45- or 90-degree thermals.
- **Direct Connect** specifies that the copper will pour right over pads and vias (no thermals) that belong to the same net as the copper pour.
- **Spoke Width:** Type a value in this box to specify a value for the width of the thermal spokes.

Island Removal Tab

When you click the **Island Removal** tab, the Copper Pour Properties dialog appears as follows:

Copper Pour Prop	erties			
Style	Connectivity	Island Removal	Net	Polygon
Automatic Island I	Removal 2 40.640mm	(Square units)		
🗖 Save Settin	gs As Default	10	Cano	el

Automatic Island Removal

Select the options in this frame to set criteria for the automatic removal of islands.

- **Minimum Area:** Select this check box and type a value in the box to specify a minimum area an island can have before being removed. Type a minimum value (in square units) in the text box. For example, to remove tiny islands about the size of the default via, enter 1600 as the area (40 mil x 40 mil).
- **Interior:** Select this check box to specify that all islands in a pour that don't have an edge in common with the perimeter of the copper pour are removed.
- **Unconnected:** Select this check box to automatically remove any copper pour island that is not connected to thermals or other copper. P-CAD PCB does not remove islands when all copper pour islands are unconnected.
- **Do not repour:** Select this check box to remove islands without repouring the copper pour. Because you do not have to wait for the pour to regenerate, selecting this check box is a quick way to remove unwanted islands.

Net Tab

When you click the Net tab, the Copper Pour Properties dialog appears as follows:

Copper Pour Properties				
Style	Connectivity	Island Removal	Net	Polygon
Net.Name: 5	Layers:	Attrs Connection I Manhattan: Selected: Total: Copper Leng Selected: Total: Counts Arc: Line: Pad: Pour: Via:	Lengths	
🗖 Save Setting	gs As Default	OK	Can	cel

For detailed information about this tab, see Net Tab (page 309).

Polygon Tab

When you click the **Polygon** tab, you have the ability to gain access to the options shown in the following figure:

Copper Pour Properties				
Style	Connectivity	Island Removal	Net	Polygon
Definition Points: 4 1800.0, 4900.0 2100.0, 5200.0 1900.0, 5200.0 1800.0, 5300.0 (r=1	Filleted 2100 25.4) 35.4) 1800 1860 1800	d Points: 7 0, 4900.0 0, 5200.0 4, 5239.6 4, 5250.0 4, 5239.6 0, 5214.6		
Area: 48308.10mil	<u>C</u> hord les	Height: 5.0mil æd		
🗖 Save Setting	gs As Default		Ca	ncel

The options in this tab are similar to the options in the Polygon tab of the *Polygon Properties* dialog. For details, see *Polygon Properties* (*page 315*).

Copper Pours can be fixed in their location by selecting the **Fixed** check box. When a copper pour is fixed it cannot be moved, flipped, cut, rotated, deleted or resized.

Cutout Properties

When you select a cutout and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Cutout Properties* dialog appears as follows.

Cutout	Properties	
	Cutout	Polygon
Layer:	Bot Assy	
	ОК	Cancel

The Cutout tab of the Cutout Properties dialog contains the following options:

• Layer: The layer on which the cutout appears. To change the layer, select a new layer from the list.

The Polygon tab of the *Cutout Properties* dialog, shown in the following figure, provides you with the ability to gain access to the same information available on the Polygon tab of the *Polygon Properties* dialog.

Cutout Properties				
Cutout	Polygon			
Definition Points: 3 165.100, 180.340 (r=1.270) 180.340, 198.120 (r=1.270) 162.560, 205.740 (r=1.270)	Filleted Points: 12 164 805, 183 295 165 296, 182 444 166 175, 182 156 167 033, 182 595 179 215, 196 807 179 515, 197 528 179 339, 198 298 179 339, 198 298			
Area: 212.08mm	178.731, 198.801 164.538, 204.892 ▼ Chord Height: 0.127mm			
OK Cancel				

See Polygon Properties (page 315) for complete details.

Plane Properties

When you select a plane and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Plane Properties* dialog appears with the Plane tab selected:

Plane Properties		
Plane	Net	Polygon
<u>N</u> et: +12V		
Boundary Width: 0.500mm		
Net <u>P</u> lane Color		
		R
	OK Cancel	

The Plane tab of the *Plane Properties* dialog presents the following information:

- **Net:** Use the list to assign the plane to an existing net or type in the net name.
- **Boundary Width:** This box defines the line width for the Polygonal outline. The default is the current default line width. Change the width by typing over the default value.

Net Plane Color Button

To select a net plane color, click **Net Plane Color** in the Plane tab of the *Plane Properties* dialog. When the color palette appears, select a color from the palette.

Net Tab

When you select the **Net** tab, the *Plane Properties* dialog appears as follows:

Plane Properties			
Plane	Net	ľ	Polygon
Net Name: +12V Nodes: Layers: C2-PLUS C3-2 P10-2 U1-3 U1-3	Net Attrs	Connection Manhattan: Selected: Total: Copper Len; Selected: Total: Counts Arc: Line: Pad: Polygon: Pour; Via:	Lengths 0.000mm 0.000mm 0.000mm gths 0.000mm 126.086mm 0 1 1 4 0 0 1
OK Cancel			

For detailed information about this tab, see Net Tab (page 309).

Polygon Tab

The Polygon tab of the *Plane Properties* dialog, shown in the following figure, provides you with the ability to gain access to the same information available on the Polygon tab of the *Polygon Properties* dialog.

Plane Properties		
Plane	Nei	Polygon
Definition Points: 4 175.260, 88.900 (r=1.270) 190.500, 139.700 (r=1.270) 147.320, 137.160 (r=1.270) 144.780, 137.160 (r=1.270)	Filleted Points: 13 173.771.91.257 ▲ 174.537.90.704 ▲ 175.617.91.257 ▲ 176.051.91.571 ■ 189.978.137.961 ■ 189.459.138.760 ■ 189.459.139.387 ■ 188.686.139.593 ■ 147.320.137.160 ▼	
Area: 1134.63mm	Chord Height: 0.127mm	
☑ Show Fillet Handles		
	OK Cancel	

See Polygon Properties (page 315) for complete details.

Room Properties

The *Room Properties* dialog, shown in the following figure, is used to modify the properties of one or more selected rooms.

Room Properties			×
Name: Room1	Design Compon C1 C2 C3	Edit R <u>u</u> les ents:	Placement Side C Iop C Bottom C Top Dr Bottom
	C4 C5 C6 C7 C8 P1 P2 P3 P3 P4	-	Fill Pattern © Elear © Solid © Hatched
<u>R</u> emove >>	<< <u>A</u> dd Select by	Attribute	
Lower Left Y: 68	300.0	Upper Right X: 8800.0	Y: 6900.0
	ОК	Cancel	

The Rooms Properties dialog contains the following options:

- Name: The unique name of the Room. You may type a new name in the text box. A room's name cannot be greater than 20 characters or contain spaces. The default Room name is the word Room followed by a number, which is incrementally allocated each time a Room, is created (i.e. Room1, Room2, etc.).
- Edit Rules: Click this button to open the *Attributes* dialog where you can assign attributes and their values to the Room rules. See *Attributes Tab* (page 301) for more information on the *Attributes* dialog.
- **Placement Side:** Choose one of the buttons in this frame to designate the Room placement on the board to the Top, Bottom, or Top or Bottom layer. The **Top Or Bottom** option is selected by default, giving you the ability to place rooms on either the Top or Bottom layer.
- Included Components: A list of the components included in the selected Room.
- **Design Components:** The list of all components in the design that are not already included in the room.

You may select one or more components from the Design Components list and click **<<Add** to move them to the Included Components list. To remove selected components from the Included Components list, click **Remove**.

In addition to selecting components by name from the Design Components list, you can select all components with the same Attribute and value for inclusion in the Included Components list. Click **Select by Attribute** to open the *Set By Attribute* dialog. You can then choose the **Attribute** to be used to select the desired components. The *Set By Attribute* dialog is explained in *Set By Attribute* (*page 349*).

- **Fill Pattern:** The pattern that fills the room when displayed can be Clear, Solid or Hatched.
- **Fixed:** Check this box to secure the Room in its location. When the Fixed check box is selected, the Room cannot be moved, rotated, flipped, stretched, cut or deleted.
- Location: The location coordinates are provided for viewing purposes and cannot be changed.

Text Properties

When you select one or more text items and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Text Properties* dialog appears:

Text Properties		_ 🗆 ×
Net Connections		< I
	Cancel	Ŀ
Location ☆: 3800.0 ∴ 7100.0	Justification C C C C C C Text Styles: C C C [Default] T	ext <u>S</u> tyles

The *Text Properties* dialog remains displayed in your workspace until you close it or choose another tool. Changes made to the text in the text box are instantly mirrored in the location of the selected text in the design. You can adjust the zoom factor in the design to more easily view the text while the dialog remains on the screen.

From this dialog, you can change the text content, justification, style and location. The text can also be rotated and flipped, and any non-default text styles can be modified.

Changing Text Properties

To change the Text: Type over the text displayed in the text box and click **OK**. For multi-line text, ENTER creates a line break. You can enter a maximum of 2,000 characters.

While the text box has focus, you can press **CTRL+V** to paste text from the Clipboard.

To change the text Location: The X and Y coordinates of the selected text appear in the Location box. You can move the text by typing new coordinates.

To change the text Justification: In the Justification frame, choose one of the buttons to change text justification. The reference point of the text string is, by default, at the location of the first character in the string and set to the lower left corner. When you change the Justification button, the text moves around the reference point. For instance, if the text "STRING" is displayed in its default settings, the reference point (the small solid square) is as shown in the following illustration:



If you change the Justification to the upper right corner button, the text "STRING" rotates around the reference point and appears in the design as shown in the following illustration:



To Flip the Text: Select the Flip check box to flip the text.

To Rotate the Text: Click Rotate to rotate the text by the number of degrees shown on the button. To change degree of rotation, type a value in the Rotation Increment box in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. The number of degrees that the text has been rotated is displayed next to the Rotate button.

To change the Text Style: Click the text style you want from the Text Style list.

Text Styles Button

Click **Text Styles** to open the *Options Text Style* dialog. From this dialog you can add, delete, rename, or edit text styles.

For more information on the Text Style dialog, see Options Text Style (page 482).

For more information on placing text, see Place Text (page 393).

Attribute Properties

When you select an attribute and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Attribute Property* dialog appears as follows:

Attribute Properties			×
Attribute Category: All Attributes Consortent Net Clearance Physical Electrical Placement Manufacturing Router SPECCTRA Route SPECCTRA Placement	Name: (user-defined) ComponentHeight Description Link NoSwap PackageDutlineLayer Part Number Part Number Part Number Part SwapE quivalence SwapE quivalence Type Value	Name: Description Value: Value: Visible Location X [350:0 Text Style: [Default] Rotation: [0:0deg Flipped	Y: 6300.0 Text Styles Justification C C C C C C C C C
	OK	Cancel	

The following information appears in the dialog:

- **Category list:** Displays a list of all attribute categories: All, Component, Net, Clearance, Physical, Electrical, Placement, Manufacturing, Router, and SPECCTRA. Selecting a category brings up a list of predefined attributes for that category.
- **Name list:** Displays all predefined attributes for the specified category. The first entry in the list is User-defined.

The currently-selected attribute also appears in the Name text box, unless User-defined is selected. In that case, the Name text box is blank so that you can enter a user-defined attribute name.

• Name: For user-defined attributes, enter a name for the attribute.

If the dialog is accessed for an attribute that already has a name, then the Category list, Name list, and Name text box are filled in, and shaded. If the attribute doesn't have a name, these options are enabled.

- Value: Use this text box to enter a value for the attribute.
- Visible: This check box indicates whether the attribute is visible or not.
- Location: This area shows the X and Y coordinates of the component's reference point.
- **Text Style:** This area lets you select the attribute text style. Text styles appear in the Text Style list. To change the selected Text Style, click on the text style you want from the list. To modify the text style, click the **Text Style** button.
- **Rotation:** Shows the rotation amount if the pattern has been rotated.
- **Flipped:** This box indicates whether or not the pattern has been flipped.

• **Justification:** In the Justification frame, choose one of the buttons to change text justification by setting the reference point of the text string. For example, if you enable the middle button, the text reference point (the lower-left corner) moves to the center of the bounding rectangle.

Field Properties

When you select a field and choose Edit » Properties, the Field Properties dialog appears as follows.

Field Properties	
Name:	Location
Approved By	X: 5300.0 Y: 2000.0
Value:	
{Approved By}	Flip Rotation: 0.0deg
Text Style: (Default)	Text Styles
	OK Cancel

The *Field Properties* dialog lets you view and/or change selected information about the selected field's properties. You can modify the field's Location, Text Style and Justification. The Value of the field can be modified using the **File** » **Design Info** command.

The following information about the selected field can be viewed:

- Name: The name of the existing field is displayed here.
- Value: The Value assigned to the field.
- Flip: The Flip box indicates whether or not the field has been flipped.
- **Rotation:** The Rotation field shows the rotation amount if the field has been rotated.

The following information about the selected field can be modified:

- **Text Style:** Choose text style from the list of styles that appear when you click the **down arrow** button.
- **Text Styles:** If the text style you need does not appear in the Text Style list, click the **Text Styles** button to display the *Options Text Style* dialog where you can define a new text style. For information on the *Options Text Style* dialog, see *Options Text Style* (page 482).
- Location: The current X and Y coordinates of the field's location. You may enter new coordinates and the field will be placed in the new location when you exit the dialog by clicking **OK**.
- **Justification:** Choose the reference point of the field by clicking the desired button. For example, if you enable the middle button, the field reference point (the lower-left corner) moves to the center of the bounding rectangle of the field.

Design View Properties

A view of a specific region of your design, or design view, can be defined and placed in a new location. When you select a design view in the design and choose the **Edit** » **Properties** command, the *Design View Properties* dialog opens:

Design Vie	w Properties		×
T <u>i</u> tle:	Design View		
S <u>u</u> btitle:			
<u>T</u> ext Style:	(Default)	Text Style	<u>S</u> caling: 1.000
-Design Reg Region C	gion oordinates	Laye <u>r</u> s:	
<u>D</u> efin	e Region	Top Assy Top Silk	Set <u>A</u> ll
LowerLo × 1	eft: 133.9mil	Top Paste Top Mask	<u>C</u> lear All
Y 3	1554.0mil	Top Bottom	Apply Layer Set
<u>U</u> pper F	Right:	Bot Mask Bot Paste	
≚ [1	934.8mil	Bot Silk Bot Assy Baland	
¥: [4	1800.7mil	Board	
	esian View		
		Cancel	1
]

The *Design View Properties* dialog is identical in appearance to the *Place Design View* dialog. All fields are available for editing and use with the exception of the **Define Region** interactive tool. If the location of the Design view needs to be modified, you can enter the new X and Y coordinates directly into the appropriate boxes.

For additional information on the Design View dialog, see Place Commands (page 369).

Detail Properties

A scaled region of a PCB board, or detail, can be places as a graphic into your PCB design. When you select a places detail and choose the **Edit** » **Properties** command, the *Detail Properties* dialog opens:

Detail Pro	perties ×
File:	C:\PCAD2001\Demo\Demo1_u.BLK Browse
Title:	
Subtitle:	
Text Style:	(Default) Text Style Scaling: 1.000

The *Detail Properties* dialog is identical to the *Place Detail* dialog. All fields are available for edit, with the exception of the File name.

For additional information on the Detail dialog, see Place Commands (page 369).

Diagram Properties

An annotated diagram depicting the stack-up of board layers can be generated and placed into the PCB design. When you select a placed diagram and choose the **Edit** » **Properties** command, the *Diagram Properties* dialog opens:

Diagram Propert	ies		×
Diagram Type:			
Layer StackUp	Title:	Layer StackUp	
	Subtitle:		
	Text Style:	(Default) TextStyles	
		Diagram Style Scale: 1.000	
		© Style #1	
		U Style #2	
		OK Cancel	

The *Diagram Properties* dialog is identical to the *Place Diagram* dialog. All fields are available for edit.

For additional information on the Diagram dialog, see Place Commands (page 369).

Picture Properties

An image in P-CAD picture format can be placed into your PCB design using the **DocTool** » **Place Picture** command. When you select a placed picture in your design and choose the **Edit** » **Properties** command, the *Picture Properties* dialog opens:

Picture Prope	rty 🗙
_ <u>S</u> cale	
1.000	_
ОК	Cancel

The *Picture Properties* dialog allows you to specify the Scale of the picture. Enter the scaling factor for the picture (values > 0). A scaling factor of 1 specifies no size change. A scaling factor greater than 1 specifies magnification. A selected picture object can be resized by dragging one if its vertex handles to the desired size.

Table Properties

Several tables can be generated and placed into your PCB design. When you select a table and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Table Properties* dialog opens:

Table Properties		×
Table Type Note Table Revision Note Table	Table Name Note Table Text Style (Default) Line Width T0.0mil Note Numbering © Top to Bottom © Bottom to Top	Text Styles
	Width of note column:	80
C	DK Cancel	

The *Table Properties* dialog is identical to the *Place Table* dialog. All fields are available for edit, with the exception of the Table Type. When the properties are modified, the table is automatically

updated. To update the information in the table if the design itself has been modified, choose **DocTool » Update** or **DocTool » Update All**.

Dimension Properties

When you select a dimension and choose **Edit** » **Properties**, the *Dimension Properties* dialog appears as follows.

Dimension	Properties		
Style:	Point to Point	Points: 3025.0, 4350.0	Text Style (Default)
Units:	inch 💌	3200.0, 2875.0 3536.8, 4355.0	Text Style
Layer:	Board 💌		Line Width
Precision:	1		10.0mil
Symbol Size:			
Center Size:			Arrowhead
🗖 Display <u>U</u> n	its		Width: 62.0mil
🗖 Display Dia	ameter Symbol		
🗖 <u>S</u> uppress L	.eading Zeros		
🗖 Su <u>p</u> press T	Frailing Zeros		Positive: 0.0000in
Associated	Dimension		Negative: 0.0000in
ОК	Cancel		Display Tolerance

The *Dimension Properties* dialog lets you view information about the selected dimension's properties. You can modify the dimension's Text Style and Line Width.

Information about the selected field includes:

- Style: Shows the dimension style entered in the Place Dimension dialog.
- Units: Displays the measuring units of the dimension.
- Layer: Indicates the layer on which the dimension has been placed.
- Precision: Indicates how many numbers are displayed after the decimal point.
- Symbol Size: Shows the selected size of the symbol for a Leader style dimension.
- Center Size: Shows the selected center size for the center of the symbol.
- Display Units: Select this check box to turn on the display of the specified Unit.
- **Display Diameter Symbol:** Select this check box to turn on the display of the Diameter Symbol.

- **Suppress Leading Zeros:** Select this check box to turn off the display of leading zeros in the dimension's value.
- **Suppress Trailing Zeros:** Select this check box to turn off the display of trailing zeros in the dimension's value.
- Associated Dimension: Select this check box to associate the dimension with the objects it is measuring.

Points

The Points frame displays the points upon which the dimension is built. The numbers include the dimension endpoints and text location.

Text Styles

The Text Styles frame displays the current text style. To change the style, click **Text Styles** to open the *Options Text Style* dialog. From this dialog you can add, delete, rename or edit text styles. For more information, see *Options Text Style* (page 482).

Line Width

The Line Width frame displays the current value of the line width. To change the line width, click **Line Width** to open the *Options Current Line* dialog. From this dialog you can edit the current line width. For more information, see *Options Current Line* (page 457).

Arrowhead

The Arrowhead frame displays, and allows you to change, the Length and Width of the dimension's arrowhead.

Tolerance

The Tolerance frame displays, and allows you to change, the Positive and Negative Tolerance values. To turn on the display of the tolerances, select the **Display Tolerance** check box. The tolerance is always displayed with 4 digits, unless the Suppress trailing Zeros option is enabled.

Edit Delete

Choose **Edit** » **Delete** to delete all selected objects. As a shortcut for choosing this command, you can press the **DEL** key.

Choosing this command does not move the selected data to the Clipboard, as does **Edit** » **Cut**. As there is nothing to paste, the only way to reverse a delete action is to use the **Edit** » **Undo** command.

Delete Objects

- 1. Choose **Edit** » **Select** (or click the toolbar button or press the **S** key).
- 2. Select the object you want to delete.

3. Choose Edit » Delete (Or press the DELETE key, or right-click and choose Delete from the shortcut menu). If you inadvertently delete an object, choose Edit » Undo to reverse the delete action.

This operation can also be performed with multiple objects by using multiple select and block select operations. See *Edit Select (page 356)*.

Deleting Objects from Nets

When you delete objects from nets, you can get a variety of results, depending on what you delete and the makeup of the net you delete from. The function of smart nets is to maintain certain connections when objects such as copper connections, unrouted connections, and net nodes are deleted. In general, the following can occur.

- If you delete free copper (no connections), then the copper disappears and no connection compensation occurs.
- If you delete a connection to a jumper pad, hidden connections to other jumpered pads are removed.
- If you delete a connection to a jumper pad and no other net objects are connected to any of the jumpered pads, then all jumpered pads are removed from the net.
- If you delete a node, then the remaining nodes are still part of the net, and there is compensation to maintain connections between the remaining nodes.
- If you delete a component, you are removing nodes from all nets to which the component's pads were connected. The connectivity feature of PCB reconnects the remaining nodes in each net in the most efficient way.
- If you delete a connection from the middle of a net, the net is split. One portion retains the original net name and the others are given new system-generated names. For example, in the following example the net has three connections: ab, bc, and cd. If you delete connection bc, you cut the net into two nets: ab and cd.



• If you delete a connection that isolates a pad from the rest of the net, you end up with a disconnected node that is no longer part of any net. For example, in the above figure, if you delete connection cd, the node d becomes isolated from the net.

• If you delete a copper segment that is part of a net, that segment is not deleted, but instead becomes a connection (in effect unrouting the net. In this case, the net remains intact, although changed).

Edit Copy Matrix

Choose **Edit** » **Copy Matrix** to duplicate all of the selected objects according to the parameters you specify. The objects must be selected before the **Edit** » **Copy Matrix** command is available.

When you choose Edit » Copy Matrix the following dialog appears.

Edit Copy Matrix		
Number of Columns:	2	
Column Spacing:	5.0	OK
Number of Rows:	1	Cancel
Row Spacing:	0	

In the *Edit Copy Matrix* dialog, the Number of Columns and Number of Rows determine the number of X (horizontal) and Y (vertical) duplications, respectively, of a selected object.

In the Column Spacing and Row Spacing, you can enter a value, in current units, to determine the spacing between the duplicated objects. With column spacing, a positive value duplicates to the right, a negative value to the left. With row spacing, a positive value duplicates up, a negative value down. For example, if you specify 200 mil for Column Spacing and 200 mil for Row Spacing (and specify 3 rows and 3 columns), the result is a matrix with 9 objects 200 mils apart, as shown in the following illustration.

• • • • • •

The values represented default to mm (millimeters) or mil, depending on what you have set in Options Configure (your current units). You can specify a measurement value (overriding Options Configure) by typing in mil, mm, cm, or in after the numeric value.

Duplicating an Object(s)

To duplicate objects, do the following:

- 1. Choose Edit » Select. Then, select the object(s) you want to duplicate.
- 2. Choose Edit » Copy Matrix. The Edit Copy Matrix dialog appears.

- 3. In the Number of Columns box, specify how many duplications you want to perform horizontally. In the Column Spacing box, enter a value to determine the spacing between duplications and in which direction (positive=right, negative=left) to duplicate).
- 4. In the Number of Rows box, specify how many duplications you want to perform vertically. In the Row Spacing box, enter a value to determine the spacing between duplications and in which direction (positive=up, negative=down) to duplicate).
- 5. An error message appears if what you specify for your duplication is too large to fit in the workspace.
- 6. Click **OK**. If you are not satisfied with the object you duplicated, choose **Edit** » **Undo** to reverse the action and try again.

P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of 400 components. Therefore, when using P-CAD PCB (6/400), do not exceed this number when duplicating components in your design.

Edit Explode Component

Choose **Edit** » **Explode Component** to convert a component back to its basic primitives, creating a collection of editable graphic objects. When you explode a component, the collection of objects is no longer a component or a pattern.

You cannot explode a fixed or exploded component.

This feature is useful for modifying an existing component or creating a new pattern/component from an existing one. After you explode the component, you can then perform changes to the objects such as adding more pads, adding test points, changing line size or thickness, renumbering pin designators, etc. In addition, the default pin designators are updated with the value of the current pin designators after exploding.

Exploding a Component

To explode a component, do the following:

- 1. Click the **Select** button on the toolbar or choose **Edit** » **Select** to enable the select tool.
- 2. Select the object that you want to explode and choose **Edit** » **Explode Component**. The component becomes a collection of modifiable objects.

To create a component again, you must save the objects as a pattern. To do this, select the objects and choose **Library Pattern Save As**. Then, attach the pattern to a component in *P-CAD Library Executive*.

If you inadvertently explode a component, choose Edit » Undo to reverse the action.

Edit Alter Component

Choose Edit » Alter Component to move, rotate, flip, or delete selected objects.

With these editing processes you can alter certain component characteristics either for aesthetic reasons or manufacturing improvement, such as avoiding any co-location problems during manufacturing (e.g., through-holes and silkscreen paint). The rules/restrictions are as follows:

- Pads cannot be selected, and therefore cannot be edited in any way.
- When the Allow Single Select on All Enabled Layers check box is selected in the Mouse tab of the *Options Preferences* dialog, selections across enabled layers are done in the following order:
- 1. Current layer items.
- 2. Multi-layer items; i.e., all-layer keepouts, pads, vias, connections and points.
- 3. All other layer items in order.
 - Reference designators (RefDes), Type, Value and reference points (RefPoints) cannot be deleted. However, you can hide the following items:
 - To hide the RefDes, Value, or Type: Select the component and choose **Edit** » **Properties**. Then, clear the corresponding **Visibility** check box in the Pattern tab.
 - To hide glue dot and pick and place points: Choose **Options** » **Display** and click the **Miscellaneous** tab. Then, choose the appropriate **Hide** option button.
 - You cannot undo any alter actions until the operation is complete.

Altering a Component

To alter a component, follow these steps:

1. Choose Edit » Select. Then, select the component you want to edit.

You may enable the **Allow Single Select on All Enabled Layers** option in the Mouse tab of the *Options Preference* dialog or by pressing the **CTRL+L** keys, to select a component across enabled layers.

- 2. Choose **Edit** » **Alter Component**. When the cursor takes the shape of a crosshair cursor, you are in edit mode.
- 3. Zoom in sufficiently. Change layers if necessary. You can select items individually if you are on the correct layer or you use a block select. The settings in **Options** » **Selection Mask** can affect your results here.

Editable items typically reside on the Top Silk layer, except for Ref Points, which are not layer items, but this depends on how the pattern was originally created.

4. After you have selected individual item(s), you can then move, delete, or otherwise alter them (according to the restrictions mentioned previously). **Right-click** or press **ESC** to end the editing mode.

Edit Align Components

Components can be aligned around a selection reference point either horizontally or vertically, and as an option, the components can be equally spaced. If a number of components are off-grid, these components can be aligned back on-grid.

- The alignment of components is undoable.
- The alignment of components has full macro support.

This command does not work on fixed components.

Align Horizontally or Vertically

To align a component, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the components to align. The Edit » Align Components command becomes available.
- 2. **Right-click** and choose **Selection Point** from the shortcut menu. Then, place a selection reference point, which is a point about which the components will be horizontally or vertically aligned.
- 3. Choose **Edit** » **Align Components**. The *Edit Align Components* dialog appears. Without selecting a selection reference point, the alignment and component spacing options are shaded.

Edit Align Components
Alignment
C Horizontal About Selection Point
C Vertical About Selection Point
Onto Grid
- Component Spacing
🗖 Space Equally
Spacing:
OK Cancel

- 4. Select either horizontal or vertical alignment.
- 5. To align the components with equal spacing, select the **Space Equally** check box and enter the Spacing value. The spacing value is the distance between the reference points of the components.
- 6. Press **OK** and the selected components will be aligned.

Align to Grid

To align a component to grid do the following:

- 1. Select the components. Only components can be selected for this command to be enabled.
- 2. Choose Edit » Align Components. The Edit Align Components dialog appears.
3. Click **OK** and the selected components are aligned to grid. Each selected off-grid component is moved to the nearest grid point.

Edit Select All

Choose Edit » Select All to selects all items on all enabled layers.

Edit Deselect All

Choose Edit » Deselect All to cancel the selection of all items.

Edit Highlight

Choose **Edit** » **Highlight** to highlight selected objects. To highlight an item in your design, select an object and then choose **Edit** » **Highlight**. The object is highlighted in the current highlight color.

To change the highlight color, choose **Options** » **Display**. In the Colors tab, click **Highlight** and choose a new color. When you close the dialog, notice that the color change does not affect existing highlighted objects, unless a highlighted object was selected when you performed the color change.

When you highlight objects, they retain the highlight color until they are unhighlighted. When you select a highlighted object, the selection color overrides the highlight color, so you won't see the highlight color until the items are deselected.

You can also highlight objects using the shortcut menu. To do this, select an item or items. Then **right-click** and choose **Highlight** from the shortcut menu.

DDE Hotlinks

If PCB and P-CAD Schematic are both running, and if the **DDE Hotlinks** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog is selected in both programs, then component and net highlight information is communicated between the two programs. Highlighting a net in one program highlights the corresponding net in the other program; highlighting a pattern in PCB highlights the corresponding symbol(s) in P-CAD Schematic and vice versa.

If you change the highlight color of an object in P-CAD PCB, the same object in P-CAD Schematic is automatically updated with the same highlight color.

Edit Unhighlight

Choose **Edit** » **Unhighlight** to remove the highlighting from the selected item or items and restores the normal object colors.

If PCB and P-CAD Schematic are both running, and if the **DDE Hotlinks** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog is selected in both programs, the highlight color is removed from the selected items in both programs.

You can also gain access to this command by selecting an item or items and then **right-clicking** to bring up the shortcut menu, and choosing **Unhighlight**.

Edit Unhighlight All

Choose **Edit** » **Unhighlight All** to remove the highlight from all items on all layers in the design and to restore the normal object colors. This command applies to all highlighted objects, regardless of whether they are selected or not.

If PCB and P-CAD Schematic are both running, and if the **DDE Hotlinks** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog is selected in both programs, the highlights are removed in both programs.

Edit Select Highlighted

Choose **Edit** » **Select Highlighted** to select all highlighted objects. This is useful when you want to edit a group of highlighted objects.

Your block selection criteria determines which highlighted objects are selected when you use this command. To set block selection criteria, see *Options Selection Mask (page 423)*.

If an item within a component is highlighted, it will not be selected when you choose the **Edit** » **Select Highlighted** command. For example, if you highlight two pins within a component and then choose **Edit** » **Select Highlighted**, neither the pins nor the component will be selected.

If any items are selected, but not highlighted, when you choose **Edit** » **Select Highlighted**, those items remain selected. For example, highlight three components on a layer and then select another component, but do not highlight it. Now, choose **Edit** » **Select Highlighted**. P-CAD PCB selects the three highlighted components, and the other component remains selected.

Edit Fix

Choose **Edit** » **Fix** to fix and unfix objects in their locations in the design. Fixed objects cannot be moved, rotated, flipped, cut, deleted or resized.

When you choose **Edit** » **Fix**, the menu contains a sub menu, as shown in the figure on the left. Choose the appropriate command from the sub menu.

Edit Fix

Choose **Edit** » **Fix** to secure the selected objects in their location in the design and prevents them from being moved, rotated, flipped, cut, deleted or resized.

Edit Unfix

Choose **Edit** » **Unfix** to release the selected, fixed objects from their secured location, allowing them to be moved, rotated, flipped, cut, deleted or resized.

Edit Unfix All

Choose Edit » Unfix All to release all fixed objects in the design.

Edit Rooms

Choose **Edit** » **Rooms** to edit rooms that exist in your design. When you choose **Edit** » **Rooms**, the *Edit Rooms* dialog appears. This dialog gives you the ability to find and select the components included in the selected rooms.

Edit Rooms		×
Rooms:	Included Components:	
Hoomi		Room Properties
		<u>H</u> ighlight Room
		Unhighlight Room
		Highlight Included
		Unhighlight Included
<u>S</u> et All		
<u>C</u> lear All		
	Close	

When one or more Rooms are selected, the *Edit Rooms* dialog displays the following information:

- **Rooms:** The Rooms list contains the names of the Rooms in the design.
- Included Components: The Included Components lists the components that have been assigned to the selected Rooms. When multiple Rooms are selected, the Included Components list contains the components included in all of the selected Rooms. The Included Components list is blank when a Room with no included components is selected.
- **Properties:** Click **Properties** to open the *Properties* dialog for the Rooms in the design. In the **Room Properties** dialog you can assign components to the Included list, set the Placement Side and Fill Pattern and Fix the room to its location. See *Room Properties (page 325)* for more information.
- **Highlight/Unhighlight Rooms:** Click **Highlight** to display the selected rooms in the highlight color set in the Colors tab of the *Options Display* dialog. The Unhighlight button returns any highlighted rooms to its normal display color.
- **Highlight Included/Unhighlight Included:** Click **Highlight Included** to display the components included in all of the selected rooms in the highlight color set in the Colors tab of the *Options Display* dialog. The **Unhighlight Included** button returns the highlighted, included components to their normal display color.

• Set All/Clear All: Click Set All to select all rooms and the Clear All button to cancel the select of all rooms.

Edit Components

Choose **Edit** » **Components** to edit the components in your design and to jump to a particular component. With this command, you can also highlight components and to highlight nets attached to a particular component.

Edit Components

Components

C1
C2
C3
C4
C5
C6
C7
C8
C7
C8
P1
P2
P3
P3
P4
P5
P6
S
Edit Close

Close

Choose Edit » Components to open the following dialog.

Components List Box

The Components list contains the names of all components in the active design. You can select individual or multiple components in the list. Once selected, you can highlight and unhighlight components and attached nets and jump to a component.

Set All/Clear All

If you want to select all components in the Components list, click **Set All**. If you don't want any components selected, click **Clear All**.

Properties

Click **Properties** to open the *Component Properties* dialog for the selected component or components. For details, see *Edit Properties (page 292)*.

Highlight/Unhighlight

The **Highlight** button highlights one or more components selected from the Components list in the current highlight color set in the Colors tab of the *Options Display* dialog. You can use this feature

to highlight objects using different colors. When you change the highlight color of one object, it does not affect the highlight color of other highlighted objects, which are not selected.

When you choose this command, the chosen components are drawn in the highlight color until they are unhighlighted. The selection color overrides the highlight color, so you won't see the highlights until the components are deselected.

Component highlight information is communicated between the two programs when the following is true:

- Both PCB and P-CAD Schematic are running.
- The DDE Hotlinks check box in General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog is selected in both programs.

Highlighting a component in PCB highlights the corresponding part in P-CAD Schematic. If you change the highlight color of an object in P-CAD PCB, the same object in P-CAD Schematic is automatically updated with the same highlight color.

The Unhighlight button removes the highlighting from the selected components.

Highlighting an Attached Net

You can highlight nets, which are attached to the components selected in the Components list.

- 1. To highlight attached nets, select one or more components from the Component list (or, click **Set All** to select all components in the list),
- 2. Click **Highlight Attached Nets** to highlight all segments of the attached net, including lines, polygons, arcs, copper pours, pads and vias. The attached nets are highlighted in the highlight color set in the Colors tab of the *Options Display* dialog.
- 3. To remove a highlight, select one or more components from the Component list.
- 4. Click Unhighlight Attached Nets.

Jumping to a Component

To jump to a component, do the following:

- 1. Select one component from the list. The Jump button is shaded if more than one component is selected.
- 2. Click **Jump** to jump to the specified component. The specified component appears in the center of your workspace.

Edit Nets

Choose **Edit** » **Nets** to show, hide, and rename nets, display net information, select net items, and edit net attributes. With this command you can also view and highlight nets within your design, view nodes attached to a particular net and to jump to a node. In addition, you can select one or more nodes and modify their pad or via styles and delete them from the net.

Edit Nets			
	Nets:	Nodes:	Pad Styles:
<u>R</u> ename	✓+12V	C2-PLUS P:SX60Y6	DD 38A
Info	✓A8	P10-2 P:EX60Y6	JD 38A JD 35A [1]
	VA3 VA10	U1-3 P:EX120Y	120D50A
Edit Attributes	⊘ A11		
Edit Net Layer Attributes	✓A12		
View Attributes	✓A13		
Me <u>w</u> Attributes	✓A15		
Sho <u>w</u> Conns		•	
Show Conns Only On <u>D</u> rag			
Hide Conns	Set <u>A</u> ll Nets	Set All Node	es
	Clear All <u>N</u> ets	<u>C</u> lear All Noc	les
<u>H</u> ighlight	Set Nets <u>B</u> y Attribute	Jump to No	le
<u>U</u> nhighlight	Set Net By Layer Attribute	Pad Propertie	÷\$
<u>S</u> elect	Set Nets By Node Count	Remo <u>v</u> e Noo	les
	Min: Max:		
	Close		

When you choose **Edit** » **Nets**, the *Edit Nets* dialog appears.

The dialog contains the following options:

- **Nets:** The Nets list box contains the names of all nets in the active design. Directly beneath the Nets list are the command buttons, described below, that are used to set the nets you want to modify:
- Set All Nets: Selects all the nets in the Nets list box.
- Clear All Nets: Clears all selected nets.
- Set Nets By Attribute: Opens the *Set Nets by Attribute* dialog where you can select one or more attributes, which, if present in a net, result in the net being set in the Nets list.
- Set Net By Layer Attributes: Opens the *Select Layer* dialog where you can choose a specific layer whose attributes you want to use to set the nets.
- Set Nodes by Node Count: Allows you to select nets with a nod count between the range specified in the corresponding Min and Max edit boxes.
- **Nodes:** The Nodes list box contains the names of all nodes in the net(s) selected in the Net Names list box along with the Pad Styles for each node. Directly beneath the Nodes list are the command buttons, described below, that are used to set the nodes you want to modify:
- Set All Nodes: Selects all the nodes in the Nodes list.
- Clear All Nodes: Clears node selections.

- Jump to Node: Positions the cursor over a single, selected node, which is placed in the center of the workspace.
- **Pad Properties:** Opens the *Pad Properties* dialog when one or more nodes are selected. From the *Pad Properties* dialog, you can click the **Pad Styles** button to open the *Options Pad Style* dialog and make changes to the selected node(s) properties.
- **Remove Nodes:** When one or more nodes from one or more nets are selected in the Nodes list box, you can disconnect those nodes from the net by clicking the **Remove Nodes** button.

When using the *Pad Properties* dialog to change the style properties for selected nodes remember that the changes you make are applied to all the selected nodes.

The left side of the *Edit Nets* dialog contains a number of command buttons, which allow you to rename nets, show connections, highlight nets and modify net attributes. The buttons are:

- **Rename:** Allows you to rename the selected net. If more than one net is selected, the **Rename** button is grayed and unavailable.
- **Info:** Displays net information for the selected net. The *Net Information* dialog displays detailed information about length and characteristics of the selected net.
- Edit Attributes: Allows you to add and edit net attributes. When you click the Edit Attributes button, the *Attributes* dialog appears. For details, see *Edit Attributes (page 350)*.

You can view, add, modify, or delete a collection of net attributes. The dialog contains a twocolumn table showing the collection of net attributes. Within the collection, each attribute's name and value appear in the column.

• Edit Net Layer Attributes: Allows you to select and edit the net attributes for a specific layer. When you choose Edit Net Layer Attributes, the Edit Net Layer Attributes dialog appears:

Edit Net L	ayer Attributes		×
Layers: Bottom Mid 1 Mid 2 Mid 3 Mid 3 Mid 3 Mid 5 Mid 5 Mid 5 Mid 7 Mid 8 Top	Has Attributes	Attributes: MaxNetLength=1.0 MinNetLength=1.0 I Length=1.0	-
	<u></u>	ose	

The *Edit Net Layer Attributes* dialog lists the layers and indicates whether the layer has Attributes with an asterisk. You can select layers having a specific attribute by clicking the **Select by Attribute** button to display the *Set By Attribute* dialog. See *Set By Attribute (page 349)*. You can also modify layer attributes by clicking the **Edit Layer Attributes** button. See *Edit Attributes (page 350)*.

• **View** » **Attributes:** Opens the Windows Notepad utility and displays a list of attribute names and values for each selected net.

In conjunction with the **Set Nets By Attributes** button, the **View** option makes it easy to find nets with the same attribute value, and then view all attribute values for those nets.

- **Show Conns:** Displays the connections for the net(s) in the list box. A check in the check box in front of the net name means the connections are visible.
- Show Conns Only on Drag: Displays the connections for the net(s) selected in the list box when you drag a component within the net. An opaque check box in front of the net name means the connections are visible only when you drag a component.
- **Hide Conns:** Hides the connections for the net(s). An empty check box in front of the net name means the connections are invisible.
- **Highlight:** Highlights selected nets in the current highlight color chosen through the **Options** » **Display** command. All items of a selected net, including lines, polygons, arcs, copper pours, pads and vias, are highlighted by the **Highlight** command.

You can use this feature to highlight objects using different colors. When you change the highlight color of one object, it does not affect the highlight color of other highlighted objects, which are not selected.

When you choose this command, the selected nets are drawn in the highlight color until they are unhighlighted. The selection color overrides the highlight color, so you won't see the highlights until the nets are deselected.

If PCB and P-CAD Schematic are both running, and if the **DDE Hotlinks** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog is checked in both applications, then net highlight information is communicated between the two applications. Highlighting a net in one application highlights the corresponding net in the other application.

• **Unhighlight:** The Unhighlight button removes the highlighting from the selected nets and restores the normal object colors.

If PCB and P-CAD Schematic are both running, and if the **DDE Hotlinks** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog is checked in both applications, the highlights are removed from the selected nets in both applications.

• **Select:** Allows you to select a net or multiple nets in the design by highlighting the net names in the list box in the *Edit Nets* dialog, then clicking the **Select** button (the button is enabled only if a net is chosen). The nets in the design will highlight.

The performance of Select Net is directly affected by the settings in **Options** » **Selection Mask**. For example, you could configure **Options** » **Selection Mask** to allow you to select line segments in a net while ignoring the vias (it ignores the inside/outside block specifications), allowing you to modify line widths for all segments in a net.

This feature is useful for narrating a design (net by net) by highlighting routed copper items and deleting them. Be careful to disable selection of connections when unrouting nets. If a connection is deleted, the corresponding net is changed or destroyed.

Set By Attribute

When you click Set Nets By Attribute, the Set By Attribute dialog appears.

Set By Attribute Name=Value: AutoRouteWide ViaStyle=(Any V Width=(Any Valu	=(Arw Value) alue) ue)	
<u>S</u> et All <u>C</u> lear All	Change <u>V</u> alue I✓ Clear Current <u>I</u> tems	OK Cancel

If you select an attribute from the Name=Value list and click **OK**, you are returned to the *Edit Nets* dialog where all nets that have the selected attribute defined are highlighted in the Nets list.

Selecting an attribute from the list allows you to find all nets containing that attribute, regardless of the attribute value. If you want to find nets with attributes with a specific value, select an attribute from the Name=Value list and click the **Change Value** button to display the *Change Attribute Value* dialog:

Change Attribute Value	
Attribute Name: AutoRouteWide Attribute Value: [Any Value] YES yes	OK Cancel
1	

The *Change Attribute Value* dialog lists all values assigned to the selected attribute and also includes the option to select {Any Value}. Select the desired Value and click **OK** to return to the *Set By Attribute* dialog.

To set all of the attributes, click the **Set All** button. To clear the selected attributes, click the **Clear All** button. Choose the **Clear Current Items** check box if you want to remove previously selected items each time you modify your selection criteria.

You can also select multiple attribute names and values in the Name=Value list. When you return to the *Edit Nets* dialog, only those nets with all of the selected attribute names and values are highlighted (i.e., the Nets list is cleared first.) Otherwise, those nets are added to the list of highlighted nets.

Set Nets By Layer Attribute

To set nets by layer attributes, click **Set Net By Layer Attribute** to open the *Select Layer Name* dialog shown in the following figure:

Select Layer Name	
ED	
Bottom	
OK	Cancel

Select the layer whose attributes you want to used to set the nets. When you click **OK**, the *Set By Attribute* dialog appears and you can select the desired attributes and values. For more information on the **Set By Attribute** dialog, see *Set By Attribute* (*page 349*).

Rename Nets

When you highlight a single net name in the Nets list, the **Rename** button becomes active. Click **Rename** and the following *Net Name* dialog appears.

Net Name	
New net name:	OK
+12V	Cancel

Type in the new name and click **OK** to rename the net and return to the *Edit Nets* dialog.

Edit Attributes

Click **Edit** » **Attributes** to display and modify net attributes for the selected component. When you click this button, the following dialog appears:

Attributes				
	Attributes			
	Name	Value		
	Add 1	Nolete Properties Lorunch		
		OK Cancel		

You can view, add, modify, or delete a collection of net attributes. The dialog contains a twocolumn table showing the collection of net attributes. Within the collection, each attribute's name and value appear in the column.

- Adding attributes: To add an attribute, click the Add button. The *Place Attribute* dialog appears, which is similar to the *Attribute Properties* dialog shown in the following figure, except that you can choose the desired Attribute Category and Name, and the Name and Value text boxes can be changed. To add a pre-defined attribute, choose the desired category and attribute name and enter the attribute values. To define a new attribute, choose the {user-defined} attribute and type the Name and Value for the attribute. Click **OK**, and the attribute is added to the table. For instructions, see *Place Attribute* (page 396).
- Viewing or changing attribute properties: To view or change an attribute's properties, select an attribute from the table and click the **Properties** button (or double-click the attribute) to open the *Attribute Property* dialog (shown in the following figure).
- To delete an attribute: Highlight an attribute in the table and click Delete, or press the DEL key.
- Launching a reference link: When the special attribute Reference, whose value is a reference link, is added to the item, you can select the Reference attribute and click **Launch** to start an program or web address to display a document or web site.

Attribute Property Dialog

The Attribute Properties dialog appears as follows:

Attribute Properties		×
Attribute Properties Attribute Category: All Attributes Component Net Clearance Physical Eleviced	Name: (user-defined) MaxNetLength MinNetLength Optimize TestPointAccuracy TestPointAccuracy	Name: Width Value:
Electrical Placement Manufacturing Router SPECCTRA Route SPECCTRA Placement	TestPointGrid TestPointGrid TestPointPermitted TestPointSide TestPointSpacing TieNet ViaStyle Wroth	Visible Location X: 0.0 Y: 0.0 Text Style: (Declarab)
		Rotation: 0.0deg Justification Flipped C C C C C C C C C
	ОК	Cancel

The following information appears in the dialog:

- **Category list:** Displays a list of all attribute categories, All, Component, Net, Clearance, Physical, Electrical, Placement, Manufacturing, Router, and SPECCTRA. Selecting a category brings up a list of predefined attributes for that category.
- Name list: Displays all predefined attributes for the specified category. The first entry in the list is User-defined. The currently-selected attribute also appears in the Name text box, unless User-defined is selected. In that case, the Name text box is blank so that you can enter a user-defined attribute name.
- Name Text Box: For user-defined attributes, enter a name for the attribute.

If the dialog is accessed for an attribute that already has a name, then the Category list, Name list, and Name text box are filled in, but shaded. If the attribute doesn't have a name, these options are enabled.

• Value: Use this text box to enter a value for the attribute.

The following items appear shaded in the dialog:

- Visible: This check box indicates whether or not the attribute is visible.
- Location: This area shows the X and Y coordinates of the component's reference point.
- **Text Style:** This area lets you select the attribute text style. Text styles appear in the Text Style list. To change the selected Text Style, click on the text style you want from the list. To modify the text style, click the **Text Style** button.
- **Rotation:** Shows the rotation amount if the pattern has been rotated.

- Flipped: This check box indicates whether the pattern has been flipped or not.
- **Justification:** Under Justification are nine buttons, which allow you to change text justification by setting the reference point of the text string. For example, if you enable the middle button, the text reference point (the lower-left corner) moves to the center of the bounding rectangle.

Attribute Description for Autorouting

The following attributes are recognized by the autorouter. All other predefined net attributes are ignored for routing.

Attribute	Description
WIDTH	Overrides global line width settings for the selected nets. A valid line width should be entered as the value.
VIASTYLE	Overrides global via style settings for the selected nets. An existing via style name should be provided.
MAXVIAS	Defines the maximum number of vias that can be placed for this net. Valid values are 0 (no vias) - n (any specific number).
RIPUP	Overrides the global ripup setting for the selected nets. Valid values are No, 0 and False. All indicate that the net should not be ripped up. You can use Yes, 1, and True.
NOAUTOROUTE	Indicates that the selected nets will not be routed. You can use Yes, 1, and True.
AUTOROUTEWIDE	Indicates that the selected nets are scheduled as WIDE passes when you select passes manually. You can use Yes, 1, and True.

Clearance Attributes

Along with other predefined net attributes, which are available from the Names list, the following clearance attributes are available:

- PADTOPADCLEARANCE
- PADTOLINECLEARANCE
- PADTOVIACLEARANCE
- LINETOLINECLEARANCE
- LINETOVIACLEARANCE
- VIATOVIACLEARANCE
- CLEARANCE

In addition to the attributes listed above, a DRC error is reported whenever a line, arc or via touches a keepout. An error indicator is displayed in the design and an error explanation appears in the DRC report.

By adding one of these attributes to a net and assigning it a value, the matching global default clearance is overridden for DRC. The value may have a suffix to define the units. If the units are left off, then the current global units are used. If the clearance value can't be converted to a valid number for DRC or auto routing, then the attribute is considered undefined and the corresponding global clearance is used.

The last predefined attribute, CLEARANCE, defines a clearance value for all object pairs in this net. For example, if the net-specific clearance between every object pair in a net is the same value, then the CLEARANCE attribute can be used to store that value. This eliminates the need to assign the same value to each of the six clearance attributes.

PCB PRO Route honors the clearances for all object pairs, but doesn't use the clearance attributes defined in specific nets. The log produced by PCB PRO Route includes the clearance values used for all object pairs. QuickRoute clearances are set to approximately 1/2 of the routing grid. The SPECCTRA autorouter uses net specific clearance attributes, net class clearance attributes, and class to class clearance attributes.

Pad Properties

When a node is selected in the Nodes list, you can open the following *Pad Properties* dialog by clicking **Pad Properties**.

Pad Propertie	es		
	Pad		Net
Net Name: Pad Number: Default Pin Designator: Pad Style: Tool Code:	0 (Default)	Location X: [4400.0 Eixed Pad Styles	Y: 5100.0
	(OK	Cancel	

The *Pad Properties* dialog is explained earlier in this chapter in *Edit Nets (page 345)*. Remember that any changes made in this dialog are uniformly applied to all the selected nodes.

Info Button

When you highlight a single net name in the Nets list, the **Info** button becomes active. Click **Info** to open the following *Net Information* dialog.

Net Information			
Net name: A9			
Length of selected copper:	0.0mil	Pad count:	2
Total length of copper in net:	3206.0mil	Via count:	1
Total connection length:	0.0mil	Line count:	9
Total connection length (Manhattan):	0.0mil	Arc count:	0
		Polygon count:	0
	Close		

This dialog displays detailed information about length and characteristics of the selected net. It only measures the X and Y distances, not depth (such as via length to another layer). Arc length is included (accurately) in the calculation of connection and copper lengths. The Manhattan length is an approximation of the final routed length of a diagonal connection.



Edit Measure

Choose **Edit** » **Measure** to measure the X distance, Y distance, and total distance between two points. As a shortcut for choosing this command, click the **Ruler** button on the toolbar.

You can measure vertical, horizontal, and diagonal distances and the results appear on the Status Line. The measurements are in either mils or millimeters, depending on current settings in *Options Configure*.

Measure is a mode, meaning that if you were placing or selecting objects, when you use Measure you exit the mode to go into measure mode. After you have measured, you need to restart whatever mode you were in to resume editing.

- 1. Choose Edit » Measure or click the toolbar button.
- 2. Press and hold down the **mouse button** where you want to start the measurement. Then, drag the mouse cursor to the end point of the measurement and release the **mouse button**.
- 3. The measure line and the results stay until you perform another measurement of choose another command.

Measurements do not snap to grid if the View » Snap to Grid command is disabled.

Edit Select

Choose **Edit** » **Select** to enable the select tool (a.k.a., select mode). With this tool, you can perform operations on objects and items in your design. As a shortcut for choosing this command, click the **toolbar button** or press the **S** key.

Select Actions

- single-, multiple-, block-select, or subselect
- move, resize, rotate, flip, copy, modify, highlight, unhighlight, and delete

When you select an item, the Status Line information area identifies the item, either specifically (part reference designator) or generally (number of items selected).

Select Commands

The following commands are available when you are in select mode: Edit » Cut, Edit » Copy, Edit » Copy to File, Edit » Paste, Edit » Paste from File, Edit » Paste to Layer, Edit Select All, Edit Deselect All, Edit Delete, Edit Highlight, Edit Unhighlight, Edit » Copy Matrix, Modify, and Edit Explode Component. In addition, the Net Info and Select Net commands are available from the Select shortcut menu. To open the shortcut menu, select the item and then right-click. or choose Edit » Nets.

Select actions are possible only if an object is selected. For example, you cannot move an arc unless it has been selected.

Information included in this section only covers the mouse/cursor actions for Select.

Selecting Objects

To single select, click a single object; all other selected objects are deselected. You must be on the appropriate layer if the **Allow Single Select on All Enabled Layers** check box in the Options Preferences Mouse tab is not selected.

To select multiple objects, first select a single object, then hold down the **CTRL** key and click on additional objects/items. The selected objects are surrounded by a selection box, which increases as you add items to the multiple selection. Click again on selected items (still using the **CTRL** key) to deselect them individually. To cancel the selection of all items, release the **CTRL** key and click anywhere other than one of the selected objects.

To cancel the selection of all items, click an empty area of the workspace to cancel the selection of all items outside the selection region. Or, choose **Edit Deselect All** to cancel the selection of all items.

To block select a group of items, press and hold down the **left mouse button**. Then, drag the cursor across your workspace to draw a bounding outline around a range or items. Then, release the mouse button to select any items that match your current block selection criteria. You can add objects to the block selection individually by doing a multiple select (see above paragraph). To cancel while dragging the selection box, **right-click**.

If you choose the **Outside Block** option (with the **Options** » **Selection Mask** command), then the selection occurs outside of the selection block. If you have the **Touching Block** option enabled, a block selection includes everything inside and touching the selection block.

A block selection mask can be used. Objects can be filtered or masked in a variety of ways, depending on how you set up the selection options. Choose the **Options** » **Selection Mask** command to alter or set the selection options. The selection mask can be setup to select components on the Top layer only or the Bottom layer only.

To subselect, hold down the **SHIFT** key and click the part of the object you want to select. This allows you to select a single object, which is part of another object (e.g., a single pad in a component or an island in a copper pour).

When Objects Overlap

When objects overlap, it may seem difficult to select an underlying object. Continue clicking without moving the cursor and Select cycles through all objects underneath the cursor.

The **SPACEBAR** is easier to use than the mouse in this situation (pressing the **SPACEBAR** twice equals click and release for the left mouse button). For multiple select, press and hold down the **SHIFT** key, then click the **left mouse button** without moving the mouse.

Moving and Copying Objects

To move an object, select it, then click the object and drag the cursor to the new location. Release to place the object.

If you are moving multiple objects within a selection box, click anywhere in the selection box and drag; all the selected objects in the box follow. Release the button to place the objects.

You can copy objects in the same manner; after you select the object(s), hold the **CTRL** key and left mouse button and drag a copy of the object(s) to where you want to place it. When copying a component, the RefDes (reference designator) will change in the copy, and connections will not copy. Any copper that is copied becomes free copper that is not associated with any net.

To cancel a move or copy in progress, hold down the **left mouse button** and **right-click**. Then, release the **left mouse button**.

Resizing Objects

You can resize a selected object by clicking one of its handles, and dragging to stretch the object. The resize function varies for the different objects.

For example, to resize an arc you click one of the endpoint resize handles and drag the endpoint to increase the sweep angle. To resize a polygon, you can grab one of its vertex handles and move it to change the polygon.



When you move a handle that is on an edge between two vertices, a new vertex is created (allowing you even more reshaping). You can delete a vertex by moving it to an adjacent vertex and releasing.

Lines, Arcs, Polygons, Copper Pours, Keepouts, Rooms and Cutouts can be resized with the select mode resize function.

Rounding Corners of Polygonal Shapes

The corners of polygonal shapes (polygons, copper pours, polygon keepouts, cutouts and planes) can be rounded. The rounded corner forms a filleted edge, which is the rounded intersection of two edges. This intersection of the two edges is created with an arc of a specified radius that is tangential to both edges.

A new radius can be added by entering it directly into the Radius combo box on the Status Line or by choosing **Options** » **Current Radius** and entering the new values in the *Current Radius* dialog. You can select the desired radius from those in the Radius drop-down list on the Status Line. The radius displayed in the combo box is the current setting.

When a polygonal shape has filleted corners additional handles appear in the shape as shown in the following figure:



To change the radius of a filleted corner, grab the interior handle and drag it until you see the desired radius for the corner. The radius displayed in the Radius combo box on the Status Line affects the polygonal shape at the time of placement or during modifications. You can also access radius settings by double clicking the polygonal shape to display the *Properties* dialog where you can make modifications to the definition or filleted points.

Rotating and Flipping

Select an object. Press **R** to rotate 90 degrees counterclockwise. To flip the object in the X direction (about the Y axis), press **F** while the object is selected.

SHIFT+**R** rotates the object by the value specified in the Rotation Increment field of the *Options Configure* dialog (default is 45 degrees).

This function works on multiple- or block-selected objects as well.

IMPORTANT: When you flip a pad or component, pad characteristics on Top, Top Silk, Top Paste, and Top Mask layers are swapped by corresponding characteristics on the Bottom, Bottom Silk, etc. layers. All other layers are left alone. Perform the operation with caution.

Modifying (Edit Properties)

To modify an object's properties, press **S** as a shortcut for choosing **Edit Select**. Then, select an object in your design and choose **Edit** » **Properties**. When the *Properties* dialog appears, you can modify the object's properties.

You can modify the following objects: Components, Lines, Arcs, Pads, Vias, DRC error indicators, Copper Pours, Rooms and Text. Each entity is enabled in the same manner, but has its own particular *Properties* dialog and subsequent results. For information on modifying objects, see *Edit Properties* (page 292).

Shortcut Menu Commands

When you select an object and **right-click**, a shortcut menu appears. The shortcut menu provides you with access to frequently used menu commands. The options available in the shortcut menu depend on the object you select.

Selection Reference Point

The selection reference point is used with all select operations, such as moving, copying, rotating, flipping, or pasting. However, a selection reference point is not required for these operations. If one is not selected, PCB uses a default reference point.

The selection reference point is saved to the clipboard or to a block file and automatically restored when pasting from the Clipboard or block file. If the selection reference point is off-grid when a move operation begins, then it is automatically snapped to the nearest grid point and all the selected objects move the same relative distance.

The selection reference point is automatically erased when all the objects are deselected.

Placing a Selection Reference Point

To place a selection reference point, do the following:

- 1. Select the object or objects.
- 2. Right-click and choose Selection Point from the shortcut menu.
- 3. Press and hold down the **left mouse button**. Then, drag the ghosted outline of the selection reference point into position.

Right-click to cancel placement of the selection reference point.

Dragging the selection reference point over pads (within a pattern or free pads), vias, or ref points (within a pattern or free), causes the selection reference point to snap to that object's center point. The shape of the selection reference point changes from a square to a diamond when it snaps to an objects' center point. If the selection reference point does not snap to an object, then it moves to the nearest grid point.

- 4. Release the **left mouse button** to place the selection reference point. The selection reference point is redrawn in the selection color.
- 5. To move a selection reference point, repeat the steps to place a selection reference point.

Radial Placement

1. This function can be used for radial placement (e.g., of components). To do so, follow these steps:

Chapter 13: Edit Commands

- 2. Select the object to be radially copied.
- 3. Move the selection point to the point about which the object is to be rotated (right mouse down, and release the selection point).
- 4. Holding down the **CTRL** key, select the object, moving the mouse slightly so that the cursor snaps to the selection point (this copies the object), then release the **mouse button** and **CTRL** key.
- 5. Press **R** or **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate the copy.

View Commands

Using the View Commands

Use the commands in the View menu to modify the view of the workspace to better pinpoint locations and objects in your design. You can also enable or disable the display of information and shortcut action buttons.

For more permanent adjustments to your display characteristics, such as color display and style changes to objects, see Options Commands (page 423).

View Redraw

Choose **View** » **Redraw** to redraw the view of your workspace. This command is useful when you make design changes and want to restore the screen or update your data. For example, you would choose **View** » **Redraw** to remove leftover traces or shapes that result from moving or deleting objects.

To interrupt a redraw, right-click or press ESC.

When you choose **View** » **Redraw**, the items that reside on the current layer are drawn last. For more information about layers, see *Options Layers (page 450)*.

This command also causes collocated Top and Bottom layer items to be drawn in the correct order. For example, if the current layer is Top, all Top layer SMT pads of an edge connector are drawn on top all Bottom layer SMT pads in the edge connector. Other View/Zoom commands do not necessarily draw collocated pads in the correct order.

View Extent

Choose **View** » **Extent** to show the extent of all objects placed in the workspace. This command redraws the workspace such that all placed objects on enabled layers are visible. Any disabled layers are ignored.

View Last

Choose **View** » **Last** to restore the previous view in your active window. For example, if you have the full design in view and then zoom in on an area, choose **View** » **Last** to restore the full design view.

If you choose to scroll, center, or redraw the design, the **View** » **Last** command will not restore the view that was visible before the scroll, center, or redraw action.

View All

Choose **View** » **All** to redraw the entire design workspace. The size of a workspace is set in the *Options Configure* dialog box.

When you start P-CAD PCB, View All is the zoom level that appears by default. Notice that the scroll bars don't appear at this zoom level.

View Center

Choose View » Center to redraw the screen using the cursor location as the relative center point.

When you choose **View** » **Center**, the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass. Move the cursor to a point on your design and click the workspace. The point where you click is centered on the screen. To cancel the zoom after the magnifying glass cursor appears, **right-click** or press **ESC**.

As a shortcut for choosing this menu command, move the cursor to a point in your design and press the **C** key. This is quick way to pan across your workspace, if you've selected the **Autopan** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog. You don't need to click the **mouse button**, just move the cursor to the point you want centered and press **C**.

View » **Center** is a temporary command. For example, if you choose **Place** » **Pad** and then choose **View** » **Center**, the point where you click in the workspace becomes the center of the screen. Then, if you click again, you will place a pad, resuming the previous tool.

The selected point may not be in the center of the screen if you are near a workspace boundary.

View Zoom In

Choose **View** » **Zoom In** to zoom in by the current zoom factor set in the General tab of *Options Configure*.

When you choose this command, the pointer takes the shape of a magnifying glass. First, move the pointer over the area to zoom in on. Then, click the **left mouse button**. The cursor's position determines the center point of the zoomed-in area. You must choose **View** » **Zoom In** every time you want to zoom in on an area.

As a shortcut, press the plus (+) key. The current cursor location determines the center point of the zoomed in area.

View Zoom Out

Choose **View** » **Zoom Out** to zoom out by the current zoom factor set in the General tab of *Options Configure*.

When you choose this command, the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass. First, move the cursor over the area to zoom out on and then click the **left mouse button**. You must choose **View** » **Zoom Out** every time you want to zoom out on your design.

As a shortcut for choosing this command, you can press the minus (-) key. The current cursor location determines the center point of the zoomed out area.

To cancel a zoom action, **right-click** or press the **ESC** key.

View Zoom Window

Choose **View** » **Zoom Window** or click the **toolbar button** to zoom in on an area of the workspace. When you choose this command, the zoom window tool becomes active. You use this tool to draw a bounding outline around a selected region of your workspace.

As a shortcut for choosing this command, press the **Z** key.

Using the Zoom Window

To zoom to an area using the zoom window tool, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose one of these methods to enable the zoom window tool:
 - Click the **Zoom Window** toolbar button.
 - Press the Z key.
 - Choose View » Zoom Window.

When the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass, you are in zoom mode.

- 2. Press and hold down the **mouse button**. Then, drag the cursor diagonally across the workspace. This draws a bounding outline around the region you select.
- 3. Release the mouse button when you've drawn your zoom window. The area enclosed within the bounding outline is enlarged.

View Jump Location

Choose **View** » **Jump Location** to move the cursor to a specific X,Y coordinate on your design. As a shortcut for choosing this command, press the **J** key and enter the coordinates in the X and Y coordinate text boxes on the Status Line.

If you are zoomed in, this command pans the workspace to the specified location, attempting to center the location. Your current zoom setting is not changed by the jump location panning

(except View Last will be updated). If the specified location is already visible on the screen, no panning is necessary.

The units used for the location value (mil or mm) are determined by the setting in *Options Configure*. Choose **Options** » **Configure** to override the default settings.

The location is also based on the Options Grids setting, either Absolute or Relative; e.g., if your grid setting is in Relative mode, then the location is a Relative coordinate. Also, you can use negative coordinate values when in Relative mode. For more information, see *Options Grids (page 439)*.

Jumping to a Location

1. Choose View » Jump Location. The View Jump Location dialog appears as follows:



- 2. Enter the coordinates you want to jump to in the X and Y boxes.
- 3. Click **OK**.

View Jump Text

Choose **View** » **Jump Text** to search for a jump to a text character or text string in your design. When you choose this command, a dialog box appears in which you enter your search criteria. You can also enable on or both of these search options:

- **Case Sensitive Search:** Select this check box to search for matching text based on case. If you clear this check box, text case is ignored in the search.
- **Search Entire Design:** Select this check box to search all layers for the matching text. Clear this check box to search only the current layer.

Jumping to Text

To jump to text, follow these steps:

1. Choose View » Jump Text. The following dialog box appears:

	<u>S</u> earch
OK.	Cancel
	OK.

2. Enter your search criteria in the text box.

- 3. To search for matching text based on the case you entered, select the **Case Sensitive Search** check box.
- 4. To search all layers or sheets for the matching text, select the **Search Entire Design** check box.
- 5. Click **Search**. If P-CAD PCB finds a match, you jump to the location of that text. If there is more than one match, click **Next** to move to the next match.
- 6. Click **OK** to close the View Jump Text dialog box.

View Command Toolbar

Choose **View** » **Command Toolbar** to show or hide the Command Toolbar. This tool bar gives you the ability to gain access to frequently used menu commands.

The toolbar is active and visible when **View** » **Command Toolbar** is a checked command. When no check mark appears next to the menu command, the toolbar is not visible. The following figure shows you the toolbar:



Choosing to hide the Command Toolbar increases the space within the active window. The state of the toolbar is saved in the Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

View Placement Toolbar

Choose **View** » **Placement Toolbar** to show or hide the Placement Toolbar. The toolbar gives you the ability to gain access to frequently used Place menu commands. The following figure shows you the toolbar:



Choosing to hide the Placement Toolbar increases the space within the active window. The state of the toolbar is saved in the Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

View Route Toolbar

Choose **View** » **Route Toolbar** to show or hide the route toolbar. The toolbar gives you direct access to frequently used routing commands, such as Route Manual, Route Interactive, and Route Miter.

The following figure shows you the Route toolbar:



Choosing to hide the **Placement Toolbar** increases the space within the active window. The state of the toolbar is saved in the Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart.

View Custom Toolbar

Choose **View** » **Custom Toolbar** to either show or hide the custom toolbar. A check mark next to the Custom Toolbar menu item indicates that the Custom Toolbar is visible.

If no tools have been added to the Custom Toolbar, the display of the toolbar is turned off. As soon as the first custom tool has been added using the **Utils** » **Customize** command in the **Utils** menu, the Custom Toolbar display is turned on. When custom tools exist in the Custom Toolbar, you can turn off the display of the toolbar by choosing **View** » **Custom Toolbar**.

View Prompt Line

Choose **View** » **Prompt Line** to show or hide the Prompt Line. A check mark next to the Prompt Line menu item indicates that the Prompt Line is visible. The following figure shows you the Prompt Line.

Press and release <Left> or <Space><Space> to select a component.

The Prompt Line, is a message line that provides useful instructions when a tool is selected. For example, while you are in one of the Place object modes, it tells you what to do next, depending on what action you have already taken.

Choosing to hide the Prompt Line increases the space within the active window. The state of the Prompt Line is saved in the Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

View Status Line

Choose **View** » **Status Line** to either show or hide the Status Line. A check mark next to the Status Line menu item indicates that the Status Line is visible. The Status Line provides status information and allows you to change layers and execute temporary macros.

A check mark alongside the command indicates that the Status Line is visible. The following figure shows you the Status Line:

·				 	
137.160	58.420	Abs 2.540	💌 📶 Тор	0.254mm 💽 (Grid) 🔽

Choosing to hide the Status Line increases the space within the active window. The state of the Status Line is saved in the Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

View Snap to Grid

Choose **View** » **Snap to Grid** to enable or disable a snappy cursor. When a check mark precedes the command, a snappy cursor moves from grid point to grid point. When the command is not checked, a free floating cursor moves freely between grid points.

If **View** » **Snap to Grid** is disabled, P-CAD PCB uses a free-floating cursor. At times you may want to use a free- floating cursor to enhance your ability to select objects. For example, a line that does not run along true grid points may be easier to select with a free-floating cursor.

The snappy cursor is active when **View** » **Snap to Grid** is a checked command. When no check mark appears, P-CAD PCB uses a free-floating cursor.

The **View** » **Snap to Grid** command does not support the DataTips feature. When **View** » **Snap to Grid** is a checked command, the DataTips feature is temporarily disabled.

The state of the View » Snap to Grid command (ON or OFF) is saved in the Pcb.ini file when you quit the program, and restored when you restart it.

Place Commands

Using the Place Commands

Use the commands in the Place menu to place various objects in a design. When you choose a **Place** command and click the workspace, one of the following occurs:

- P-CAD places an object at the cursor location (e.g., Place Pad).
- You can begin placing a segment (e.g., Place Line, Place Polygon).
- A dialog appears so you can define specific criteria for the type of object you want to place (e.g., **Place** » **Component**).

The Placement Toolbar provides shortcuts to the **Place** commands:



Click this button	To choose this command	Click this button	To choose this command
	Place Component	Ŷŋ	Place Copper Pour
	Place Connection	D a	Place Cutout
⊙,	Place Pad	0	Place Keepout
●v	Place Via	5	Place Plane
	Place Line		Place Room
	Place Arc	Α	Place Text

Click this button	To choose this command	Click this button	To choose this command
$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	Place Polygon		Place Attribute
	Place Point	(F)	Place Field
		÷	Place Dimension

To learn more about each command, see the appropriate section in this chapter.

Place Autoplace

Choose **Place** » **Autoplace** to exchange placement data between P-CAD PCB and SPECCTRA. This includes the following items:

- Predefined SPECCTRA placement attributes that you can assign to components.
- P-CAD-to-SPECCTRA design file transfer program that interprets SPECCTRA placement attributes and component geometries, and automatically translates them to SPECCTRA as component placement rules, properties, and component image outlines.
- Autoplacement graphical user interface, which automates the autoplacement process sequence.
- SPECCTRA-to-P-CAD design file transfer program that accepts any of three SPECCTRAgenerated file types: SPECCTRA session files (placement plus routing information), placement files (component placement information only), and/or routes files (routing information only).

SPECCTRA Placement Attribute	Data Type	Effect
COMPONENT_HEIGHT	real	Component height room placement constraint, or "-1"
LOCK_POSITION	boolean	Locks a component in its current position "n[*]", f[*]", "off", or "0" (case insensitive) equate to "FALSE". Otherwise, "TRUE".
OPPOSITE_SIDE	boolean	Permit/prohibit back-to-back placement of components.
PERMIT_ORIENT_FRONT	string	Restrict orientation of front side components "horiz[ontal]", "vert[ical]", "0 90 180 270" (space- separated list of angles in multiples of 90), or "-1"

The SPECCTRA placement attributes appear in the following table:

SPECCTRA Placement Attribute	Data Type	Effect
PERMIT_ORIENT_BACK	string	Restrict orientation of back side components "horiz[ontal]", "vert[ical]", "0 90 180 270" (space- separated list of angles in multiples of 90), or "-1"
PERMIT_SIDE	string	Side restriction "top", "front", "upper", "bottom", "back", or "both"
PROPERTY_POWER_DIS	real	Component power dissipation property, or "-1"
PROPERTY_TYPE	string	Component type property "large", "small", "cap[acitor]", or "dis[crete]".
SPACE_PIN_PIN_FRONT	real	Min spacing between pin components on front side, or "-1"
SPACE_PIN_PIN_BACK	real	Min spacing between pin components on back side, or "-1"
SPACE_PIN_SMD_FRONT	real	Min spacing of pin to smd components on front side, or "-1"
SPACE_PIN_SMD_BACK	real	Min spacing of pin to smd components on back side, or "-1"
SPACE_PIN_AREA_FRONT	real	Min spacing of pin components to edges on front side, or "-1"
SPACE_PIN_AREA_BACK	real	Min spacing of pin components to edges on back side, or "-1"
SPACE_SMD_SMD_FRONT	real	Min spacing between smd components on front side, or "-1"
SPACE_SMD_SMD_BACK	real	Min spacing between smd components on back side, or "-1"
SPACE_SMD_AREA_FRONT	real	Min spacing of smd components to edges on front side, or "-1"
SPACE_SMD_AREA_BACK	real	Min spacing of smd components to edges on back side, or "-1"
SPACE_AREA_AREA_FRONT	real	Min edge to edge component spacing on front side, or "-1"
SPACE_AREA_AREA_BACK	real	Min edge to edge component spacing on back side, or "-1"

To keep SPECCTRA attributes consistent and to distinguish between placement and routing attributes, the existing SPECCTRA attributes category is now named "SPECCTRA Routing" attributes. Using the SPECCTRA placement attributes, you can export P-CAD PCB components to SPECCTRA for placement, then read the placed components back into P-CAD PCB.

In cases where you specify component attributes and SPECCTRA placement attributes of the same name, the SPECCTRA placement attribute has priority. For example, if you specify the P-CAD placement attribute ComponentHeight and the SPECCTRA placement attribute COMPONENT_HEIGHT to the same component, P- CAD PCB translates the SPECCTRA placement attribute COMPONENT_HEIGHT to the SPECCTRA Router.

The default component image outline is a rectangular boundary defined by the centers of the lines and arcs and the extents of polygons on all layers of a P-CAD PCB pattern. SPECCTRA augments this bounding rectangle with its default bounding box surrounding the component pads. The combination produces an outline that is representative of the pattern's size and shape. SPECCTRA uses this image outline to determine intercomponent spacing during placement.

Optionally, to further control the component outline, you can modify the pattern by adding a polygon and the P- CAD PackageOutlineLayer attribute to produce a specific component image outline in SPECCTRA. Attach a PackageOutlineLayer attribute to the P-CAD PCB pattern and set its value to a valid nonsignal layer name. Then, create a single polygon on the specified layer that defines the component outline and encloses all bounding boxes of the component's pads. Include this polygon in the pattern's geometry. The translator will use this polygon to produce the SPECCTRA image boundary for that component pattern. If any of the conditions listed above are not met, the translator reverts back to its default behavior.

You can pass fixed components into the AutoPlace tool and they will be recognized as fixed by the SPECCTRA router. However, you must fix the component in P-CAD PCB to make sure that it remains fixed if the component is translated from SPECCTRA back to P-CAD PCB.

Performing Autoplacement

To perform auto placement in P-CAD PCB, follow these steps.

1. Choose **Place** » **Autoplace**. The following *Place Autoplacement* dialog appears:

Place Autoplaceme	nt			
Autoplacer: SPECCI	RA 🔽	Start	<u>R</u> estart	Close
Strategy				
<u>D</u> O File	C:\Program	Files\P-CAD 20	01\Demo\Digd	emo.DO
<u>O</u> utput PCB File	C:\Program	Files\P-CAD 20	01\Demo\PDig	demo.pcb
Output <u>L</u> og File	C:\Program	Files\P-CAD 20	01\Demo\PDig	demo.LOG
Load		S <u>a</u> ve	I	Set <u>B</u> ase
Do File				
DO <u>W</u> izard			<u>C</u> om	mand Line
Edit as Text				

- 2. Click **DO Wizard** to create the DO file. The SPECCTRA DO File Wizard dialog appears.
- 3. Create the DO file, either manually or by clicking **Auto Create DO File**. P-CAD PCB either generates the DO file from the commands you entered, or creates a default DO file.
- 4. Click OK. P-CAD PCB returns you to the Place Autoplacement dialog.
- 5. Click **Start**. P-CAD PCB begins translating your design to the SPECCTRA file format. At this point, the program Accl2spw.exe transfers all design, routing, and placement rules and attributes to SPECCTRA as AutoRoute and AutoPlace rules and component properties.
- 6. Once done, the system launches SPECCTRA. SPECCTRA executes the DO file you specified in P- CAD PCB. At this point, you're ready to adjust component placement in SPECCTRA.

Make any design and placement changes in SPECCTRA.

- 7. After making any design placement adjustments in SPECCTRA, remember to rewrite the session file or placement file using the filename that was originally written from the DO file. This safely captures the results of any interactive work that you performed in SPECCTRA.
- 8. When you are satisfied with your results, guit SPECCTRA.

When you quit SPECCTRA, the system automatically merges the session or placement file (referenced in the DO file) with the original P-CAD PCB design (in ASCII form), to create a new design. The system then returns you to P-CAD PCB and loads the new design.

Place Component

Choose **Place** » **Component** or click the **toolbar button** to place named components at a specified location. You can place a component only when the following is true:

- Both the component and its corresponding pattern has been created and assigned to a library.
- The library containing that component is open.

P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of 400 components.

Placing a Component

To place a component, do the following:

- 1. Choose Place » Component or click the toolbar button.
- 2. Click the workspace to open the *Place Component* dialog.
- 3. Click **Browse** to expand the dialog and view a picture of the part in the browse window, as shown in the following figure:

Place Component	
Component Name:	Pattern: DIP14
7400	
74HC245 74HC373 80C32	
93146 4053 6002 7400	
8031 27128A-2 55257	
AD7524 AGND	
RefDes:	Ŏ Ŏ
Library: MODFAX0.LIB	Eubrary Setup Pattern Graphics: Primary Auto Swap Graphics

4. Select a component from the Component Name list. This list shows all of the components in the current library.

If the component you want does not appear in the Component Name list, click the **Library** » **Setup** button to select the library that contains the component.

5. Type a reference designator in the RefDes box. If you leave this box blank, P-CAD PCB uses the RefDes prefix assigned to the component at component creation time by default. If you do not assign a number, P-CAD PCB automatically assigns the next available number.

6. (Optional) Modify the value in the Value box. (e.g., electrical values for resistors and capacitors; typically you will leave this box blank for logical parts). The value you enter here overrides the value from the library component.

When a component has a Value attribute, the value displays in the Value box based on the following rules: If the symbol has a Value attribute, but no component Value attribute, the symbol's Value attribute value is used. If the component has a Value attribute, the component's Value attribute value will take precedence and be used even if the symbol has a Value attribute.

- 7. Select the desired Pattern Graphic from the drop down list, or enable the Auto Swap Graphics check box. If this check box is enabled, and the component has alternate pattern graphics, then as you rotate and flip the component its pattern graphic will automatically change to the pattern graphic defined in the P-CAD Library Executive.
- 8. Click **OK** to close the *Place Component* dialog. In the workspace, the cursor takes the shape of a crosshair cursor.
- 9. Move the cursor to the location where you want to place the component. Then, choose one of the following methods to place the component:
 - Hold down the left mouse and drag the ghosted outline of the component into position. Then, release the mouse button to place it.
 - Click the workspace to place the component.

Notice that before you place a component, the RefDes appears in the Status Line. To increment the component's RefDes, press **D** before you click the workspace or while the cursor is still a crosshair. To decrement it, press **SHIFT+D**. To cancel component placement, **right-click** when the ghosted component outline is visible.

- 10. Continue placing the same component by clicking in selected locations. Each component you place has a unique reference designator. In addition, each component will have displayed its type, name, and any other attributes previously specified (from the **Place** » **Attribute** function).
- 11. If you want to place a different type of component, **right-click** or press **ESC** to exit the place mode for that particular component. As you are still in placement mode, you can click in the workspace to display the dialog and select another component to place.

Rotating or Flipping a Component

To rotate or flip a component after placement, select the component and choose one of the following methods:

- Press **F** to flip the component.
- Press **R** to rotate the object by 90-degrees.
- Press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate the object by the current rotation increment set in *Options Configure*.

To rotate or flip a component before you place it, hold down the left mouse button. When the ghosted outline of the component appears, press **F**, **R**, or **SHIFT**+**R**. When you use this method, any

rotation applies to the next component you press **R**. For example, if you rotate a component 25degrees before you place it, the next component is placed at the same 25-degree angle without any rotation. This lets you place multiple components at the same angle.

If you **right-click** to end the temporary placement mode and then **left-click** to place another component, the rotation memory will not apply; the rotation memory applies only to the temporary placement mode.

If a component has a test point, the point's side of board property changes when you flip the component. For example, a test point on the Top side of the board switches to the Bottom when flipped. Likewise, a point on the Top Silk layer switches to the Bottom Silk layer when flipped. To learn more about test points see *Test Points (page 376)* and *Placing Test Points (page 386)*.

Placed components with connections can be rotated without attempting to reconnect if you hold down the left mouse button during the rotation. Only after the left mouse button is released will the connections be updated.

Components of the same type can be placed only if they have the same pin mapping (i.e., pin designator to pin name to pad number). If you place the same component from different libraries, the first instance of the component type establishes the standard pin mapping for that type of component. Any components of that type placed subsequently have to conform to the pin logic of the first or they will be unplaceable.

When you place components that include vias, pads, and text that are of styles that have the same names but different data than those in the current design, the incoming style names are bracketed to indicate the style conflict. The bracketed style names are added to the list of available styles in the current design. For object style information, see *Edit Properties (page 292), Options Pad Style (page 472)* and *Options Text Style (page 482)*.

Attributes

If two parts of a component have the same attribute names, but different values, the first part's attributes are preserved, and the second's is overwritten.

Attributes added to the symbol or the pattern in the design are not accessible from the *Attributes* dialog in P-CAD Library Executive.

Jumper Pads

Components with jumper pads are handled in a special way. Any time this command adds a node to a net, P-CAD PCB checks to see if the node is a jumper pad. If it is, the component behaves as if all of the pads marked as being jumpered together are connected. In PCB, if necessary, blue line connections may be added to the other pads.

Test Points

When test points are built into a component, the points typically appear in your design when you place that component.
If you flip a component with test points, P-CAD PCB changes the side of board property for that test point. For example, if a test point is on the Top side of the board, it will be on the Bottom after you flip the component.

In addition, if a test point is on a predefined layer, the layer is affected. For example, if a point is on the Top Silk, it will be on the Bottom Silk when flipped. However, if a point is on a user-defined layer when flipped, it remains on that layer.

You can place test points on non-signal layers. If you attempt to place a test point on a signal or plane layer, a message notifies you that test points cannot be placed on signal or plane layers.

Place Connection

Choose **Place** » **Connection** to place a connection between pads and vias. To place a connection to a via, either the via or its connecting pad or via must be part of an existing net. Connections do not belong to a particular layer and do not have a user-definable width.

To place a connection, you must have already placed free pads or vias and/or component pads. The connected pads become nodes of a net.

You need to change layers to place connections between surface pads or vias that are on different layers. For example, switch the current layer to Top, begin the connection on one of the Top layer pads, change layers to the Bottom and complete the connection to a bottom layer pad.

Placing a Connection

To place a connection, do the following:

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Connection**. The pad or via must have a non-zero definition on the layer you are on.
- 2. Click over a pad or via, drag to another pad or via, and release. To place a connection to a via, either the via or its connecting pad or via must be part of an existing net.
 - If you place a connection between nodes that do not share a node with an existing net, you are prompted for a new net name. Click **OK** for the default net name or enter a new net name.
 - If you place a connection between pads or vias belonging to two different nets, you are prompted for a name for the merged net.

Net Name		
New net name:	ОК	
NET00000	Cancel	

3. You can continue placing connections in the same manner, from pad to pad (node to node), from pad to via, or from via to via.

You can place connections to free pads, but the free pads will not appear in the netlist when you generate a netlist by choosing **Utils** » **Generate Netlist**.

You can place connections to free vias, but the connecting pad or via must be a part of an existing net. Like free pads, vias do not appear in the netlist.

Components can have unused pads that are electrically inactive (i.e., they have no designator). You cannot place a connection to an unused component pad.

Merging Nets

If you attempt to place a connection between two nets (i.e., if you attempt to merge nets) the following *Merge Nets* dialog appears. Use this dialog to choose to name the merged net one of the two net names that are being merged, or give it a new name.

Merge Nets
Choose name for merged net:
• GND
O MDRV4E
C New name: NET00000
OK Cancel

To route the connections, choose **Route** » **Manual** or **Route** » **Interactive**. For details, see *Route Commands* (*page 405*). To optimize the connections for minimum length, choose **Utils** » **Optimize Nets**. For details, see *Utils Optimize* Nets (*page 525*).

Jumper Pads

Any time a connection adds a node to a net, P-CAD PCB checks to see if the node is a jumper pad. If it is, the component behaves as if all of the pads marked as being jumpered together are connected.

Place Pad

Choose **Place** » **Pad** to place a pad of the current style. Pads do not belong to a particular layer. To place a surface pad, for example, the current style must be set up to have a shape defined only on a surface layer.

Choose **Options » Pad Style** to define new pad styles and to set the current pad style. For details, see *Options Pad Style (page 472)*. Choose **Edit » Properties** to open the *Pad Properties* dialog, in which you change pad styles or pad numbers of already placed pads. For details, see *Pad Properties (page 307)*.

Placing a Pad

To place a pad, do the following:

- 1. Choose Place » Pad or click the toolbar button.
- 2. Move the cursor to where you want to place the pad. Then, choose one of the following methods to place the pad:
 - Hold down the **left mouse button**. Then, drag the ghosted outline of the pad into position and release the mouse button to place the pad.
 - Click the **mouse** to place the pad.

Rotating or Flipping a Pad

To rotate or flip a pad, select a pad and choose one of the following methods:

- Press **F** to flip the pad.
- Press **R** to rotate the pad 90 degrees
- Press **SHIFT**+**R** rotates the pad by the rotation increment set in *Options Configure*.

You can rotate a pad before you place it, and whatever angle is the result of the rotation will apply to the next pad you place. You must keep the button down while you are rotating it (before the pad is permanently placed). For example, you are placing a pad and you rotate it 25-degrees before you finish it (**SHIFT+R**, with 25-degrees set in *Options Configure*). Then you place another pad; it will be placed at the same 25-degree angle without any rotation action. If you decide to rotate the second pad, it will increment 25-degrees more, resulting in a 50-degree angle. Therefore, you can place multiple pads at the same angle but only have to perform the rotation action on the first pad.

If you are rotating or flipping a placed pad that has associated connections, you can prevent the connections being changed each time you rotate or flip by pressing the **left mouse button** while changing the pad's orientation.

To flip a pad as you are placing it, press **F** while the pad is ghosted before final placement. When you flip a pad, the hole range does not flip with it.

Pads and vias share the same rotation memory. In other words, if you place and rotate a pad at 90 degrees, then immediately place a via, that via will be placed at a 90-degree angle. This rotation memory derives only from rotation action during placement, not from select-and-rotate actions that take place after object placement.

Renumbering Pads

If you want to number the pads you placed, you must enable the Select tool (choose **Edit Select**) and then choose **Utils** » **Renumber**. A dialog appears where you can choose **Pad Num** as the type, then specify the start value and increment value. Then you can click on each pad manually and they will be numbered in sequence. You can also use the **Pad Properties** command to assign a pad number. For more information, see *Utils Renumber* (page 497) and Pad Properties (page 307).

Modifying Pad Styles

If you want to place pads of a particular style, choose **Options** » **Pad Style** to modify the current style. New styles can also be added with this command. You can change the style of an existing (i.e.,

placed) pad by opening the *Pad Properties* dialog. To open the dialog, select the pad, then **right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.

Place Via

Choose **Place** » **Via** to place a via of the current style. Vias do not belong to a particular layer. To place a buried via, for example, the current style must be set up to have a shape defined only on particular layers.

Choose **Options Via Style** to define new via styles and to set the current via style. To change the style of a via that has been placed, select the via, then **right-click** and choose the **Properties** command from the shortcut menu. The *Via Properties* dialog appears. For information on this dialog, see *Via Properties* (page 311).

Vias are almost identical to pads in the way that they are placed, rotated, flipped, and edited. See *Place Pad (page 378)* for detailed information.

Place Line

Choose **Place** » **Line** to place a line (or a series of line segments) of the current line width on the current layer. To change the current line width, choose **Options** » **Current Line**.

Placing a Line

To place a line, do the following:

1. Choose Place » Line or click toolbar button.

While you draw a line or segments, the cursor is displayed as a crosshair shape. When you finish the line segments, the cursor returns to its normal shape.

2. With the cursor in the workspace, press and hold down the **mouse button** at the starting point, then drag the line to its second point and release to place the line. You can continue with connected segments in the same manner.

You can use **ALT**+**left mouse button** instead so you don't have to hold the button down while dragging line segments.

While you are drawing a line or segments, the cursor appears as a crosshair shape. When you finish the line or segments, the cursor returns to its typical shape.

3. To finish the line or line segments, **right-click** or press **ESC**. Then you can begin another line beginning at a new location.

You will remain in Place Line mode until you enable another mode.

Status Line

The Status Line information area displays line measurements for delta X and delta Y while you are dragging a line segment. When the line segment is finished, the total length measurement of the

segment(s) appears, each subsequent segment being included in the total measurement, and each segment with a delta X and delta Y length while it is being dragged.

Total length=5295.3

When the line is finally placed, all measurements on the Status Line disappear.

Orthogonal Modes (for Line Segments)

There are orthogonal modes that you can use while placing lines. While the **Place** » **Line** tool is enabled and you are dragging a line segment, you can press hold down the **left mouse button** and press the **O** key to cycle through the enabled orthogonal modes.

Orthogonal modes use lines that are horizontal, vertical, and at 45-degree angles. The available orthogonal modes are provided as mode pairs. Press the **O** key to cycle through the mode pairs and the **F** key to switch between the current mode pair. You can enable or disable the orthogonal modes in *Options Configure*.

For placing lines, only the linear orthogonal modes are available (no arcs).

90/90 Line-Line

Both lines are either horizontal or vertical (displayed perpendicular to each other). For long, the first segment is always longer than the second). For short, the first segment is shorter. You can switch between the two modes by pressing the **F** key.



45/90 Line-Line

You can switch between the two modes by pressing the **F** key. The first mode makes the first segment displayed at a 45-degree angle and the second segment is either horizontal or vertical. The second mode makes the first segment either horizontal or vertical and the second segment is displayed at a 45-degree angle.



Press the **BACKSPACE** key to unwind any previous segments, unless you have finished the line or segments, in which case the **Undo** key (or toolbar button) will Undo the whole series of finished segments.

Place Arc

Choose **Place** » **Arc** to place an arc or circle of the current line width on the current layer. With this command, you can create arcs of varying length and radius and circles of varying radius.

To change the current arc width (line width of the arc), choose **Options** » **Current Line**. For more information, see *Options Current Line (page 457)*.

Arcs are partial circles. Arcs and circles are constructed counter-clockwise; the click (down) and release (up) define the start and end point of the arc, therefore a stationary click/release comes full circle and defines a circle. In this case, the second click and drag moves the center point away from the defined point on the circumference.

Placing an Arc

To place an arc, do the following:

1. Choose **Place** » **Arc** or the arc icon on the toolbar. Move the cursor to the starting point of the arc.

While you draw an arc, the cursor appears as a crosshair shape. When you finish the arc, the cursor returns to its normal shape.

2. Click and drag to the end point of the arc. Release and the start and end points are established as a 180-degree arc.

The arc sweeps counterclockwise as you place it. (e.g., left-to-right the arc sweeps up; right-toleft the arc sweeps down, etc.) If you click and release without dragging (i.e., the start and end points are the same), you create a circle.

3. After the start and end points are established, click and drag the cursor to define or alter the center point, thereby increasing or decreasing the sweep angle and radius of the arc.

You can flip the arc (swapping the end points) by pressing **F** while the arc is still unfinished.

To cancel ghosting of an arc, **right-click**.

Move, Rotate, Flip, Change

- To move, resize, rotate, flip or perform other types of changes to the arc (after it is permanently placed), use the **Edit Select** mode.
- To rotate or flip an arc, select it, and the hold down the **left mouse button** and press **R** to rotate or **F** to flip.
- For rotation, the default increment rotation is 90 degrees, which is activated by the **R** key. You can set a different rotation increment with *Options Configure*. For instructions, Options Configure (*page 429*). To rotate an arc the increment set in *Options Configure*, press **SHIFT+R**.
- To move the arc, click within the selection box (not on the handles) and drag the arc.

• To resize an arc, click and move the center handle to change the radius or move the start or end point to change the sweep angle.

Place Polygon

Choose **Place** » **Polygon** to place a solid, filled polygon on the current layer.

Placing a Polygon

To place a polygon, do the following:

1. Choose **Place** » **Polygon** or click the **Polygon** button on the toolbar. If you want to place a polygon with square corners, select the (**None**) setting in the Radius combo box on the Status Line. Select a radius of your choice from the drop-down list or enter the desired value to create a polygon with rounded corners.

While you draw a polygon, the cursor appears as a crosshair shape. When you finish the polygon, the cursor returns to its normal shape.

- 2. Put the cursor at the starting point of where you want your polygon. Hold down the left mouse button and drag the cursor to the second point. Then, release the mouse button.
- 3. Drag the cursor to a third point to draw a triangle. Any subsequent polygon points are connected by a line to the first point you selected, e.g., the fourth point of a polygon is connected to the first point automatically.

Complex polygons are not allowed. A complex polygon is a self-intersecting or self-crossing polygon. Polygon sides can touch each other but not cross each other.

4. When you have established all your points in creating the polygon, **right-click** or press **ESC** to finish and fill the polygon.

Draft or Outline Display Mode

Polygons can be drawn and printed as outlines by choosing one of these options:

- To draw polygons in outline form, choose **Options** » **Display**. Then, click the **Miscellaneous** tab and select the **Draft Mode** check box.
- To print polygons in outline form, choose **File** » **Print**. Then, click the **Setup Print Jobs** button. In the dialog that appears, select the **Draft** check box in the Display Options frame.

Rotating or Flipping a Polygon

You can rotate or flip a polygon after you have placed it. Select the polygon and press \mathbf{R} to rotate or \mathbf{F} to flip while the polygon is selected.

Press **R** to rotate the polygon by 90-degrees. You can press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate the polygon by the rotation increment set in *Options Configure*. For information, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

Altering the Shape of a Polygon

You can alter the shape of a placed polygon (move, add, delete vertices and round the corners) by selecting the polygon, then clicking and dragging one of the handles.

When you move one of the handles that lies between two vertices, a new vertex is created. To delete a vertex, grab its handle and move it to an adjacent vertex and release. A polygon can have square or rounded corners.

To alter a polygon's corners follow these steps:

- Set the desired radius in the Radius combo box on the Status Line by selecting an existing radius or entering a new radius. You may also add a radius directly in the combo box or choose Options » Current Radius to open the Options Current Radius dialog where you can add and delete radius values. Choose the (None) radius setting if the polygon should have square corners.
- 2. Select the Polygon to be modified.
- 3. Enable the display of the fillet handles by choosing **Edit** » **Properties** or by double-clicking the shape and selecting the **Show Fillet Handles** check box in the *Properties* dialog.
- 4. Press and hold down the **left mouse button** to grab the fillet handle in the interior of the polygon.
- 5. Drag the handle to the location where the corner radius is the one you want. Release the mouse button to place it.

Place Point

Choose **Place** » **Point** or click the **toolbar button** to place one of the following point types in a design:

\boxtimes	Reference Point. When you place a reference point on an object, the object moves with the cursor at that point. Objects also flip and rotate about this point.
R	Glue Dot. Glue dots, or glue points, hold components in place until they are soldered during manufacturing. A glue dot can be placed in a pattern before saving the pattern in a library.
	Pick and Place. Pick and place points direct the pick and place mechanism in manufacturing. This mechanism, also called auto insert, picks up the component and places it on a board.

\oplus	Test Point. Test points can be placed only on non- signal layers. With test points, you can evaluate the nets in a design for electrical connectivity.
	Unlike other points (e.g., reference points, glue dots, etc.), you can assign specific properties to a test point when you place one in your design
	To learn more about test points, see <i>Test Points (page 376)</i> and <i>Placing Test Points (page 386)</i> .

The following procedures show you how to place a point, set point size, and also how to show or hide points in your design.

Placing Points

To place a point, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Point** or click the **toolbar button**.
- 2. Click the design workspace to open the following dialog:

Place Point	
Points	Test Point Details
RefPoint	Side of Board
C Glue Dat	© Т <u>о</u> р
	C Bottom
C Pick and Place	
C Test Point	<u>Fixed</u>
	Snap to Center
OK	Cancel

- 3. In the Points frame, choose one of the following options buttons:
 - RefPoint
 - Glue Point
 - Pick and Place
 - Test Point

If you choose the **Test Point** option button, you must also choose the appropriate options in the Test Point Details frame. To learn about these options, see *Placing Test Points (page 386)*.

- 4. In the *Place Point* dialog, click **OK**. You are now in placement mode.
- 5. In your workspace, click where you want to place the point. If you want to place another point, click another location.
- 6. When you no longer want to place points of that type, **right-click** or press **ESC** The place point tool remains enabled until you select another tool.
- 7. To move a point, select it and then drag it to a new location.

Placing Test Points

When you choose the **Test Point** option button in the Points frame of the *Place Point* dialog, the controls in the Test Point Details frame become available.

Place Point	
- Points	Test Point Details
◯ <u>R</u> efPoint	Side of Board
C <u>G</u> lue Dot	⊙ <u>I</u> op C <u>B</u> ottom
C Pick and Place	
Test Point	☐ <u>F</u> ixed ☐ <u>S</u> nap to Center
OK	Cancel

The following list describes each option:

- **Top:** Choose this option button to place the point on the top side of the board. When you choose this option, the point is tested from the Top of the board.
- **Bottom:** Choose this option button to place the point on the bottom side of the board. When you choose this option, the point is tested from the Bottom of the board.
- **Fixed:** Select this check box to make the test point a fixed object. Clear this check box to make the point a moveable object.
- **Snap to Center:** Select this check box to snap the test point to the center of a pad or via. Clear this check box to place a test point anywhere on a pad or via.

You can place test points on non-signal layers.

As with other points, you can rotate and flip test points. However, when you flip a test point, the side of board property for that point changes. For example, a point on Top switches to the Bottom when flipped.

In addition, the layer on which the point appears may also change when you flip a point. If a point is on the Top Silk layer, it switches to the Bottom Silk when flipped.

For more information, see Test Points (page 376).

Showing or Hiding Points

In P-CAD PCB, you can show or hide points. To do this, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Display**. The Options Display dialog appears.
- 2. Click the Miscellaneous tab.
- 3. Choose the **Show** or **Hide** option button in each of these frames:
 - DRC Errors
 - Glue Points
 - Pick and Place

You can also choose to include or exclude these items from your printer output (File Print) by specifying the items in the *Setup Print Jobs* dialog.

Place Copper Pour

A copper pour is a polygonal shape that you can place on any layer of a PCB design. To place a copper pour in a design, you use the following two-step process:

- First, you place the pour outline.
- Next, you flood the pour outline with a copper fill.

The following instructions show you how to place a copper pour.

Placing a Copper Pour

When you place a copper pour, you first draw the pour outline. Then, you flood the pour outline with a copper fill.

Drawing a Pour Outline

To draw a copper pour outline, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Copper Pour** or click the **toolbar button**.
- 2. Click where you want to place the copper pour.

3. Drag the cursor to another point and click. Drag the cursor to another point and click at each corner of the polygon you want to draw.

Complex copper pour polygons are not allowed. A complex polygon is self-intersecting or self-crossing.

- 4. When you've finished drawing a polygonal shape, **right-click** to stop placing the pour outline. You remain in placement mode, so you can draw another copper pour outline.
- 5. If you don't want to place another pour outline, choose another command to disable the **Place** » **Copper Pour** command.

Filling a Copper Pour

After you draw a pour outline, you flood the copper pour with a copper fill. To do this, follow these steps:

- 1. Select one or more copper pours using one of the following methods:
 - To select one copper pour, click within the boundary of the pour outline.
 - To block select a group of copper pours, set the appropriate block selection criteria in the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.
 - To select a group of copper pours, hold down the **CTRL** key and click each copper pour you want to select.
- 2. Select the copper pours you want to fill and use one of the following methods to open the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog:
- 3. Choose Edit » Properties.
- 4. **Right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.



- 5. In the *Copper Pour Properties* dialog, select the appropriate options in the Fill Characteristics frame. Whatever you specify here applies only to the selected copper pour(s).
- 6. In the State frame, choose **Poured**.
- 7. Click **OK** to close the dialog. P-CAD PCB floods the pours with a copper fill using the pour order set in the Pour/Repour Options frame of the *Options Configure* dialog.

Rotate or Flip

You can rotate or flip a copper pour after you have placed it.

- To rotate a copper pour by 90 degrees, select the pour and press the **R** key.
- To rotate a copper pour by the rotation increment set in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, press **SHIFT**+**R**.
- To flip a copper pour, select the pour and press the **F** key.

For copper pours with associated connections, press the **left mouse button** while rotating or flipping to prevent reconnection attempts each time you rotate or flip. Connections are committed when the left mouse button is released.

Place Cutout

Choose **Place** » **Cutout** to place a cutout on your design. A cutout is a polygonal void area for planes, which will not be filled with copper when the pour is flooded. Cutouts do not affect solid polygons or keepout polygons. Cutouts are recognized only by pours.

Since a cutout is a polygonal shape, the edges can be rounded if desired. For instructions on how to round the edges of a polygonal shape, see *Polygon Properties (page 315)*, or *Place Cutout (page 389)*.

Placing a Cutout

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Cutout** or click the **toolbar button**.
- 2. Move the cursor the first point of the cutout. The cursor will take on a crosshair shape while you are placing the cutout. Press and hold down the **mouse button** at the first point of your cutout. Then, drag the cursor to the second point of your cutout and release the **mouse button** to establish the first edge of the polygon cutout.

Press and hold down the **mouse button**. Then, drag the cursor to the third point of your cutout. Release the **mouse button** to establish the outline of the cutout. Drag the cursors as described to establish subsequent points.

Complex (self-intersecting or self-crossing) polygons are not supported.

3. **Right-click** or press **ESC** to establish the cutout polygon; it appears as an outline. When the pour is re-poured, the area defined by the cutout is not filled.

Cutouts are drawn as polygon outlines using the polygon color for that layer.

Rotate or Flip

You can rotate or flip a cutout after you have placed it. Select the cutout and press **R** to rotate or **F** to flip while the cutout is selected.

The **R** key rotation is 90 degrees. You can press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate to whatever rotation increment is set in *Options Configure*.

Place Keepout

Choose **Place** » **Keepout** to create a barrier to either keep in or keep out routing on a specific area of the board. You can place either a line keepout or polygon keepout.

Keepouts are non-electrical items that affect only the autorouter; they are ignored by nets and planes.

First, choose **Options** » **Current Keepout** to set the type of keepout you want to place (line or polygon) and on what layers (all or current).

An all-layer Keepout is recognized on all layers of the design. For more specific control on a layerby-layer basis, place current layer keepouts on multiple layers.

Placement of line keepouts works like Place Line, except that a line keepout has no real width, and therefore cannot be modified like a line. Polygon keepouts work like Place Polygon. For specific instructions, see *Polygon Properties (page 315)*, or *Place Polygon (page 383)*.

Since a polygon keepout is a polygonal shape, the edges can be rounded if desired. For instructions on how to round the edges of a polygonal shape, see *Polygon Properties (page 315)*, or *Place Polygon (page 383)*.

Place Plane

Choose Place » Plane to create a split plane outline on a plane layer.

To create a split plane, you place a polygon outline on a plane layer. The area within the polygonal outline is the split plane's copper. A split plane is associated with a single net. When you select the net, all split planes in that net are selected. Split planes appear and are printed in negative video.

Since a plane is a polygonal shape, you can round the edges of the shape. For instructions, see *Polygon Properties (page 315)*, or *Place Polygon (page 383)*.

Placing a Plane

To place a plane, do the following:

1. Choose **Options** » Layers and create a plane layer that will be split.

When you create this layer, you can decide whether to assign a net to the plane layer. If you decide to assign a net, and then split the net in two, you need only place a single plane object.

2. Choose **Options** » Layers and make the plane layer the current layer.

- 3. Choose Place » Plane or click the toolbar button.
- 4. Move the cursor to the first point of the plane. Click for the first point and drag to the second point and release to establish it.

Place the third point in the same manner. (You can see the outline of the plane so far).

Click and drag to establish subsequent points.

5. **Right-click** to terminate the placing of the outline and establish the outline of the plane shape.

The plane is drawn using the polygon color defined for that plane layer.

It is illegal to have two planes that intersect, because connectivity to the planes will not be correct. Design Rule Checking (DRC) will report this error if you enable Plane Violations in the *Utils DRC* dialog.

The line width (set using the **Option Current Line** command) determines the clearance between two plane nets.

Now you need to access the *Plane Properties* dialog. This name will change to establish the characteristics of your plane.

- Plane Propetties

 Plane Net Polygon
 Net
 Boundary Width:
 10.0mi
 Net Plane Color
 OK Cancel
- 1. Select the plane outline, then choose **Edit** » **Properties**.

For details about modifying the plane's properties, see Plane Properties (page 323).

Pads and Vias

For a pad to electrically connect to a split plane, the pad and the split plane must be in the same net and the pad's hole must intersect the split plane. If the pad's hole partially intersects the split plane, the pad is still considered electrically connected to the split plane, but DRC reports this partial connection as a warning.

Net connectivity is maintained with split planes, just as net connectivity is maintained with plane layers. For example, if two pads are electrically connected because they both connect to the same

split plane, then a connection line is not necessary between the two pads. If two pads are electrically connected to the same split plane, P-CAD PCB assumes that copper in the split plane is continuous between these two pads.

Connections between pads/vias and planes can be controlled using the *Modify Pad/Via Styles* (Complex) dialogs. If you choose the **No Connect Shape**, then the selected pads or vias are not connected to planes on the specified layers.

Rotating or Flipping a Plane

To rotate or flip a plane, select the plane and choose one of the following methods:

- Press **F** to flip the plane.
- Press **R** to rotate the plane by 90 degrees.
- Press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate the plane by the rotation increment set in the General tab of *Options Configure*. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

Place Room

Choose **Place** » **Room** to place a room in the design. A room is a logical object, which creates a region to which you can assign components and rules. Placing components in a Room is an excellent way to help you control the layout of your design.

The steps used to organize components in a room are as follows:

- Placing a Room in the Design.
- Defining Room Properties.
- Assigning Components to the Room.
- Verifying Placement with DRC.

To place a room in your design, do the following:

- 1. Choose Place » Room or click the Place Room button on the toolbar.
- 2. Place the room by choosing one of the following methods:
 - Position the cursor in the design where you want to place the room corner and click the **left mouse button**. Go to the position of the room's opposite corner and click the **left mouse button** again.
 - Position the cursor in the design where you want to place the room corner, press and hold down the left mouse button and drag the cursor to the room's opposite corner. Release the **mouse button**.

Performing either option displays the room's boundaries in the workspace. You can place one room entirely inside of or overlapping another room, if desired.

Place Text

Choose Place » Text to enter or place text on your design using the following basic steps.

- 1. Choose Place » Text or by click the toolbar button.
- 2. Click the workspace at the location where the text is to be placed.
- 3. Type the text you want to place in the design in the Text area of the *Place Text* dialog.
- 4. Click **Place** in the dialog or click the **Place Text** tool again to commit the text in the design.

Place Text Dialog

Text entered in the *Place Text* dialog is instantly displayed at the location in the design where you clicked the mouse button to begin the place text function. You can change the location of the text by dragging it to a new location.

The *Place Text* dialog can be displayed in the expanded version, an intermediate size or minimized to a one-line display. The display size and location at the time the dialog is closed become the default settings that are used the next time you enter the Place Text mode.

To display the expanded version of the *Place Text* dialog, click **More** located directly beneath the scroll bar, on the right side of the text box. To reduce the dialog to the intermediate size, click **<<Less**. To reinstate the minimized dialog to its previous size, click **Maximize**. To reduce the dialog to its minimized size, click **Minimize**.

The minimized version of the dialog appears as follows:

Place Text	_ 🗆 ×
This is the minimized version of the Place Text dialog.	*

The intermediate version of the dialog appears as follows:

Place Text	_ 🗆 ×
This is the intermediate version of the Place Text dialog.	4
Place Cancel	Mor <u>e</u> >>

The expanded version of the dialog appears as follows:

Place Text	_ 🗆 🗵
This is the maximized version of the Place Text dialog.	A
	V
Place Cancel	<< L <u>e</u> ss
Location Justification Elip Botate 45.0 0.0deg Y: 5700.0 C C C Text Styles: (Default) Image: Content of the style in th	Text <u>S</u> tyles

The Place Text dialog contains the following options:

- **Text:** The Text box is where you type the text you want to place in the design. You can also paste text from the Clipboard to the box, by pressing **CTRL+V**. If you want to enter multiple lines you can start new lines in the Text box by using a carriage return (press the **ENTER** key. A single text object can have up to 2, 000 characters.
- Location: If the text has not been placed yet, the Location section displays the X and Y coordinates of the location of the cursor when the mouse button was released. While placing the text the coordinates cannot be modified. When you select committed text and choose Edit » Properties, the location coordinates can be modified to move the text to a different area in the design.
- **Flip:** The *Place Text* dialog provides the option to flip the text by selecting the **Flip** check box.
- **Rotate:** You can rotate the text by clicking **Rotate**. Each time you click **Rotate**, the text rotates by the increment specified in the *Options Configure* dialog. For information, see Options Configure (*page 429*). The degree of rotation is displayed next to the button.
- **Text Styles:** You can view the default text styles and add, modify and delete a non-default text style by clicking **Text Styles** to open the *Options Text Style* dialog. Changes to the text style appear instantly in the design at the time they are made.

The text style for the selected text or the text being placed can be changed by choosing the new style from the drop-down list in the Text Style list. Fonts and font sizes cannot be mixed within the same text item. Barred text can be inserted in the text item by placing a tilde (~) on either side of the text you want to bar. Type two consecutive tildes to cause a single tilde to be displayed. Changes that cause the text to placed outside the workspace are not allowed.

See Options Text Style (page 482) for detailed information on adding, modifying, viewing and deleting text styles.

• **Place/Cancel:** Commit the text to the current location in the workspace by clicking **Place** or the place text toolbar button.

To cancel the text placement dialog and remove the temporary text from the design, click **Cancel** or press **ESC**. The Text tool is still active, but the dialog disappears from view.

Whenever you are typing, flipping or rotating text, and zooming or panning the workspace, the dialog remains on the screen. At the time the text is committed to the design by clicking the **Place** button on the dialog, choosing the **Place > Text** command or the toolbar button, the dialog closes. The Place Text tool remains active so that you can click in the workspace to indicate the location for the next text item, display the dialog again and place more text.

Place Text Features

The **Place Text** tool provides additional features that enhance the basic placement functionality and make placing the text easier and more accurate. This section describes how to rotate, flip, zoom and pan text during or after placement.

Rotating Text

You can rotate text as you are placing it. Click and hold the **left mouse button** on the text, then press the **R** key. Clicking the **Rotate** button will also rotate the text. The **R** key and **Rotate** button functions rotate the text by the degree specified in the *Options Configure* dialog. For information, see Options Configure (*page 429*). The text moves about its reference point.

To rotate text after it has been placed, select it and press **R** to rotate while the left mouse button is depressed or choose **Edit** » **Properties** to open the *Text Properties* dialog where you can click **Rotate**.

For rotation, whatever angle is the result of the rotation will apply to the next text you place. For example, you are placing text and you rotate it 25 degrees before you finish it (**SHIFT**+**R**, with 25 degrees set in *Options Configure*). Then you place more text; it will be placed at the same 25 degree angle without any rotation action. (If you decide to rotate the second text string, it will increment 25 degrees more, resulting in a 50 degree angle.) Therefore, you can place multiple text objects at the same angle but only have to perform the rotation action on the first text string.

Attributes, text, and fields share the same rotation memory. In other words, if you place and rotate text at 90 degrees, then immediately place a field, that field will be placed at a 90-degree angle.

In the Place Text dialog, click the box again to continue typing new text.

Flipping Text

You can flip text as you are placing it if you change focus from the dialog to the workspace. To do this, press and hold down the left mouse button. When a ghosted outline of the text appears, press the **F** key. Then, release the mouse button.

You can also flip text when in the dialog. To do this, select the Flip check box.

The **F** key and Flip check box functions flip the text 180 degrees to the right or left of the original location. The text moves about its reference point.

To flip text after it has been placed, select it and then press **F** to flip, or choose **Edit** » **Properties** to open the *Text Properties* dialog and select the **Flip** check box.

Click again in the box of the *Place Text* dialog to continue typing new text.

Zooming and Panning While Placing Text

The *Place Text* dialog remains on the screen while you zoom or pan the workspace.

Click the workspace to assure that the focus is in the workspace before choosing any of the zoom commands. To zoom in or out of the workspace while placing text, use one of the following methods:

- Press the (+) and (-) keys.
- Choose View » Zoom In and View » Zoom Out.
- Click the **Zoom Window** button on the command toolbar.

The workspace can be panned by moving the scroll bars up, down, right and left, or by pressing one of the arrow keys.

Click again in the box of the *Place Text* dialog to continue typing new text.

Text Summary

- The text you enter is case-sensitive; what you enter is what you will get. Changes to text styles are displayed in the design at the time the change is made. Fonts and font sizes cannot be mixed within the same text item. Barred text is supported.
- If you want to enter multiple lines (e.g., a list), you can start new lines in the box by using the **ENTER** key.
- You can change the text justification by specifying one of nine justification points in the *Place Text* dialog or *Text Properties* dialog.
- With Text Properties, you can change the content of already placed text. Select the text, then **right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu to open the dialog. You can change the text style, add/delete a text style, or modify the text justification in the *Place Text* or *Text Properties* dialogs. To change, add or delete a text style, click the **Text Styles** button, which activates the *Options Text Style* dialog, where you can add, modify, view, rename, or delete text styles.
- Text cannot be placed outside the workspace.

You cannot delete a text style currently in use.

Place Attribute

Choose **Place** » **Attribute** to place a free attribute according to the Name and Value options you select in the dialog.

To edit a free attribute after it's been placed, select the attribute and choose **Edit** » **Properties** or **File** » **Design Info**. Then, click the **Attributes** button (Some attribute values can be specified elsewhere, such as component name in Component Manager when you create the component).

Placing an Attribute

To place an attribute, do the following:

- 1. Choose Place » Attribute or click the Attribute toolbar button.
- 2. Click the workspace to open the following *Place Attribute* dialog.

Place Attribute			×
Attribute Category: All Attributes Component Net Clearance Physical Electrical Placement Manufacturing Router SPECCTRA Route SPECCTRA Placement	Name: (userdefined) ANTIPAD_GAP AREA_AREA_GAP AutoRouteWide BoardEdgeClearance BURIED_VIA_GAP Clearance COMPONENT_HEIGHT ComponentBotation ComponentBotation ComponentSpacing Description DRILL_GAP EXPOSE_PIN HoleToHoleClearance InsertionGripWidth InspectionAngle JUNCTION_TYPE LENGTH_GAP	Name: Value: Value: Visible Location X: Text Style: [Default] Rotation: Flipped	Y: Text Styles Justification C C C C C C C C C

To place a predefined attribute, do the following:

- 1. Choose an attribute category from the Category list. All predefined attributes for the category appear in the Name list.
- 2. Select an attribute from the Name list. This name, unless you selected user-defined, appears in the Name box.

To place a user-defined attribute:

- 1. Type an attribute name in the Name box.
- 2. Type a value for the attribute in the Value box.
- 3. Set Attribute Properties. See Attribute Properties (page 328) for more information.
- 4. Click OK.
- 5. Click the workspace, drag the attribute into position and release the mouse button place the attribute. Before you release the button to place it, you can move, rotate, or flip the placement box.

Rotating or Flipping a Field

To rotate or flip an attribute after it has been placed, select it and choose one of these methods:

- Press **F** to flip the field.
- Press **R** to rotate the field by 90 degrees.
- Press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate the field by the rotation increment set in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

You can rotate or flip an attribute as you are placing it. For rotation, whatever angle is the result of the rotation will apply to the next attribute you place. For example, you are placing an attribute and you rotate it 25-degrees before you finish it (**SHIFT+R**, with 25-degrees set in *Options Configure*). Then you place another attribute; it will be placed at the same 25-degree angle without any rotation action. You can place multiple attributes at the same angle by rotating the first attribute as you place it.

Attributes, text, and fields share the same rotation memory. In other words, if you place and rotate text at 90-degrees, then immediately place an attribute, that attribute will be placed at a 90-degree angle. This rotation memory derives only from rotation action during placement, not from select and rotate actions that take place after object placement.

If you don't specify a value for an attribute, the attribute key name appears in brackets, e.g., {Type}.

Place Field

Choose **Place** » **Field** to place a field containing design information such as date, time, author, etc. The information that appears when you place certain fields is determined by what you specify in the *File Design Info* dialog. You can place a field from a selection of predefined field types including the following fields:

- Approved By
- Author
- Checked By
- Company Name
- Current Date, Current Time
- Date
- Drawing Number
- Drawn By
- Engineer
- Filename
- GUID (Globally Unique Identifier)
- Layer Name
- Modified Date

- Note
- Revision
- Revision Note
- Time
- Title

The Globally Unique Identifier (GUID) field is targeted to P-CAD PDM users. However, this predefined field is available for placement in any design.

You can also define additional fields using **File** » **Design Info** and then place them in your design. The current date and time fields use the settings from your computer's Date/Time Properties. If you just select date then you must specify the date in the *File Design Info* dialog. The same is true for time (as opposed to current time).

The value of a field placed in the design, with the exception of Current Date/Time, Filename and Modified Date, must be specified in the *Field Properties* dialog, otherwise you place a generic field, e.g., {Author} rather than "W. Shakespeare". To open the *Field Properties* dialog, choose **File** » **Design Info** or select a field, then **right-click** and choose **Properties** from the shortcut menu.

Fields are handy for use within title blocks.

Placing a Field

To place a field, do the following:

1. Choose Place » Field and click the workspace. The following Place Field dialog appears.

Name:	
Approved By Author Checked By Company Name Current Date Current Time Date Drawing Number Drawing Number Drawing Number Braineer Filename GUID	Cancel

- 2. From the Name list, select the type of field you want to place. Click **OK**.
- 3. Move the cursor to where you want to place the field; click to place it. If you click again, the *Place Field* dialog opens, so you can place another type of field.
- 4. You can rotate or flip a field as you are placing it. See Rotating or Flipping a Field (page 397).

To cancel before a field is placed, **right-click**.

Rotating or Flipping a Field

To rotate or flip a field after it has been placed, select it

- Press **F** to flip the field.
- Press **R** to rotate to rotate the field by 90 degrees.
- Press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate to the field by the rotation increment set in the General tab of *Options Configure*. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

You can rotate or flip a field as you are placing it. For rotation, whatever angle is the result of the rotation will apply to the next field you place. For example, you are placing a field and you rotate it 25 degrees before you finish it (**SHIFT+R**, with 25 degrees set in *Options Configure*).

When you place another field; it will be placed at the same 25 degree angle without any rotation action. If you decide to rotate the second field, it will increment 25 degrees more, resulting in a 50 degree angle. Therefore, you can place multiple fields at the same angle but only have to perform the rotation action on the first field.

Attributes, text, and fields share the same rotation memory. In other words, if you place and rotate text at 90 degrees, then immediately place a field, that attribute will be placed at a 90-degree angle. This rotation memory derives only from rotation action during placement, not from select and rotate actions that take place after object placement.

Place Dimension

Choose **Place** » **Dimension** to place a dimension at a specified location. A dimension is frequently used for describing distances, center points and angles between items. You can also choose to place an Associative Dimension: an intelligent dimension associated with its objects, which is dynamically updated whenever objects are moved. The selections made in the *Place Dimension* dialog are retained throughout your session in PCB. The default settings are applied at the beginning of each PCB session until changes are made for that session.

Placing a Dimension

To place a dimension, do the following:

- 1. Choose **Place** » **Dimension** or click the **toolbar button**.
- 2. Click the workspace to open the following *Place Dimension* dialog.

Place Dimension		
Styles: Point to Point	Orientation	Text Style (Default) Text Style
Units:		
linch 💌	Text Orientation	Line Width
Layer:	Horizontal	20.0mi
Board 💌	○ V <u>e</u> rtical	
Precision: 1	Symbol Context	Arrowhead
Symbol Size: 500.0mil		width: 62.0mil
Center Size: 200.0mil	C <u>S</u> quare	
Tolerance	C Triangle	Display <u>U</u> nits
Positive: 0.0000in		Display Diameter Symbol
Negative: 0.0000in		Suppress Leading Zeros
		Suppress Trailing <u>Z</u> eros
Display Tolerance	V	Associated Dimension
OK		Cancel

- 3. Select one of the following dimension styles from the Styles list:
 - **Point to Point:** Measures the distance between two points.
 - **Baseline:** Measures the distance between a single reference point and subsequent points. The dimension text is placed between the extension lines.
 - **Leader:** Leader is a dimensioning line extending from a piece of text or symbol to the dimensioned object. It can be used for dimensioning or notation.
 - **Center:** Center is a cross-hair marking of the center of an arc or circle. You can also dimension two center dimensions.
 - **Radius:** Measures the radius of an arc or circle.
 - **Diameter:** Measures the diameter of a circle.
 - Angular: Measures the angle between lines.
 - **Datum:** Measures the distance between a single reference points and subsequent points. The dimension text is placed at the end of the extension line. In datum dimensioning, there are no dimension lines connecting the extension lines.
- 4. In the Orientation frame, select the **Horizontal** or **Vertical** option button to set the dimension's orientation.
- 5. In the Text Orientation frame, select the **Horizontal** or **Vertical** option button to set the orientation of the text that appears between the dimension lines.
- 6. Select a measurement scale from the Units list.

- 7. Select the layer on which you will place the dimension from the Layer list. If, upon reentering the dimension dialogs, the selected layer does not exist in the design, the Board layer is used as the default.
- 8. Select the desired level of precision from the Precision list. This setting determines the number of significant digits used to display the dimension measurement.
- 9. Enable the Display Tolerance check box if you wish to include a tolerance with the dimension. The tolerance is always displayed with 4 digit precision.
- 10. In the Symbol frame, choose one of these buttons to set the type of notation for a Leader style dimension: Text, Circle, Square or Triangle.
- 11. Enter a symbol size in the Symbol Size box.
- 12. When placing a dimension based on center points, specify a center size for the center of the symbol in the Center Size box.
- 13. Click **Text Style** to open the *Options Text Style* dialog. Then, choose the desired text style. The default is always the current text style set by choosing **Options Text Style**. For more information, see *Options Text Style* (*page 482*).
- 14. In the Line Width box, set a line width for the dimension lines.
- 15. In the Arrowhead box, you can set the length and width of an arrowhead.
- 16. Select the **Display Units** check box to display the specified units.
- 17. Select the **Display Diameter Symbols** check box to turn on the display of the symbol.
- 18. If you want to suppress zeros in the dimension, select the **Suppress Leading Zeros** or **Suppress Trailing Zeros** check boxes.
- To add intelligence to the dimension and its associated objects, select the Associated Dimension check box. An associative dimension follows its associated objects and updates the dimension value whenever the objects are moved.
- 20. Click **OK** to return to the workspace.
- 21. Point in the workspace to place the dimension.

The mouse click procedure to place a dimension depends on the dimension style selected. If you need assistance placing a dimension, see the Prompt Line at the bottom of your workspace for instructions. To learn about the Prompt Line, see *View Prompt Line (page 366)*.

22. Select the location for the dimension text and lines.

Hold down the **left mouse button** while placing the text. A ghosted outline of the dimension appears. While ghosted, the dimension can be moved. The dimension is placed in the desire location when the **mouse button** is released.

When placing a Baseline or Datum dimension, you can unwind the last action performed by pressing the **BACKSPACE** key.

23. Continue placing dimensions as necessary. To stop placing dimensions, press **ESC** or **right- click**.

You cannot place dimensions on a test point. To learn more about test points, see *Place Point* (*page 384*).

Modifying a Dimension

A dimension can be modified after placement in a variety of ways:

- A selected dimension can be modified directly using the *Dimension Properties* dialog. This includes the ability to edit the dimension's unit, layer, and precision.
- Dimension text can be moved and modified after placement by selecting the dimension and dragging the handle that appears over the text.
- After placement, dimensions can be moved along the dimensioning line to change the text position for Point to Point, Datum, Baseline and Angular dimensions. Simply choose the select tool, grab the handle on the dimension and drag it to the desired location on the dimension line.
- Leader, Radius and Diameter dimensions can be moved around the arrowhead point by grabbing the handle and repositioning the dimension in a new location once they have been placed.

Rotating a Dimension

To rotate a dimension after it has been placed, select it, and choose one of the methods:

- Press **R** to rotate the dimension by 90 degrees.
- Press **SHIFT**+**R** to rotate the object by the rotation increment set in the General tab of *Options Configure*. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

Route Commands

Using the Route Commands

Use the commands in the **Route** menu give you the ability to gain access to a variety of routing options. For example, choose **Route** » **Manual** to manually route and reroute existing connections or net copper items.

With the **Route** » **Interactive** command, you can gain access to **InterRoute**, the interactive routing tool, which provides obstacle avoidance, copper hugging, and intelligent route completion.

With **Route** » **Miter**, you can convert 90 degree corners on routed connections into 45 degree mitered corners, 90 degree arcs, or T-routes. P-CAD PCB supports the following autorouters:

- QuickRoute
- PRO Route 2/4
- PRO Route
- SPECCTRA (valid for SP10, SP4P, SP2, and SP6 products)

The look and feel of the user interface is consistent for all autorouters. The supporting dialogs are router-sensitive, so that router-specific data such as pass selection are different for each autorouter.

The **Route Toolbar** provides shortcuts to the route commands:

<u></u> *	
Click this button	To choose this command
لم	Route Manual
گھ <u>و</u>	Route Interactive

Click this button	To choose this command
7	Route Miter
	Route Bus
	Route MultiTrace
	Route Fanout
0 ⁻ 1-	Maximize Hugging
•	Minimize Length
	Visible Routing Area

Route Autorouter

When you choose **Route** » **Autorouters**, the *Route Autorouters* dialog appears. Use this dialog to choose the autorouter that you want to use to route your designs.

In this dialog, you can also set autorouter options for the autorouter, as well as start and restart the autorouting process. The following figure shows you the *Route Autorouters* dialog:

Route Autorouters			
Autorouter: P-CAD S	hape Route	Close	
Strategy			
<u>P</u> RF File	C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\Accsampl.PRF		
Output PCB File	C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\RAccsampl.pcb		
Output Log File	C:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\RAccsampl.LOG		
Load	Save Set B	ase	
Preserve Manual	Traces		

The Autorouter combo box defaults to QuickRoute, the embedded router. To select a different router, click the **down arrow** and choose a router from the list. Notice that the dialog changes depending on the router you select. To get information about a specific router, click a router from the list.

Route View Log

Choose **Route** » **View Log** to view the log file generated from your autorouting session. Each router produces a comprehensive report file at the end of the routing session, detailing the results of the session. The report appears in the Notepad. You can view the log file without interrupting the routing process.

Before routing starts, the input PCB is analyzed. General information as well as your routing strategy and router- selected options are written to the log file. After each pass, per-pass and total routing statistics are written to the file. When routing is completed, summary information is written to the file.

The report file contains the information detailed in the following sections.

Headers and Footers

The name and version number of the router being used is found in the header. The footer displays the date and time the report was created. You can define your own header and footer by choosing **File Reports** in P-CAD PCB. This information is stored in the Pcb.ini file.

General

The report provides a list of the input PCB, output PCB and strategy file names, your selected units, the available memory and the route start time. The report also lists the routing grid and via grid settings, the checkpoint interval, rip-up preroutes, diagonal routing and copper sharing options, the iterative and manufacturing pass counts and whether manufacturing passes should be run if the board is not completely routed.

Layer Settings

Provides a listing of the selected layers, indicating their directional bias (horizontal, vertical. Net names are provided for plane layers).

Net Classes

Provides a listing of each net class and their defined width, via pad stack and the maximum number of vias. The autorouter routes all nets belonging to the same net class together in a pass.

Pass Settings

Lists the scheduled passes and identifies the net classes to be routed during each. Some scheduled passes may not be run, as explained in *Pass Performance (page 408)*.

Pass Performance

For each routing pass completed, the report file lists a count and percentage of the lines scheduled, completed and deferred during the pass, and for the entire run so far. Also reported are vias and copper length that were added or deleted during the pass as well as for the entire routing session.

Final Board Statistics

Final board statistics lists the total number of pads on the board, the number of equivalent 16-pin ICs (EICs), the dimensions and area of the design, the density (in square units per EIC; the lower this number is, the denser the board), the vias added during the routing process, the total number and length of routed lines (and percentage of routed lines to total lines), the total number of unrouted lines (and percentage of unrouted lines to total lines) and the total execution time for the routing process.

If you abort the routing process, the report file reflects the final board statistics only up to the point of termination. A warning message appears in the report file, indicating the type of termination request made (stop and save or stop and don't save).

Route Manual

Choose Route » Manual to manually route and reroute existing connections or net copper items.

Route Manual gives you the ability to precisely place traces. An individual trace can be routed along an arc, at any angle, and into loops. You can also T-route from an existing trace. Traces need not obey clearance rules, although Online DRC is available. The flexibility of Route Manual is particularly useful for analog boards. Before you route you must have already placed components and placed connections between the component pads (net nodes). For information about components and connections, see *Place Component (page 374)* and *Place Connection (page 377)*. You can also get connections by loading a netlist. See *Utils Load Netlist (page 520)*.

Also, before you route, you should have all the layers enabled that you will be using during your routing procedure. To see the list of enabled layers, use the Layer combo box on the Status Line. You can change between these enabled layers (making each layer the current layer, in turn). Choose **Options » Layers** to alter the list of enabled layers (enable, disable, add to, delete, modify) as an alternate way to change the current layer. For details, see *Options Layers* (page 450).

The program does not allow routing on a nonsignal layer. If you try to route on a nonsignal layer, an error message appears.

See *Routing (page 95)* for additional information about setting up your board for routing and selecting a route tool.

Manually Routing a Connection

To manually route a connection, do the following:

- 1. Zoom in so that the connections you want to route are large enough to select.
- 2. Choose **Route** » Manual.
- 3. Click the connection. Notice that part or all of the net is highlighted in the current highlight color. In the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can select which items are highlighted in the Highlight While Routing box. Item highlight options are Pads Only or Pads, Traces and Connection.
- 4. Drag the connection to where you want to route the connection and release. The new segment appears in the current layer color. The new copper segment starts from the end of the connection to which it is closest.

An alternate method for click-and-drag is to press the **ALT** key, then click the **left mouse button** (**ALT+left mouse**). You can then drag the routed line anywhere without having to keep the mouse button depressed

- 5. You can continue routing by clicking at points where you want the route to go. Click to select a route point on the connection line, drag the line to the new location. Select the next point and do the same thing. Continue this process until the connection is completely routed.
- 6. To complete the routing of a segment, **right-click**.

Terminating a Route

To terminate a route, choose one of these methods:

- Complete the remainder of the trace (right-click or press ESC).
- Stop routing without completing the trace (press FORWARD SLASH (\) or BACKSLASH (/) keys).

The behavior of the right-click action and the **SLASH** key can be modified using the Route tab in the *Options Configure* dialog. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

When you drag the trace over its termination pad, a diamond shape appears. Then, you have reached the connection destination. The diamond symbol represents a zero length connection. It disappears when the connection is completed.

If the diamond shape remains after completing the connection, it indicates the pad you are routing to is on a different layer than the end of the route.

Right-Click

To route the remainder of a connection (in a straight line all the way to the next node), right-click. You can then left-click over another connection segment to begin routing it.

If the current endpoint of the trace being routed is point-to-point with an object belonging to the same net (pad, via, line, or arc) right-clicking causes the route to be recognized as completed, ending the route. The routing guide connection (the remaining connection is displayed during manual routing) is not replaced with a line trace to the original guide connection destination point when the right mouse button is pressed. The guide connection will be updated as appropriate.

The exception to this behavior occurs when routing to a pad that is the endpoint of the current guide connection. **Right-clicking** completes the route to the pad center.

The behavior of the right-click action and **SLASH** key can be modified using the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

Slash Keys

The **SLASH** keys (/) and (\) stop a route in midconnection without adding a final copper segment. Both back and forward slashes stop a route.

When the **Optimize Partial Route** check box is selected in General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, pressing the **SLASH** key during manual routing terminates the route and causes the guide connection line to connect to the nearest net endpoint if the net doesn't have an OPTIMIZE=NO attribute.

The behavior of the right-click action and the **SLASH** key can be modified using the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

Status Line Information

While you are manually routing, measurement information appears in the Status Line, along with the name of the net being routed, and the current orthogonal mode.

For example, the Status Line in the following figure shows the delta X and delta Y measurements of a ghosted segment while you are dragging, and the total length of the segment being routed when you release. The measurement does not include already routed or yet-to-be route portions of a net.

Ortho=90 Net = NET00004 dX= 100.0, dY=-25.0

Routing between Layers

You must switch layers if you attempt to route from, or to, a pad on a different layer from the current layer. Changing layers is also useful when crossing a blockage.

Press the L key or press SHIFT+L keys as a shortcut to cycle between enabled layers. A via of the current style is automatically inserted when you change layers, unless you have a ViaStyle attribute. The line from that point reflects the color of the new layer.

T-Routing

To invoke T routing, press the **SHIFT** key while the **Route Manual** tool is enabled. The mouse operations are the same for T routing as they are for reroute: click (initiate), drag (rubberband), release (commit). By selecting the **T-Route by Default** check box in the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can T- route without pressing the **SHIFT** key.

When selecting a trace, there are two possible ways to initiate the route depending on the T route mode: If T routing is disabled, the selection is treated as a reroute. If T routing is enabled using the **SHIFT** key, the tool starts a T route whereby the selected trace is broken at the selection point (unless that point is an endpoint) and routing continues with a new trace anchored at the selection point. You do not need to hold down the **SHIFT** key for the entire route, just to start the route.

You can set T routing to be the default mode using the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. Otherwise, rerouting is the default operation. For information, see Options Configure (page 429).

A connection line is created from the selection point to the nearest, unconnected node to guide you in completing the route. When routing into a trace, the intersecting line is broken at the selection point. Just because this feature is called T routing does not imply that it only works for T shaped intersections. Routing is permitted to and from any existing traces on the board. If there is no unconnected node to anchor the end of the connection line, no connection line appears.



Modifying Traces

There are several ways to modify traces. In Route Manual mode, you can select a routed trace to reroute it. During trace placement, you can unwind or backtrack to remove or modify the previously placed segments. Also, Route Manual features trace cleanup to automatically remove overlapping trace segments.

Unwind

If you make a mistake, you can press the **BACKSPACE** key, and the previous segment disappears (unwinds). With each press of the **BACKSPACE** key, a previous segment or via is unwound.

Backtracking

Committing a straight line segment on top of another straight line segment, backtracking, acts as an erase operation and the intersection of the two lines is removed.

Vias cannot be erased with backtracking. You need to perform an unwind operation.

Backtracking detects only lines that precisely trace back over previous lines and only during the routing operation. No backtracking is performed for lines already existing in the design.

Trace Cleanup

When you choose **Utils** » **Trace Clean-up**, redundant trace segments (collinear and overlapping) and extra vertices are removed before the traces are added to the design. Trace cleanup also occurs between newly routed traces and preexisting traces.

Orthogonal Modes (O key)

You can press the **O** key to switch between the orthogonal modes while placing lines during manual routing. You can enable/disable certain orthogonal modes in the *Options Configure* dialog. The available orthogonal modes are provided as three mode pairs and a Tangent Arc mode. The mode pairs supply a total of six modes (three types, with two variations on each type). Press the **F** key to flip the mode between the angles in the current mode pair.

See Options Configure (page 429) for more information.

90/90 Line-Line

The 90/90 Line-Line modes are horizontal or vertical, as shown in the following. In long mode, the first segment is always longer than the second. In short mode, the first segment is shorter. To switch between the two modes, press the **F** key.



45/90 Line-Line

You can switch between the two modes by pressing the **F** key. The first mode makes the first segment display at a 45 degree angle and the second segment is either horizontal or vertical. The second mode makes the first segment either horizontal or vertical and the second segment is displayed at a 45 degree angle.



90/90 Arc-Line

You can switch between two modes by pressing the **F** key. The first mode makes the first segment display as an arc and the second segment is either a horizontal line or a vertical line. The second
mode makes the first segment either horizontal or vertical line and the second segment is displayed as an arc.



Tangent Arc

A curved arc can be incorporated into a route segment when Tangent Arc is the current orthogonal mode. The current radius, controlled through the **Options** » **Current Radius** command or the Radius combo box on the Status Line, is used to determine the curve of the arc while maintaining tangency between the two line segments and the arc. Once placed, the arc can be moved or modified by using the miter tool, which allows you to grab and drag an arc handle to a new radius.



Online DRC

If Online DRC is enabled using **Options** » **Configure** or the toolbar button, online DRC checking is performed after each mouse or keyboard click fixes the end of a segment during manual routing. Each routing click can cause up to two trace segments (either lines or arcs) and a via to be placed in the design; all newly created items are checked for DRC violations. When a violation is detected, a beep is generated and a DRC error indicator is placed at the approximate location of the violation; no error message appears. Multiple violations result in two beeps and multiple error indicators.

When a connection is completed, the number of DRC error indicators generated for the connection appears in the Status Info box on the Status Line, and a report of the violations is presented automatically if you selected the **View** » **Report** check box in the *Options Configure* dialog and there is at least one violation. This report includes a summary count of the violations created during the routing of the connection, plus the information from the individual DRC error indicators.

The clearance values used for clearance testing of pads, vias, and lines on a particular signal layer are taken from the *Options Design Rules* dialog and the Clearance attributes on the nets. Clearance attributes on the nets take precedence. Net class and class to class rules are also honored. This dialog is discussed in the Clearances section.

Associated DRC error indicators are automatically deleted when unwinding a route, and when undoing a completed connection with violations. Otherwise, DRC error indicators are not automatically removed when the violation is corrected. See Options Configure (*page 429*) for more information.

Width Attribute

DRC error indicators are generated if the width of any segment or arc of a net with a Width attribute differs (smaller or larger) from the that specified by the attribute. Both batch and online DRC generate DRC indicators.



Overlapping Connections

When connection lines overlap over a pad, routing selection priority is given to the connection line that has the same net ID as the pad. Priority is also given to SMD pads that are defined on the current layer.

Routing to Free Copper

Manual routing to the center of a pad, via, or the endpoint of a line that is not part of any net adds that item to the net being routed. This occurs as each route operation is completed, without choosing the **Utils » Reconnect Nets** command or the **Utils Reconnect Nets** option in the *Utils Load Netlist* dialog.

To add other objects (arcs and polygons) to the net, choose **Utils** » **Load Netlist** with the **Reconnect Copper** option enabled, or use the **Utils** » **Reconnect Nets** command after the routes intersecting free copper have been completed. Arcs and polygons maintain full net information and correctly remove connections after being added to a net.

Copper Pours

Copper Pours affected by new copper generated by this tool will autoplow when the route completes or suspends.

Route Interactive

Choose **Route** » **Interactive** to start the **InterRoute** tool. Interactive routing provides design rule intelligence for easy obstacle avoidance, copper hugging, pad entry, and automatic route completion.

The **InterRoute** tool has many features and options for you to control trace placement, including Trouting from existing trace segments.

Routing Connections

To route connections, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Route » Interactive or click the Route Interactive button on the InterRoute toolbar.
- 2. Pick a connection to route. The end closest to the point where the connection is selected becomes the source point; the other end becomes the destination point.

Notice that part or all of the net is highlighted in the current highlight color. In the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, you can select which items are highlighted in the **Highlight While Routing** box. Item highlight options are Pads Only or Pads, Traces and Connection.

3. The Route Interactive tool rubberbands uncommitted copper with the proper net width and design rule clearances from the source point to the position of the cursor. The rubberbanding copper tracks around obstacles, maintaining the proper design rule clearances for that net, from the point of origin to the cursor position.

While you are moving the cursor, a connection rubberbands from the cursor to the second node of the connection, indicating what remains to be routed.

- 4. When you click a coordinate that is not the destination node, the previously uncommitted lines are placed on the board.
- 5. Continue this process until you are ready to complete the route.
- 6. **Right-click** and **Complete** from the shortcut menu. The InterRoute tool automatically finds the optimal path to complete the trace.

Or

7. Click a node that is the other end of the rubberband (this could be a pad, via, line, arc, polygon or copper pour island). If the selected node is a termination point for the connection, the route completes automatically.

You are now free to choose another connection to route or cancel the tool.

Controlling Trace Placement

The interactive routing tool has many features for controlling trace placement.

You can initially route from a pad as if you were in **Route Manual** mode, with the added assistance of Route Interactive tool's design rule intelligence.

When you are ready to terminate the route, choose **Complete** from the shortcut menu. The trace completes automatically. Many options are available to steer this trace.

This section discusses the following trace control features of P-CAD InterRoute:

- Status Line Information
- Obstacle Hugging
- Net Attributes

For additional information on routing control, see *Pad Entry or Exit (page 416)* and *T-Routing (page 417)*.

Status Line Information

While you are manually routing using the InterRoute tool, the right side of the Status Line displays measurement information, the name of the net being routing, and the current orthogonal mode.

For example, the Status Line in the following figure displays the delta X and delta Y measurements of a ghosted segment while you are dragging, and the total length of the segment being routed when you release. The measurement does not include already routed or yet-to-be route portions of a net.

```
Ortho=90 Net = NET00004 dX= 100.0, dY=-25.0
```

Obstacle Hugging

Track segments follow the shortest path from start point to end point, hugging obstacles to within the clearance amount set using the *Options Design Rules* dialog.

A clearance indicator appears when you try to route through an obstruction. The clearance indicator appears as a semicircle with a radius showing the clearance amount between the object being routed and the obstruction.

The router always routes on grid, except for off-grid pads where the route is centered on the pad but ends on a grid point.

Net Attributes

The net attributes Width, ViaStyle, Clearance, PadToPadClearance, PadToLineClearance, LineToLineClearance, ViaToPadClearance, ViaToLineClearance, and ViaToViaClearance will be honored given the appropriate net class hierarchy.

Pad Entry or Exit

Pad entry or exit is calculated from the pad's center regardless of whether or not the pad is on-grid. The stub length, set from the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, lets you set the minimum number of grid points from the pad's center for the first track you route.

When entering a surface mount pad, always place the trace to the pad parallel to the bias of the pad and aligned with the pad center.

Fanouts

When routing off-grid pad and via fanouts, InterRoute tool routes a stub in the direction of the cursor of a length (stub length) at least as long as that specified in the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog. If the cursor position is closer to the pad than the stub length, no stub is created; the route simply starts at the pad center and ends at the cursor position.



Stubs for pads with matching width and height (e.g., round, square) can go in four (90-degree orthogonal mode) or eight (45-degree orthogonal mode) directions.



Stubs for elongated pads (e.g., rectangle) go along the major axis only. Stubs on off-grid pads go from the pad center and remain off-grid until the cursor position is reached and then snap first to the closest grid line. The remainder of the route (from the stub endpoint to the cursor) ends on a grid point because the cursor is always on-grid. Entering a pad with a route follows the same logic as leaving a pad. Stubs always go to pad center.

Polygonal Pads

Polygonal pad shapes are supported. However, edges that are not 45- or 90-degrees won't hug closely.

T-Routing

T-Routing when using the interactive routing tool works the same as it does when using the manual routing tool described earlier in this chapter. Copper share capability found in the interactive routing tool is the same as in the manual routing tool. The Interactive routing tool avoids obstacles, and allows you to terminate the route on a track segment as well as start a T route from a track segment.

Terminating a Route

To terminate a route with the interactive router, you can choose to do one of the following:

- Route to the termination of the connection.
- Complete the remainder of the trace automatically and **right-click** when complete.
- Stop routing without completing the trace (**SLASH** keys).

When you drag the trace over its termination pad, a diamond shape appears. Then, you have reached the connection destination. The diamond symbol represents a zero length connection. It disappears when the connection is completed.

If the diamond shape remains after completing the connection, it indicates the pad you are routing to is on a different layer than the end of the route.

Complete

Right-click and choose **Complete** from the shortcut menu. The remaining portion of the route is completed automatically. The design rule intelligence of the InterRoute tool neatly hugs obstacles along the trace path.

Slash Key

Routing can be suspended by pressing the **SLASH** (\) or (*/*) keys and the unrouted portion becomes a new connection from the suspension point to the end node.

Routing can also be suspended by **right-clicking** and choosing **Suspend** from the shortcut menu.

Modifying Traces

There are several ways to modify traces. With the Route Interactive tool enabled, you can simply select a routed trace to reroute it. During trace placement, you can unwind or backtrack to remove or modify the previously placed segments. Also, Route Interactive tool features trace cleanup to automatically remove overlapping trace segments.

Rerouting Lines

The routing of existing lines is supported by the interactive routing tool. While using the Route Interactive tool, select a trace. Route the trace along a new path and terminate when complete.

The shortcut menu behaves the same as when rerouting connections.

Unwinding

Any segments or vias that are committed can be uncommitted by pressing the **BACKSPACE** key or by **right-clicking** and choosing **Unwind** from the shortcut menu.

Backtracking

Committing a straight line segment on top of another straight line segment, backtracking, acts as an erase operation and the intersection of the two lines is removed.

The routing tool also looks for loops in routed traces. If one is encountered, the loop, along with any resulting, floating copper is removed.

Vias cannot be erased with backtracking. You need to perform an unwind operation.

Trace Cleanup

When you choose **Utils** » **Trace Clean-up**, redundant trace segments (collinear and overlapping) and extra vertices are removed before the traces are added to the design. Trace cleanup also occurs between newly routed traces and preexisting traces.

Changing Layers

Changing layers adds vias in the same manner as is done with the Route Manual tool except that once you switch to a new layer, the Route Interactive tool recalculates its internal data structures to reflect obstacles on the new layer.

Blind and buried vias are handled as they are with the manual router. Changing layers while on a through hole pad simply changes layers (if the hole range allows it).

Vias, Layers, and Line Widths

Using the commands in the **Options** menu, you can select vias, layers and line widths during the routing operation. For information on these commands, see *Options Commands (page 423)*.

Loop Removal

The Route Interactive tool looks for loops in routed traces. If one is encountered, the loop, along with any resulting floating copper is removed.

Copper Pours

If the Auto Plow Copper Pours check box is selected in the *Options Configure* dialog, copper pours affected by new copper generated by these tools will autoplow when the route completes or suspends. For more information, see *Routing (page 192)*.

Shortcut Menu

You can open a shortcut menu during the routing process. To do this, **right-click**. The following shortcut menu appears:



The following command appear in the shortcut menu:

- **Complete:** Autoroutes the remaining portion of the route.
- **Suspend:** Equivalent to press the / or \ keys, which leaves the unrouted portion as a connection.
- **Cancel:** Undo all routing actions and puts the original connection back. The Route Interactive tool remains active.
- **Options:** Opens the Route tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.
- Layers: Opens the *Options Layers* dialog.
- Via Style: Opens the Options Via Style dialog.
- Unwind: Removes the last line or via that was committed.

Keyboard Shortcuts

The following keyboard shortcuts are available during the routing process:

Key	Action
enter	Same as left mouse, commits the current routed series of lines.
ESC	Opens the shortcut menu.
/ or \	Stops routing the connection and leaves remaining, unrouted portion as a connection.
BACKSPACE	Undoes the last segment placed.
0	Switches between 45-degree and 90- degree orthogonal mode.

Route Miter

Choose **Route** » **Miter** to create 90-degree corners on routed connections into 45-degree mitered corners, 90- degree arcs, or T-routes. The 90-degree corner must be true horizontal and vertical segments and have the same line width.

You can also use the Route Miter tool to miter T junctions and existing mitered T junctions.

Using the Route Miter Tool

To use the Route Miter tool, do the following:

- 1. Select a corner style using the **Route** tab of the *Options Configure* dialog.
- 2. To create a 45-degree mitered corner, press and hold down the left mouse button on the 90degree corner that you want to miter (see Figure A as follows).
- 3. Drag to create the mitered corner (see Figure B. Don't release the mouse button until you have the proper length of mitering).



4. To create a 90-degree arc miter, press and hold down the left mouse button over on a 90degree corner (see Figure A as follows), then drag to create the arc (see Figure B. Release the mouse button when you have the arc miter that you want).



5. For creating a T miter, press and hold down the mouse button on a selection point (see Figure A as follows), then drag to create the T miter (see Figure B. Release the mouse button when you have the T miter that you want).



6. To cancel a ghosted miter, **right-click**.

Press the **O** key while mitering to switch between 45 degree line and 90 degree arc miters. However, only 45 degree line miters are supported for T routes.

You cannot miter non-net traces.

Online DRC detects clearance or netlist violations for mitered traces.

Editing Existing Miters

Choose **Route** » **Miter** to pick an existing miter (line or arc) and change the miter distance as you would when creating new miters.

Options Commands

Using the Options Commands

You use the commands in the **Options** menu to change settings affecting many PCB actions. For example, you can use the **Options** commands to determine block selection criteria (selection mask), set default units (mm or mils), grid settings, object display colors, and object styles.

Options Selection Mask

Choose **Options** » **Selection Mask** to open a dialog that you use to define your selection criteria for block select operations, and for defining the single selection behavior for collocated objects. With this command, you can configure the block select feature to select all objects, objects by type, or even objects with specific parameters. You can also specify your selection criteria on a layer-by-layer basis. For example, certain types of objects for one layer, another type for another layer, etc.

The selection possibilities can be as specific or general as you choose. For example, if you want to change 10 mil lines to 15 mil lines on a specific layer set, you could do it very easily with this command with **Edit Select** and **Line Properties**, without affecting any other line widths on these or any other layers (not to mention ignoring all other objects within the block selection).

After you set up your block selection criteria, you can block select a group of objects by drawing a bounding outline around a group of objects. A bounding outline is the dotted rectangle that appears when you drag the mouse cursor across your workspace, to select a range of items or a design region. For more information, see *Edit Select (page 356)*.

When you choose **Options** » **Selection Mask**, the *Options Selection Mask* dialog appears. From this dialog you can set criteria affecting the selection of specific objects and layers, as shown in the following figure.

lock Selection	Single Selection	
Items		Layers
✓ Arc	Arc	Top Assy
✓ Attribute		Top Silk
Component	Component	Top Paste <u>C</u> lear All
Connection		
🗹 C <u>u</u> Pour	C <u>u</u> Pour	Bottom
Cutout	Cut <u>o</u> ut	Bot Mask
🗹 Design Vie <u>w</u>		Bot Silk
🗹 <u>D</u> etail		Bot Assy
🗹 Diagra <u>m</u>		Board
Dimension		
DRC Errors		Laver Sets:
Field		Apply
✓ Keepout	Poly <u>K</u> eepout	
⊡ Line	Line	- Select Mode
I Pad	<u></u>	Inside Block
Picture		1 C Outside Block
IM Plane	Plane	C Tauching Plack
IM Polygon	Polygon	
M <u>H</u> oom	<u>H</u> oom	
Ref Point		
Pick/Place		
Test Points	Test Point	1
✓ Text	Text	
✓ Via	Via	
<u></u>		
S <u>e</u> t All	Clear All	
	OK	Cancel Apply Help

Items

In the Items frame of the *Options Selection Mask* dialog, you can specify the objects that you want to include or exclude in a block select. If you want to include or exclude only a few items, choose one of these methods:

- If you want to include only a few items in your selection, click **Clear All** to cancel the selection of all check boxes in this frame. Then, select the check boxes that correspond to the items you want to select.
- If you want to exclude only a few items from your selection, click **Set All** to select all of the item check boxes. Then, clear the check boxes that correspond to the items that you want to exclude from your selection.

Items Buttons (Selection Mask Dialogs)

Some of the check boxes in the Items frame have a corresponding item button (e.g., Arc, Component). These check boxes have three states:

• Included (The check box is selected).

- Excluded (The check box is cleared).
- Masked (A shaded check mark appears).

The following figure shows you an example of a check box in each state: selected (e.g., Arc), cleared (e.g., Attribute), and shaded (e.g., Component).



When you click a check box so a shaded check mark appears, the corresponding item button becomes active. You can then click the button to open a *Selection Mask* dialog. You use this dialog to create a selection mask, which narrows the scope of your block selection criteria.

For example, if you click the **Arc** check box so a shaded check mark appears, the **Arc** button becomes active. Then, when you click **Arc**, the following *Arc Selection Mask* dialog appears:

Arc Selection Mask		
<u>R</u> adius:	Center Point-	
, 	⊻:	Y
Start Angle:	Start Point	
End Angle:	Tangent Slope Angle:	6
Eixed	End Point-	
	×	Ya
	Tangent Slope Angle:	
OK	Cancel	

In the *Selection Mask* dialog, you can specify the parameters for the particular object that you want as part of the selection block.

For example, to create a selection mask for arcs, you set the search criteria (in this case, arcs with an arc width of 50 mil) in the *Arc Selection Mask* dialog. If you designate 50 mil for the Arc Width, then when you do a block select, only 50 mil arcs will be selected within the block.

Layers

Use the options in the Layers frame of the *Options Selection Mask* dialog to select any combination of layers for the selection mask. When you choose a layer, it becomes highlighted in the list. You can individually select or cancel the selection of a layer by clicking on a succession of layer names and they will become part of (or be excluded from) the selection list.

If you want to exclude only a small number of layers, click **Set All** (the default setting) and individually choose the layers to exclude. To include only a limited number of layers, click **Clear All**, then individually choose the layers to include in your block selection.

Layer Sets

Use the Layer Sets list to apply the selection to specific, predefined layer sets. To select a layer set, do the following:

- 1. Select a layer set from the Layer Sets list.
- 2. Click Apply Layer Set.

The layers belonging to that set are selected in the Layers box.

See Options Layers (page 450) for information on creating layer sets.

Select Mode Frame

The options in the Select Mode frame give you the ability to include or exclude items in a block select, depending on their position relative to the bounding outline of the selection block. These options are as follows:

- **Inside Block:** Choose this button to select all items completely inside the bounding outline of the selection block.
- **Outside Block:** Choose this button to select items that are outside of the bounding outline of the selection block. All of the selection criteria that you specify in the *Options Selection Mask* dialog will apply to objects that are outside the selection block, rather than inside the block.
- **Touching Block:** Choose this button to select all items that both touch and fall inside the bounding outline of the selection block. This is a more inclusive selection option than Inside Block.

Selection Mask Parameters

This is a basic summary of the parameters you can choose from in the Selection Mask dialog.

- Arc: You can specify line width of arcs for a block select. You can also block select arcs that have been fixed in place. For more information, see *Edit Properties (page 292)* and *Arc Properties (page 314)*.
- Line: You can specify line segments for a block select and block select fixed lines. For more information, see *Line Properties (page 313)*.
- **Component:** You can specify component type, reference designator, pattern, value, fixed property and attributes. For example, you can include a specific component of a certain value, and the block select will include only those of that value. For details, see *Edit Properties (page 292)*.
- **Copper Pour:** You can specify Pour Pattern, backoff, smoothness, state, thermal island removal, line properties and a specific net to include in the selection criteria. If the copper pour has filleted corners you can block select using the fillet handles and the chord height. You can also select copper pours that are fixed in place. For more information, see *Copper Pour Properties (page 317)*.

- **Cutout:** You can specify the layer as part of the selection criteria. If the cutout has filleted corners you can block select using the fillet handles and the chord height. For more information, see *Cutout Properties (page 323)*.
- **Polygon Keepout:** You can specify the layer as part of the selection criteria. If the keepout has filleted corners you can block select using the fillet handles and the chord height. See *Polygon Properties (page 315)* for more information.
- **Pad:** You can include Pad Number, Pad Style and Fixed pads in the selection criteria. For more information, see *Pad Properties (page 354)*.
- **Plane:** You can include Net and Boundary Width in the selection criteria. If the plane has filleted corners you can block select using the fillet handles and the chord height. See *Plane Properties (page 323)* for details.
- **Polygon:** You can include the copper tie, fillet handles and the chord height if the polygon has filleted corners. See *Polygon Properties (page 315)* for more information.
- **Room:** You can include Name, Rules, Placement Side, Fill Pattern and the Fixed Property in the selection criteria. For details, see *Room Properties (page 325)*.
- **Test Points:** You can choose the **Top** or **Bottom** option button to select points that reside on either the Top or Bottom side of the board. You can also select the **Fixed** or **Snap to Center** check boxes to choose points with those properties. For more information, see *Test Point Properties* (*page 316*).
- **Text:** You can use the mask feature to search for a specific text string, justification, and text style in your block select. For more information, see *Text Properties (page 327)*.
- Via: You specify the via style to include in the block select as well as selecting only fixed vias. See *Via Properties (page 311)* for more information.

Selecting and Modifying

This is a scenario for selecting and modifying all lines of a width of 12 mil and changing them to 15 mil.

- 1. Choose **Options** » **Selection Mask** to open the dialog.
- 2. Click **Clear All** to cancel the selection all of the items in the Items frame (the X disappears from each box).
- 3. Click the **Line** check box until a shaded check mark appears. The Line button then becomes shaded.
- 4. Click the **Line** button to open the *Line Selection Mask* dialog.

Line Selection Mask	
Width:	□ <u>F</u> ixed
End Points	
⊠:	Y.
×	Y
Length:	
	Cancel

- 5. In the Width box, type: 12.0mil
- 6. Click **OK** to return to the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.
- 7. In the Layers frame, click **Set All** to select objects on all layers.
- 8. In the Select Mode frame, choose Inside Block.
- 9. Click **OK** to close the *Options Selection Mask* dialog.
- 10. In you workspace, block select the entire design. To do this draw a bounding outline around the entire design. Only the 12 mil lines will be selected.
- 11. Choose Edit » Properties. In the Width box, type: 15 mil
- 12. Click **OK**.

All 12 mil lines in the design will be converted to 15 mil.

Items, which are part of a component (e.g., pads, silk attributes) are not affected.

Single Selection Tab

The Single Selection tab is used to control two selection features:

- Masking Objects during single selection the options in the Single Selection tab are the same as the Block Selection tab, they are used to define exactly which object(s) on which layer(s) are able to be selected.
- How Collocated Objects are dealt with the options in the Single Select Mode frame determine what happens when you click on collocated objects. If the Cycle-Picking option is selected then each collocated object is selected in turn as you continue to click on the collocated objects. If Popup dialog is selected a small dialog is displayed, from which you can click to choose the object to be selected.

The popup dialog is also displayed when you use the CTRL click feature to perform a multiple selection at a location where there are collocated objects. In this case each entry in the popup dialog includes a check box, enable the check box for each collocated object you want to select. Click on the exclamation mark at the top left of the dialog to carry out the selection.

Options Configure

Choose **Options** » **Configure** to set various configuration options and parameters for P-CAD PCB. When you choose this command, the *Options Configure* dialog appears with the General tab active, as shown in the following figure:

Options Configure			
<u>G</u> eneral	Online DRC	<u>R</u> oute	<u>Manufacturing</u>
- Units	Workspace Size	- Pour/Rep	our Option
💿 mjis	<u>₩</u> idth: 20000.0m	il 💿 Smal	lest to Largest
O <u>m</u> m	<u>H</u> eight: 10000.0m	nil O Seleo	cted <u>O</u> rder
ECO Format	Connection Options	Route Dpt	mize After <u>D</u> elete
	Uptimize Ma <u>x</u> Node (Count: [20	
□ Enable AutoSave AutoSave Time Interval (minutes): 30 □ Purge Previous Backups Number of Backup Files: 3 □ Compress AutoSave Files 3			
Autopan (<u>%</u> Display): 25		
<u>B</u> otation Increment:	45.0deg		
Zoom Factor:	2.00		
<u>F</u> ile Viewer:	notepad		
🔽 DDE Ho <u>t</u> links	🔽 Auto Plow Copp	er Pours 🔲 Comp	ress Binary Designs
	ОК	Cancel	

For details on the options available in each tab, see the following sections:

- General Tab, page 429.
- Online DRC Tab, page 433.
- Route Tab, page 435.
- Manufacturing Tab, page 437.

General Tab

The General tab contains the following options:

Units

You can alter your display units between mils and millimeters with this option. Dimensions are not altered, only the unit of measurement of dimension. A mil equals 0.001 inch or.0254 mm. A mm equals 0.001 meter. When the selected unit is mm, you can control the number of digits displayed to the right of the decimal point by modifying the MillimeterPrecision setting in the .ini file. The default displayed precision is three decimal digits, but can be changed to an integer value of 2 through 5.

This setting affects all dialogs, reports, Status Line displays, etc., containing measurements. For example, setting Units to mm causes dialogs such as DXF Out, Pad Style, Via Style, etc., to display measurements in millimeters. These units can be overridden in many command settings.

Workspace Size

You can set your workspace size to the specified dimension. If you change units, then the values in this box will change to reflect the units (although the size will remain constant).

Pour/Repour Option

Choose one of the buttons in the Pour/Repour Option frame to define the pour order that P-CAD uses when you select a group of copper pours.

- **Smallest to Largest:** Choose this button to pour or repour a group of selected copper pours according to size, from smallest to largest. This option is selected by default.
- Selected Order: Choose this button to pour or repour a group of selected copper pours in the order you select them.

ECO Format

To generate Engineering Change Orders (ECOs), you turn on the ECO recorder by choosing **Utils** » **Record ECOs**. From the *Options Configure* dialog, you can select a format for these ECO files. This format applies to the active design.

The ECO file is generated in a ECO format or a Was/Is format. Choose the **ECO Format** or the **Was/Is Format** radio button to select a format.

ECO format records full ECOs. The Was/Is format records only RefDes changes.

Connection Options

Select the **Optimize Partial Route** check box to indicate whether the guide connection is to be optimized for Manhattan length after manual routing. When this option is selected, pressing the **SLASH** key during manual routing terminates the route and causes the guide connection line to connect to the nearest net endpoint. This optimization doesn't occur if the check box is not checked, or if the net being routed has an "OPTIMIZE=NO" attribute.

The Optimize After Delete check box is used to indicate whether any connections added after a trace is deleted should be added in an optimized manner. If it is not necessary to add a connection to maintain connectivity, none will be added. If a connection is necessary, and either the check box is not checked or the net has an "OPTIMIZE = NO" attribute, the connection is added at the same location as the deleted trace.

The Optimize Max Node Count check box is used to specify the maximum node count desired when determining whether a net is automatically optimized. If a net has more than the number entered here it is not optimized. The default count is 20 and the count specified is saved in the Pcb.ini file.

To prevent a net(s) from optimizing, set the net attribute OPTIMIZE = "False". See *Edit Commands* (*page 279*) for more information on setting net attributes.

IMPORTANT: If you have chosen to include **Connections** in the *Options Selection Mask* dialog, and select a block of data in the design, any connections present in the group of selected items are not optimized.

AutoSave

Use the options in the AutoSave frame to enable the AutoSave feature, which regularly saves your files at a user-defined interval, in a compressed or non-compressed format. AutoSave won't be performed during autorouting or if a tool is busy.

The AutoSave frame contains the following options:

- Enable AutoSave: Select this check box to turn on the AutoSave feature.
- **AutoSave Time Interval:** Enter the time between saves. AutoSave uses a rolling backup to save files, incrementing each subsequent autosave file.
- **Purge Previous Backups:** When selected, the option causes all backups saved from the previous design session to be deleted when you begin a new design session.
- **Number of Backup Files:** Allows you to specify the number of design files to be archived before file names are reused. This must be a number between 1 and 99.
- Compress AutoSave Files: Compresses the file so that it uses less space when saved.

Autopan

Enter a value in the Autopan box to adjust the amount of autopanning that occurs when you move the cursor to the edge of the screen with the arrow keys. An autopan of 25 moves anything at the edge of the screen 25% nearer to the center of the screen; 50 moves fringe objects to the center, etc.

Rotation Increment

Enter a value in the Rotation Increment box to set a rotation value. The value you set here is activated when you select an object and press **SHIFT+R** to rotate it. Values must be between 0 and 360 degrees, and can be specified down to tenth degree resolution.

You can also press the **R** key to rotate a selected object by 90 degrees; **R** is not affected by what you specify in this dialog.

Zoom Factor

Enter a value in the Zoom Factor box to adjust the amount of zoom that occurs when you use the **View » Zoom In** or **View » Zoom Out** commands. A factor of 2.00 will double (or halve) the size of objects in the workspace, etc. Zoom factors must be greater than 1.00.

File Viewer

In the File Viewer box, enter the name of the program that you want to use as your system's default file viewer. For example, type: Notepad. Then, when you view a report, log file, or error report, the document appears in the default file viewer you selected. If the program is in a directory that is not included in your Autoexec.bat path statement, include the complete pathname here.

DDE Hotlinks

Select the **DDE Hotlinks** check box to enable the exchange of hotlink data with P-CAD Schematic. Hotlink data consists of highlighting and unhighlighting commands for components and nets. The state of the DDE Hotlinks option is saved in the Pcb.ini file. For more information, see *DDE Hotlinks* (page 195).

Solder Mask Swell

Enter a value in the Solder Mask Swell box to set the solder mask swell value globally for all pads on the Top and Bottom solder mask layers. You can override the global swell value by specifying a pad style for the Top Mask and Bottom Mask layers (Options Pad Style).

A Solder Mask Swell resists the solder mask on the mask layers, in effect allowing solder to be placed both on the pad and the swell around it. The swell that is created conforms to the shape of the pad increasing the pad shape by the swell value. The swell value is added to the pad as a radius, enlarging the pad shape in all directions; therefore, if you have a 60 mil diameter pad and add a swell of 10 mil, the total diameter of the swell would be 80 mils. When you define a pad size for the Mask layer (creating a local swell value), the global swell value is ignored.

You can view the increased size by making the Mask layer current, and then redrawing (View Redraw) to see the results.

Paste Mask Shrink

Enter a value in the Paste Mask Shrink box to set the paste mask shrink value globally for the Top and Bottom Paste layers. You can override the global value with a local value by specifying a reduced pad size for the Top and Bottom Paste layers (Options Pad Style.

A Paste Mask Shrink reduces the size of the area that paste will be applied to when components are attached to the board in manufacturing (to prevent paste from squeezing out when it shouldn't. The shrink is a radius value and should be figured as such when subtracting it from the diameter value of a pad. For example, a 60 mil pad with a 10 mil shrink value will create a 40 mil diameter entity. When you define a pad size on the Paste layer (creating a local shrink value), the global shrink value is ignored.

You can view the reduced size by making the Top Paste layer current, and then redrawing (View Redraw) to see the results.

Plane Swell

Enter a value in the Plane Swell box to define the global plane swell setting. You can override the global value by enabling and setting the **Local Swell** option in the *Pad Style Properties* dialog.

A Plane Swell is the gap between the copper on the plane layer and the hole on a pad or via which is not connected to the plane. A plane swell would not be applicable to pads or vias that are thermally or directly connected to the plane.

Auto Plow Copper Pours

When you select the **Auto Plow Copper Pours** check box, copper pours affected by new copper generated by the Route Manual or Route Interactive tools will autoplow when the route Completes or Suspends. Plowing can create more islands if you splinter existing islands, yet Automatic Island Removal is still performed using the settings you established for that copper pour.

Compress Binary Designs

Select the **Compress Binary Designs** check box to automatically compress binary files when you save them.

Online DRC Tab

You can enable several Online DRC features by selecting various options in the Online DRC tab, as shown in the following figure:

Options Configure			
<u>G</u> eneral	Online DRC		<u>Manufacturing</u>
Enable Online DR	{C Report Options I Clearance □ Te <u>x</u> t Vio I Netljst Viol	s Violations Silk Si Iations Some ations V Widt <u>h</u>	reen Violations onent Violations Violations
	ОК	Cancel	

With the Online DRC function, select the **Enable Online DRC** check box to check for clearance and net width violations, shorts of traces (both lines and arcs) and vias, and net references to non-existent via styles that are added to a design during manual routing. Depending on the options chosen in the General tab of the *Options Configure* dialog, online DRC performs a check of the traces and vias against all items, excluding copper pours, on signal layers to determine if a DRC violation occurred. A violation occurring on a non-signal layer (such as a via intersecting a silk layer item) is not detected with Online DRC.

When Online DRC is enabled, the following DRC checks can be included if you select the appropriate check boxes in the Report Options list: Netlist Violations, Clearance Violations, Text Violations, Silk Screen Violations, Component Violations and Width Violations. The following DRC options are not available with Online DRC: Netlist Compare, Unrouted Nets, Unconnected Pins, Net Length, Copper Pour Violations, Plane Violations, Tie Nets and Drilling Violations.

In addition to setting report options, you can open the *Options Design Rules* dialog by clicking the **Design Rules** button. See *Options Design Rules (page 459)* for details.

Severity Levels can be set for each rule in the design. In the Online DRC tab, click **Severity Levels** to open the *Rules Severity Level* dialog shown in the following figure.

Rule	Rule Category	Error	Warning	Ignored 4
Clearance	Clearance	Yes		
Short	Clearance	Yes		
Short to Copper Tie	Clearance	Yes		
Uncommitted Pins Shorted	Clearance	Yes		
Point-To-Point Connectivity	Netlist		Yes	
Pseudo Pattern	Netlist	Yes		
Undefined Via Style	Netlist	Yes		
Via Style	Netlist	Yes		
Max Vias	Netlist	Yes		
Unconnected Pin	Unconnected Pins	Yes		
Copper Pour Clearance	Copper Pour	Yes		
Unconnected Copper Pour Island	Copper Pour	Yes		
Unpoured Copper Pour	Copper Pour	Yes		
Severity Level O Error O Warning O Ign		Set to def	ault	

You can select one or more rules and, in the Severity Level frame, choose one of the three levels (Error, Warning or Ignored) by clicking the appropriate radio button. When a rule is in violation and its severity level is set to Ignored it is summarized in the report if the **Summarize Ignored Errors** option is enabled in the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog. For more information, see *Utils DRC (page 506)*.

If you select the **View Report** check box, a report of violations created during routing is automatically presented after the command is complete.

Although you can enable or disable the Online DRC feature at any time, the feature defaults to disabled when you create a new design. The current Online DRC setting is saved to a design file and restored when a design file is opened.

A button for Online DRC is included on the toolbar. When the button is indented, Online DRC is turned ON; otherwise, it is OFF. You can also enable and disable Online DRC from within macros. See *Route Manual (page 408)* for additional information.

Route Tab

When you click the **Route** tab, the *Options Configure* dialog appears as follows:

Options Configure	
General Online DRC Rou	te <u>M</u> anufacturing
T-Route by <u>D</u> efault Highlight While Routing O <u>P</u> ads Only © Pads, <u>T</u> races and Connections	Miter Mode C Line C Arc
Manual Route <u>Bight Mouse to Complete / Slash Key to Suspend</u>	Orthogonal Modes
C Slash Key to Complete / Right Mouse to Suspend	
Interactive Route	✓ Tangent Arc
 ☐ Honor Layer Bias ☐ Show Routable Area ☐ Show Routable Area ☐ Minimize Length 	
Stub Length	
<u>G</u> rid Points: 0	
C Lengt <u>h</u> : 0.0mil	
OK Car	ncel

Use the Route tab to set options for the Route Manual and Route Interactive tools. When the Route Interactive tool is active, you can open this dialog by **right-clicking** and choosing **Options** from the shortcut menu.

This dialog contains the following options:

T-Route Default

• **T-Route Default:** When the check box is selected, T-routing is the normal mode. You don't need to press the **SHIFT** key first.

Highlight While Routing

• **Highlight While Routing:** Use these radio buttons to select which items to highlight while routing. Choose **Pads Only** to highlight only pads. Choose **Pads, Traces** and **Connections** to highlight the pads their connections and traces as you lay them down.

Miter Mode

Choose one of the buttons in the Miter Mode frame to select a miter mode for the **Route** » **Miter** command. You can choose **Line (45° corners)** or **Arc (90° rounded corners)**.



Manual Route

Choose one of the buttons in the Manual Route frame to set the behavior of the **SLASH** key and **right-click** action while manual routing:

- Choose **Right Mouse to Complete/Slash Key to Suspend** when you want to be able to rightclick to complete a route and press the **SLASH** key to suspend routing.
- Choose Slash Key to Complete/Right Mouse to Suspend when you want to be able to press the SLASH key to complete a route and right-click to suspend routing.

Orthogonal Modes

Orthogonal modes are used while routing (Route Manual) or placing lines (Place Line) using lines that are horizontal, vertical, at 45-degree angles or with arcs. Orthogonal modes provided consist of three mode pairs, along with the tangent mode. Press the **O** key to switch between orthogonal modes and press the **F** key to switch between the current mode pair.

- 90/90 Line-Line: Creates true 90-degree angles, long and short.
- 45/90 Line-Line: Creates 45/90 and 90/45 angles.
- 90/90 Arc-Line: Creates a combination straight line and arc, in long and short.
- **Tangent Arc:** Creates arcs that are tangential to their connected lines using the current radius.

Interactive Route

The options in the Interactive Route frame apply to the actions you can perform with the Route Interactive tool:

• **Stub Length:** The suggested minimum length in grid points of the line segment, which is used to enter or exit the pad. For non-uniform grids, one grid space is the sum of the grid values.

Manufacturing Tab

Use the Manufacturing tab of the *Options Configure* dialog to specify the solder flow direction and other physical behaviors for the manufacturing process.

Options Configure			
<u>G</u> eneral	<u>O</u> nline DRC	Boute	Manufacturing
Solder Flow Direction I op to Bottom Eight to Right Bight to Left Solder flow, on to solder flow, on	nponents OK.	<u>S</u> older Mask Swell Paste <u>M</u> ask Shrink <u>P</u> lane Swell:	7.5mi 0.0mi 10.0mi
	ОК	Cano	el

Solder Flow Direction

The Solder Flow Direction group allows the user to specify the direction the solder flow is traversing the board. The available options are: Top to Bottom, Left to Right, Right to Left and Bottom to Top.

Synchronize Components to solder flow, on OK

The Synchronize Components to solder flow, on OK, checkbox determines whether the patterns in the design will be updated in line with the chosen solder flow direction. If the check box is checked, then upon pressing OK, after changing the direction of solder flow, the patterns on the board will be updated automatically with the appropriate alternate pattern graphics for the new solder flow direction.

Solder Mask Swell

Allows you to set the solder mask swell value globally for all pads on the Top and Bottom solder mask layers. You can override the global swell value by specifying a pad style for the Top Mask and Bottom Mask layers (Options Pad Style).

The swell that is created will conform to the shape of the pad, increasing the pad shape by the swell value. The swell value is added to the pad radially, enlarging the pad shape in all directions. When

you define a pad size for the Mask layer (creating a local swell value), the global swell value is ignored.

You can view the swell size by making the Mask layer current, and then redrawing (View Redraw) to see the results.

Paste Mask Shrink

Allows you to set the paste mask shrink value globally for the Top and Bottom Paste layers. You can override the global value with a local value by specifying a reduced pad size for the Top and Bottom Paste layers (Options Pad Style).

The shrink value is applied radially to all sides of the pad. For example, a 60 mil pad with a 10 mil shrink value will create a 40 mil diameter entity. When you define a pad size on the Paste layer (creating a local shrink value), the global shrink value is ignored.

You can view the reduced size by making the Top Paste layer current, and then redrawing (View Redraw) to see the results

Plane Swell

Allows you to set the plane swell value for all pads, which applies unless a pad has its local swell option enabled.

Plane Swell is the gap between the copper on the plane layer and the hole on a pad or via which is not connected to the plane. Plane swell is not applicable to pads or vias that are thermally or directly connected to the plane.

Options Grids

Choose **Options** » **Grids** to define the current editing grid. Grid options and settings are saved in your design file.

Options Grids			
Grid Spacing: 100.0	Add	- Visible Gr I ⊻isible	id Style ● Dotted
5.0 10.0 12.5 25.0 50.0 100.0	Relative Gri X: 0.0mil Y: 0.0mil	d Origin	Mode C Absolute C Relative OK Cancel

The grid units used are determined by the Units setting in *Options Configure*. For details, see Options Configure (*page 429*).

Mode

In the Mode frame, choose **Absolute** when you want the grid origin point to be the lower-left corner of the workspace. Choose **Relative** to allow any point as an origin point.

A typical setting is to set your **Absolute** mode to 100 mil grid spacing and Relative to 25 mil grid spacing. You can then click the **Abs** and **Rel** toggle buttons on the Status Line to switch between 100 mil and 25 mil grid. (The relative grid origin should be set to Absolute 0,0 for this to work.)

Visible Grid Style

Select the **Visible** check box to show or hide grids. When you select this check box, the grid style options are available. Dotted pinpoints grid points, while Hatched draws lines along the grids to show grid intersections (similar to graph paper).

Relative Grid Origin

To specify your X and Y relative grid origins, enter the coordinates in the X and Y boxes. When you do this, you must clear the **Prompt for Origin** check box.

If you switch to a relative grid (by choosing **Relative** in the *Options Grids* dialog) and the **Prompt for Origin** check box is selected, you will be prompted for the new origin point after you click **OK**. You will be prompted every time you change from absolute to relative grids by clicking the **Abs** or **Rel** toggle button on the Status Line. Or, by pressing the **A** key.

Grid Spacing: Uniform/Non-uniform

You can select appropriate values for grid spacing for specific modes in the Grids list. You are not limited to using the grids in the list; you can specify your own custom grid spacing in the Grid Spacing box, then click **Add** to add it to available choices in the list. To delete a grid-spacing value, select the value in the Grids list and click **Delete**.

The routing grid defines the spacing pattern of the grid points. The grid pattern may be uniform (equal spaces between all lines) or it may be non-uniform to allow one or more lines to pass between component pads, while keeping the number of grid points to a minimum.

Uniform grids are generally used for relatively simple, low-density PC-boards. The illustration below shows 60-mil pads spaced 100-mils apart, 50-mil grid spacing (using the hatched grid option), with one routing connection running between the pads.



Non-uniform grids are typically required on complex, high-density PC-boards to achieve completion of the connections in the minimum amount of time.

The main benefit of the non-uniform grid over the uniform grid is performance: it produces far fewer grid positions without the loss of route paths. Thus, completion time is shortened and more freedom in placement is allowed.

For example, if you have 100-mils between grid points, you can set non-uniform grid spacing to 40-20-40, which would allow two grid points between pads spaced 100 mils apart.



Remember to set up your grids correctly before you place your components. It is important that you place the components on the appropriate grids (e.g., standard DIP components on 100-mil absolute). You can subsequently alter your grid spacing for routing purposes (such as non- uniform as described above).

Grid Toggle Button (or G key)

You can switch between your absolute and relative grid settings by clicking the **Abs** or **Rel** grid toggle button. Or, you can press the **G** key. Your absolute and relative grids are determined by what you have set in the *Options Grids* dialog. For example, if you have Relative set to 25 mils and Absolute set to 100 mils, the Status Line will read 25 mil when you are in Relative grid and 100 mil when you are in Absolute grid.

If you click the **Grid** toggle button or press the **G** key to switch to Relative grid, you will be prompted for the origin point if you have the **Prompt for Origin** check box selected in the *Options Grids* dialog. The crosshair cursor (the cursor displayed when the system is awaiting input) is displayed; when you click in the workspace, that becomes the relative origin point (X=O, Y=O) and the cursor returns to normal.

Options Display

Choose **Options** » **Display** to open the *Options Display* dialog. There are two tabs in this dialog: **Colors** and **Miscellaneous**. With these tabs, you define your workspace preferences.



Colors

This tab contains two frames and a **Defaults** button. Click **Defaults** to return your display setup to the default scheme. Any color settings established here are saved in your Pcb.ini file when you close the dialog. These settings affect your designs in subsequent sessions, until you change them.

If you have a color printer, clicking the **Defaults** button also restores default color settings for printing. For information on print colors, see *Colors and Other Print Options (page 214)*.

The following sections describe how to use the controls in the Layers/Items Colors frame and the Display Colors frame. If you have a color printer, any changes you make in these frames also affect your print colors.

Layer/Item Colors

The Layer/Item frame contains a color matrix with item buttons across the top and layer buttons along the side. Use the arrows or slider in the scroll bar to scroll down to any of the available layer buttons.

There are three ways to choose color options:

- To select a color for everything that appears on a layer, click the corresponding layer button and select a color from the palette that appears. For example, click the **Top** button to select a color for everything that appears on the top layer of your design.
- To choose a color for an object on a layer, click an **Item** button. For example, click **Via** to choose a color for vias on all layers of your design.
- To choose a color for an object on a specific layer, **right-click** the colored square where the object and the layer meet in the matrix. Then, choose a color from the palette.

You can also set a custom color. To learn how, see the following section. To close the color palette without choosing a color, press **ESC** or click **Close**.

Setting A Custom Color

To set a custom color, click **Custom** in the color palette. This opens a *Color* dialog that is standard to Windows. Next, choose a color from this dialog using one of these methods:

Method 1: Select a Defined Custom Color

- 1. Click one the colors in the Basic colors frame.
- 2. Click **OK** to return to the color palette.

Method 2: Define a Custom Color

- 1. Click the color matrix to define the Red/Green/Blue settings, or type the desired settings in the Red/Green/Blue boxes.
- 2. Click Add to Custom Colors.
- 3. When selected color appears in the **Custom Colors** area, click **OK** to return to the color palette.

Some custom colors can display only when supported by your screen settings. If your screen supports 256 Colors, custom colors are approximated to the nearest solid color, while retaining the Red/Green/ Blue settings. If your screen supports more than 256 colors, custom colors display accurately.

Once custom colors are selected, they appear as the chosen item or display color on the *Options Display* dialog or the *Printer Colors* dialog. These colors are saved in the .ini file for use in later design sessions. In the **Custom Colors** section of color palette, however, colors not selected for an item/display color are forgotten once you quit the P-CAD program.

Display Colors

In the Display Colors frame, there are several command buttons. Click one of these buttons to determine various PCB display colors. The settings configured with these buttons appear in your workspace, regardless of layer or item colors.

When setting your display colors, make sure that the colors you pick do not conflict with any layer or item colors. For example, if the background color is set to be the same as the line color, lines will not be visible in your design.

When you click a display color button, a color palette appears, so you can select a color for that item. For example, click **Highlight** to choose a color for highlighted objects. Later, if you choose to highlight an object during a PCB design session, the object color changes to the color set here. To highlight an object, click an object in your workspace and choose **Edit Highlight**.

You can use highlight colors to highlight objects using different colors. To do so, change the highlight color, select the object, and choose **Edit Highlight**. Repeat this process for each object you want to highlight, so that each object selected has a different highlight color. When you change the highlight color of one object, it does not affect the highlight color of other highlighted objects, which are not selected.

Miscellaneous

To set up other display options for your workspace, click the **Miscellaneous** tab in the *Options Display* dialog. As shown in the following figure, this tab contains a number of options:

Options Display			×
<u>C</u> olors <u>M</u> iscellaneo	us		
DRC Errors	Glue Dots C <u>S</u> how	Pick and Place – C <u>S</u> how	Cursor Style
⊂ <u>H</u> ide ● <u>No Change</u>	○ <u>H</u> ide ⓒ <u>N</u> o Change	○ <u>H</u> ide ● <u>N</u> o Change	C S <u>m</u> all Cross C Large Cross
- Miscellaneous-			Free Pads
Draft Mode	□ Draft Mode □ Drag by Outline		
Thin St <u>r</u> oked Text 🔲 Sil <u>k</u> screen in Background			C <u>N</u> umber
🔽 Display Pad	☑ Display Pad Holes		
✓ Display Pin Designators ✓ Use Fixed Color			
🔽 Display Plan	✓ Display Plane Indicator ✓ Scroll Bars		
🔽 Display Pad	🔽 Display Pad Net Names 🛛 🔽 Show Data Tips		
🔲 Display O <u>v</u> er	rridden Errors		
			Defaults
		OK Ca	ncel

DRC Errors

DRC error indicators contain information about design errors and the layer on which errors appear. In the DRC Errors frame, you have these options:

- **Show:** Choose this button to show DRC error indicators in your design.
- Hide: Choose this button to hide DRC error indicators.
- **No Change:** Choose this button to keep the current display setting.

For information on DRC errors, see Utils DRC (page 506).

Glue Dots

Glue dots hold components in place until they are soldered during manufacturing. In the Glue Dots frame, you have these options:

- **Show:** Choose this button to show glue dots in your design.
- **Hide:** Choose this button to hide the display of glue dots.
- No Change: Choose this button to keep the current display setting.

To learn more about glue dots, see Place Point (page 384).

Pick and Place

A reference point that directs the pick and place mechanism (or auto insert) in manufacturing. In the Pick and Place frame, you have these options:

- **Show:** Choose this button to display Pick and Place points in the workspace. A pick and place point can be part of a pattern when you create it.
- **Hide:** Choose this button to hide the display of pick and place points.
- No Change: Choose this button to keep the current display setting.

For instructions on placing pick and place points, see Place Point (page 384).

Cursor Style

To change the style of your cursor, choose one of the following option buttons:

- Arrow
- Small Cross
- Large Cross

The large cross extends horizontally and vertically to the edges of the PCB screen. There is no default setting for this frame. When you click **Defaults**, your current setting remains in effect.

The Large Cross cursor style does not support the DataTips feature. Enabling this option clears the Show DataTips check box and makes the feature unavailable.

Free Pads

Choose one of these option buttons to change the display options for free pads:

- Pin Des. Show the default pin designators
- **Number.** Show the pad numbers.



There is no default setting for this frame. When you click **Defaults**, your current setting remains in effect.

Miscellaneous

The Miscellaneous frame contains a number of check boxes. To enable an option, select its check box. Clear a box to disable an option. To restore the default settings at any time, click **Defaults**.

• **Draft Mode.** Enables the display of two items: (1) a thin (single-pixel) outline for pads, vias, and text. (2) a segmented and outlined representation of arcs, lines, and any line segment objects such as, polygons, cutouts, etc.

When enabled, draft mode helps with faster redraws and viewing of any segment overlaps.



- Thin Stroked Text. Select this check box to display text in thin line mode. Clear this check box to display text in regular mode.
- **Display Pad Holes.** Select this check box to display pad holes in the active window. If the Translucent Drawing check box is also selected, pad holes are disabled from display.
- **Display Pin Designators.** Select this check box to display pin designators. Designators appear just above the pad center, but only when you are zoomed in sufficiently. This setting also affects the display of default pin designators and free pad numbers.



• **Display Plane Indicator.** This option sets whether or not the plane indicator is displayed, allowing you to see to which plane a pad is attached.

When viewing Gerber drill files, be sure to disable this option so they are not confused with drill symbol output.



• **Display Pad Net Names.** This option enables or disables the display of the pad net names just below the pad centers. To view net names, you must be zoomed in sufficiently. The following illustration shows the net names NET00001 and NET00002.



- **Display Overridden Errors.** Select this check box to display overridden errors in your design. Clear this check box to disable the display of overridden errors. To learn more about overrides, see *Utils DRC (page 506)*.
- **Drag by Outline.** Clear this check box to show a ghosted image of the part and a bounding outline when you move or copy objects in your design. Select this check box to show only the bounding outline. This setting affects only the move and copy operations associated with the **Edit Select** command.
- **Silkscreen in Background.** Select this check box if you want silk layers to be drawn in the background. Clear the check box to have silk layers drawn in the foreground.
- **Translucent Drawing.** Select this check box to show objects in translucent mode. Clear this check box to show objects in opaque mode.
- Use Fixed Color. Select this check box to have fixed components drawn in the fixed component color. To set this color, click **Fixed** in the Colors tab.
- **Scroll Bars**. Select this check box to show Windows scroll bars in the active window. Clear this check box to hide the display of scroll bars.
- **Show DataTips**. Select this check box to show DataTips in the workspace. Clear the check box to hide the display of DataTips.

The Large Cross cursor style and the **View** » **Snap to Grid** command do not support the DataTips feature. For details, see *Cursor Style* (page 445) and View Snap to Grid (page 367).

Options Preferences

Choose **Options** » **Preferences** to set up your keyboard and mouse preferences for P-CAD PCB. When you choose this command, the *Options Preferences* dialog appears with the Keyboard tab selected, as shown in the following figure.

Options Preferences	
Keyboard	Mouse
Keyboard Key File: C:\ACCEL\PCB.KEY Menu Qommands: File New File Dpen File Cose File Save As File Clear File PDM Open File PDM Save As File PDM Sa	Current Keys: Ctrl+N Remove Key <u>File</u> Press a Shortcut <u>Key</u> : Defaults
Snorcuc commands Macros	Close

Keyboard Tab

Use the options in the Keyboard tab to customize key assignments for menu commands, shortcut key commands, and macros.

- **Command Type:** Choose the type of command for which you want to change shortcut key assignments.
- Menu Commands/Shortcut Commands/Macros: Select the command or macro you want to add a shortcut key assignment to or from which you want to remove a shortcut key assignment.
- **Current Keys:** Displays the existing key assignments for the command or macro you select in the Menu Commands/Shortcut Commands/Macros list.
• **Press a Shortcut Key:** Press the keys you want to assign to the selected command or macro. You can press the **CTRL** or **SHIFT** key plus any other combination of numeric or alphabetic keys and function keys.

F10 is reserved by Windows and cannot be assigned to any other command or macro.

If the shortcut is currently assigned, the current assignment appears in the **Current Binding** field just below this box.

- Assign: Assigns the key appearing in the Press a Shortcut Key box to the selected command or macro. If the shortcut is currently assigned, the current assignment disappears
- **Remove:** Removes the key you select in the Current Keys box.
- **Key File:** Allows you to select or create a key binding file to use with this application. When the *Select Key File* dialog appears, select the file you want to use. The current key file appears at the top of the dialog, and is written to the Pcb.ini file.
- **Defaults:** Restores original default shortcut key assignments to all commands or macros.

Mouse Tab

When you click the **Mouse** tab, the Options Preference dialog appears as follows:

Options Preferences	
Keyboard	Mouse
Ctrl/Shift Behavior	
Close	

The Mouse tab lets you customize certain mouse behaviors.

- **CTRL/SHIFT Behavior:** Allows you to choose which keys to use (**CTRL** or **SHIFT**) for multiple (extended) selections and for subselections.
- Cycle-Picking Threshold: The number of pixels you can move the mouse during cycle-picking.
- **Double-Click Displays Properties:** When enabled, this option allows you to double-click an object to bring up the *Properties* dialog for that object.
- Allow Single Select on All Enabled Layers: When enabled this option provides the ability to single select across multiple, enabled layers. This option can also be enabled/disabled by pressing CTRL+L. The search order is as follows:
 - 1. Current layer items.
 - 2. Current layer components if on the Top or Bottom layers.
 - 3. Multi-layer items; i.e., all-layer keepouts, components, pads, vias, connections and points.
 - 4. All other layers in order.

In addition, the Status Line shows the layer name of the selected object.

Options Layers

Choose **Options** » **Layers** to view layers and make modifications to layer properties.

When you choose **Options** » **Layers**, the *Options Layers* dialog appears. This tab contains the following tabs: Layers, Sets and Titles. When the dialog first appears, the Layers tab is selected, as shown in the following figure:

Options Layers			
Layers	<u>S</u> ets	<u> </u>	Titles
Current Layer: Top	•	Layer Name: Top	
LayersTypeTop AssyNDTop SilkNETop PasteNDTop MaskNDTopSEHBottomSEVBot MaskNDBot PasteNDBot SilkNDBot SilkNDBot AssyNDBoardNE	Number 10 06 08 04 01 02 05 09 07 11 03	Line Color: Type © Signal © Plane © Non Signal Routing Bias © Auto © Horizontal © Vertical	Add Modify Delete Enable Djsable
Move <u>Up</u> Move Dow	n		Enable All Disable All
	Close		

This dialog allows you to set the current layer for the Place and Select commands. You can also arrange layers in a specific order. You can also add, delete, reorder, enable, and disable layers, and modify the routing bias of a layer.

Layers Tab

The Layers tab contains the following options:

Layers

In the Layers box are listed all existing layers of your design. The letter codes between the layer name and layer number represent the following:

Type: S = Signal, P = Plane, N = Non-Signal

E = Enabled, **D** = Disabled

Routing Bias: A = Auto, **H** = Horizontal, **V** = Vertical (signal layers only)

Layers can be moved up and down the list by clicking Move Up and Move Down.

Layer Name

Shows the name of the currently selected layer.

Layer Number

Shows the number of the currently selected layer.

Line Color

Shows the line color for the current layer.

Routing Bias

These options are applied to a new signal layer (Add) or an existing signal layer (Modify). The bias values are used only by the autorouter; the **Route** » **Manual** command does not use these options.

Туре

These options are applied to a new layer (Add). You cannot modify the Type of an existing layer.

Actions

The following list shows the actions performed for each button in the dialog:

- **Move Up/Move Down:** Arranges layers in your design to reflect the actual layer order of your board. However, signal and plane layers must be between the Top and Bottom layers.
- Add: Adds to the list whatever Layer Name you have specified, with the Layer Number, Routing Bias, and Type specified.
- **Modify:** Changes the routing bias on a signal layer and to change the net name of a plane layer. To modify the routing bias, select a signal layer, choose a routing bias option and click **Modify**. To modify a plane layer net name, select a plane layer, click **Modify** and enter the new name in the *Plane Layer Net Name* dialog.

You can rename a layer although you can't change the Type or layer number. You can also reassign a plane net name.

• **Delete:** Removes a selected layer. You can delete any user-defined layer that is empty. You cannot delete a predefined layer.

When you delete a layer, components are processed and stripped of any items that existed on the deleted layer; this is done without warning.

When you delete a layer that a pad/via style's hole range is dependent on, an error message appears explaining the dependency and which style you should correct. You are not allowed to delete a layer until there are no styles that are dependent on it.

• **Current:** Makes the selected layer the current layer (indicated by an asterisk).

The current layer cannot be disabled. Also, items on disabled layers don't appear and can't be edited.

- Enable/ Disable: Enables or disables the selected layer.
- Enable All/Disable All: Enables or disables all existing layers regardless of which layer is selected in the Layers list.

Add a Layer

When you add (create) a layer, you must give it a unique name, specify a layer number (one that is not already occupied), a routing bias, and a layer type. When you create a plane layer, you must give it a net name.

- 1. In the *Options Layers* dialog, type the new layer name in the Layer Name box and specify the Layer Number to enter the Add mode. The **Add** button is shaded until you specify layer name and number.
- 2. If you are adding a signal layer, click on the **Routing Bias** you want to use (used only by the autorouter).
- 3. Click the layer Type you want.
- 4. Click **Add**. The new layer will be listed in the list, with the layer type (S, P, or N), E for enabled, and the layer number you specified.

Once a layer has been created/added, you cannot change its layer number or type.

Signal/plane layers are placed just above the Bottom layer. Non-signal layers are placed at the bottom of the list.

- 5. Click **Move Up** and **Move Down** to arrange the layers in the appropriate order.
- 6. If this is a plane layer, you are prompted for a net name.

P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs are restricted to a maximum of six copper layers, including a predefined Top and Bottom layer and four user-defined signal or plane layers. P-CAD PCB (6/400) designs can have a total of up to 999 layers.

L key and Status Line

You can press the **L** key or the Layer box on the Status Line (combo box and scroll arrows) as a shortcut for selecting the current layer. The current layer is identified by name and color on the Status line. Press **SHIFT**+L to scroll backwards through the enabled layers.

Sets Tab

When you click the **Sets** tab, the dialog appears as follows:

Options Layers			
Layers		Sets	Titles
Current Layer: Top Silk	Set Name: Non-Signal Layers	Layer Sets: All Layers	_
Layers: Top Assy	New	Signal Layers Plane Layers Nonsignal Layers Non-Signal Layers	
Top Paste Top Mask Top	<u>D</u> elete		
Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Assy Board	<u>A</u> dd →	Set Contents: Top Silk Board Top Mask Bot Mask	-
board	<- <u>R</u> emove	Bot Silk Top Paste Bot Paste Top Assy Bot Assy	
	Enable <u>L</u> ayers		
		Close	

Layers sets let you group layers to control the selection, display, and printing of your design, Gerber output and N/C Drill output, DXF output.

Current Layer

The **Current Layer** list displays the name of the current layer for the selected layer set. You can change the current layer by selecting a different layer from the list.

Layers

The Layers box displays a list of all layers in the design.

Set Name

The Set Name box allows you to add a layer set name.

Layer Sets

The Layer Sets box displays a list of all layer sets in the design.

Set Contents

The Set Contents box displays a list of all layers in the currently selected layer set.

Adding or Modifying a Layer Set

To add or modify a layer set, follow these instructions:

To add a new layer set, type a new name in the Set Name box and press **New**. The newly-added layer set is empty.

- 1. To add a layer to the set, select the layer set from the Layer Sets box. Select the layer to be added from the Layers box and click **Add**.
- 2. To remove a layer from a layer set, select the layer set from the Layer Sets box. Select a layer from the Set Contents box and click **Remove**.
- 3. Click **Enable Layers** to save the layer set.
- 4. To delete a layer set, select it and click **Delete**.

Titles Tab

The Titles tab of the *Options Layers* dialog allows you to specify the look of your title block, design boundary and zones for each layer in your design. You can also assign a field set to a layer, so that each layer can be uniquely annotated. The Titles tab appears as shown in the following figure:

Options Layers	
<u>L</u> ayers	<u>S</u> ets Titles
Layers: Top Assy Top Silk Top Paste Top Mask Top Bottom Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk	Border Height: 9000.0mil Width: 19000.0mil ☐ Display Border Zones
Bot Assy Board	Horizontal Image: Ascending Image: Alpha Image: Ascending Image: Alpha Image: Ascending Image: Annotate Zone Information Image: Annotate Zone Information Image: Annotate Zone Information Image: Annotate Zone Information
	File Name: (no title block) Lower-Right Offset Select Bemove
Modify	Field Set: (Default) Tield Sets Eields
	Close

When setting up output files (Gerber, Print and DXF) only the data displayed in the workspace is output. It is important, therefore, to turn on the appropriate display options (Display Border and Annotate Zone Information) on the Titles tab of the *Options Layers* dialog.

The options available in the Titles tab are:

Layers

Lists the layers of the design. To specify the **Titles** options of a layer(s), select the desired layer(s) in the list.

Border Frame

In the Border frame you can set the following options:

• **Height/Width:** Shows the height and width of the border that surrounds the design. The default border height and width have a 1/2 inch buffer from the workspace bounds.

• **Display Border:** To display the border in the workspace or on the printed output or to include it in a Gerber output file, select the **Display Border** check box. The border outline the boundaries of the design.

Zone Frame

The Zone frame accesses the following settings in both the Horizontal and Vertical frames:

- Alpha or Numeric for the zone label display.
- Ascending to specify zone labels increasing vertically from top-to-bottom or horizontally from left- to-right.
- Descending to specify zone labels decreasing in the same directions as the Ascending option.
- # of Zones.

Annotate Zone Information

Select the Annotate Zone Information check box to display the zone labels.

Text Style

Select the style of text you want to use from the list of Text Styles.

Title Block Frame

The following information appears is the Title Block frame:

- **File** » **Name:** Display the currently selected title block file name. To change the to another block file, click the **Select** button. To remove the selected title block, click the **Remove** button.
- Lower-Right Offset: If the origin of the border differs from the default in the lower left hand corner of the workspace, specify different X and Y coordinates in this frame.

Field Set

Select the field set you want to assign to the currently selected layer(s) from the list. Click the **Field Sets** button to modify, delete or add a field set. Click the **Fields** button to open the *File Design Info* dialog where you can assign fields and notes to each field set.

Modify/Close

Click the **Modify** button to update the Titles options of the layers selected in the Layers list with the current settings. Click **Close** to exit the *Options Layers* dialog and save the modifications.

Options Current Line

Choose **Options** » **Current Line** to set the current line width for the Place Line, Place Arc, and Route Manual commands. The current line setting doesn't affect placing of line segments for polygons, copper pours, keepouts, connections, etc.

Chapter 17: Options Commands

Options Current Line	
Line Width: 10.0mi	Add
<mark>10.0mil</mark> 20.0mil	Delete
	ОК
	Cancel

When the dialog appears, the Line Width box contains the current line width value. The current line width is highlighted in the list.

To choose a new line width value, select a new value from the list.

To add a new line width value, type the new value in the Line Width box and click **Add**. The new value is inserted in the list before the highlighted value. To add a new value and make it the current value in one step, type the new value in the Line Width box and click **OK**.

To delete a value, select it from the list and click Delete.

Overriding Default Units

The units displayed as default in **Options** » **Current Line** are determined by what is set in *Options Configure*. To reset units, use *Options Configure*, or you can override the default units by typing in an explicit suffix (e.g., in) in the *Options Current Line* dialog. Valid suffixes are: mm, mil, in, and cm.

The current line settings are saved to the Pcb.ini file.

To change the line width (thickness) of existing lines and arcs (routed lines and arcs as well), choose **Edit** » **Properties**.

Options Current Keepout

Keepouts are used to designate certain areas of your design as off limits to certain processes, for example routing. Keepouts can be either polygons or lines, and they can be specific to a layer, or can apply to all layers.

Choose **Options** » **Current Keepout** to set the keepout Style and Layer in the *Options Current Keepout* dialog. These settings will apply when you select the **Place** » **Keepout** command. The following figure shows you the *Options Current Keepout* dialog:

Options Current Keepout			
Style	Layers		
Line	⊙ <u>C</u> urrent		
C <u>P</u> olygon			
OK	Cancel		

In the Style frame, choose the style of the keepout barriers (Line or Polygon). In the Layers frame, choose **Current** to restrict keepouts to only certain layers (the current layer) or **All** to place one object that applies to all signal and plane layers.

For related information, see Place Keepout (page 390).

Options Current Radius

When you choose Options » Current Radius, the following Options Current Radius dialog appears:

Options Current Radiu	s
<u>R</u> adius:	Add
(None) (Grid) (Grid/2)	Delete
Current Chord Height:	OK
	Cancel

Use the *Options Current Radius* dialog to select the radius to be used when rounding the corners of polygonal shapes, including copper pours, cutouts, polygon keepouts, planes and polygons. The Current Chord Height, which is the maximum distance between a perfect arc and the actual arc, can be designated in the *Options Current Radius* dialog as well.

The radius setting you choose determines the curvature of the arc used to draw the rounded corner. Since the majority of polygonal shapes have on-grid corners with fillet radii that are multiples of the placement grid, it is suggested that the radius setting be a multiple of the grid.

You can add new settings and delete those that you have added in the *Options Current Radius* dialog. The predefined settings shown above cannot be deleted. The current radius setting is displayed in and can also be controlled from the Current Radius combo box on the Status Line.

See *Edit Commands (page 279)* for related information on rounding the corners of the polygonal shapes listed above.

Options Design Rules

The rules for a board's clearances, widths, lengths and placements are set in the *Options Design Rules* dialog, which is opened by choosing the **Options » Design Rules** command. Design rules can be defined on each of six levels: Design, Layer, Rooms, Net Class, Net and Class-to-Class. Each of these levels, found on individual tabs in the dialog, is described in the following sections.

Design Tab

The **Design** tab displays the clearance values that are applied at the "design" level of the hierarchy:

Options Design	Rules				
Design	Layer	<u>R</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> lass	<u>N</u> et	Class <u>T</u> o Class
	Name		Value]
SilkscreenCl	earance	5.0mil			
HoleToHole	Clearance	13.0mil			
-					
	Add	Delete Prop	berties Laur	nch	
			150		

To add design rules, click **Add** to open the *Place Attribute* dialog. The **Properties** button opens the *Attribute Properties* dialog where the value of a rule can be modified. For more information on the *Place Attribute* and *Attribute Properties* dialogs, see *Edit Attributes* (page 350).

Layer Tab

As shown in the following figure, the **Layer** tab contains the default clearance values for signal layers:

Options Design Rule	25					
<u>D</u> esign	Layer	<u>R</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> la	155	Net	Class <u>T</u> o Class
Layers Top Ground INT1 INT2 ◀ Pad to Pad: 7.0 Pad to Line: 7.0 Line to Line: 7.0	Pad To P 7.0mil 10.0mil 7.0mil 7.0mil mil L mil 4	Pad To Line 7.0mil 10.0mil 7.0mil 7.0mil 2ad to Via: .ine to Via: /ia to Via:	Line To Line 7. Omil 8. Omil 7. Omil 7. Omil 7. Omil 7. Omil 7. Omil	Pad To Via 7.0mil 10.0mil 7.0mil 7.0mil Edit <u>B</u>	Line To Via 7.0mil 10.0mil 7.0mil 7.0mil .All ules	Via To Via ▲ 7.0mil 10.0mil 7.0mil 2.0mil ©lear All
			Close			

In the Layer tab, the following options are available:

- Set All: Click Set All to select all layer names with items in the Layers list.
- **Clear All:** Click **Clear All** to cancel the selection of all layers in the list. You can select or cancel the selection of a layer by clicking a layer in the list.
- **Update:** The clearance values of the layer you select appear in the Pad to Pad, Pad to Line, Line to Line, Pad to Via, Line to Via, and Via to Via boxes. If you have a variety of settings and you click on two layers that contain conflicting values, the box is blank. The value you enter in the box is applied to the selected layer(s) when you click **Update**.

To modify a clearance value for the selected layers, type a value in one of the text boxes and click **Update.** Nets with clearance rules defined will override the layer clearance values for DRC. The report produced by the DRC includes clearances specified for specific nets. Additionally, clearance violation tests report shorts except where two or more nets are tied with a copper tie and the TieNet values of the nets and copper tie are the same.

- **Edit Rules:** Click **Edit Rules** to open the *Attribute* dialog where you can add, delete and view a rule's properties. For information on the *Attribute* dialog, see *Place Attribute* (*page 396*).
- Set Defaults: Click Set Defaults to return all layer/item settings to 12 mil clearances.
- **OK**: When you have finished setting up the design rules, click **OK**.

Clearance Rules

When a clearance rule for a specific object is requested (e.g., DRC), the design rules category determines which rules apply and the order in which they are applied.

The order of evaluation matches the order of evaluation used by the SPECTRA Router. P-CAD PRO Route uses only layer and net clearance rules.

P-CAD DRC ignores SPECTRA Router clearance rules that have been added as attributes.

Rooms Tab

Clicking the **Rooms** tab displays the Rooms in the design, as shown in the following figure:

Options Design F	tules				
	Layer	Booms	Net <u>C</u> lass	Net	Class <u>I</u> o Class
<u>B</u> ooms: Filter	B,	ules: Clearance=50mil	Place © Ia © Ba © Ta	ment Side p Ittom p <u>O</u> r Bottom	
		Cle	ose		

The following information appears in the Rooms tab:

- **Rooms:** The Rooms list shows the rooms in the design.
- **Rules:** The Rules list shows the rules that have been defined for the selected Room.
- **Placement Side frame:** The Placement Side frame shows whether the Room has been placed on the Top, Bottom or Top or Bottom of the layer.

To add, delete or edit the rules click the **Edit Rules** button and make the appropriate changes in the *Attribute* dialog. You can also access a rule's properties by double clicking the rule in the Rules list.

Net Class Tab

When you click the Net Class tab, the dialog appears as follows:

Options Design	Rules				
	Layer	<u>R</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> lass	<u>N</u> et	Class <u>I</u> o Class
Net Classes CLOCKS DAA_CIRCUIT		N N	Net Class Rul	es rer Rules	Edit
Select Net Cl Net Clas:	ass by	Has Rules N = NetCl L = Layer <u>View Rules</u>			Edit
Close					

The Net Class tab lists all net classes and the rules associated with each Net Class and Net Class Layer. The options available on the Net Class tab are:

- Net Classes: The Net Classes list shows the name of each Net Class and indicates the presence of Net Class or Layer rules. Net Class rules are indicated with an N, while Net Class Layer rules are indicated with an L.
- Net Class Rules: The Net Class Rules list shows the net class rule names and values. To modify the Net Class Rules, click the **Edit** button to open the *Attributes* dialog to make changes (see *Edit Attributes (page 350)* for details on the *Attribute* dialog) or double-click a rule in the list box to modify the rule's value.
- Net Class Layer Rules: The Net Class Layer Rules list shows the net class layer rule names and values. To modify the Net Class Layer rules, either double-click the rule in the list box to make changes to the rule's value or click **Edit** to open the *Edit Net Class Layer Rules* dialog:

dit Net Class La	yer Rules	×
Layers:	Has Rules:	_Rules:
Bottom Ground INT1 INT2 Power Top	×	Width=8mil
<u>S</u> ela	ict by Rule	Edit Layer Rules

The *Edit Net Class Layer Rules* dialog lists the Layers and indicates whether the layer has Rules with an asterisk. You can select net classes having specific layer rules and values by clicking the **Select by Rule** button to open the *Set By Attribute* dialog (for details on the *Set By Attribute* dialog see *Set By Attribute* (*page 349*). You can also click the **Edit Layer Rules** button to open the *Attributes* dialog for modifications.

• Select Net Class by frame: The Select Net Class by frame allows you to set Net Classes by Net Class Rules or Net Class Layer Rules.

Click **Net Class Rules** to go directly to the *Set By Attribute* dialog (for details on the Set By Attribute dialog see *Set By Attribute (page 349)*. The **Layer Rules** button opens the *Select Layer* dialog where you can choose the layer with the attributes you intend to use to set the Net Classes, and then opens the *Set By Attribute* dialog when you click **OK** (for information on the *Select Layer* dialog, see *Set Nets By Layer Attribute (page 350)*.

- View Rules: Opens the Notepad and displays a list of rule names and values for each selected Net Class.
- Edit Net Classes: Click Edit Net Classes to open the Net Classes dialog where you can define a group of nets that share the same rules as a Net Class. The Net Classes dialog also displays the Net Class and Net Class Layer rules and their values. For complete information on the Net Classes dialog see Options Net Classes (page 469).

Net Tab

When you click the **Net** tab, the dialog appears as follows:

Design Layer Rooms Net Class Net Class To Class Nets Rules Net Rules Net Rules A10 Nuthon RouteWide=yes ViaStyle=v:v50x22 Edit A11 A12 Image: State		Options Design Rules
Nets Rules +12V N A8 A9 A10 A11 A12 Image: Constraint of the second	Rooms Net Class Net Class To Class	Design Layer
A13 A14 Select Net by Net Rules Layer Rules Layer Rules Edit Nets	Rules N Width=50 AutoRouteWide=yes ViaStyle=v:v50x22 Edit N = Net L = Layer View Rules Image: Contract of the second sec	Nets +12V A8 A9 A10 A11 A12 A13 A14 ▲ Select Net by Layer Rules
Close	Close	

Use the options in the Net tab to specify rules for a specific net in the design. The dialog lists all nets and shows the net and net layer rules associated with the selected net. The following options are available in the Net tab:

- **Nets:** The Nets list shows the name of each Net and indicates the presence of Net or Net Layer rules using the legend shown in the Has Rules frame. Net rules are indicated with an **N**, while Net Layer rules are indicated with an **L**.
- **Net Rules:** The Net Rules list shows the net attribute name and values. To modify the Net Rules, click **Edit** to open the *Attributes* dialog. See *Edit Attributes (page 350)*.
- **Net Layer Rules:** The Net Layer Rules list shows the net layer rule names and values. To modify the Net Layer rules, click **Edit** to open the following *Edit Net Layer Rules* dialog:

Edit Net Layer R	ules	x
Layers:	Has Rules:	Rules:
Bottom Top		
Selec	t by Rule	Edit Layer Rules

Similar to the *Edit Net Class Layer Rules* dialog, the *Edit Net Layer Rules* dialog lists the Layers and indicates whether the layer Has Rules with an asterisk. You can select layers having specific rules and values by clicking the **Select by Rule** button to open the *Set By Attribute* dialog (see *Set By Attribute* (page 349) for details).

- Select Net by: The Select Net by frame provides access to the Set by Attribute dialog where you can select the attributes and values you want to use to set the Nets. Click the Net Rules button to go directly to the Set by Attribute dialog (see Set By Attribute (page 349). The Layer Rules button opens the Select Layer dialog where you can choose the layer with the attributes you intend to use to set the Nets (for information on the Select Layer dialog see Set Nets By Layer Attribute (page 350).
- View Rules: Opens the Notepad and displays a list of rule names and values for each selected item.
- Edit Nets: Click Edit » Nets to open the Edit Nets dialog, where you can view and modify net information. See Edit Nets (page 345) for details.

Class to Class Tab

When you click the **Class to Class** tab, the dialog appears as follows:

Options Design Rules					
<u>D</u> esign	Layer	<u>B</u> ooms	Net <u>C</u> lass	<u>N</u> et	Class <u>T</u> o Class
Class To Class DAA_CIRCUIT DAA_CIRCUIT	To CLOCKS To DAA_CIRCUIT	Rules C,L	Class To Class Clearance=20	Rules Imils Layer Rules	<u>E</u> dt
Select Class to Class to Cla Layer R	o Class by iss Rules tules Edit <u>C</u> lass to Class	Has Rules C = CI To CI L = Layer View Rules	Clearance	:15mil	Edt]
Close					

Use the options in the Class to Class tab to specify clearance rules for a specific class-to-class in the design. The dialog lists all defined class-to-classes and shows the rules associated with them. The Class to Class tab contains the following options:

• **Class to Class:** The Class to Class list shows the name of each Class-to-Class and indicates the presence of Class-to-Class or Class-to-Class Layer rules using the legend shown in the Has

Rules frame. Class-to-Class rules are indicated with a C, while Class-to-Class Layer rules are indicated with an L.

- **Class to Class Rules:** The Class to Class Rules list shows the Class-to-Class rule name and values. To modify the Class-to-Class Rules, click **Edit** to open the *Attributes* dialog. See *Edit Attributes (page 350)*.
- Class to Class Layer Rules: The Class to Class Layer Rules list shows the class-to-class layer rule names and values. To modify the Class-to-Class Layer rules, click Edit to open the Edit Net Class To Net Class Layer Rules dialog:

Edit Net Class To	Net Class Layer Rul	es 🔀
Layers:	Has Rules:	Rules:
Bottom		Clearance=15mil
Ground		
Power		
Тор	×	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
<u>S</u> ele	act by Rule	Edit Layer Rules
		056

Similar to the Edit Net Class Layer Rules dialog, the Edit Net Class to Net Class Layer Rules dialog lists the Layers and indicates whether the layer Has Rules with an asterisk. You can select layers having specific attributes and values by clicking the Select by Rule button to open the Set By Attribute dialog (see Set By Attribute (page 349) for details).

- Select Class-to-Class by: The Select Class-to-Class by frame provides access to the Set by Attribute dialog where you can select the attributes and values you want to use to set the Class-to-Classes. Click Class-to-Class Rules to open the Set by Attribute dialog (see Set By Attribute (page 349) for details). The Layer Rules button opens the Select Layer dialog where you can choose the layer with the attributes you intend to use to set the Class-to-Class (for information on the Select Layer dialog see Set Nets By Layer Attribute (page 350).
- View Rules: Opens the Notepad utility and displays a list of rule names and values for each selected item.
- Edit Class to Class: Click Edit » Class to Class to open the Edit Net Class to Net Class Definition dialog, where you can view and modify Class to Class information:

Edit Net Class To Net Class Definitions	
Net Class To Net Class Definitions: DAA_CIRCUIT To CLOCKS DAA_CIRCUIT To DAA_CIRCUIT	Rules Clearance=20mils
<u>M</u> odify Definition	· ·
Delete Definition	TOP
Net Class Name:	
DAA_CIRCUIT	
Net Class Name:	<u>E</u> dit
CLOCKS 🔽	
Add Definition	
	Close

The following information is available in the Net Class To Net Class Definition dialog:

- Net Class To Net Class Definitions: Lists the defined net class combinations.
- **Net Class Name:** These combo boxes are used to combine two Net Classes into a Class To Class.
- Modify Definition: Click this button to make changes to a selected Class To Class.
- Delete Definition: Click this button to remove a selected Class To Class.
- Add Definition: Click this button to create a Class To Class when you have selected the two desired Net Class Names.
- **Rules:** The Rules list shows the rules and values assigned to the Class To Class. Click **Edit** to open the *Attributes* dialog to make changes to the rules. See *Edit Attributes (page 350)* for more information.
- **Layer Rules:** The Layer Rules list shows the attributes and values assigned to the layers in a Class To Class. To modify the layer rules, click **Edit** to open the following *Edit Net Class To Net Class Layer Attributes* dialog:

Edi	it Net C	ass To Net Class Laye	r Attril	ibutes 🛛 🗙	1
	Layers:	Has Attribu	utes:	Attributes:	
	Bottom Ground INT1 INT2 Power			Clearance=15mil	
	Тор		×		
		,			
		Select by Attribute	<u>C</u> los	Edit Layer Attributes	

Similar to the *Edit Net Class to Net Class Layer Rules* dialog, the *Edit Net Class to Net Class Layer Attributes* dialog lists the Layers and indicates whether the layer has Rules with an asterisk. You can select layers having specific rules and values by clicking the **Select by Rule** button to open the *Set By Attribute* dialog (see *Set By Attribute (page 349)* for details).

The order of evaluation matches the order of evaluation used by the SPECTRA Router. P-CAD PRO Route uses only layer and net clearance rules.

P-CAD DRC ignores SPECTRA Router clearance rules that have been added as attributes.

Options Net Classes

Choose **Options Net Classes** to define a group of nets that share common rules. Collections of nets sharing the same rules are referred to as a net class.

When you click **Net Classes**, the following *Net Classes* dialog appears.

Net Classes			
Class Name:			
DAA_CIRCUIT	A <u>d</u> d	Dejete	Re <u>n</u> ame
Classes:	– Net Class Attri		
CLOCKS DAA_CIRCUIT	Clearance=4 PadToPadCl PadToLineCl	outes 0 earance=24 earance=20 er Attributes	<u>E</u> dit
Select			
<u>U</u> nhighlight			Edjt
<u>H</u> ighlight			•
Nets in this Class: NET00039 NET00040 NET00043 NET00044 NET00045 NET00045 NET00048	<- <u>A</u> dd	Unassigned Nets: +5V +5VB +12V -5V A0 A1 A2 A3	
Set Nets From Design Selection	<u>C</u> lose	Set Nets Fr <u>o</u> m D	Design Selection

This class editor allows you to create named net classes using predefined clearance rules or predefined SPECCTRA autorouter clearance rules and then assign nets to that class. You can also add user-defined attributes to the net classes for your own use.

Net classes are transferred from the Schematic design to PCB via the P-CAD format netlist or through ECO's. PCB Design Rules Checking verifies clearances and the attributes listed below when they have been defined in the net class:

- MaxNetLength
- MaxVias
- MinNetLength
- ViaStyle
- Width

For net clearances the rules can be further refined by specifying clearance rules for pairs of objects, like pad to pad clearances or line to via clearances.

The net class information is written to binary and ASCII design files. P-CAD Master Designer PCB does not support Net Classes so this information is lost when exporting a P-CAD design to P-CAD format.

To create named net classes, do the following:

Options Net Classes

- 1. Enter a class name in the Class Name box.
- 2. Click Add.
- 3. To include a net from the Unassigned Nets list to the new net class you may use any of the following methods:
 - Select a single net and click Add.
 - **Double click** on a net to move it from Unassigned to Nets in this Class and vice versa.
 - Select multiple nets in a block by either 1) holding down the **SHIFT** key while selecting the first and last nets in the block or, 2) select the first net in the list, hold the left mouse button and drag the cursor to the last net in the list and release. Then click **Add**.
 - Select individual nets by holding the CTRL key while clicking on each net, then click Add.
- 4. To remove a net from the Nets in this Class list, use the same methods detailed above, but click **Remove** instead of **Add**.

In addition to the normal selection process you may employ the **Set Nets From Design Selection** buttons to quickly place all currently selected nets in the design into either the Unassigned Nets or Nets in this Class lists. When no nets are selected in the design, the inactive **Set Nets From Design Selection** buttons are gray. If nets in either list are selected and you click the **Set Nets From Design Selection** button, the other selected nets become unselected.

- 5. The Net Class Attributes assigned to the Net Class are listed in the list. To make modifications to any of the existing attributes, or to add new attributes, click **Edit** to open the *Attributes* dialog. See *Edit Attributes (page 350)*.
- 6. Net Class Layer Attributes and their values are shown in this list. To modify these attributes, click **Edit** which opens the following *Edit Net Class Attributes* dialog:

Edit Net Class	Attributes	×
Layers: Bottom Top	Has Attributes:	Attributes: MinNetLength=(MinNetLength) Ripup=(Ripup) MaxComponentHeight=(MaxCompon
Selec	t by Attribute	Edit Layer Attributes

The *Edit Net Class Attributes* dialog lists the Layers and indicates whether the layer has Rules with an asterisk. You can select net classes having specific layer attributes and values by clicking the **Select by Rule** button to open the *Set By Attribute* dialog (for details on the *Set By*)

Attribute dialog see *Set By Attribute (page 349)*. You can also click **Edit Layer Rules** to open the *Attributes* dialog for modifications.

Options Pad Style

Choose **Options** » **Pad Style** to set the current pad style (a.k.a., pad stack) for the **Place Pad** command. You can add, delete, purge unused pad styles, edit pad styles and set hole ranges using the series of dialogs available.

A pad style (or pad stack) is a collection of pad information concerning pad shape relative to layer, hole size, offset, etc.

Current Style: 200R138 (Default)	Copy
55R37	
55537 93UpPlated	Modify (Simple)
200R138 Custom1	
P:SX24Y72D0T	Modify (Complex)
P:SX40Y40D0T P:SX40Y60D0T P:SX40Y80D0T	Delete
P:SX60Y100D0T P:SX72Y24D0T P:SX80Y120D0T	Purge Unused Styles
Target * 200R138	<u>R</u> ename
	Modify <u>H</u> ole Range

Choose Options » Pad Style to open the following Options Pad Style dialog.

The Default pad style cannot be modified. When the Default pad style is selected, the **Modify** buttons become **View** (**Simple**) and **View** (**Complex**).

Surface-only (SMT) pads have a default paste mask shape and a default solder mask shape, which is automatically based on the shape and size of the pad on the top or bottom signal layer. However, the default paste and solder mask definitions are not appropriate for surface pads in edge connectors. To be sure that no solder and/or paste is applied to the edge connector pads, you must explicitly define the component's padstyle with values of zero on the paste and solder mask layers.

- To add a new pad style, select a similar pad style and click **Copy**. The *Copy Pad Style* dialog appears.
- To modify a simple pad style, select a simple non-Default pad style (e.g., new1), and then click **Modify (Simple)**. The *Modify Pad Style (Simple)* dialog appears. Simple and complex pad styles are defined below. If the pad style is complex, this button appears gray, and cannot be clicked.
- To modify a complex pad style, select a non-Default pad style (e.g., new1), and then click **Modify (Complex)**. The *Modify Pad Style (Complex)* dialog appears. Simple and complex pad styles are defined below.

- To view the default pad style, select **Default**, and then click **View Simple** or **View Complex** (**View** appears instead of **Modify** when **Default** is highlighted). The read-only *View Default Pad Style* dialog appears.
- To delete a pad style, select a non-Default pad style name in the list and click **Delete**. The pad style name will disappear from the list. You can only delete a style if it is not currently used by a pad.
- To purge unused pad styles, click **Purge Unused Styles**. All unused pad style definitions are deleted from the current PCB design.
- To rename a pad style, highlight the non-Default pad style you want to rename and click **Rename**. The *Rename Style* dialog appears.
- To set a pad style hole range, click **Hole Range**. The *Options Pad/Via Hole Range* dialog appears. If you don't set a hole range, PCB assumes a through-hole.
- To Merge Pad Styles click **Merge**. The Merge Style dialog appears.

Simple and Complex Pad Styles

A simple pad style must meet the following criteria:

- Shapes can be defined only on the built-in Top, Bottom, (Signal), (NonSignal), and (Plane) layers. No other custom layer definitions are allowed.
- The shapes and dimensions on the Top, Bottom, and (Signal) layers must either be identical (a uniform thru-pad), be defined on the Top layer only (a top surface pad), or be defined on the bottom layer only (a bottom surface pad).
- To qualify as a simple, uniform thru-pad, the signal layer shape must be an ellipse, an oval, a rectangle, a rounded rectangle, a target, or a mounting hole. If a signal layer shape is an ellipse, oval, rectangle, or rounded rectangle, the (Plane) shape must be a Direct Connect or a 45-degree, 4-spoke Thermal.
- To qualify as a simple, top surface pad, the shapes must have zero width and zero height on the Bottom, (Signal), (NonSignal), and (Plane) layers. The Top shape must be an ellipse, an oval, a rectangle, or a rounded rectangle.
- To qualify as a simple, bottom surface pad, the shapes must have zero width and zero height on the Top, (Signal), (NonSignal), and (Plane) layers. The Bottom shape must be an ellipse, an oval, a rectangle, or a rounded rectangle.
- If there is a hole defined for the pad, the X and Y hole offsets must both be zero.

Any pad style that does not meet all of the above criteria is considered a complex pad style.

Adding a Pad Style

To add a pad style, click **Copy**. The following *Copy Pad Style* dialog appears.



Type the new pad name (e.g., mypad) and select a pad style to copy it from (e.g., *(Default)). Click **OK** to return to the *Options Pad Style* dialog.

Modify a Simple Pad Style

To modify a simple pad style, select a simple pad style and click **Modify (Simple)**. The following *Modify Pad Style (Simple)* dialog appears. This button is shaded and unavailable if you select a complex pad style.

Modify Pad St	yle (Sim	ple)	
Name: 200R1	38		
Type Thru Top Bottom	Width: Height: Shape:	200.0mil 200.0mil Ellipse	Hole Diameter: 138.0mil
Plane Conne Thermal Direct	ection	Plane Swell Use Global Swell Local swell: 230.0mil	OK Cancel

Use this dialog to set the width, height, hole diameter and shape, select a pad type. For thru type pad styles, you can select either a thermal or direct plane connection. You can designate the hole to be Plated and change its Diameter. You can also set the plane swell value; either enable the **Use Global Swell** option (set in *Options Configure*), to use the global plane swell setting in *Options Configure*, or disable it and specify a **Local Swell** option, overriding the global *Options Configure* setting.

Modify a Complex Pad Style

To modify a complex pad style, select a complex pad style and click the **Modify (Complex)** button. The *Modify Pad Style (Complex)* dialog appears.

Modify Pad Style	(Complex)		
Modify Pad Scyle Name: 2008138 Layers: Top Bottom (Signal) (Plane) (NanSig) Ground Power	Complex) Custom1 Pad Definition Layer: Width: Height: Spoke Width: Shape: Prohibit Co	Top 200.0mil 200.0mil 0.0mil Ellipse pper Pour Connections Modify Delete	Hole Diameter: 138.0mil V Elated X Offset: 0.0mil Y Offset: 0.0mil Plane Swell V Lse Global Swell Local swell: 230.0mil OK Cancel

The values represented will default to mil or mm (millimeters), depending on what you have set in *Options Configure* (your current units). You can specify a measurement value (overriding *Options Configure*) by typing in mil, mm, cm, or in after the numeric value.

The Pad Definition frame allows you to add a new pad definition to the Layers list, or modify an existing pad definition for a layer. You can change the Width and Height dimensions and choose a Shape from those available in the drop-down list.

The connectivity of pads to planes and copper pours are controlled in the Pad Definition frame as well. If you choose the **No Connect Shape** for the pad or a plane layer, you can prevent the connection to the plane. When you select the **Prohibit Copper Pour Connections** check box, a thermal connection between the pad and copper pours is prevented.

If you choose to prohibit a copper pour or plane connection, and by doing so cause a break in the net connectivity, a blue connection line from the pad to a neighboring net node is displayed. You must manually add the necessary connection.

The Hole frame lets you define the pad hole diameter, specify the plating characteristics and designate X and Y offsets. The Hole frame applies to all layers of the pad and are not part of the **Add/Modify/Delete** function for pad definitions. Specify the Hole dimensions, plating on or off, and the X and Y offset. X Off and Y Off are horizontal and vertical offset amounts of the hole in an aperture.

With the Plane Swell options you can set the plane swell value; either select the **Use Global Swell** check box to use the global plane swell setting in *Options Configure*, or disable it and enter a value in the Local Swell box, overriding the global *Options Configure* setting.

Pad Definitions

The Add, Modify, and Delete buttons in the Pad Definition frame of the dialog work as follows:

1. To add a pad definition to a layer in the Layers list select a layer from the Layer combo box in the Pad Definition frame, select a shape from the Shape drop-down list, set the hole dimensions, plating, width, height and spoke width, then click **Add**. The new layer is added to the list.

For polygonal pad shapes, Width and Height options are unavailable and the *Polygonal Pad Shapes* dialog appears when you click **Add**. See *Defining Polygonal Pad Shapes (page 477)* for details.

2. To modify a pad definition for one of the layers in the Layers list highlight a layer name in the list; then you can change pad shape (Shape options), and (in the case of thermal pads) define the dimensions for Outer Dia and Inner Dia and Spoke Width; then click **Modify**.

You can view the pad definition of a layer by clicking on the layer name in the list. The pad definitions are listed by shape, width, and height in the Pad Definition frame.

- 3. To delete a pad definition, highlight a layer in the list and click **Delete** (a reverse action to number 1 above). If the layer is predefined (e.g., Top), it cannot be deleted.
- 4. Click **OK** and all of the changes or settings will be saved and applied. All pads that currently use this style will be immediately updated.

For further clarification, the basic difference between adding and modifying a pad style is as follows:

To add a pad style, you copy an existing style, choose a unique name, and then modify it to new specifications.

To modify a pad style, you edit an existing style (but not the default style) without renaming it.

After you have set the pad style(s), the available pads that you place in Place Pad mode have the style you set here. When you choose to change to a different pad style with the **Edit** » **Properties** command, the available pad styles will be listed. See *Pad Properties* (*page 307*) for related details.

Standard Pad Shapes

This section shows and describes some standard pad shapes and thermal spoke pads.



- **Ellipse** is a rounded shape with separately specifiable X and Y dimensions; an ellipse with equal X and Y dimensions is a circle (frequently called a round).
- **Oval** is a short line segment with round end caps (half-circles), the radius of which is 1/2 the length of the shortest side; if the X and Y dimensions are equal, this too is circular or round.
- Polygonal is a free-form polygonal shape defined using the Polygonal Pad Shapes dialog.
- **Rounded Rectangle** contains 1/4 circles on the corners of a rectangle. The 1/4 circle radius is 1/4 the length of the shortest side.
- **Rectangle** shapes are X=width and Y=height.

If you want a round pad, you use the ellipse shape with identical height and width (the example above is an oblong ellipse). If you want a square pad, use a rectangle with identical height and width.

Spoke width, and the inner and outer diameters, are specifications for thermals. There are four thermal pad styles, which appear as follows:



Thermal diameters and spoke width:



Offset aperture hole



- Direct Connect pads directly touch the plane layer.
- No Connect pads are holes with swell.
- Target pad style provides a way to line up board layers.
- Mounting Hole pads are manufacturing indicators for securing components or board layers.

Defining Polygonal Pad Shapes

You can define polygonal pad shapes from the *Modify Pad Style (Complex)* dialog. To do so:

1. Select **Polygon** from the Shape list.

Notice that the Width and Height boxes are no longer available.

2. Click Add.

To modify a polygonal pad shape, select it and click **Modify**. The *Polygonal Pad Shape* dialog appears with it's current polygon set to correspond with the pad being modified. You can then specify a different polygonal shape for the pad.

The *Polygonal Pad Shape* dialog appears:

Polygonal Pad Shape	
Browse Regular Polygonsi Sides: 3 - Diameter: 60.0mil	Polygonal Shape
Update Rotation: 0.0deg	
Pad Style: 200R138 Custom1	
Aperture Polygons Aperture: Selected Polygons	OK Cancel
Previous Next	

This dialog is used as to select polygonal shapes using several methods:

- Specification of parameters that define a simple regular polygon shape.
- Selection of a polygon shape from those that currently reside within existing pad styles.
- Selection of a polygon shape from polygon aperture definitions.
- Selection of an irregular custom polygon shape from those currently selected in the design workspace.

The Polygonal Pad Shape dialog options are as follows:

Regular Polygons

To create regular polygons, use the following options:

- Click **Regular Polygons** to specify simple polygon shapes.
- Use the arrows to set the Sides box. You can select a value from 3 to 10. The default setting is 3.
- The Diameter box allows you to specify polygon pad size. Its default setting is 60 mil. This value represents the diameter of a circle that circumscribes the polygon.

- The Rotation box allows you to specify orientations of polygon pads individually within their pad styles. The default setting is 0.0.
- Click **Update** to update the Polygonal Shape with the new settings. If any of the settings are blank or contain erroneous data, the display window is cleared and an appropriate error message appears.

Existing Pad Style Polygons

To select existing polygon shapes, use the following options:

- The **Pad Style Polygons** button allows you to select polygon shapes that currently reside within existing pad styles in their designs.
- The Pad Style combo box is automatically populated with the names of all the pad styles that contain polygon shapes (sorted alphabetically). The default setting is its first list entry.
- The Layer combo box is consistently updated so as to contain layer names on which polygon shapes reside within the currently selected Pad Style. The default setting is its first list entry.

When you change the current settings of either combo box, the display window is automatically updated to display the proper polygonal shape. If the currently selected pad style polygon happens to be a regular shape, then the Regular Polygons fields are automatically updated.

If no pad styles in the current design contain polygon shapes, then the **Pad Style Polygons** button, the Pad Style combo box, the Layer combo box are all disabled.

Existing Aperture Definitions

To select polygon shapes based on existing aperture definitions, use the following options:

- The Aperture Polygons button allows you to select polygon shapes from polygon apertures definitions.
- The Aperture combo box is automatically populated with the names of all polygon apertures definitions.

When you select a new definition, the display window is automatically updated to display the proper polygonal shape. If the currently selected pad style polygon happens to be a regular shape, then the Regular Polygons fields are automatically updated.

If there are no polygonal aperture definitions in the current design, then these options are all disabled.

Currently Selected Polygon/Reference Point Pairs

To select irregular custom polygon shapes, use the following options:

• The **Selected Polygons** button allows you to select irregular custom polygon shapes from polygon/Reference Point pairs that are currently in the design workspace selection list.

When you open the *Polygonal Pad Shape* dialog, the P-CAD PCB (6/400) examines the list of currently selected items, looking for polygons and reference points. It matches each polygon with a

single currently selected Reference Point touching the polygon's boundary to construct a list of polygon/Reference Point pairs. The list uses the following criteria:

- Selected items that are not polygon/Reference Point pairs are discarded.
- Polygons comprised of more that 48 sides are discarded.
- Polygons that fail to match to a selected Reference Point are discarded.
- Polygons that match to more than one Reference Point are discarded.

Click the Next button to view the next item in the list; click Previous to see the previous item.

If no valid polygon/Reference Point pairs are found on the current selection list (or the selection list is empty), then the **Selected Items** button and the **Previous** and **Next** buttons become shaded an unavailable.

Purging Pad Styles

To purge Pad Styles click **Purge Unused Styles**. A confirmation dialog appears:

₩arning	5401	\times
⚠	Delete	all unused styles?
Ye	es	No

Click Yes to confirm purging of all unused styles.

Renaming a Pad Style

To add a pad style, click **Rename**. The *Rename Pad Style* dialog appears:

Rename Style	
New style name:	OK
P:EX60Y60D38A	Cancel

Type a new pad style name in the New style name list, and click **OK**.

Setting a Hole Range

To set a pad style hole range, click **Modify Hole Range**. The *Options Modify Pad Hole Range* dialog appears.

Options Modify Pad I	iole Range	
Styles: [Default] 93UnPlated 55R37 200R138 55S37 200R138 Custom1	Hole Range Layers: Top Ground INT1 INT2 Power Bottom	Tap Graund INT1 INT2 Pawer Battam
OK	Cancel	

This dialog allows you to set up the hole ranges for pads. Only those styles with a hole diameter is greater than zero appear.

The Hole Range Layers list reflects the signal/plane layer ordering of your board as you established in the *Options Layers* dialog.

To set a hole range, do the following:

- 1. Select a pad from the Styles list.
- 2. Select the beginning and ending layers for the hole range.
- 3. Select another pad and repeat the process.
- 4. Upon completion, click **OK**.

Merging Pad Styles

To merge Pad Styles click Merge. The Merge Styles dialog appears:

Merge Styles	×
Styles:	Merge
MH6 PEX50750034A PEX50750035A PEX50750035A PEX50750035A PEX50750035A PEX50750035A PEX70770035A PEX70770035A PEX70770035A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX70770046A PEX1007100031, PEX1007100031, PEX1007100030, PEX1207120050 PEX1207120050	(Default) ▲ MH6 P:EX507500 34A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507500 35A P:EX507700 35A P:EX707700 35A P:EX707700 35A P:EX707700 35A P:EX707700 46A P:EX707700 46A P:EX707700 46A P:EX707700 46A P:EX707700 46A P:EX1007100031, P:EX1007100031, P:EX1007100031, P:EX1007100031, P:EX1070120050, P:EX107120050,
Apply	Close

Select the Pad styles you want to merge and click **Apply** to perform the merge. Click **Close** when you complete merging Pad Styles.

Options Via Style

Choose **Options Via Style** to set the current via style for the **Place Via** command. You can add, delete, rename, or edit via styles by using the series of available dialogs. This dialog can also be used to set hole ranges for vias.

 Options Via Style

 Current Style:
 (Default)

 * (Default)
 2SR15

 2SR15
 No Thermal

 Bind Top_Grid
 Modify (Simple)...

 Buried Int1_Int2
 Delete

 Parate
 Rename...

 Modify Hole Range
 Close

Choose **Options Via Style** to open following the Options Via Style dialog.

Via styles are almost identical to pad styles in the way that you add, edit, modify, view, delete, and rename them in PCB. You can also purge unused via styles and create hole ranges. See *Options Pad Style (page 472)* for more information.

Vias don't support Mounting Hole and Target shapes.

Options Text Style

Choose **Options Text Style** to set the current text style for the **Place Text** command and allows you to add, delete, rename, or edit text styles by using the series of available dialogs. The text styles you create or edit here are available when you use the **Place » Text** command, or when you want to modify already placed text with the **Edit » Properties** command.

The Default style can't be deleted, renamed, or modified. The DefaultTTF style can be displayed in TrueType or stroke font, but can otherwise not be modified, renamed or deleted. The other default styles can be modified, but not deleted or renamed.

When you flip text that is currently displayed in TrueType font the result is a mirrored version of the text in its stroke definition.

Choose **Options Text Style** to open the following dialog:

Options Text Style	
Current Text Style: (Default)	
* (Default)	Add
T:H121W10 T:H243W10	Properties
BIG200 (DefaultTTF)	Delete
	Purge Unused Styles
	Rename
I	Display Stroke
Set All Clear All	Display TrueType
Close	

Adding Text Style

To add a text style, do the following:

1. In the Options Text Style dialog, click Add. The following Add Text Style dialog appears.

Add Text Style		
Style Name:		
Based On:	* (Default) T:H91W10 T:H121W10 T:H243W10 BIG200 (DefaultTFF)	
	OK Cancel	

- 2. Select the style of text you want to base the new style on.
- 3. Specify the text style name you are adding (e.g., busstyle).
- 4. Click **OK** and the *Text Style Properties* dialog appears. For details on this dialog, see *Text Style Properties* (page 484).

Changing Text Display

You may change text display from Stroke to TrueType and vice versa. From the *Options Text Style* dialog follow these steps:

- 1. Select one or more text styles from the list provided.
- 2. Click **Display Stroke** or **Display TrueType** for the type of display style you desire.

The Display Stroke button displays all selected text styles in their stroke font definitions.

The **Display TrueType** button displays all selected text styles that allow TrueType in their TrueType font definitions. Selected text styles that do not allow TrueType are not affected by pressing the **Display TrueType** button.

Text Style Properties

Remember, you cannot change the properties of Default text style; you can only query it. The DefaultTTF text style can be changed to the equivalent stroke font style for display purposes only.

To query and edit text style properties:

- 1. In the Options Text Style dialog, select a text style from the Text Style list.
- 2. Click **Properties** and the *Text Style Properties* dialog appears. To learn about this dialog, see *Text Style Properties (page 484)*.
- 3. Modify the Height, Thickness, and Font fields for non-default fonts.

Purging Text Styles

To purge Text Styles click **Purge Unused Styles**. A confirmation dialog appears:

₩arning 5401	\times
	all unused styles?
Yes	No

Click Yes to confirm purging of all unused styles.

Renaming Text Style

To rename a text style, follow these steps:

- 1. In the Options Text Style dialog, select the non-default text style that you want to rename.
- 2. Click **Rename** to open the *Rename Style* dialog.
- 3. The text style appears in the list.

OK
Cancel

- 4. Specify the new name by typing over the existing name.
- 5. Click **OK**.

Deleting Text Style

To delete a text style, do the following:

- 1. In the Options Text Style dialog, select the non-default text style you want to delete.
- 2. Click **Delete**.

A message appears asking you to confirm your deletion.
3. Click **Yes**, and the highlighted text style disappears from the list.

You cannot delete default text styles or a text style that is currently in use.

Text Style Properties Dialog

This *Text Style Properties* dialog appears when you click the **OK** button in the *Options Add Text Style* dialog or the **Properties** button in the *Options Text Style* dialog.

Text Style Properties	
Text Style Name: BIG200 Stroke Font Properties Height: 200.0mil Thickness: 15.0mil Font: Quality © Display © Stroke Font	Allow TrueType TrueType Font Properties Font Arial Font Style: Regular Italics Size: 125.0mil
C TrueType Font	Cancel

This dialog lets you add and modify font properties of the selected (non-default) text style.

The values represented appear as mm (millimeters) or mil, depending on what you have set in *Options Configure* (your current units). You can specify a measurement value (overriding *Options Configure*) by typing in mil, mm, cm or in after the numeric value.

You can set the following stroke font properties.

- **Height:** The font's height.
- Thickness: The text thickness.
- Font: Choose between QUALITY, BASIC, or LCOM fonts. QUALITY and BASIC fonts are interchangeable. Basic is simpler and therefore draws faster. LCOM is a serif font (a little fancier).

quality font

basic font

lcom font

When working with a TrueType font style other than DefaultTTF, the following options are enabled in the **TrueType Font Properties** and **Display** areas of the dialog:

TrueType Font Properties:

- Size: Enter the desired size of the font.
- Font: Click Font to open the *Font* dialog shown in the following figure, where you can choose the font, font style, font size, and script style.

Font				? ×
Eont Arial O Arial Black O Arial Black O Book Antiqua O Book Antiqua O Bookma Old Style O Eontury Scholbook	Font style: Regular Regular Italic Bold Bold Italic	<u>Size:</u> 9 10 11 12 14 16 18	•	OK Cancel
	Sample AaBbYyZz		-	
	Sogipt: Western		•	
This is an OpenType font. This printer and your screen.	same font will be used or	n both yo	ur	

Click **OK** to confirm and apply your choices.

Display:

- **Stroke Font:** Click **Stroke Font** to enable the text display in the Stroke Font style.
- **TrueType Font:** Click **TrueType Font** to enable the text display in the TrueType Font style.

When you click **OK**, the new (or modified) text style is available for assignment.

Merging Text Styles

To merge Text Styles click **Merge**. The Merge Styles dialog appears:

Merge Styles	×
Styles:	Merge
MH6 PEX507500 354 PEX607600 354 PEX607600 354 PEX607600 354 PEX607600 354 PEX607600 354 PEX707700 354 PEX7077000 354 PEX707700000000000000000000000	(Detaul) ▲ MH6 ► PEX50750036A ► PEX60760036A ► PEX60760036A ► PEX60760036A ► PEX60760036A ► PEX60760036A ► PEX60760036A ► PEX70770036A ► PEX70770036A ► PEX70770046A ► PEX100710031, ► PEX100710036, ► PEX100710036, ► PEX100710036, ► PEX100710036, ► PEX1007100037, ► PEX1007100036, ► PEX1007100037, ► PEX1007100037, ► PEX1007100037, ► PEX1007100037, ► PEX1007100036, ►
Apply	Close

Select the Text Styles you want to merge and click **Apply** to perform the merge. Click **Close** when you complete merging Text Styles.

Library Commands

Using the Library Commands

Use the Library commands to create aliases, copy items from one library to another, delete library items, rename library items, open libraries, and save patterns that you create to component libraries.

P-CAD libraries are a combination of components, PCB patterns, and Schematic symbols (not used by PCB). The component section of a library contains component information, such as what pattern is attached to a particular component, what its pin assignments are, etc. The pattern section contains the structural information about the pattern that is attached to a component. Without a pattern, a component has no graphical representation and cannot be placed. A pattern by itself is only a graphical structure. A component and its pattern reside in the same library; the component references a particular pattern, its structure, when that pattern is attached to it. For example, an SN7400N component with its component attributes and pin assignments occupies the same library with a DIP14 pattern, which it references.

It is typical for multiple components within a library to reference the same pattern. A library could conceivably contain 100 components while only containing five patterns (multiple components referencing the same pattern). If you change one of the patterns, then all of the components referencing that pattern are affected.

Library New

Choose **Library** » **New** to create a new library. The new library is empty; it has no components, patterns, or symbols.

When you choose **Library** » **New**, the *Library New* dialog is opened and you can specify the filename of your new library.

Library Alias

Choose **Library** » **Alias** to create an alias for an item in a library. In P-CAD PCB, an alias is an alternate name for component or pattern. You can create multiple equivalent names for the same item with this command.

When you create aliases for an item, it is not the same as creating copies or renaming. For details, see page *Library Copy (page 489)*.

Aliases allow you flexibility of using a variety of naming conventions for components or patterns, without renaming them. For example, what P-CAD calls an SN7400N, you may want to use as a generic alias of 7400. Or, if you are using components from a vendor using a particular naming convention, and you want to continue using that system, you can use alias names and display them on your design as such.

The library that you use in the execution of Library Alias, Library Delete, or Library Rename remains current if you re-invoke any of the commands during the same session.

Creating an Alias

To create an alias, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Library » Alias. The Library Alias dialog appears.
- 2. If the name of the current library does not appear next to the **Library** button, click **Library**. The *Library Select* dialog appears.
- 3. In the *Library Select* dialog, navigate to the appropriate library, select it, and click **Open**. You return to the *Library Alias* dialog.
- 4. In the Alias Item frame, choose **Component** or **Pattern**. The **Symbol** button is shaded and not available in P-CAD PCB.
- 5. Click the **Component** or **Pattern** button. The *Library Browse* dialog appears.
- 6. Select the item from the Component or Pattern list, as shown in the following figure:



- 7. Click **OK**. You return to the *Library Select* dialog.
- 8. Enter the new alias for the item in the New Alias box.
- 9. Click **Add** to add it to the Aliases list.
- 10. Click **Close** to close the *Library Select* dialog.

Library Copy

Choose **Library** » **Copy** to copy an item from one file and save it the current library or to another library.

To copy a component with its associated Schematic symbols, use the **Library** » **Copy** command in P-CAD Library Executive. P-CAD PCB does not support the management of symbol data.

It's important to note that a library part has these sections:

- A component section (type, reference designator, etc.)
- A pattern section (the PCB graphics)
- A symbol section (the Schematic graphics).

Generally, you need to copy the component and its pattern when copying between different libraries (notice that the **Copy Item** section of the dialog has a choice between **Pattern** and **Component**). When you copy a component, you are prompted as to whether you want to include its associated pattern; you would normally respond Yes. When you copy a pattern, no components will be included in the copy.

Also, when copying items from one library to another, you can choose to preserve items in the destination library or overwrite them. And when copying components, you can choose to copy the corresponding patterns.

The dialog allows you to select source library and item name as well as destination library and item name.

The source library and destination library that are used with Rename will remain current if you reinvoke the command during the same session.

If you are copying a component or pattern but are not changing its name, you can leave the Single Destination Name box blank.

Copying Patterns/Components

To copy one or more patterns or components, follow these steps:

1. Choose **Library** » **Copy**. The *Library Copy* dialog appears:

ibrary Copy	
Source Library D:\Program Files\P-	CAD 2000\Demo\Demo.lib
Destination Library (no library selected)	
Item Names	Copy Item
Browse To Add	C Component
	• Pattern
Multiple Source Names:	C Symbol
LAP200HP CAP200P CAP250 CAP300 CAP300RP CONNASTGR DESM/RA DIP8 DIP4 DIP14 DIP20 DIP24 Single Destination Name:	Close

- 2. Click Select Source Library. The *Library Select* dialog appears.
- 3. Select the source library. Then click **OK**. Notice that the source library you selected appears in the *Library Copy* dialog.
- 4. Click **Destination Library**. The *Library Select* dialog appears again.
- 5. Select the destination library. Then click **OK**. The *Library Copy* dialog appears with the paths and filenames of the source and destination libraries you selected.
- 6. In the **Copy Item** section of the dialog, select which type of item you want to copy. The available items are **Component** and **Symbol**. For the item type you select, the names of the available items appear in the Multiple Source Names box. In the example above, the dialog lists all the components available in the source library Demo2.lib.

7. Select the item(s) to copy by using the standard Windows selection key combinations. You can select either a single item, a group of items, or all the items in the list. The table below explains how to select items for copying:

Use these keys	To select
Shift+Left mouse button	all items between the last selected (highlighted) item and the item you click on.
CTRL+Left mouse button	add items to or subtract items from the selection.

You can also click the **Browse to Add** button to add single items to the your selection. To do this, click **Browse to Add**. When the *Library Browse* dialog appears, select the desired item, then click **OK**. The program highlights the selected item in the Multiple Source Names list box.

- 8. In the **Destination Preferences** section of the dialog, indicate whether to overwrite existing items in the destination file, preserve existing items, and copy patterns and symbols with a component. The last two check boxes are only available if you're copying components.
- 9. Click **Copy**. P-CAD Library Executive copies the selected objects from the source library to the destination library.
- 10. Click **Close** to exit the dialog.

Library Delete

Deletes a library item.

This command deletes the item in name only. The alternate names (aliases) still exist unless you delete them. If the item has only one name and no aliases and you delete it, then the item itself is deleted from the library. Use the **Library** » **Alias** command to check whether an item has aliases.

The library that you use in the execution of Library Alias, Library Delete, or Library Rename remains current if you re-invoke any of the commands during the same session.

IMPORTANT: If you delete a pattern, then all of the components in the library that reference that pattern will be without structure, and would therefore be unplaceable. Normally you would want to delete a pattern alias only, which is not dangerous unless a component used a pattern alias.

Deleting from a Library

To delete items from a library, follow these steps:

1. Choose Library Delete to display the dialog.

Library Delete		
Library D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2000\D	emo\Demo.lib - Delete Item	
Pattern	C Component	Delete
	 Pattern 	Close
	C Symbol	

- 2. Select the **Delete Item type** (Component or Pattern radio button) for your delete action. The **Symbol** option button is grayed in PCB.
- 3. Click the **Library** button. The *Library Select* dialog is displayed, from which you can select the library in which you want to delete an item.
- 4. The library you selected in Library Select is displayed in the Library Delete dialog.
- 5. Click the item button (**Pattern**... or **Component**...) and the items within the displayed library will be listed in the *Library Browse* dialog. Select one and it will then be listed in the *Library Delete* dialog.
- 6. Click the **Delete** button and the item box becomes blank. This way you can continue to delete items from the same library.
- 7. Click **Close** to exit the dialog.

Library Rename

Renames a pattern or a component.

The library that you use in the execution of Library Alias, Library Delete, or Library Rename will remain current if you re-invoke any of the commands during the same session.

IMPORTANT: If you rename a pattern, then all of the components in the library that reference that pattern by the original name will have no pattern reference, and will therefore be unplaceable. If you want to use a different naming convention for a pattern, and then create an alias for the pattern (**Library** » **Alias** command) and use that alias name. Likewise for components: if you want to use a different naming convention, using aliases is much safer than renaming.

Renaming a Pattern/Component

To rename a pattern or component, follow these steps:

1. Choose Library Rename to open the dialog.

Library Rename			
Library D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2000\Demo\Demo.lib			
Pattern	Rename Item		
	C Component	Rename	
New Name:	Pattern	Church	
	🔿 Symbol	Liose	

- 2. First select the **Rename Item** type (Component or Pattern radio button). The Symbol option button is grayed in PCB.
- 3. Click the **Library** button to open the *Library Select* dialog, where you can choose the library to access.
- 4. The library you selected in Library Select appears in the Library Rename dialog.
- 5. Click the item button (**Pattern**... or **Component**...) and the items within the displayed library will be listed in the *Library Browse* dialog. Select one and it will then be listed in the *Library Rename* dialog.
- 6. In the **New Name** section type the new name of your item, then click **Rename**. Both the old name and new name disappear if the rename action is successful. You can continue renaming items in the same library.
- 7. Click **Close** to exit the dialog.

Library Setup

The Library » Setup command opens libraries from which you can access components.

The **Place** » **Component** and **Utils** » **Load Netlist** commands use the Open Library list to place components. The **Library Pattern Save As** command also uses the Open Library list.

When you want to place a component, the library file where the component resides must be open. You can open up to 100 libraries at one time.

Drag and Drop File Load

You can use the drag and drop method for opening library files (.lib) from the File Manager or other Windows file maintenance utilities. Drag the .lib icon(s) onto your PCB icon or workspace.

Setting Up a Library

To set up a library, follow these steps:

1. Choose Library » Setup to open the dialog.

Library Setup		
Path: D:\PROGRAM FILES\F	-CAD 2000\DEMO	
Open Libraries:		
DEMO.LIB	Add	Delete
	Mayellin	
	more op	
	Move Down	
	пк	Cancel
		Cancer

The dialog lists any libraries that are already open in the Open Libraries list box.

2. To add another library to the list, click **Add** to display the *Library File Listing* dialog. From there you can access the library directory to select a library file.

When you select a file from the Library File Listing (and click **OK**), that filename appears in the Open Libraries list box in the *Library Setup* dialog.

- 3. To rearrange the list order, select a library name and click the **Move Up** or **Move Down** buttons.
- 4. To remove a library from the list, select the library name from the Open Libraries list box and click **Delete**.
- 5. Click **OK** and the libraries that you have specified are now open and accessible for component placement or saving patterns.

In order to save a pattern or a component, you will need to setup the library in advance. The list of open libraries is saved to the pcb.ini file and therefore saved for subsequent sessions.

Many commands start looking for components in the first open library. To ensure your component is found in the correct library, open custom libraries first or move them to the top of the list.

Library Pattern Save As

The Library » Pattern Save As command saves a pattern to a library.

This command allows you to group a selected collection of objects as a pattern, and save the pattern to a library. From the library you can later attach the pattern to a component. You must have a library already open to save a pattern to it.

Saving a Pattern

To save a pattern, follow these steps:

- 1. Use the block select function to select the objects you want included in your pattern.
- 2. While the objects are selected, choose Library » Pattern Save As to display the dialog.

Pattern Save As	
Library: DEMO.LIB	Pattern:
	 Create Component Match Default Pin Des to Pad Numbers
	OK Cancel

- 3. Select a library that you want to save the pattern to, and then specify a pattern name. If you want to just create a pattern (not a component), click **OK**.
- 4. To automatically create a component that corresponds to the pattern, enable the **Create Component** option before you click **OK**.

The auto-created component has pin designators, which match the Default Pin Designator of the individual pads. Give the component a new name in the *Save Component As* dialog; otherwise the component will be named the same as the pattern name.

If the Create Component box is cleared, the pattern is created without a component; to create a component that uses this pattern use the Library Executive to build the component and then attach this pattern to it. The *Library Executive User's Guide* includes a detailed tutorial on creating a 7400 component.

5. Enable the **Match Default Pin Designators to Pad Numbers** option if you want to apply default pin designators that match the pad numbers. If the pattern's pads have existing default pin designators, you must confirm that you want them overwritten with the pad numbers.

Duplicate default pin designators are not allowed, except blank. If any duplicates are found, an error message is displayed and the offending pads are highlighted.

Library Archive Library

Choose **Archive Library** to store component information from open libraries for components used in the active design file. Saving the component information in one library file can be extremely helpful, especially for large designs, to keep the design component information in a single, readily accessible location. This eliminates the need to store the complete set of libraries used to create the design.

When the Archive Library command is chosen, the following file search dialog appears:

Library Archive Library	? X
Save in: 🔄 Demo 💌 🗲 🖪	D 💣 🎟 -
💓 Demo.lib	
Modfax0.lib	
File name:	Save
Save as type: Library Files (*.lib)	Cancel
	///

The definitions for each component in the current design must reside in at least one open library.

The Save in area displays the current folder and any files in that folder. The File name area lets you enter or select a file name with the extension specified in the **Save as Type** area.

- 1. If the folder you want is not displayed in the **Save In** area, move through the directory tree to select the proper folder.
- 2. Type a new library file name in the **File** » **Name** area or select one from the list displayed in the **Save In** area.
- 3. Click Save.

If the library already exists, and you want to replace the data in the file, you must confirm that you want the file to be overwritten.

The results of the **Archive Library** command are displayed in an output file named ArchiveLibrary.err located in the same directory as the destination library. This file contains errors, warnings and informational messages logged during the archive process.

CHAPTER 19

Utils Commands

Using the Utils Commands

The Utils commands provide handy functions such as renumbering pads and reference designators, running design rule checking, and performing a variety of netlist tasks along with adding customized access to other applications.

The Utils menu has additional command options if you have purchased P-CAD Library Executive. Utils commands P-CAD Library Executive, P-CAD Pattern Editor, and P-CAD Symbol Editor launch their respective P-CAD application. Refer to your *Library Executive User's Guide* for details on these products.

Utils Renumber

Utils » Renumber is a triple-function command for assigning pad numbers and default pin designators to free pads, and assigning reference designators to components manually or automatically.

For components, you can also specify designator templates (e.g., U) and increment values (e.g., 1) for reference designators (U1, U2, etc.).

Renumbering Reference Designators

1. Choose Utils » Renumber. The following Utils Renumber dialog appears:

Utils Renumber		
Туре	Method	Direction
EefDes	C ∆uto	💿 Top to Bottom
C Pad Num	● <u>M</u> anual	C Left to Right
C Default Pin Des		
Starting RefDes: U1		OK Cancel

- 2. In the Type frame, choose **RefDes**. The options in the dialog change accordingly (for RefDes), such as the Starting RefDes (e.g., U1) and Increment Value (e.g., 1. You also have the option of Manual or Auto, Top to Bottom or Left to Right.
- 3. If you choose **Manual** in the Method frame, you are in a temporary mode of assigning numbers, so every left-button click on a component for Manual renumbering will increment the value next to the designator. Notice that the Top to Bottom and Left to Right options are unavailable.

You can enter the starting value in the Starting RefDes box. For example, if you entered the value U100 in the Starting RefDes box, then specify the Increment Value as 10, the first component you click is designated U100, the next one U110, then U120, etc. If you started at U000 and incremented by 1, the first would be U000, the second U001, etc.

4. Right-click or press ESC to end the temporary mode of Utils Renumber.

To choose **Auto** in the Method frame, you must have multiple components selected before you use this command (Auto is shaded if you don't). After you click **OK**, the reference designators will automatically increment according to your specification. Only the selected components will be renumbered. For example, you have selected nine components positioned horizontally that are numbered randomly C1 through C9, you renumber them with the Increment Value of 1, automatically (Auto) and enabled Top to Bottom. When you click **OK**, they will renumber C1, C2, and C3, etc. in rows as shown in the following figure:



If you choose **Left to Right**, with an increment value of 1, they will be numbered C1, C2, C3, etc. in columns as shown in the following figure.



Renumbering Pads

To renumber pads, do the following:

1. Choose Utils » Renumber. The following Utils Renumber dialog appears.

Utils Renumber		
Туре	Method	Direction
C RefDes	C Auto	Top to Bottom
Pad Num	Manual	C Left to Right
🔿 Default Pin Des		
Starting Number: 1 Increment Value: 1		OK Cancel

- 2. In the Type frame, choose **Pad Num**; the rest of the choices in the dialog change accordingly. Then specify Starting Number, and Increment Value, as appropriate. Manual is the only choice for pad numbering; Auto is shaded.
- 3. You are in a temporary mode of assigning numbers. Click a pad to assign that pad a number.

For example, the first pad you click on would be number 1 (if Start Value was specified as 1), the second pad number 2 (if the Increment Value was specified as 1). As you click on a pad while in the Renumber mode, it highlights to show that a number has been assigned.

The Status Line shows the pad number every time you (re)number a pad.

You can use the unwind feature to reverse the renumbering process. The **BACKSPACE** key unwinds the renumbering.

4. **Right-click** or press **ESC** to end the Renumber temporary mode.

The renumber feature is sensitive to layers when renumbering pads. You must be on the appropriate layer for the pad to renumber it. For example, the current layer must be Top for a top SMT pad.

Renumbering Default Pin Designators

1. Choose Utils » Renumber. The following Utils Renumber dialog appears.

Method	Direction
C <u>A</u> uto	C Lop to Bottom
● <u>M</u> anual	C Left to Right
_	OK
	Cancel
	C Auto ⓒ <u>M</u> anual

- 2. In the Type frame, choose **Default PinDes**; the rest of the choices in the dialog will change accordingly. Then specify Starting PinDes, and Increment Value, as appropriate. Manual is the only choice for default pin designator numbering; Auto is shaded.
- 3. You are in a temporary mode of assigning numbers. Click a pad to assign that pad a number.

For example, the first pad you click on would be assigned a default pin designator of A1 (if Start Value was specified as A1), the second pad's default pin designator is A2 (if the Increment Value was specified as 1). As you click on a pad while in the Renumber mode, it highlights to show that a default pin designator has been assigned.

The Status Line shows the default pin designator number every time you (re)number a pad.

To reverse the renumbering process, press the **BACKSPACE** key. This unwinds the renumbering one pad at a time.

4. **Right-click** or press **ESC** to end the Renumber temporary mode

Utils Force Update

Choose **Utils** » **Force Update** to replace all components of a given type in your design with the first component of that type in an open library. This is useful when you modify a component in P-CAD Library Executive and want to replace the original component in a PCB design with the modified component.

For example, suppose you change the number of pins in a component or add a test point to a component in a library. When you try to place the modified component in the design, an error message appears. Choose **Utils Force Update** to update all occurrences of that component in the design to reflect the changes. When all existing components of that type have been changed in the design, you can place more of the newly modified component into the design without incurring an error.

You cannot Force Update a fixed component in the design with a modified component of the same type.

Choose Utils » Force Update to open the following Force Update dialog.

Force Update		
Components:		
CAP300	Set All	Clear All
	Attribute and Pin Label C Merge Attributes (Fa Merge Attributes (Fa Replace Attributes In C Ignore Attributes Fro	Handling vor Library) vor Design) n The Design m Library
U;	idate Close	e

Select a component from the Components list, or click **Set All** to select all components. Then, click **Update**. To cancel your selections, click **Clear All**. The command looks in all open libraries in the order they are listed in the Library Setup list for the replacement components.

Select the **Maintain Rotation** check box to maintain the rotation of any rotated components. It does not maintain rotations for components in designs loaded from Tango Series II.

The buttons in the Attributes Handling frame let you choose the method used to update component attributes in your design with the same type of components from the library. Remember that there are rules used to determine an attribute value. For more information see the *P-CAD Library Executive User's Guide*.

• **Merge Attributes (Favor Library):** This merge option combines library and design component attributes in the component being used in the design. It favors component attributes from the library over the component attributes of the same name in the design.

The following rules determine which attributes and values are kept in the design component:

- If an attribute exists in the library component and not in the design component, the library attributes and their values are copied into the design component.
- If the same attribute exists in both the design component and the library component with different values, the value of the library component attribute will replace the value of the design component attribute.
- An existing design component attribute, which has no matching library component attribute, is retained, unchanged, in the design component.
- **Merge Attributes (Favor Design):** Again, this merge option combines library and design component attributes in the component being used in the design. This merge option favors component attributes in the design over the component attributes of the same name in the library.

These rules decide which attributes and values are kept in the design component:

- If an attribute exists in the design component and not in the library component, the design attributes and their values are kept, unchanged, in the design component.
- If the same attribute with different values exists in both the design component and the library component, the value of the design component attribute takes precedence and is retained in the design.
- **Replace Attributes in The Design:** Choose this option to replace all of the attributes and their values in the design component with those defined in the library component. Current design attributes are removed from the component.
- Ignore Attributes From Library: Keeps attributes in the design and ignores those in the library. This feature gives you more control over what to update in the design if you want to preserve any specific attribute modifications. With this feature, you can handle attributes in the same manner that is used when loading netlists in P-CAD PCB.

Utils Record ECOs

Choose **Utils** » **Record ECOs** to record Engineering Change Orders (ECOs). The following *Utils Record ECOs* dialog appears.

Utils Record ECOs		
CO Recorder	OK Cancel	

In the ECO Recorder frame, choose **On** or **Off** to enable or disable the ECO recorder. If there are pending ECOs, you are prompted when a design is saved on whether to append the pending ECO to the current ECO file.

This function can also be activated using the ECO icon on the toolbar. When this function is activated (either from the toolbar or the *Record ECOs* dialog), the toolbar button is enabled).

Types of ECOs

The following types of ECOs can be recorded:

- RefDes change (Was-Is).
- Net name changes.
- Additions, deletions, and modifications of components.
- Component swaps (Replace).
- Additions and deletions of nets.
- Additions and deletions of net nodes.

- Additions, deletions, and modifications of attributes.
- Pin and gate swap changes.

The format of the ECO file is determined by the setting in the *Options Configure* dialog. Full ECOformat files have an .eco file name extension, and Was/Is ECO files have a .was file name extension.

PCB ECO was-is format differs from Tango-PCB ECO format to be more consistent with other industry was-is formats. In particular, temporary refdes names are different. To read these files into Tango- Schematic or Tango-PCB, you will need to edit the file and add a colon (:) before any temporary RefDes name.

Utils Import ECOs

Choose **Utils** » **Import ECOs** to import an ECO file and apply the ECO changes to the current design file. The .eco file is created in P-CAD Schematic to capture schematic changes that impact your design.

Fixed components can be deleted by importing an ECO file.

When you choose this command the following dialog appears:

Utils Import ECOs					
ECO Filename	(no ECO file selected)				
Preview ECOs	OK	Cancel			
Create Pseudo Patterns					

ECO Filename

1. Click **ECO Filename** to open the following *ECO Filename* dialog.

ECO Filename	? ×
Look in: 🔁 Demo 💌 🖛 🖻 📸 📰	•
File name: test.eco 0p	ben
Files of type: ECO Files (*.ECO)	ncel

- 2. Type, or select from the list, the name of the file you want to open in the Filename box.
- 3. .eco files are assumed to be full ECO format; .was files are assumed to be Was/Is format.

- 4. Click **Open** to return to the Utils Import ECOs dialog.
- 5. To load components with a pseudo pattern, check the **Create Pseudo Pattern** check box. See for details.
- 6. Click **OK** to import the ECOs.

Preview ECOs

When you select an ECO filename and then click **PreView ECOs**, you can view ECOs, if there are any, before importing them. The ECOs are displayed in the Notepad.

<i>ब</i> ्र 🗛	le_m	rp.eco -	Notepad	_ 🗆 🗵
File	Edit	Format	Help	
Cmp	-Nan	ie, Pat	Name, Quantity, Description	*
CAP.	300,	CAPSU	00000 00056 padial polarized Ca	nacitor
CAP.	300F 350	CAP35	14357 Canacitor	pacitoi
CAP	4004	P.CAP	00AP.65775.Axial Polarized Cap	acitor
CAP	700A	P, CAP	'00AP,80754,Axial Polarized Cap	acitor
CAP	800A	P, CAP	00AP,4362,Axial Polarized Capa	citor
CAP:	1000	AP, CA	1000AP,4759,Axial Polarized Ca	pacitor
	1200 700	CAP,CA	DD 9874 Dolarized Canacitor	action
CAP	400.	CAP40	1.8903.Capacitor	
RES	500,	RES50	,22357,Resistor	
RES	600,	RES60	,64532,Resistor	
RES	700,	RES70	,7897,Resistor	
RES.	1300	, RESL	00,26659,Resistor	
RES	2200 6516	PR STR	80654 "Five Bussed Resistors	STP"
RES	6SIF	PI.SIP	.579806. "Three Isolated Resist	ors. SIP"
RES	6SIF	ΊSOL,	IP6,1956,"Three Isolated Resis	tors, SIP"
RES	BSIF	PDT,SI	8,65967,"Twelve Dual Term Resi:	stors, SIP"
RES	BSIF	PI,SIP	1,12, "Four Isolated Resistors, :	SIP"
RES.	1051 1067	DDT S	10,30437, NINE Bussed Resistor: 10,24722 "sixtoop pupl Torm P.	s, SIP prictors SID"
RES	1403	PT.DT	14.67887."Seven Isolate Resisti	ors. DIP"
RES:	16DI	PDT,D	P16,9064, "Twenty-eight Dual Te	rm Resistors, DIP"
RES:	16DI	PI,ĎI	16,21577,"Eight Isolated Resis	tors, DIP"

If you have added the same attribute to two parts in the same component from P-CAD Schematic, PCB rejects the multiple additions when it reads the ECO file with these changes. You need to delete the extra CompAttrAdd statements from the ECO file before reading it into PCB.

Pseudo Patterns

You can use the **Create Pseudo Pattern** option to load components that don't have attached patterns. If a component does not have a pattern and matches a component in the open libraries, P-CAD PCB automatically creates a pseudo pattern.

For each pseudo pattern created, a message appears to let you know which components are affected. A DRC error is reported for each pseudo pattern on the design.

Output is restricted on designs with pseudo patterns. You can print the design, but **Gerber Out**, **NC Drill**, and **PDIF Out** are disabled. You can use the **Utils Force Update** command to replace components with pseudo patterns after you have finished creating and attaching the correct patterns for your components.

Utils Export ECOs

Choose **Utils** » **Export ECOs** to save ECOs to the ECO file at any time, without saving the design file. If there are pending ECOs, the following dialog appears when you choose this command:

Utils Export ECOs	
[⊻iew Pending ECOs]	
Save ECOs Now	Cancel

View Pending ECOs

When you click **View Pending ECOs**, you can view pending (outgoing) ECOs, which are still stored in memory. The pending ECO data are written to a temporary ASCII file and displayed in Windows Notepad. The format displayed is either full or Was/Is, depending on the setting in the *Options Configure* dialog.

Save ECOs Now

1. To save pending ECOs, click **Save ECOs Now**. The following warning message appears:

Warning 5235 🛛 🛛 🕅				
⚠	Normally, you should let the File Save command save pending ECOs for you automatically. Saving your ECOs now can result in a mismatch between your design file and your ECOs. Do you wish to save ECOs anyway?			
	<u>[Yes</u>] <u>N</u> o			

It is recommended that you save ECOs at the same time you save your design using the **File » Save** command. If you save ECOs without saving the design, your file and the ECOs may not match. That is, the ECOs might not reflect the current state of the design.

2. To continue, click **Yes**.

The *Save ECOs* dialog appears:

Save ECOs	
ECD Filename D:\Program Files\\Modfax0.EC0	
Net changes introduced by removal of C12	
Append ECOs to File Discard ECOs	

3. The ECO filename appears at the top of the dialog. It is the last used ECO file. To change it, click **ECO Filename** and the following dialog appears:

ECO Filename	? ×
Save in: 🔁 Demo 💌 🗲 🖻	📸 🎫 -
Circuit Simulation	
Modfax0.ECO	
1	
File name: Modfax0.EC0	<u>S</u> ave
Save as here: ECO Ellas (% ECO)	Cancel
Save as Where I con Liles (con)	

4. Type, or select from the list, the name of the file you want to open in the Filename box. Click **Save** to return to the *Save ECOs* dialog.

Full ECO files must have an .eco extension, and Was/Is files must have a .was extension.

- 5. In the Comments box, type any comments that can help document the ECOs.
- 6. To append ECOs to the ECO file, click **Append ECOs to File**.
- 7. To discard ECOs, click **ECOs**. Once discarded they cannot be recovered.

Utils DRC

Choose **Utils** » **DRC** to set up Design Rule Checking (DRC). This process ensures that all electrical connections in the design layout match the connections in the netlist; the program also checks to see if minimum clearances have been maintained throughout the design.

DRC uses the design rules to determine the minimum clearance allowed between two objects. See for the order in which the rules are searched.

This minimum clearance is calculated as follows:

- The minimum allowed clearance for each object is determined by searching the design clearance rules in a specific order.
- Then the maximum of these two clearance rules is used as the minimum clearance allowed between the objects.

If the calculated clearance between the two objects is less than the minimum clearance, DRC reports a clearance violation.

DRC ignores SPECCTRA Router clearance rules.

Choose Utils » DRC to open the following dialog:

Utils Design Rule Check		
Eilename D:\Program Fi	iles\P-CAD 2001\Demo\Modfax0).drc
Report Options ✓ View Report ✓ Summarize Ignored Errors ✓ Summarize Overridden Error	Error Options Annotate Errors Clear All Overrides	Design Rules Severity Levels
Design Rule Checks		Area To DRC
Netlist Compare	Net Length	Entire Workspace
Clearance Violations	Silk Screen Violations	C Room Filter
Text Violations	Copper Pour Violations	C Beginn Define Beginn
Netlist Violations	✓ Plane Violations	- Berion Coordinates
✓ Width Violations	Component Violations	Lower Left: Upper Right:
Unrouted Nets	Drilling Violations	∐ ⊠: 0.0mil ∐: 0.0mil
Unconnected Pins	<u>I</u> est Point Violations	<u> </u>
	ОК	Cancel

Filename

Click **Filename** to open the *Design Rule Check Report* dialog. From this dialog you choose a **DRC** report file to which you can save the report information.

Design Rule	Check Report		? ×
Save in: 🔁	Demo	ا 🖿 🕂	* 🎟 🕶
File name:	lest dro		Save
nic ridifie.	liestaic		Jave
Save as type:	DRC Files (*.drc)	•	Cancel

View Report

In the Report Options frame, select the **View Report** check box to open the DRC report file when the DRC is complete.

Design Rules (DRC Setup)

You can specify the rules for the design in **Options** » **Design Rules**. To open this dialog from the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog, click **Design Rules**. The *Options Design Rules* dialog appears

Options Design Rules					
Design	Layer	Booms	Net <u>C</u> lass	<u>N</u> et	Class <u>T</u> o Class
	Name		Value]
SilkscreenCl	earance	5.0mil			
HoleToHole	Clearance	13.0mil			
					-
Γ	Add	Delete Pro	perties Lau	nch	
			ose		

In the *Options Design Rules* dialog, each of the six tabs allows you to set design rules on different hierarchical levels: **Design**, **Layer**, **Rooms**, **Net Class**, **Net** and **Class to Class**.

Design Rules by Test Category

Each rule in the Design Rules Check is associated with a test category. The test categories are linked to the order, or precedence, by which Design Rules Check applies the rules to the design.

The following table shows the DRC rules to which values can be assigned for each test category. It also includes the order of precedence (hierarchy), from high to low, by which DRC looks for the presence of the rule's value. For instance, if the Clearance rule has a value only at the Layer level, the Design Rule Check would have searched and found no assigned Clearance value in the Class-To-Class, Net, and Net Class rules and would then use the value set at the Layer level.

Test Category	Rules	Hierarchy
Netlist Compare	None	None
Clearance Violations	Clearance	Class-To-Class Layer
	LineToLineClearance	Class-To-Class
	PadToLineClearance	Net Layer
	PadToPadClearance	Net
	ViaToLineClearance	Net Class Layer
	ViaToPadClearance	Net Class
	ViaToViaClearance	Layer (except Clearance)
	BoardEdgeClearance	Layer
		Design

Test Category	Rules	Hierarchy
Width Violations	Width	Net Layer
		Net
		Net Class Layer
		Net Class
		Layer
		Design
Netlist Violations	MaxVias	Net
	ViaStyle	Net Class
		Layer
		Design
Unrouted Nets	None	None
Unconnected Pins	None	None
Net Length	MinNetLength	Net
	MaxNetLength	Net Class
		Design
Silk Screen Violations	SilkscreenClearance	Design
Copper Pour Violations	Clearance	Class-to-Class Layer
	LineToLineClearance	Class-To-Class
	PadToLineClearance	Net Layer
	ViaToLineClearance	Net
		Net Class Layer
		Net Class
	BoardEdgeClearance	Layer
		Design
Plane Violations	Clearance	Class-to-Class Layer
	LineToLineClearance	Class-To-Class
	PadToLineClearance	Net Layer
	ViaToLineClearance	Net
		Net Class Layer
		Net Class
		Layer
		Design

Test Category	Rules	Hierarchy
Component Violations	PlacementSide	Component
		Room
		Design
	MaxComponentHeight	Room
		Layer
		Design
Drilling Violations	HoleToHoleClearance	Design
Test Point Violations	TestPointAccuracy	Design
	TestPointCenter	Design
	TestPointGrid	Design
	TestPointPermitted	Design
		Net Class
		Net
	TestPointRequired	Design
	TestPointSide	Design
		Net Class
		Net
	TestPointSpacing	Design
		Net Class
		Net

Design Rules by Hierarchy

The next table illustrates how the test categories apply to the hierarchical levels, and lists the applicable rules. This table begins with the most specific hierarchical level and graduates up to the most general level.

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
None	Netlist Compare	None.
	Unrouted Nets	
	Unconnected Pins	
Component	Component Violations	PlacementSide only.
Room	Component Violations	PlacementSide
		MaxComponentHeight

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
Class-to-Class Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Copper Pour Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToLineClearance
		PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Class-to-Class	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Copper Pour Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToLineClearance
		PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Net Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Width Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		Width
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
Net	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Netlist Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Net Length	PadToLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToPadClearance
	Plane Violations	ViaToLineClearance
	Test Point Violations	ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		MaxVias
		ViaStyle
		MinNetLength
		MaxNetLength
		TesPointRequired
		TestPointGrid
		TestPointSpacing
		TestPointPermitted
		TestPointAccuracy
		TestPointSide
		TestPointCenter
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.
Net Class Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Width Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToLineClearance
	Plane Violations	PadToPadClearance
		ViaToLineClearance
		ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		Width
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
Net Class	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Netlist Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Net Length	PadToLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToPadClearance
	Plane Violations	ViaToLineClearance
	Test Point Violations	ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		BoardEdgeClearance
		MaxVias
		ViaStyle
		MinNetLength
		MaxNetLength
		TesPointRequired
		TestPointGrid
		TestPointSpacing
		TestPointPermitted
		TestPointAccuracy
		TestPointSide
		TestPointCenter
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.

Hierarchy	Test Category	Rules
Layer	Clearance Violations	Clearance
	Netlist Violations	LinetoLineClearance
	Net Length	PadToLineClearance
	Copper Pour Violations	PadToPadClearance
	Plane Violations	ViaToLineClearance
	Component Violations	ViaToPadClearance
		ViaToViaClearance
		MaxVias
		ViaStyle
		MinNetLength
		MaxNetLength
		TesPointRequired
		TestPointGrid
		TestPointSpacing
		TestPointPermitted
		TestPointAccuracy
		TestPointSide
		TestPointCenter
		MaxComponentHeight
		NOTE: Lines, arcs and vias cannot touch a keepout.

Additional Design Rules

The third table, shown below, lists additional checks performed by DRC, which are not user specified. You do not have to add attributes or specify values for attributes in order for DRC to check these constraints. For instance, DRC checks components for inclusion in a Room. You cannot set a value for this check since there is no attribute associated with it, but it is part of the verification that DRC performs.

Test Category	DRC Checks
Clearance	Short
	Short to Copper Tie
	Uncommitted Pins Shorted

Test Category	DRC Checks
Component	Component Side
	Component Height
	Room Inclusion
	Empty Room
Copper Pour	Copper Pour Clearance
	Unconnected Copper Pour Island
	Unpoured Copper Pour
	Copper Pour No Net
Drilling	Drilling Clearance
	Hole Range Same Layer
	Hole Range Conflict
Net Length	Net Length
Netlist	Point-to-Point Connectivity
	Pseudo Pattern
	Undefined Via Style
	Tie Net Connectivity to Copper Tie
	Net Connectivity to Uncommitted Pins
Plane	Plane Clearance
	Fragmented Plane
	Plane Partial Connections
	Plane Shorts
	Plane Unconnected
	Plane No Net
	Plane Overlap
Silk Screen Clearance	Silk Screen

Test Category	DRC Checks
Test Point	Test point not on net copper.
	Test point not positioned on grid.
	Test point violates spacing rule.
	Test point not permitted on object.
	Test point not centered on SMT.
	Test point not centered on thru hole.
	Test point pad and via accuracy.
	Test point required by net.
	Test point on wrong side.
Text	Text Clearance
Unconnected Pin	Unconnected Pin
Unrouted Net	Unrouted net
	Hole Range No connect
	Hole Range Violation

When you have finished setting up the design rules click **Close** to return to the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog.

Annotate Errors

To show DRC error indicators on your design, select the **Annotate Errors** check box in the Error Options frame. These error indicators can then be selected to view error information. The error information is determined by the other error/violation options that you enable in design rule checking.

To view the error associated with an error indicator, select it and choose **Edit** » **Properties**. This opens the *Find DRC Errors* dialog. The display of the error indicators can also be controlled in the Miscellaneous tab of the *Options Display* dialog; the selection criteria for DRC error indicators (for block selecting) is determined by the **Options** » **Selection Mask** command. For details, see *Miscellaneous (page 444)* and *Options Selection Mask, (page 423)*.

The DRC error indicators can be output to a report, which lists all of the locations and the errors that they are indicating.

When you are finished setting up the DRC options, click **OK** to begin the design rule checking process. Error indicators are cleared when you choose **Utils** » **DRC**.

Severity Levels

In the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog, click the **Severity Levels** button to open the *Rules Severity Level* dialog where you can set the severity level of each design rule.

Rule	Rule Category	Error	Warning	Ignored	
Clearance	Clearance	Yes			
Keepout Clearance	Clearance	Yes			
Short	Clearance	Yes			
Short to Copper Tie	Clearance	Yes			
Incommitted Pins Shorted	Clearance	Yes			
Point-To-Point Connectivity	Netlist		Yes		
Pseudo Pattern	Netlist	Yes			
Jndefined Via Style	Netlist	Yes			
/ia Style	Netlist	Yes			
Max Vias	Netlist	Yes			
Jnconnected Pin	Unconnected Pins	Yes			
Copper Pour Clearance	Copper Pour	Yes			
Jnconnected Copper Pour Island	Copper Pour	Yes			•
Severity Level C <u>E</u> rror C <u>W</u> arning C Igni	OK Cance	<u>è</u> et to defi	ault		

By choosing one of the **Severity Level** option buttons, you can set one of three severity levels: error, warning, or ignored.

- If you choose the **Error** button, DRC error indicators are created for you to display, select, and view.
- If you choose the **Warning** button, DRC errors are included in the DRC report but not annotated in the design.
- If you choose the **Ignored** button, DRC errors are not annotated in the design. An error summary appears in the report only if you select the **Summarize Ignored Checks** check box in the Report Options frame of the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog.

Select one or more rules and click the appropriate option button to change the severity level of the rule(s). Rule categories include the following: clearance, netlist, unconnected pints, copper pour, drilling, unrouted nets, silkscreen, text, width, component, plane, and test point.

To restore the default values for the severity level of all rules, select the **Set to Default** check box and click **OK**.

Summarize Ignored Errors

If a design rule has a severity level set to Ignored, it is not listed in the output report. The count of Ignored errors can be summarized in the report, however, by enabling the **Summarize Ignored Errors** option.

Summarize Overridden Errors

When a design has a number of errors that you do not wish to see again, such as unconnected pins, you can override their appearance in the design by choosing the **Edit Override** command and disabling the **Display Overridden Errors** option in the Miscellaneous tab of the *Options Display* dialog. To summarize this type of error in the DRC report, enable the **Summarize Overridden Errors** option in the *Utils DRC* dialog.

Clear All Overrides

When errors in the design have been overridden, and you want to clear or delete them from the design, enable the **Clear All Overrides** option.

Design Rule Checks

The Design Rule Checks frame contains a number of report options. When a check box is selected, that option appears in the DRC report. When a check box is clear, the option is not included in the report.

- **Netlist Compare.** Compares a Tango, P-CAD ASCII, or Master Designer ALT format netlist file with the current nets in the design.
- **Clearance Violations.** Enables air-gap and board edge clearance checking and reports existing shorts. Items are considered to be physically connected if they overlap or have a clearance of 0 mil. Items that can be physically connected to one another are arcs, polygons, pads, lines, copper pours and vias. The bounding rectangle of text placed in the design is checked to assure that it does not short to other copper on the signal layers. If this check box is clear, no clearance errors will be reported.
- Text Violations. Reports all clearance violations between text and other items on signal layers.
- **Netlist Violations.** Enables electrical checking against the netlist within the design. If there are no nets in the design, this option is ignored. The report includes a warning for those objects that are not point-to-point routed. The warning includes the location of the objects.
- Width Violations. Verifies that the line and arc widths do not exceed the DRC designated widths.
- Unrouted Nets. Enables reporting of any nets that are currently unrouted (unrouted connections still exist in the design). Unconnected Pins enables the reporting of all pins that are not connected to other pins. This includes all of the single-node routes as well as pins that are not connected to anything at all.
- **Net Length.** Enables the reporting of net lengths, which exceed the minimum, and/or maximum lengths set for lines and arcs within the net.
- Silkscreen Violations. Enables checking on pad/via to silkscreen violations. Silkscreen on pads on top layer can interfere with soldering process; on vias it can cause paint dripping or collecting in unwanted areas.
- **Copper Pour Violations.** Enables reporting of unflooded copper pour entities, copper pours that are not part of a net, copper pour island clearance violations, unconnected islands, fill areas and thermal connections that have clearance violations.
- **Plane Violations.** Enables reporting of overlapping planes, invalid pad and via copper connections, connected pad and vias that are not electrically connected to the plane, isolated areas of copper in a plane.
- **Component Violations.** Enables error reporting when violations occur in a component's height and layer side placement. In addition, a violation is reported when a Room's Included

Component list is empty, or if any of the Included Components have not been properly placed in the Room.

• **Drilling Violations.** Enables connectivity checking of pads/vias through their attached layers, utilizing the layer ordering and hole range for determining where the pad/vias begin and end.

Also enables checking for layer separation, interference between holes, collocated holes, and vias existing solely on a signal layer.

• **Test Point Violations.** Select this check box to check for nets that do not have a required test point. This option also checks for test points that do not fall on the correct object, or on the specified test point grid or pad center. In addition, it checks for test points that fall inside of the minimum spacing or on a different side of the board than the net requires.

Area To DRC

If you are working in a specific area of the board and only want to check violations in that area, you can choose where to apply the DRC with one of the following options:

- Entire Workspace: This default setting checks rules violations for the entire design.
- **Room:** If your design has one or more rooms, you can choose a specific room to DRC by clicking the **Room** radio button and selecting the desired room from the drop down list provided. PCB checks the design rules on all layers for design objects that intersect the room.
- **Region:** When you click the **Region** button, you can define the exact area to DRC. The Region can be defined in two ways:
- Click the **Define Region** button. PCB takes you back to the design. Press and hold the left mouse button on the first corner of the area you want to define. Drag the cursor until the target zone is completely within the rectangle and release the button. Click the right mouse button or press the **ESC** key and confirm that you want to update the region coordinates provided in the message.

To set the Region Coordinates directly, enter the X and Y coordinates for the Lower Left and Upper Right in the appropriate boxes.

Click **OK** to begin the design rule checking process.

Utils Find Errors

Choose the **Utils Find Errors** command to open the *Find DRC Errors* dialog. In this dialog, you can view and find the rules violations in your design:

Find Errors		
Design contains no DRC e	rror points	<u> </u>
1		V V
Show Only Selected	Error Number:	Find
E Show Only Overrides	🔲 Override - Don't Display Again	Jump To
All Categories 💌		Close

If you have not run the **Utils » Design Rules Check**, then the Find *DRC Errors* dialog displays a message informing you that there are no DRC error points. When you choose the **DRC command**, you have access to all the errors through the *Find DRC Errors* dialog.

The sections of the dialog are as follows:

- **Categories:** Displays the rule categories in a drop down list. You can view the errors for one or all categories by selecting the desired category.
- **Description:** Displays the error number along with an explanation for the error.
- **Error Number:** In the Error Number box you can type the number of the error you want to see and click the **Find** button to go directly to it. If you want to scroll through the errors sequentially, use the up and down arrows next to the box.
- Show Only Selected: If you have block selected an area in the design, and want to see just the errors in that location, enable the Show Only Selected option.
- **Jump To:** When you find an error in the report that you want to locate in the design, click the **Jump To** button. The error finder positions the cursor in the center of the error indicator.
- **Override**: Don't display this error again: As you display each error in the design, individual errors can be removed from the error display by checking the Override Don't display this error again option. The overridden errors can be summarized in the reports by enabling the **Summarize Overridden Errors** option in the *Utils Design Rule Check* dialog.

The *Find DRC Errors* dialog remains on the screen until you click the **Close** button. As long as there are error indicators in the design, you can retrieve the error information in the *Find DRC Errors* dialog with the **Utils Find Errors** command.

Utils Load Netlist

Choose the **Utils** » **Load Netlist** command to load a netlist from a .net file into your design. If you have a board outline created, the components will be placed directly above the board outline. If there is no board outline, the components will be placed into the lower-left corner of the workspace.

If any of the design limits are exceeded, your design cannot be loaded using P-CAD PCB (6/400). See *Chapter 1, Introduction to P-CAD PCB*, for a listing about the actual limit.
Loading a Netlist

1. Choose the **Utils** » **Load Netlist** command. The *Utils Load Netlist* dialog appears.

Utils Load Netlist					
Netlist Filename) D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\Modfax0.net					
Netlist Format: P-CAD ASCII					
☐ ⊠reference File: Xrgf Filename					
🔽 Optimize Nets 📃 Check	< for Copper Sharing				
☑ <u>R</u> econnect Copper □ Create	e Pseudo P <u>a</u> tterns				
Enable auto swapping for incoming compo components with solder flow direction.	nents and synchronize all				
Attribute Handling	Net Class and Rules Handling				
Merge Attributes (Favor Netlist)	Replace Existing Net Classes				
Merge Attributes (Favor Design) O Ignore Netlist Net Classes					
C Replace Existing Attributes					
C Ignore Netlist Attributes					
OK	Cancel				

- 2. To choose a netlist file, click the **Netlist Filename** button. The *Netlist File* dialog appears from which you choose a netlist file.
- 3. Use the Netlist Format field and combo box to select the correct source file format for the netlist file so that the PCB file filter can read the format.

Your choices are P-CAD ASCII, Master Designer ALT, and Tango format. P-CAD ASCII format includes attributes attached to each net and component in the netlist. Tango format is the standard Tango format.

4. If you select P-CAD ASCII, four options for attribute handling are available: attributes may be merged with current design attributes, favoring either the netlist or the design attribute if the attribute exists in both; attributes may be ignored; or all design attributes may be removed and replaced with those present in the netlist.

If you select P-CAD ASCII, two net class options are available. You can choose to replace existing net classes with net classes in the netlist, or to ignore the net class information in the netlist.

- 5. If you select the Master Designer ALT file format, use the **Xref Filename** button to open a cross-reference file (.xrf) for type mapping.
- 6. To load components with pseudo patterns, check the Create Pseudo Pattern check box.

7. When you select a file from the *Netlist File* dialog, you will return to the *Netlist File Load* dialog, where the filename will appear. Click **OK** and the netlist from the file will load onto your design.

Loading a Netlist on an Existing Board

You can load a netlist into an existing board (which already has items), with the following rules and results:

- Components with matching RefDes must also have matching Types. If there is any conflict with the component section of the netlist, the load is aborted.
- Any existing components on the board that are not part of the netlist will be preserved.
- Any components in the netlist being loaded that are new to the design will be added.
- For components that include, pads and text that are of styles that have the same names but different data than those styles in the current design, the incoming style names will be bracketed to indicate the style conflict. The new (bracketed) style names will be added to the list of available styles in the current design.
- The net information and connections of the existing design will be replaced by the new net information.
- If you enable the **Reconnect Copper** check box, an analysis done by the program may find nets that are shorted. Shorted nets are listed in the error log file.
- When a new net is found to be open, a connection will be created. When extra connections, or misconnections, are found, a warning message appears.
- In the event that existing copper and new nets match, no connection lines will appear because the nets are already routed.

Pseudo Patterns

You can choose the **Create Pseudo Pattern** option to load netlist components that don't have attached patterns. If a netlist component does not have a pattern and matches a component in the open libraries, P-CAD PCB automatically creates a pseudo pattern.

For each pseudo pattern created, a message appears to let you know which components are affected.

Jumper Pads

Components with jumper pads behave as if all of the pads marked as being jumpered together are connected.

Optimize Nets

The Optimize Nets check box can be used to inhibit the automatic optimization of the rats nest connections. If optimization is disabled, the connections are made in the order given in the netlist. Disabling this option also speeds up the netlist load process since the time-consuming

optimization phase is skipped. Once the netlist is loaded, you can choose the **Utils** » **Optimize Nets** command at any time.

Reconnect Copper

Select the **Reconnect Copper** check box to inhibit the automatic "reconnect" of existing copper on the board. If reconnect is disabled, the net connections match the netlist exactly, and all existing copper on the board is converted to "free" (non-intelligent) copper. Free copper isn't associated with any net. If there is existing copper on the board, and the reconnect option is enabled, the reconnect phase can take a long time. Therefore, it is recommended that you only disable the reconnect option if you want to quickly load a netlist into a board with existing copper, and you are willing to accept having free copper.

When the **Reconnect Copper** check box is enabled, Utils Load Netlist generates connections between those objects that are physically connected but not point-to-point routed.

If you disable reconnect, it is possible that existing free copper on the board will short one or more nets together. This can only be detected by choosing the **Utils** » **DRC** command.

After you have loaded the netlist, you can select the components and connections either as a group (a block select) or individually (single select) to move them into their appropriate positions in the design.

Check for Copper Sharing

If the **Check for Copper Sharing** option is enabled, line to line trace intersections and line traces crossing the center of a pad or via are detected. Intersecting line traces are split at the point of intersection and lines are split at pad or via centers, creating point-to-point routes.

Utils Generate Netlist

Choose the **Utils** » **Generate Netlist** command to create a netlist from the combination of connections you have established (or loaded) in a design file.

Free copper (non-net connections) will not generate a netlist. Free pads, which are a valid part of a net, are not listed as net nodes in the netlist.

Generate a Netlist

1. Choose the Utils » Generate Netlist command to open the dialog.

Utils Generate Netlis	ŧ
Netlist Filename	D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2000\Demo\Digdemo.net
Netlist Format:	Tango
	OK Cancel

- 2. To choose a netlist file, click the **Netlist Filename** button. The *Netlist File* dialog appears from which you can choose a file.
- 3. If you want to generate your netlist to a different format, use the Netlist Format box and combo box to specify the destination format.

Your choices are Tango format and P-CAD ASCII format. Tango format is the standard Tango format. P-CAD ASCII format includes attributes attached to each net and component in the netlist.

4. Enable the **Include Library Information** check box if you want an optional library section to be written to the netlist.

Library information is read by PCB but not processed; it is merely informational. The Library section may be used to create a P-CAD library, however, by removing the non-library information from the file and using the Library Executive to translate the ASCII form of the Library into a binary library.

5. Click **OK** in the *Netlist Generate* dialog and the netlist will be created with the filename and netlist format you have specified.

Utils Compare Netlist

Choose the **Utils** » **Compare Netlist** command to compare the current nets of the design you have in memory with the netlist file that you specify. This useful feature verifies the integrity of your design against the original netlist. For example, if you mistakenly deleted a component or net, this command will show you the discrepancy. This command compares logical net information. That is, it works even if there are open (unrouted) nets. Use the **Utils** » **DRC** command to check existing copper.

Comparing a Netlist

1. Choose Utils » Compare Netlist to open the dialog.

Netlist Compare		×
<u>N</u> etlist Filename	D:\Program Files\P-CAD 2001\Demo\Demo1.net	
∐ref Filename	None	
Netlist Format: P-CAD ASCII	Attributes Categories: Compare: Electrical Clearance	_
	Manufacturing Physical Placement Router Simulation SPECCTRA Placement SPECCTRA Route	
	OK Cancel	

2. Click the **Netlist Filename** button to display the *Netlist File* dialog. From here you can access the netlist filename of the original netlist, which you loaded into your design file.

You can use this command to compare the design file with any of the available file formats, which are:

- Tango
- P-CAD ASCII
- Master Designer ALT

If you compare the design against a P-CAD ASCII netlist, P-CAD PCB reports on the differences between the design and netlist attributes for netlist and component attributes, as well as net classes. This feature enables you to check attributes as well as connectivity in your design.

The Master Designer ALT file format also supports the use of a cross-reference file (.xrf) for type mapping.

3. The Attributes area allows you to choose the categories you want to compare from the list of Categories in the Netlist file. Move selected attribute categories from the Categories listbox to the Compare listbox, or vice versa, by clicking the appropriate direction arrow. You can also double click a category in either list box to move it to the opposite box.

Attributes placed in the Compare listbox are retained throughout your PCB session.

4. Click **OK** and any discrepancies appear on the screen.

Utils Optimize Nets

Choose the **Utils** » **Optimize Nets** command to perform netlist optimization to shorten the length of connections between net nodes. Further, this command allows you to perform pin and gate swapping to rearrange connections logically in order to produce shortened or more direct routings, or dispersed routings to ease congestion in certain areas.

Generally, you apply a gate or pin swap on logical connections created as a result of placing components in PCB. You can convey gate and pin swaps, which result in net list modifications, back to P-CAD Schematic from PCB with the ECO utility.

Utils Optimize Nets Command

The **Optimize Nets** command allows you to select automatic or manual pin and gate swapping. To choose this command, you must be in **Select** mode.

1. Choose the Utils » Optimize Nets command to open the Utils Optimize Nets dialog.

Utils Optimize Nets	
Method	Auto Options
Auto	🗖 Gate Swap 📀 Entire Design
O Manual Gate Swap O Manual Pin Swap	Pin Swap C Selected Objects
OK	Cancel

The dialog defaults to **Auto**, with the Gate Swap and Pin Swap options disabled. To perform only a minimization of the nets connection, click **OK**.

When you click **OK**, connections are rearranged to shorten the total connection length. If **Gate Swap** or **Pin Swap** are checked the gate and pin swaps occur in accordance with the rules found later in this section.

Automatic Pin and Gate Swapping

- 1. Be sure that the **Auto** radio button in the Method box is selected.
- 2. For gate swapping, click the **Gate Swap** box.
- 3. For pin swapping, click the **Pin Swap** box.
- 4. To perform gate and pin swapping in the entire design, click the Entire Design radio button.
- To perform gate and pin swapping on selected objects, click the Selected Objects radio button. This button is grayed out unless you have selected objects before choosing the Utils » Optimize Nets command.
- 6. Click **OK**.

The Not-Undoable Operation warning message appears. If you press **No**, you are returned to the *Optimize Net* dialog. If you press **Yes**, the *Optimize Nets Progress* dialog appears.

The *Optimize Nets Progress* dialog provides you with the current and cumulative status of the command. You can stop the command at any time without losing the accumulated results by clicking **Stop**.

The Current Status box describes the current activity. The current activity can show swapping gates or pins, or minimizing connection length. Any swaps that occur follow the swapping rules.

Entire Design/Selected Objects

If you selected the **Entire Design** radio button on the *Utils Optimize Nets* dialog, the following actions occur:

- If you selected **Gate Swap** or **Pin Swap**, pin or gate swapping occurs between any components in the design following the swapping rules outlined in the section below entitled When components and net connections are selected. All nets are guaranteed to not have their connection lengths increase.
- Minimum length optimization occurs for all nets.

If you selected the Selected Objects radio button, the following actions occur:

When only components are selected:

- If you selected **Gate Swap** or **Pin Swap**, swapping is restricted to pins and gates among the selected components. Swapping occurs only to improve (decrease the Manhattan connection length of) those nets with connections to the selected components' pads. Other nets' connections may increase in length.
- Minimum length net optimization occurs on the connections between the selected components.

When only net connections are selected:

- If you selected **Gate Swap** or **Pin Swap**, swapping occurs only to improve (decrease the Manhattan connection length) the selected connections' nets. This means that all gates and pins are eligible for swapping, as long as a selected net improves from the swap. Connections that are not selected may increase in length.
- Minimum length net optimization occurs on the selected connections.

When components and net connections are selected:

- If you selected **Gate Swap** or **Pin Swap**, swapping is restricted to pins and gates among the selected components. Swapping occurs only to improve (decrease the Manhattan connection length) the selected connections' nets. Those un-selected connections may increase in length.
- Minimum length net optimization occurs on the selected connections.

Manual Gate Swap

You can use the **Manual Gate Swap** options to perform gate swapping manually on selected pads. To perform manual gate swapping,

- 1. Select Manual Gate Swap on the Utils Optimize Nets dialog.
- 2. Click the **OK** button. The *Optimize Nets* dialog disappears, and the cursor changes to the "more points" shape. If you click the **right mouse button** or press the **ESC** key, the command is aborted and you are returned to the **Select** tool. The cursor shape returns to the original shape.
- 3. Click a pad and all pads of that gate, along with the connections that are attached to those pads, appear highlighted in cyan, the first swap color.

All the pads of the eligible equivalent gates (as defined by the gate swapping rules), and their connections, appear highlighted in magenta, the second swap color.

If you click a pad that isn't part of a gate that can be swapped you will hear a beep. If you click the **right mouse button** or press the **ESC** key, the command restarts at the initial state, with all of the pads and their connections being unhighlighted.

The current layer must be a layer on which the pad is defined for the pad to be selected. Otherwise you hear a beep, indicating no action can take place.

4. Click one of the eligible pads (those highlighted in the second swap color). Its gate and its connections now appear in the first swap color, and the *Manual Gate Swap* dialog now appears.

Manual Gate Swap		X
Net name:	Manhattan len.	Percent change:
GND	0.0mil	Infinite%
VCC	0.0mil	Infinite%
•		
Total percent change:		Infinite
Swap	Car	ncel

The dialog presents you with a list of the affected nets and their new connection lengths. The Manhattan connection length is calculated by determining the Manhattan length after an optimization. The percent changed is the percentage of the difference of the connection lengths before and after swapping. Below the list box the total for all of the nets appears.

If net copper is attached to any pads of the two selected gates, then the Swap button is grayed and a warning appears in the dialog. Nets that have copper attached are preceded by an asterisk. The warning tells you that net copper is attached to a gate's pad, and it must be removed before swapping can occur. Free copper is ignored.

5. To perform the gate swap, click **Swap**.

All of the nets attached to the first gate are swapped with all the nets attached to the second gate. The dialog disappears and the cursor returns to its original shape, ready for the next gate swap. All of the highlighted pads and connections are unhighlighted.

6. Click **Cancel** to cancel the operation.

The dialog disappears, no swap occurs, and the pads of the second gate, with their connections, revert to highlight color two. You can now select another gate for swapping.

Manual Pin Swap

You can use the Manual Pin Swap options to perform pin swapping manually on selected pads. To perform manual pin swapping,

- 1. Check Manual Pin Swap button on the Utils Optimize Nets dialog.
- 2. Click the **OK** button. The *Optimize Nets* dialog disappears, and the cursor changes to the "more points" shape. If you click the **right mouse button** or press the **ESC** key, the command is aborted and you are returned to the **Select** Tool. The cursor shape returns to the original shape.

3. Click a pad. That pad, along with the connections that are attached to that pad, appear highlighted in cyan, the first highlight color. All of the eligible equivalent pads (as defined by the pin swapping rules), and their connections, appear in magenta, the second highlight color. If you click the **right mouse button** or press the **ESC** key, the command restarts at the initial state, with all of the pads and their connections being unhighlighted.

The current layer must be a layer that the pad is defined on for the pad to be selected. Otherwise you hear a beep.

4. Click a pad. The pad and its connections appear in cyan, the first highlight color. If the selected pad is not an equivalent pad, a warning message appears stating: *"The selected pad is not recommended for swapping, proceed with caution."* This action constitutes a forced swap. The *Swap Pins* dialog now appears.

Manual Pin Swap		×
Net name:	Manhattan len	Percent change:
MDRV1E	1800.0mil 1400.0mil	Infinite%
•		Þ
Total percent change:		Infinite
Swap	Can	cel

The dialog presents you with a list of the affected nets and their new connection lengths. The Manhattan connection length is calculated by determining the Manhattan length after an optimization. The percent changed is the percentage of the difference of the connection lengths before and after swapping. Below the list box the total for all of the nets appears.

If net copper is attached to either of the two selected pads, then the Swap button is grayed and a warning appears in the dialog. Nets that have copper attached are preceded by an asterisk. The warning tells you that net copper is attached to one of the pads, and it must be removed before swapping can occur. Free copper is ignored.

5. To perform the pin swap, click Swap.

All of the net connections attached to the first pad swap with all the net connections attached to the second pad. The dialog disappears, and the cursor returns to its original shape, ready for the next pin swap. All of the highlighted pads and connections are unhighlighted.

6. Click **Cancel** to cancel the operation.

Rules for Pin Swapping

The rules for pin swapping are:

• Pin swapping occurs within a gate between logically equivalent pins. The equivalence values must be non-zero and identical for a swap to occur between two pins. Swapping is allowed between non-equivalent pins, but only after you give confirmation (a forced swap). Forced

swaps can occur only during a manual pin swap; they do not occur during automatic pin swapping.

- No swapping occurs if net copper is connected to either pad.
- Swapping does not occur if a net connected to the pin has the **OPTIMIZE** attribute set with a value of "**NO**".
- Swapping does not occur if the component has the NOSWAP attribute set to Yes.

Rules for Gate Swapping

The rules for gate swapping are:

- The gates must be logically equivalent.
- The gates must be of the same component type with equivalent value if swapping across components. The component values must be the same so that gate swapping with discrete parts works correctly. (For example, a gate swap between two RES components, one with a value of 50 ohm and the other 100 ohm, isn't allowed).
- The swapping of gates between components can be further restricted by use of the swap eligibility attribute (SWAPEQUIVALENCE). For example, one circuit might be used to monitor another circuit on the board. It would defeat the purpose of the monitor circuit to have its gates swapped with the gates in the other circuit. By setting the components in the monitor circuit to have a swap eligibility attribute different than the other circuit, swapping can be kept from occurring between the two circuits.
- Swapping does not occur if the component has the **NOSWAP** attribute set to **Yes**.
- Swapping does not occur if net copper is connected to either of the gates.
- Swapping does not occur if any net connected to the gate has the **OPTIMIZE** attribute with a value of "**NO**".

Impact on the Library Executive

Gate Equivalency maintenance: Currently, the Library Executive allows the gate equivalency of pins in the same gate to be different. This causes gates to be non-equivalent by ambiguity. To correct this problem, when you change a part number, or gate equivalence for some gate, the spreadsheet automatically updates the gate equivalence field of the other pins of that gate to match. Existing components with this problem can be read in but cannot be saved until the ambiguity is corrected.

Pin Equivalence: Pin equivalence is allowed only between pins with the same electrical type. The electrical types Unknown and Passive are considered the same for purposes of pin equivalence.

Utils Reconnect Nets

Choose the **Utils** » **Reconnect Nets** command to use the current design netlist to re-establish the net information for copper traces, arcs, pads, polygons, and vias having point-to-point routes to

copper in an existing net. You can also create system-generated nets for circuits composed entirely of objects that are not in any net. This makes it easy for you to bring non-net circuits into your design. You can bring in these non-net circuits either from the Clipboard, a PCB block file, or by using the PCB Editor's drag/copy feature. Then, at a later time, you can convert these non-net circuits into net circuits with unique net names.

When you choose this command, the *Reconnect Nets* dialog appears.

Utils Reconnect Nets	
This command is not undoable, so be sure to save the current design. This insures that you will be able to get back to the current state.	
Check for Copper Sharing	
Create Nets From Free Copper	
Continue with the Reconnect Nets command?	
Yes No	

This command is like the **Reconnect Copper** option within the **Load Netlist** command, except that it uses the current design netlist information instead of an external netlist file.

Point-to-point routing is not required. Routes that are physically connected but not point-to-point routed are indicated by a connection (blue-line).

When a copper tie with a TieNet value is encountered, connectivity is halted. This keeps the polygon from being assigned to a net and the nets from being merged. Any nets without a TieNet attribute value that touch a copper tie will be merged or shorted.

Shorted nets are indicated in the log file with a warning. These nets are not merged.

Check for Copper Sharing

If the **Check for Copper Sharing** option is enabled, line to line trace intersections and line traces crossing the center of a pad or via are detected. Intersecting line traces are split at the point of intersection and lines are split at pad or via centers, creating point-to-point routes.

Jumper Pads

Components behave as if all of the pads marked as being jumpered together are connected. In PCB, if necessary, blue line connections may be added to the other pads.

Create Nets From Free Copper

To create system-generated nets, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose Utils » Reconnect Nets. The Utils Reconnect Nets dialog appears.
- 2. Click **Create Nets From Free Copper**. This instructs P-CAD PCB to create a unique, systemgenerated net for each free circuit found in the design. This process essentially turns a free circuit into a net circuit.

A free circuit consists of two or more component pads connected with lines, arcs, polygons, vias, and pads to form a circuit with no net intelligence. A "net circuit" is similar to a free circuit except that it has net intelligence. Each free circuit must have at least two free component pads.

3. Click **Yes** to reconnect free circuits or **No** to abort.

Utils Trace Clean-up

Choose the **Utils** » **Trace Clean-up** command to go through the nodes of each net contained in the design and remove all redundant trace segments (collinear and overlapping) and any extra vertices.

When you choose this command, a dialog appears warning the your that this operation is undoable. Click **Yes** to begin the trace cleanup process.

Utils Shortcut Directory

When you installed P-CAD PCB, a sub-directory called Shortcut was created in the P-CAD directory. The Shortcut contains a list of web addresses for semiconductor manufacturers.

Choose the **Utils** » **Shortcut Directory** command to open the Shortcut in Windows Explorer. Select the desired address and, from the right mouse menu, choose the **Open** command.

Shortcuts to any web site can be added to the Shortcut.

Utils P-CAD Schematic

If P-CAD Schematic is installed on your computer, choose this command to start P-CAD Schematic. If P-CAD Schematic is not running, it is launched. If Schematic is already running, it becomes the active program. See for how to start Schematic if it is installed in a different directory than PCB.

Utils P-CAD Library Executive

Choose this command to start P-CAD Library Executive, if P-CAD Library Executive is installed on your computer. Refer to your *Library Executive User's Guide* for additional information.

Utils P-CAD Pattern Editor

Choose this command to start P-CAD Pattern Editor, if P-CAD Pattern Editor is installed on your computer. Refer to your *Library Executive User's Guide* for additional information.

Utils P-CAD Symbol Editor

Choose this command to start P-CAD Symbol Editor, if P-CAD Symbol Editor is installed on your computer. Refer to your *Library Executive User's Guide* for additional information.

Utils P-CAD InterPlace/PCS

The **Utils »** P-CAD InterPlace/PCS command provides access to both P-CAD Parametric Constraint Solver and P-CAD InterPlace. Refer to your *InterPlace/PCS User's Guide* for additional information.

Utils P-CAD Signal Integrity

Choose this command to launch the P-CAD Signal Integrity Analyzer. The Signal Integrity Analyzer allows you to check the board for noise effects like ringing and crosstalk, as well as calculate the impedances of the nets.

The Signal Integrity Analyzer is based on a Fast Reflection and Crosstalk Simulator which produces very accurate simulations, using industry-proven algorithms. The P-CAD Signal Integrity simulator uses the characteristic impedance of the traces calculated through a transmission line calculator and I/O buffer macro-model information as input for the simulations. Where model information is not available the system utilizes fallback models.

Running a Signal Integrity Analysis

When you select the **Utils** » **P-CAD Signal Integrity** command the *P-CAD Signal Integrity* window opens. This window is your interface to the various features available in the Signal Integrity Analyzer. This window is shown below.

🖗 P-CAD 2001 Signal Integrity - Rdemo1_p.pcb						
<u>File Edit Simulation Library Options H</u> elp						
🖻 🗎 🖓 🦡 📑 🤘	e 🛙		- 23	1-1		
All Nets	Sim	ulation				
Net Class:	No	Net		Length [Average Imp. [O	Comment
	1	DO		50.1	295.48	
	2	D1		58.8	295.54	
D1	3	D2		60.8	295.55	
D2	4	D3		68.9	295.59	
D3						
D4			_			
D5	No	Designator	Туре	Pin	Direction	Comment
D6	1	U6	IC	11	In	
D7	2	P1	IC	7	Tri/Out	fbm
DAO	3	U7	IC	11	In	
DA1	4	U8	IC	11	In	
DA2						
DA3						
DA4		- 1				
		n <-> Out	Edi	t Buffer		
Ready						

Getting the Nets

When the Signal Integrity window first opens it will be blank, because there are no nets loaded. To load the nets select **File » Get Nets** from the menus.

Selecting the Nets to Analyze

The entire set of nets on the board are listed in the All Nets frame on the left. To perform any analysis you must select the net (or nets) you are interested in, then choose **Edit » Take Over** (or click the **Takeover Over Selected Nets** button).

Generally, you will be doing one of 2 things when you take over nets – take over all nets to perform a net screening, or take over one or 2 nets to perform a reflection or crosstalk analysis. You can use the standard Windows selection strategies to select the nets: click and drag a window to select a block of nets, use the **Shift+left click** to select multiple nets, or **Ctrl+left click** to select individual nets.

Performing a Net Screening

The net screening feature is used to do a quick analysis of the chosen nets. It displays the results in a spreadsheet-like window, which can then be sorted to identify problem nets. After taking over the required nets, choose **Simulation** » **Screening** from the menus (or click the **Net Screening** button on the main toolbar). The *P*-*CAD Signal Integrity Screening* window will appear.

🎬 P-CAD Signal Integrity Screening							
<u>File Edit V</u> iew <u>H</u> elp							
■ X YZM M							
Nets	Top Value (Rising E	Max.Overshoot (Risin	Max.Undershoot (Ris	Base Value (Falling E	Max.Over: 🔺		
DX7	5.00	\$ 1.07	0.70	0.10			
DX6	5.00	0.85	0.54	0.10			
EN3	5.00	0.78	0.50	-0.00			
DX1	5.00	0.71	0.45	0.10			
DX3	5.00	0.69	0.44	0.10			
DX0	5.00	0.69	0.44	0.10			
DX2	5.00	0.69	0.44	0.10			
DX5	5.00	0.61	0.38	0.10			
DAO	3.80	0.59	0.44	0.10			
D3	5.00	0.58	0.31	0.00			
EN1	5.00	0.46	0.29	0.00			
D1	5.00	0.45	0.26	0.00	_		
<u>د</u>							
Cannot analyze the following nets: GND: can't analyze nets with GND or VCC pins VCC: can't analyze nets with GND or VCC pins							

Changing the Displayed Information

By default the screening window will open to display all possible information, each in a separate column in the table. There are 4 type of information that the screening window can display, these are:

- Net Data this includes net length, number of components and number of traces.
- **Impedance** this includes the average impedance, maximum impedance and minimum impedance.
- **Voltage** this includes the voltage top value, maximum overshoot (rising edge), maximum undershoot (rising edge), base value, maximum overshoot (falling edge) and maximum undershoot (falling edge).
- **Timing** this includes the flight time and slope for the rising edge, and the flight time and slope for the falling edge.

You can selectively hide and display information in the View menu, or by clicking the appropriate view button on the main toolbar.

Sorting the Displayed Information

As well as filtering the screening results to only display the information that you are interested in, you can also sort the entire table to order the results from smallest to largest, or from largest to smallest.

In the previous figure only the Voltage information is displayed. This has then been sorted to display the largest value for Maximum Overshoot on the rising edge. To do this you click the title of the Max. Overshoot (Rising Edge) column Max.Overshoot (Rising Edge) [V]. You will notice that the amount of overshoot on DX7 is 1.07. The next step would be to examine this net in more detail by performing a reflection analysis.

🚰 Per

Performing a Reflection Analysis

A reflection analysis is performed from the main P-CAD Signal Integrity window. It is important to note that you should not attempt to perform a reflection analysis on all nets, this would take a long time, and would result in a waveform window so many waveforms that you would not be able to analyze the results. To perform a reflection analysis:

- 1. First take over 📴 the net that you are interested in.
- 2. Select Simulation » Reflection from the menus, or click the Reflection Simulation button
- 3. The *P-CAD WaveAnalyzer* window will appear, displaying the reflection analysis results. An example is shown below. Use the measurement options in the Analyze menu to give more accurate information about the waveforms.



Exploring Termination Options

The P-CAD Signal Integrity Analyzer is an excellent tool in helping you ensure that your board is not going to have signal integrity issues when it is built. As the designer you will have to decide how to resolve problem nets, perhaps changing the device family, modifying the component layout, or adding termination to critical nets.

The P-CAD Signal Integrity Analyzer includes a Termination Advisor, which you can use to explore different what-if scenarios with different termination options. There are 2 approaches to termination, adding termination to the output pin on the net, or terminating the last input on the net.

To explore the termination options:

- 1. First take over \square the net that you are interested in.
- 2. Select the pin on the net that you want to apply the termination to, for this example we have selected the output pin.
- 3. Select **Simulation** » **Termination** to display the **Termination Advisor** dialog. As we are adding termination to an output pin the appropriate termination method is Serial R (all other termination methods are for input pins).
- 4. Click **OK** to add the theoretical termination to the net.
- 5. Rerun the Reflection Analysis and examine the results.

Utils P-CAD AutoRFQ

The WebQuote, or AutoRFQ feature allows you to request a quotation to fabricate or assemble your board from within the P-CAD PCB Editor. This feature extracts relevant PCB data, passes it to the Request For Quotation application (AutoRFQ), which then interfaces to the WebQuote web site (http://www.webquote.com) to configure and request for a quotation on the PCB.

The WebQuote site is a portal to PCB fabricators all over the world. From this site you can select which manufacturers you wish to participate in the quoting process, and also choose if you wish to use an open bidding process, where each fabricator is notified of the other fabricators' quotes (allowing them to requote), or a closed bidding process, where they are not notified.

When you choose the **Utils » P-CAD AutoRFQ** command an RFQ file is created and loaded into the AutoRFQ program. Once the RFQ file is loaded in the AutoRFQ program it is displayed as an *RFQ* for *PCB Fabrication* window. This file details the necessary design specifications that have been extracted from your PCB.

From the AutoRFQ application you can then set up a new request for quotation by clicking the **New RFQ** button that appears at the top of the *RFQ for PCB Fabrication* window. The first time you attempt to do this you will be prompted to create an account, once this is done the job can be configured, ready for a quotation.

When you click the **New RFQ** button the data in the RFQ file is passed to the PCB MarketPlace web site, and another window appears. Work your way down this window, clicking the Modify or Enter buttons and completing the information required on each page that appears. Once your RFQ has been successfully submitted you will receive a confirmation email, then when the quotes from the manufacturers are received you will be emailed these as well.

Utils Customize

Choose the **Utils** » **Customize** command to set up a quick and easy way to access other programs from P-CAD PCB. This quick and easy access is accomplished by adding items to the Custom Tools toolbar and the Utils menu.

When you select Utils » Customize the following dialog appears:

Utils Customize	×
Custom Tool &1	Add Remove Move Up Move Down
Menu Text: Tool &1	Browse
Initial Directory: Display © Normal © Minimized © Maximized OK	Browse

The *Utils Customize* dialog is used to add new tools or delete and modify existing tools on the Custom Tools toolbar and Utils menu. The fields on the dialog are as follows:

- **Custom:** Provides a list of the custom tools that currently exist.
- **Menu Text:** Enter the description of the tool being added. The Menu Text field allows up to 40 characters. The buttons on the toolbar display as many letters as can fit on the button. If the name of a tool being added to the custom toolbar is too long to be displayed in its entirety, you can change the display by using lower case letters or shortening the name of the new tool.

You may insert an ampersand (&) anywhere in the text string to designate a menu shortcut key. For instance, if the Menu Text entry is &Notepad, the menu shortcut key for the tool is the letter **N**.

The Utils menu displays the list of custom tools as shown to the left.

- **Command:** Enter the path to the executable file of the new tool. Click the **Browse** button to display a standard *File Open* dialog where the desired file can be chosen. A warning is issued if a non-existent path is entered, but the entry will still be added.
- Arguments: Optional entry used to pass information into the targeted program, if desired.
- Initial Directory: Sets the initial working directory for the program.
- **Display:** Selects the way the program appears on the screen when initialized. Normal (the default) to display the program as a window in the workspace, Minimized to start the program and display it as an icon at the bottom of the screen, or Maximized to start the program and display it across the full screen.
- **Prompt for arguments:** Check this box to automatically display the *Arguments* dialog to enter input that must be passed to the program at execution time. The entry is saved and recalled the next time the program is run.

- Add: Click the Add button to begin adding a new tool. You can add a maximum of 16 tools to the Customized Toolbar.
- **Remove:** Select a tool from the custom area and click **Remove** to delete it from the customized toolbar.
- Move Up/Move Down: Select a tool from the Custom list and change its position in the list by clicking the Move Up or Move Down buttons.

Once all selections and entries have been made, click **OK** to apply them.

Displaying the Custom Toolbar

The Custom Toolbar is not displayed in the workspace until a custom tool has been added. Once a tool has been added, the toolbar automatically appears with the other PCB toolbars.

You may control the appearance of the **Custom** Toolbar in the workspace using the **View** » **Custom Toolbar** command.

Executing a Custom Tool

To launch a program added as a Custom Tool, you may choose any of these methods:

- Click the desired button on the custom toolbar.
- Select the tool from the list at the bottom of the Utils menu.

While the Utils menu is active select a custom tool by pressing the menu shortcut key assigned to it. For instance, select Notepad by pressing the **N** key.

CHAPTER 20

DocTool Commands

Using the DocTool Commands

With the documentation tools in P-CAD PCB, you can detail the fabrication, assembly, and testing of the printed circuit board. Using the commands in the DocTool menu, you can perform the following tasks:

- Create versatile zoned borders and custom title blocks.
- Include drawing and revision notes.
- Insert tables that include design data such as: net locations, power and ground net data, as well as last used, not used, and spare gate information.
- Place annotated sheet connectors.
- Track nets between schematic sheets.

This chapter contains a detailed explanation of each command in the DocTool menu.

DocTool Place Table

Choose the **DocTool** » **Place Table** command in P-CAD PCB to place a table in your design or drawing. When you choose this command, the *Place Table* dialog box opens.

The basic method of setting up, placing, and modifying a table is summarized in The *Basic Place Table* dialog box. For several of the table types additional options are available when the table is selected. These options are detailed in this chapter.

Once placed in the design, a table can be moved, rotated, flipped, deleted, cut, copied, and pasted, but only as a single unit; text inside the table cannot be selected, edited, or removed.

The design data displayed in a table can be updated if the design changes using the **DocTool** » **Update** or **DocTool** » **Update All** commands.

The Basic Place Table Dialog

The *Place Table* dialog is shown in the following figure:

Place Table	×
Table Type Drill Table Note Table Revision Note Table	Table Name Drill Table Text Style (Default) Line Width 10.0mil
	DK Cancel Advanced >>

Click Advanced in the Place Table dialog box to gain access to various drill table options.

In the *Place Table* dialog you can specify the following options:

• **Table Type:** Choose the type of table you wish to place.

If you select the Drill Table, the **Advanced** button becomes active. If you select a Power, Note, or Revision Note table, other additional options appear.

- Line Width: The width of the lines surrounding a table cell is specified by the line width. The line color is set by the Line option in the *Options Display* dialog box.
- **Table Name:** Enter the table name. This name appears above the table.
- Text Style: Select the text style for the table. Click Text Styles to modify text styles.

To place a table, click **OK** to confirm the selections in the dialog box. You are returned to the design workspace. Click the location where you would like to place the lower left hand corner of the table. To more precisely place the table, click and hold the **mouse button** to drag a ghosted outline of the table borders.

The table cannot be placed outside the workspace.

Note and Revision Note Table Options

When you choose to place a **Note** or **Revision Note** table, the *Place Table* dialog box contains the following fields:

• Note Numbering frame: Choose Top to Bottom or Bottom to Top to indicate the direction of incrementing note numbers.

• Width of Note Column: Type a value in this text box to specify the column width in number of characters. When a note exceeds the column width, the text wraps to the following line.

Note number or symbols do not appear in a revision notes table. The Note Numbering option specifies the order of the placed notes, with or without the numbers displayed.

Drill Table Advanced Options

When placing a Drill table in PCB, click the **Advanced** button to expand the *Place Table* dialog, as shown in the following figure:

Place Table				×
Table Type Drill Table Note Table Revision Note Table	Table Name Drill Table Text Style (Default) Text Styles Line Width	Hole Dia Units C Inch C mm	lumn Del: Add	Width:
	10.0mil	Hole Dia (inch)	Symbol	Quantity
		0.018	Box_Cross	297
		0.022	Cross	1
		0.038	X	851
		0.050	Circle_Cross	11
		0.060	Box_X	8
		0.068	Diamond_Cross	2
		0.128	Diamond_X	8
		0.144	Hour	4
	DK Cancel Advanced>>			Þ

With the advanced options, you can customize your Drill Table as follows:

- Hole Dia Units: Choose Inch or mm as the units for the hole diameter column.
- Label: Type a name for the column label in this text box.
- Width: Type the column width in this text box.
- Add: Enter values in the Label and Width text boxes. Then, click Add to add the column to the table. Use the scroll bars to scroll to the new column.
- Delete: To delete a user-defined column click the column header and then click Delete.
- **Table Viewer:** Displays the drill table with the current specifications. In this view you can select a column to make it current by placing the cursor in a column cell. Enter data for the user-defined columns directly in the cells of this table viewer.

DocTool Place Design View

Choose the **DocTool** » **Place Design View** command to make an image of a specific region of the design and place it in one or more locations in the workspace. The image is dynamically updated whenever the original data changes.

The Design View can be moved, scaled, printed and mirrored. You can include specific layers and assign title and subtitle information. Items imaged in the Design View are displayed even when layers in the original section have been disabled. Title Sheet information included in the Design View is not displayed.

Design views may be placed only on a nonsignal layer.

The Place Design View dialog box appears as follows:

Place Desig	yn View		×
Title:	1		
Subtitle:			
Text Style:	(Default)	▼ Text Style	Scaling: 1.000
Design Re Region (Lower) X: [Upper] X: [Y: [egion Coordinates e Region Left: 0.0mil 0.0mil Right: 0.0mil 0.0mil	Layers: Top Assy Top Silk Top Paste Top Mask Top Mask Bot Mask Bot Paste Bot Silk Bot Assy Bot Assy Bot Assy	Set All Clear All Apply Layer Set
Mirror I	Design View		
	OK	Cancel	

In the *Place Design View* dialog, the following options are available:

- **Title:** The name assigned to the Design View.
- **Subtitle:** The subtitle assigned to the Design View.
- **Text Style:** Select a text style for the Design View from the drop down list or click **Text Styles** to open the *Options Text Style* dialog box where you can add or modify any non-default style.
- Scaling: Enter the scale factor (greater than or equal to zero) for the Design View.
- **Region Coordinates:** The X and Y coordinates for the defined region can be entered in the Lower Left and Upper Right boxes or you can click the **Define Region** button to use the interactive definition tool. With this interactive tool, you can draw a bounding outline around the target area in the design that automatically enters the X and Y coordinates of that region in the Region Coordinates boxes. To exit the interactive tool, **right-click** and confirm that you want to update the coordinates with the newly defined region.

- Layers: Select the layers whose objects are to be included in the Design View. You can select individual layers, Set All layers, Clear All layers or Apply a Layer Set by clicking the appropriate button.
- **Mirror Design View:** If you want to show a mirror image of the objects in the Design View, select the **Mirror Design View** check box.

DocTool Place Detail

Choose the **DocTool** » **Place Detail** command to place a close-up perspective of the board into your PCB design or drawing.

The board region in the close-up view is imported from a block file or a P-CAD picture file. These files can be created using the **Edit** » **Copy to File** command.

Details may be placed only on a nonsignal layer.

The detail can be moved, deleted, cut, copied, and pasted, but only as a single unit; individual objects inside the detail cannot be selected, edited, or removed. A detail may not be rotated or flipped.

A scaling factor can be specified when the detail is placed. This indicates the magnification of the detail from its original size. You can also specify a value for the line width when you do not want to retain the default value of 10.0 mils.

To update a detail if the design changes, the block file or P-CAD picture file from which the detail was placed must be recreated.

The *Place Detail* dialog is shown in the following figure:

Place Deta	il				×
File:	<none></none>			Bro	wse
Title:					
Subtitle:					
Text Style:	(Default)	•	Text Style	Scaling:	1.0
		ок	Cancel]	

In the *Place Detail* dialog you can specify the following options:

• **File:** A block file (.blk) or a P-CAD picture (.emf) containing the board region must be imported. Click **Browse** and navigate to the desired block file or P-CAD picture file.

To place a detail from a block file, that block file must be generated from P-CAD PCB. Also, the file cannot contain P-CAD picture, detail, or diagram objects.

- Title: The title text is centered beneath the detail.
- **Subtitle:** The subtitle text is centered beneath the title. It is suggested that you include the scale factor in the detail's subtitle.
- Text Style: Select the text style for the detail. Click Text Styles to modify text styles.
- **Scaling:** Enter the scaling factor (>0) for the detail. A scaling factor of 1 specifies no size change. A scaling factor greater than 1 specifies magnification.

To place the detail complete the dialog box options. After clicking **OK**, you are returned to the workspace. Use the mouse to drag the detail to its desired location. Release the mouse button to place the detail.

DocTool Place Diagram

Choose the **DocTool** » **Place Diagram** command in P-CAD PCB to place a depiction of the layer stackup of the board into your PCB design or drawing.

Diagrams may be placed only on a nonsignal layer.

The layer stackup diagram displays the configuration of the signal and plane layers in an annotated illustration. There are two types of layer stackup diagrams. An example of each layer stackup diagram is shown as follows:



The diagram can be moved, deleted, cut, copied, and pasted, but only as a single unit; individual objects inside the diagram cannot be selected, edited, or removed. A diagram may not be rotated or flipped.

The scaling factor, which indicates the magnification of the diagram from its original size, can be modified when the diagram is placed. Because the specified scale factor is not applied to the diagram's line widths and text, you must designate a specific line width and/or text font size to maintain their relative locations in the diagram.

The design data displayed in a diagram can be updated if the design changes using the **DocTool** » **Update** or **DocTool** » **Update All** commands.

Place Diagram			×
Diagram Type:			
Layer StackUp	Title:	Layer StackUp	
	Subtitle:		
	Text Style:	(Default)	TextStyles
		Diagram Style Style #1	Scale: 1.0
		C Style #2	Line Width: 10.0
		OK Cancel	J

The *Place Diagram* dialog is shown in the following figure:

In the Place Diagram dialog you can specify the following options:

- **Diagram Type:** Shows the diagram type. The **Layer Stackup** diagram expands and documents each layer in the board.
- Title: The title text is centered beneath the diagram.
- **Subtitle:** The subtitle text is centered beneath the title. It is suggested that you include the scale factor in the diagram's subtitle.
- Text Style: Select the text style for the diagram. Click Text Styles to modify text styles.
- Scale: Enter the scaling factor (>0) for the diagram. A scaling factor of 1 specifies no size change from the diagram's initial placement size. A scaling factor greater than 1 specifies magnification.
- Line Width: Enter the line width to be used in the layer stackup diagram. The default value is 10.0 mils.

Line widths and text are not scaled when the scale factor is changed. To maintain the relative location of the lines and text in the diagram you must provide line widths and text fonts sized proportionately to the designated scale factor.

• **Diagram Style:** Choose the style of the Layer Stackup diagram: **Style #1** or **Style #2**. An example of each style is displayed above.

To place the diagram, complete the dialog box options. After clicking **OK**, you are returned to the workspace. Use the mouse to drag the diagram to its desired location. Release the mouse button to place the diagram.

DocTool Place Picture

Choose the **DocTool** » **Place Picture** command in P-CAD PCB to place a P-CAD picture file (.emf) in your PCB design or drawing. This picture can be a magnified image of objects in the PCB design, a detail.

P-CAD pictures of the design may be created by choosing the **Copy to File** command. For details about creating a picture of a selected region of your board design, see *Edit Copy to File (page 283)*.

The *Place Picture* dialog is used to navigate to the directory containing the picture by following these steps:

- 1. Choose P-CAD Picture File (.emf) in the Files of Type box.
- 2. Select the desired picture file and click **Open**.
- 3. Use the mouse to drag the picture to its desired location.
- 4. Release the mouse button to place the picture.

P-CAD pictures may be placed only on a nonsignal layer.

A picture object can be moved, deleted, cut, copied, and pasted, but only as a single unit; individual objects inside the picture object cannot be selected, edited, or removed. A picture may not be rotated or flipped. Picture objects may be scaled by selecting the object and dragging the handles at its vertices or by specifying a scaling factor in the *Picture Properties* dialog box. For instructions, see *Edit Properties* (page 292).

DocTool Titles

Choose the **DocTool** » **Titles** command to customize a title sheet for your design or drawing.

The **DocTool** » **Titles** command provides direct access to the Titles tab of the *Options Layers* or *Options Sheets* dialogs. From there you can custom build a title sheet for your design or drawing. This title sheet can include any or all of the following elements: title block, border, and zones.

DocTool Notes

Choose the **DocTool** » **Notes** in to define or import notes that you can place in your design or drawing.

The **DocTool** » **Notes** command provides direct access to the Notes tab of the *File Design Info* dialog box. From there you can define or import notes that can later be placed in your design.

DocTool Update

Choose the **DocTool** » **Update** command in to recalculate the design data and update the selected tables or diagrams embedded in the design.

DocTool Update All

Choose the **DocTool** » **Update All** command to recalculate the design data and update all tables or diagrams embedded in the design.

DocTool Mirror On Copy

Choose the **DocTool** » **Mirror On Copy** command to copy selected objects in the opposite perspective of the display, as if viewing the design from its underside.

To turn this feature ON, choose the **DocTool** » **Mirror On Copy** command. The feature is ON when a check mark appears next to the menu command.

To turn the feature OFF, choose the **DocTool** » **Mirror On Copy** command. The feature is OFF when no check mark appears next to the menu command.

When the feature is on, you can choose the following commands:

Choose the **Edit** » **Copy** command to move a mirror image of the selected objects to the Clipboard. Detail, diagram, and picture objects within the selected region are not mirrored.

Choose the **Edit** » **Copy to File** command to copy the mirror image of a P-CAD picture format to a file.

If the block file format is chosen using Edit » Copy to File, the Mirror On Copy option is ignored.

These picture objects can be placed back in the design using the **Edit** » **Paste Special**, **Place Detail**, or **Place Picture** commands.

Macro Commands

Using the Macro Commands

You use the commands in the *Macro* menu to setup, record, modify, and run macros. A macro is a shortcut for a sequence of actions. After you record a macro, you can assign a keyboard shortcut to a macro. Then, you can press the keyboard shortcut to playback the series of actions associated with the macro.

Macro Setup

Before you record a macro, choose **Macro** » **Setup** to specify the directory in which you want to store the macros you record. If you do not specify a directory, your macros are stored in the P-CAD directory by default.

When you choose **Macro** » **Setup**, the *Macro Set Up* dialog appears. Use the controls in this dialog to set up your directory options and to change the playback speed for your macros.

Setting Up a Macro

To set up a macro, do the following:

1. Choose Macro » Setup. The Macro Set Up dialog appears.

Macro Set Up		×
Default Macro Directory:	d:\Program Files\P-CAD 2000\MACRO\	Browse
Playback Delay (seconds):	0	
	OK Cancel	

- 2. Click Browse. The Open dialog appears.
- 3. Select the directory that you want to use as your default macro directory. Then, click **Open**. You return to the *Macro Set Up* dialog.

- 4. Type a value in the Playback Delay (seconds) box to control the playback speed for each action in a macro. You can set the interval to the thousandths (.001 of a second.
- 5. Click **OK** to save your settings.

Macro Record

Choose **Macro** » **Record** to name and record a macro. When you choose **Macro** » **Record**, the *Macro Recorder* dialog appears. Use this dialog to assign a name to the macro you are about to record. For instructions on using this dialog, see *Macro Recording Tool* (page 552).

After you name your macro, click **OK** in the *Macro Recorder* dialog. P-CAD PCB begins recording your actions and the Macro Recording Tool appears. For details on this tool, see *Macro Recording Tool* (page 552).

Macro Recording Tool

The Macro Recording Tool contains various buttons that give you the ability to control the recording process:



The buttons in the Macro Recording Tool perform the following functions:

Click this button	To perform this function:
	Stop Recording: Click this button to stop the recording process and save the recorded events in the designated macro file. To stop recording, you can also press M or click M button on the status bar.
Ш	Pause Recording: Click this button to pause the recording process. When you pause a recording this button changes to the Resume Recording button.
-m	Recording Suspend: Click this button to suspend the recording process. This creates a pause during playback. You can also suspend recording by pressing the Pause/Break key.
4	Resume Recording: When you pause the recording process, this button appears in place of the Pause Recording button. It also appears during playback whenever the playback reaches a recorded suspend activity.
4	Recording Origin: Click this button to place an origin in the macro. When a recorded origin is encountered, you can click the left mouse button in the workspace to set a relative playback location during playback.

Click this button	To perform this function:	
×	Cancel Recording: Click this button to cancel the recording process. Recorded information is not saved when you click this button.	

Recording a Macro

To record a macro, do the following:

1. Choose Macro » Record. The following Macro Recorder dialog appears.

Macro Recorder	
Macro Name:	
OK	Cancel

- 2. Type a name for the macro in the Macro Name box.
- 3. Click **OK**. The following Macro Recording Tool appears. For details on the options associated with this tool, see *Macro Recording Tool (page 552)*.

Macro	o Rec	ording	j Tool	
	Ш	۲	₽	\mathbf{x}

- 4. Perform any actions that you want to record.
- 5. Click the **Stop** button in the Macro Recording Tool.

P-CAD PCB saves the macro in the directory you specified in the *Macro Set Up* dialog. Your macro is given the .mac file name extension by default.

After you record a macro, you can assign a keyboard shortcut to a macro. Then, you can press the keyboard shortcut to playback the series of actions associated with the macro. Or, you can add the macro to the Utils menu.

- To assign a keyboard shortcut to a macro, choose **Options** » **Preferences**. For instructions, see *Options Preferences (page 448)*.
- To add a command for the macro in the Utils menu, choose **Utils** » **Customize**. For instructions, see Utils Customize (*page 537*).

A macro command that moves or deletes a component has no effect on a fixed component.

Recording a Temporary Macro

A temporary macro is a macro that is stored in your computer's memory and named Pcb_default.mac by default. To playback a temporary macro, you press the E key. Only one temporary macro is available; each time you record a temporary macro, it overwrites the previous one.

To record a temporary macro, do the following:

- 1. Click the **M** button on the Status Line or press **M** to begin recording. The button has a red background while the recording process is ON.
- 2. Complete the actions that you want to record. The entire group of macro functions is available to a temporary macro, including pause and suspend.
- 3. To stop recording, click the **M** button on the Status Line or press **M**. The button has a white background when the recording process is OFF.

To playback the temporary macro, press E. The actions you record will repeat each time you press E.

If you want to record a macro, but don't want to save it as the temporary macro, choose the **Macro** » **Record** command. You can rename a macro or temporary macro by choosing the **Macro** » **Rename** command.

Macro Delete

Choose **Macro** » **Delete** to delete a macro. When you choose this command, the following *Macro Delete* dialog appears.

Macro Delete	
Directory: d:\Program Files\P	-CAD 2000\\
Macro Name:	Delete
	Close

To delete a macro, select the macro to delete from the Macro Name list and click **Delete**. The Macro Name list displays all of the *.mac files that are saved in your default macro directory.

Macro Rename

Choose Macro » Rename to change the name of a macro. You can rename any macro, including the temporary macro named Pcb_default.mac. However, if you rename Pcb_default.mac, it is no longer the temporary macro.

When you choose this command, the following Macro Rename dialog appears.

Directory: d:\Program Files\P-CAD 2000\\			
New Macro Name:	Rename		
Old Macro Name:	Close		
BlockSetAll_SCH			

Select the file to rename from the Old Macro Name list. The combo box lists all the *.mac files found in the default macro directory set in the *Macro Setup* dialog. Enter a new name in the New Macro Name box. Then, click **Rename** and click **Close**.

Macro Run

Choose **Macro** » **Run** to playback a named macro. When you choose this command, the following dialog appears.

Macro Run	
Directory: d:\Program Files\P	CAD 2000\\
Macro Name:	ОК
	Cancel

To run the macro, enter the macro name by typing it in or selecting it from the combo box. The combo box lists all the *.mac files found in the default macro directory set in the *Macro Setup* dialog. Click **OK**. The **M** button on the Status Line is green when a macro is running.

To playback the temporary macro, press **E**. To record a temporary macro, press **M**, complete a series of actions, and press **M** again to stop recording.

After you record a macro, you can assign a keyboard shortcut to a macro. Then, you can press the keyboard shortcut to playback the series of actions associated with the macro. Or, you can add the macro to the Utils menu.

- To assign a keyboard shortcut to a macro, choose **Options** » **Preferences**. For instructions, see *Options Preferences (page 448)*.
- To add a command for the macro in the Utils menu, choose **Utils** » **Customize**. For instructions, see Utils Customize (*page 537*).

Recording Efficient Macros

The macro recording process records every keystroke and mouse click you make in the workspace. As a result, you may find it more efficient to use the menu and keyboard shortcuts when recording a macro. To help you record efficient macros, the following list provides some helpful hints that you can use during the recording process:

- If you click a toolbar button during the recording process, the toolbar must be in the exact same location during playback. To minimize possible playback issues, use the keyboard shortcuts instead of the toolbar buttons.
- Choose menu commands instead of shortcut menu commands. For example, choose Edit »
 Properties instead of right-clicking an object and choosing Properties from the shortcut menu. The position of the shortcut menu changes based on mouse location.

- When a dialog prompts you for a response during the recording process, insert a suspend command by clicking the **Pause/Break** button in the **Macro Recording Tool**. This gives you the ability to interact with various dialogs during the playback process.
- There are times when you may select an item from a drop down list during event recording. If the order of the items in the list is subject to change due to additions or deletions, the most effective way to eliminate choosing the wrong item is to type the desired value in the box instead of selecting from the list. Then you are assured that the correct item is incorporated into the event.
- Whenever options on the Status Line are recorded, such as changing a layer, make sure that the Status Line view is enabled when running the macro. If the Status Line is not visible during macro playback, the location of the recorded command cannot be identified nor executed.
- When working with text it is best to make changes using keys such as **DELETE**, **BACKSPACE**, etc.
- Retain the same size workspace and focus during playback as you used when recording. Changing the workspace size or zoom factor causes adjustments in location coordinates. For instance, if you place a component in the outer regions of a design and change the zoom so that those coordinates are no longer visible in the workspace, the component cannot be placed during playback.
- The resolution of the system in which you are running a recorded macro should match the resolution of the system in which the macro was recorded.

Other Macro Features

The macro tool features extend beyond the record and play functions. This section describes these additional features.

Running a Macro

You can start P-CAD PCB and a macro from the command line by entering the correct system path to the executable and then the macro file name.

<full path>.PCB.exe /e <full path><macro name>

If PCB is already running, this command plays back the macro in the current PCB session. If PCB is not currently running, the program starts and the macro opens.

Status Line Recording Indicators

When the Status Line is visible, the background of the **Macro** toggle button (**M**) changes color to indicate the type of activity being performed.

- **Red** indicates the recording process is active.
- **Green** indicates the playback process is active.
• **Yellow** indicates a pause in the recording, or shows that a suspend or origin command has been encountered during playback.

Automatic Delays

Whenever you open a *Print Setup, Font,* or *Custom Color* dialog during the recording process, P-CAD PCB automatically inserts a delay. This allows the dialog time to appear in the workspace. If the delay interval is not large enough for the playback to accommodate the next event, you can increase the delay interval by editing the *.mac file or by editing the Pcb.ini file and changing the MacroCommonDialogDelay value to a larger number.

Editing Macro Files

You can use a text editor, such as the Notepad, to create or edit macro files. For example, you may want to modify a file to add or change delays, start other applications, etc.

However, you should be familiar with the proper syntax before you modify a macro file.

Macro File Syntax

Before you modify a macro file with a text editor, such as the Notepad, you should be familiar with the syntax used to record the events in the macro file. Syntax is very important in the macro files. Each macro command is case sensitive and each line must contain a carriage return.

A sample macro, opened in a text editor, is shown in the following figure:

<i>a</i> 2	1.maa	- Notepad	١×
File	Edit	Format Help	
Pct	Macr	D 21 'Created by m_davies on Tue May 30 16:13:30 2000 LeftMouseDown 4207920 appunits 9284724 appunits LeftMouseDown 310 pixels 267 pixels LeftMouseDwn 310 pixels 267 pixels LeftMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits LeftMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits RightMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits RightMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits LeftMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits LeftMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits LeftMouseDwn 8797470 appunits 8129934 appunits LeftMouseDwn 9797470 appunits 8129934 appunits LeftMouseDwn 499 pixels 318 pixels LeftMouseDown 499 pixels 293 pixels LeftMouseDown 499 pixels 293 pixels LeftMouseDwn 451 pixels 556 pixels LeftMouseDwn 451 pixels 556 pixels LeftMouseDy 451 pixels 556 pixels LeftMouseDy 451 pixels 556 pixels LeftMouseDwn 981870 appunits 6012819 appunits LeftMouseDwn 981870 appunits 6575409 appunits LeftMouseDwn 30 pixels 64 pixels LeftMouseDwn 30 pixels 64 pixels	

In a macro file, there are several event types: Mouse Events, Keyboard Events, Special Events, and Edit Events. Each event type has its own keywords and syntax. In the following sections, syntax descriptions show a comma to separate the parts of the format for readability. The commas are not to be inserted into the actual format of the command. An example of an actual syntax is provided as well.

Mouse Events

Mouse events occur when the cursor is positioned over the workspace or another part of the P-CAD PCB window (e.g., over a menu, toolbar, dialog, etc.). Events that occur when the cursor is over the workspace are recorded as appunit locations. Events occurring when the cursor is over a menu, toolbar, etc., are recorded in pixels.

• **Syntax:** Keyword, white space, positive integer, white space, unit string, white space, positive integer, white space, unit string.

```
LeftMouseDown 21 appunits 150 appunits
LeftMouseUp 18 pixels 583 pixels
LeftMouseDown&KeyStroke 179 appunits 50 appunits Shift
```

- **Keywords:** LeftMouseDown, LeftMouseUp, LeftMouseDoubleClick, RightMouseDown and RightMouseUp, LeftMouseDown&KeyStroke appunits or pixels Ctrl, LeftMouseDown&KeyStroke appunits or pixels Shift, LeftMouseDown&KeyStroke appunits or pixels Alt.
- Unit Strings: A unit string in a mouse event is either pixels or appunits. In the example above, 20 and 150 are the X and Y coordinates of the left mouse down action, and pixels indicates that the mouse click was made on a toolbar or within a dialog command. If the unit string contains appunits, then the mouse click was made in the workspace at the indicated X and Y coordinates.

Keyboard Events

• Syntax: Keyword, white space, quoted character string.

```
SendKeys "{Shift+N}{E}{W}"
```

- **Keywords:** SendKeys
- **Character Strings:** Each key stroke, and combinations thereof, must be enclosed in curly brackets and the string of curly bracketed strokes enclosed in quotations. In the example above, the word New is recorded using the keyboard syntax format.
- **Keyboard Codes:** The following list defines the recordable keys and how they are represented in the macro file.

Keys	Codes
a -z	A - Z
A -Z	Shift+A - Shift+Z
0 - 9	0 - 9
F1 - F12	F1 - F12
Alt	Alt
Back Space	Backspace

Keys	Codes
Ctrl	Ctrl
Delete	Delete
End	End
Escape	Esc
Home	Home
Insert	Insert
Num Lock	Not recordable
Page Down	PageDown
Page Up	PageUp
Pause Break	Not recordable
Print Screen	Not recordable
Scroll Lock	Not recordable
Space	Space
Tab	Tab
Down Arrow	Down
Left Arrow	Left
Right Arrow	Right
Up Arrow	Up
Numpad 0	Numpad0
Numpad 1	Numpad1
Numpad 2	Numpad2
Numpad 3	Numpad3
Numpad 4	Numpad4
Numpad 5	Numpad5
Numpad 6	Numpad6
Numpad 7	Numpad7
Numpad 8	Numpad8
Numpad 9	Numpad9
Numpad /	NumpadDivide
Numpad -	NumpadMinus
Numpad *	NumpadMultiply
Numpad +	NumpadPlus
Numpad Clear	Clear
1	Backquote

Keys	Codes
-	Minus
=	Equal
\	Backslash
;	Semicolon
1	Singlequote
/	Slash
	Period
,	Comma
[LeftBracket
]	RightBracket
~	Shift+Backquote
!	Shift+1
@	Shift+2
#	Shift+3
\$	Shift+4
%	Shift+5
٨	Shift+6
&	Shift+7
*	Shift+8
(Shift+9
)	Shift+0
_	Shift+Minus
+	Shift+Equal
	Shift+Backslash
{	Shift+RightBracket
}	Shift+LeftBracket
"	Shift+Singlequote
:	Shift+Semicolon
?	Shift+Slash
>	Shift+Period
<	Shift+Comma
Special Windows Keys	Not recordable

Special Events

• Syntax: Keyword.

Origin

Suspend

Delay 1.001

- **Keywords:** Origin, Suspend and Delay.
- **Exception:** The Delay keyword is generated by the macro utility whenever a print setup, font or custom color dialog is invoked in the macro. Inserting a one-time delay interval pauses the playback so that there is time to set up the next recorded event. The Delay keyword is followed by a positive floating number. This delay time is added to the global playback interval set using the **Macro** » **Setup** command.

Edit Events

• Syntax: Keyword, qualifier.

```
Wait 4
```

ExecuteCommand "C:\P-AD\PATED.EXE"

- **Keywords:** Wait, ExecuteCommand.
- **Qualifier:** Each keyword has its own type of qualifier. The Wait keyword is followed by a positive number indicating the pause interval in seconds. During playback the wait interval is counted down in the status bar and the playback resumes when the interval is complete.

The ExecuteCommand launches another application and requires the application name enclosed in quotes. It may also require the path to the application name or file.

File Syntax

- **Beginning:** The first line of the macro file begins with the keyword PcbMacro, followed by the name of the macro and a comment string. The comment string, which can also be added to any line in the macro, must begin with a single quote.
- Ending: Every macro must end with the keyword End.
- **Other:** Every line must begin with one of the keywords. Although optional, a tab at the end of each line helps increase a macro's readability when it is edited.

CHAPTER 22

Window Commands

Using the Window Commands

Use the commands in the Windows menu to arrange and manage open windows.

In P-CAD PCB, you can open multiple design files at the same time. You can also open multiple views of a single design.

The window you are working in is the active window; the design you are working with is the active design. The work that you perform is entered in the active design, and the commands that you use, for the most part, affect only the active design.

Window New Window

Choose **Window New Window** to open a new window that contains an alternate view of the active design. You can move independently in each window, making it easy to compare different parts of the same design.

A number identifying the window is added to the file name in the title bar and at the bottom of the Window menu. For example, C:\PCAD\TUTORIAL\CHAP9.PCB:2.

Window Cascade

Choose **Window Cascade** to arrange all open windows so that the title bar of each open window is visible. All windows overlap, starting in the upper-left corner of your workspace. You can see each window's title, making it easy to switch between windows.

As a shortcut for choosing this command, you can press SHIFT+F5.

Window Tile

Choose **Window Tile** to arrange all open windows so each open window is visible. Windows are resized and arranged side-by-side so that all windows are visible and none overlap.

As a shortcut for choosing this command, you can press SHIFT+F4.

Window Arrange Icons

Choose Window Arrange Icons to arrange design file icons in the P-CAD PCB window.

Design files can be minimized into icons using the Control menu or by clicking the **down arrow** in the upper-left corner of the screen. This command arranges these icons so that they are evenly spaced and don't overlap.

You can open one of these design icons by double clicking it or choosing **Restore** from the icons Control menu.

Selecting a Window

The bottom of the Window menu lists all open windows. To make a window active select it from this list. Designs appear on the Windows menu in the order that you opened them.

If there are more than nine windows opened, a **More Windows...** command appears. Choose this command to view additional windows.

To close a window, double click the control button in the upper-left corner of the window. Closing the last window automatically opens a new, untitled window.

CHAPTER 23

Help Commands

Help P-CAD PCB Help Topics

Choose **Help P-CAD PCB Help Topics** to open the P-CAD PCB Help file. The Contents tab is structured to match the order of commands as they appear in the product and the Index tab, gives you the ability to look up a specific concept, definition, or keyword.

How to Use Help

Choose **Help How to Use Help** to open the Windows Help file. This file contains instructions on how to use the help system.

Series II Commands

Choose **Help Series II Commands** to open a list that shows the mapping relationship between P-CAD PCB (6/400) Series II commands and P-CAD PCB commands and features.

About P-CAD PCB

Choose **Help About P-CAD PCB** to open a dialog that contains information such as the product version number, release date, memory used, memory available, and license number.

APPENDIX A

Keyboard Reference

This appendix summarizes the commands and functions that you can gain access to using P-CAD shortcut keys and standard Windows accelerators.

Standard Windows key combinations are functional for all of the menu commands; use the normal combination ALT, X, Y, where x equals the underlined menu character, and y equals the underlined command character.

You can use the Options Preference dialog to change shortcut keys for commands and macros.

Keyboard Shortcuts in P-CAD PCB

ALT+F4 (File Exit)	A shortcut for choosing File » Exit , which quits the P-CAD program. If the current design has been modified since the last save, you will be prompted (YES or NO) as to whether you want to save the changes to the file. The program writes this information to the PCB.ini file.
ALT+ Mouse Click	For any click-and-drag or drag-and-drop operations, you can hold down the ALT key, click the left mouse button , then move or drag the object wherever you want without having to keep the mouse button depressed. Without the ALT key, you would typically have to click and drag with the button depressed while you are dragging.
arrow keys	The arrow keys move the cursor to the next grid point. Press CTRL +arrow to move the cursor 10 grid points.
CTRL+C (Edit Copy)	A shortcut for choosing Edit » Copy . Copies objects from your design to the clipboard.
CTRL+Mouse Click (drag and drop copy)	You can copy-and-drag an object by first selecting the object, holding down CTRL and clicking the left mouse button in the selected object region, and dragging a copy of the object to a location and releasing to paste it.

CTRL+N (File New)	A shortcut for choosing File » New . This command opens a window containing a new, untitled window.
CTRL+O (File Open)	A shortcut for choosing File » Open , which opens the <i>Open</i> dialog box. Use the controls in this dialog to navigate to the file that you want to open.
CTRL+P (File Print)	A shortcut for choosing File » Print.
CTRL+S (File Save)	Saves changes to the current design without closing it. To save the design to a different file, choose the File » Save As command. To clear the workspace, choose File » New .
CTRL+V (Edit Paste)	A shortcut for choosing Edit » Paste . You can paste objects from the clipboard to the your design.
CTRL+X (Edit Cut)	A shortcut for choosing Edit » Cut . Cuts objects from the design to the clipboard.
CTRL+Z (Edit Undo)	A shortcut for choosing Edit Undo . If you have not completed your action (e.g., you are in Place Line mode and have not finished a series of segments), Undo will not reverse the action. Press the BACKSPACE key to unwind the unfinished actions when you are in a placement mode.
CTRL+F4	Closes the active window.
CTRL+F6 or CTRL+TAB	Switches focus to the next window. Press CTRL+SHIFT+F6 or (CTRL+SHIFT+TAB) to switch focus to the previous window.
SHIFT+T (Move to Layer)	A shortcut for choosing Edit » Move to Layer .
SHIFT+F4 (Window Tile)	A shortcut for choosing Windows Tile. Windows are resized and arranged side-by-side so that all windows are visible and none overlap.
SHIFT+F5 (Window Cascade)	A shortcut for choosing Windows Cascade. All windows overlap, start- ing in the upper-left corner of your Workspace. You can see each win- dow's title, so you can click a title bar to switch between windows.
DEL (Delete)	Deletes all selected objects
F1 (Help)	The F1 key displays context-sensitive help. If you put focus on a com- mand or dialog (by mouse or keyboard) and press F1 , the Help window appears containing information specific to the focus item.
PAGE DOWN	Scrolls down by one page in the workspace. Press CTRL+PAGE DOWN to scroll one page to the right.
PAGE UP	Scrolls up by one page in the workspace. Press CTRL+PAGE UP to scroll one page to the left.

SPACEBAR	To simulate a click and release of the mouse button, you need to press the SPACEBAR twice. To simulate pressing and holding down the left mouse button, you press the SPACEBAR once.
BACKSPACE * (Unwind)	Used as unwind command while placing objects with multiple segments (e.g., lines, polygons, route manual). Each backspace * stroke unwinds the previously placed item.
ESC (Escape)	Terminates placement of objects with multiple segments; it also cancels a redraw in progress. It is often equivalent to right-clicking. ESC also exits from dialogs (equaling the Close or Cancel button), which is a Windows feature.
PLUS Key (Zoom In)	Press the plus (+) key on either the keyboard or keypad to zoom in at the cursor location. This is a shortcut for choosing View » Zoom In . When you press the plus (+) key, the zoom cursor does not appear. The zoom cursor only appears when you choose a zoom command from the View menu.
MINUS Key (Zoom Out)	Press the minus (-) key on either the keyboard or keypad to zoom out from the cursor location. This is a shortcut for choosing View » Zoom Out . When you press the minus (-) key, the zoom cursor does not appear. The zoom cursor only appears when you choose a zoom com- mand from the View menu.
A key (Grid Toggle)	Switches between absolute and relative grid settings.
C Key (View Center)	A shortcut for choosing View » Center . This command allows you to center your cursor location. Place the cursor in the area of your design that you want centered and press C . Pressing the C key is an effective way of panning across the workspace.
D Key (Increment RefDes)	Increments the RefDes if while the Place Component tool is enabled. Press SHIFT+D to decrement the RefDes.
F Key (Flip Object)	Flips an object during place and move operations. Not all objects can be flipped.
	The F key also switches between orthogonal mode pairs.
G Key (Grid Select)	Scrolls forward through the list of grid settings. Press SHIFT+G to scroll back through the list.
J Key (Enter Coordinate)	Places focus on the X coordinate text in the Status Line. From there, you can enter new X and Y coordinates.
L and SHIFT+L (Change Layer)	L cycles downward through the board's layer list, duplicating the func- tion of the down arrow on the layer list/combo box on the Status Line. Press SHIFT+L to cycle upward through the layer list.

O and SHIFT+O (Orthogonal Mode)	O sequences forward through the orthogonal modes during placement of line objects or manual routing; SHIFT+O sequences backward throughout the modes. The F key switches between orthogonal mode pairs. Orthogonal modes are set in the <i>Options Configure</i> dialog.
Q Key (Draft Mode)	Turns draft mode on and off.
R and SHIFT+R (Rotate)	Press R to rotate objects by 90 degrees during Place and Select opera- tions. Press SHIFT+R to rotate objects by your current rotation incre- ment. For more information about rotating objects with place and select operations.
S Key (Select)	A shortcut for choosing Edit » Select (also the toolbar Select button). When enabled, you are able to click objects to highlight them, then move, rotate, delete, duplicate, and otherwise modify them.
U Key (Undo)	A shortcut for choosing Edit » Undo . For the unwind feature, See the BACKSPACE key description in this section.
Y Key (Options Layers)	A shortcut for choosing Options » Layers . This key opens the <i>Options Layers</i> dialog.
W Key (Line Width Scroll)	Scrolls forward through the list of line widths established in the design. Press SHIFT + W to scroll back through the list.
X Key (Cursor Style)	Switches between the cursor styles: Arrow, Small Cross, and Large Cross.
Y Key (Options Layers)	A shortcut for choosing Options » Layers . This key opens the <i>Options Layers</i> dialog.
Z Key (Zoom Window)	A shortcut for choosing View » Zoom Window . Just press Z and then draw the zoom window; the cursor takes the shape of a magnifying glass to indicate that you are in zoom mode. Whatever you surround with the zoom window will fill the screen.
Slash Keys (/ or \)	Stops a route in mid-connection without adding a final copper segment. A backward slash functions identically to a forward slash.

P-CAD System Messages

This appendix documents the messages that you might encounter when importing or exporting a PDIF file in P- CAD PCB or Schematic.

Error Messages

Error Message	Cause	Solution
A reference designator is required in instance <name> near line <line number="">.</line></name>	The reference designator is missing.	Enter the reference designator and try again.
Attribute <key name=""> near (x, y) does not exist in original symbol.</key>	The system found an attribute in the normalized symbol that does not exist in symbol being translated.	N/A
Bad PIN_DEF record # <number> near line <line number="">. Pad ignored.</line></number>	A syntax error was encountered. A PIN_DEF entry is malformed.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause. Then consult your PDIF manual to correct the syntax.
Component instance <name> (<ref des="">) pin <pin des=""> refer- ences an unknown net <name> near line <line number="">.</line></name></pin></ref></name>	The net does not exist.	Either create it in Master Designer or reset the pin's net name.
Data in this design extends beyond 60 square inches. Load aborted.	P-CAD PCB allows a maximum of 60 square inches for a design. This design is too big.	Either make it smaller or break up the design.

Error Message	Cause	Solution
Device expected on line <line number> of <file name="">.</file></line 	Each entry in a cross reference file has a device, but one was not found.	Add the device name at the specified line number.
Duplicate pin designator <pin des> in instance <name> near line <line number="">. Pin ignored.</line></name></pin 	P-CAD PCB and Schematic do not allow duplicate pin designators. The duplicate pins will not show up in the resulting component.	Edit the PDIF file to change the pin designators.
Duplicate reference designator <reference designator=""> in instance <name> near line <line number>. Instance ignored.</line </name></reference>	A duplicate reference designator was found. P-CAD PCB and Schematic do not support duplicate reference designators. This instance was ignored.	Either change the reference designator in Master Designer or edit the PDIF file and change the Rd statement.
Equal sign expected on line <line number> of <file name="">.</file></line 	A syntax error was encountered. An entry in a cross reference file may have the power and ground pins listed.	Enter an equal sign. The format is (<pin des=""> = <net name>,). The system logs this error if it encounters a pin designator, which is not followed by an equal sign.</net </pin>
File revision number is unrecog- nized.	The PDIF version number was not recognized.	Use a PDIF file from Master Designer version 6.0 or later.
Gate number expected on line <line number=""> of <file name=""></file></line>	A syntax error was encountered. Each entry in a cross reference file has a gate number, but one was not found.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause. Then consult your PDIF manual to correct the syntax.
Instance <name> referenced an undefined component (COMP_DEF=<name>) near line <line number="">.</line></name></name>	A syntax error was encountered. An instance references the name of a COMP_DEF that was not defined prior to the instance.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause. Then consult your PDIF manual to correct the syntax.
Keyword expected on line <line number></line 	A syntax error was encountered.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine cause. Then consult your PDIF manual to correct the syntax.

Error Message	Cause	Solution
Left paren expected on line <line number> of <file name="">.</file></line 	A syntax error was encountered.	Correct the syntax. The format is (<pin des=""> = <net name="">,). The system logs this error if it encounters a net name, which is not followed by a left, paren or comma.</net></pin>
Load failed near line <line num-<br="">ber>.</line>	A syntax error was encountered.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause. Then consult your PDIF manual to correct the syntax.
Net name expected on line <line number> of <file name="">.</file></line 	A syntax error was encountered	Correct the syntax. The format is (<pin des=""> = <net name="">,). The system logs this error if it encounters an equal sign, which is not followed by a net name.</net></pin>
No {Lystr} section found.	A syntax error was encountered.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine cause.
No pad stacks defined near line <line number="">.</line>	PDIF PCBs require an attached PAD_STACK record to load properly into P-CAD PCB.	Edit the PDIF file at the designated line number to include the name of the attached pad stack.
Not enough memory	This means the system could not allocate enough memory to do its work.	Close some applications and try again.
Pad stack <name> has shape <pdif object=""> (<number>X<number>) that is smaller than both the pad hole size (<number>) and the via hole size (<number>) near line <line number>. Hole size set to 0.</line </number></number></number></number></pdif></name>	A pad type (Pt) is trying to set too big a hole. The hole is assigned either through the tool table file or the pad/via default sizes specified in the PCB.ini file.	Either change the default pad/via hole sizes in the PCB.ini file, or change the specified tool table. See <i>Cleanup Tips</i> in the <i>Using P-</i> <i>CAD Files</i> chapter.

Error Message	Cause	Solution
Part file name expected on line <line number=""> of <file name="">.</file></line>	Each entry in a cross reference file has a part file name, but one was not found.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause.
P-CAD attribute near (x, y) has no value.	This message means that the system found a Master Designer attribute that does not have a value.	N/A
PDIF item <pdif object=""> is not supported in nets.</pdif>	Some PDIF objects are not supported in P-CAD PCB or Schematic nets.	Remove the object and try again.
Pin <pin des=""> of part <part num-<br="">ber> of component <name> could not be added near line <line number="">.</line></name></part></pin>	A memory or resource limit has been reached.	N/A
Pin number expected on line <line number=""> of <file name="">.</file></line>	A syntax error was encountered. An entry in a cross reference file may have the power and ground pins listed.	Correct the syntax. The format is (<pin des=""> = <net name="">,). The system logs this error if it encounters a equal sign, which is not preceded by a pin number.</net></pin>
Power or ground pin <pin des=""> for component <name> does not have a net name or a pin name.</name></pin>	A power pin was found that does not have a net name or does not have a pin name.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause.
Right paren expected on line <line number=""> of <file name="">.</file></line>	An entry in a cross reference file may have the power and ground pins listed. The format is (<pin des=""> = <net name>,). The system logs this error if it encounters a equal sign which is not preceded by a pin number</net </pin>	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause.
Symbol file name expected on line <line number=""> of <file name>.</file </line>	A syntax error was encountered. Each entry in a cross reference file has a symbol file name, but one was not found.	Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine the cause.

Error Message	Cause	Solution
Too many power and ground pins for error file.	If a component is heterogeneous, the system writes the cross-reference file lines to the error file. The cross-reference file line consists of the number of gates, the device, the part file name, the power and ground pins, and the symbol file name. There is a limit to how many power and ground pins can be written to the error file. This message means that limit was exceeded.	Edit the cross-reference file and add any pins that are missing.
Too many symbols on this sheet to create P-CAD symbol name.	P-CAD symbol instances require a name. This name's format consists of NCssssxxxx; where ssss is sheet number and xxxx is a symbol number. This only allows for 9999 symbols on a sheet. If the system detects that there are more than 9999 symbols on a sheet, which require a symbol name, it logs this error.	Create a new sheet and move some of the parts onto it.
Unable to open file <file name="">.</file>	This could mean that the file does not exist, or that the system is trying to open for writing a read-only file.	Make sure the specified file exists and that it is not a read- only file.
Unable to rename file <file name> to <file name="">.</file></file 	This could mean that the file the system is trying to rename does not exist, or that a file already exists that it is trying to rename it to.	Make sure the specified file exists and that it is not a read- only file.
Unable to translate text object near (x, y).	The system was unable to get the data from a text object so that it could be translated.	N/A
Unable to translate text style for text object near (x, y).	The system found a text object that is using an unrecognizable text style.	N/A

Error Message	Cause	Solution
Unrecognized CN format in instance <name> near line <line number>.</line </name>	A syntax error was encountered.	Make sure the CN syntax is correct. The CN format can be of 2 styles:
		{CN <net name="">}</net>
		or
		{CN <pin name=""> <net name="">}.</net></pin>
Unrecognized justification style.	You are using a justification style that is currently unrecognizable to the system.	Use a justification style that the system recognizes.

Warning Messages

Warning Message	Cause
Attribute key too long near (x, y).	PDIF format allows only 23 characters for an attribute key. The system found a key with more than 23 characters.
Attribute object near (x, y) has no value.	The system found an attribute with no value. PDIF format requires a value so this attribute was ignored by the system.
Attribute value too long near (x, y).	PDIF format allows only 255 characters for an attribute value. The system found an attribute value with more than 255 characters. The attribute value is translated truncated to 255 characters.
Cannot open file <file name="">.</file>	This could mean that the file does not exist, or that the system is trying to open for writing a read only file.
COMP_DEF <name> has a pack- age pin number (<number>) that is out of range near line <line number>.</line </number></name>	The pin number specified in the SPKG Sp record does not map to any pad in the PIN_DEF record. Either the pin des number is greater than the number of pads or a pad with the same name (number) could not be found.
COMP_DEF <name> has no SPKG section near line <line number>. Pin names will start at '1'.</line </name>	The COMP_DEF has no pin to pad mapping (packaging) information. The components pins created will have pin designators that match the pad's position in the PIN_DEF array. The component is most likely a PCB only component.

Warning Message	Cause
COMP_DEF <name> references unknown pad stack <number>. Style <name> used instead.</name></number></name>	A pad references a padstack number (Pt) that is not defined in the PAD_STACK record. The PCB "(Default)" padstack will be used instead.
Component <name> has had its name changed to <name>. This is required to maintain uniqueness in P-CAD.</name></name>	A component's type in Master Designer is used as the file name for the symbol data. This limits the component's type to 8 characters. In P-CAD PCB and Schematic, the component's type can be 17 characters. This means that the type is truncated to 8 characters and slightly modified to make it unique if there is more than one component that has that 8 character prefix.
Component <name> is heterogeneous and will be written as <number> separate COMP_DEFs. Cross reference file data follows:</number></name>	Master Designer does not allow heterogeneous components. During translation the heterogeneous components are separated into homogeneous components. The cross reference file data is included in the error file for your convenience.
Component <ref des="">, type <type> was given a PRT attribute of <prt attribute="" value=""> which may cause packaging errors in P- CAD.</prt></type></ref>	The PRT attribute value is the file name for the PCB part data. The value is created by combining the type with ".prt". In P- CAD PCB and Schematic, the type can be longer than 8 characters. If the type is longer than 8 character, this is an illegal file name. You will need to fix this attribute in Master Designer before you can package the schematic.
Copper Pour not allowed in pat- tern <name> (<ref des="">) near line <line number="">. Pour demoted to polygon.</line></ref></name>	PCB does not support copper pours in patterns. The pour was converted to a polygon, which is supported.
Could not create pad/via style for pad <number> near line <line number>.</line </number>	A memory or resource limit has been reached. Reduce the number of padstack in the design or simplify their construction.
Cross reference file missing entry for <name>. Unable to attach symbol name for multi- part component.</name>	The attached symbol name could not be added to the compo- nent because there was no cross reference file entry for the part.
Heterogeneous component <name> is missing gates <part number>. Parts <ref des=""> cannot be placed. Place the missing gates as spares and reload.</ref></part </name>	Heterogeneous components are found in the cross reference file but the PDIF data is not found in the PDIF file. If you place the missing gates in Master Designer, re-create the PDIF file, the PDIF data will be included and a complete heterogeneous component can be created in Schematic.

Warning Message	Cause
Homogeneous part <name> has non-constant gate equivalencies.</name>	Master Designer does not store gate equivalence. The system is warning you that it found a homogeneous part with non-constant gate equivalencies.
lat value too long at line <line number></line 	PDIF format allows only 255 characters for an lat value. The system found an lat value with more than 255 characters. The attribute value is translated truncated to 255 characters.
Instance <name> does not spec- ify a location, (0,0) assumed, near line <line number="">.</line></name>	The instance Pl record is missing.
Instance <name> has an illegal IPT record near line <line num-<br="">ber>.</line></name>	The number of entries in the instance Ipt record does not match the number of entries in the COMP_DEF PIN_DEF record.
Instance <name> referenced a package number (<part number>) that does not exist in COMP_DEF <name> near line <line number="">.</line></name></part </name>	An instance of a heterogeneous component references a part number that is not defined for the number of parts in the component. The heterogeneous information in the cross reference file may be incorrect.
Layer name <name> has been truncated to <name>.</name></name>	The layer name is used as the PDIF file name. File names are limited to 8 characters. The system truncates the layer name to 8 characters and if necessary, slightly modifies it to make it unique if there are more than one layer that have the same first 8 characters.
Missing pad stack name for pad/ via <number> near line <line number>.</line </number>	A syntax error was encountered. The padstack name is missing from the PAD_STACK record.
Name <name> truncated to <number> characters near line <line number="">.</line></number></name>	The object's name was too long and truncated so that it would be a valid PCB or Schematic name.
Net <name> attribute lost. <key> = <value>.</value></key></name>	Master Designer does not have net attributes. When the system warns you when it detects a net attribute.
<number> pin(s) were created for a <number> pin symbol (COMP_DEF=<name>, I=<name>) near line <line number>.</line </name></name></number></number>	The number of entries in the PIN_DEF record does not match the number of Sp records in the SPKG record.
Object near line <line number=""> failed to load.</line>	A syntax error was encountered. Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine cause.

Warning Message	Cause
Pad stack <name> does not have consistent enough shapes to set</name>	1. The padstack shape defined for the Top layer does not match the shape defined for the Bottom layer.
near line e add/via style layer (Signal) set to 0.	2. The padstack shapes defined for internal signal layers are not all the same.
PDIF item <pdif object=""> is not supported in nets.</pdif>	Some PDIF objects are not supported in PCB or Schematic nets. It could be a DRC error indicator.
PDIF item <pdif object=""> is not supported in pad stacks</pdif>	Some PDIF objects are not supported in PCB pad stacks. These include polygons, text, flashes and lines.
PID too long at line <line num-<br="">ber>. Truncated.</line>	Master Designer's PID is equivalent to PCB's type attribute. The PID is limited to 15 characters. If PCB's type attribute is longer than 15 characters, it is truncated to 15 characters.
Power and ground attribute is too long for symbol <name>.</name>	If you get this warning and are not using Master Designer Version 8.0 software, switch to Version 8.0 if possible. Version 8.0 uses multiple PWGDi attributes to handle case. If you are using Version 8.0 and still get this message the PWGDi attribute is truncated. If you cannot use Version 8.0 and are getting this message, the PWGD attribute is truncated.
Power pin <pin des=""> of compo- nent <name> could not be added near line <line number="">. Probably duplicate.</line></name></pin>	A duplicate power pin was detected in the component. Check the cross reference file or the PWGD(i) attribute(s) and try again.
Rotation rounded to <angle> at line line number>.</angle>	Master Designer Schematic can only be rotated to 0, 90, 180, 270. If a rotation other than those values is detected, the object is rotated to the nearest allowable angle.
Symbol <name> already exists in table on line <line number=""> of <file name="">.</file></line></name>	A duplicated symbol file name was found in the cross reference file. First one found is used. Others are discarded.
Text height is less than 2 at line <line number="">.</line>	P-CAD PCB and Schematic's text height is used as the text size for PDIF translation. Master Designer's text size cannot be less than 2. If a text height is found to be less than 2, 2 is used.
Text object near (x, y) has no string, object ignored.	An empty text object was found and ignored.
Text too long near (x, y).	Text is limited to 255 characters. Text is truncated to 255.

Warning Message	Cause
The number of components pins created for <name> does not match the number of PIN_DEF entries near line <line number="">. Power pins might be missing.</line></name>	The number of P statements in the COMP_DEF's PIN_DEF section determines the number of pins.
The number of pins in section <part number=""> (COMP_DEF=<name>) is not equal to the number of pins defined (PIN_DEF) near line <line number="">.</line></name></part>	A PKG part section does not have the same number of entries (pins) as the PIN_DEF record.
Translating TangoPRO polygon object near (x, y) as P-CAD lines.	Master Designer Schematic does not have a filled polygon object. If the system detects a polygon object is translates it as lines for Master Designer.
Unrecognized keyword <key> near line <line number="">. Key- word ignored.</line></key>	A syntax error was encountered. Check the PDIF file at the designated line number to determine cause.
Via references unknown pad stack <number>. Style <name> used instead.</name></number>	The padstack number referenced by a via does not exist. The via style used will be <name>, probably (Default).</name>

Index

Index

-A-

accessing a Reference Link 305
adding
a now field
a new neid
attributes227, 236, 301, 351
Custom Reports
DTP groups240
DTP items
DIP sections
Layer Sets455
layers453
notes228
Pad Styles473
Reference Links
Text Styles483
tools to Customized Toolbar539
advanced
drill table options543
alias
creating
Alias, Library command
Align Components, Edit command
align to grid 340
All View command 362
Alter Component Edit command 338
altering a component 330
anening a component
annotate errors
(2 vise) 127
(2 VIdS)
(maze)
aperture
assign/describe (Gerber)256
assigning manually175
assignment

modifying	175
setting up for Gerber	174
shapes	258
thermal	259
types	260
arc	
changing centerpoint	18
curved	413
flipping	382
mitering 112,	420
moving	382
placing	382
properties	314
rotating	382
routing104, 108,	412
selection criteria	426
Arc, Place command	382
Archive Library, Library command	495
assign	
apertures for Gerber	174
apertures manually	175
N/C Drill tools 184,	268
Attribute, Place command	396
attributes	
adding	352
deleting	351
modifying	352
net310, 350	
placing	397
properties	351
automatic	
assign/describe apertures	174
assignment of drill symbols 92, 176,	262
autopanning, adjusting	431
Autoplace, Place command	370

Autorouter, Route command	406
autorouting	
attribute description	353
selecting	407
supported autorouters	405
autosave	
adjusting	431

-B-

backtracking	105, 412, 418
basics	5
batch printing	93, 209, 210
blind and buried vias	
violations (DRC)	
block select	21
procedure	23
select mode frame	426
bounding outline	
View Zoom Window	
bus routing	
changing layers	
Bus, Route command	113

-C-

C Routes (2 vias)	137
CAM	
File Gerber In	244
File Gerber Out	253
File N/C Drill	264
tutorial	171
Cascade, Window command	563
Center, View command	
changing layers	418
circles, placing	
class editor	470
Class to Class clearances	466
cleaning up traces	532
Clear, File command	207
clearances	
attributes	353
design rules	461
DRC	151, 507
violations	166
clipboard file, pasting	280, 284
Close, File command	205
closing a window	205
collocated objects	
how PCB redraws	361

colors	
display	444
options	442
laver/entity	443
print	214
setting highlight color	196
Command Toolbar	7
Command Toolbar. View command	365
Compare Netlist, Utils command	524
complex polygon defined	383
component	505
align to grid	340
altering 338	330
deleting from a library	101
evoloding	328
highlight an attached not	3/5
iump to a component 14,244	245 24E
jump to a component 14, 344,	343
pin properties	299
	3/4
connections	3//
properties	299
reference links	304
renaming	492
replacing	500
rotating and flipping	3/5
selection criteria	426
violations (DRC)167,	518
Component, Place command	374
components	
aligning	52
moving by RefDes	60
Components, Edit command	344
Compress binary designs	433
Configure, Options command	429
connection	
deleting from a net	336
jumper pads	378
length	355
manually routing	409
optimizing	524
options	430
physical	102
properties	305
Connection, Place command	377
coordinates, X and Y	10
copper length	355
copper pour	419
,	

auto plowing	193
autorouting	192
backoff	192
circles	192
connectivity	191
drawing an outline	387
filling	388
hatched	391
interactive routing	192
islands	190
manual routing	192
options	190
overlapping pours	193
properties189	Э, 317
line options	318
state option	319
repour	190
rotating and flipping	389
routing	192
selection criteria	426
solid	391
thermals	192
violations (DRC)160	5, 518
Copper Pour	68
Plowing Tracks, Cutouts	69
Copper Pour, Place command	387
copper tie	315
copper, free (copied)	357
Copy Matrix, Edit command	33/
Copy to File, Edit command	283
Copy, Edit commandd	283
Copy, Library command	489
copying	27
Design Technology Deventers	2/
items between libraries	400
library items	490 400
motrix of objects	409
objects), 337) 257
to a file 2	7 702
conv practico:pasto practico	, 205 52
corpor mitoring	
croating	
a new file	203
a new library	487
anertures	174
Custom Toolbar	+ / ۱ ۵
	····· J

drill symbol legends 1	87
DTP file2	231
DTP groups 2	240
DTP items 2	241
DTP sections 2	240
graphic images	.85
macros	.11
manual routing1	06
mitered corners 111, 4	20
nets from free copper5	531
padmaster Gerber file 1	81
pseudo patterns 1	99
title blocks	.82
title sheets	.80
Cross-probing see DDE Hotlin	iks
current highlight color	96
Current Keepout, Options command 4	158
Current Line, Options command 98, 4	157
current radius 104, 4	13
Current Radius, Options command. 12, 4	159
current zoom factor	41
for View Zoom In	602 62
IOF VIEW ZOOTH Out	005
Cursor	
free floating	10
free floating	.19
free floating snappy	.19 .19
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 867 145
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 867 145 10
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 867 145 .10
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 867 845 .10 812
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .67 .45 .10 .12 .08 9
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .67 .45 .10 .10 9 9
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .67 .45 .10 .10 9 9 9 9
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 867 145 .10 112 108 9 539 866
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 867 445 .10 12 108 9 539 866
free floating snappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .19 .45 .10 .12 .08 9 .539 .66 9 .539 .539
free floatingsnappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10
free floatingsnappysnappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .45 .10 .12 .08 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
free floatingsnappysnappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .19 .10 .10 .12 .08 9 .339 .366 9 .366 9 .366 9 .37 .202 .284 27
free floatingsnappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .19 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .12 .08 9 .339 .08 .06 .02 .284 .27 .281
free floatingsnappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .19 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10 .10
free floatingsnappysnappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .45 .10 .12 .08 9 .539 .539 .539 .539 .537 .202 .284 .27 .281 .889
free floatingsnappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .45 .10 .12 .08 9 .539 .539 .537 .02 .284 .27 .281 .889 .889
free floatingsnappy snappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .45 .10 .12 .08 9 .39 .39 .39 .37 .202 .84 .27 .281 .89 .89 .89 .89
free floatingsnappysnappy vs. free-floating	.19 .19 .19 .10 .10 .10 .12 .08 9 .39 .539 .539 .537 .202 .284 .27 .281 .889 .889 .889 .889 .889 .889 .823

selection criteria42	27
-D-	

D Code (Gerber)	.258
DDE Hotlinks 195, 341,	432
enabling the feature	.196
highlighting nets	.196
setting the current highlight color	.196
unhighlighting nets	.197
unhighlighting parts and components	5
8 8 81	.197
default pin des	
renumbering	500
Delete. Edit command	335
Delete Library command	491
Delete Macro command	554
deleting	.551
attributes 227	236
copper pour islands	190
DRC error indicators	170
DTP groups soctions or itoms	2/2
field sets	242
Corbor layor info	100
itoms from a library	, 100 401
items in a block	.491
	.426
Macros	.554
net objects	330
notes	.220
objects	335
pad styles	.480
previous segments	105
print jobs	.211
lext Styles	.484
vertexes	26
Deselect All, Edit command	.341
design	
print current window	.209
printing	74
Design Info, File command	.223
design rules	.459
additional DRC checks162,	514
by category156,	508
by hierarchy158,	510
checking445,	506
clearances	.459
Design Rules, Options command	.459
design technology parameters	

adding a group240
adding a section
adding an item
attribute handling
browsing
building the hierarchy 240
copying to a design
delete button
dialog
merge attributes
opening
properties 234
rename
replace attributes
statistics button
tree
updating232
Design Technology Parameters, File
command
design verification523
Design Verification
Design Rule Checking70
Netlist Verification70
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialogs Aperature Assignments
dialogs convention
dialogs convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog convention
dialog conventiondialogsAperature AssignmentsCopy Via Style100Describe/Assign ToolsDrill Symbol Assignments91, 176ECO FilenameECO Warning200Edit NetsFile Gerber In177File Gerber Out177File Print88Find Errors166Gerber Format177Modify Via Style (Complex)100N/C Drill Format188Options Configure199Options Design RulesClass To Class tab155
dialog convention

Index

Net Class tab	154
Net tab	154
Rooms tab	153
Options Display (Misc)	169
Options Grids	97
Options Layers	134
Options Via Style	99, 138
Pass Selection	136
Print Setup	88
Route Autorouters	132
Route Cancel	144
Rules Severity Level	165
Select Fanout	119
Setup Output Files1	72, 182
Setup Print Jobs	89
Tool Assignments	183
Utils Design Rules Check	164
Utils Export ECOs	200
Utils Import ECOs	198
Utils Record ECOs	198
View Photoplot File	179
diameter values in N/C Drill file	268
dimension	
defined	400
properties	334
Dimension, Place command	400
Display Colors	
setting highlight color	196
Display, Options command	442
DocTool Commands	
Mirror on Copy	549
Notes	548
Place Design View	543
Place Detail	545
Place Diagram	546
Place Picture	548
Titles	548
Update	548
Update All	549
DocTools	
associative dimensions	87
borders	80
design details	84
design views	82
drawing and revision notes	83
drawing layers	79
drill tables	86

fields sets	83
graphic files	85
detail colors	85
update details	85
layer stackup diagrams	85
revision blocks	82
title blocks	82
title sheets	80
zones	81
Documentation Toolbox	79
draft mode	
for polygons	383
for printing	212
drag and drop	357
Drawing	
a board outline	
Drawing Interchange Format	
drawing order	16
DRC	
clear overrides	518
configuration	164
conner ties	164
define area	519
errors	445
annotation	
block selection	
finding	
flags	
global display	
ignored	
overridden	
overrides	
rulos	
rules	
Setup	
DBC Litils command	
drill drowing	445, 506
annorating	100
generating	100
alpha character	02
aipha-character	
assign for printing	
automatic assignment	92, 176
emulating Master Designer	
Gerber output	
iegenas	
manual assignment	92, 177, 262
print	

setting in Gerber	176
drill table	543
Drill, N/C	264
duplicating objects	337
DXF file	
items supported for translation	249
loading	246
view log file	249
DXF In, File command	246
DXF Out	
component Height	272
DXF Out, File command	270
DXF output	272
•	

-E-

ECO	
export	200, 505
filename	
format	430
import	198, 503
pseudo patterns	
record	198, 502
saving	
types of changes	197, 502
view pending	
Edit Commands	
Align Components	
Alter Component	
Attributes	
Components	
Copy	
Copy Matrix	
Copy to File	
Cut	
Delete	
Deselect All	
Explode Component	
Fix 280, 342	
Highlight	
Measure	355
Move By RefDes	
Move to Layer	
Nets	
Paste	280, 284
Paste Circuit	
Paste From Clipboard	
Paste from File	

Paste Special	287
Paste To Layer	286
Properties	292
Redo	281
Rooms	343
Select	356
Select All24,	341
Select Highlighted	342
Undo	280
Unfix	342
Unfix All	343
Unhighlight	341
Unhighlight All	342
editing	
attributes	351
components	344
existing miters	421
items in a block	426
Laver design rules	153
macros	557
Note 135	3/5
objects	24
overriding errors	2 4 168
properties	202
Arc214	292
Attributos	270
Attributes	320 20E
Connections	202
Cupper Pour	21/
Decign View	323 221
Design view	331
Detail	331
Diagram	332
	334
Field	330
Line	313
Pad	30/
Picture	333
Plane	323
Polygon	315
Room	325
lable	333
Test Point	316
lext	327
Rooms design rules	154
Text Styles	485
electrical pin type	300

Engineering Change Orders 198, 430, 50	2
error annotation	
DRC16	7
error messages57	1
errors	
annotate16	5
examining design relationships	
DDE Hotlinks19	5
existing aperture definitions47	9
existing pad style polygonals47	9
Exit, File command27	6
Explode Component, Edit command33	8
Export ECOs, Utils command50	5
exporting	
ĖCOs	5
Extent, View command	1

-F-

Fanout, Route command118
fanouts
features 1
field properties 330
Field Place command
Field, Place command
File Commands
Clear207
Close205
Design Info223
Attributes tab226
Fields tab224
General tab224
Notes tab227
Revision tab228
Statistics tab228
Design Technology Parameters
DXF In
DXF Out270
Exit276
Gerber In244
Gerber Out253
N/C Drill
New203
Open
PDIF In
PDIF Out 273
Print
Printer Setup 215
Reports 215
Reports

Save	205
Save As	206
files	
compression	
binary	433
drag and drop	204
drag and drop file load	31
Gerber Out	171
loading and saving	31
N/C Drill command	181
opening a recently used file	204
opening an ASCII file	204
saving an ASCII file	. 206, 207
types	31
Find Errors, Utils command	519
flipping objects	17
font	
changing text style	485
style examples	485
Force Update, Utils command	500
format	
Gerber	262
N/C Drill	269
free floating cursor	367
free pads	180
displaying	446

-G-

-	
gate swapping	
manual	527
rules	530
Generate Netlist, Utils command	523
generating a netlist	523
Gerber	
deleting layer information	180
format 177,	262
output	171
compress files 178,	263
files	172
generating	178
verification	178
Gerber In, File command	244
Gerber Out, File command	253
glue dots	445
ğrid	
non-uniform	440
origin	440

setup for routing	97
snap cursor to	19
spacing	440
Status Line toggle button	98
style (visible, dotted, hatched)	440
toggle	
absolute and relative settings	10
uniform	440
Grid Toggle button	
Grids, Options command	439

-H-

hardware requirements	3
Help	
About P-CAD PCB	565
How to Use Help	565
P-CAD PCB Help Topics	565
Series II Commands	565
Help Commands	565
hiding	
connections	348
points	
highlight	
an attached net	
nets	
while routing	436
Highlight, Edit command	341
hole range	480, 482
horizontal	
alignment	
routing pass	136
hotlinks, enabling	432
how to use help	565
•	

-|-

icons, toolbar	6
imperial units	430
Import ECOs, Utils command	503
importing	
ECOs	
Info, Net	
Initial Board Layout	
Creating a Board Outline	
Loading a Netlist	
Moving Components	59
Initial Board Setup	
Aligining Components	
Finite Rotation	

Optimize Nets	60
Replace Components	57
Installation and Setup	3
installing P-CAD products	4
system requirements	3
interactive routing	108
backtracking	418
changing layers	98, 418
complete1	11, 418
controlling trace placement	415
copper pours	419
layers	419
line widths	419
loop removal1	11, 419
modifying traces	418
net attributes1	09, 416
obstacle hugging1	09, 416
options	437
pad entry or exit1	09, 416
polygonal pads	417
pop-up menu	419
rerouting lines	418
slash lines1	10, 418
status line information	415
suspend1	11, 418
terminating a route1	10, 417
Trace Cleanup	418
T-routing1	03, 417
unwinding	418
vias	419
Interapplication Functions	
DDE hotlinks	195
InterPlace/PCS, Utils command 5	33, 537
InterRoute Gold	
maximum hugging	122
minimum length	122
right mouse menu	124
visible routing area	123
InterRoute, Route command	414
island removal	320
items	

-J-

jump	
to a location	
to text	
Jump Commands	

Jump to a Component	14
Jump Location, View commar	nd14, 363
Jump Text	
Case Sensitive Search	
Search Entire Design	
Jump Text, View command	15, 364
Jump to a Node	15
jumper pads	376, 522, 531
connections	

-K-

keep	
selection criteria	
keepout styles and layers	458
Keepout, Options Current	
Keepout, Place command	
Keyboard preferences	

-L-

L Routes (1 via)137
Last, View command
layers23, 134, 419
adding or deleting35
changing for routing98
enabling/disabling15, 451
Layer Sets
nonsignal15
photoplot file256
print
selecting items
selection mask425
setting61
signal
status line453
using15
Layers, Options command12, 450
library
alias
definition487
deleting pattern/component491
opening with drag-and-drop file load 493
setting up493
Library Commands
Alias
Archive Library495
Copy
Delete
New487

Pattern Save As	494
Rename	492
Setup	493
line	
length, measuring	380
orthogonal mode	17
placing	380
properties	313
selection criteria	426
shapes (orthogonal modes)	381
width	139, 419
setting up for routing	98
Line Width Combo Box	12
Line, Place command	380
Load Button	133
Load Netlist, Utils command	520
loading a file	97
loading PDIF files	251
location, jumping to	14
0	

-M-

macro	
defined 55	51
deleting55	54
file syntax55	57
recording55	53
renaming55	54
running	56
setting up55	51
using effectively 55	55
Macro Commands 55	51
Delete 55	54
Macro Record toggle button	11
Record/Stop 55	52
Rename 55	54
Run	55
Setup	51
manual	
assignment of drill symbols 92, 177, 26	52
manual gate swap 52	27
manual routing 10	06
arcs	12
backtracking4	12
between layers 4 ⁻	11
between layers	11 98
between layers	11 98)9

crossing a blockage411
curved traces108
incomplete traces107, 409
modify
online DRC 413
options 437
orthogonal modes 101 102 412 427
orthogonal modes
overlapping connections
rerouting a trace411
right mouse button107
routing to free copper414
Slash key107
status line information410
temporary stop107
trace cleanup
T-routing
unwinding 411
Width attribute 414
Manual Pouto command 408
matrix delete and conv
matrix, delete and copy
maximum nugging122
maze routes13/
Measure, Edit command355
menu bar6
messages571
metric units430
MillimeterPrecision setting430
minimum length122
mirror
image, printing212
photplot plot file255
Mirror on Copy. DocTool command
miscellaneous ontions 446
miter route 111
Miter tool
aditing evicting miters 421
eutring existing miters
options
1-routing112, 421
using111, 420
Miter, Route command420
modes, changing absolute and relative
grid440
modifying
complex pad style474
display text
existing routes113
object properties

simple pad style 47-	4
traces	8
mounting hole apertures26	0
mouse preferences 44	.9
Move By RefDes, Edit command29	0
Move to Layer	
restrictions29	1
Move to Layer, Edit command29	1
moving	
by RefDes29	0
filled pour 19	0
items in a block42	6
objects 17, 25, 35	7
objects to another layer18, 29	1
Moving Components	
by RefDes6	0
multiple windows1	3
MultiTrace routing 11	5
routing direction11	8
routing priority11	7
trace placement11	7

-N-

N/C Drill
assigning/describing tools
compress output files 186, 269
format options 185, 269
generating files 186, 265
output tutorial181
setup output files 182
N/C Drill, File command 181, 264
net
attributes109, 135, 416
clearances464
creating named net classes 470
deleting net objects
edit attributes
information347
jump to node347
layer attributes
length (DRC) 166
name, specifying
Net Attrs button310
Net Class tab 462
Net Info button355
optimizing525
renaming347

renaming	350
selecting	24, 348
tab properties	309
unhighlight	
view attributes	
Net Classes, Options command	469
netlist	
check for copper sharing	523
compare, DRC violations	166
comparing	524
format	521
generating	523
jumper pads	522
loading	520
loading on an existing board	522
optimization	525
optimize nets	522
pseudo patterns	522
reconnect copper	523
violations1	66, 518
Nets, Edit command	345
New Window, Window command	563
New, File command	203
New, Library command	487
No Mt Hole Cu	256
nodes	
clear all	346
set all	346
non-signal layer	451
non-uniform grid spacing	440
no-route zones (keepouts)	458
note tables	542
Notes, DocTool command	548
numbering pads	497

-0-

objects	
cutting, copying, and pasting	
deleting	
editing	24
moving	25
moving to another layer	
object/action interaction	
pasting	280, 284
placing	
resize	
rotating and flipping	25

selecting1	9
selection and modification1	6
selection and placement1	6
selection mask	24
what can be placed1	6
obstacle hugging	6
offset	Ŭ
X. Y in drill file	56
X. Y in photoplot file	55
Online DRC 126 16	57
Open. File command)3
opening	
a file)3
Optimize Nets, Utils command	25
options	
route 429.43	85
Options	
Block Selection 5	56
Options Commands 42	2
Configure 42	.9
Current Keepout 45	58
Current Line 98.45	7
Current Radius 12 45	;9
Design Rules 45	59
Display 44	12
Grids 43	39
Lavers 12 45	50
Net Classes 46	59
Pad Style 47	,, 7)
Preferences 44	18
Selection Mask 42	3
Text Style 48	32
Via Style 99 48	32
Options Configure	-
General tab	9
Online DRC tab	33
Plow tab	37
Route tab	35
Options Display	
setting highlight color	96
orthogonal modes	17
routing with	2
output	-
plotter	38
output files	
setting up	6
for Gerber	2
	_

Output Log File133	
overlapping objects, selecting	

-P-

pad properties
chaning54
Pad Style, Options command472
Pad, Place command
Padmaster Gerber file181
pads
entry or exit109, 416
jumper pads376
modifying styles
net names
displaying447
no connect pads, no connect shape392
number
placing378
placing connections
properties
renumbering
rotating and flipping
selection criteria
shapes
polygonal pads477
stacks (pad styles)
style
, complex473
hole range480
modify pad definition476
modifying complex pad style
modifying simple pad style
plated pads474
renaming480
shapes
simple473
thermal spokes (diameter and width
vias, pad/via holes256
panning14
screen, adjusting431
part number
Passes button136
Paste from File, Edit command286
Paste Special, Edit command
Paste To Layer, Edit command286
Pasta Edit command 280, 284

pasting	
circuits	
clipboard file	. 280, 284, 286
from a file	
limitations	
mask shrink	432, 433
merging net attributes	
paste behavior	
renaming	
Nets	
RefDes	
pattern	
deleting from a library	
pad properties	
placeholder	
pseudo	
renaming	
Pattern Save As, Library comm	and
P-CAD	
launching applications	
Pattern Editor	
running	532
PCB	
DDF Hotlinks	195
FCOs	
features	
Help Topics	565
PCB (6/400)	
features	2
Relay and DDF Hotlinks	
Schematic	
DDF Hotlinks	105
FCOs	
Scout	
DDE Hotlinks	105
Symbol Editor	
rupping	532
Tango PCB	
component restrictions	374
P-CAD Library Executive	
Litils command	E20
D CAD Pattorn Editor, Litila cor	
P-CAD Fallern Eultor, Ulis Cor	and 532
P CAD Symbol Editor Utils comm	anu 532 mmand E22
PDIE In Eile command	ninianu 532
PDIF III, FIle command	
rDir Out, file command	
photoplot file, generating	
photoplot file, viewing78 Pick and Place	

show or hide445	
pin	
designators	
equivalence300	
name	
pin and gate swapping525	
automatic526	
impact on Library Manager530	
pin swapping	
manual	
swapping	
rules529	
PinEq	
Place Commands	
Arc382	
Attribute	
Autoplace	
Component374	
Connection377	
Copper Pour	
Cutout	
Dimension400	
Field	
Keepout	
Line	
Pad378	
Plane	
Point	
Polygon	
Room	
Text	
Via 380	
Place Design View, DocTool command.543	
Place Detail, DocTool command545	
Place Diagram, DocTool command546	
Place Picture, DocTool command548	
placeholder patterns199	
placement practice40	
Placement Toolbar7	
Placement Toolbar, View command365	
piacing	
an arc	
attributes	
component	
connections and merging nets	

copper pour	387
cutout	389
dimension	400
line	380
pad	378
plane	390
points	385
, polygon	383
test points	386
text	393
text summary	396
plane	
indicator	
displaying	447
laver	451
pads and vias	391
properties	323
selection criteria	427
swell	433
Plane Place command	390
nlated nade	174
Point Place command	38/
points	504
Clue Det	28/
Dick and Place	204
FICK all u Flace	204 20F
placing	202
point-to-point routing	102
showing or hiding	304
snowing or niding	38/
size, setting	386
lest Point	385
Polygon, Place command	383
polygons	~ ~ .
altering the shape 19,	384
draft mode	383
polygonal pads 417,	477
properties	315
reference point pairs	479
rotating and flipping	383
rounded corners 26,	358
selection criteria	427
pop-up menu	419
Preferences, Options command	448
preview ECO file199,	504
Print, File command	207
Printer Setup, File command	215
printing	88

batch
current window209
design extents212
drill symbol assignments88, 91
job name211
print jobs210
generating207
setting up 89, 209, 210
print preview208
printer setup
scaling to fit page209
setting up colors93, 214
thin line text
Probingsee DDE Hotlinks
prompt line
displaying 9
Prompt Line View command 9 366
properties
arc 314
attributes 301 303 328
component 293 299
component pins
connection 305
coppor pour 317
cutout 222
dimension 224
dimension
lie - 212
line
multiple objects
pad
pattern pad29/
plane
polygon
rooms
test point316
text
using the edit command28
via 311
Properties, Edit command28, 292
pseudo patterns504, 522

-Q-

Quick Route	
assigning	
lines to nets	128
pads to nets	128
checking setup parameters.	128

129
129
138
132
148
133
128
129
130
139
145
4.45
132
120 122
120 120
120 120
120 120
120 129
120 120
179
140
14/ 176
14/ 1/7
14/ 1/7
1/17
149
120 140
יבי 128
128
140
146
128
140
146
130
130
149
140
120 120
130
140

-R-

radial placement	359
radius	
rounded and filleted corners	358
Radius Combo Box	12

rats nest, defined	59
Reconnect Nets	
creating nets from free copper	531
jumper pads	531
Reconnect Nets, Utils command	530
Record ECOs, Utils command	502
Record, Macro command	552
Redo, Edit command	281
Redraw, View command	361
reference	
attribute	304
designator	300
links	205
accessing a link	305
adding a link	304
liaunching	301
linking to a component	304 470
regular polygons	4/8
removing	107
free coppor	197
leftover traces	202
Rename Library command	492
Rename Macro command	554
renaming	554
a net	350
a pattern or component	492
pad styles	480
Text Styles	484
renumber	
pads	497
reference designators	497
Renumber, Utils command	497
report	
custom	218
adding custom reports	222
format	219
selection	220
sorting	221
DRC files	164
list separator	218
origin	217
style format	218
types	216
Reports and Output	/2
Generating N/C Drill Files	/8
Gerber Output	/6

Printing your Design	74
Viewing Photoplot Files	78
Reports, File command	215
rerouting lines	418
resizing	
objects	26, 357
revision notes table	542
right-click mouse	
button	292
commands	29
Room, Place command	392
rooms	92, 462
design components	326
fill pattern	327
fixed	327
highlight	343
highlight included	343
included components 3	26 343
properties 3	25 343
selection criteria	427
unhighlight	1 <u>2</u> / 343
unhighlight included	343
Rooms Edit command	343
rotating	5 15
items in a block	426
objects	120
rotation increment	1/ 431
when printing	131 212
Route Autorouters dialog	212
Net Attrs button	135
Start button	135 140
Route Commands	405
Autorouter	406
Rus	400 113
Fanout	113 118
Interactive	110 414
Manual	408
Miter	400 420
View Log	420 407
Route Tool	407
arcs and curved trace routing	103
Route Toolbar	103 8
Route Toolbar View command	0 365
routing	505 ءە
hacktracking	
batwaan lavars	105 /11
between layers	/151
U1a3	451

bus routing	113
changing lavers98	3, 105
cleanup	
clearance rules	507
connections 07	7 111
	, 414
copper pours), 192 I 112
curved traces104	, 412
drop via	105
Fanout routing	118
features	95
free copper105	5, 414
general features	
grid	139
grid sotup	07
griu setup	100
Interactive	108
manual	106
miter	111
modifying existing routes	113
options	125
orthogonal modes108	3, 113
overlapping connections	106
nlacing keepouts	458
placing keepouts	105
ploygons	103
point-to-point	102
selecting a tool	96
setting options429), 435
setup	97
Status Line information	103
toolbar	144
tools	95
trace cleanun	105
trace styles 10/	1 112
T routing	102
1-routing	103
unwinding routed segments	5, 105
routing bias	35
Routing Commands	
Cancel	144
Help	144
Info	142
Options Display	144
Pause	142
Posumo	בדי 1/12
	143
	141
VIEW Last	141
View Log	143
View Redraw	141
View Status Line	142

View Toolbar	142
View Zoom In	141
View Zoom Out	141
View Zoom Window	142
Routing Connections	61
Changing Routed Connections	65
Routing the Connections	63
Setting Layers	61
Run, Macro command	555

-S-

)6
33
)5
)5
)6
94
)7
31
)5
32
31
33
11
9 6
14
47
56
57
57
57
57
58
11
42
56
21
24
56
23
26
26
20
56

Reference Point	.25, 359
Select Mode area	23
selection commands	356
single	19
sub select	20
selecting objects, block	56
Selection Mask dialogs	424
Selection Mask, Options command	423
Set Base Button	134
Set By Attribute	349
setting	
point size	386
Setting up the Design	33
Grids	
Line Width	39
Options Configure	33
Options Display	38
Options Layers	35
Title Blocks	36
Setup, Library command	493
Setup, Macro command	551
setup, printer	215
shortcut	
right-click mouse commands	29
ShortcutDirectory, Utils command .	532
showing or hiding points	387
shrink, paste mask	432, 433
signal layer	451
clearances	460
silkscreen, violations (DRC)	166, 518
single select	
on enabled layers	339, 356
slash	
key	410
lines	418
Snap to Grid, View command	367
snappy cursor	367
software requirements	3
solder mask swell	432
SPECCIRA	
placement attributes	
placement tool support	370
split plane	
violations (DRC)	16/, 518
Status Information area	
status line	10
information	

layer box 453
Status Line, View command
stopping a macro 552
subselect47
swapping
pin and gate 300
swell
plane 433
solder mask 432
symbols, drill 176
system
requirements3
setup 429
-Т-
T_routing 112, 421
tables
drill
note
revision note 542
tabs
Attributes, Component Properties 301, 303
Attributes, File Design Info 226
Class To Class, Options Design Pulos 155

Class To Class, Options Design Rules 155
Component Pins, Component Properties
Component, Component Properties . 299
Design, Options Design Rules 151
Fields, File Design Info 224
Format, Customize Report dialog 219
General, File Design Info 224
General, Options Configure 429
Layer, Options Design Rules 152
Net Class, Options Design Rules 154
Net, Options Design Rules 154
Notes, File Design Info 227
Pattern Pad, Component Properties 297
Pattern, Component Properties
Revisions, File Design Info 228
Rooms, Options Design Rules 153
Route, Options Configure 125
Selection, Customize Report 220
Sets, Options Configure 453
Sort, Customize Report 221
Statistics, File Design Info 228
Tango PCB
~

features2
target apertures260
technology files
browsing232
building the hierarchy240
copying to a design232
opening
updating232
technology parameters
test noint 376
flipping 376 377
onling DPC 510
olining 296
placing
printing
report21/
selection criteria427
signal and plane layers
text
changing display text483
flipping
jumping to text
justification
location 327
properties 327
rotating/flipping 395
soloction critoria
selection chiefia42/
style 404
deleting484
tonts
properties484
renaming484
TrueType Font482
style, change328
violations(DRC)166, 518
zooming and panning
Text Style Properties dialog485
Text Style, Options command482
Text. Place command
thermal apertures 259
Tile Window command 563
Title shoets
Titles E49
Titles DesTeslessensed
Titles, Doctool command
toolbars
custom toolbar
tools
assigning

automatically	
manually	
N/C Drill	183, 267
code in N/C Drill	
Trace Clean-up, Utils command	532
traces	
cleanup	412, 418
curved	104, 412
routing curved	
translucent drawing	
T-Route option	
T-routing1	03, 411, 417
type swapping	

-U-

unconnected pins (DRC)	. 166, 518
Undo. Edit command	. 279, 280
Unhighlight All. Edit command	
Unhighlight, Edit command	
uniform grid spacing	
unify value practice	
units of measurement changing	430
unrouted nets (DRC)	
unwinding	418
routes	105 411
Update All DocTool command	549
Update DocTool command	548
Updating Design Technology Para	meters
opdating besign reenhology rate	232
user guide	
lavout	2
user interface	2
menu bar	6
	0 6
nrompt ling	00 0
status lino	9 0
Lising the Zoom Window	
Using the Zoom window	
Compare Notlist	E04
Compare Netrist	
DPC 164	
DKC 104	, 445, 506
Export ECOS	.200,505
Find Errors	
Force Update	
Generate Netlist	
Import ECOs	. 198, 503
InterPlace/PCS	. 533, 537

Load Netlist	
Optimize Nets	
P-CAD Library Executive	532
P-CAD Pattern Editor	532
P-CAD Schematic	532
P-CAD Symbol Editor	532
Reconnect Nets	530
Record ECOs	198, 502
Renumber	
ShortcutDirectory	532
Trace Clean-up	
•	

-V-

verification of a netlist70
vertical
alignment340
routing pass137
via419
location
minimization138
placing connections
properties311
selection criteria427
setting up a style99
style hole range482
Via Style, Options command482
Via, Place command
View Center
Autopan
View Commands13
All 14 362
All 14, 302
Center14, 362
Center
Center
Center
Center
Center 14, 362 Command Toolbar 365 Custom Toolbar 366 Extent 14, 361 Jump Location 14, 363 Jump Text 15, 364
Center
Cinit 14, 302 Center 14, 362 Command Toolbar 365 Custom Toolbar 366 Extent 14, 361 Jump Location 14, 363 Jump Text 15, 364 Last 362 Placement Toolbar 365 Prompt Line 366 Redraw 14, 361 Route Toolbar 365 Snap to Grid 19, 367 Status Line 366 Zoom Out 363

View log	
final board statistics 4	1 08
general 4	1 08
headers and footers 4	107
layer settings 4	1 08
net classes 4	408
pass	
performance 4	1 08
settings 4	1 08
View Log, Route command 4	1 07
View Snap to Grid	
free-floating cursor3	367
snappy cursor	367
visible routing area 1	23
0	

-W-

warning messages	571
wide line routing	136
width violations(DRC)	166, 518
window	13
selecting a	564
Window Commands	563
Arrange Icons	564
Cascade	563
New Window	563
Tile	563
workspace	
setting size	33
size	13, 430

-X-

X and Y distance, measuring...... 355

-Z-

Z Routes (2 vias) 137
zoom
commands13
zoom in/out13
zoom window14
factor 432
level
View All is default
window
Zoom In, View command 362
Zoom Out, View command 363
Zoom Window, View command